Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management

New Approaches for Diagnosis and Treatment

Giordano Beretta Alfredo Berruti Emilio Bombardieri Nicola Fazio Orlando Goletti *Editors*



Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management

Giordano Beretta • Alfredo Berruti Emilio Bombardieri Nicola Fazio • Orlando Goletti Editors

Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management

New Approaches for Diagnosis and Treatment



Editors Giordano Beretta Oncology Unit Humanitas Gavazzeni Bergamo, Italy

Emilio Bombardieri Nuclear Medicine Humanitas Gavazzeni BERGAMO Bergamo, Italy

Orlando Goletti General Surgery Unit Humanitas Gavazzeni Bergamo, Italy Alfredo Berruti ASST-Spedali Civili University of Brescia BRESCIA Brescia, Italy

Nicola Fazio GIT Med Oncology & Neuroendocrine Tumors European Institute of Oncology Milan, Italy

ISBN 978-3-030-72829-8 ISBN 978-3-030-72830-4 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland



Italo Nosari, MD, born on June, 14, 1950, and passed away on March, 4, 2020.

This book on Neuroendocrine Neoplasia is dedicated to our friend and colleague Italo Nosari, endocrinologist, who brought a great personal contribution to the discipline and in particular to diabetology. He has held relevant roles inside the Association of Physicians Diabetologists (AMD) and the Italian Society of Diabetology (SID). He produced a lot of scientific papers published in international literature. He has always practiced his intense clinical activity over years with great passion, full dedication, and love for his patients, both pediatric and adults. He was a very active member of our Multidisciplinary Groups of Humanitas Gavazzeni showing in all circumstances availability, competence, and humanity. During the outbreak of COVID-19 in Bergamo, he generously offered his precious assistance in the Emergency Department of the Hospital without sparing himself. Unfortunately the viral infection took him away, while he was doing his mission, leaving everyone with an indelible memory.

Foreword

The book *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, edited by G. Beretta, A. Berruti, E. Bombardieri, N. Fazio, and O. Goletti, is a timely and comprehensive compilation of recent developments within the field of neuroendocrine tumors (NENs.)

Current book publications in endocrinology, oncology, surgery, and gastroenterology offer specific chapters on neuroendocrine tumors but only in a superficial manner. This book covers all the aspects of neuroendocrine tumor management including epidemiology, diagnosis, and treatment of various subtypes of NENs.

It will serve both as an excellent textbook for younger colleagues, medical students, and new beginners in the NEN field and as a refresher for more experienced colleagues. NENs is a complicated field that needs collaboration among many specialists, endocrinologists, oncologists, surgeons, radiologists, and gastroenterologists; therefore, this book will be an excellent guide in the management of NENs.

Neuroendocrine tumors is a rather young entity within the oncology field formulated by Italian and Scandinavian pathologists in the early 1970s, who also coined the term "Neuroendocrine Tumor" because of the characteristic picture of both neural and endocrine elements. The area started to mature with the development of specific radioimmunoassays for substances (biomarkers) secreted by the tumors. The diagnostic and therapeutic tools were rather sparse in the beginning, but during the 1980s and 1990s, the field started to grow exponentially thanks to new diagnostics and therapeutics (CgA, Ki-67, somatostatin scintigraphy, somatostatin analogs, IFNs, new chemotherapies).

The refined diagnostics showed differences in tumor biology and genetics, and new imaging procedures (PET/CT; PET/MR) gave improved staging procedures and a new classification system (WHO). This clearly demonstrated that the therapy had to be further developed, "one size did not fit all." Custommade therapies have been developed including biotherapy, specific chemotherapies, targeted agents, and finally peptide receptor radio therapy (PRRT). Surgery has been more developed with tissue sparing procedures.

Instrumental works by Italian pathologists have given us insights into molecular genetics and oncology development which will in the future refine the management of NENs. Looking at the authors list of this book, a number of them have made significant contributions to the NEN field, which further enhances the importance of this publication covering an earlier unmet need of summarizing the most recent development in the NEN area. This book should be in the bookshelf of every colleague working with NEN patients.

> Kjell Öberg Department of Medical Sciences Uppsala University Uppsala, Sweden

Department of Endocrine Oncology University Hospital Uppsala, Sweden

Preface

Several books have been published on the subject "neuroendocrine tumors" in these years, because this topic is of great clinical importance in oncology and endocrinology. The reasons are to be found in their very interesting biology, the relevant epidemiology, the evolution in the diagnostic technologies, and the recent development of novel emerging and successful therapies that stimulated a lot of clinical trials. The agents targeting angiogenesis and/or PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway, alone or in combination with analogues, have provided encouraging results in advanced disease.

In this book an original approach has been adopted, with the aim to provide a general update in prognosis, diagnosis, and therapy by covering the whole family of neuroendocrine tumors. As the title "Neuroendocrine Neoplasia (NEN)" suggests, all tumors from various organs and/or particular histology, MEN-related tumors, MiNEN, NEC, and Merkel's tumors have been included.

The structure of the book consists in a general part and in a part with specific chapters.

The general part of the book is focused on the history, the epidemiology, and the most important results and the fast developments in scientific and clinical knowledge in the field of diagnosis and therapy.

In particular the authors discuss the advances in genetic analysis and molecular biology, the endoscopic techniques combined with guided biopsy, the high-resolution imaging associated with endoscopy, the metabolic imaging from radioreceptor targeting, and the hybrid PET/CT and MRI instrumentation alone or in combination.

In the area of therapy, particular attention is paid to the emerging strategies of treatment, the surgery and minimally invasive surgery for both early stage and advanced diseases, and the loco-regional and systemic treatments including targeted therapy and/or biological therapies.

The second part of the book depicts the clinical management of the different groups of NEN from different anatomical origin and/or with particular histology and discusses some novel approaches of diagnosis and therapy, the spectrum of the current available options, and the most important results from the most successful clinical trials.

The structure and the content of this book follow the philosophy of the concept that is gaining increasing importance, i.e., that, among the big family of tumors taking origin from neuroendocrine cells, the traditional paradigm classifying neuroendocrine tumors as a single entity is no longer sufficient to

explain the differences often observed in the prognosis and tumor responsivity of the various groups of patients with "different neuroendocrine neoplasias."

The most distinguished experts in the field have been invited to contribute to this book. All authors worked together with great enthusiasm by integrating their different skills in a multidisciplinary collaboration, with the contribution of oncologists, endocrinologists, pathologists, nuclear physicians, surgeons, physicists, radio-pharmacists, gastroenterologists, and biologists. Thanks to their interactive work, they set up this informative publication that provides valuable insights for all professionals interested in the modern management of neuroendocrine neoplasias.

Bergamo, Italy Brescia, Italy Bergamo, Italy Milan, Italy Bergamo, Italy Giordano Beretta Alfredo Berruti Emilio Bombardieri Nicola Fazio Orlando Goletti

Acknowledgments

The editors are grateful to Ms. Anna Luisa De Simone Sorrentino, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale Tumori (Milano), for her valid collaboration in connecting authors and for her secretarial help.

Contents

Part I Introduction

and Nicola Fazio

1	History of Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Emilio Bajetta, Domenico De Toma, Adelmo Antonucci, Roberto Bajetta, and Monica Valente	3
2	Epidemiology of Neuroendocrine Neoplasms Annalisa Trama	11
Par	rt II Diagnosis	
3	New Concepts in Pathology Massimo Milione, Laura Cattaneo, and Alessandro Mangogna	21
4	Molecular Biology of Neuroendocrine Tumors Andrea Mafficini, Vincenzo Corbo, Stefano Barbi, Claudio Luchini, Michele Simbolo, and Aldo Scarpa	37
5	Circulating Biochemical Markers of	
	Neoplasms (NENs) Federica Cavalcoli, Roberta Elisa Rossi, and Sara Massironi	55
6	Advances in Diagnostic Imaging Giovanna Pepe, Giovanni Matassa, Francesca Piccoli, and Arturo Chiti	75
Par	rt III New Approaches for Treatment	
7	Treatment of NET-Related Symptoms	01
8	New Surgical Strategies Valentina Andreasi, Stefano Partelli, Francesca Muffatti, and Massimo Falconi	13
9	New Approaches in Medical Therapies Manila Rubino, Francesca Spada, Alice Laffi,	29

10	Locoregional Therapies of NEN
11	Radioreceptor Therapy 149 Alice Lorenzoni, Marco Maccauro, and Ettore Seregni
Par	t IV Treatment NETs from Different Organs
12	NETs of the Lung
13	Gastric Neuroendocrine Tumors
14	Treatment of Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors
15	Treatment of Intestinal NETs (Including Appendix)
16	Treatment of NETs from Rare Origin
Par	t V NENs with Peculiar Biology and Features
17	Neuroendocrine Neoplasms with Peculiar Biology
17	and Features: MEN1, MEN2A, MEN2B, MEN4, VHL, NF1 233 Antongiulio Faggiano, Tiziana Feola, Giulia Puliani, Franz Sesti, and Elisa Giannetta
18	and Features: MEN1, MEN2A, MEN2B, MEN4, VHL, NF1 233Antongiulio Faggiano, Tiziana Feola, Giulia Puliani,Franz Sesti, and Elisa GiannettaMixed Neuroendocrine and Non-neuroendocrineNeoplasms (Mi NEN)Alice Laffi, Nicola Fazio, Manila Rubino,and Francesca Spada
17 18 19	and Features: MEN1, MEN2A, MEN2B, MEN4, VHL, NF1 233 Antongiulio Faggiano, Tiziana Feola, Giulia Puliani, Franz Sesti, and Elisa Giannetta Mixed Neuroendocrine and Non-neuroendocrine Neoplasms (Mi NEN) Alice Laffi, Nicola Fazio, Manila Rubino, and Francesca Spada Merkel Cell Carcinoma Prancesca Consoli, Valeria Tovazzi, Simonetta Battocchio, William Vermi, Paolo Bossi, and Alfredo Berruti
17 18 19 20	and Features: MEN1, MEN2A, MEN2B, MEN4, VHL, NF1 233Antongiulio Faggiano, Tiziana Feola, Giulia Puliani,Franz Sesti, and Elisa GiannettaMixed Neuroendocrine and Non-neuroendocrineNeoplasms (Mi NEN)
17 18 19 20 Par	and Features: MEN1, MEN2A, MEN2B, MEN4, VHL, NF1 233Antongiulio Faggiano, Tiziana Feola, Giulia Puliani, Franz Sesti, and Elisa GiannettaFranz Sesti, and Elisa GiannettaMixed Neuroendocrine and Non-neuroendocrine Neoplasms (Mi NEN)269Alice Laffi, Nicola Fazio, Manila Rubino, and Francesca Spada283Merkel Cell Carcinoma283Francesca Consoli, Valeria Tovazzi, Simonetta Battocchio, William Vermi, Paolo Bossi, and Alfredo Berruti309Michela Squadroni, Rosalba Barile, and Giordano Beretta309

Conclusions. I (EI) management rotary and Eboxing	
at the Future	327
Giordano Beretta, Alfredo Berruti, Emilio Bombardieri,	
Nicola Fazio, and Orlando Goletti	

xiv

Part I

Introduction

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_1

History of Neuroendocrine Neoplasia

Emilio Bajetta, Domenico De Toma, Adelmo Antonucci, Roberto Bajetta, and Monica Valente

1.1 Introduction

Neuroendocrine tumors are a group of malignant neoplasms that originate in neuroendocrine cells and can affect any part of the body. They are rare (\leq 5/100.000) and have been extremely difficult to discover and investigate; however, their incidence has risen in the last 20 years [1]. These tumors are nicknamed "zebras" due to their rarity, but despite their sporadic occurrence, physicians have been fascinated by their complexity and distinct clinical presentation. Carcinoid tumors are the most common endocrine tumors occurring in the gut. They may, however, develop in the bronchus, rectum, ovary, lung, and elsewhere. They grow slowly and are often clinically

E. Bajetta (🖂)

Fondazione Policlinico di Monza, Monza, Italy e-mail: emilio.bajetta@policlinicodimonza.it

D. De Toma Medical Oncology, Policlinico di Monza, Monza, Italy

A. Antonucci Oncology Surgery, Policlinico di Monza, Monza, Italy

R. Bajetta ATS Lodi, Lodi, Italy

M. Valente Center for Immuno-Oncology, Medical Oncology and Immunotherapy Division, University Hospital of Siena, Siena, Italy silent for many years before being recognized and metastasizing. The discovery of neuroendocrine tumors has been a challenge, first of all, for the pathologists with regard to diagnosis, as we can see following the different classifications that we have had over the past few years, and for the clinicians with regard to medical treatments.

1.2 Early History

The first pathological conditions defined as neuroendocrine were described in the Old Testament and in an Egyptian medical papyrus dating back to 1552 BC, known as the "Ebers Papyrus," in which cases of patients with disease conditions similar to acromegaly, gigantism, diabetes mellitus and neurofibromatosis type 1 were reported for the first time [2]. The Ebers papyrus is a handbook of Ancient Egyptian medicine and contains 879 individual texts in 110 columns, which cover nine medical topics. It is named after its discoverer, the Leipzig Egyptologist and novelist George Ebers, who purchased it from a Coptic antiquarian in Upper Egypt and transferred it to the University Library in 1873. The papyrus is currently kept at the Library of the University of Leipzig, in Germany. This is the first evidence of the existence of these diseases and several years were to elapse before neuroendocrine tumors began to be investigated and studied in a more



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*,

systematic way. The first pathological description of these types of tumors was given by the German pathologist Theodor Langhans in 1867, when he described a carcinoid-like tumor at autopsy in a 50-year-old woman with tuberculosis [3]. He described a submucosal tumor that projected into the lumen of the small intestine, and he commented upon the very sharp borders without any evidence of peri-tumoral invasion. His report was principally a histological description of the tumor without discussion of growth and clinical behavior of this undocumented neoplasm. In 1888, the German pathologist Otto Lubarsch described two cases of ileal tumors during an autopsy examination [4]. In one case, the ileum contained numerous tubercular ulcers and nodules; in the second case, he described multiple small carcinomatous growths in the ileum, although he was initially reluctant to identify these lesions as carcinomas. Diarrhea was the main symptom in the latter patient, a possible manifestation of carcinoid syndrome, but he was unaware of a similar correlation with these types of tumors. After some scientific research, he was able to identify the records of 35 cases of intestinal carcinomas near the ileocecal valve and opined that in his estimation, several of these were not "true" carcinomas. In 1890, the British physician William Ransom was the third person to describe a case of a patient with a lesion similar to a carcinoid tumor with liver metastases. The patient, a 50-year-old woman, presented a pathological condition characterized by diarrhea, which had been persistent for more than 2 years, and wheezing upon eating. The autopsy revealed several small nodules in the ileum and in the liver (metastases) [5]. Despite these initial observations, a distinct pathological entity that united these pathological conditions had not yet been recognized. In 1895, a German pathologist, A. Notthafft, described three tumors of the upper ileum during an autopsy in a patient who had died of pneumonia [6]. These tumors had been uncharacteristically identified in the submucosa and histologically were not true carcinomas; he referred to them as "beginning carcinomas."

The existence of a group of gastrointestinal cells, different from the others due to their "yellow" chromate staining properties, was recognized for the first time in 1870 by the German physiologist Rudolf P. H. Heidenhain [7] and again, after a few years, followed by the Russian anatomist and histologist Nikolai K. Kultschitzky in 1897 [8]. In his paper "Zur Frage über den Ban des Darmkanals," he pointed out the differences between these cells and those that were "classical" mucus-secreting and absorbing mucosa cells. After this first description, these cells were variously called enterochromaffin cells, argentaffin cells, clear cells, enteroendocrine cells, and Kultschitzky cells [9]. The French surgeon Antonin Gosset and the French-Canadian pathologist Pierre Masson demonstrated the argentaffinstaining proprieties of carcinoid tumors, using silver impregnation techniques. They showed a silver-colored pattern and speculated on the etiology of a specific type of tumor from the enterochromaffin cells, Kultschitzky's cells, and of the intestinal mucosa [10, 11].

1.2.1 Carcinoid: The Origin of the Term

The word "carcinoid," from the German "karzinoid," was introduced by the German pathologist Siegfried Oberndorfer in 1907, to identify some gastrointestinal tumors that presented a prognosis and a more favorable clinical history than adenocarcinomatous lesions. He presented his discovery in his seminal paper "Karzinoide Tumoren des Dünndarms" in which he used the term "Karzinoide Tumoren" for these different types of benign gastrointestinal neoplasms [12].

All tumors described were located in the submucosa of the ileum, and the peculiarity was the discovery of multiple primary malignant tumors in the same organ. As a result of his observations, Oberndorfer identified five distinct characteristics of these tumors: (a) they were mostly small, patients commonly demonstrated multiple tumors; (b) the tumor cells were usually surrounded by undifferentiated tissues, possibly demonstrating gland formation; (c) the tumors had not previously been described, and they had the potential to become invasive; (d) they did not metastasize; and (e) they apparently grew extremely slowly, achieving no substantial size and therefore appeared to have a harmless nature. The merit of Oberndorfer was to identify these tumors as actually true cancers, but without the tendency to grow rapidly and to metastasize, as in the case of carcinomas. For these reasons, he used the term "karzinoide" ("carcinoma-like") to describe these types of lesions more accurately. After some years, Oberdnorfer revised his initial observations about the benign behavior of these tumors in a manuscript, in which he described 36 carcinoid tumors of the appendix and small intestine, and he emphasized the possibility that they might exhibit malignant features and metastasize [13].

1.2.2 Carcinoid Classifications

In 1914, the surgeon Andre Gosset and the pathologist Pierre Masson hypothesized the origin of carcinoid tumors from the enterochromaffin cells of the gastrointestinal district, using silver impregnation techniques, and then, they demonstrated the argentaffin-staining properties of carcinoid tumors. Furthermore, the Austrian pathologist Friedrich Feyrter explained how the enterochromaffin cells were present not only in the digestive tract but also in many other anatomic districts, practically in all mucosal-lined organs of the body. Feyrter introduced the concept of the "diffuse" endocrine system on solid glands [14] and, subsequently, the concept of the "widespread neuroendocrine system" was developed. After that, another significant discovery was to distinguish between two different categories in this system: endocrine cells that discharged their hormonal content into the blood ("true" endocrine cells) and those that limited their action to a restricted anatomic field delimited by the dendrite-like prolongations present in those cells ("paracrine" cells) [9]. In 1952, the Italian pharmacologists Vittorio Erspamer and Biagio Asero identified serotonin (5-HT) as the main hormone produced by the enterochromaffin cells of the gastroenteropancreatic tract [15], and subsequently, its metabolite, urinary hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA), was identified as another marker in cancer carcinoid patients. Only after some years, in the 1960s, was there the need to classify the tumors that develop from enterochromaffin cells in subtypes on the basis of their histological appearance and type of secretory product. In 1962, the British pathologist Elizabeth Williams classified the carcinoid tumors based on their origin from different embryonic segments of the gut, foregut, midgut, and hindgut [16]. This approach was a result of the work of the British pathologist Anthony Pearse, who developed the hypothesis of the "diffuse endocrine system," with cells located in different anatomical districts and different organs, but with a common embryological origin from the neural crest, a transient neural structure unique to vertebrates located on both sides of the embryonic neural plate, at the junction with the normal ectoderm.

The neural crest is composed of a pluripotent cell population, which migrates throughout the body during the normal embryonic development, and gives rise to different cell types, such as neurons, melanocytes, chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla and extra-adrenal paraganglioma, and thyroid C cells. Pearse, then, established the APUD (Amine Precursor Uptake and Decarboxylation) concept [17]. Later, this gives rise to the terms "diffuse neuroendocrine system" (DNES) and "confined neuroendocrine system" (CNES) to identify those groups of cells capable of producing and releasing hormones, whether they are present in a widespread way in the body or confined to organs. DNES includes nerve and endocrine cells found in organs and tissues, CNES includes glandular tissue recognized by the traditional endocrinology [18, 19]. Almost half of these cells are in the gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) system where most neuroendocrine tumors occur (Table 1.1).

Regarding the hypersecretion of hormonal substances, some neuroendocrine tumors are biologically active called "biologically active neuroendocrine tumors" (BANTs) and others are biologically inactive called "biologically inactive neuroendocrine tumors" (BINTs). The BANTs, independently of the levels of hormonal substances present in the blood or of the immunopositivity identified in the tissue, present some symptoms and signs correlated to the effects of one of the hypersecreted hormones from which the syndrome takes its name. Otherwise, BINTs are not capable of secreting hormonal substances and they have no correlated syndromes so, since then, these tumors have been diagnosed via immunohistochemical investigation [19].

Over the years, there have been several classifications for neuroendocrine tumors. Since 1995, the Italian pathologist Carlo Capella suggested the term "neuroendocrine tumors" for all tumors relating to the digestive system instead of

 Table 1.1
 Neuroendocrine system (modified from Percopo V. Neuroendocrine tumors general aspects. In: GEP and multiple neuroendocrine tumors. Piccin 1996)

Diffuse neuroendocrine system (DNES)	Confined neuroendocrine system (CNES)
Gastroenteropancreatic apparatus	Pituitary
Respiratory apparatus	Thyroid and parathyroid
Urogenital apparatus	Hypothalamus
Kidney	Adrenals
Skin	Ganglia and paraganglia
Myocardium	Carotid body
Thymus	Pineal gland
Spleen	Placenta

the term "carcinoid tumors" [20]. This classification was updated by another Italian pathologist Enrico Solcia and other expert pathologists in the first World Health Organization (WHO) classification in 2000 [21], in which the tumors were classified into: (a) well-differentiated endocrine tumors or a more aggressive grade with metastases, well-differentiated endocrine carcinomas; (b) poorly differentiated endocrine carcinomas; and (c) mixed exocrine-endocrine tumors.

In 2010, the WHO classification was updated [22] in the following categories, depending on mitotic counts and the Ki-67 labeling index:

- a. well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors G1;
- b. well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors G2;
- c. neuroendocrine carcinomas; and.
- d. mixed adeno-neuroendocrine carcinomas.

The WHO grading system was revised in 2017 [23], and in 2019 [24], a new subset of welldifferentiated neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) has been recognized (Table 1.2).

1.2.3 Clinic History of Carcinoids

There were several symptoms and signs that were found in carcinoid diagnoses, such as flushing, diarrhea, edema, wheezing, now commonly referred to as the "carcinoid syndrome." The German pathologist, A. Schotle, was the first who described this condition in 1931, in a

 Table 1.2
 WHO 2019
 Classification for neuroendocrine neoplasms of the gastrointestinal tract (modified from Nagtegaal ID et al. Histopathology 2020)

Terminology	Differentiation	Grade	Mitotic rate	Ki-67 index
NET, G1	Well differentiated	Low	<2	<3%
NET, G2		Intermediate	2-20	3-20%
NET, G3		High	>20	>20%
NEC, small-cell type (SCNEC)	Poorly differentiated	High	>20	>20%
NEC, large-cell type (LCNEC)			>20	>20%
MiNEN	Well/poorly differentiated	Variable	Variable	Variable

47-year-old male with an ileal carcinoid tumor, who complained of diarrhea, cough, lower extremity edema, and cardiac failure. Indeed, at autopsy, a hard thickening of the tricuspid valves and irregular endocardial thickening of the right atrium were evident, likely representing the first documentation of carcinoid heart disease [25]. In 1954, the Swede A. Thorson published the first series of patients presenting with pulmonary stenosis, tricuspid insufficiency, peripheral vasomotor symptoms, bronchoconstriction, and cyanosis in malignant carcinoid tumors of the small intestine with liver metastases and their symptomatology related to hypersecretion of 5-HT into the system circulation [26]. In the same year, B. Pernow and J. Waldenström described flushing, another sign of carcinoid syndrome [27], and in 1964, J. Oates demonstrated that some carcinoid tumors release kallikrein, which activates bradykinin, a potent vasodilator, and suggested that it might play a role in the flushing episodes so characteristic of the disease [28]. The role of 5-HT, as a plasma marker in carcinoid syndrome, and of 5-HIAA, the main 5-HT urine metabolite, was demonstrated by I. Page in 1954. Another sign we frequently observe in carcinoid tumors is fibrosis. In 1961, the American researcher, C. Moertel, first described the relationship between fibrosis and carcinoids, because these tumors stimulate fibroblastic reactions in the peritoneum, mesentery, and retroperitoneum, as well as in the lungs and cardiac valves [29]. In 1968, two physicians, Ladislav Krulich and Samuel McCann discovered an inhibitor of the growth hormone (GH) released from the pituitary gland [30], which attracted much attention because of its functional inhibitory role in the regulation of a wide variety of physiological functions such as the inhibition of both endocrine and exocrine secretion, cell proliferation, and survival. The dual actions of these products (inhibition of hormone release and cell growth) have made them ideal candidates for the treatment of neuroendocrine disorders. In 1973, a growth hormone inhibitor was

isolated named somatostatin [31], and for this reason, the endocrinologist Roger Guillemin received the Nobel Prize for Physiology or Medicine in 1977. Some years after, a somatostatin analogue, octreotide acetate, was developed and used to control carcinoid syndrome, and its use was approved in Europe in 1988 and in the USA in 1989. After that, the FDA approved a new type of preparation, a longer acting octreotide acetate (octreotide long acting repeatable, LAR) following the publication of Joseph Rubin and colleagues, regarding the positive trial results of this drug [32]. Somatostatin compounds also played a role in the diagnostic phase when the Swiss pathologist Jean Claude Reubi and colleagues discovered different somatostatin receptor subtypes and the methods to detect or visualize them for the diagnosis of these types of tumors. OctreoScan® was the first product which became available in 1994, and more recently, 68Gallium (Ga)-DOTATOC and 68Ga-DOTATE were developed as PET (positron emission tomography) traces for somatostatin receptor imaging [33].

1.3 Conclusion

Neuroendocrine neoplasms are a rare family of tumors arising from various different epithelial cells with patterns of neuroendocrine differentiation. They share similar histopathological features, but, at the same time, these tumors vary greatly in their biological behavior and clinical characteristics. Although they are rare tumors, neuroendocrine neoplasms have a very long clinical history (Fig. 1.1) involving various medical figures, from surgeons to pathologists, oncologists, gastroenterologists, radiologists, nuclear physicians, and endocrinologists. Still today they are the subject of discussion and study. Proof of this is the continuous search to classify them in order to better diagnose and treat these rare and, at the same time, fascinating tumors.



Fig. 1.1 The timeline of neuroendocrine neoplasms (adapted from Modlin IM et al. A century of advances in neuroendocrine tumor biology and treatment: a tribute to Siegfried Oberndorfer. Felsenstein CCCP 2007)

References

- Dasari A, Shen C, Halperin D, Zhao B, Zhou S, Xu Y, et al. Trends in the incidence, prevalence, and survival outcomes in patients with neuroendocrine tumors in the United States. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3:1335–42.
- Ferrari L, Bajetta R, Gevorgyan A. Epidemiologia e storia dei tumori neuroendocrini. In: Bajetta E, editor. La famiglia dei carcinoidi. Elsevier Masson; 2007. p. 1–3.
- Langhans T. Uber einen Drüsenpolyp im ileum. Arch für Pathol Anat Physiol für Klin Med. 1867;38:559–60.
- Lubarsch O. Über den primarën Krebs des ileum nebst Bemerkungen über das gleichzeitige Vorkommen von Krebs und Tuberkulose. Arch für Pathol Anat Physiol für Klin Med. 1888;111:280–317.
- Ransom WB. A case of primary carcinoma of the ileum. Lancet. 1890;136:1020–3.
- Notthafft A. Über die Entstehung der carcinoma. Dtsch Arch f
 ür Klin Med. 1895;54:555–87.
- Heidenhain R. Untersuchungen über den Bau der Labdrüsen. Arch für Mikrosk Anat. 1870;6:368–406.
- Kultschitzky N. Zur Frage über den Bau des Darmcanals. Arch für Mikrosk Anat. 1897;49:7–35.
- Rosai J. The origin of neuroendocrine tumors and the neural crest saga. Moder Pathol. 2011;24:553–7.
- Masson P. La glande endocrine de l'intestin chez l'homme. C R Acad Sci Paris. 1914;158:52–61.
- Gosset A, Masson P. Tumeurs endocrines de l'appendice. Presse Med. 1914;25:237–8.

- 12. Oberndorfer S. Karzinoide Tumoren des Dunndarms. Frankf Z für Pathol. 1907:426–9.
- Modlin IM, Shapiro M, Kidd M, Drozdov I, Gustafsson B. Siegfried Oberndorfer and the origins of carcinoid tumors. In: A century of advances in neuroendocrine tumor biology and treatment: a tribute to Siegfried Oberndorfer. Felsenstein CCCP; 2007. p. 22–37.
- Feyrter F. Uber diffuse endokrine epitheliale organe. Zentralbl Innere Med. 1938;545:31–41.
- Erspamer V, Asero B. Identification of enteramine, the specific hormone of the enterochromaffin cell system, as 5-hydroxytryptamine. Nature. 1952;169: 800–1.
- Williams ED, Sandler M. The classification of carcinoid tumours. Lancet. 1963;1:238–9.
- 17. Pearse AG. The APUD cell concept and its implications in pathology. Pathol Annu. 1974;9:27–41.
- Modlin IM, Champaneri MC, Bornschein J, Kidd M. Evolution of the diffuse neuroendocrine system: clear cells and cloudy origins. Endocrinology. 2006;84:69–82.
- Percopo V. Neuroendocrine tumors general aspects. In: GEP and multiple neuroendocrine tumors. Percopo V, Kaplan EL. Padova: Piccin 1996. p. 3–19.
- Capella C, Heitz PU, Hofler H, Solcia E, Klöppel G. Revised classification of neuroendocrine tumours of the lung, pancreas and gut. Virchows Arch. 1995;425:547–60.
- Solcia E, Klöppel G, Sobin LH. Histological typing of endocrine tumours. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer; 2000.

- Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND. WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. International Agency Research Cancer, WHO; 2010.
- Kim JY, Hong SM, Ro JY. Recent updates on grading and classification of neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2017;29:11–6.
- Nagtegaal ID, Odze RD, Klimstra D, Paradis V, Rugge M, Schirmacher P, et al. The 2019 WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. Histopathology. 2020;76:182–8.
- Scholte A. Ein fall von angioma teleangiectaticum cutis mit chronischer endocarditis und malignem dünndarmacarcinoid. Beitr Pathol Anat. 1931;86:440–3.
- 26. Thorson A, Biorck G, Bjorkman G, Waldenstrom J. Malignant carcinoid of the small intestine with metastases to the liver, valvular disease of the right side of the heart (pulmonary stenosis and tricuspid regurgitation without septal defects), peripheral vasomotor symptoms, bronchoconstriction, and an unusual type of cyanosis. Am Heart J. 1954;47:795–817.
- Pernow B, Waldenström J. Paroxysmal flushing and other symptoms caused by 5-hydroxytryptamine and

histamine in patients with malignant tumours. Lancet. 1954;267:951.

- Oates J, Melmon K, Sjoerdsma A. Release of a kinin peptide in the carcinoid syndrome. Lancet. 1964;18:514–7.
- Moertel C, Sauer W, Dockerty M. Life history of the carcinoid tumor of the small intestine. Cancer. 1961;14:901–12.
- Krulich L, Dhariwal AP, McCann SM. Stimulatory and inhibitory effects of purified hypothalamic extracts on growth hormone release from rat pituitary in vitro. Endocrinology. 1968;83:783–90.
- Brazeau P, Vale W, Burgus R, Ling R, Butcher M, Rivier J, et al. Hypothalamic polypeptide that inhibits the secretion of immunoreactive pituitary growth hormone. Science. 1973;179:77–9.
- Rubin J, Ajani J, Schirmer W, Venook AP, Bukowski R, Pommier R, et al. Octreotide acetate long-acting formulation versus open-label subcutaneous octreotide acetate in malignant carcinoid syndrome. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17:600–6.
- Bodei L, Sundin A, Kidd A, Prasad V, Modlin IM. The status of neuroendocrine tumor imaging: from darkness to light? Neuroendocrinology. 2015;101:1–17.



Epidemiology of Neuroendocrine Neoplasms

Annalisa Trama

Neuroendocrine neoplasms are rare cancers [1]; thus, their epidemiology is best studied in large, population-based cancer registries (CRs).

CRs are a crucial source of data on the number of new cancer cases ("incidence"), cancer-related deaths ("mortality"), individuals living with cancer ("prevalence"), as well as cancer "survival" rates. CRs register all cancers, therefore also the rare ones. The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) promotes collaboration among CRs, defines data collection standards and provides training for CR personnel. As a result, from the end of the 1960s, CRs have contributed data to Cancer Incidence in Five Continents and to other collaborative projects. These collaborations have contributed to set common criteria and rules to improve the quality and comparability of data among CRs. However, the quality of a CR inevitably depends on the local healthcare environment and the available sources of information. For a CR to function, it needs to define a catchment area and to have access to reliable population statistical data, medical data from hospitals, death certificates, etc. [2]. Quality of care is also relevant to quality of CRs. For example, inappropriate pathological diagnoses will result in misclassification in CRs. Rare cancers

are particularly exposed to discrepancies in quality of care, with some of them (e.g. sarcomas, neuroendocrine neoplasms) being especially affected in comparison to others (e.g. squamous cell head and neck carcinomas). Misclassification at registration may also happen when (a) information source is correct and complete, but registration is wrong and (b) classifications are ambiguous, obsolete terms are used and entities lack proper codes. In addition, problems in classification may be caused by delays between description of new entities and updates of the WHO Classification of Tumours series, the socalled "blue books" (https://whobluebooks.iarc. fr/), and between changes thereof and updates of International Classifications of Disease for Oncology (ICD-O) which is used by CRs [3].

This chapter describes the epidemiology of neuroendocrine neoplasms based on population-based CRs. It should be kept in mind that (1) registration is based on the ICD-O code, and despite a third revision in 2013, a significant number of neuroendocrine neoplasms are still difficult to classify and (2) CRs register only malignant tumours. Thus, previous and current estimates may suffer of a certain degree of underestimation. Most of the papers considered in this chapter identified the neuroendocrine neoplasms using the ICD-O3 codes as follows: neuroendocrine tumours included islet cell carcinoma (8150), insulinoma (8151), glucagonoma (8152), gastrinoma (8154), vipoma

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_2

A. Trama (🖂)

Research Department, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy e-mail: annalisa.trama@istitutotumori.mi.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

(8155), somatostatinoma (8156), enteroglucagonoma (8157), carcinoids (8240), enterochromaffin cell carcinoid (8241), enterochromaffin-like cell tumours (8242), goblet cell carcinoid (8243), composite carcinoid (8244), adenocarcinoid (8245) and atypical carcinoid (8249). Small-cell and large-cell neuroendocrine carcinomas were also considered in different ways, e.g. Korse et al. [4] combined large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (8013) and neuroendocrine carcinoma (8246) as G3-large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma [G3-LCNEC] and named small-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma as G3-small-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma [G3-SCNEC]; Leoncini et al. [5] grouped largecell neuroendocrine carcinoma (8013), small-cell carcinoma (8041) and neuroendocrine carcinoma (8246) as high-grade neuroendocrine neoplasms; Dasari et al. [6] described neuroendocrine neoplasms different aggressiveness using the grading (G1, well differentiated; G2, moderately differentiated; G3, poorly differentiated and G4, undifferentiated or anaplastic); Boyar Cetinkaya et al. [7] combined small-cell and large-cell neuroendocrine neoplasms in the group of highly aggressive neuroendocrine neoplasms. Data on mixed neuroendocrine/non-neuroendocrine phenotype are not available as individual grouping.

2.1 Incidence Rate

The overall neuroendocrine neoplasms crude incidence rate was 5/100,000 [8] and 3.5/100,000 (www.rarecarenet.eu) in the USA (2000-2004) and in Europe (2000–2007), respectively. However, studies show geographical and racial differences with annual incidence rates varying from around one to five x 100,000 across European countries (www.rarecarenet.eu), Australia [9, 10] and Asian countries [11]. Regarding race, African Americans seem to have a higher incidence rate compared to white and Asian Pacific Islanders [6, 8, 12]. Tsai et al. [13] confirmed that the Asian population had a lower incidence rate than whites and African Americans,

supporting a role for genetic factors. However, the higher incidence rate of neuroendocrine neoplasms among Asian-Americans compared to Asians in Asia suggests that environmental factors may also be important in the neuroendocrine neoplasms development. Further studies are needed to understand whether these differences are due to underlying biologic factors, unknown risk factors, healthcare patterns and/or data capture by CRs.

2.1.1 Neuroendocrine Neoplasms by Age and Gender

Neuroendocrine neoplasms present a slightly higher male predominance (www.rarecarenet. eu). Incidence increases with age and it is highest in patients of 65 years or older in both, males and females ([6, 14]; www.rarecarenet.eu) (Fig. 2.1).

2.1.2 Neuroendocrine Neoplasms by Site

Neuroendocrine neoplasms site distribution may differ across population especially comparing western and eastern countries; however, the most common sites of neuroendocrine neoplasms diagnoses are lung and gastrointestinal pancreatic (GEP) sites everywhere. In USA, in 2000-2012, the neuroendocrine neoplasms incidence was 1.49, 3.56 and 0.84/100,000 in the lung, GEP sites and unknown primary site of origin, respectively. Within the GEP sites, the most common site was the small intestine (1.05/100,000) followed by the rectum (1.04/100,000) and pancreas (0.48/100,000) [6]. In Europe, neuroendocrine neoplasms distribution by site was similar but, within GEP sites, most common sites were small intestine, stomach and pancreas [14]. However, the population from Taiwan presented very few cases of neuroendocrine neoplasms in the small intestine and a high proportion of cases in the rectum [13].



Fig. 2.1 Age-specific incidence rate of neuroendocrine neoplasms overall (a) and by gender (b), any site, Europe 2000–2007. Source: adapted from www.rarecarenet.eu

2.1.3 Neuroendocrine Neoplasms by Stage

The stage at diagnosis differs when series from several countries are compared. In the USA, in 2000–2012, of 53,465 neuroendocrine neoplasms with a known stage, 52% were localized, 20% were regional and 28% were distant at the time of diagnosis [6]. A comparison between Norway and USA in the years 1993–2004 showed an overall proportion of localized neuroendocrine neoplasms disease lower in Norway (27%) compared with the USA (40–46%), a

proportion of regional disease higher in the Norway (39%) compared with the SEER (17– 20%) and a similar distribution of distant disease in both populations (18–22%) [12]. In the Tuscan CR (Italy), from 1985 to 2005, a higher number of neuroendocrine neoplasms were diagnosed at regional stage (incidence rate 0.3/00,000) than at localized (0.2/100,000) or at distant stage (0.2/100,000) [15]. In Iceland, data are available for GEP neuroendocrine neoplasms only and, in the years 1985–2014, showed 65% of GEP neuroendocrine neoplasms confined to their organ of origin at the time of diagnosis [16]. The differences in time periods covered, neuroendocrine neoplasms site included, may partially explain these discrepancies, but differences in healthcare and screening organizations could also impact on stage at diagnosis.

Finally, the latest data from the USA showed in 2000–2012 that of 45,318 neuroendocrine neoplasms with a known grade, 51% were G1, 16% were G2, and 33% were G3 and G4 [6].

2.2 Incidence Trends

The incidence rate of neuroendocrine neoplasms has shown a significant increase over time, overall and for all neuroendocrine neoplasms common cancer sites, across populations (Australia, Canada, Denmark, Italy, Netherlands, Norway, Switzerland, Taiwan, USA) with different magnitude of change [5, 9, 10, 13].

In Italy, Caldarella et al. [15] reported an increase in incidence from 0.5/100,000 in 1985 to 1.9/100,000 in 2005. By behaviour, incidence rate for uncertain behaviour neuroendocrine neoplasms increased from 0 to 0.3/100,000; however, malignant neuroendocrine neoplasms incidence rate also increased. In the Netherlands, the incidence rate of neuroendocrine neoplasms increased from 2.1/100,000 in 1990 to 4.9/100,000 in 2010. The incidence of welldifferentiated, low-grade neuroendocrine neoplasms showed a moderate increase from 2.0/100,000 to 3.0/100,000; the incidence of well-differentiated, intermediate grade or atypical carcinoid increased from 0.01/100,000 to 0.2/100,000 in 2010. The largest increase in incidence was observed in poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma large-cell from 0.01/100,000 in 1990 to 1.8/100,000 in 2010 [4]. In the USA, incidence of neuroendocrine neoplasms was 1.09/100,000 in 1973 and increased to 6.98/100,000 by 2012. The increase occurred across all sites, stages and grades although the most dramatic rise was noted in patients 65 years or older; in the stomach, in G1 neuroendocrine neoplasms and, among the stage groups, in localized neuroendocrine neoplasms [6]. In Canada, incidence neuroendocrine the neoplasms increased from 2.48/100,000 in 1994 to 5.86/100,000 in 2009. The proportion of patients presenting with metastatic disease at the time of diagnosis decreased from 29% in 1994 to 13% in 2009. However, because incidence of all neuroendocrine neoplasms increased, the incidence of metastatic neuroendocrine neoplasms at presentation remained stable [17]. Finally, in the USA, the overall incidence rate of low-grade neuroenneoplasms docrine increased from 1.09/100,000 in 1973 to 3.51/100,000 in 2012 (3.2-fold increase); the overall incidence rate of high-grade neuroendocrine neoplasms increased from 2.54/100,000 to 10.52/100,000 (4.1-fold increase) [5].

The observed trends have been explained by an increased diagnosis of asymptomatic, earlystage disease due to an increased use of endoscopic and imaging procedures in clinical practice as well as to an increased recognition and widespread adoption of the formalization of the nomenclature, grading and staging of these tumours. However, neuroendocrine neoplasms overall are stably increasing independently of grade. This raises the hypothesis that neuroendocrine neoplasia (NENs) share susceptibility factors independently of cancer grade. Anyway, we are still dealing with a poorly understood phenomenon that will need further investigations to answer the rising demand for cure and prevention for this group of neoplasms [5].

2.3 Neuroendocrine Neoplasms Prevalence

The prevalence is a measure of the cancer burden because it counts the number of patients alive at a certain date, in a defined population, who have been diagnosed with a given cancer. Limitedduration prevalence limits the number of patients to those diagnosed with cancer within a fixed time in the past (i.e. 2, 5 or 20 years) of a prevalence index date. Complete prevalence count/ proportion includes all previously diagnosed patients alive at the prevalence index date, regardless of how long ago the diagnosis was given.

In the USA, based on the 20-year limited duration prevalence, at 1 January 2014, 171,321 neuroendocrine neoplasms patients were estimated to be alive (prevalent) [6]. In Europe, at 1 January 2008, the number of neuroendocrine neoplasms prevalent patients was 117,237 (www. rarecarenet.eu).

This "high" prevalence may seem to be in contrasts with the low incidence of neuroendocrine neoplasms. Prevalence includes patients irrespective of whether they are under treatment or considered cured; thus, it is a composite of the incidence and survival rates. Thus, neuroendocrine neoplasms prevalence can be explained by the overall favourable prognosis of most neuroendocrine neoplasms. The rising incidence, and likely identification of tumours at earlier stages, will lead to an increase in the prevalence of neuroendocrine neoplasms, and clinicians should be encouraged to become familiar with this particular type of cancer [18].

2.4 Neuroendocrine Neoplasms Survival

Data on neuroendocrine neoplasms survival coming from CRs should be read considering that CRs collect data on malignant tumours only. In addition, it is very difficult to accurately compare results from different countries (Table 2.1). Anyway, five-year survival overall seems to be around 50-60% with differences across anatomical sites, grading and stage. Among neuroendocrine neoplasms, common sites, colon, appendix and small intestine, are those with highest survival whereas lung and pancreas are those with the lowest survival. Higher survival has been reported in the USA as is the case for most common adult cancers. Survival rates are also higher in hospital-based series due to patient selection [19]. Independent predictors of neuroendocrine neoplasms survival included older age, male sex, low socioeconomic status, rural, advanced stage and neuroendocrine neoplasms primary tumour sites.

Increasing survival over time has been reported in several studies across populations. However, few reports on survival trends by neuroendocrine neoplasms aggressiveness are available to properly disentangle the reasons of survival changes over time. In The Netherlands, it was observed an on-going improvement in survival with well-differentiated neuroendocrine neoplasms, mainly in patients with neuroendocrine neoplasms of grade 1 and metastatic disease, and the authors suggested that the introduction of somatostatin analogues and their long-acting forms may explain this change in survival over time [4]. In Norway, improved survival was observed in both low/intermediate and highly aggressive neuroendocrine neoplasms after year 2000, regardless of tumour stage, gender and age group (period analyzed 1993-2015) [7]. In the USA, compared with 2000-2004, patients who received a diagnosis between 2005 and 2008 had a 17% lower risk of death and those diagnosed in 2009–2012 had a 21%. To evaluate the effect of the evolution of systemic therapies on survival, overall survival trends of distant stage neuroendocrine neoplasms and of distant gastrointestinal and distant pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms were evaluated. An improvement in overall survival in all distant neuroendocrine neoplasms over time was observed. The improvement in survival was more pronounced in the subgroup with distant gastrointestinal neuroendocrine neoplasms but the subgroup with distant pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms saw the biggest improvements [6].

The improvements in survival can be driven by changes in the incidence previously discussed, including a higher proportion of more indolent neuroendocrine neoplasms, stage migration due to improvements in diagnostic techniques, adoption of standardized staging and pathology guidelines. However, it seems that improvements in the management of neuroendocrine neoplasms, including development of Octreoscans in the late 1980s, may also have contributed to the survival improvement [6].

Table 2.1 Charact	eristics of the	studies with	data on neuroendocrine neoplasms survival together with survival	linformation
Study	Period	Population	Neuroendocrine neoplasms included	Survival
Dasari A et al.	1973–2012	NSA	Islet cell carcinoma (ICD-O3 8150), insultinoma (ICD-O3 8151), glucagonoma (ICD-O3 8152), gastrinoma (ICD-O3 8153), mixed islet cell/exocrine adenocarcinoma (ICD-O3 8154), vipoma (ICD-O3 8155), somatostatinoma (ICD-O3 8156), enteroglucagonoma (ICD-O3 8157), carcinoids (ICD-O3 8240), enterochromaffin cell carcinoid (ICD-O3 8241), enterochromaffin-like cell tumours (ICD-O3 8242), goblet cell carcinoid (ICD-O3 8245), neuroendocrine carcinoma (ICD-O3 8246) and atypical carcinoid (ICD-O3 8246)	Median overall survival (OS) time of 30 years All = 9.3 years Localized = >30 years; Regional = 10.2 years; Distant = 12 months G1 = 16.2 years; G2 = 8.3 years; G3-G4 = 10 months Rectum = 24.6 years; Appendix = >30.0 years; Pancreatic = 3.6 years; Lung = 5.5 years
Luke C et al.	1980-2006	Australia	ICD-O-3 histology codes of 8150–8157, 8240–8246 or 8249	Disease-specific survival All sites combined survival 5 years = 68.5% ; 10 years = 60.6% ;15 years = 55.9% ; 20 years = 49.9% 5-year survivals Appendix = 93.8% ; Rectum = 85.8% ; Unknown primary site = 27.8% ; Pancreas = 42.4%
Boyar Cetinkaya et al.	1993–2015	Norway	62 ICD-O morphology codes	5-year relative survival Low/intermediate aggressive neuroendocrine neoplasms = 64.8% high aggressive neuroendocrine neoplasms = 8.4%
Gudmundsdottir H et al.	1985–2014	Iceland	GEP only (morphology codes not available)	5-year overall survival All GEP sites = 75% Localized = 89%; Regional = 70%; Distant = 37%
Maarten van der Zwan JM et al.	2000-2002	Europe	Carcinoids (8240–8246); atypical carcinoids (8249); GEP well-differentiated endocrine carcinoma non-functioning (8240–8246, 8249, 8150); GEP well-differentiated endocrine carcinomas functioning (8151–8153,8155–8157); poorly differentiated endocrine carcinomas (8013, 8041–8045 all sites, but skin and thyroid); mixed endocrine–exocrine carcinomas (8154); neuroendocrine neoplasms of thyroid gland (8013, 8041–8045,8510, 8345–8347) and skin (8041–8044; 8240–824)	 5-year relative survival All sites = 50% Thyroid gland = 82%; Well-differentiated endocrine carcinoma pancreas digest organs (non-functioning) = 64%; Mixed endocrine-exocrine carcinoma = 62%; Skin = 58%; Carcinoids = 30% Poorly diff endocrine carcinoma = 12%
Tsai HJ et al.	1996–2008	Taiwan	ICD-O3 8240–8249, 8013 (large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma), and 8574 (adenocarcinoma with neuroendocrine differentiation)	5-year observed overall survival All sites = 50.4%; Rectum = 80.9%; Appendix = 75.7%; Lung = 34%; Pancreas = 30%
Hallet J et al.	1994–2009	Canada	ICD-O3 8240, 8241, 8242, 8243, 8245, 8246, 8249, 8150, 8152, 8153, 8154, 8155, 8156 and 8157	5-year overall survival All sites = 61%; Rectum = 87%; Small Intestine = 73%; Pancreas = 49%

16

References

- Gatta G, van der Zwan JM, Casali PG, et al. Rare cancers are not so rare: the rare cancer burden in Europe. Eur J Cancer. 2011;47(17):2493–511. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejca.2011.08.008.
- Forsea AM. Cancer registries in Europe—going forward is the only option. Ecancermedicalscience. 2016;10:641. https://doi.org/10.3332/ ecancer.2016.641.
- Percy C, Fritz A, Jack A, et al. International classification of diseases for the oncology (ICD-O). 3rd ed. World Health Organisation; 2000.
- Korse CM, Taal BG, van Velthuysen ML, Visser O. Incidence and survival of neuroendocrine tumours in the Netherlands according to histological grade: experience of two decades of cancer registry. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(8):1975–83. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejca.2012.12.022.
- Leoncini E, Boffetta P, Shafir M, Aleksovska K, Boccia S, Rindi G. Increased incidence trend of low-grade and high-grade neuroendocrine neoplasms. Endocrine. 2017;58(2):368–79. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12020-017-1273-x.
- Dasari A, Shen C, Halperin D, et al. Trends in the incidence, prevalence, and survival outcomes in patients with neuroendocrine tumors in the United States. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(10):1335–42. https:// doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.0589.
- Boyar Cetinkaya R, Aagnes B, Myklebust TÅ, Thiis-Evensen E. Survival in neuroendocrine neoplasms; a report from a large Norwegian population-based study. Int J Cancer. 2018;142(6):1139–47. https://doi. org/10.1002/ijc.31137.
- Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A, et al. One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(18):3063– 72. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2007.15.4377.
- Luke C, Price T, Townsend A, et al. Epidemiology of neuroendocrine cancers in an Australian population. Cancer Causes Control. 2010;21(6):931–8. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10552-010-9519-4.
- Wyld D, Wan MH, Moore J, Dunn N, Youl P. Epidemiological trends of neuroendocrine

tumours over three decades in Queensland, Australia. Cancer Epidemiol. 2019;63:101598. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.canep.2019.101598.

- Matsuda T, Won YJ, Chiang RC, et al. Rare cancers are not rare in Asia as well: the rare cancer burden in East Asia. Cancer Epidemiol. 2020;67:101702.
- Hauso O, Gustafsson BI, Kidd M, et al. Neuroendocrine tumor epidemiology: contrasting Norway and North America. Cancer. 2008;113(10):2655–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.23883.
- Tsai HJ, Wu CC, Tsai CR, Lin SF, Chen LT, Chang JS. The epidemiology of neuroendocrine tumors in Taiwan: a nation-wide cancer registry-based study. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e62487. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0062487.
- 14. van der Zwan JM, Trama A, Otter R, et al. Rare neuroendocrine tumours: results of the surveillance of rare cancers in Europe project. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(11):2565–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2013.02.029.
- Caldarella A, Crocetti E, Paci E. Distribution, incidence, and prognosis in neuroendocrine tumors: a population based study from a cancer registry. Pathol Oncol Res. 2011;17(3):759–63. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12253-011-9382-y.
- Gudmundsdottir H, Möller PH, Jonasson JG, Björnsson ES. Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in Iceland: a population-based study. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2019;54(1):69–75. https://doi.org/10.1 080/00365521.2018.1553061.
- Hallet J, Law CH, Cukier M, Saskin R, Liu N, Singh S. Exploring the rising incidence of neuroendocrine tumors: a population-based analysis of epidemiology, metastatic presentation, and outcomes. Cancer. 2015;121(4):589–97. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.29099.
- Huguet I, Grossman AB, O'Toole D. Changes in the epidemiology of neuroendocrine tumours. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;104(2):105–11. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000441897. PMID: 26505990.
- Lepage C, Bouvier AM, Faivre J. Endocrine tumours: epidemiology of malignant digestive neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Endocrinol. 2013;168(4):R77–83. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-12-0418.

Part II

Diagnosis

M. Milione (🖂) · L. Cattaneo · A. Mangogna

Pathology Division, Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto

e-mail: massimo.milione@istititutotumori.mi.it

3.1 **Classifications at Present**

3.1.1 Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms (GEP-NENs): World Health Organization (WHO) 2019 **Rules** (Fig. 3.1a)

The highest percentage of neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) arise in gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) system [1]. GEP-NENs represent a heterogeneous tumor group described by variable biological and clinical characteristics. Histological grading drives GEP-NEN's clinical outcome and therapeutic strategy.

GEP-NENs grading is given by their morphological features and proliferative activity evaluation. In contrast to ordinary carcinomas where "grade (G)" represents the histological parameter based on histologic resemblance between neoplastic cells and their normal counterpart, GEP-NENs grading has to be considered properly a prognostic parameter; when G increases, GEP-NENs patients clinical outcome became poorer. Since 2010, WHO classifications defined rigid rules to define the GEP-NENs grading system [2].

3.1.1.1 Current WHO 2019 **Classification Classes**

New Concepts in Pathology

Massimo Milione, Laura Cattaneo,

and Alessandro Mangogna

GEP-NENs 2019 WHO classification (hereinafter called simply WHO 2019) defines the following prognostic categories, since 2017 associated only to pancreatic NENs [3, 4] (Fig. 3.1a):

- A. Well-Differentiated Neuroendocrine Tumor (NET).
 - NET G1: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumor, Ki-67 index <3%, and/or mitotic count <2/2 mm² or 10 higher power fields (HPF);
 - NET G2: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumor. Ki-67 index 3-20%, and/or mitotic count 2-20/2 mm² or 10 HPF;
 - NET G3: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumor, Ki-67 index >20%, and/or mitotic count >20/2 mm² or 10 HPF.
- B. Poorly Differentiated Neuroendocrine Carcinoma (NEC).

Poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma, Ki-67 index >20%, and/or mitotic count >20/ 2 mm² or 10 HPF. Further distinguished in:

- Large cells NEC;
- Small cells NEC.

The importance of separating NEC according to the neoplastic cells size features takes origin from bronchopulmonary NEC and so we will discuss it in paragraph 2.

Nazionale Tumori, Milan, Italy





21

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_3



* counted in 10 HPF/2000 cells/2mm²

* counted in 10 HPF/2000 cells/2mm²

Fig. 3.1 (a) The World Health Organization (WHO) 2019 classification distinguishes gastro-entero-pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (GEP-NENs) on the basis of morphological aspects (well differentiated and poorly differentiated) and the cyto-proliferative activity of the tumor, expressed as grading (G). The G is based on the proliferative index of the tumor (number of mitoses on 10 high-magnification fields-HPF, High Power Field, with a minimum magnification of 40×) or as a value of Ki-67 (immunohistochemical parameter obtained by measuring the percentage of MIB-1 antibody positive cells out of 2000 cells, evaluated in the area of greatest nuclear labeling). Based on the assessment of the mitotic count and the proliferation index with Ki-67, the G of the GEP-NENs is defined: neuroendocrine tumor (NET) G1, NET G2, NET G3, and neuroendocrine carcinoma (NEC). The proposed cut-off to distinguish NET G1 from NET G2 is 2 mitosis/10 HPF and 3% Ki-67 index. The category of NET G3, characterized by well-differentiated neoplasms but with a Ki-67 proliferative index >20%, includes NENs characterized by high proliferative activity, but well-differentiated morphology, typical of NETs. Finally, a mitotic count >20/10 HPF and a Ki-67 index >20%, but with poorly differentiated morphology, define the NECs. The aforementioned principles, initially proposed in the WHO 2010 classification, were partially modified in the WHO 2017 classification which concerned only the pancreatic site (pancreatic NENs). The result of the changes made to the WHO 2010 classification in the 2017 version for the pancreatic site alone has been condensed, incorporated, and extended to the entire GEP system in the WHO 2019 classification. (b) The terminology to be used to describe lung NENs (LU-NENs) is that contained in the WHO classification, 2015 edition, which identifies four morphological variants: typical carcinoid (CT), atypical carcinoid (CA), large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (LCNEC), and small cell lung carcinoma (SCLC). CT and CA have welldifferentiated morphology, whereas LCNEC and SCLC poorly differentiated. Based on the assessment of the mitotic count and presence/absence of necrosis, the G of the LU-NENs is defined: CT, CA, LCNEC, and SCLC. The proposed cut-off to distinguish CT from AC is <2 mitosis/10 HPF and absence of necrosis. The category of poorly differentiated is defined by a mitotic count >10/10 HPF and presence of necrosis. Cytological features such as cell size, nuclear morphology, and architecture are additional characteristics useful to distinguish between LCNEC and SCLC

C. Mixed Neuroendocrine–Non-neuroendocrine Neoplasm (MiNEN).

The coexistence of neuroendocrine and non-neuroendocrine components in the same neoplasm is a rare but a well-known phenomenon in the digestive system.

WHO 2019 described this phenomenon as "mixed neuroendocrine–non-neuroendocrine neoplasm (MiNEN)" using the same term just proposed by 2017 WHO pancreatic neoplasm classifications [5]. In more details, MiNENs represent mixed neoplasms composed by the association between well or poorly neuroendocrine and other (non-neuroendocrine) neoplasms only when each counterpart covers at least 30% (\geq 30%) within the whole neoplasm [6, 7]. MiNENs enclose the previous mixed

neoplasm categories: mixed adenoneuroendocrine tumor (MANET) [8] and mixed adeno-neuroendocrine carcinoma (MANEC) [2, 9, 10].

MANET and MANEC are discussed extensively in further paragraph "From MANEC to MiNEN."

3.1.1.2 GEP-NENs Morphological Examination Rules

NETs (Fig. 3.2a) are composed by neoplastic cells, uniform in size and features, arranged in trabecular, organoid, gyriform, or ribbon architecture, and cytoplasm is intensively and diffusely (100% of neoplastic cells) stained by general neuroendocrine markers [Synaptophysin (Syn) and Chromogranin A (CgA)] because it is



Fig. 3.2 The identification of the neuroendocrine phenotype involves the use of immunohistochemical markers capable of defining the neuroendocrine nature of the neoplasm: Chromogranin A (CgA) and Synaptophysin (Syn). (a) NETs show intense positivity for Syn and CgA. (b) NECs preserve positivity for Syn but may show reduced expression of CgA

		PD large	PD small
Features	WD (NET)	cells (NEC)	cells (NEC)
A. NEN's architectural features			
- Typical architecture with an organoid growth pattern	Present	Absent	Absent
- Nodular or solid architecture with rosette formation or palisading	Absent	Present	Absent
B. NEN's cytological features			
- Low nuclear-to-cytoplasmic ratio	Present	Present	Absent
- High nuclear-to-cytoplasmic ratio	Absent	Absent	Present
- Abundant eosinophilic or amphophilic cytoplasm	Present	Absent	Absent
- Large amounts of cytoplasm often basophilic	Absent	Present	Absent
- Ovoid nuclei and/or salt and pepper chromatin	Present	Absent	Absent
– Nuclear atypia	Rare	Present	Present
– Nuclear pleomorphism	Rare	Present	Absent
– Obvious nucleoli	Absent	Present	Absent
- Large-size tumor cells*	Absent	Present	Absent
C. Tumor necrosis	Rare	Present	Present
D. Small-cell typical features as definite for LU-NECs	Absent	Absent	Present

 Table 3.1
 Morphological features of NENs [11–17]

Note. *NEN* neuroendocrine neoplasm, *WD* well differentiated, *NET* neuroendocrine tumor, *PD* poorly differentiated, *NEC* neuroendocrine carcinoma, *LU-NEC* lung neuroendocrine carcinoma. * by convention larger than three lymphocytes. Table modified by Fazio N, Milione M. Heterogeneity of grade 3 gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas: New insights and treatment implications. Cancer treatment reviews. 2016; 50:61–7 (courtesy of Elsevier) [12]

rich in secretory granules. Nuclear chromatin is regular with inconspicuous nucleoli, without atypia. Mitoses are uncommon or at least rare.

NEC's cells (Fig. 3.2b), if small cell (SC) or if large cell (LC) (see Table 3.1), arranged in solid growth pattern, show pleomorphic and highly atypical nuclei rich in mitotic figures intermingled by abundant nonischemic necrosis that may be focal (punctate or spot) or diffuse (geographic or map). Syn and CgA positivity confirmed at immunohistochemistry (IHC) analysis are mandatory; even if Syn staining has to be maintained in whole neoplasm, CgA expression usually in the highest grade tumors. Criteria for distinguishing SC from LC and NETs from NECs are deeply listed in Table 3.1 [11, 12, 18–20].

3.1.1.3 *Proliferative Indices*: Mitotic Index (MI) and Ki-67 Labeling Index (Ki-67 LI)

- Mitotic index (MI): Understood as the number of mitoses on 10 high-magnification fields [high power field (HPF), with minimum magnification 40×] corresponding to a tumoral area of 2 mm² [2].
- Ki-67 labeling index (LI): An immunohistochemical parameter obtained by measuring

the percentage of Ki-67 (MIB-1 antibody) nuclear positivity in tumoral cells out of 500–2000 cells (corresponding to a tumoral area of 2 mm²), evaluated in the area of greatest nuclear marking, the so called hot spot [2].

Some tips and tricks are useful to properly define the tumoral area where proliferative indices will be evaluated. The aforesaid 2 mm² has to be searched in the so-called specimen's "hotspots" in depth areas where at panoramic (larger microscopic fields) observation the higher proportion of stained nuclei and/or mitotic figures could be detected. According to WHO classification since 2010, the aforesaid 2 mm² areas could be properly covered by 10 high power optical microscopic field (HPF) at 40× magnification considering that each HPF could be sized at 0.5 mm [2]. Of note, HPF real size in the current microscopes available is not uniform covering a range between 0.096 and 0.31 mm². As concluding remark considering 10 HPF, according to WHO, could not be precisely reproducible in daily practice, otherwise could be better to consider HPF final number according to the specific microscope considering that each manufacturer should indicate the HPF size in mm² [21].

MI is the quantitative expression of M phase's cell cycle. The M phase is the shortest of the cell cycle and is therefore very fleeting. As a result, MI underestimates proliferating cells; otherwise Ki-67, a nuclear antigen expressed in proliferative cells (both S and M phases), has been proven as the powerful independent tool in predicting NENs clinical outcome [22–28].

3.1.2 Lung Neuroendocrine Neoplasms (LU-NENs) WHO 2015 Rules (Fig. 3.1b)

Lung neuroendocrine neoplasms (LU-NENs) represent a heterogeneous group of tumors showing different morphological features and clinical aggressiveness. According to 2015 WHO classification, LU-NENs are distinguished in four morphological and prognostic categories namely typical carcinoid (TC) and atypical carcinoid (AC), well-differentiated NENs, respectively, large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (LCNEC) and small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC), still called microcitoma (Fig. 3.1b), poorly differentiated NENs, respectively [29, 30]. LU-NENs classification, similarly to GEP-NENs, considered as main skill the distinction between well or poorly differentiated NENs, using tumoral cells proliferation, exclusively identified by mitotic index, and necrosis assessment (Fig. 3.1b).

Different past terminologies are not recommended, deeply "carcinoma" and/or "malignant carcinoid," to collectively indicate TC and AC have to be carefully avoided because they could lead to inappropriate treatments [30].

Among the main well and poorly differentiated LU-NENs classes, differential diagnosis is based on the presence/absence of necrosis and the mitotic index (MI) per 2 mm² (Fig. 3.3). In



Fig. 3.3 Criteria for diagnosis of lung neuroendocrine neoplasms (LU-NENs). Terminologies used in the past are not recommended, indeed should be carefully avoided, in particular the use of the term "carcinoma" to collectively indicate typical carcinoid (CT) and atypical carcinoid (CA) or that of "malignant carcinoid," because they could lead to inappropriate therapeutic treatments or not be consistent with the classification criteria. Based on the morphological and immunophenotypic similarities between the neoplastic cells of CT (**A**) and CA (**B**) and the normal cellular counterpart of the diffuse NE system of the respiratory system, they represent a group of welldifferentiated tumors (NETs) as opposed to large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (**C**) and small cell carcinoma (**D**) which are poorly differentiated carcinomas more details, TC does not show necrosis and MI is <2 mitosis per 2 mm², while AC group shows necrosis, even if focal and/or MI between 2 and 10 per 2 mm² finally poorly differentiated carcinomas must have >10 mitosis per 2 mm^2 and extensive necrotic areas [30]. Cytological features such as cell size, nuclear morphology, and architecture are additional characteristics useful to distinguish between LCNEC and SCLC, but not between AC and TC that, according to their common well-differentiated morphology, always share similar cyto-architectural features [30]. LU-NENs, confirmation is given by immunohistochemical markers such as CgA, Syn, and NCAM/CD56 [30]. WHO indicated CgA and Syn as reliable neuroendocrine markers (Fig. 3.4), NCAM/CD56, cell adhesion molecule, as helpful but not mandatory marker [29] and neuronspecific enolase, has been not recommended, because it lacked reproducibility [30].

LU-NENs WHO classification considered Ki-67 LI (%) (expressed as the percentual of positive tumor cells) only as additional parameter, in contrast European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) required Ki-67 for adequate diagnostic and prognostic LU-NENs assessment [31]. Deeply according to WHO, the main diagnostic Ki-67 role is still limited to: (1) distinguish the TC and AC from the high-grade LCNEC and SCLC [32], with a practical cutoff point of 25% to operate this distinction [29, 32]; (2) distinguish TC and AC from poorly differentiated NECs, in particular SCLC, in limited diagnostic material (cytology and biopsies) [33].

Even if Ki-67 role in LU-NENs prognostic stratification remains controversial, an intriguing proposal for LU-NENs "classification" has recently advanced. It has been based on the integration of three parameters: (1) Ki-67 labeling index evaluation, (2) necrosis assessment, and (3) MI, each of these categorized by three different "cutoffs" leading to the identification of three LU-NENs prognostic categories (G1, G2, and G3). These levels are indicated as follows: level 1 (G1) (2 mitoses, Ki-67 <4%, tumor necrosis absent), level 2 (G2) (>2–47 mitoses, Ki-67 4–25, tumor necrosis <10%), and level 3 (G3) (>47 mitoses, Ki-67 >25, tumor necrosis >10%)



Fig. 3.4 Immunohistochemical criteria for the diagnosis of lung neuroendocrine neoplasms (LU-NENs). Chromogranin A (CgA) and synaptophysin (Syn) are the most helpful neuroendocrine lung tumors immunohistochemical markers. A low proliferation rate is seen in typi-

cal carcinoid by Ki-67 staining compared with atypical carcinoid where it is usually between 5% and 20%. Large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma and small cell carcinoma have very high proliferation rates (Ki-67 proliferative index >20%) and CgA weakly stains the tumor cells

[34, 35]. In depth, G1 (well-differentiated, low-grade) tumors are those that show at least two of three parameters at level 1, G2 (welldifferentiated, intermediate-grade) tumors are identified by two of three parameters at level 2, and finally G3 (poorly differentiated, high-grade) tumors are characterized by at least two out of three parameters at level 3. Thus, tumors G1 include all TC and a fraction of AC, G2 tumors include most of AC but also some SCLC and LCNEC, and G3 tumors add up most of SCLC and LCNEC but even a small fraction of AC. This subdivision is in line with the literature data that see AC and LCNEC as somewhat heterogeneous categories of tumors from the behavioral point of view and a fraction of SCLC characterized by long survival. However, this proposal must be confirmed by independent and prospective validation studies [35, 36].

In conclusion even if the WHO includes only MI and assessment of necrosis [30], the ENETS in consensus statement on best practices for pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors noted that tumor grading based on a combination of Ki-67, mitotic rate, and necrosis may be of clinical importance but lacks validation [31]. According to recent evidences, a major role for Ki-67 also in LU-NENs classifications is requested [29, 37].

3.1.3 TNM in GEP- and LU-NENs

NENs are malignant tumors and consequently should be staged according to a site-specific staging system (TNM). NENs spread equally via blood or lymphatic system, and metastasis represents the most important prognostic determinant after grading. Lymph nodes represent the main GEP-NENs metastatic site followed by liver, lung, peritoneum, and pancreas.

At present, two different TNM systems work as NENs staging systems in more details:

 The Union for International Cancer Control and the American Joint Committee on Cancer (UICC/AJCC) have published TNM classification (eighth edition) that have been applied to well-differentiated NETs (Grade 1 and 2) of the gastrointestinal tract, including the pancreas. Whereas, poorly differentiated (Grade 3) NECs are excluded and should be classified according to criteria for classifying carcinomas at the respective site [20, 38].

 Based on clinical, surgical, and imaging data, European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) has published TNM staging recommendations that have been applied to all grades of NENs [39, 40]. Information on the presence or absence of metastasis has to be available as a minimum requirement for ENETS staging [39, 40].

ENETS staging system introduced different staging rules in comparison to UICC/ AJCC (eighth edition) in gastric, appendicular, and pancreatic locations [40, 41] staging of pancreatic NENs (PanNENs) according to ENETS staging stratify better than UICC/ AJCC into prognostically significant groups, whereas UICC/AJCC has been proved better in appendix NEN's patients clinical outcome prediction [42]. It is advisable to apply both schemes.

ENETS system applies to gastrointestinal NENs of foregut, midgut, and hindgut. Foregut NETs are further divided into three groups: (a) gastric NENs; (b) duodenum, ampulla, and proximal jejunum NENs; and (c) PanNENs. Midgut and hindgut NENs category include lower jejunum/ileum, appendix, and colon/rectum. ENETS staging criteria use stage 0 only for the stomach because this is the only anatomic site where T is defined. Stage I includes the T1 NENs with limited growth. Stage II applies to the tumors larger in size or more invasive, either T2 or T3, but always in the absence of metastasis. Stage III includes tumors with invasion into surrounding structures but without lymph node metastasis (stage IIIA) and tumors of any AJCC T stages (T1, T2, T3, and T4) in the presence of regional node metastasis (stage IIIB). Stage IV includes tumors of any AJCC T stage and of any AJCC N stage (N0 or N1) with the presence of distal metastasis (M1) at the time of initial diagnosis [39, 40].

LU-NENs staging currently is represented by the TNM UICC/AJCC system, eighth edition, and should be classified according to criteria for carcinoma of the lung [38]. For carcinoids, however, the descriptive categories and the impact of multicentricity will have to be better defined, to better adhere to the biological reality of these neoplasms. For example, many multiple carcinoids, TC or AC, are multicentric synchronous primitive neoplasms rather than intrapulmonary metastases, especially if born in diffuse idiopathic pulmonary neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia. For SCLCs, the use of terms such as "extended disease" and "limited disease" is discouraged, the latter being, in turn, diversifiable into subgroups with different prognosis according to the TNM system [43, 44].

3.2 Moving to 2017/2019 GEP Classifications

3.2.1 NET G3 History (Fig. 3.5)

The term well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumor (NET) G3 is a neologism used for the first time by a French group [13], and then later also by other authors [14, 45, 46], that means GEP-NEN with a well-differentiated (WD) morphology and a Ki-67 higher than 20%. NETs G3, until 2017 WHO classification was enclosed in NEC G3 covered 10–20% of all GEP NECs [12, 14, 46]. Compared to the latter, NET G3 patients were younger, the primary tumor site was espe-



Fig. 3.5 Classification of high-grade gastro-enteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (H-NENs) according to scientific literature. The prognostic categories neuroendocrine tumor (NET) G3 and neuroendocrine carcinoma (NEC) <55% and NEC \geq 55% are defined by the contextual application of the morphological characteriza-

tion and the quantitative evaluation of the proliferation, mainly through Ki-67, of the neoplastic cells. Therefore, the three categories of H-NENs show important differences between them both in prognostic terms and in terms of therapeutic approach
cially the pancreas, and the overall survival was significantly better than the NECs [14, 47]. When gastrointestinal (GI) NETs G3 were analyzed separately, as it happened for pancreatic (Pan) NETs G3, a great difference was detected with the respective NECs (both GI and Pan); it came to light that colorectal locations, such as the pancreas, have a poor prognosis [12, 14–17].

Mitotic index (MI) was considered inferior to Ki-67 LI to define NET G3 [12]. A possible explanation is that mitoses are related to a shorter phase (M phase) of the cell cycle than the Ki-67 antigen, present in the nucleus in all phases of the cell cycle, while it is absent in phase G_0 (growth).

Although all authors agree that NET G3 Ki-67 should be above 20%, a precise upper limit was not defined, with variable reported values: 55% in Italian study, 60% in French, and 70% in the European study [12]. In the studies that compare GEP-NET G3 to NEC, median Ki-67 (range) was 30 [13–17, 26–70] in NET G3 compared to 80 (25-100) in NEC [14, 46, 48]. A possible explanation could be related to the absence of reproducibility of study method: only Italian group selected case after a centralized pathologist revision, only the Nordic Group and Italian studies performing a specific analysis to find a threshold for Ki-67, showed that the 55% threshold works well from the prognostic point of view [14, 48], otherwise other groups reported descriptive statistics to evaluate of Ki-67 identified WD NETs with Ki-67 > 55%. Probably, in these rare conditions, WD NETs could have a component mixed of poorly differentiated (PD) NECs, and the Ki-67 could be evaluated as the median of the whole neoplasm, resulting in a Ki-67 >55% [49]. Therefore, in these particular cases, it would be more appropriate to evaluate Ki-67 separately in WD and PD areas, assigning two different values [12].

Over the years, given the previous WHO 2010 classification, NET G3 patients have been treated similarly to NEC even in the absence of sufficient information that these are clinically very different malignancies. Several retrospective studies showed that NETs G3 are less sensitive to platinum-based chemotherapy, cisplatin or carboplatin plus etoposide, than NEC. This is probably due to the fact that prognosis NET G3 is more related to the WD morphology of the tumor rather than the Ki-67 value, considering NETs G3 closer to NETs G2 than to NECs. In addition, positive responses to chemotherapy have been reported in patients NET G3 undergoing a combination of oxaliplatin with fluoropyrimidines, based on clinical evidence that oxaliplatin shows synergy with chemotherapeutic treatments potentially active both in G2 and in G3 NENs [50–53]. However, even if much rare, NETs G3 with Ki-67 index above 55% should be evaluated with particular consideration in terms of progression, prognosis, and behavior versus the traditional protocol, [54] and cisplatin or carboplatin plus etoposide regimen may be considered.

In clinical practice, identifying a PanNET G3 is perhaps more important of a GI NET G3, since molecular targeted agents, sunitinib and everolimus, are approved in well/moderately differentiated PanNET regardless of Ki-67 value.

Regarding the use of treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors targeting PD-L1 or PD-1, NETs G3 have a cold immune microenvironment with few tumor infiltrating lymphocytes and the lower expression of PD-L1 compared to NECs. Likewise, NET G3s have a lower mutation burden than NECs, not making so them a potential target for immune checkpoint inhibitors [26, 55–57].

As concluding remark, it is important for clinicians that pathologists report both information on tumor morphology and the value of Ki-67.

3.2.2 Ki-67 New CutOff (Fig. 3.5)

Only about 5% of all GEP-NENs belongs to the G3 category [42], anyhow the distinction between NET G3 and NEC G3 is clinically and prognostically significant, and it is associated with adverse prognosis, good response to platinum-based chemotherapy (PBC), and insufficient response to temozolomide chemotherapy [12–15, 28, 45–47, 58–60]. Since 2011, several studies specifically investigating large series of GEP-NENs G3 have been published, including about 800 patients [12].

Category G3 with Ki-67 >20% is extremely heterogeneous and the broad interval (Ki-67 between 21% and 100%) include a spectrum of different neoplasms, with several responses to therapy [12–15, 28, 45–47, 58–60]. Median Ki-67 in poorly differentiated (PD) was 80% (range 25–100) and in well-differentiated (WD) 30% (range 21-70). Hence the ENETS, in the context of G3 category, proposed that the division of high-grade NENs (H-NENs) into three categories (NET G3, NEC <55%, and NEC \geq 55%) in addition to a prognostic value also has therapeutic implications [42]. On the one hand, the prognostic role of the 55% threshold (Ki-67 value) into NECs has been already validated in different studies, and it has also included into ENETS guidelines since 2016. From these evidences, we can consider the spectrum of highgrade NENs (H-NENs) in three prognostic categories NET G3, NEC <55%, and NEC \geq 55%, respectively, with good, intermediate, and worst prognosis [14, 24, 28, 42, 48, 49, 61]. In fact, from the study of several cohorts of patients with high-grade and PD lesions (PD NECs), a remarkable heterogeneity emerged from a molecular, prognostic, and therapeutic response point of view. For example, an Italian study has shown that for these lesions (PD NECs), the 55% threshold for the fraction of Ki-67-positive tumor cells (Ki-67 value or Ki-67 labeling index) allows a better stratification of the prognosis estimate; in particular, NECs with Ki-67 value <55% (NEC <55%) were associated with a median overall survival (mOS) of 12.9 months, whereas NECs with Ki-67 value \geq 55% (NEC \geq 55%) an mOS of 5.3 months [14]. On the other hand, for NET G3, a therapeutic approach similar to that used for category G2 is often considered, debating biological therapies, chemotherapy, peptide receptor radionuclide therapy, and liver-directed treatments within a multidisciplinary team. In GEP-NENs G3, chemotherapy represents the most common therapeutic approach. Although these neoplasms appear relatively chemosensitive, their prognosis is poor. The most frequently proposed therapy is PBC possibly combined with etoposide. It has been seen that an alkylatingbased or oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy can be considered in NECs <55%, whereas therapies represented by PBC combined with etoposide in NECs \geq 55% [13, 14, 46, 48, 61, 62].

From a molecular point of view, it is impressive observing that gene mutations were significantly enhanced in NECs \geq 55%, involving *TP53*, KRAS, and BRAF genes [28]. In the context of H-NENs, the distinction between NET and NEC is also important for the study of the tumor microenvironment and the possible use of immune checkpoint inhibitors. We know that expression of PD-L1, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), tumor mutation burden (TBM), and neoantigen load can predict response to immune checkpoint blockade. Having said that, WD NETs do not seem like good candidates for immunotherapy, at least theoretically. Indeed, NETs G1/G2 have a cold immune microenvironment with few TILs and heterogeneous expression of PD-L1, whereas NECs have hot immune microenvironment with abundant TILs, a greater expression of PD-L1 and a high TBM. Moreover, applying the 55% threshold (Ki-67 value) into PD H-NENs, NECs \geq 55% present an extensive mutational load, a dense immune infiltration and a higher expression of PD-L1 than NECs <55%. Therefore, due to their immune background, NECs \geq 55% seem to represent excellent candidates for immunotherapy [26, 28, 55–57, 63].

In conclusion, based on growing evidence, the Ki-67 proliferative index should be used together with morphology, to define the following five categories: NET G1 (Ki-67 <3%, WD), NET G2 (Ki-67 3–20%, WD), NET G3 (Ki-67 21–54%, WD), NEC G3 (Ki-67 21–54%, PD), and NEC G4 (Ki-67 \geq 55%, PD) [12].

However, part of the scientific community does not fully agree on the 55% threshold [64]. The latter consider Ki-67 thresholds intrinsically arbitrary and not necessarily generalizable between tumor types (i.e., NET versus NEC, various sites of origin) and outcomes (as prognosis or prediction). In particular, they claim that an absolute Ki-67 threshold is not applicable to the distinction between NET G3 and NEC. Therefore, further studies are needed to validate this threshold.

3.2.3 From MANEC to MiNEN (Figs. 3.6 and 3.7)

Mixed neuroendocrine–non-neuroendocrine neoplasms (MiNENs) are defined by the coexistence in the same neoplasm of two different oncotypes: the neuroendocrine type plus the non-neuroendocrine type, variously associated from a qualitative and quantitative point of view [3, 4, 6, 8].

Quantitative Association The 2019 WHO classification has maintained the "magic" number of 30%, that it is an arbitrarily defined percentage but on which there is wide agreement in the scientific world [3]. A neoplasm is considered mixed if at least one of the two "neuroendocrine and non-neuroendocrine" components is represented in at least 30% of the entire tumor [2].

Given the importance of the number 30%, when the presence of a mixed neoplasm on a histological section is suspected, it is necessary to ensure that the whole neoplasm has been sampled in such a way that this assessment is effectively applied to the entire neoplastic extension, the partial evaluation of the neoplasm risks underestimating and/or overestimating the real extension of the two components [4, 9].

There are mixed neoplasms from a morphological and biological point of view which however do not respond to the 30% cutoff on which currently there are no classification criteria, and they are generally described as adenocarcinomas with neuroendocrine differentiation (NED) or neuroendocrine carcinomas with focal glandular differentiation [65-69]. The standard of >2% cut is according to the 1% neuroendocrine cell in normal mucous [66, 70]. These latter conditions are rare, or perhaps not yet studied and understood, and there are no targeted studies so there is no scientifically validated information on the prognostic weight of the presence of the mixed component in these cases compared to the same pure tumor.

The presence of neuroendocrine cells within colorectal adenocarcinomas (CR-ADCs) has been documented and therefore it is not an

 Mixed (Neuroendocrine + Non Neuroendocrine) GEP Neoplasm

 Image: Stress of the stress of the

WHO 2000/2004	WHO 2010	WHO 2017	* M. Volante, Virchows Arch 2006
Mixed exocrin-endocrine	Mixed adenoneuroendocrin carcinoma	Mixed neuroendocrine-non-	* M. Scardoni, Neuroendocrinology 2014
carcinoma (MEEC)		neuroendocrin neoplasm	* S. La Rosa, Am J Surg Path 2018

Fig. 3.6 The spectrum of mixed (neuroendocrine nonneuroendocrine) neuroendocrine neoplasms (MiNENs) in real life. Mixed adeno-neuroendocrine tumor (MANET) and mixed adeno-neuroendocrine carcinoma (MANEC) converge in the new definition of MiNENs



Fig. 3.7 Analogous view for mixed (neuroendocrine non-neuroendocrine) neuroendocrine neoplasms (MiNENs). The classification of gastro-entero-pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (GEP-NENs) according to WHO 2019 includes all mixed neuroendocrine and nonneuroendocrine neoplasms in the new "mixed neuroendocrine non-neuroendocrine neoplasm" (MiNEN) category.

MiNEN combines the category of mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma (MANEC) and the categories of the very rare mixed adeno-neuroendocrine tumor (MANET). MiNEN always consists of invasive neoplasms; on the contrary, the association of "adenoma" and "neuroendocrine carcinoma" (NEC) will not produce either MiNEN or MANEC but simply NEC and adenoma

unexpected data [71, 72]. In fact, up to 41% of CR-ADCs can have immunohistochemically detectable neuroendocrine cells and the frequency of these neuroendocrine cells appears to be dependent on the method of determination [73–77]. It has also been seen that poorly differentiated CR-ADC appeared to have more frequent NED [7, 78, 79]. In these poorly differentiated ADCs, neuroendocrine cells are poorly differentiated (presenting as an oval, round, or irregular shape without polarizations) and similar to the adjacent non-neuroendocrine tumor cells; by contrast well-differentiated ADCs include well-differentiated neuroendocrine cells (presenting as a pyramid or bar shaped with the apex pointing to the cavity of the gland) [74].

Qualitative Association This represents the real revolution or novelty of the 2019 WHO classification, which has determined the new diagnostic category (MiNEN), previously adopted in 2017

for mixed neuroendocrine neoplasm of the pancreas [3, 4, 7].

MiNEN overcomes a problem of clinical and nosological practice represented by the previous definition of mixed adeno-neuroendocrine carcinoma (MANEC), which is a neoplasm that showed both glandular and neuroendocrine differentiation, thus overcoming the problem of neoplastic differentiation [2, 8–10].

With the term "MANEC," it was assumed that the two components were both carcinomatous and in particular glandular (adenocarcinoma) and neuroendocrine (neuroendocrine carcinoma) [8– 10, 24].

If the non-neuroendocrine component is restricted to a precursor lesion such as a noninvasive carcinoma (i.e., adenoma) the neoplasm has to be considered pure NEC [24].

Neoplasm previously treated with neoadjuvant therapy should not be considered MiNEN even if the mixed nature of the neoplasm was defined on different specimen obtained before the aforementioned treatment [24, 80, 81].

The new definition "MiNEN" goes further and widens the definition of the two components: neuroendocrine and non-neuroendocrine. On the one hand, it expands the spectrum of nonneuroendocrine lesions, including non-glandular histotypes (for example, squamous cell carcinomas or acinar cell carcinomas for pancreas) and also non-carcinomatous lesions (for example, adenomas). On the other hand, the term MiNEN includes also well-differentiated neuroendocrine neoplasms. Therefore, regardless of the type of non-neuroendocrine lesion, there will be two categories of mixed neoplasms: mixed neoplasms with well-differentiated neuroendocrine components (mixed adeno-neuroendocrine tumor, MANET) and mixed neoplasms with neuroendocrine carcinoma (mixed adeno-neuroendocrine carcinoma, MANEC). In conclusion, the sum of MANET plus MANEC defines the great MiNEN galaxy [2–4, 6–10, 24].

References

- Dasari A, Shen C, Halperin D, Zhao B, Zhou S, Xu Y, et al. Trends in the incidence, prevalence, and survival outcomes in patients with neuroendocrine tumors in the United States. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(10):1335–42.
- Bosman F, Hruban R, Theise N, et al. WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. Lyon: IARC Press; 2010.
- Klimstra DS, Kloppell G, La Rosa S, Rindi G. Classification of neuroendocrine neoplasms of the digestive system. Digestive system tumours - WHO classification of tumours. 5th ed. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2019.
- Lloyd RV, Osamura RY, Klöppel G, Rosai J, World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer. WHO classification of tumours of endocrine organs. 4th ed. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC); 2017. 355 p
- Ohike NA, La Rosa S, Volante M, Zamboni G. Mixed neuroendocrine-non neuroendocrine neoplasms. Lion: IARC; 2017.
- La Rosa S, Sessa F, Uccella S. Mixed neuroendocrinenonneuroendocrine neoplasms (MiNENs): unifying the concept of a heterogeneous group of neoplasms. Endocr Pathol. 2016;27(4):284–311.
- 7. de Mestier L, Cros J, Neuzillet C, Hentic O, Egal A, Muller N, et al. Digestive system mixed

neuroendocrine-non-neuroendocrine neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;105(4):412–25.

- La Rosa S, Uccella S, Molinari F, Savio A, Mete O, Vanoli A, et al. Mixed adenoma well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumor (MANET) of the digestive system: an indolent subtype of mixed neuroendocrinenonneuroendocrine neoplasm (MiNEN). Am J Surg Pathol. 2018;42(11):1503–12.
- Volante M, Rindi G, Papotti M. The grey zone between pure (neuro)endocrine and non-(neuro) endocrine tumours: a comment on concepts and classification of mixed exocrine-endocrine neoplasms. Virchows Arch. 2006;449(5):499–506.
- Scardoni M, Vittoria E, Volante M, Rusev B, Bersani S, Mafficini A, et al. Mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas of the gastrointestinal tract: targeted next-generation sequencing suggests a monoclonal origin of the two components. Neuroendocrinology. 2014;100(4):310–6.
- Volante M, Gatti G, Papotti M. Classification of lung neuroendocrine tumors: lights and shadows. Endocrine. 2015;50(2):315–9.
- Fazio N, Milione M. Heterogeneity of grade 3 gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas: new insights and treatment implications. Cancer Treat Rev. 2016;50:61–7.
- Velayoudom-Cephise FL, Duvillard P, Foucan L, Hadoux J, Chougnet CN, Leboulleux S, et al. Are G3 ENETS neuroendocrine neoplasms heterogeneous? Endocr Relat Cancer. 2013;20(5):649–57.
- Milione M, Maisonneuve P, Spada F, Pellegrinelli A, Spaggiari P, Albarello L, et al. The clinicopathologic heterogeneity of grade 3 gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: morphological differentiation and proliferation identify different prognostic categories. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;104(1):85–93.
- La Rosa S, Inzani F, Vanoli A, Klersy C, Dainese L, Rindi G, et al. Histologic characterization and improved prognostic evaluation of 209 gastric neuroendocrine neoplasms. Hum Pathol. 2011;42(10):1373–84.
- La Rosa S, Klersy C, Uccella S, Dainese L, Albarello L, Sonzogni A, et al. Improved histologic and clinicopathologic criteria for prognostic evaluation of pancreatic endocrine tumors. Hum Pathol. 2009;40(1):30–40.
- La Rosa S, Sessa F, Capella C, Riva C, Leone BE, Klersy C, et al. Prognostic criteria in nonfunctioning pancreatic endocrine tumours. Virchows Arch. 1996;429(6):323–33.
- Capella C, Heitz PU, Hofler H, Solcia E, Kloppel G. Revised classification of neuroendocrine tumours of the lung, pancreas and gut. Virchows Arch. 1995;425(6):547–60.
- Rindi G, Kloppel G. Endocrine tumors of the gut and pancreas tumor biology and classification. Neuroendocrinology. 2004;80(Suppl 1):12–5.
- 20. Kloppel G, Rindi G, Perren A, Komminoth P, Klimstra DS. The ENETS and AJCC/UICC TNM classifications of the neuroendocrine tumors of the

gastrointestinal tract and the pancreas: a statement. Virchows Arch. 2010;456(6):595–7.

- Bonert M, Tate AJ. Mitotic counts in breast cancer should be standardized with a uniform sample area. Biomed Eng Online. 2017;16(1):28.
- Milione M. Prognostic factors for gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (GEP-NENs): what's better? Endocrine. 2018;59(1):1–3.
- Milione M, Fazio N. G3 GEP NENs category: are basic and clinical investigations well integrated? Endocrine. 2018;60(1):28–30.
- Milione M, Maisonneuve P, Pellegrinelli A, Grillo F, Albarello L, Spaggiari P, et al. Ki67 proliferative index of the neuroendocrine component drives MANEC prognosis. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2018;25(5): 583–93.
- Milione M, Maisonneuve P, Pellegrinelli A, Spaggiari P, Centonze G, Coppa J, et al. Ki-67 and presence of liver metastases identify different progressionrisk classes in pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (pNEN) undergoing resection. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;45(5):755–60.
- 26. Milione M, Miceli R, Barretta F, Pellegrinelli A, Spaggiari P, Tagliabue G, et al. Microenvironment and tumor inflammatory features improve prognostic prediction in gastro-entero-pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. J Pathol Clin Res. 2019;5(4):217–26.
- Rigaud G, Moore PS, Zamboni G, Orlandini S, Taruscio D, Paradisi S, et al. Allelotype of pancreatic acinar cell carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 2000;88(5):772–7.
- Busico A, Maisonneuve P, Prinzi N, Pusceddu S, Centonze G, Garzone G, et al. Gastroenteropancreatic High-Grade Neuroendocrine Neoplasms (H-NENs): histology and molecular analysis, two sides of the same coin. Neuroendocrinology. 2020;110(7–8):616–29.
- 29. Rindi G, Klimstra DS, Abedi-Ardekani B, Asa SL, Bosman FT, Brambilla E, et al. A common classification framework for neuroendocrine neoplasms: an International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) and World Health Organization (WHO) expert consensus proposal. Mod Pathol. 2018;31(12):1770–86.
- 30. Travis WD, Brambilla E, Burke A, Marx A, Nicholson AG. International Agency for Research on Cancer. WHO classification of tumours of the lung, pleura, thymus and heart. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2015. 412 p
- 31. Caplin ME, Baudin E, Ferolla P, Filosso P, Garcia-Yuste M, Lim E, et al. Pulmonary neuroendocrine (carcinoid) tumors: European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society expert consensus and recommendations for best practice for typical and atypical pulmonary carcinoids. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(8):1604–20.
- 32. Aslan DL, Gulbahce HE, Pambuccian SE, Manivel JC, Jessurun J. Ki-67 immunoreactivity in the differential diagnosis of pulmonary neuroendocrine neoplasms in specimens with extensive crush artifact. Am J Clin Pathol. 2005;123(6):874–8.
- Pelosi G, Rodriguez J, Viale G, Rosai J. Typical and atypical pulmonary carcinoid tumor overdiagnosed as small-cell carcinoma on biopsy specimens: a major

pitfall in the management of lung cancer patients. Am J Surg Pathol. 2005;29(2):179–87.

- 34. Pelosi G, Fabbri A, Cossa M, Sonzogni A, Valeri B, Righi L, et al. What clinicians are asking pathologists when dealing with lung neuroendocrine neoplasms? Semin Diagn Pathol. 2015;32(6):469–79.
- Rindi G, Klersy C, Inzani F, Fellegara G, Ampollini L, Ardizzoni A, et al. Grading the neuroendocrine tumors of the lung: an evidence-based proposal. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2014;21(1):1–16.
- Righi L, Gatti G, Volante M, Papotti M. Lung neuroendocrine tumors: pathological characteristics. J Thorac Dis. 2017;9(Suppl 15):S1442–S7.
- Oka N, Kasajima A, Konukiewitz B, Sakurada A, Okada Y, Kameya T, et al. Classification and prognostic stratification of bronchopulmonary neuroendocrine neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology. 2019;110(5):393–403.
- Brierley J, Gospodarowicz MK, Wittekind C. TNM classification of malignant tumours. 8th ed. Chichester, West Sussex, UK; Hoboken, NJ: Wiley; 2017. xviii, 253 p
- 39. Rindi G, Kloppel G, Couvelard A, Komminoth P, Korner M, Lopes JM, et al. TNM staging of midgut and hindgut (neuro) endocrine tumors: a consensus proposal including a grading system. Virchows Arch. 2007;451(4):757–62.
- 40. Rindi G, Kloppel G, Alhman H, Caplin M, Couvelard A, de Herder WW, et al. TNM staging of foregut (neuro)endocrine tumors: a consensus proposal including a grading system. Virchows Arch. 2006;449(4):395–401.
- 41. Pavel M, Baudin E, Couvelard A, Krenning E, Oberg K, Steinmuller T, et al. ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with liver and other distant metastases from neuroendocrine neoplasms of foregut, midgut, hindgut, and unknown primary. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95(2):157–76.
- 42. Garcia-Carbonero R, Sorbye H, Baudin E, Raymond E, Wiedenmann B, Niederle B, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for high-grade gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and neuroendocrine carcinomas. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(2): 186–94.
- 43. Phan AT, Oberg K, Choi J, Harrison LH Jr, Hassan MM, Strosberg JR, et al. NANETS consensus guide-line for the diagnosis and management of neuroen-docrine tumors: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the thorax (includes lung and thymus). Pancreas. 2010;39(6):784–98.
- 44. Eberhardt WE, Mitchell A, Crowley J, Kondo H, Kim YT, Turrisi A 3rd, et al. The IASLC lung cancer staging project: proposals for the revision of the M descriptors in the forthcoming eighth edition of the TNM classification of lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2015;10(11):1515–22.
- 45. Basturk O, Yang Z, Tang LH, Hruban RH, Adsay V, McCall CM, et al. The high-grade (WHO G3) pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor category is morphologically and biologically heterogenous and includes

both well differentiated and poorly differentiated neoplasms. Am J Surg Pathol. 2015;39(5):683–90.

- 46. Heetfeld M, Chougnet CN, Olsen IH, Rinke A, Borbath I, Crespo G, et al. Characteristics and treatment of patients with G3 gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2015;22(4):657–64.
- Sonbol MB, Halfdanarson TR. Management of well-differentiated high-grade (G3) neuroendocrine tumors. Curr Treat Options in Oncol. 2019;20(9):74.
- Sorbye H, Welin S, Langer SW, Vestermark LW, Holt N, Osterlund P, et al. Predictive and prognostic factors for treatment and survival in 305 patients with advanced gastrointestinal neuroendocrine carcinoma (WHO G3): the NORDIC NEC study. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(1):152–60.
- 49. Tang LH, Untch BR, Reidy DL, O'Reilly E, Dhall D, Jih L, et al. Well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors with a morphologically apparent high-grade component: a pathway distinct from poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(4):1011–7.
- 50. Spada F, Antonuzzo L, Marconcini R, Radice D, Antonuzzo A, Ricci S, et al. Oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy in advanced neuroendocrine tumors: clinical outcomes and preliminary correlation with biological factors. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(6):806–14.
- Bajetta E, Catena L, Biondani P, Pusceddu S, Valente M, Bianco N, et al. Activity of a three-drug combination including cisplatin (CLOVER regimen) for poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma. Anticancer Res. 2014;34(10):5657–60.
- 52. Bajetta E, Catena L, Procopio G, De Dosso S, Bichisao E, Ferrari L, et al. Are capecitabine and oxaliplatin (XELOX) suitable treatments for progressing low-grade and high-grade neuroendocrine tumours? Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2007;59(5):637–42.
- 53. Kunz PL, Balise RR, Fehrenbacher L, Pan M, Venook AP, Fisher GA, et al. Oxaliplatin-fluoropyrimidine chemotherapy plus bevacizumab in advanced neuroendocrine tumors: an analysis of 2 phase II trials. Pancreas. 2016;45(10):1394–400.
- 54. Tang LH. Hystopathology Net G3 versus NEC G3. In: Spain tAEcftdattoNTD-MB, editor. 2016.
- 55. Ferrata M, Schad A, Zimmer S, Musholt TJ, Bahr K, Kuenzel J, et al. PD-L1 expression and immune cell infiltration in gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) and non-GEP neuroendocrine neoplasms with high proliferative activity. Front Oncol. 2019;9:343.
- Weber MM, Fottner C. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in the treatment of patients with neuroendocrine neoplasia. Oncol Res Treat. 2018;41(5):306–12.
- 57. Takahashi D, Kojima M, Suzuki T, Sugimoto M, Kobayashi S, Takahashi S, et al. Profiling the tumour immune microenvironment in pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms with multispectral imaging indicates distinct subpopulation characteristics concordant with WHO 2017 classification. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):13166.
- Hijioka S, Hosoda W, Mizuno N, Hara K, Imaoka H, Bhatia V, et al. Does the WHO 2010 classification

of pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms accurately characterize pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas? J Gastroenterol. 2015;50(5):564–72.

- 59. Agaimy A, Erlenbach-Wunsch K, Konukiewitz B, Schmitt AM, Rieker RJ, Vieth M, et al. ISL1 expression is not restricted to pancreatic well-differentiated neuroendocrine neoplasms, but is also commonly found in well and poorly differentiated neuroendocrine neoplasms of extrapancreatic origin. Mod Pathol. 2013;26(7):995–1003.
- Rinke A, Gress TM. Neuroendocrine cancer, therapeutic strategies in G3 cancers. Digestion. 2017;95(2):109–14.
- 61. Sorbye H, Baudin E, Perren A. The problem of highgrade gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors, neuroendocrine carcinomas, and beyond. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 2018;47(3):683–98.
- 62. Sorbye H, Baudin E, Borbath I, Caplin M, Chen J, Cwikla JB, et al. Unmet needs in high-grade gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (WHO G3). Neuroendocrinology. 2019;108(1):54–62.
- Cives M, Pelle E, Quaresmini D, Rizzo FM, Tucci M, Silvestris F. The tumor microenvironment in neuroendocrine tumors: biology and therapeutic implications. Neuroendocrinology. 2019;109(2):83–99.
- Bellizzi AM. Immunohistochemistry in the diagnosis and classification of neuroendocrine neoplasms: what can brown do for you? Hum Pathol. 2020;96:8–33.
- Kleist B, Poetsch M. Neuroendocrine differentiation: the mysterious fellow of colorectal cancer. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21(41):11740–7.
- 66. Grabowski P, Schonfelder J, Ahnert-Hilger G, Foss HD, Heine B, Schindler I, et al. Expression of neuroendocrine markers: a signature of human undifferentiated carcinoma of the colon and rectum. Virchows Arch. 2002;441(3):256–63.
- Lloyd RV, Schroeder G, Bauman MD, Krook JE, Jin L, Goldberg RM, et al. Prevalence and prognostic significance of neuroendocrine differentiation in colorectal carcinomas. Endocr Pathol. 1998;9(1): 35–42.
- Hamada Y, Oishi A, Shoji T, Takada H, Yamamura M, Hioki K, et al. Endocrine cells and prognosis in patients with colorectal carcinoma. Cancer. 1992;69(11):2641–6.
- 69. Jansson D, Gould VE, Gooch GT, Rittenhouse HG, Shin SS, Manderino GL, et al. Immunohistochemical analysis of colon carcinomas applying exocrine and neuroendocrine markers. APMIS. 1988;96(12):1129–39.
- Rehfeld JF. A centenary of gastrointestinal endocrinology. Horm Metab Res. 2004;36(11–12):735–41.
- Cho YB, Yang SS, Lee WY, Song SY, Kim SH, Shin HJ, et al. The clinical significance of neuroendocrine differentiation in T3-T4 node-negative colorectal cancer. Int J Surg Pathol. 2010;18(3):201–6.
- Smith DM Jr, Haggitt RC. The prevalence and prognostic significance of argyrophil cells in colorectal carcinomas. Am J Surg Pathol. 1984;8(2):123–8.

- Sun MH. Neuroendocrine differentiation in sporadic CRC and hereditary nonpolyosis colorectal cancer. Dis Markers. 2004;20(4–5):283–8.
- 74. Yao GY, Zhou JL, Lai MD, Chen XQ, Chen PH. Neuroendocrine markers in adenocarcinomas: an investigation of 356 cases. World J Gastroenterol. 2003;9(4):858–61.
- Indinnimeo M, Cicchini C, Memeo L, Stazi A, Provenza C, Ricci F, et al. Correlation between chromogranin-a expression and pathological variables in human colon carcinoma. Anticancer Res. 2002;22(1A):395–8.
- Foley EF, Gaffey MJ, Frierson HF Jr. The frequency and clinical significance of neuroendocrine cells within stage III adenocarcinomas of the colon. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 1998;122(10):912–4.
- Pagani A, Papotti M, Abbona GC, Bussolati G. Chromogranin gene expressions in colorectal adenocarcinomas. Mod Pathol. 1995;8(6): 626–32.

- Shinji S, Naito Z, Ishiwata T, Tanaka N, Furukawa K, Suzuki H, et al. Neuroendocrine cell differentiation of poorly differentiated colorectal adenocarcinoma correlates with liver metastasis. Int J Oncol. 2006;29(2):357–64.
- Staren ED, Gould VE, Jansson DS, Hyser M, Gooch GT, Economou SG. Neuroendocrine differentiation in "poorly differentiated" colon carcinomas. Am Surg. 1990;56(7):412–9.
- 80. Shia J, Guillem JG, Moore HG, Tickoo SK, Qin J, Ruo L, et al. Patterns of morphologic alteration in residual rectal carcinoma following preoperative chemoradiation and their association with long-term outcome. Am J Surg Pathol. 2004;28(2):215–23.
- 81. Shia J, Tickoo SK, Guillem JG, Qin J, Nissan A, Hoos A, et al. Increased endocrine cells in treated rectal adenocarcinomas: a possible reflection of endocrine differentiation in tumor cells induced by chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Am J Surg Pathol. 2002;26(7):863–72.



Molecular Biology of Neuroendocrine Tumors

4

Andrea Mafficini, Vincenzo Corbo, Stefano Barbi, Claudio Luchini, Michele Simbolo, and Aldo Scarpa

4.1 Introduction

Neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) are diagnostically challenging tumors, as they comprehend a heterogeneous group of epithelial neoplasms with neuroendocrine differentiation [1, 2]. They are molecularly different from neuroendocrine carcinomas (NECs), as they rarely display inactivation of *RB1* and *TP53*, which instead are characteristic driver events in NECs [3, 4].

In the past, medical treatment has been mostly based on chemotherapy and has not taken into consideration varying tumor biology. In fact, the molecular study of NETs has been significantly limited for many years, due in large part to their relative scarcity. As a result, the knowledge on their cellular and molecular biology was significantly limited in comparison to that of other more common cancers [5, 6]. This limitation has been counteracted in recent years by a steady increase in the prevalence of these tumors, deriving from both longer survival of patients compared to

ARC-Net Centre for Applied Research on Cancer and Department of Diagnostics and Public Health, Section of Pathology, University and Hospital Trust of Verona, Verona, Italy

e-mail: andrea.mafficini@univr.it;

other neoplasms and increased diagnosis rates thanks to improved imaging techniques [7, 8]. Additionally, the clinical-therapeutic management of NET patients considerably suffered by the lack of universally accepted standards for the disease, including both a diagnostic nomenclature and a staging system [1]. This significantly limited the conduction of appropriate clinical trials, and thus survival rates remained virtually unchanged for decades.

While efforts on classification and staging have provided a better grouping of NETs according to clinicopathologic and histologic features [4, 9, 10], recent genomic and epigenomic findings have significantly expanded our knowledge of NETs molecular landscape, allowing finer patient stratification and improved targeted therapies to achieve personalized patient care [6, 11].

4.2 The Lesson from Hereditary Syndromes

While most NETs are sporadic, a small fraction arises in a variety of inherited cancerpredisposition syndromes [12]. Similar to other types of cancer, the first clues about NETs molecular tumorigenesis came from genetic alterations associated with these hereditary syndromes (Fig. 4.1). While the detail of NETs arising from genetic syndromes will be treated in part V of this

A. Mafficini · V. Corbo · S. Barbi · C. Luchini

M. Simbolo · A. Scarpa (🖂)

vincenzo.corbo@univr.it; claudio.luchini@univr.it; aldo.scarpa@univr.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_4



Fig. 4.1 In NETs, the study of inherited syndromes allowed the identification of the common deregulation of genes involved in the mTOR pathway and in cell cycle progression (purple boxes). As a master regulator of different cell functions, mTOR activation is subjected to tight and coordinated regulations through diverse positive and feedback regulatory loops. The more recent "next-generation sequencing" effort identified additional deregulation of the pathway through mutation of other mTOR inhibitors like *PTEN* and *DEPDC5* in pancreatic sporadic

book, a summary of their driver genetic alterations and their contribution to the research on sporadic NETs biology is presented here.

The most common NET-related inherited syndrome is the multiple endocrine neoplasia type I (MEN1; OMIM 131100). MEN1 is an autosomal dominant cancer susceptibility syndrome caused by inactivating mutations in the *MEN1* gene [13]. MEN1 patients feature a greatly elevated prevalence of various endocrine tumors, including pituitary tumors, parathyroid tumors, and pancreatic NETs (PanNETs). By the clinical standpoint, MEN1 patients harbor multiple small (<0.5 cm) pancreatic neuroendocrine microadenomas, which are thought to be precursor lesions to PanNETs. These data supported an early involvement of the MEN1 tumor suppressor gene in PanNET tumorigenesis [14–16].

Menin, the protein encoded by the *MEN1* gene, is a ubiquitously expressed nuclear protein. It has been demonstrated to interact with a SET1-like histone methyltransferase (HMT) complex

tumors. The upregulation of miR-21 also plays a role inhibiting *PTEN*. *ATRX* and *DAXX* were the first chromatin remodeling genes after *MEN1* to be identified as mutated in PanNETs, followed by many others in all NETs subtypes. The hypoxia-related genes have been recently implicated in a subgroup of PanNETs prone to metastasize, also in association with an miRNA signature. Approved targeted therapies for NETs are illustrated by orange boxes

containing the MLL (KMT2A) protein. MLL specifically methylates lysine 4 of histone 3 (H3K4), an epigenetic modification associated with activation of genes transcription [17]. In normal pancreatic islet cells, menin was shown to negatively regulate islet cell growth by fostering the expression of two key negative regulators of the cell cycle: p18 (*CDKN2C*) and p27 (*CDKN1B*). In this context, menin was shown to target the HMT complex to the promoters of the two genes [18]. Menin may also affect the cell cycle via the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway by inhibiting the activity of the key serine/threonine kinase Akt1 [19].

In addition to its role in regulation of cell proliferation, menin is involved in the response to DNA damage, which triggers its phosphorylation. This event results in transcriptional activation of several genes whose protein products are involved in the homologous recombination pathway of DNA repair (e.g., *BRCA1* and *RAD51*) [20]. Conversely, depletion of menin leads to increased use of nonhomologous end joining DNA repair activity, a more error-prone repair pathway [21].

Taken together, the above results suggest that loss of menin leads to the deregulation of cell growth control and to genomic instability, creating an ideal setting for malignant transformation to begin. In line with this concept, MEN1 alteration has been reported also in a large fraction of sporadic NETs, where mutations or chromosomal deletions involving the MEN1 locus at 11q13 have been observed in up to 70% of cases [22-31]. Additionally, in vivo studies demonstrated that MEN1 deficiency leads to pancreatic islet cell hyperplasia and neuroendocrine tumors due to the disrupted expression of p18 and p27 [32]. Weak or negative nuclear expression of menin has been reported in over 70% of sporadic PanNETs and lung NETs by immunostaining, while only about 30% of cases had MEN1 gene mutations, most of which were inactivating [22, 33]. In patients with lung carcinoids, the occurrence of MEN1 mutation or loss was survival. associated with shorter overall Correspondingly, low MEN1 mRNA levels correlated with the presence of distant metastasis and shorter survival [34].

A second autosomal dominant hereditary syndrome is multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 (MEN2). MEN2 is associated with the occurrence of NETs in the thyroid, parathyroid, and adrenal glands [35]. Medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) is the most common tumor in these patients, and 25% of MTC cases are hereditary. By the clinical standpoint, MEN2 is subclassified into three different syndromes, MEN2A, MEN2B, and familial medullary thyroid cancer. However, all of them are caused by mutations of the RET oncogene. RET encodes a receptor tyrosine kinase that normally binds a family of ligands including glial-derived neurotrophic factor. It is thought to provide growth and survival signaling via the RAF-MEK-ERK and PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathways [35]. Therefore, activating mutations of RET can confer ligand-independent growth and resistance to apoptotic stimuli. Although *RET* alteration is infrequent in sporadic NETs, the pathways it is involved in have been shown to be altered in a consistent fraction of NETs as detailed in Sect. 4.3 and 4.6.

A recent addition to the MEN spectrum, MEN type IV (MEN4; OMIM 610755) has its onset in the third decade of life with the appearance of parathyroid and pituitary tumors. Gastric, pancreatic, and bronchial NETs or gastrinomas may also occur, at a lower frequency [36]. The syndrome was discovered in rats lacking mutations in Men1 and Ret, and it was initially named MENX due to its unknown driver gene. It was later associated with inactivating germline mutations of the *Cdkn1b* gene, which were confirmed to correlate with the disease also in humans [37]. CDKN1B encodes p27, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor which is a master regulator of the cell cycle. Heterozygous mutation of CKDN1B was associated to lack of p27 in the affected tissues due to haploinsufficiency, that is the inability of a gene to preserve its function even in case of heterozygous inactivation [37–39]. Moreover, MEN1 mutations were associated with the disrupted expression of p27. Overall, these data support the involvement of p27 in the early phases of NET development [40].

Other non-MEN syndromes feature an elevated rate of NETs, like the von Hippel-Lindau disease (VHL; OMIM 193300). This autosomal dominant predisposition syndrome is caused by mutation of the VHL tumor suppressor gene located at 3p25; nonfunctional PanNETs arise in 5-17% of patients [41]. Compared to MEN1, *VHL* gene is infrequently mutated in sporadic tumors. However, the VHL gene may be inactivated by different mechanisms: promoter hypermethylation or deletion have been reported in up to 25% of PanNETs [42]. The VHL gene product is involved in the oxygen-regulated degradation of hypoxia-inducible factor alpha (HIF1 α). This transcription factor is activated by the PI3K/ mTOR pathway and regulates gene expression in response to low oxygen conditions. Tumors harboring VHL gene inactivation display elevated expression of HIF1 α downstream genes like vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) and platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR) [42]. These, in turn, may activate a feed-forward signaling loop with the PI3K/ mTOR pathway itself [43].

Two other inherited autosomal dominant cancer-predisposition syndromes that develop NETs, albeit infrequently, are neurofibromatosis type I (NF1; OMIM 162200) and tuberous sclerosis (TS; OMIM191100). NF1 is caused by a germline mutation of the NF1 gene at 17q11.2, which encodes the protein neurofibromin. This protein is a negative regulator of both the Ras and the mTOR signal transduction pathways [44]. About 10% of NF1 patients develop a duodenal or periampullary NET, usually a somatostatinoma [45]. Tuberous sclerosis is caused by mutations in one of two different genes: TSC1 located at 9q34 and TSC2 located at 16p13.3, which encode for the proteins hamartin and tuberin, respectively. Despite a rare occurrence of NETs in the frame of a TS syndrome [46], the TSC1/TSC2 genes have an important role in PanNET pathogenesis. They suppress mTOR signaling, and the activity of TSC2 is sustained by NF1 which inhibits its degradation (Fig. 4.1) [44]. TSC2 expression is downregulated in 35% of sporadic PanNETs, and TSC2 gene is mutated in 8.8% of sporadic PanNETs [26, 47]. These data further support the importance of this pathway's deregulation in NETs.

4.3 Next-Generation Sequencing Era: The Discovery of Novel Cancer Pathways

Although genetic syndromes provided the first clues on NETs molecular alterations, research on sporadic tumors was limited for many years. The main reasons were the low incidence of these tumors and the high amount of tissue needed for low-throughput biomolecular analyses. The advent of massively parallel high-throughput sequencing, also known as "next-generation sequencing" (NGS), has revolutionized the field of cancer genetics over the past decade. This technology allows for the unbiased identification of genetic alterations across the whole genome or exome (the protein-coding part of the genome), at the single-nucleotide level [48, 49]. The recognition of peculiar mutational landscapes and driver mutations in specific tumors has provided a compelling rationale for the introduction of novel targeted therapies [6].

The first NET whole-exome study was published by Jiao et al. in 2011 and focused on PanNETs [26]. The average mutation rate was 16 mutations per tumor, significantly lower compared to that previously reported for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (i.e., 66 mutations per tumor) [50]. Furthermore, the most frequently mutated genes in pancreatic adenocarcinoma (CDKN2A, KRAS, TP53, TGFBR1, SMAD3, and SMAD4) were never or rarely mutated (TP53; 5%) in PanNETs. As anticipated from prior studies, MEN1 was frequently mutated (44%). Genes coding for members of the mTOR signaling pathway were also mutated in a significant fraction of cases. These included inactivating mutations in TSC2 (8.8%) and PTEN (7.3%), plus a single case displaying an activating mutation in *PIK3CA* [26].

Two novel genes were implicated in NET carcinogenesis: *ATRX* (alpha-thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome, X-linked; OMIM 300032; located on Xq21.1) and *DAXX* (death domainassociated protein; located on 6p21.3). A total of 43% of tumors harbored a mutation in either *ATRX* or *DAXX* (18% and 25%, respectively). Mutations in *ATRX* or *DAXX* were mutually exclusive, implying that *ATRX* and *DAXX* are complementary players in a common pathway whose disruption is relevant to the pathogenesis of PanNETs. In 53% of cases with either *ATRX* or *DAXX* mutations, *MEN1* mutation was detected as well [26].

ATRX is a large nuclear member of the SWI/ SNF family of chromatin remodeling proteins [51]. Germline mutations in the *ATRX* gene cause the rare syndrome ATRX, which features alphathalassemia plus impaired intellectual development [52]. However, inherited syndromic *ATRX* mutations are typically hypomorphic missense mutations showing no association with elevated tumor risk. Conversely, somatic mutations detected in sporadic tumors tend to be nonsense mutations or insertions/deletions which lead to loss of protein expression [26, 52, 53]. This is in keeping with the observation that engineered *ATRX* loss in the mouse is embryonic lethal. Thus, germline inactivating mutations in humans are also likely to be lethal and, as such, are not observed.

DAXX is also a nuclear protein involved in the regulation of chromatin structure and gene transcription. DAXX contains SUMOа recognition motif, which allows it to bind many sumoylated proteins, including several transcription factors [54, 55]. As suggested by mutational data, DAXX binds the histone variant H3.3 and physically interacts with ATRX to form a histone chaperone-chromatin remodeling complex [56]. This complex deposits H3.3 at the upstream regions of several genes, at pericentromeric regions and at the telomeres [56, 57].

Heaphy and colleagues demonstrated that ATRX or DAXX mutation, or loss of protein expression, were perfectly correlated with the telomerase-independent mechanism called "alternative lengthening of telomeres" (ALT) [53]. At the cellular level, ALT is revealed by abnormally enlarged promyelocytic nuclear bodies containing large amounts of telomeric DNA repeats, detectable in tissue specimens by telomere-specific FISH analysis [58]. ALT or DAXX/ATRX mutation is observed in approximately half of PanNET cases, whereas it has only rarely been observed in other NETs, including 5 of 107 cases of gastrointestinal NETs and 1 of 95 lung carcinoids [53, 59, 60].

De Wilde and colleagues evaluated the timing of ATRX and DAXX mutations during PanNET tumorigenesis and progression by assessing ATRX or DAXX nuclear protein expression and ALT status in tissue samples from a cohort of MEN1 patients [61]. Loss of ATRX or DAXX and ALT-positivity was found exclusively in PanNETs and not in neuroendocrine microadenomas. In addition, these abnormalities correlated with higher tumor grade (G2 versus G1), and tumor diameter >3 cm, suggesting that ATRX and DAXX mutations are relatively late events in PanNET tumorigenesis [61]. Moreover, loss of ATRX or DAXX immunolabeling was associated with chromosomal instability, earlier recurrence, and poorer prognosis in 149 PanNETs [62].

A recent whole-genome analysis of 98 PanNETs has further expanded and integrated the information from previous literature [31]. The overall scenario relative to ATRX/DAXX alterations, MEN1 mutation/loss, and ALT was confirmed. Patients bearing ATRX/DAXX mutation showed a poorer prognosis. Moreover, an integrative analysis showed that a recurrent pattern of chromosome losses was associated with ALT and ATRX/DAXX alterations in one-third of cases. On the other hand, cases with shorter telomeres and no ATRX/DAXX alterations showed a higher frequency of genomic rearrangements, including chromothripsis and/or EWSR1 gene fusions. The latter are recurrent events in Ewing sarcoma but were not previously reported in PanNETs. The fusion transcript is a downstream effector of the PI3K/mTOR pathway [63]. Other rearrangements and somatic mutations inactivated genes belonging to the mTOR pathway (PTEN, TSC1/2, DEPDC5), the cell cycle checkpoints (CDKN2A, CDKN1A, CDKN1C), SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling (ARID2, SMARCA4), and histone methylases (SETD2, KMT2C).

Five mutational signatures were detected, two of which led to further insights: a novel signature associated with biallelic inactivation of MUTYH due to germline mutation and somatic LOH in five cases, and a BRCA signature associated with the biallelic inactivation of BRCA2 due to germline mutation and somatic LOH in one case [31]. MUTYH is involved in base excision repair, and its germline mutation predisposes to hereditary polyposis [64]. BRCA2 is part of the DNA double-strand break repair machinery, and its germline mutation entails high risk of breast and ovarian carcinoma [65]. This finding suggested that several "sporadic" PanNETs may harbor germline driver events and prompted a search throughout the whole cohort. Detected germline mutations with somatic LOH included six in MEN1, one in VHL, and one in CDKN1B. Moreover, four cases displayed germline mutation and somatic LOH of CHEK2, which is activated upon DNA double-strand breaks and regulates the cell cycle by interacting with BRCA1 and p53. Its germline inactivation was previously associated with Li-Fraumeni syndrome and familial breast cancer, but not with NETs [65]. Most cases with *CHEK2* or *MUTYH* mutations were wild type for *MEN1*, suggesting a MEN1-independent oncogenesis.

Chromosomal copy number variations (CNVs) included recurrent loss of chromosomes 1, 3, 6, 10q, and 11 and gain of chromosomes 4, 5, 7, 12q, 14, 17, 19, and 20 [31]. These CNVs clustered in four groups (Fig. 4.2): most losses were featured in the "recurrent pattern of chromosomal loss" group that associated with ALT and *MEN1/DAXX/ATRX* mutation, or in a second group characterized by loss of chromosome 11.

The third group comprised polyploid tumors, while the last featured a recurrent pattern of chromosomal gains and was later associated with higher risk of metastasis [66].

RNA sequencing was also performed on 30 cases. Differentially expressed genes clustered in three groups [31], one of which had overlapping features with a previously described metastasisprone group of PanNETs [67]. Enrichment analysis of this subgroup showed an overrepresentation of genes controlled by the HIF1/2 factors and the consequent deregulation of glucose metabolism [68]. In both works, this "HIF signature" was not



Fig. 4.2 Subtypes of PanNETs, SiNETs, and lung NETs according to chromosomal alterations. Four subgroups have been identified in PanNETs and three in SiNETs. The majority of lung NETs present no recurrent alterations, while two smaller groups feature loss of chromosome 3 or chromosome 11/11q. Copy gains are shown in red, losses in blue. In each subgroup of tumors, cases with

an identical CNV pattern are represented by individual rows, and the height of the row is proportional to the fraction of cases harboring that CNV pattern. *Chr* chromosome, *multiCNV* multiple CNV, *PP* polyploid, *RPCG* recurrent pattern of chromosomal gains, *RPCL* recurrent pattern of chromosomal loss. Adapted from Mafficini and Scarpa, Endocrine reviews (2019) [10] associated with a defined mutational pattern. It is thus still unclear to which extent is it a consequence of the neoplastic process or an adaptation to a hypoxic environment.

Loss of ATRX/DAXX/MEN1 was associated to longer overall survival in the first study by Jiao et al. [26]. However, only univariate analysis was performed, and subsequent studies reported contrasting results. In particular, Marinoni et al. and Scarpa et al. reported ATRX/ DAXX loss or mutation to be associated with worse outcome and chromosomal instability [31, 62]. A third study by Chan et al. also reported poorer prognosis for ATRX/DAXX/MEN1 (ADM) mutant PanNETs and performed differential expression of ADM mutant vs. ADM wildtype PanNETs on 47 cases. This analysis demonstrated enriched expression of pancreatic alpha cell-specific genes (ARX) and reduced expression of beta cell-specific genes (PDX1) in this group of tumors. Since ATRX/DAXX mutation is considered a late event in PanNET oncogenesis, these data suggest that their mutation might preferentially affect alpha-like cells undergoing neoplastic transformation [69]. A second work by Cejas et al. further explored this topic by chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing on 21 PanNETs. Results showed the existence of three groups of tumors according to the different H3K acetylation/expression of alpha and beta cell-specific genes, including ARX and PDX1, respectively. Alpha cell-like tumors expressed ARX but not PDX1; beta celllike tumors expressed PDX1 but not ARX; a third group expressed both at a similar level [70]. In the same work, immunolabeling for ARX and PDX1 was evaluated in 103 PanNETs with clinical follow-up, and ALT was determined as a proxy for ATRX/DAXX mutation. ALT was strongly associated, although not exclusive, to ARX+ tumors, and all ALT+ARX+ tumors had disease recurrence, whereas only 9% of ALT-ARX+ cases experienced disease recurrence and only one PDX1+ case recurred [70]. Overall, the two works complement each other in showing that the vast majority of PanNETs exhibit either alpha or beta cells expression and that ALT (or ATRX/DAXX mutation) is enriched and associates with aggressive behavior specifically in tumors with an alpha cell-like expression profile.

Functioning and nonfunctioning PanNETs exhibit a certain overlap of molecular features, with a notable exception: insulinoma, which is set apart in terms of gene expression [47]. This is mirrored by recent mutational data, as wholeexome sequencing showed rare (2%) MEN1 mutations and recurrent mutation of the YY1 (Yin Yang 1) gene. Prevalence ranged from 10% to 30% in different publications and was higher in Asian patients [71–74]. Mutation was associated with a late onset of the tumor and deregulated transcriptional activity of the YY protein. Although these findings require further investigation, YY is a target of mTORC1 and inhibitors like everolimus have been suggested already as a potential therapeutic option [71]. In keeping with their genetic landscape, insulinomas have been recently shown to be PDX1+/ ARX- at immunolabeling, as expected for betacell like tumors [70].

A small proportion of pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms are classified as poorly differentiated, high-grade pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas (PanNECs). As outlined at the beginning of this chapter, their mutational landscape is different from that of both PanNETs and pancreatic adenocarcinoma [3]. KRAS and CDKN2A, which are commonly mutated in adenocarcinomas, and MEN1, ATRX, DAXX, and mTOR pathway genes, frequently mutated in PanNETs, are infrequently or never altered in PanNECs. On the other hand, mutations in TP53 and RB1 are very common in this group of tumors. TP53 is rarely mutated in well-differentiated PanNETs; its pathway, however, has been suggested to be deregulated by frequent copy gain of p53-related genes, such as MDM2 (22%), MDM4 (30%), and WIP1 (51%) [75]. Similarly, 80% of PanNETs show an unchanged sequence of the *RB1* gene but display genetic alterations of other components of the Rb pathway, such as cyclin-dependent protein kinase 4 and 6 and cyclin D [76]. However, the involvement of P53 and RB pathways in PanNETs was not evident from wholegenome analysis [31].

The genomic landscape of small intestinal NETs (SiNETs) has been recently investigated [77–79]. The group led by Matthew Ames [77] performed an integrative analysis of somatic mutations and copy number variations of 48 SiNETs, reporting genetic alterations of different members of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway in 30% of the samples and the loss of SMAD genes in 45% of samples. The average mutation rate was low (0.77 mutations/megabase), comparable to that reported for PanNETs (0.82 mutations/megabase) [26]. A positive correlation was observed between primary tumors with higher mutation rate and the presence of liver metastases. Mutations were identified in several cancerrelated genes (e.g., BRAF, EZH2, FANCD2, FGFR2, MEN1, VHL) but no recurrent driver emerged. Notably, genes which are frequently mutated in PanNETs, PanNECs, and pancreatic adenocarcinomas were wild type in this cohort. The alteration of the above cited pathways was thus mainly driven by copy number alterations, including recurrent loss of chromosome 11 and 18, and gain of chromosome 4, 5, 14, and 20 (Fig. 4.2). Concomitantly, another group identified the haploinsufficient gene CDKN1B as recurrently inactivated by mutation or copy loss in 11 of 50 SiNETs [78]. This gene is frequently inactivated in many forms of cancer and is the cause of the MEN4 genetic syndrome [37–39, 80]. The results of both these studies were confirmed by independent investigations, which also showed the existence of three groups of SiNETs based on clustering of chromosomal alterations [79, 81]. Additionally, cases with copy gains were associated to poorer prognosis [79, 81]. Recurrent mutation and copy loss of another haploinsufficient gene, namely APC, has been reported by Bottarelli et al. in 7 and 4 of 30 SiNETs, respectively and confirmed by Simbolo et al. in 4 and 2 of 52 cases, respectively [81, 82]. However, this finding still requires investigation to clarify the role of APC in the subset of SiNETs which feature its alteration.

Whole-exome sequencing of 17 sporadic MTCs showed that approximately 90% of tumors had mutually exclusive mutations in *RET*, *HRAS*, and *KRAS* genes, suggesting that RET and RAS

are the predominant driver pathways in MTC [35]. Few other mutations were observed, and no further driver event [35].

Pulmonary carcinoids were recently investigated by whole genome/exome and transcriptome sequencing, including gene copy number analysis [33, 60, 83]. Fernandez-Cuesta et al. demonstrated frequent mutations in chromatin remodeling genes; covalent histone modifiers and subunits of the SWI/SNF complex were mutated in 40% and 22% of the cases, respectively, with MEN1, PSIP1, and ARID1A being recurrently affected [83]. In contrast to smallcell lung cancer and large-cell neuroendocrine lung tumors, TP53 and RB1 mutations were rare events. The involvement of chromatin remodeling and histone modifiers was further confirmed by Simbolo et al. in a comparison between typical and atypical carcinoids, large-cell and smallcell carcinomas of the lung by whole exome and targeted sequencing [60]. Moreover, this work showed that some carcinoids display features of the more aggressive carcinomas, leading to hypothesize that the latter may evolve from carcinoids [84]. A similar concept was expressed by parallel works comparing large- and small-cell carcinomas of the lung, which demonstrated the existence of large-cell carcinomas with milder aggressiveness, or "carcinoid-like" carcinomas [85, 86]. This concept was further explored by a recent integrative genetic/transcriptomic study of carcinoids and large-cell carcinomas of the lung. Clustering analysis of 35 atypical carcinoids and 32 large-cell carcinomas showed the existence of three groups, comprising one group dominated by carcinoids, one by carcinomas, and a mixed group of carcinoids and carcinomas sharing transcriptional features [33]. The existence of this mixed group was further explored by Alcala et al., who performed machine learning studies on 257 lung neuroendocrine neoplasms and again identified a group of "supra-carcinoids." These tumors, although morphologically classified as atypical carcinoids, featured a shorter overall survival and enriched expression of immune checkpoint genes, including CD274 (PD-L1) [87].

4.4 Epigenetic Changes in NETs

The main epigenetic events by which the genome is regulated include DNA methylation and chromatin modification, especially via histone methylation or acetylation. The advent of molecular techniques allowing genome-wide assessment of epigenetic changes, such as chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing (ChIP-Seq) and genome-wide DNA methylation analysis, has pushed the exploration of epigenetic abnormalities, which are widespread in cancer, cooperate with genetic lesions, and often originate from them [88].

DNA methylation has been reported at different levels in a variety of NETs [10, 89]. Moreover, the known alteration of *MEN1* and of several genes belonging to the SWI/SNF or to the histone methyltransferase families further supports the idea that epigenetic changes may be central to NETs biology.

Choi et al. performed global analysis of the methylation status of LINE-1 and Alu repeat sequences that are widely distributed throughout the genome. These sequences were hypomethylated in most cases compared to adjacent normal tissue. LINE-1 hypomethylation was stronger in ileal compared to pancreatic and pulmonary NETs and correlated with lymph node metastasis. A second study on 56 PanNETs found strong hypomethylation of LINE-1 in 12 cases, and correlation of this feature with advanced stage and poor prognosis [90, 91].

Another phenomenon involving widespread DNA methylation is CpG island methylator phenotype (CIMP). CIMP-positive tumors display simultaneous abnormal methylation of multiple CpG islands, including several associated with known tumor suppressor genes. In a large series of gastroenteropancreatic NETs, CIMP prevalence was 70%, ranging from 50% in gastrinomas to 100% in VIPomas and glucagonomas [92]. CIMP has also been found in over half of colorectal neuroendocrine carcinomas, where it correlated with microsatellite instability [93, 94].

Two recent publications by Karpathakis et al. focused on global methylation profiling of SiNETs. The first study showed the existence of three groups of tumors, with different prognosis, defined by both copy number alterations and methylation profiles. Enrichment analysis reported prominent involvement of the MAPK, mTOR, and Wnt pathways [79]. The list of top differentially methylated genes was used in a follow-up study to compare the methylation and expression profiles of 49 primary SiNETs vs. 20 liver metastases. The analysis showed progressive differential methylation in 67% of genes and differential expression in 51% [95]. These studies are a clear example of the above cited synergy between genetic (CNV) and epigenetic (methylation) alterations.

As for individual genes, three have been demonstrated to be highly methylated in NETs: *MGMT*, *RASSF1A*, and *CDKN2A*. *MGMT* expression is commonly deficient in PanNETs (up to 51% of cases) and, more importantly, its status can be used to predict response to alkylating agents. On the other hand, *MGMT* is usually expressed in most G1 gastroenteropancreatic NETs, which may explain much of the differential sensitivity to temozolomide-based therapies between these two tumor types [96, 97].

The *RASSF1A* tumor suppressor gene, located on 3p21, is rarely mutated in cancer; however, it is frequently silenced via promoter hypermethylation [98]. In PanNETs, *RASSF1A* promoter is reportedly methylated in 75–83% of lesions, with an associated reduction of *RASSF1A* mRNA expression, increased tumor size, and presence of metastases [96, 99–101]. However, *RASSF1A* methylation is also observed in a significant fraction of tumor-adjacent normal pancreas tissue, which strongly affects its specificity as potential tumor biomarker [96, 99–101].

The *CDKN2A* gene codes for the p16 tumor suppressor protein, a member of the Rb cell cycle regulatory pathway that regulates entry into S-phase and other cellular processes. This pathway is thought to be disrupted in practically all human cancers, although through different mechanisms. *CDKN2A* has been reported to be methylated in 10–58% of PanNETs and up to 44% of SiNETs; methylation was also associated with presence of metastasis in PanNETs and with poorer prognosis in SiNETs [76, 96, 102]. Unlike

RASSF1A, methylation of the *CDKN2A* displayed good specificity for tumor tissue vs. adjacent normal tissue [76, 96, 102].

PDX1 and ARX are two homeobox genes involved in pancreatic islets development. PDX1 is expressed early during pancreatic differentiation: its expression is maintained by beta cells and required for their development and to ensure glucose homeostasis [103]. ARX is also expressed in the developing pancreas, including the forming islets of Langerhans, and its knockdown completely abolishes the formation of beta cells [104]. As part of the abovedescribed subtyping of PanNETs into alpha cell-like and beta cell-like tumors, PDX1 was recently shown to be methylated and its expression specifically downregulated in a subset of PanNETs, featuring an alpha cell-like expression profile [69]. These tumors featured histone acetylation and expression of the ARX locus, which however was not differentially methylated across alpha cell-like and beta cell-like PanNETs [70]. Thus, specific methylation of *PDX1* seems to be an important event in the genesis of alpha cell-like PanNETs, in the context of intact ARX expression.

4.5 microRNA Deregulation in NETs

In contrast to many other tumor types, little is still known about microRNA (miRNA) expression patterns in NETs. However, a significant number of oncogenic and suppressor miRNAs have been identified so far, also supporting the possible use of specific miRNAs signatures to predict clinical outcome in NETs [105–108].

Of interest, unlike most mRNAs, miRNAs are long-living *in vivo* and very stable *in vitro*. This structural solidity is fundamental to miRNAs analysis in FFPE samples, in which they can also be investigated at the level of individual cells by applying in situ hybridization (ISH) techniques [109]. Another important point is the evidence for the applicability of miRNAs as noninvasive biomarkers, as they are easily and reproducibly detectable in all body fluids [109].

Roldo and colleagues investigated global microRNA expression signatures of normal pancreas, Langerhans' islets, PanNETs, and pancreatic acinar carcinomas [105]. The overexpression of miR-103 and miR-107, associated with lack of expression of miR-155, significantly discriminated tumor from normal samples. Moreover, a set of 10 miRNAs (miR-125a, miR-99a, miR-99b, miR-125b-1, miR-342, miR-130a, miR-132, miR-129-2, miR-125b-2) distinguished PanNETs from acinar tumors. This specific miRNA signature is possibly associated with either endocrine differentiation or tumorigenesis. Among PanNETs, miR-204 was primarily expressed in insulinomas and correlated with immunohistochemical expression of insulin. On the other hand, miR-21 overexpression was associated with higher Ki67 proliferation index and the presence of liver metastases [105]. PTEN is one of miR-21 targets, which adds another layer of complexity to the involvement of the mTOR pathway in NET pathogenesis.

A second study evaluated 37 PanNETs against nonneoplastic pancreas and pancreatic islets [110]. The profiles of differentially expressed miRNAs in PanNETs obtained using either nonneoplastic pancreas or pancreatic islets were radically different, showing that the choice of the control tissue plays a critical role and may account for a large portion of the variability between different studies. miR-193b was overexpressed in PanNETs compared to pancreatic islets and in sera of PanNET patients compared with healthy subjects, whereas miR-642 correlated with Ki-67 and miR-210 with the presence of metastasis [110]. Further confirming miRNAs' stability in body fluids, a nine miRNA expression pattern (miR-24, miR-30a-3p, miR-18a, miR-92a, miR-342-3p, miR-99b, miR-106b, miR-142-3p, and miR-532-3p) derived from the analysis of selected miRNAs in cyst fluid samples, successfully discriminated cystic forms of PanNETs from other pancreatic cystic lesions [111]. Another study assessed the prognostic value of eight candidate miRNAs on 37 PanNETs; overexpression of miR-196a emerged as an independent predictor of earlier recurrence, also

associated with higher stage, grade, and lymphatic vessel invasion at diagnosis [112].

Two relatively recent miRNA expression profile studies found evidence of miRNA deregulation in SiNET progression [106, 107]. Ruebel and colleagues from Mayo Clinic reported the association of miR-133a downregulation with progression to metastatic carcinoid tumor, which was validated in an independent cohort. This report suggests that miR-133a may have an important role in ileal NET development and progression and could be useful for diagnostic and/ or prognostic stratification [106]. The same group in collaboration with the Uppsala University investigated miRNA expression in a new set of SiNETs with matched metastases. Nine miRNAs were significantly deregulated during tumor progression: five (miR-96, miR-182, miR-183, miR-196, and miR-200) were upregulated, whereas four (miR-31, miR-129-5p, miR-133a, and miR-215) were downregulated. This work provided further validation for miR-133a and for miR-183, which was reportedly upregulated in the first study but lacked validation [107].

A third report by Miller et al. analyzed 28 SiNETs and matched normal tissue (n = 14), lymph node metastases (n = 24), and liver metastases (n = 15) [113]. The analysis identified 39 differentially expressed miRNAs in neoplastic tissues compared to normal samples, with good overlap between primary tumors and metastases. Results substantially confirmed the previous landscape and added the upregulation of miR-204, -7-5p, -375 and the downregulation miR-1 and miR-143-3p. Downregulation of miR-1 was expected from previous data, as miR-1 and miR-133a are transcribed as a single cistron [113]. Upregulation of a set of miRNAs (miR-96, -182, -196a, and -200a) was also detected in the sera of SiNET patients upon treatment with somatostatin analogs, again suggesting these molecules as possible circulating markers [114].

MiRNAs have been also demonstrated to be significantly deregulated in MTCs, with miR-224 upregulation associated with a better outcome [115]. In lung NETs, members of the miR-29 family seem to have a significant role in the carcinogenetic process [116].

4.6 From Single Gene Alteration to Signaling Pathway Perturbations

In recent years, much attention has focused on identifying key cellular signal transduction pathways that are abnormally activated or deactivated in cancer cells [10, 117]. Such pathways regulate cancer-relevant cellular processes, such as cell growth, cell division, and cell survival. Typically, these pathways involve cascades of cytoplasmic kinases that ultimately impinge on gene transcription. These kinases are attractive targets for drug development; thus, there is keen interest in elucidating the specific pathways altered in each tumor to identify relevant targets and predict treatment responses.

Upon sequencing of 35 cancer-related kinase genes in a series of 36 primary PanNETs, only three mutations were detected—one in *KIT* and two in *ATM*—indicating a low mutation rate for these genes in PanNETs [118]. Further mutations were identified in PanNET-derived cell lines (QGP1, CM, and BON) in the *FGFR3*, *VEGFR1*, and *PIK3CA* genes. Of interest, the membranous immunohistochemical expression of c-Kit was associated with shorter patient survival [118].

The PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway was found to be altered in most NET studies [26, 31, 47, 119–121]. This pathway regulates several cellular processes, including cell growth, proliferation, anabolic metabolism, and apoptosis [122]. The RADIANT trials showed that the mTOR inhibitor everolimus was effective in the treatment of patients with advanced disease, which led to its approval as targeted treatment for NETs [6, 123]. However, further studies will be necessary to characterize the molecular bases and find how to overcome the acquisition of therapy resistance. This latter issue was recently investigated by using the combination of molecular drugs (e.g., everolimus and PI3K inhibitors) with promising results [124].

Somatostatin and its synthetic analogs (e.g., lanreotide, octreotide) act through a family of 5 G-protein–coupled receptors termed sst1–sst5 to exert a variety of functions, including inhibition of endocrine and exocrine secretions and of tumor cell growth [125]. Somatostatin analogs have been successfully implemented into clinical practice; however, patients may develop resistance to treatment over time [126]. This has been partially explained by the recent finding of novel truncated sst5 receptor variants in humans [127]. One variant, sst5TMD4, which is barely expressed in normal human tissues, shows a marked upregulation in tumors, where it seems to entail pathologically relevant functions. Thus, for example, expression of sst5TMD4 in pituitary adenomas causing acromegaly is related to the reduced ability of octreotide at normalizing hormone secretion in poorly responsive tumors [127].

A pathogenic role for SRC family nonreceptor tyrosine kinases has been suggested in NETs. In a gene expression profiling study of advanced PanNETs, Capurso and colleagues identified the SRC-related kinase LCK as one of the genes overexpressed in these cancers [128]. An increased copy number of the SRC gene as well as an increased SRC expression has been observed in 23% of SiNETs and has been reported by several studies [77, 81, 129]. Of interest, a potential link between SRC and mTOR pathway activation has been identified by immunohistochemical studies, and the concomitant inhibition of the two pathways is more active in impairing cell growth than the use of single agents [130, 131]. Notably, whereas treatment with mTOR inhibitors triggered the activation of pro-survival feedback dependent on PI3K/Akt signaling, the simultaneous inhibition of both pathways blocked this escape signal.

The VEGF signaling pathway is also deregulated in NETs [132]. NETs are highly vascularized tumors, and a link between the VEGF pathway and PanNETs was recognized in the **RIP-Tag** transgenic mouse model of PanNET. Moreover, strong mRNA expression of VEGFA and its encoded protein's receptors (VEGFR1 and VEGFR2) was observed in tumors of VHL patients [133]. Several VEGF pathway inhibitors including the VEGF inhibitor bevacizumab, the VEGF receptor inhibitors pazopanib, and sorafenib, and the multi-kinase inhibitor sunitinib have shown clinical activity [6, 134]. In particular, sunitinib was recently approved for the treatment of progressive well-differentiated locally advanced or metastatic PanNETs [135]. Another multi-tyrosine kinase inhibitor. Lenvatinib, was initially approved for the treatment of thyroid cancer and is currently being tested also on gastroenteropancreatic NETs [136]. Lenvatinib targets include RET, KIT, PDGFR, VEGFR1-3, and FGFR1-4, and a recent phase II clinical study on advanced gastroenteropancreatic NETs showed promising results in 31 of 111 patients [137].

Activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) may also play a role in gastrointestinal NETs [138]. In an immunohistochemical study, Shah and colleagues found evidence for activated EGFR in 63% of 89 gastrointestinal NET samples as well as activation of Erk and Akt proteins, the downstream targets of activated EGFR [139]. *EGFR* and *ERBB2* amplification have also been recurrently reported in 8–10% of SiNETs [77, 79, 81, 95].

While clinical and functional studies are exploring the mechanism of action of new drugs and combination therapies, genomics studies are focusing on deep sequencing of tumors to allow detection of intra-tumor heterogeneity and to anticipate the emergence of resistant clones [140].

4.7 Conclusions

NETs are a challenging group of heterogeneous cancers whose clinical course is often difficult to predict. A limited number of useful clinicopathological prognostic indicators are currently available for these tumors, including tumor grade and the presence of metastases.

The data generated by high-throughput studies in the last decade provided an important background to understand the biology of various NET subtypes, improving patient stratification and therapeutic decision-making. In addition, several novel targetable pathways have been identified, opening the possibility of tailoring treatment to different subtypes of tumors. **Authors' Contributions** All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Potential Competing Interests The authors have no competing interests to declare.

Acknowledgments/Grant Support Italian Cancer Genome Project grant from the Italian Ministry of Research (FIRB RBAP10AHJB), Fondazione Italiana Malattie Pancreas from Ministry of Health (J33G13000210001), AIRC grant no 12182, and FP7 EU project CAM-PaC no 602783.

References

- Capelli P, Fassan M, Scarpa A. Pathology grading and staging of GEP-NETs. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2012;26(6):705–17.
- Capelli P, et al. Endocrine neoplasms of the pancreas: pathologic and genetic features. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2009;133(3):350–64.
- Yachida S, et al. Small cell and large cell neuroendocrine carcinomas of the pancreas are genetically similar and distinct from well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36(2):173–84.
- Lloyd R, et al. WHO classification of tumours of endocrine organs, vol. 10. 4th ed. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC); 2017.
- de Wilde RF, et al. Well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: from genetics to therapy. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;9(4):199–208.
- Oberg K, et al. Molecular pathogenesis of neuroendocrine tumors: implications for current and future therapeutic approaches. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(11):2842–9.
- Dasari A, et al. Trends in the incidence, prevalence, and survival outcomes in patients with neuroendocrine tumors in the United States. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(10):1335–42.
- Fraenkel M, et al. Incidence of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours: a systematic review of the literature. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2014;21(3):R153–63.
- Bosman FT, et al. WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. 4th ed. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC); 2010.
- Mafficini A, Scarpa A. Genetics and epigenetics of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Endocr Rev. 2019;40(2):506–36.
- Meeker A, Heaphy C. Gastroenteropancreatic endocrine tumors. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2014;386(1–2):101–20.
- Anlauf M, et al. Hereditary neuroendocrine tumors of the gastroenteropancreatic system. Virchows Arch. 2007;451(Suppl 1):S29–38.
- 13. Lemmens I, et al. Identification of the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) gene. The

European Consortium on MEN1. Hum Mol Genet. 1997;6(7):1177–83.

- Anlauf M, et al. Microadenomatosis of the endocrine pancreas in patients with and without the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 syndrome. Am J Surg Pathol. 2006;30(5):560–74.
- Perren A, et al. Mutation and expression analyses reveal differential subcellular compartmentalization of PTEN in endocrine pancreatic tumors compared to normal islet cells. Am J Pathol. 2000;157(4):1097–103.
- Davi MV, et al. Presentation and outcome of pancreaticoduodenal endocrine tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 syndrome. Neuroendocrinology. 2011;94(1):58–65.
- Agarwal SK, et al. Menin molecular interactions: insights into normal functions and tumorigenesis. Horm Metab Res. 2005;37(6):369–74.
- Milne TA, et al. Menin and MLL cooperatively regulate expression of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(3):749–54.
- Wang Y, et al. The tumor suppressor protein menin inhibits AKT activation by regulating its cellular localization. Cancer Res. 2011;71(2):371–82.
- Francis J, et al. The menin tumor suppressor protein is phosphorylated in response to DNA damage. PLoS One. 2011;6(1):e16119.
- Fang M, et al. MEN1 is a melanoma tumor suppressor that preserves genomic integrity by stimulating transcription of genes that promote homologous recombination-directed DNA repair. Mol Cell Biol. 2013;33(13):2635–47.
- 22. Corbo V, et al. MEN1 in pancreatic endocrine tumors: analysis of gene and protein status in 169 sporadic neoplasms reveals alterations in the vast majority of cases. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2010;17(3):771–83.
- 23. Perren A, et al. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1): loss of one MEN1 allele in tumors and monohormonal endocrine cell clusters but not in islet hyperplasia of the pancreas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(3):1118–28.
- Hessman O, et al. Genetic alterations on 3p, 11q13, and 18q in nonfamilial and MEN 1-associated pancreatic endocrine tumors. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 1999;26(3):258–64.
- Hessman O, et al. Multiple allelic deletions and intratumoral genetic heterogeneity in men1 pancreatic tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(3):1355–61.
- 26. Jiao Y, et al. DAXX/ATRX, MEN1, and mTOR pathway genes are frequently altered in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Science. 2011;331(6021):1199–203.
- Moore PS, et al. Role of disease-causing genes in sporadic pancreatic endocrine tumors: MEN1 and VHL. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2001;32(2):177–81.
- Gortz B, et al. Mutations and allelic deletions of the MEN1 gene are associated with a subset of sporadic

endocrine pancreatic and neuroendocrine tumors and not restricted to foregut neoplasms. Am J Pathol. 1999;154(2):429–36.

- Debelenko LV, et al. The multiple endocrine neoplasia type I gene locus is involved in the pathogenesis of type II gastric carcinoids. Gastroenterology. 1997;113(3):773–81.
- Toliat MR, et al. Mutations in the MEN I gene in sporadic neuroendocrine tumours of gastroenteropancreatic system. Lancet. 1997;350(9086):1223.
- Scarpa A, et al. Whole-genome landscape of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Nature. 2017;543(7643):65–71.
- 32. Karnik SK, et al. Menin regulates pancreatic islet growth by promoting histone methylation and expression of genes encoding p27Kip1 and p18INK4c. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(41):14659–64.
- 33. Simbolo M, et al. Gene expression profiling of lung atypical carcinoids and large cell neuroendocrine carcinomas identifies three transcriptomic subtypes with specific genomic alterations. J Thorac Oncol. 2019;14(9):1651–61.
- 34. Swarts DR, et al. MEN1 gene mutation and reduced expression are associated with poor prognosis in pulmonary carcinoids. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(2):E374–8.
- Agrawal N, et al. Exomic sequencing of medullary thyroid cancer reveals dominant and mutually exclusive oncogenic mutations in RET and RAS. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(2):E364–9.
- Alevizaki M, Stratakis CA. Multiple endocrine neoplasias: advances and challenges for the future. J Intern Med. 2009;266(1):1–4.
- Pellegata NS, et al. Germ-line mutations in p27Kip1 cause a multiple endocrine neoplasia syndrome in rats and humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(42):15558–63.
- Philipp-Staheli J, Payne SR, Kemp CJ. p27(Kip1): regulation and function of a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor and its misregulation in cancer. Exp Cell Res. 2001;264(1):148–68.
- Alrezk R, Hannah-Shmouni F, Stratakis CA. MEN4 and CDKN1B mutations: the latest of the MEN syndromes. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2017;24(10):T195–208.
- 40. Borsari S, et al. Loss of p27 expression is associated with MEN1 gene mutations in sporadic parathyroid adenomas. Endocrine. 2017;55(2):386–97.
- Corcos O, et al. Endocrine pancreatic tumors in von Hippel-Lindau disease: clinical, histological, and genetic features. Pancreas. 2008;37(1):85–93.
- Schmitt AM, et al. VHL inactivation is an important pathway for the development of malignant sporadic pancreatic endocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2009;16(4):1219–27.
- Iliopoulos O, et al. Negative regulation of hypoxiainducible genes by the von Hippel-Lindau protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(20):10595–9.

- 44. Johannessen CM, et al. The NF1 tumor suppressor critically regulates TSC2 and mTOR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(24):8573–8.
- 45. Noe M, et al. Whole-exome sequencing of duodenal neuroendocrine tumors in patients with neurofibromatosis type 1. Mod Pathol. 2018;31(10):1532–8.
- 46. Arva NC, et al. Well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma in tuberous sclerosis--case report and review of the literature. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36(1):149–53.
- Missiaglia E, et al. Pancreatic endocrine tumors: expression profiling evidences a role for AKTmTOR pathway. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(2):245–55.
- 48. Metzker ML. Sequencing technologies the next generation. Nat Rev Genet. 2010;11(1):31–46.
- Vogelstein B, et al. Cancer genome landscapes. Science. 2013;339(6127):1546–58.
- Jones S, et al. Core signaling pathways in human pancreatic cancers revealed by global genomic analyses. Science. 2008;321(5897):1801–6.
- Argentaro A, et al. Structural consequences of disease-causing mutations in the ATRX-DNMT3-DNMT3L (ADD) domain of the chromatinassociated protein ATRX. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(29):11939–44.
- Gibbons RJ, et al. Mutations in a putative global transcriptional regulator cause X-linked mental retardation with alpha-thalassemia (ATR-X syndrome). Cell. 1995;80(6):837–45.
- Heaphy CM, et al. Altered telomeres in tumors with ATRX and DAXX mutations. Science. 2011;333(6041):425.
- Shih HM, et al. Daxx mediates SUMO-dependent transcriptional control and subnuclear compartmentalization. Biochem Soc Trans. 2007;35(Pt 6):1397–400.
- Lindsay CR, Morozov VM, Ishov AM. PML NBs (ND10) and Daxx: from nuclear structure to protein function. Front Biosci. 2008;13:7132–42.
- 56. Lewis PW, et al. Daxx is an H3.3-specific histone chaperone and cooperates with ATRX in replicationindependent chromatin assembly at telomeres. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(32):14075–80.
- Goldberg AD, et al. Distinct factors control histone variant H3.3 localization at specific genomic regions. Cell. 2010;140(5):678–91.
- Cesare AJ, Reddel RR. Alternative lengthening of telomeres: models, mechanisms and implications. Nat Rev Genet. 2010;11(5):319–30.
- Heaphy CM, et al. Prevalence of the alternative lengthening of telomeres telomere maintenance mechanism in human cancer subtypes. Am J Pathol. 2011;179(4):1608–15.
- 60. Simbolo M, et al. Lung neuroendocrine tumours: deep sequencing of the four World Health Organization histotypes reveals chromatinremodelling genes as major players and a prognostic role for TERT, RB1, MEN1 and KMT2D. J Pathol. 2017;241(4):488–500.

- 61. de Wilde RF, et al. Loss of ATRX or DAXX expression and concomitant acquisition of the alternative lengthening of telomeres phenotype are late events in a small subset of MEN-1 syndrome pancreatic neuro-endocrine tumors. Mod Pathol. 2012;25(7):1033–9.
- 62. Marinoni I, et al. Loss of DAXX and ATRX are associated with chromosome instability and reduced survival of patients with pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Gastroenterology. 2014;146(2):453–60. e5
- Giorgi C, et al. PI3K/AKT signaling modulates transcriptional expression of EWS/FLI1 through specificity protein 1. Oncotarget. 2015;6(30):28895–910.
- Mazzei F, Viel A, Bignami M. Role of MUTYH in human cancer. Mutat Res. 2013;743–744:33–43.
- 65. Nielsen FC, van Overeem Hansen T, Sorensen CS. Hereditary breast and ovarian cancer: new genes in confined pathways. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16(9):599–612.
- 66. Pea A, et al. Genetic analysis of small welldifferentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors identifies subgroups with differing risks of liver metastases. Ann Surg. 2018;
- 67. Sadanandam A, et al. A cross-species analysis in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors reveals molecular subtypes with distinctive clinical, metastatic, developmental, and metabolic characteristics. Cancer Discov. 2015;5(12):1296–313.
- Amelio I, Melino G. The p53 family and the hypoxiainducible factors (HIFs): determinants of cancer progression. Trends Biochem Sci. 2015;40(8):425–34.
- Chan CS, et al. ATRX, DAXX or MEN1 mutant pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors are a distinct alpha-cell signature subgroup. Nat Commun. 2018;9(1):4158.
- Cejas P, et al. Enhancer signatures stratify and predict outcomes of non-functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Nat Med. 2019;25(8):1260–5.
- Cao Y, et al. Whole exome sequencing of insulinoma reveals recurrent T372R mutations in YY1. Nat Commun. 2013;4:2810.
- Cromer MK, et al. Neomorphic effects of recurrent somatic mutations in Yin Yang 1 in insulinproducing adenomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(13):4062–7.
- Lichtenauer UD, et al. Frequency and clinical correlates of somatic Ying Yang 1 mutations in sporadic insulinomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(5):E776–82.
- Wang H, et al. Insights into beta cell regeneration for diabetes via integration of molecular landscapes in human insulinomas. Nat Commun. 2017;8(1):767.
- 75. Hu W, et al. Gene amplifications in well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors inactivate the p53 pathway. Genes Cancer. 2010;1(4):360–8.
- 76. Tang LH, et al. Attenuation of the retinoblastoma pathway in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors due to increased cdk4/cdk6. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(17):4612–20.

- Banck MS, et al. The genomic landscape of small intestine neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Invest. 2013;123(6):2502–8.
- Francis JM, et al. Somatic mutation of CDKN1B in small intestine neuroendocrine tumors. Nat Genet. 2013;45(12):1483–6.
- Karpathakis A, et al. Prognostic impact of novel molecular subtypes of small intestinal neuroendocrine tumor. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(1):250–8.
- Georgitsi M, et al. Germline CDKN1B/p27Kip1 mutation in multiple endocrine neoplasia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(8):3321–5.
- Simbolo M, et al. Mutational and copy number asset of primary sporadic neuroendocrine tumors of the small intestine. Virchows Arch. 2018;473(6):709–17.
- Bottarelli L, et al. Adenomatous polyposis coli gene involvement in ileal enterochromaffin cell neuroendocrine neoplasms. Hum Pathol. 2013;44(12):2736–42.
- Fernandez-Cuesta L, et al. Frequent mutations in chromatin-remodelling genes in pulmonary carcinoids. Nat Commun. 2014;5:3518.
- 84. Pelosi G, et al. Most high-grade neuroendocrine tumours of the lung are likely to secondarily develop from pre-existing carcinoids: innovative findings skipping the current pathogenesis paradigm. Virchows Arch. 2018;472(4):567–77.
- 85. Rekhtman N, et al. Next-generation sequencing of pulmonary large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma reveals small cell carcinoma-like and non-small cell carcinoma-like subsets. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(14):3618–29.
- 86. George J, et al. Integrative genomic profiling of large-cell neuroendocrine carcinomas reveals distinct subtypes of high-grade neuroendocrine lung tumors. Nat Commun. 2018;9(1):1048.
- Alcala N, et al. Integrative and comparative genomic analyses identify clinically relevant pulmonary carcinoid groups and unveil the supra-carcinoids. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):3407.
- Timp W, Feinberg AP. Cancer as a dysregulated epigenome allowing cellular growth advantage at the expense of the host. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13(7):497–510.
- Di Domenico A, et al. Genetic and epigenetic drivers of neuroendocrine tumours (NET). Endocr Relat Cancer. 2017;24(9):R315–34.
- Stricker I, et al. Site- and grade-specific diversity of LINE1 methylation pattern in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Anticancer Res. 2012;32(9):3699–706.
- Choi IS, et al. Hypomethylation of LINE-1 and Alu in well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors (pancreatic endocrine tumors and carcinoid tumors). Mod Pathol. 2007;20(7):802–10.
- Arnold CN, et al. Analysis of molecular pathways in sporadic neuroendocrine tumors of the gastro-entero-pancreatic system. Int J Cancer. 2007;120(10):2157–64.

- Arnold CN, et al. Molecular characteristics and predictors of survival in patients with malignant neuroendocrine tumors. Int J Cancer. 2008;123(7):1556–64.
- 94. La Rosa S, et al. Colorectal poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas and mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas: insights into the diagnostic immunophenotype, assessment of methylation profile, and search for prognostic markers. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36(4):601–11.
- Karpathakis A, et al. Progressive epigenetic dysregulation in neuroendocrine tumour liver metastases. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2017;24(2):L21–5.
- 96. House MG, et al. Aberrant hypermethylation of tumor suppressor genes in pancreatic endocrine neoplasms. Ann Surg. 2003;238(3):423–31. discussion 431–2
- Kulke MH, et al. O6-methylguanine DNA methyltransferase deficiency and response to temozolomidebased therapy in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(1):338–45.
- Dammann R, et al. Epigenetic inactivation of the Ras-association domain family 1 (RASSF1A) gene and its function in human carcinogenesis. Histol Histopathol. 2003;18(2):665–77.
- Dammann R, et al. Frequent RASSF1A promoter hypermethylation and K-ras mutations in pancreatic carcinoma. Oncogene. 2003;22(24):3806–12.
- 100. Malpeli G, et al. Methylation-associated downregulation of RASSF1A and up-regulation of RASSF1C in pancreatic endocrine tumors. BMC Cancer. 2011;11:351.
- 101. Pizzi S, et al. RASSF1A promoter methylation and 3p21.3 loss of heterozygosity are features of foregut, but not midgut and hindgut, malignant endocrine tumours. J Pathol. 2005;206(4):409–16.
- 102. Liu L, et al. Epigenetic alterations in neuroendocrine tumors: methylation of RAS-association domain family 1, isoform a and p16 genes are associated with metastasis. Mod Pathol. 2005;18(12):1632–40.
- 103. Gannon M, et al. Pdx-1 function is specifically required in embryonic beta cells to generate appropriate numbers of endocrine cell types and maintain glucose homeostasis. Dev Biol. 2008;314(2):406–17.
- 104. Collombat P, et al. Opposing actions of Arx and Pax4 in endocrine pancreas development. Genes Dev. 2003;17(20):2591–603.
- 105. Roldo C, et al. MicroRNA expression abnormalities in pancreatic endocrine and acinar tumors are associated with distinctive pathologic features and clinical behavior. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(29):4677–84.
- 106. Ruebel K, et al. MicroRNA expression in ileal carcinoid tumors: downregulation of microRNA-133a with tumor progression. Mod Pathol. 2010;23(3):367–75.
- 107. Li SC, et al. Global microRNA profiling of welldifferentiated small intestinal neuroendocrine tumors. Mod Pathol. 2013;26(5):685–96.
- 108. Luzi E, Brandi ML. Are microRNAs involved in the endocrine-specific pattern of tumorigenesis in

multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1? Endocr Pract. 2011;17(Suppl 3):58–63.

- Vicentini C, et al. Clinical application of microRNA testing in neuroendocrine tumors of the gastrointestinal tract. Molecules. 2014;19(2):2458–68.
- Thorns C, et al. Global microRNA profiling of pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasias. Anticancer Res. 2014;34(5):2249–54.
- 111. Matthaei H, et al. miRNA biomarkers in cyst fluid augment the diagnosis and management of pancreatic cysts. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(17):4713–24.
- 112. Lee YS, et al. High expression of microRNA-196a indicates poor prognosis in resected pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015;94(50):e2224.
- 113. Miller HC, et al. MicroRNAs associated with small bowel neuroendocrine tumours and their metastases. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2016;23(9):711–26.
- 114. Li SC, et al. Somatostatin analogs treated small intestinal neuroendocrine tumor patients circulating microRNAs. PLoS One. 2015;10(5):e0125553.
- 115. Mian C, et al. MicroRNA profiles in familial and sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma: preliminary relationships with RET status and outcome. Thyroid. 2012;22(9):890–6.
- 116. Mairinger FD, et al. Different micro-RNA expression profiles distinguish subtypes of neuroendocrine tumors of the lung: results of a profiling study. Mod Pathol. 2014;27(12):1632–40.
- 117. Oberg K. Neuroendocrine tumours in 2012: insights into signalling pathways could individualize therapy. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2013;9(2):70–2.
- 118. Corbo V, et al. Pancreatic endocrine tumours: mutational and immunohistochemical survey of protein kinases reveals alterations in targetable kinases in cancer cell lines and rare primaries. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(1):127–34.
- 119. Shida T, et al. Expression of an activated mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2010;65(5):889–93.
- 120. Kasajima A, et al. mTOR expression and activity patterns in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2011;18(1):
- 181–92.
- 121. Capurso G, et al. Molecular target therapy for gastroenteropancreatic endocrine tumours: biological rationale and clinical perspectives. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2009;72(2):110–24.
- 122. Efeyan A, Sabatini DM. mTOR and cancer: many loops in one pathway. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2010;22(2):169–76.
- 123. Yao JC, et al. Everolimus for the treatment of advanced, non-functional neuroendocrine tumours of the lung or gastrointestinal tract (RADIANT-4): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2016;387(10022):968–77.
- 124. Vandamme T, et al. Long-term acquired everolimus resistance in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours can

be overcome with novel PI3K-AKT-mTOR inhibitors. Br J Cancer. 2016;114(6):650–8.

- 125. Patel YC. Somatostatin and its receptor family. Front Neuroendocrinol. 1999;20(3):157–98.
- Hofland LJ, Lamberts SW. The pathophysiological consequences of somatostatin receptor internalization and resistance. Endocr Rev. 2003;24(1):28–47.
- 127. Duran-Prado M, et al. Identification and characterization of two novel truncated but functional isoforms of the somatostatin receptor subtype 5 differentially present in pituitary tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94(7):2634–43.
- 128. Capurso G, et al. Gene expression profiles of progressive pancreatic endocrine tumours and their liver metastases reveal potential novel markers and therapeutic targets. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2006;13(2):541–58.
- 129. Gaur P, et al. Identification of cancer stem cells in human gastrointestinal carcinoid and neuroendocrine tumors. Gastroenterology. 2011;141(5):1728–37.
- Di Florio A, et al. Src family kinase activity regulates adhesion, spreading and migration of pancreatic endocrine tumour cells. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2007;14(1):111–24.
- 131. Di Florio A, et al. Src kinase activity coordinates cell adhesion and spreading with activation of mammalian target of rapamycin in pancreatic endocrine tumour cells. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2011;18(5):541–54.
- Zhang J, et al. Current understanding of the molecular biology of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013;105(14):1005–17.
- 133. Speisky D, et al. Molecular profiling of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in sporadic and

Von Hippel-Lindau patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(10):2838–49.

- Raymond E, et al. Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(6):501–13.
- 135. Blumenthal GM, et al. FDA approval summary: sunitinib for the treatment of progressive welldifferentiated locally advanced or metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Oncologist. 2012;17(8):1108–13.
- Capdevila J, et al. Optimisation of treatment with lenvatinib in radioactive iodine-refractory differentiated thyroid cancer. Cancer Treat Rev. 2018;69:164–76.
- 137. Capdevila J, et al. Final results of the TALENT trial (GETNE1509): a prospective multicohort phase II study of lenvatinib in patients (pts) with G1/G2 advanced pancreatic (panNETs) and gastrointestinal (giNETs) neuroendocrine tumors (NETs). J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(15_suppl):4106.
- 138. Kidd M, et al. EGFR/TGFalpha and TGFbeta/ CTGF signaling in neuroendocrine neoplasia: theoretical therapeutic targets. Neuroendocrinology. 2013;97(1):35–44.
- Shah T, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor expression and activation in neuroendocrine tumours. J Neuroendocrinol. 2006;18(5):355–60.
- 140. Vandamme T, et al. Hotspot DAXX, PTCH2 and CYFIP2 mutations in pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2019;26(1):1–12.



5

Circulating Biochemical Markers of Gastro-Entero-Pancreatic (GEP) Neuroendocrine Neoplasms (NENs)

Federica Cavalcoli, Roberta Elisa Rossi, and Sara Massironi

5.1 Introduction

Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) are a heterogeneous group of rare malignancies which represent a true challenge for clinicians at all stages of the disease, from diagnosis to treatment. The term "neuroendocrine" adequately describes the cell features, characterized by the presence of dense-core granules, similar to those found in serotonergic neurons, which is the reason for the "neuro" term, whereas "endocrine" refers to the secretive properties of these tumors. NENs arise from neuroendocrine cells which are derived from the diffuse endocrine system and represent approximately 2% of all malignant tumors of the gastro-entero-pancreatic (GEP) system [1]. Their incidence and prevalence have been increasing over the past years partly due to increased awareness and improvements in instrumental

F. Cavalcoli

Department of Pathophysiology and Organ Transplant, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milan, Italy

S. Massironi (🖂)

diagnostic techniques. NENs are usually divided into functioning and nonfunctioning forms. Functioning tumors usually synthesize, store, and secrete peptides and neuroamines that can cause distinct clinical syndromes, while nonfunctioning forms are clinically silent, being lately diagnosed once metastatic with mass effects [2].

Management of NEN represents a clinical challenge because of its late presentation, scarcity of standardized treatment options, and limitations in present imaging modalities and biomarkers to guide management. Biochemical markers are evaluated in the blood, urine, or other body fluids and are usually elevated in the presence of a tumor [3]. Of note, the beginning of the diagnostic process of NENs is often based on the measurement of circulating markers, before planning expensive and invasive diagnostic tests [4, 5]; however up to 60-80% of NENs are metastatic at diagnosis, which highlights the frequent failure to identify symptoms or to establish a biochemical diagnosis [2]. Furthermore, the majority of available markers, which can be divided into general and specific biomarkers, lack sensitivity and/or specificity and are often not helpful in the diagnostic process. A multinational consensus meeting of multidisciplinary experts in NENs assessed the use of current biomarkers and defined the perquisites for novel biomarkers via the Delphi method. Consensus (at >75%) was achieved for 88 (82%) of 107 assessment questions. The panel concluded that circulating

Gastroenterology and Endoscopy Unit, Istituti Clinici Zucchi, Monza, Italy

R. E. Rossi

Gastrointestinal Surgery and Liver Transplantation Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy

Gastroenterology Unit, San Gerardo Hospital, University of Milano – Bicocca, Monza, Italy

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_5

multianalyte biomarkers provide the highest sensitivity and specificity necessary for minimum disease detection and that this type of biomarker had sufficient information to predict treatment effectiveness and prognosis. The panel also concluded that no monoanalyte biomarker of NENs has yet fulfilled these criteria and there is insufficient information to support the clinical use of miRNA or circulating tumor cells as useful prognostic markers for this disease.

The identification of biomarkers of both diagnostic and prognostic value for NENs is urgently needed to improve patient management and tailor the therapeutic approach for each patient [6].

5.2 Specific Biomarkers

Specific biomarkers are secreted by specialized neuroendocrine cells by functioning NEN and are responsible for specific GEP-NEN associated clinical syndrome. Specific markers include 5-hydroxyindole acetic acid (5-HIAA), insulin, gastrin, vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), glucagon, growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH), calcitonin, adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH), and corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH). The main features of the established functioning neuroendocrine syndromes have been reported in Table 5.1. Also, several other biologically active substances may be released from NENs such as bradykinin, substance P, neurotensin, human chorionic gonadotropin, neuropeptide K, and neuropeptide L.

5.2.1 5-Hydroxyindole Acetic Acid (5-HIAA)

5-hydroxyindole acetic acid (5-HIAA) is the urinary metabolite of serotonin or 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) a peptide mainly synthesized and stored in the enterochromaffin cells of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract (80% of total body serotonin) [7], as well as in the serotoninergic neurons of the central nervous system [8] and the platelets. Serotonin is involved in different biological functions including vasoconstriction, neurotransmission, regulation of sleep, appetite, and gastrointestinal motility [9].

Hypersecretion of 5-HT and other biologically active amines (such as tachykinins, prostaglandins, and bradykinins) is usually observed in the presence of a metastatic small intestine NEN and results in a typical carcinoid syndrome. Elevated 5-HIAA levels in the urine are highly suggestive of an ileal NEN (approximately 75%) of midgut NENs are associated with a positive urinary 5-HIAA test), although some NENs found in the lung and pancreas also secrete serotonin [9, 10]. The typical presentation is characterized by flushing, diarrhea, and abdominal pain. Less frequent symptoms are bronchospasm, headache, hypotension, lacrimation, profuse sweating, and cutaneous manifestations pellagralike due to lack of niacin (Fig. 5.1) [5, 11, 12]. In about 10-20% of patients, carcinoid syndrome may lead to carcinoid heart disease in which cardiac fibrosis and thickening of the heart valves result in right heart failure [13]. The presence of heart disease confers a significantly worse prognosis, thus initial screening and multidisciplinary assessment are essential for both controlling carcinoid and cardiovascular symptoms and determining a strategy for medical and surgical management [14].

While 5-HT measurement is not recommended due to fluctuations in secretion as well as wide interindividual variations, the urinary 24-h measurement of 5-HIAA is a useful specific marker for 5-HT secreting NENs. Samples should be collected for 24 h using plastic jars shielded from light and prefilled with an acidic additive to keep pH below 3 (to ensure sterility and stability) [15]. Reliable methods for 5-HIAA determination are high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), automated assays, and mass spectrometry [16]. 5-HIAA presents a high intraindividual variability, thus a mean of two consecutive 24-h collections should be taken as reference [9]. The overall sensitivity and specificity of urinary 5-HIAA in the presence of the carcinoid syndrome are up to 90% [17]. However, as for most biomarkers, 5-HIAA presents falsepositive and false-negative results. 5-HIAA levels

			Incidence	
Tumor	Markers	Tumor location	(cases/1000000/ vear)	Clinical syndrome
Carcinoid	Urinary 5-HIAA, serum 5-HIAA (less reliable)	Small intestine (60%) Colon-rectum (10%) Lung (30%) Pancreas (<1%)	3–11	Carcinoid syndrome
Insulinoma	Insulin (72 h fasting), C-peptide, proinsulin glucagon stimulation test	Pancreas (>99%)	1–3	Hypoglycemic symptoms
Gastrinoma	Gastrin, secretin stimulation test, calcium stimulation test, glucagon stimulation test	Duodenum (65%) Pancreas (30%) Other sites (5%)	0.5–2	Recurrent peptic ulcers Gastroesophageal reflux Diarrhea
VIPoma	VIP	Pancreas (90%) Other sites (10%)	0.05–2.0	Watery diarrhea Hypokalemia Achlorhydria
Glucagonoma	Glucagon	Pancreas (100%)	0.01–0.1	Necrolytic migratory erythema Diabetes mellitus Muscle wasting Weight loss
Somatostatinoma	Somatostatin	Pancreas (55%) Duodenum/small intestine (44%)	0.04	Diabetes mellitus Diarrhea cholelithiasis Weight loss Hypochlorhydria
ACTHoma	ACTH, cortisol	Lung (35%) Pancreas (25%) Thyroid (20%) Pheochromocytoma (10%) Other sites (10%)	Rare	Cushing's syndrome
CRHoma	CRH ACTH Cortisol	Thyroid (33%) Pheochromocytoma (19%) Lung (10%) Small intestine (5%)	Rare	Cushing's syndrome
GRHoma	GRH	Lung (54%) Pancreas (30%) Small intestine (7%) Other sites (13%)	Rare	Acromegaly
Calcitoninoma	Calcitonin	Pancreas Lung Pheochromocytomas other sites	Rare	Diarrhea

 Table 5.1
 Main epidemiological and biochemical features of the established functioning neuroendocrine syndromes in adults

5-HIAA 5-Hydroxyindole acetic acid, GRH growth hormone-releasing hormone, ACTH adrenocorticotropic hormone, CRH corticotropin-releasing hormone, VIP vasoactive intestinal peptide

depend on tumor burden and can be normal in nonmetastatic patients [16]. NEN localization also influences urinary 5-HIAA levels; the sensitivity is lower in patients with fore- and hindgut NENs due to less serotonin production from these tumors than midgut forms. Moreover, renal failure and/or hemodialysis could result in falsely low 5-HIAA levels [10]. Somatostatin analogs are known to decrease levels of 5-HIAA, similarly other medications such as levodopa, methyldopa,



Fig. 5.1 Main manifestations of carcinoid syndrome and their relative frequencies

acetylsalicylic acid, adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH), and phenothiazines may give false-negative results [18].

False-positive results can be observed in the presence of malabsorptive condition (i.e., celiac disease, tropical sprue, Whipple disease, intestinal stasis, and cystic fibrosis) or due to consumption of tryptophan/serotonin-rich food collection (i.e., tomatoes, plums, pineapples, bananas, eggplants, avocados, and walnuts) [18]. A three-day diet free of food rich in tryptophan/serotonin is advised to avoid false-positive results [9, 19].

A prognostic value of 5-HIAA in patients with carcinoid syndrome has been proposed. Different studies reported high 5-HIAA levels to be associated with a worse prognosis [20, 21], as well as a shorter 5-HIAA doubling time [20]. Moreover, a strong correlation between 5-HIAA circulating levels and carcinoid heart disease onset and progression has been observed.

5.2.2 Insulin

Insulin is a polypeptide composed of 51 amino acids produced in the pancreatic islets of Langerhans from β cells. The active form of insulin is synthesized from the proinsulin precursor molecule and consists of two peptide chains, the A-chain and B-chain [22]. Insulin plays a key role in energy balance and glucose metabolism mainly reducing blood glucose levels, by increasing glycogen synthesis and promoting the storage of glucose in the liver (and muscle) cells.

Thus, an inappropriate secretion of insulin, observed in presence of insulin-producing tumors or insulinomas, results in hypoglycemia. The low level of blood glucose accounts for the typical clinical features including both adrenergic activation (palpations, sweating, pallor, anxiety) and neuroglycopenic symptoms (personality changes and loss of consciousness) [9]. Insulinomas arise almost exclusively from the pancreas and represent the most common pancreatic functioning NENs [9]. Insulinomas are usually present as small, hyper-vascularized neoplasms and may occur sporadically in up to 90% of cases or as part of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) syndrome in about 10% of the cases [23].

Insulinoma should be suspected in the presence of the Whipple's triad: symptomatic episodes of hypoglycemia, demonstration of serum glucose level <2.5 mmol/l (45 mg/dl), and relief of symptoms following glucose administration [24]. The biochemical diagnosis requires the presence of hypoglycemia <2.5 mmol/l (45 mg/ dl) along with evidence of inappropriately increased insulin levels (>6 U/L) and C-peptide and proinsulin, which can be demonstrated in blood samples. Of note, insulin concentrations may be within the reference range; however, insulin is inappropriately high for the blood glucose level. In the presence of an episode of spontaneous severe hypoglycemia with hyperinsulinism, the simultaneous measurement of serum C-peptide and beta-hydroxybutyrate is appropriate [17]. The gold standard for the diagnosis is a 72-h fasting test and it attests autonomous insulin secretion and the failure of appropriate insulin suppression in the presence of hypoglycemia. The test requires the hospitalization and placement of an intravenous line as the patient undergoes a blood sampling for serum glucose and insulin every 6 h, or whenever symptoms of hypoglycemia occur. The test is suspended when plasma glucose falls below the threshold of 55 mg/dL, and the patient develops symptoms of hypoglycemia. Hypoglycemia develops within 12 h in 30% of patients, in 90% within 48 h, and approaches 100% within 72 h [9]. If the 72-h fasting test is not conclusive despite a strong clinical suspicion, a glucagon stimulation test can be performed immediately after the 72-fasting test: glucagon 1 mg is administered intramuscularly with a consequent increase in serum glucose levels that demonstrates adequate glycogen

stores and is usually observed in patients with insulinoma.

The differential diagnosis of insulinoma includes abuse of insulin, sulphonylurea, or related insulin secretagogues and the use of hypoglycemic medications in the setting of renal impairment [9, 23].

5.2.3 Gastrin

Gastrin is an aminoacidic peptide physiologically involved in the stimulation of gastric acid (HCl) secretion and gastrointestinal motility. Gastrin is synthesized by G cells in the gastric antrum, duodenum, and the pancreas as a large precursor, progastrin. After cleavage and processing, progastrin is metabolized in several biologically active peptides including gastrin 34, gastrin 17, and C-terminally extended gastrins [25]. The release of gastrin is stimulated by food and inhibited by a low gastric pH. Gastrin binds to the cholecystokinin-2 receptor regulating the mealstimulated gastric acid secretion. Besides, it plays important roles in epithelial cell proliferation in the gastrointestinal tract [25].

Gastrin-producing tumors, named gastrinomas, are the second most common functioning NENs. They usually arise in the duodenum (50– 70% of cases) or the pancreas (20–40%) in a small portion called the gastrinoma triangle [26]. Gastrinomas can be sporadic or occur as part of MEN1 syndrome (approximately 25–35%). Thus, in case of gastrinoma diagnosis, screening for MEN1 is, therefore, advisable [16].

Hypersecretion of gastrin from gastrinoma leads to Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (ZES) characterized by increased gastric acid production from fundic parietal cells [27]. The excess in gastric acid secretion causes severe recurrent peptic ulcer disease and inactivates pancreatic digestive enzymes with consequent fat malabsorption and diarrhea. The inhibition of absorption of sodium and water by the small intestine results in a secretory diarrhea [28]. Malabsorption and weight loss may occur in patients with longstanding untreated disease [29]. The diagnosis of gastrinoma is usually delayed of an average of 8 years from the start of symptoms to diagnosis, this is mostly due to the widespread use of proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) which can conceal ZES symptoms [30, 31].

Refractory gastric hyperacidemia, recurrence of ulcers despite maximal medical therapy, and presence of large, multiple ulcers should arise a high level of suspicion. Measurement of fasting serum gastrin is suggested to diagnose ZES: high gastrin levels (often ten times the upper normal value) and low gastric pH are required to perform diagnosis [8, 32]. However, 50–60% of patients with ZES have serum gastrin concentrations less than ten times the upper normal value (generally between 150 and 1000 pg/mL), so fasting gastrin alone is not adequate for a conclusive diagnosis of ZES. Moreover, hypergastrinemia may be observed in other conditions than ZES such as hypochlorhydric conditions (PPIs use, chronic atrophic autoimmune gastritis), antral G cell hyperplasia, gastrojejunostomy, hypercalcemia, and chronic renal impairment (Table 5.2). PPIs should be discontinued 2 weeks before serum gastrin evaluation, a switch to high doses of H2 blockers is recommended in order to prevent peptic complications [16, 33, 34].

Provocative tests can be used for gastrinoma diagnoses when serum fasting gastrin is mildly increased, or in patients undergoing PPIs treatment [9]. The secretin stimulation test is the most used provocative test for the diagnosis of gastrinomas having high sensitivity and specific-

Table 5.2 Conditions associated with hypergastrinemia in relation to gastric acid secretion

Decreased acid secretion	Normal or increased acid
(pH > 5)	secretion $(pH < 5)$
Chronic autoimmune	Gastrin secreting tumor
atrophic gastritis	Antral G cell hyperplasia
Proton pump	Duodenal ulcer
inhibitors/H-2 blockers	Retained antrum
intake	syndrome
H. pylori infection	Pyloric stenosis
Vagotomy	Hypercalcemia
Gastric cancer without	Massive bowel resection
the involvement of the	Chronic renal impairment
gastric antrum	

ity (94% and 100%, respectively) and can differentiate patients with gastrinomas from those with hypergastrinemia from different causes. The test consists of the administration of secretin (2 U/kg body weight) by intravenous bolus; serum gastrin is measured at baseline (15 and and 30 min after secretin administration. An increase of ≥ 120 pg/mL at any time during the test confirms the diagnosis [16, 17] (Fig. 5.2). Additional stimulation tests can be considered in the case of an inconclusive secretin test. The calcium stimulation test is the most used in the presence of high clinical suspicion for ZES with a negative secretin test [35]. Serum gastrin is assessed every 30 min after the administration of calcium gluconate (5 mg/kg) over 3 h. An increase in serum gastrin >20% from baseline, usually with gastrin above 300 pg/mL, is conclusive for diagnosis. Additionally, the glucagon test is used for the diagnosis of gastrinomas. Glucagon is infused at 20 µg/kg/h for 30 min; an increase over the baseline within 10 min in presence of circulating gastrin over 200 pg/mL is suggestive for gastrinoma [36]. The glucagon test can also be used postoperatively, as a measure of surgical efficacy: a negative response representing a sign of adequate tumor removal and being associated with a decreased chance of recurrence [37]. Finally, the basal acid output





Fig. 5.2 Positive secretin stimulation test in a patient affected by gastrin secreting tumors. Plasma gastrin levels were measured at -30 and 0 time, and 2, 5, 10, 15, 20, and 30 min after intravenous secretin infusion

(BAO) can support the diagnosis of ZES: a BAO >15 mmol/h is suggestive for this diagnosis [9].

5.2.4 Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide (VIP)

Vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) is a neurotransmitter, belonging to the secretin-glucagon family, composed of 28 amino acids. VIP physiologically acts as a neuromodulator and not as a hormone. VIP is released from neurons and peripheral ganglia in several tissues throughout the GI tract, in the urogenital system, respiratory tract, blood vessel, and in the central nervous system in the suprachiasmatic nuclei of the hypothalamus. On the digestive system, VIP has several effects: vasodilatation, smooth muscle regulation, stimulation of water and electrolyte secretion from the GI tract, inhibition of gastric acid secretion, and increase of blood flow in the GI tract. These effects work together to increase GI motility. Moreover, VIP promotes insulin and glucagon secretion [16].

VIP secreting tumors, namely VIPomas, are rare tumors occurring both in children and adults, with an incidence ranging from 0.05% to 2.0% [38]. In adults, they are mostly located in the pancreatic tail [39], while a small proportion of VIP secreting tumors has been reported in association to colorectal cancer, lung cancer, pheochromocytoma, neurofibroma, and ganglioneuroblastoma. The majority of VIPomas present as isolated tumors, but in about 5% of patients, they are part of the MEN1 syndrome [4]. More than 50% of VIPomas have metastasized by the time of diagnosis. In children, VIPomas are typically diagnosed at 2-4 years and typically occur in ganglioneuroma and neuroblastoma [40].

Due to VIP effects as a potent stimulator of intestinal secretion and inhibitor of gastric acid secretion, VIPoma is characterized by watery diarrhea, hypokalemia, and achlorhydria (hence WDHA syndrome or pancreatic cholera syndrome, also called Verner Morrison syndrome). In the WDHA syndrome, the watery diarrhea is chronic with a fasting stool volume from 750 to

1000 mL/day, resulting in dehydration, hypokalemia, achlorhydria, acidosis, hyperglycemia, and vasodilation. Watery diarrhea may be intermittent at the onset, but it can rapidly escalate and reach a volume of 15-20 L per day, causing profound fluid and electrolyte imbalance. Hypokalemic acidosis is due to bicarbonate and potassium loss across the bowel mucosa; it may provoke asthenia and tetanic contraction. Gastric achlorhydria occurs in 50% of patients only, while hypochlorhydria is usually present. Abdominal pain and weight loss are also common features. Vasodilation causing flushing and hypotension mimics the classical midgut carcinoid syndrome. Finally, hypercalcemia can be observed due to VIP direct action on bone metabolism [23].

In physiological conditions, VIP circulates in low quantities, so even increases of 20–50% can be significant, therefore it has a high specificity; however, data on its sensitivity are lacking.

5.2.5 Glucagon

Glucagon is a 29-amino acid peptide hormone secreted by pancreatic α cells and from the L cells in the intestinal mucosa. In the pancreas, proglucagon is processed to produce glucagon, glicentin-related peptide, intervening peptide, and the major glucagon fragment. Intestinal proglucagon undergoes alternative posttranslational processing that generates glicentin, glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP1), and glucagonlike peptide 2 (GLP2) [4]. Glucagon's main action is to raise blood glucose levels, stimulating glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis, with an opposite action compared to insulin. Glucagon is released in response to hypoglycemia, amino acid ingestions, increased catecholamines, and ghrelin. On the other hand, glucagon is inhibited by hyperglycemia, insulin, somatostatin, and GLP-1 [41, 42].

Glucagon secreting tumors, named glucagonomas, are rare tumors with an annual incidence ranging from 0.01 to 0.1 per 100,000 [43]. They typically arise from the tail or the body of the pancreas due to the high prevalence of alpha cells in this area. More than 50% are metastatic at the time of diagnosis.

Excessive secretion of glucagon from the tumor causes a clinical syndrome called "4D syndrome," consisting of dermatosis (necrolytic migratory erythema), diabetes, deep vein thrombosis, and depression. Weight loss, diarrhea, and mucosal abnormalities (i.e., stomatitis, cheilitis, and glossitis) may also be observed [44–46]. Necrolytic migratory erythema, which is present in up to 90% of the patients, usually appears as an itchy rash on the perineum, thighs, and distal extremities prone to secondary infections. The pathophysiology of this dermatological manifestation has not been clarified, but it is thought to be secondary to a combination of poor nutrition, low zinc, and amino acid levels.

Elevated plasma glucagon levels, above 500 pg/ml (normal value <150 pg/mL), are usually observed only in the presence of glucagonomas [47]. Also, glicentin could be measured resulting markedly increased.

Mild elevation in glucagon levels can be observed in different conditions, such as cirrhosis, untreated diabetes mellitus, prolonged fasting, sepsis, burns, and Cushing's syndrome [17].

5.2.6 Somatostatin

Somatostatin is a peptide hormone secreted from the delta cells of the pancreas, the gastric antral D cells, and the APUD (Amine Precursor Uptake and Decarboxylation) cells [48]. Somatostatin acts on the anterior pituitary inhibiting the release of growth hormone (GH) and thyroid-stimulating hormone, adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), and prolactin [49]. In the neuro GI system, somatostatin suppresses the secretion of several gastrointestinal and pancreatic hormones such as pancreatic polypeptide (PP), glucagon, cholecystokinin, gastrin, secretin, cholecystokinin, VIP, gastric inhibitory polypeptide, motilin, and neurotensin [49]. In addition, somatostatin has a direct inhibitory effect on gastric acid secretion and reduces smooth muscle contractions and bowel motility [4].

Somatostatinoma are rare neoplasms with an incidence of 1 in 40 million individuals [50]. They are localized in the pancreas in up to 70%of the cases, while other common sites include duodenum (19%), ampulla of Vater (3%), and small bowel (3%) [49, 51]. Reports exist of rare instances of extra-GI primaries [52]. Somatostatinoma can be sporadic or may occur in association with familial syndromes such as MEN1 (40 to 50% of cases), neurofibromatosis type 1, and Von Hippel-Lindau syndrome. The most common manifestations include cholelithiasis, which is present in almost 70% of the cases, and diabetes mellitus in 60% of the cases [51]. Rarely, somatostatinomas manifest as a triad of diabetes mellitus, cholelithiasis, and steatorrhea referred to as inhibitory syndrome due to the suppression of insulin, cholecystokinin, and pancreatic exocrine enzymes, respectively. Moreover, hypochlorhydria can be observed due to the inhibition of gastrin secretion [48, 49]. However, in most cases, somatostatinoma is detected in an advanced stage in presence of mass effect or in presence of metastases with clinical manifestations.

Somatostatinomas usually present elevated fasting serum somatostatin levels (greater than 14 mmol/l) [51]. However, serum somatostatin levels have been reported to be increased in other endocrine neoplasms such as medullary thyroid cancer, lung cancer, pheochromocytoma, and paraganglioma [48, 49].

5.2.7 Other Circulating Markers

Several peptide hormones have been reported to be secreted from NENs arising in different sites. Hereby we present the main circulating markers which have been recognized to cause a clinical syndrome. Besides, other peptides have been rarely reported to be secreted in NEN, even if often localized in extra GI and pancreatic site.

5.2.7.1 Adrenocorticotropic Hormone (ACTH)

Adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) is a 39-amino acid hormone secreted from the

anterior pituitary gland. ACTH is part of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. It is synthesized in response to the hormone corticotropinreleasing hormone (CRH) released from the hypothalamus and acts on the adrenal gland increasing the production and release of cortisol.

For these reasons, an excess of ACTH leads to an increased secretion of cortisol outlining a Cushing syndrome. Typical features include muscle weakness, increased body weight, hypertension, hyperglycemia, hypokalemia, infections, bruising, osteoporosis, and psychiatric disorders [53].

ACTH ectopic secretion accounts for 10% to 20% of all cases of Cushing syndrome [53]. The source of ectopic ACTH syndrome is usually a small cell lung cancer, bronchial carcinoid, medullary thyroid cancer, and pheochromocytoma [54, 55].

5.2.7.2 Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone (CRH)

Corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) is a 41-amino acid peptide derived from a 191-amino acid precursor. CRH acts as hormone and neurotransmitter on the posterior pituitary stimulating ACTH synthesis in stress response. CRH is produced by parvocellular neuroendocrine cells (contained within the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus). CRH secreting tumors are rare, and they may occur in patients with medullary thyroid cancer (about 33%) and pheochromocytoma (19%), small-cell lung carcinoma (about 10%), and small intestine NEN (5%) [56, 57].

CRH secretion from tumors results in increased ACTH levels. Thus, the main clinical features are those of Cushing's syndrome as reported above. Levels of cortisol are elevated (>900 nmol/l) as ACTH, dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEA-S). Overnight administration of dexamethasone does not suppress cortisol secretion [56].

5.2.7.3 Growth Hormone-Releasing Hormone (GHRH)

Growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH) is a 44-amino acid hormone released from neurosecretory nerve terminals of the arcuate neurons in the hypothalamus and acts on the anterior pituitary, where it stimulates the secretion of growth hormone (GH).

An increase in GHRH levels results in GH hypersecretion and acromegaly. Several hypothalamic tumors, such as hamartomas, gliomas, and gangliocytomas, may produce GHRH. Peripheral GHRH levels are usually not elevated in patients with hypothalamic GHRH-secreting tumors, as GHRH secretion into the hypophyseal portal system does not appreciably enter the systemic circulation. Excessive ectopic peripheral production of GHRH has been reported in several tumors, including pulmonary NENs and small-cell lung cancers (54%), pancreatic NENs (30%), smallintestine NENs (7%), adrenal adenomas, and pheochromocytomas. In these cases, peripheral GHRH levels are usually elevated. GHRH plasma levels evaluation provides a precise and costeffective test for the diagnosis of ectopic acromegaly. Thus, elevated circulating GHRH levels in presence of a non-enlarged pituitary gland should drive the suspect of extra-pituitary production of GHRH [58].

5.2.7.4 Calcitonin

Calcitonin is a 32-amino acid peptide released from non-follicular C-cells of the thyroid. It is produced as a 136-amino acid precursor (procalcitonin) and processed in secretory granules to the active form. The synthesis and release of calcitonin are closely related to calcium serum levels.

Inappropriate secretion of calcitonin results in hypercalcemia. Calcitonin is raised in medullary thyroid cancer, where concentration may thousand-fold be the reference range. Medullary thyroid cancers frequently arise as part of MEN type 2 (MEN2) syndrome. Also, calcitonin has been reported to be raised in other solid neoplasms including pancreatic and pulmonary NENs, pheochromocytomas, neuromas, breast, prostate, and colorectal carcinomas [59, 60]. Usually, ectopic-produced calcitonin is a large molecule without biochemical activity [4].

5.3 Nonspecific Biomarkers

Several families of secretory proteins can be found in high concentrations in neuroendocrine cells and, in particular, in NENs, and these include the granins, neuron-specific enolase (NSE), and pancreatic polypeptide (PP). The chromogranin family consists of at least three different water-soluble acidic glycoproteins [chromogranin A (CgA), chromogranin B (CgB), and secretogranin II, sometimes called chromogranin C]. Both CgA and NSE show increased concentration levels in many NEN patients. CgA is the most commonly used biomarker for NEN disease, although its utility is controversial [61]. However, CgA is the only general biomarker that has been extensively investigated [61–63].

5.3.1 Chromogranin A (CgA)

Chromogranin A (CgA), which is an acidic glycoprotein of 439 amino acids and a molecular mass of 48 kDa, secreted by neurons and neuroendocrine cells, belongs to the granin family [64]. All granins—including CgB and C—are precursors of biologically active substances, involved in a series of biological pathways controlling protein (peptides, hormones, neurotransmitters, and growth factors) secretion upon secretagogue stimulation. CgA-derived peptides include vasostatins [65], pancreastatin [66], and catestatin [67]. Although all granins may be considered as biochemical markers of NENs, as recently reported for vasostatin [68], CgA is the only one routinely used in clinical practice. CgA is synthesized at the rough endoplasmic reticulum, then transported to the Golgi complex, packaged together with other secretory proteins (i.e., hormones and peptides) into immature granules, and then secreted by mature granules by exocytosis [61, 69]. The assessment of circulating CgA levels can be performed by several commercially available kits, which differ in methodology but all rely on antibody-dependent assays such as enzyme-linked immunosorbent (ELISA), assay immunoradiometric assay

(IRMA), radioimmunoassay (RIA), and the more recent immunofluorescent assay based on timeresolved amplified cryptate emission (TRACE). Recently, a further method has been described [70] which employed a non-labeled monoclonal anti-CgA antibody and demonstrated highly sensitive CgA detection. CgA may be assessed in plasma or serum. A significant, positive relationship (r = 0.9858, p < 0.0001) has been reported between serum and plasma CgA, suggesting that either measurement provides an adequate estimate of circulating CgA [71].

Independently from the method used, CgA is found throughout the diffuse neuroendocrine system and has shown an overall sensitivity of 96% and 75% in functioning and nonfunctioning NENs, respectively, and a specificity ranging from 68% to 100% [72-77]. These diagnostic performances are only estimates of real operative characteristics of CgA, and these estimates often came from heterogeneous, undersized, casecontrol, uncontrolled studies. Nevertheless, CgA is generally considered a sensitive neuroendocrine marker, whereas its specificity might decrease (up to 68%), as it can be falsely positive in several conditions. CgA can raise in patients with other malignancies such as prostate cancer, small-cell lung cancer, breast cancer, colon-rectal cancer [78, 79], pancreatic adenocarcinoma, and hepatocellular cancer [2, 80] and different settings, including PPI therapy, steroids, and other drugs, chronic atrophic gastritis type A, renal insufficiency, untreated hypertension, liver disease, and inflammatory bowel disease [5, 81] (Table 5.3). Of note, treatment with PPIs induces hypergastrinemia, which in turn results in hyperplasia of enterochromaffin-like neuroendocrine cells; CgA levels can, therefore, increase (up to seven to tenfold) in patients undergoing therapy with PPIs, and elevated concentrations can be observed up to 2 weeks following treatment discontinuation [82]. Moreover, CgA should always be measured in the fasting state, as food intake is likely to increase CgA levels, therefore, increasing the risk of false positives [83]. Furthermore, CgA levels are not always increased in all the patients with NENs, and normal levels can be found in almost all appendiceal NENs, most insulinomas, many

Conditions
Neoplasms
Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs)
Non-neuroendocrine neoplasms (prostate cancer,
small-cell lung cancer, breast cancer, colon-rectal
cancer, pancreatic adenocarcinoma, hepatocellular
carcinoma, ovary cancer)
Diseases of the cardiovascular system
Hypertension, heart failure, acute coronary syndrome,
giant cells arteritis
Renal diseases
Renal insufficiency
Gastrointestinal and liver diseases
Chronic autoimmune atrophic gastritis, inflammatory
bowel diseases, chronic hepatitis, liver cirrhosis,
pancreatitis
Endocrine diseases
Pheochromocytoma, hyperparathyroidism, pituitary
tumors, medullary thyroid carcinoma, hyperthyroidisr
Systemic inflammatory diseases
Systemic rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus
erythematosus, chronic bronchitis
Medications
Proton pump inhibitors (PPIs), H-2 blockers intake,

Table 5.3 Conditions associated with increased levels of Chromogranin A (CgA)

pulmonary NENs, tumors in the duodenum and rectum, some MEN-1 cases as well as poorly differentiated NEN [72, 84]. Caution is therefore suggested in its interpretation. In addition, one should keep in mind that CgA should not be considered a viable tool for screening [85].

steroids

While its role in tumor diagnosis is limited by several confounding factors, CgA is currently the most used liquid biomarker in the follow-up of NENs, as its concentration well correlates with disease progression and response to treatment [62, 86], and a correlation between tumor burden and serum CgA has been proven as well. In fact, both advanced tumor stages and the presence of metastases correlate with serum CgA levels [87, 88]; furthermore, a reduction in serum CgA concentrations in subjects undergoing treatment is a suggested surrogate marker of response to therapy. CgA levels decrease in cases of an adequate response, possibly even to the point of normalization, whereas persistently high concentrations are associated with poor clinical prognosis [62, 89, 90]. However, the measurement of CgA is less reliable than advanced imaging techniques, such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or computed tomography (CT), which can also provide the morphological information needed for RECIST criteria (Response Evaluation Criteria In Solid Tumors) [91] and which can, therefore, provide additional information concerning the outcomes of treatment.

According to a recent meta-analysis, CgA seems to be an accurate marker to detect tumor recurrence/progression of GEP-NENs, and CgA levels should be always measured at first diagnosis and repeated during follow-up, particularly in those patients with baseline impaired levels [63].

In summary, CgA seems to be a reliable marker to monitor disease progression and response to treatment and for the early detection of recurrence after treatment, thus being more useful in the follow-up setting rather than in the diagnostic phase [63]. However, further studies are warranted to draw more robust conclusions, including specific cutoff levels to detect tumor recurrence.

5.3.2 Chromogranin B (CgB)

Chromogranin B (CgB) is the second most abundant member of the chromogranin family. Like CgA, it is a strongly acid protein containing approximately 25% acidic amino acid residues. It has 14 dibasic cleavage points but has been less well studied than CgA. Of note, CgB seems not to be affected by renal failure, atrophic gastritis, PPI therapy, and in tumors where CgA is not found (e.g., MEN1 patients and duodenal or rectal NENs), CgB may be increased, which explains the interest to measure CgB in addition to CgA in patients with GEP NENs [4, 23]. However, no robust evidence is available regarding the possible role of CgB as a neuroendocrine marker.

5.3.3 Neuron-Specific Enolase (NSE)

Neuron-specific enolase (NSE) is the neuronspecific isomer of the glycolytic enzyme 2-phospho-D-glycerate hydroxylase or enolase and is found in neurons and neuroendocrine cells.
NSE levels seem not to be related to any secretory activity of the tumor [10, 92]. NSE was introduced as a marker for neuroendocrine cells particularly to be used in the diagnosis of malignant tumors, and it was the first marker used to identify neuroendocrine cells [93]. However, assessment of NSE alone is rarely adequate for diagnostic purposes of NENs, given that only 30 to 50% of them secrete NSE [8, 77, 94]; additionally, NSE has low specificity and sensibility for differentiating NEN from non-endocrine tumors [7]. In fact, patients with other diseases, including thyroid cancer, prostate carcinoma, neuroblastoma, and small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC), often show elevated levels of NSE [47], whereas patients suffering from neuronal damage exhibit decreased levels of NSE [95]. Of note, whenever a pulmonary mass is present, the detection of increased NSE levels is generally suggestive of an underlying SCLC with a negative prognostic significance. In details, overexpression of NSE by all tumors, including NENs, is usually suggestive of poorly differentiated tumors, and thus of poor prognosis for higher grade cancers [47]. Furthermore, the persistence of increased NSE levels after treatment is usually considered a negative prognostic marker for SCLC, even if the actual significance of posttreatment NSE levels for NENs is far from being clearly understood. In the recent study by Yao et al. [96], data on the impact of biomarkers on overall survival (OS) from the RADIANT-3 study were analyzed and NSE turned back to represent a poor prognostic factor for OS.

In summary, assessing NSE and CgA at the same time as part of the diagnostic process could increase the reliability of their measurement, providing further proof of the presence of an NEN; however, given the nonspecific nature of both markers, these tests provide little information concerning the site of the primary tumor.

5.3.4 Pancreatic Polypeptide (PP)

Pancreatic polypeptide (PP) is a single chain, 36-aminoacid peptide arising from the PP cells of the pancreas and is expressed in neuroendocrine cells of the gut and the pancreas. The function of PP is to self-regulate pancreatic secretion activities (endocrine and exocrine), and it also has effects on hepatic glycogen levels and GI secretions [8, 97]. Before methods for the measurements of CgA were available, PP was used as a general marker for NENs, although it is poorly specific. As a matter of fact, PP has been generally considered a marginal NEN marker with poor utility in everyday clinical practice, due to its low sensitivity and specificity (63% and 81%, respectively) [6]; in fact, less than half of pancreatic NEN patients show elevated serum PP [7]. Furthermore, serum concentrations of PP can be increased in several conditions, such as physical exercise, hypoglycemia, food intake, renal impairment, chronic inflammation, alcoholism, and elder age [8], as well as decreased by somatostatin and hyperglycemia. Moreover, PP has shown to be impaired in acute and chronic pancreatitis, even if determining PP in pancreatitis is quite controversial [98]. It has been hypothesized that the combination of PP with another marker, most commonly CgA, may increase diagnostic capability [99, 100], even if the diagnostic efficacy for the combination of CgA, PP, and gastrin analyzed in the setting of MEN-1 patients was still very low (AUC = 59.6%) [101, 102]. Given that 93% of its secretion can be traced back to the F cells in the pancreas [97], PP has always been considered most likely suggestive for pancreatic NENs; nevertheless the specificity of PP for the pancreatic origin of the primary tumor is not satisfactory as increased serum levels of PP have been reported in other GI NENs as well [7], thus caution is mandatory when interpreting PP level alterations. However, a decline in PP levels after any treatment can be considered as a good prognostic marker.

5.3.5 Human Chorionic Gonadotropin and Alpha-Fetoprotein

Human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) is a heterodimeric glycoprotein that is physiologically synthesized during pregnancy by the placenta. As a protein heterodimer, hCG is composed of two different subunits, named α and β with different characteristics. The α subunit is basically shared with the pituitary hormones such as LH (luteinizing hormone), FSH (follicle-stimulating hormone), and TSH (thyroid-stimulating hormone), whereas the β subunit (β -hCG) is unique. Various endocrine tumors, as well as non-endocrine, exhibit different patterns of expression for hCG [103], as tumors often lack the mechanisms to pair the two subunits. In detail, pituitary tumors and NENs are often characterized by increased expression of α subunit, while the β subunit is often secreted by pancreatic tumors. However, hCG is rarely used in everyday clinical practice for NENs [17].

Alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) is a peptide hormone produced by the yolk sac and the fetal liver during development. In adults, AFP has been historically considered as a biomarker for hepatocellular carcinoma [104] and testicular nonseminomatous germ cell cancer [105]. Increased serum AFP levels have been reported in NENs, suggesting its possible role as a marker for diagnosis [106, 107]; however, more recent evidence suggests that AFP might play a role as a marker of cellular dedifferentiation rather than representing a biomarker per se [108]. The decrease of AFP often highlights an adequate treatment, although the validity of this finding in the context of NENs is still far from being clearly understood.

In testicular tumors, combining hCG with other similar markers, such as AFP, could improve the efficacy of the measurement [108]. However, assessment of hCG and AFP is generally not recommended in NENs, since both lack the sensitivity or specificity of CgA.

5.4 Novel Circulating Markers

Since 1942, at least 40 circulating monoanalytes of different sensitivity and specificity have been developed [72]. The most recent developments have explored the use of new molecular marker technologies: in particular, a great interest has focused on the development of methods to detect circulating tumor cells (CTC), molecular multianalytes (miRNA), and circulating gene transcripts (known as NETest[®]). However, even if encouraging results have been found so far, these markers are costly and they have not yet been incorporated into routine clinical practice.

5.4.1 Circulating Tumor Cells (CTC)

Circulating tumor cells (CTCs) are released into the bloodstream from both primary tumor and secondary sites of disease and are considered metastatic precursors [109]. CTCs were first detected in patients with NEN in 2011 [110]. Khan and colleagues [111] demonstrated epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM) expression in NEN by immunohistochemistry. In details, in 79 patients with metastatic NENs, CTCs were detected in the midgut (43%), pancreatic (21%), and bronchopulmonary NENs (31%), and of note, the presence of CTCs had a prognostic significance as it was associated with disease progression, whereas their absence correlated with stable disease. Again, further evidence suggested that CTCs were associated with increased burden, increased tumor grade, elevated CgA, worse progression-free survival, and OS, being an independent prognostic factor for survival [112].

5.4.2 miRNA

The miRNAs are a family of 21- to 25-nucleotide small RNAs that regulate gene expression at the posttranscriptional level by binding to target RNAs, resulting in RNA degradation and inhibition of translation [113]. Several studies have reported the expression of miRNAs in pulmonary carcinoids [114–116], whereas data on GEP-NENs are scarce. However, both pancreatic and small bowel NEN progression appears to be characterized by a differential pattern of miRNA expression, even if with very little or no application of these findings in routine clinical practice so far.

5.4.3 Circulating Gene Transcripts

A multianalyte transcript assay with algorithmic analysis, namely NETest®, has been recently developed for NENs, and its efficacy has been compared with CgA. The NETest ® allows the objective measurement of multiple NEN-related genes in the blood [117]. The test is based on mRNA extraction from ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)-treated blood and subsequent cDNA production measured by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) [118]. Results are expressed as an activity index (NETest score) from 0 to 100 [119]. The normal score cutoff is less than 20%; NETest values between 21% and 40% represent stable disease, while values 41 and 100 reflect progressive disease [120]. The direct analysis of NEN-related genes limits the risk of test alterations due to food, medication, gender, ethnicity, or age [121]. According to available studies, NETtest appears to be more accurate than CgA for both NEN diagnosis [121] and in the followup phase [119]. As regard the diagnosis, NETest[®] accurately correlates with CT/MRI (92%) and functional imaging (94%) [120]. In the follow-up of GEP-NEN patients, the NETest® had demonstrated both prognostic and predictive utility. NETest® is effective in assessing the response of surgical treatment, SSA therapy, and peptide receptor radionuclide therapy. Moreover, the test has been shown to precede radiological progression by 6-24 months, allowing early implementation of effective treatment [119, 120, 122, 123].

However, to date, NETtest[®] is far more costly and less widely used than CgA in routine clinical practice.

5.5 Conclusion

Numerous biochemical markers have been identified which might be useful in the diagnosis and the follow-up of GEP-NENs; however, only a few are characterized by satisfactory both specificity and sensitivity. Circulating tumor biomarkers can be divided into general and specific biomarkers, the latter characterizing specific clinical syndromes (Table 5.1). F. Cavalcoli et al.

Among generic markers, CgA is the best known, available and used marker. However, it is not highly specific to GEP-NENs as it can be found in other malignancies and other non-tumor– related conditions. According to a recent metaanalysis [63], CgA seems to be more reliable when used to monitor disease progression and response to treatment and for the early detection of recurrence after treatment rather than in the diagnostic setting. It is not useful as a screening test.

Of note, new biomarkers have been developed with the use of new technological molecules: circulating tumor cells, molecular multianalytes (miRNAs), and circulating gene transcripts (NETest[®]) [72]. According to a recent study, the NETest[®] seems the most encouraging tool and probably it should be preferred over CgA in both the diagnostic and the follow-up setting due to its better accuracy [124]. However, these new markers are costly and not widely available in everyday clinical practice, and as a matter of fact, CgA is still considered as the most available general biomarker for NENs [6].

The dosage of specific markers is useful for marking the presence of clinical syndrome rather than a tumor. Specific markers include 5-HIAA, insulin, gastrin, VIP, glucagon, somatostatin, and GHRH. Among them, 5-HIAA is an accurate marker for carcinoid syndrome and its accuracy is particularly elevated when its levels are twofold the upper normal limit. Furthermore, a strong correlation between 5-HIAA circulating levels and carcinoid heart disease onset and progression has been observed, which needs to be taken into account in the clinical evaluation of patients with carcinoid syndrome.

In summary, circulating biomarkers both general and specific offer a useful diagnostic tool in conjunction with radiology and tissue pathology for NENs. It is important to keep in mind that biomarkers both general and specific should be measured when there is a strong suspicion of NEN and never as a screening tool due to the high numbers of false-positive results; moreover, they are still widely used in the clinical practice, although caution is necessary when interpreting their results due to the high number of confounding factors that might affect their accuracy. They are more reliable when used in the follow-up of GEP-NEN patients rather than in the diagnostic setting. Biomarkers of diagnostic and prognostic value for NENs are urgently needed to improve patient management and tailor the therapeutic approach for each patient.

Conflict-of-Interest Statement No conflicting interests (including but not limited to commercial, personal, political, intellectual, or religious interests) to declare.

References

- Warner RR. Enteroendocrine tumors other than carcinoid: a review of clinically significant advances. Gastroenterology. 2005;128(6):1668–84.
- Modlin IM, Gustafsson BI, Moss SF, Pavel M, Tsolakis AV, Kidd M. Chromogranin A--biological function and clinical utility in neuro endocrine tumor disease. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(9):2427– 43. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-010-1006-3.
- Kilpatrick ES, Lind MJ. Appropriate requesting of serum tumour markers. BMJ. 2009;339:b3111. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b3111.
- Ardill JE. Circulating markers for endocrine tumours of the gastroenteropancreatic tract. Ann Clin Biochem. 2008;45(Pt 6):539–59. https://doi. org/10.1258/acb.2008.008039.
- Massironi S, Sciola V, Peracchi M, Ciafardini C, Spampatti MP, Conte D. Neuroendocrine tumors of the gastro-entero-pancreatic system. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14(35):5377–84.
- Oberg K. Circulating biomarkers in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2011;18(Suppl 1):S17–25. https://doi. org/10.1530/ERC-10-0280.
- Hofland J, Zandee WT, de Herder WW. Role of biomarker tests for diagnosis of neuroendocrine tumours. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2018;14(11):656–69. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-018-0082-5.
- Kanakis G, Kaltsas G. Biochemical markers for gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours (GEP-NETs). Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2012;26(6):791–802. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bpg.2012.12.006.
- O'Toole D, Grossman A, Gross D, Delle Fave G, Barkmanova J, O'Connor J, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine tumors: biochemical markers. Neuroendocrinology. 2009;90(2):194–202. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000225948.
- Vinik AI, Gonzales MR. New and emerging syndromes due to neuroendocrine tumors. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 2011;40(1):19–63., vii. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ecl.2010.12.010.

- Falconi M, Bartsch DK, Eriksson B, Klöppel G, Lopes JM, O'Connor JM, et al. ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms of the digestive system: well-differentiated pancreatic non-functioning tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95(2):120–34. https://doi.org/10.1159/000335587.
- 12. Falconi M, Eriksson B, Kaltsas G, Bartsch DK, Capdevila J, Caplin M, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines update for the management of patients with functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and non-functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(2):153–71. https://doi.org/10.1159/000443171.
- Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Grossman AB, Gross DJ. Carcinoid heart disease: from pathophysiology to treatment—'something in the way it moves'. Neuroendocrinology. 2015;101(4):263–73. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000381930.
- Steeds RP, Sagar V, Shetty S, Oelofse T, Singh H, Ahmad R, et al. Multidisciplinary team management of carcinoid heart disease. Endocr Connect. 2019;8(12):R184–R99. https://doi.org/10.1530/ EC-19-0413.
- Kema IP, de Vries EG, Muskiet FA. Measurement of 5-HIAA in urine. Ann Clin Biochem. 1995;32(Pt 1):102–4. https://doi. org/10.1177/000456329503200117.
- Sansone A, Lauretta R, Vottari S, Chiefari A, Barnabei A, Romanelli F, et al. Specific and nonspecific biomarkers in neuroendocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors. Cancers (Basel). 2019;11(8): 1113. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11081113.
- Grimaldi F, Fazio N, Attanasio R, Frasoldati A, Papini E, Angelini F, et al. Italian Association of Clinical Endocrinologists (AME) position statement: a stepwise clinical approach to the diagnosis of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. J Endocrinol Investig. 2014;37(9):875–909. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s40618-014-0119-0.
- Ramage JK, Ahmed A, Ardill J, Bax N, Breen DJ, Caplin ME, et al. Guidelines for the management of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine (including carcinoid) tumours (NETs). Gut. 2012;61(1):6–32. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300831.
- Mashige F, Matsushima Y, Kanazawa H, Sakuma I, Takai N, Bessho F, et al. Acidic catecholamine metabolites and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid in urine: the influence of diet. Ann Clin Biochem. 1996;33(Pt 1):43–9. https://doi. org/10.1177/000456329603300106.
- Tirosh A, Nilubol N, Patel D, Kebebew E. Prognostic utility of 24-hour urinary 5-HIAA doubling time in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Pract. 2018;24(8):710–7. https://doi.org/10.4158/ EP-2018-0022.
- Laskaratos FM, Walker M, Wilkins D, Tuck A, Ramakrishnan S, Phillips E, et al. Evaluation of clinical prognostic factors and further delinea-

tion of the effect of mesenteric fibrosis on survival in advanced midgut neuroendocrine tumours. Neuroendocrinology. 2018;107(3):292–304. https://doi.org/10.1159/000493317.

- Kaufmann JE, Irminger JC, Halban PA. Sequence requirements for proinsulin processing at the B-chain/C-peptide junction. Biochem J. 1995;310(Pt 3):869–74. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj3100869.
- Ardill JE, O'Dorisio TM. Circulating biomarkers in neuroendocrine tumors of the enteropancreatic tract: application to diagnosis, monitoring disease, and as prognostic indicators. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 2010;39(4):777–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecl.2010.09.001.
- 24. de Herder WW, Niederle B, Scoazec JY, Pauwels S, Kloppel G, Falconi M, et al. Well-differentiated pancreatic tumor/carcinoma: insulinoma. Neuroendocrinology. 2006;84(3):183–8. https://doi. org/10.1159/000098010.
- Shulkes A, Baldwin G. Chapter 165 gastrin. In: Kastin AJ, editor. Handbook of biologically active peptides. Academic Press; 2013. p. 1219–26.
- Norton JA, Foster DS, Ito T, Jensen RT. Gastrinomas: medical or surgical treatment. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 2018;47(3):577–601. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecl.2018.04.009.
- Roy PK, Venzon DJ, Shojamanesh H, Abou-Saif A, Peghini P, Doppman JL, et al. Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Clinical presentation in 261 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 2000;79(6):379–411. https:// doi.org/10.1097/00005792-200011000-00004.
- Rossi RE, Rausa E, Cavalcoli F, Conte D, Massironi S. Duodenal neuroendocrine neoplasms: a still poorly recognized clinical entity. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2018;53(7):835–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/003655 21.2018.1468479.
- Gibril F, Jensen RT. Zollinger-Ellison syndrome revisited: diagnosis, biologic markers, associated inherited disorders, and acid hypersecretion. Curr Gastroenterol Rep. 2004;6(6):454–63. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11894-004-0067-5.
- Krampitz GW, Norton JA. Current management of the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Adv Surg. 2013;47:59–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yasu.2013.02.004.
- 31. Corleto VD, Annibale B, Gibril F, Angeletti S, Serrano J, Venzon DJ, et al. Does the widespread use of proton pump inhibitors mask, complicate and/or delay the diagnosis of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome? Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2001;15(10):1555–61. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2036.2001.01085.x.
- 32. Berna MJ, Hoffmann KM, Serrano J, Gibril F, Jensen RT. Serum gastrin in Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: I. Prospective study of fasting serum gastrin in 309 patients from the National Institutes of Health and comparison with 2229 cases from the literature. Medicine (Baltimore). 2006;85(6):295–330. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. md.0000236956.74128.76.

- Ito T, Cadiot G, Jensen RT. Diagnosis of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: increasingly difficult. World J Gastroenterol. 2012;18(39):5495–503. https://doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v18.i39.5495.
- Poitras P, Gingras MH, Rehfeld JF. The Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: dangers and consequences of interrupting antisecretory treatment. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;10(2):199–202. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2011.08.012.
- Perry RR, Vinik AI. Clinical review 72: diagnosis and management of functioning islet cell tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1995;80(8):2273–8. https:// doi.org/10.1210/jcem.80.8.7629220.
- Shibata C, Kakyo M, Kinouchi M, Tanaka N, Miura K, Naitoh T, et al. Criteria for the glucagon provocative test in the diagnosis of gastrinoma. Surg Today. 2013;43(11):1281–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00595-012-0334-2.
- 37. Shibata C, Funayama Y, Fukushima K, Ueno T, Kohyama A, Satoh K, et al. The glucagon provocative test for the diagnosis and treatment of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. J Gastrointest Surg. 2008;12(2):344–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11605-007-0372-z.
- Ito T, Igarashi H, Jensen RT. Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: clinical features, diagnosis and medical treatment: advances. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2012;26(6):737–53. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bpg.2012.12.003.
- 39. Smith SL, Branton SA, Avino AJ, Martin JK, Klingler PJ, Thompson GB, et al. Vasoactive intestinal polypeptide secreting islet cell tumors: a 15-year experience and review of the literature. Surgery. 1998;124(6):1050–5. https://doi.org/10.1067/ msy.1998.92005.
- Belei OA, Heredea ER, Boeriu E, Marcovici TM, Cerbu S, Mărginean O, et al. Verner-Morrison syndrome. Literature review. Romanian J Morphol Embryol. 2017;58(2):371–6.
- 41. van Beek AP, de Haas ER, van Vloten WA, Lips CJ, Roijers JF, Canninga-van Dijk MR. The glucagonoma syndrome and necrolytic migratory erythema: a clinical review. Eur J Endocrinol. 2004;151(5):531–7. https://doi.org/10.1530/eje.0.1510531.
- Wewer Albrechtsen NJ, Kuhre RE, Pedersen J, Knop FK, Holst JJ. The biology of glucagon and the consequences of hyperglucagonemia. Biomark Med. 2016;10(11):1141–51. https://doi.org/10.2217/ bmm-2016-0090.
- 43. Jensen RT, Cadiot G, Brandi ML, de Herder WW, Kaltsas G, Komminoth P, et al. ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms: functional pancreatic endocrine tumor syndromes. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95(2):98–119. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000335591.
- 44. Tolliver S, Graham J, Kaffenberger BH. A review of cutaneous manifestations within glucagonoma syndrome: necrolytic migratory erythema. Int

J Dermatol. 2018;57(6):642–5. https://doi. org/10.1111/ijd.13947.

- 45. Wermers RA, Fatourechi V, Wynne AG, Kvols LK, Lloyd RV. The glucagonoma syndrome. Clinical and pathologic features in 21 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 1996;75(2):53–63. https://doi. org/10.1097/00005792-199603000-00002.
- Vinik A, Pacak K, Feliberti E, Perry R. Glucagonoma syndrome. South Dartmouth, MA; 2000.
- 47. Appetecchia M, Lauretta R, Rota F, Carlini M. Neuroendocrine tumors biomarkers. In: Carlini M, editor. Abdominal neuroendocrine tumors. Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany: Springer; 2018. p. 65–78.
- Low MJ. Clinical endocrinology and metabolism. The somatostatin neuroendocrine system: physiology and clinical relevance in gastrointestinal and pancreatic disorders. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;18(4):607–22. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.beem.2004.08.005.
- 49. Mozell E, Stenzel P, Woltering EA, Rösch J, O'Dorisio TM. Functional endocrine tumors of the pancreas: clinical presentation, diagnosis, and treatment. Curr Probl Surg. 1990;27(6):301–86. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0011-3840(90)90025-z.
- Williamson JM, Thorn CC, Spalding D, Williamson RC. Pancreatic and peripancreatic somatostatinomas. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 2011;93(5):356–60. https://doi.org/10.1308/003588411X582681.
- Mansour JC, Chen H. Pancreatic endocrine tumors. J Surg Res. 2004;120(1):139–61. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jss.2003.12.007.
- 52. Nesi G, Marcucci T, Rubio CA, Brandi ML, Tonelli F. Somatostatinoma: clinico-pathological features of three cases and literature reviewed. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008;23(4):521–6. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1746.2007.05053.x.
- 53. Ilias I, Torpy DJ, Pacak K, Mullen N, Wesley RA, Nieman LK. Cushing's syndrome due to ectopic corticotropin secretion: twenty years' experience at the National Institutes of Health. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90(8):4955–62. https://doi. org/10.1210/jc.2004-2527.
- Isidori AM, Kaltsas GA, Grossman AB. Ectopic ACTH syndrome. Front Horm Res. 2006;35:143– 56. https://doi.org/10.1159/000094323.
- 55. Isidori AM, Kaltsas GA, Pozza C, Frajese V, Newell-Price J, Reznek RH, et al. The ectopic adrenocorticotropin syndrome: clinical features, diagnosis, management, and long-term follow-up. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91(2):371–7. https://doi. org/10.1210/jc.2005-1542.
- 56. Shahani S, Nudelman RJ, Nalini R, Kim HS, Samson SL. Ectopic corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) syndrome from metastatic small cell carcinoma: a case report and review of the literature. Diagn Pathol. 2010;5:56. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-1596-5-56.
- Zhang HY, Zhao J. Ectopic Cushing syndrome in small cell lung cancer: a case report and literature

review. Thorac Cancer. 2017;8(2):114–7. https://doi. org/10.1111/1759-7714.12403.

- Doga M, Bonadonna S, Burattin A, Giustina A. Ectopic secretion of growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH) in neuroendocrine tumors: relevant clinical aspects. Ann Oncol. 2001;12(Suppl 2):S89–94. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/12. suppl_2.s89.
- 59. Schneider R, Waldmann J, Swaid Z, Ramaswamy A, Fendrich V, Bartsch DK, et al. Calcitonin-secreting pancreatic endocrine tumors: systematic analysis of a rare tumor entity. Pancreas. 2011;40(2):213–21. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPA.0b013e3182015f5d.
- Schwartz KE, Wolfsen AR, Forster B, Odell WD. Calcitonin in nonthyroidal cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1979;49(3):438–44. https://doi. org/10.1210/jcem-49-3-438.
- 61. Marotta V, Zatelli MC, Sciammarella C, Ambrosio MR, Bondanelli M, Colao A, et al. Chromogranin A as circulating marker for diagnosis and management of neuroendocrine neoplasms: more flaws than fame. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2018;25(1):R11–29. https:// doi.org/10.1530/ERC-17-0269.
- 62. Massironi S, Rossi RE, Casazza G, Conte D, Ciafardini C, Galeazzi M, et al. Chromogranin A in diagnosing and monitoring patients with gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: a large series from a single institution. Neuroendocrinology. 2014;100(2–3):240–9. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000369818.
- 63. Rossi RE, Ciafardini C, Sciola V, Conte D, Massironi S. Chromogranin A in the follow-up of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: is it really game over? A systematic review and metaanalysis. Pancreas. 2018;47(10):1249–55. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MPA.000000000001184.
- Taupenot L, Harper KL, O'Connor DT. The chromogranin-secretogranin family. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(12):1134–49. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMra021405.
- 65. Aardal S, Helle KB, Elsayed S, Reed RK, Serck-Hanssen G. Vasostatins, comprising the N-terminal domain of chromogranin A, suppress tension in isolated human blood vessel segments. J Neuroendocrinol. 1993;5(4):405–12. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2826.1993.tb00501.x.
- 66. Tatemoto K, Efendić S, Mutt V, Makk G, Feistner GJ, Barchas JD. Pancreastatin, a novel pancreatic peptide that inhibits insulin secretion. Nature. 1986;324(6096):476–8. https://doi. org/10.1038/324476a0.
- 67. Mahata SK, O'Connor DT, Mahata M, Yoo SH, Taupenot L, Wu H, et al. Novel autocrine feedback control of catecholamine release. A discrete chromogranin a fragment is a noncompetitive nicotinic cholinergic antagonist. J Clin Invest. 1997;100(6): 1623–33. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI119686.
- Corsello A, Di Filippo L, Massironi S, Sileo F, Dolcetta Capuzzo A, Gemma M, et al. Vasostatin-1:

a novel circulating biomarker for ileal and pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. PLoS One. 2018;13(5):e0196858. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0196858.

- O'Connor DT, Deftos LJ. Secretion of chromogranin A by peptide-producing endocrine neoplasms. N Engl J Med. 1986;314(18):1145–51. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJM198605013141803.
- Minamiki T, Minami T, Sasaki Y, Wakida SI, Kurita R, Niwa O, et al. Label-free detection of human glycoprotein (CgA) using an extended-gated organic transistor-based immunosensor. Sensors (Basel). 2016;16(12):2033. https://doi.org/10.3390/ s16122033.
- 71. Woltering EA, Hilton RS, Zolfoghary CM, Thomson J, Zietz S, Go VL, et al. Validation of serum versus plasma measurements of chromogranin a levels in patients with carcinoid tumors: lack of correlation between absolute chromogranin a levels and symptom frequency. Pancreas. 2006;33(3):250–4. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mpa.0000235302.73615.d4.
- 72. Kidd M, Bodei L, Modlin IM. Chromogranin A: any relevance in neuroendocrine tumors? Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2016;23(1):28–37. https://doi.org/10.1097/MED.000000000000215.
- Baudin E, Bidart JM, Bachelot A, Ducreux M, Elias D, Ruffié P, et al. Impact of chromogranin A measurement in the work-up of neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Oncol. 2001;12(Suppl 2):S79–82. https://doi. org/10.1093/annonc/12.suppl_2.s79.
- 74. Zatelli MC, Torta M, Leon A, Ambrosio MR, Gion M, Tomassetti P, et al. Chromogranin A as a marker of neuroendocrine neoplasia: an Italian Multicenter study. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2007;14(2):473–82. https://doi.org/10.1677/ERC-07-0001.
- Arnold R, Wilke A, Rinke A, Mayer C, Kann PH, Klose KJ, et al. Plasma chromogranin A as marker for survival in patients with metastatic endocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008;6(7):820–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cgh.2008.02.052.
- 76. Janson ET, Holmberg L, Stridsberg M, Eriksson B, Theodorsson E, Wilander E, et al. Carcinoid tumors: analysis of prognostic factors and survival in 301 patients from a referral center. Ann Oncol. 1997;8(7):685–90. https://doi.org/10.102 3/a:1008215730767.
- 77. Nobels FR, Kwekkeboom DJ, Coopmans W, Schoenmakers CH, Lindemans J, De Herder WW, et al. Chromogranin A as serum marker for neuroendocrine neoplasia: comparison with neuron-specific enolase and the alpha-subunit of glycoprotein hormones. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82(8):2622– 8. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.82.8.4145.
- Sciarra A, Di Silverio F, Autran AM, Salciccia S, Gentilucci A, Alfarone A, et al. Distribution of high chromogranin A serum levels in patients with nonmetastatic and metastatic prostate adenocarcinoma. Urol Int. 2009;82(2):147–51. https://doi. org/10.1159/000200789.

- Gulubova M, Vlaykova T. Chromogranin A-, serotonin-, synaptophysin- and vascular endothelial growth factor-positive endocrine cells and the prognosis of colorectal cancer: an immunohistochemical and ultrastructural study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008;23(10):1574–85. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1440-1746.2008.05560.x.
- Massironi S, Fraquelli M, Paggi S, Sangiovanni A, Conte D, Sciola V, et al. Chromogranin A levels in chronic liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma. Dig Liver Dis. 2009;41(1):31–5. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.dld.2008.05.002.
- Sciola V, Massironi S, Conte D, Caprioli F, Ferrero S, Ciafardini C, et al. Plasma chromogranin a in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009;15(6):867–71. https://doi. org/10.1002/ibd.20851.
- Giusti M, Sidoti M, Augeri C, Rabitti C, Minuto F. Effect of short-term treatment with low dosages of the proton-pump inhibitor omeprazole on serum chromogranin A levels in man. Eur J Endocrinol. 2004;150(3):299–303. https://doi.org/10.1530/eje.0.1500299.
- 83. Lundell L, Vieth M, Gibson F, Nagy P, Kahrilas PJ. Systematic review: the effects of long-term proton pump inhibitor use on serum gastrin levels and gastric histology. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2015;42(6):649–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/ apt.13324.
- 84. Ardill JE, Erikkson B. The importance of the measurement of circulating markers in patients with neuroendocrine tumours of the pancreas and gut. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2003;10(4):459–62. https:// doi.org/10.1677/erc.0.0100459.
- Ito T, Igarashi H, Jensen RT. Serum pancreastatin: the long sought universal, sensitive, specific tumor marker for neuroendocrine tumors? Pancreas. 2012;41(4):505–7. https://doi.org/10.1097/ MPA.0b013e318249a92a.
- 86. Qiao XW, Qiu L, Chen YJ, Meng CT, Sun Z, Bai CM, et al. Chromogranin A is a reliable serum diagnostic biomarker for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors but not for insulinomas. BMC Endocr Disord. 2014;14:64. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6823-14-64.
- Campana D, Nori F, Piscitelli L, Morselli-Labate AM, Pezzilli R, Corinaldesi R, et al. Chromogranin A: is it a useful marker of neuroendocrine tumors? J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(15):1967–73. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2006.10.1535.
- Yates CJ, Newey PJ, Thakker RV. Challenges and controversies in management of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours in patients with MEN1. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2015;3(11):895–905. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00043-1.
- 89. Pavel ME, Phan AT, Wolin EM, Mirakhur B, Liyanage N, Pitman Lowenthal S, et al. Effect of lanreotide depot/autogel on urinary 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid and plasma Chromogranin A biomarkers in nonfunctional metastatic enteropancreatic neuroendocrine

tumors. Oncologist. 2019;24(4):463–74. https://doi. org/10.1634/theoncologist.2018-0217.

- 90. Wang YH, Yang QC, Lin Y, Xue L, Chen MH, Chen J. Chromogranin A as a marker for diagnosis, treatment, and survival in patients with gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasm. Medicine (Baltimore). 2014;93(27):e247. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000000247.
- Eisenhauer EA, Therasse P, Bogaerts J, Schwartz LH, Sargent D, Ford R, et al. New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). Eur J Cancer. 2009;45(2):228–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2008.10.026.
- 92. Yao JC, Pavel M, Phan AT, Kulke MH, Hoosen S, St Peter J, et al. Chromogranin A and neuron-specific enolase as prognostic markers in patients with advanced pNET treated with everolimus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(12):3741–9. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2011-0666.
- Schmechel D, Marangos PJ, Brightman M. Neurone-specific enolase is a molecular marker for peripheral and central neuroendocrine cells. Nature. 1978;276(5690):834–6. https://doi. org/10.1038/276834a0.
- Vinik AI, Silva MP, Woltering EA, Woltering G, Go VL, Warner R, et al. Biochemical testing for neuroendocrine tumors. Pancreas. 2009;38(8):876–89. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPA.0b013e3181bc0e77.
- Haque A, Polcyn R, Matzelle D, Banik NL. New insights into the role of neuron-specific enolase in neuro-inflammation, neurodegeneration, and neuroprotection. Brain Sci. 2018;8(2):33. https://doi. org/10.3390/brainsci8020033.
- 96. Yao JC, Pavel M, Lombard-Bohas C, Van Cutsem E, Voi M, Brandt U, et al. E verolimus for the treatment of advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: overall survival and circulating biomarkers from the randomized, phase III RADIANT-3 study. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:3906–13. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2016.68.0702.
- 97. Vinik A, Feliberti E, Perry R. Pancreatic polypeptide (PPoma). In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, Chrousos G, Dungan K, et al., editors. Endotext. South Dartmouth, MA: MDText.com; 2000.
- Śliwińska-Mossoń M, Marek G, Milnerowicz H. The role of pancreatic polypeptide in pancreatic diseases. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2017;26(9):1447–55. https://doi.org/10.17219/acem/65094.
- 99. Panzuto F, Severi C, Cannizzaro R, Falconi M, Angeletti S, Pasquali A, et al. Utility of combined use of plasma levels of chromogranin A and pancreatic polypeptide in the diagnosis of gastrointestinal and pancreatic endocrine tumors. J Endocrinol Investig. 2004;27(1):6–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/ bf03350903.
- 100. Walter T, Chardon L, Chopin-laly X, Raverot V, Caffin AG, Chayvialle JA, et al. Is the combination of chromogranin A and pancreatic polypeptide serum determinations of interest in the diagnosis and follow-up of gastro-entero-pancreatic neuroendo-

crine tumours? Eur J Cancer. 2012;48(12):1766–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2011.11.005.

- 101. Qiu W, Christakis I, Silva A, Bassett RL, Cao L, Meng QH, et al. Utility of chromogranin A, pancreatic polypeptide, glucagon and gastrin in the diagnosis and follow-up of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 patients. Clin Endocrinol. 2016;85(3):400–7. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cen.13119.
- 102. de Laat JM, Pieterman CR, Weijmans M, Hermus AR, Dekkers OM, de Herder WW, et al. Low accuracy of tumor markers for diagnosing pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(10):4143–51. https://doi.org/10.1210/ jc.2013-1800.
- 103. Heitz PU, von Herbay G, Klöppel G, Komminoth P, Kasper M, Höfler H, et al. The expression of subunits of human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) by nontrophoblastic, nonendocrine, and endocrine tumors. Am J Clin Pathol. 1987;88(4):467–72. https://doi. org/10.1093/ajcp/88.4.467.
- 104. Wong RJ, Ahmed A, Gish RG. Elevated alphafetoprotein: differential diagnosis - hepatocellular carcinoma and other disorders. Clin Liver Dis. 2015;19(2):309–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cld.2015.01.005.
- 105. Dieckmann KP, Simonsen-Richter H, Kulejewski M, Anheuser P, Zecha H, Isbarn H, et al. Serum tumour markers in testicular germ cell tumours: frequencies of elevated levels and extents of marker elevation are significantly associated with clinical parameters and with response to treatment. Biomed Res Int. 2019;2019:5030349. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/5030349.
- 106. Ramage JK, Davies AH, Ardill J, Bax N, Caplin M, Grossman A, et al. Guidelines for the management of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine (including carcinoid) tumours. Gut. 2005;54(Suppl 4):iv1–16. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2004.053314.
- 107. Lokich JJ, Ganda OP, O'Hara CJ, Warren KW, Moertel CG, Klee G. Alpha-fetoprotein associated with islet cell tumors. Am J Clin Oncol. 1987;10(2):133–5. https://doi. org/10.1097/00000421-198704000-00046.
- 108. Shah T, Srirajaskanthan R, Bhogal M, Toubanakis C, Meyer T, Noonan A, et al. Alpha-fetoprotein and human chorionic gonadotrophin-beta as prognostic markers in neuroendocrine tumour patients. Br J Cancer. 2008;99(1):72–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6604428.
- 109. Giuliano M, Giordano A, Jackson S, De Giorgi U, Mego M, Cohen EN, et al. Circulating tumor cells as early predictors of metastatic spread in breast cancer patients with limited metastatic dissemination. Breast Cancer Res. 2014;16(5):440. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13058-014-0440-8.
- 110. Khan MS, Tsigani T, Rashid M, Rabouhans JS, Yu D, Luong TV, et al. Circulating tumor cells and EpCAM expression in neuroendocrine tumors.

Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(2):337–45. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1776.

- 111. Khan MS, Kirkwood A, Tsigani T, Garcia-Hernandez J, Hartley JA, Caplin ME, et al. Circulating tumor cells as prognostic markers in neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(3):365–72. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2012.44.2905.
- 112. Khan MS, Kirkwood AA, Tsigani T, Lowe H, Goldstein R, Hartley JA, et al. Early changes in circulating tumor cells are associated with response and survival following treatment of metastatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(1):79–85. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1008.
- 113. He L, Hannon GJ. MicroRNAs: small RNAs with a big role in gene regulation. Nat Rev Genet. 2004;5(7):522–31. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1379.
- 114. Deng B, Molina J, Aubry MC, Sun Z, Wang L, Eckloff BW, et al. Clinical biomarkers of pulmonary carcinoid tumors in never smokers via profiling miRNA and target mRNA. Cell Biosci. 2014;4:35. https://doi.org/10.1186/2045-3701-4-35.
- 115. Rapa I, Votta A, Felice B, Righi L, Giorcelli J, Scarpa A, et al. Identification of microRNAs differentially expressed in lung carcinoid subtypes and progression. Neuroendocrinology. 2015;101(3):246–55. https://doi.org/10.1159/000381454.
- 116. Lee HW, Lee EH, Ha SY, Lee CH, Chang HK, Chang S, et al. Altered expression of microRNA miR-21, miR-155, and let-7a and their roles in pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors. Pathol Int. 2012;62(9):583–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1827.2012.02845.x.
- 117. Malczewska A, Kidd M, Matar S, Kos-Kudła B, Bodei L, Oberg K, et al. An assessment of circulating chromogranin a as a biomarker of bronchopulmonary neuroendocrine neoplasia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neuroendocrinology. 2020;110(3– 4):198–216. https://doi.org/10.1159/000500525.
- 118. Modlin IM, Drozdov I, Kidd M. The identification of gut neuroendocrine tumor disease by multiple

synchronous transcript analysis in blood. PLoS One. 2013;8(5):e63364. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0063364.

- 119. Bodei L, Kidd MS, Singh A, van der Zwan WA, Severi S, Drozdov IA, et al. PRRT genomic signature in blood for prediction of. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2018;45(7):1155–69. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00259-018-3967-6.
- 120. Pavel M, Jann H, Prasad V, Drozdov I, Modlin IM, Kidd M. NET blood transcript analysis defines the crossing of the clinical rubicon: when stable disease becomes progressive. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;104(2):170–82. https://doi.org/10.1159/000446025.
- 121. Modlin IM, Aslanian H, Bodei L, Drozdov I, Kidd M. A PCR blood test outperforms chromogranin A in carcinoid detection and is unaffected by proton pump inhibitors. Endocr Connect. 2014;3(4):215– 23. https://doi.org/10.1530/EC-14-0100.
- 122. Modlin IM, Frilling A, Salem RR, Alaimo D, Drymousis P, Wasan HS, et al. Blood measurement of neuroendocrine gene transcripts defines the effectiveness of operative resection and ablation strategies. Surgery. 2016;159(1):336–47. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.surg.2015.06.056.
- 123. Ćwikła JB, Bodei L, Kolasinska-Ćwikła A, Sankowski A, Modlin IM, Kidd M. Circulating transcript analysis (NETest) in GEP-NETs treated with somatostatin analogs defines therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(11):E1437–45. https:// doi.org/10.1210/jc.2015-2792.
- 124. Modlin IM, Drozdov I, Alaimo D, Callahan S, Teixiera N, Bodei L, et al. A multianalyte PCR blood test outperforms single analyte ELISAs (chromogranin A, pancreastatin, neurokinin A) for neuroendocrine tumor detection. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2014;21(4):615–28. https://doi.org/10.1530/ ERC-14-0190.

Giovanna Pepe, Giovanni Matassa, Francesca Piccoli, and Arturo Chiti

6.1 Introduction on Imaging in NET

"neuroendocrine definition The tumours" (NETs) collects a variety of uncommon malignancies, broadly distributed in the body, but sharing the origin from the neural crest. The clinical onset of these tumours is unconventional with nonspecific symptoms, which reflects their possibility to arise in different anatomical regions and tissues. Moreover, NETs can keep the secretive activity of the cells they originate from in 60-70% of cases (functioning forms) or present as biologically inactive (non-functioning forms). This classification in non-functioning tumours impacts on the investigations needed for the diagnosis as per chosen modality and technical protocols. Despite their original functional attitude, notably, in the majority of cases, NETs

are diagnosed when already advanced and metastatic, thus, symptomatic.

Accurate detection and characterisation of the primary tumour and the identification of the extent of disease are required to define an appropriate approach to treatment. Moreover, treatment monitoring and the detection of recurrent disease are crucial clinical objectives in the management of these tumours.

Clinical presentation, laboratory tests can guide the choice of the subsequent diagnostic imaging investigations: both Radiology and Nuclear Medicine can answer a wide array of questions on this challenging topic.

Either conventional imaging, namely ultrasound (US), computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance (MRI) or functional imaging through scintigraphy and PET-CT, contribute to the characterization of NETs. However, no single imaging technique represents the gold standard, and the sequence of exams needed for each tumour type may vary [1, 2].

It is then remarkable to underline that even though we live in an era of standardisation, personalisation of treatment (within a consensus guideline frame-shift) is often required to maximise the outcome, particularly in NETs, thus implying the need to build up a "multidisciplinary culture" approach.

From the morphological point of view, features like hyper-vascularisation, specific growth patterns and imaging appearance can help

Department of Diagnostic Imaging, IRCCS Humanitas Research Hospital,

G. Matassa · F. Piccoli · A. Chiti (🖂)

Department of Biomedical Sciences,

Humanitas University, Milan, Italy

Department of Diagnostic Imaging,

e-mail: arturo.chiti@hunimed.eu

IRCCS Humanitas Research Hospital,

G. Pepe

Milan, Italy

Milan. Italy





6

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_6

discriminate these tumours from other solid malignancies.

From the functional point of view, we have to consider that these diseases, albeit heterogeneous, hold some features derivative from their neural cell precursors, such as the amine pathway metabolism and the cellular overexpression of the somatostatin receptors (SSTR).

With these regard, nuclear medicine offers either scintigraphic techniques or PET-CT investigation to image both biological characteristics.

The two main categories of radiopharmaceuticals available aim to:

- enter the adrenergic pathway, namely the meta-iodo-benzyl-guanidine (MIBG), a norepinephrine analogue for scintigraphy and the F-DOPA for PET-CT imaging and,
- bind somatostatin receptors (both gammaemitting and positron-emitting radiolabelled analogues are available).

Metabolic assessment of NETs, using FDG PET-CT, is also possible in selected cases, to better investigate the aggressive tumour attitude.

According to topography, we will distinguish NETs that origin from the gastrointestinal tract, usually called GEP (gastro-entero-pancreatic), and non-GEP which generally includes lung NETs (L-NETs), medullary thyroid carcinoma, Merkel, pheochromocytoma/paraganglioma and neuroblastoma.

Pulmonary NETs usually present as welldifferentiated tumours, including low- and intermediate-grade malignant tumours, historically divided into typical and atypical carcinoids, sharing clinical and pathological traits, as opposed to the poorly differentiated high-grade large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma and smallcell lung carcinoma.

Contrast-enhanced CT is the diagnostic gold standard for lung NETs, while, in the welldifferentiated forms, somatostatin receptor imaging may visualise nearly 80% of the primary tumours and appears to be most sensitive for metastatic disease. The poorly differentiated lung NETs commonly benefit more from FDG PET-CT imaging [3]. All GEP NETs are potentially malignant: proliferation, differentiation and biological characteristics influence the metastatic widespread of disease, and understanding the natural history of these lesions has profoundly changed the approach from diagnosis to treatment in the last decades.

Morphological imaging is widely applied for the initial staging of the patients affected by GEP NETs. The evolution of the diagnostic tools with the introduction of improved multi-detector CT and MR, innovative contrast media, has profoundly influenced sensitivity and specificity. In contrast, functional imaging investigations contribute not only in detecting the lesions but lead towards a better understanding of the tumour behaviour, gaining a role in the prognostic evaluation and change of treatment and follow up management [4].

We aim at outlining the primary diagnostic imaging tools available for NETs—lung, GEP and other non-GEP—and discuss the possible future options of imaging.

6.2 Technical and Technological Aspects

6.2.1 Imaging

Current conventional diagnostic methods to evaluate NETs include morphologic modalities such as endoscopic US (EUS), abdominal ultrasound (US), computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

The endoscopic US finds its primary importance in the investigation and histological diagnosis of GEPs. Only afterwards, when grading and histological diagnosis are confirmed, complete tumour staging with whole-body CT or MRI should be performed. This sequence of events is in line with the current guidelines for the management of neuroendocrine tumours [5], and it is essential to assess the extent of disease and to plan the most appropriate treatment approach.

The abdominal US is an advantageous technique for the study of NETs mainly because of its immediateness and non-invasiveness, especially in the case of pancreatic NETs and in the evaluation of liver metastasis. Also, it is suitable for the guidance of core needle biopsy and fine-needle aspiration cytology for histopathologic analysis. Nevertheless, it has low sensitivity, and it is operator-dependent, lacking reproducibility and it is then inadequate as a primary tool for diagnosis and follow-up of the disease [6].

For all of these reasons, a CT scan is often the initial imaging study in patients with signs and symptoms suggestive of NET. This technique, together with MRI, provides excellent anatomic detail of the tumours and of its relationship with nearby organs being essential for disease staging and surgical planning.

Nowadays, multi-detector CT scanners are used and characterised by high spatial resolution (even <1 mm). Moreover, CT allows for multiplanarity (axial, coronal, sagittal reconstructions) and volume rendering techniques which may help delineate the tumour itself, the organ involved and nearby structures. These details further improve accuracy and imaging interpretation [7] for a correct staging and therapeutic planning. Differently from the US, CT scan is reproducible, allowing to perform the exam with the same protocols and parameters. Moreover, it is a suitable and reliable imaging technique to compare baseline and follow-up images.

The characteristic behaviour of primary functioning NETs (mainly gastrointestinal and lung NETs) and of their metastases is the arterial phase hyper-enhancing after intravenous contrast media administration, describing highly vascularized lesions. On the contrary, non-functioning NETs appear as large masses with heterogeneous enhancement due to necrotic and haemorrhagic changes [8].

For example, in the case of gastrointestinal NETs, another option could be to perform contrast-enhanced CT scan with oral contrast material earlier than usual (i.e. before the portal venous phase). This technique may help detect small enhancing neuroendocrine tumours in the small intestine. Besides, CT protocols with similar modifications can help depict small enhancing

neuroendocrine tumours in the stomach and rectum.

Significant limitations of CT are as follows:

- To date, no standardised parameters exist on the exact scanning delay of the contrastenhancement phase and on the amount of contrast medium to administer, the latter is generally calculated based on the patients' weight.
- Small lesions and peritoneal lesions are challenging to identify; the identification of metastatic lymph nodes is especially challenging as size criteria, including RECIST criteria, still are of limited value.
- Iodinated contrast media makes this technique of limited use in patients at risk for allergic reactions and those with impaired renal function.

MRI is especially suitable for staging and restaging of liver metastases; it is not as useful as CT at detecting small intestine NETs, but it is very advantageous for the detection and localisation of primary pancreatic NETs, instead.

MRI has the advantage of a high spatial resolution (2–4 mm), which is amplified by examination at a higher field strength in a 3T scanner [9]. Currently, guidelines suggest the use of a magnetic field of at least 1.5T, which also allows the applicability of specific sequences. As for CT, the 3D acquisition allows for multiple anatomical planes viewing and reconstruction; thus, for a more accurate interpretation of the lesions.

Even MRI requires administration of intravenous contrast medium to increase tissue contrast and facilitate its characterisation, and the ability to contrast soft tissues is higher when compared to CT, which is one of the reasons why, as previously said, it is the most sensitive technique for the detection of liver metastases. The use of liverspecific contrast media can increase tissue contrast (Gadoxetate disodium-Primovist). Moreover, NETs are typically hyper-vascularised tumours and enhance after contrast injection in the late arterial phase. This characteristic also works for NET liver metastases even if, occasionally, some patients may show both

hyper-vascular and hypo-vascular liver secondary lesions.

Diffusion-weighted MRI (DWI) is an essential tool of this imaging technique, especially in the oncologic field. It is based on the restricted diffusion of water molecules in highly cellular tissue such as tumours Literature shows evidence that it has the potential for distinguishing highgrade from low-grade tumours by quantifying the tumour's apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) in the images (ADC map). Also, evidence exists showing that DWI and ADC map analysis is even more sensitive than the commonly used T2-weighted fast spin-echo or dynamic gadolinium-enhanced sequences. Therefore, DWI is currently the most promising technique for investigating NETs [10, 11].

MR cholangiopancreatography is another important MRI tool and consists of specific cholangio-pancreatic sequences performed with the previous administration of oral negative contrast (e.g. pure blueberry juice). These specific sequences enable the radiologist to study the intra and extrahepatic biliary tree and pancreatic ducts. They, therefore, allow providing essential information to the surgeon for surgical planning. MRI with the administration of oral negative contrast should always be performed before surgical resection of a pancreatic NET [12].

Guidelines on MRI protocols exist for pancreatic NETs, but no validated protocols are available for the other GEPs and neuroendocrine tumours of different origin. As for pancreatic NETs, MRI should include T1- and T2-weighted MR sequences, dynamic three-dimensional (3D) sequence before and after intravenous administration of contrast medium (Gadolinium) with multiarterial, venous and delayed (>5 min) acquisition and diffusion-weighted (DWI) sequences. Fat suppression on T1- and T2-weighted images is useful to maximise the signal intensity differences between the pancreatic tumour and the adjacent normal pancreatic tissue.

To conclude, one of the most important advantages of MRI is the absence of radiation exposure, which confirms its vital role as a technique of choice, in young patients or in those with the long-standing disease who require repeated follow-up imaging studies. Nevertheless, the costs and the requirement for extensive patient compliance still make it, in general, an optional imaging modality to CT.

Regarding the evaluation of response to therapy, MRI shares with CT the same limitations. Additionally, MRI is unsuitable for the study of small thoracic lesions because of the motion artefacts due to cardiac and respiratory activity, the low signal-to-noise ratio in the lung and the lower spatial resolution as compared to CT [13].

To date, an emerging field of investigation is represented by Radiomics especially in the case of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours; in many patients, they present as small volume tumours at diagnosis, thus volume definition is one of the most critical characterisations. Radiomics may support and aid at a more straightforward identification and volume definition. Nevertheless, the "gold standard" is still represented by manual delineation by an expert radiologist, notwithstanding inter-observer variability. Further studies are needed to confirm and implement Radiomics and, consequently, stable radiomic features in this field.

6.2.2 Molecular Imaging

As previously mentioned, molecular imaging investigates two main features of NETs: the amine precursors pathway and the expression of somatostatin receptors on the cell surface. From the technological point of view, scintigraphy, SPECT(CT) and PET-CT are available for both functional features.

Guidelines for nuclear medicine imaging of NETs, with (iodine-131 or iodine-123) MIBG [14], with 111In-pentetreotide (somatostatin receptor scintigraphy, SRS) or with 68Ga-DOTA-peptide and 18F-DOPA, have been published in the past years [15–18].

Further reading of these guidelines is recommended for more details. However, we will here give an outline of the leading nuclear medicine techniques available to study NETs.

Radiolabelled MIBG (the isotopes used are iodine-131 or iodine-123) can well be considered

a metabolic probe for the study of NET; it is an analogue of the norepinephrine that can be taken up via the vesicular monoamine transporters $(VMAT_1 \text{ and } VMAT_2)$ and then stored in the secretory granules of the neuroendocrine cells without being further metabolised in a significant way [19]. The result is a specific concentration in these cells, allowing their visualisation in contrast to non-adrenergic tissues. Clinical indications are the detection, staging and restaging of NETs, particularly in case of pheochromocytomas, ganglioblastomas or neuroblastomas, paragangliomas, MEN2 syndrome, with an overall sensitivity of 85% and specificity of 89%, as reported in the literature [20]. Other clinical applications are medullary thyroid carcinoma and Merkel cell carcinoma.

This imaging technique is also used to select patients for therapy with ¹³¹I-MIBG, to evaluate treatment response and in follow-up. Being MIBG radiolabelled with radioactive, thyroid blockade, using Lugol solution of potassium iodide, is essential to avoid thyroid irradiation from iodine (a minimum amount of free iodine is often present in the solution of the radiopharmaceutical, consequently to prevent collateral thyroid irradiation, thyroid blockage ought to be ensured).

131I-MIBG should nowadays exclusively be used for therapy, but in some centres, it is still applied also for diagnosis. Planar and SPECT images are acquired with different timing: at 24 h for 123I-MIBG and at 24 h, 48 h and even later for 131I-MIBG. Dedicated spot images may be useful in order to investigate some areas of interest further.

18F-FDOPA could be considered the PET radiopharmaceutical "counterpart" of MIBG for the study of the NET, as the enhanced intracellular transport and decarboxylation of the amino acid DOPA is the diagnostic target of 18F-FDOPA PET imaging. It is mainly used in the diagnosis and staging of pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma and for staging and restaging of medullary thyroid cancer with elevated serum levels of calcitonin. Well-differentiated NETs of the digestive tract and another endocrine, digestive tumours can also be evaluated using 18F-FDOPA PET, especially when somatostatin receptor scintigraphy is negative [21].

On the other side of NET imaging, there is a significant chapter of somatostatin analogues and receptor imaging.

The first tracer being commercially available and registered in Europe for somatostatinreceptor (SR) imaging was 111In-DTPA-D-Phe1-octreotide also named 111In-pentetreotide (OctreoScan, Mallinckrodt Medical), showing a high affinity for the sstr2 and lower affinity for the sstr3, 5 and 4 respectively, with high accuracy in the diagnosis and localisation of primary NETs and secondary lesions. Sensitivity reported for somatostatin receptor scintigraphy ranges between 70% and 95% according to the type of NET, especially in GEP NETs, with a reduction to 20-60% in insulinomas [22].

Other impressive scintigraphic results have been reported for the 99mTc-EDDA/HYNIC-Tyr3-octreotide (99mTc-EDDA/HYNIC-TOC), available in some European Countries and registered in Poland (Tektrotyd-Polatom, Poland) 99mTc-EDDA/HYNIC-Tyr3and for the octreotate (99mTc-EDDA/HYNIC-TATE) [23]. The clinical indication is for SR imaging in staging, restaging and follows up of GEP NET, pulmonary NETs, other forms arising from the skin as Merkel cell tumours. This radiopharmaceutical is also proposed for the study of tumours originating from the sympathoadrenal system. Moreover, this imaging is mandatory to select patients for peptide radio-receptor therapy (PRRT).

A gamma camera equipped with mediumenergy parallel-hole collimator is needed; planar and SPECT images are acquired at 4 and 24 h, sometimes up to 48 h after injection (when at 24 h the activity in the bowel is still significant). CT hybrid imaging has shown increased sensitivity over gamma camera alone and planar imaging.

Different 68Ga-labelled peptides are available for SR PET-CT imaging, which differ in the affinity to the different SSTR subtypes. The most relevant radiopharmaceuticals in use are [68Ga-DOTA-Tyr3]-octreotide (68Ga-DOTA TOC), [68Ga- DOTA-Tyr3]-octreotate Clinical applications of 68Ga-DOTA-peptide imaging are the detection and staging of the primary tumour, the restaging of recurrent or progressive disease and the assessment of somatostatin receptor expression to candidate patients for somatostatin analog and peptide radionuclide receptor therapy (PRRT) [25].

Breastfeeding should be interrupted and can be restarted when the radiation dose to the child would be lower than one mSv. Discontinuation of "cold" analogues is suggested by some authors in the weeks before the exam when "long-acting" analogues are used. Images are usually acquired between 45 and 60 min after intravenous injection of the tracer.

The heterogeneity of NETs and the different degree of differentiation may influence the affinity for 68Ga-DOTA-peptides and thereby the diagnostic performance. The reported pooled sensitivity and specificity of 68Ga-DOTA-peptide PET imaging is 96% and 100%, respectively [26].

High tracer uptake at this imaging reflects the increased density of somatostatin receptors, rather than malignant disease.

NETs usually do not show a high glucose turnover rate. Therefore 18F-FDG PET-CT is not routinely used to assess these tumours. However, FDG finds application in studying poorly differentiated forms and metastatic disease, then contributing to define the aggressiveness of the lesions, in a prognostic framing [27].

As for future perspectives, we would like to mention imaging based on glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor (GLP-1R), using 68Ga-DOTAexedin-4 PET-CT. These receptors are overexpressed at a high incidence, and density in almost all benign insulinomas is, therefore, an ideal target for these tumours for which SR scintigraphy and PET can give suboptimal results. 68Ga-DOTA-exen-din-4, however, is not a stateof-the-art tracer, but an experimental and promising probe [28].

Other novel imaging radiopharmaceuticals, not in clinical use but showing impressive preliminary results, are the somatostatin antagonists. First-in-human studies showed the high potential of radiolabelled antagonists for imaging and also targeted radionuclide therapy. 111In- DOTA-BASS and 111In-DOTA-JR11 are such gammaemitting tracers using somatostatin antagonists, whereas 68Ga-NODAGA-JR11 is one of the antagonists under evaluation for PET-CT imaging [29].

As seen for conventional imaging, there is a rising interest in the study of texture analysis and radiomics in PET-CT imaging as well, and to date, the impact of these researches is purely academic; still, they appear very intriguing.

6.3 NETs of the Lungs

Pulmonary NETs account for approximately 1–2% of all lung malignancies and approximately 20–30% of all NETs and display significant heterogeneity, ranging from well-differentiated to poorly differentiated neoplasms. In addition to the historical classification in typical carcinoid (TC) and atypical carcinoid (AC), the World Health Organization (WHO) classification of bronchial NETs distinguishes large-cell neuroendocrine lung carcinoma (LCNEC), small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC) and mixed neuroendocrine/non-neuroendocrine forms (miNEN) [30].

Lung NETs (L-NETs) are also classified according to their origin in respect of the bronchial tree, into central and peripheral, but they can also occur throughout the lung parenchyma.

The central forms commonly present respiratory symptoms, such as recurrent chest infections, cough, haemoptysis, chest pain, dyspnoea and wheezing. The peripheral lesions more often are incidental findings at radiological procedures carried out for other reasons.

Rarely, lung NENs can be associated with carcinoid or Cushing's syndrome.

A full imaging work up with a combination of both morphological and functional imaging is necessary during the initial diagnosis, staging and therapeutic assessment.

Bronchoscopy, if necessary, with additional endoscopic ultrasonography and biopsies, is the best procedure to study central bronchial NETs [31].

L-NETs can be detected already at standard chest x-ray in up to 40% of cases [32]. However, contrast-enhanced CT of the thorax is widely considered the gold standard, usually with a 20 s delay between contrast injection and image acquisition to allow better visualisation of the mediastinal structures. High-resolution CT must be considered in patients with clinical contraindication to contrast media (allergies or renal failure) [33]. The CT appearance of L-NETs is often similar to the that of adenocarcinoma, presenting as round-shaped peripheral lung nodules with smooth or lobular margins, usually with a slow growth pattern and high vascularity following intravenous contrast administration.

The level of contrast enhancement depicts the angiogenetic characteristics of the lesions.

Ground-glass appearance is also reported, usually as a sign of oedema around the lesions rather than intra-alveolar invasion.

At CT images, the intermediate forms are frequently associated with atelectasis and air trapping, indirect signs of obstruction; sometimes obstructive pneumonitis, bronchiectasis and lung abscess can be part of the imaging presentation. The typical CT presentation is with rounded or elongated nodules; the latter usually have their long axis parallel to the bronchi and vessels. Complete obstruction of the bronchus is rarely seen, as the extra-bronchial component is more often predominant to the endo-bronchial part [3].

Calcifications are detected in one-third of all cases, especially in the intermediate forms.

In the rare event of multiple synchronous carcinoids, high-resolution CT with an expiration study can help to show mosaic attenuation or air trapping in addition to multiple nodules [34].

Nodal involvement (particularly in the atypical carcinoids), as well as the presence of distant metastases, influences the prognosis and the treatment options, and imaging assessment of the spreading of disease is then crucial for the patient management.

Apart from mediastinal nodes, liver and bones are the most common sites of metastasis.

Multiphase CT, including arterial and portal phases, must be acquired to image the liver status accurately; CT with appropriate bone window setting may be useful to reveal bone metastases.

MRI should include dynamic acquisition and diffusion-weighted sequences for the study of the liver metastasis. In case spinal metastasis is suspected, MR is preferable to CT [35].

L-NETs, as well as NETs arising in other sites, are characterised by the ability to take up and concentrate amine precursors in order to produce amines and peptides and also express different membrane peptide hormone receptors (e.g. somatostatin receptors, SSTRs). These uptake mechanisms and the presence of membrane peptide receptors represent the basis for functional imaging of NETs [36].

Combined functional imaging using SSTR imaging and metabolic imaging allows in vivo demonstration of the overall biological behaviour of NETs [37].

Since 80% of typical bronchial carcinoids express SSTRs, somatostatin receptor scintigraphy (SRS) and 68Ga-DOTA-peptide PET-CT may be very informative.

Scintigraphy with 111I-labelled somatostatin analogue has been the most widely used method to assess somatostatin receptor expression in the last decades, but 68Ga-DOTA-somatostatin analogue PET-CT recently became the nuclear medicine test of choice for staging [38].

Well-differentiated NETs are typically not FDG avid and overexpress membrane receptors for somatostatin [39]. On the contrary, more aggressive bronchial NETs such as LCNEC and SCLC are characterised by higher FDG uptake and lower expression of somatostatin membrane receptors. Therefore, for poorly differentiated NETs, FDG PET-CT may result more sensitive and informative than somatostatin receptor imaging.

MIBG scintigraphy has no clinical role in the management of lung neuroendocrine cancer, while PET-CT with 18F-dihydroxy-Lphenylalanine and 11C-hydroxy-L-tryptophan might potentially be used in the future for therapy response evaluation (Figs. 6.1 and 6.2).



Fig. 6.1 A 50-year-old male patient referred to the hospital for pulmonary embolism. Chest x-ray (**a**) revealed an inferior left pulmonary mass. (**a**) Chest x-ray. The following CT of the thorax confirmed the lesion (**b**) that was characterised significant contrast enhancement (**c**). The intense contrast enhancement of the lesion documented at the CT scan coupled with the clinical data arose the suspect of a neuroendocrine tumour. (**b**) CT basal acquisi-

tion. (c) CT after contrast injection. A 68GaDOTATOC PET-CT (d, MIP, e, coronal, f, axial) was then performed showing intense tracer uptake of the lesion. Histology confirmed the diagnosis of typical carcinoid, ki67 = 8%. (d) 68Ga-DOTA-peptide PET-CT MIP. (e) 68GaDOTApeptide PET-CT coronal. (f) 68GaDOTApeptide PET-CT axial



Fig. 6.2 A 50-year-old lady affected by atypical thoracic pain was scheduled to undergo a CT scan that showed a para-hilar right pulmonary node, with inhomogeneous contrast enhancement and some calcifications. (a) CT scan transaxial. At 18F-FDG PET-CT, the mass was confirmed, but the tracer uptake was mild (b, MIP and c, transaxial). Therefore, a fibro-bronchoscopy with biopsy was performed. Results were orientative towards a low-

grade neuroendocrine tumour. (b) 18F-FDG PET-CT MIP. (c) 18F-FDG PET-CT transaxial. A 68 Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT was then requested. A focus of moderate tracer uptake was seen within the mass (d, MIP and e, transaxial). The multidisciplinary discussion proposed surgery upfront as no other lesions were detected. (d) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT MIP. (e) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT transaxial

6.4 GEP NETs

NETs arising in the gastrointestinal tract are the most represented forms (67%), with the most common origin in the distal tract of the ileum (up to 30% of GEP). These tumours are often quite small in size, making their identification challenging, especially for the ileal localisations [40].

The clinical presentation and tumour location, as already mentioned, profoundly influence the investigations required to achieve the final diagnosis.

The presence of hormonal hypersecretion must be assessed using laboratory analyses and endocrinological tests. Pathological analysis, whether possible, is required to confirm the diagnosis.

Functioning GEPs can either arise from the pancreas or the gastrointestinal tract, exhibiting specific hormonal syndromes according to the secreting abilities of the proliferating clone of cells. The clinical presentation can play a fundamental role in recalling the correct diagnosis, but from the imaging point of view it is not possible to discriminate functioning from non-functioning tumours; however, some general features are common findings in GEP NETs, such as the hyper-vascular attitude.

Usually, in case of non-functioning GEPs, the symptoms are mainly related to the compressive/ obstructive effect of the mass on the surrounding structures and organs and include abdominal pain, obstructive jaundice, presence of abdominal mass, weight loss and intestinal obstruction. Therefore, the typical findings occurring in the clinical scenarios of abdominal discomfort are common to GEP NETs as well.

Well-differentiated, slow-growing GEP NETs are, nonetheless, quite often already metastatic at the moment of the diagnosis, hence the detection of primary together with the assessment of the disease extent is of paramount importance to guide staging and treatment.

Conventional imaging and functional imaging complement each other in the definition of these tumours, being nuclear medicine more effective in the biological characterisation of the lesions [41].

As a first step in the diagnostic workup, there is trans-abdominal ultrasonography (US), a noninvasive and widely available screening technique for the abdominal parenchyma. NETs typically appear on US images as a hypoechoic mass surrounded by a hyperechoic halo. US is mainly suitable for the investigation of solid organs but results inefficient at examining the gastrointestinal tract and mesentery.

The role of US seems to be limited, though, especially in the evaluation of the pancreas where it can turn out suboptimal due to partial obscuration by bowel gas, with an overall reported sensitivity of 13-27% [41].

Computed tomography shows high spatial and temporal resolution. Thanks to the multiplanar reconstructions and image display, and in consideration of the variety of protocols of contrast media injection and acquisition studies, it can survey different parts of the body in a more tailored fashion, providing detailed information on the tumour and its relationship with vascular structures and other close tissues and organs. These features gained its fortune, particularly in the pre-surgical evaluation.

Because of the known hyper-vascular aspect of the metastasis from GEP NETs, multiphase acquisition protocols are recommended for a more appropriate investigation of these lesions, usually more conspicuous in the early arterial phase of the acquisition [42].

It is also possible to perform basal scans with no contrast media injection to assess the presence of calcification and haemorrhage within the mass [43].

Multiphasic and multiplanar CT is usually performed at first. On average, arterial phase imaging is performed at 20–25 s following contrast injection. This timing takes into account the time for the contrast to reach the descending aorta at the level of the thoracoabdominal tract. Afterwards, a venous phase at approximately 50–60 s is scanned. All the phases must be performed for a complete examination and detection of eventual metastases, typically at the hepatic level.

Magnetic resonance (MR), even though more expensive, time-consuming and demanding either on patients cooperation or professional efforts to carry out a high-quality examination, together with the multiplanar acquisitions, offers superior intrinsic soft-tissue contrast and does not use ionising radiation. Multiphasic and multiplanar MRI is recommended for the study of GEPs and considered superior to CT for lesion assessment in solid visceral organs.

At MRI, NET lesions are hypointense in T1-weighted sequences and hyperintense in T2-weighted sequences and, usually after contrast media injection, show a diffuse pattern of enhancement in the arterial phase. Typically, fat-suppressed contrast-enhanced T1-weighted sequences provide the best accuracy.

Molecular imaging techniques, especially with PET tracers, have a significant impact on patient management, including better localisation of occult tumours in the small intestine and pancreas as well as improved staging and restaging. Especially somatostatin receptor imaging continues to have a central role in the diagnostic workup of patients with well-differentiated GEP-NETs owing to its high accuracy and the theranostic potential [44].

111In-octreotide scintigraphy has a high sensitivity for detecting typical carcinoids and gastrointestinal pancreatic NETs, particularly, gastrinomas, non-functioning NETs, and functioning endocrine pancreatic tumours except insulinomas (because of the lack of expression of type 2 somatostatin receptor subtype) [45].

Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy (SRS) shows high accuracy in the diagnosis and localisation of primary NETs and secondary lesions. There is a consolidated experience on the use of SRS in GEP-NETs. It is well known for its usefulness in detecting small lesions of the small bowel that are difficult to identify on conventional imaging with a sensitivity of 80–100% [20].

Nonetheless, it is limited by low spatial resolution, low sensitivity in the detection of small tumours and high background activity in healthy organs, especially the liver, kidney and spleen.

The upgrade has introduced several improvements to tomographic and hybrid imaging by means of SPECT and SPECT/CT.

Finally, the development of PET tracers specifically designed for NETs originated a new paradigm in the staging and restaging of these tumours. Excellent signal-to-noise ratio, spatial resolution and high-quality imaging as early as 45 min after injection of the radiotracer are evident advantages.

Good sensitivity of 68Ga-DOTANOC was reported especially for cases with an unusual anatomic localisation and small lesions, particularly at the node and bone level. It also enables absolute quantification of tracer uptake (determination of the standard uptake value, SUV) and provides relevant information of SSTR expression, which has a direct therapeutic implication with PRRT [23, 46].

Regarding potential pitfalls in image interpretation, we would like to mention reactive nodes, benign meningiomas, accessory spleens, the physiological activity in the pancreatic uncinate process and physiologic activity at the adrenal level can cause false-positive results.

As already seen in general for NETs, GEP-NETs usually do not show a high glucose turnover rate. Therefore, the sensitivity of 18F-FDG PET/CT is low, especially in well-differentiated forms (G1 and G2).

FDG is useful in the poorly differentiated forms, which also seem to express lower levels of somatostatin receptors. Information deriving from the 18F-FDG PET seems to provide valuable prognostic elements that may contribute to select patients affected by a more aggressive disease.

MIBG is generally not used in the routine workup of GEP-NETs.

6.4.1 Gastric and Intestinal NETs

Gastric NETs (G-NETs) originate from enterochromaffin-like cells located in the gastric glands and are divided into three categories:

- Type 1 arises as neuroendocrine hyperplasia and ultimately neoplasms in the context of achlorhydric hypergastrinemia due to chronic atrophic (autoimmune) gastritis.
- Type 2 appears as a result of hypochlorhydria (hyper acidic) hypergastrinemia due to Zollinger-Ellison syndrome caused by one (or several) duodenal or pancreatic gastrinoma(s), usually in the context of MEN1 syndrome.
- Type 3 occurs sporadically and is not related to any gastric mucosal abnormality.

Type 1 and 2 mainly present as multiple small lesions due to the underlying diffuse (systemic)

growth stimulus; type 3 usually presents as a large-size solitary tumour with upper GI bleeding and is often characterised by more aggressive behaviour and worse prognosis with an increased risk of diffusion to regional lymph nodes and liver metastases [46].

Endoscopy, with biopsy, is the first imaging choice, but to assess the invasion of the surrounding structures and the spread of disease contrastenhanced CT is required. Validated protocols exist: the patient should fast before the exam and have a couple of glasses of water right before the exam starts. This protocol enables the stomach to distend and its walls to be more visible. Also, water acts as a negative contrast allowing for better visualisation of the ampulla and thus identification of periampullary tumours. The thickness of the sections should be 1.25-2 mm as thin collimation of the scan is useful at identifying millimetric lesions. Iodinated contrast media is injected intravenously after an unenhanced scan is performed, particularly in case of lesions smaller than 2 cm.

Type 1 and type 2 tumours appear as numerous enhancing submucosal lesions similar to other small gastric tumours and polyps; type 3 lesions demonstrate an infiltrative morphology similar to that seen in adenocarcinomas and often show avid contrast enhancement [47]. Contrast-enhanced CT and MR are most crucial for staging distant metastases [48].

In G-NETs functional imaging, especially using PET-CT can contribute to staging and identification of disease spread. FDG PET-CT is most useful in the type 3 forms, to assess the diffusion of metastasis.

Moreover, radiologists should be aware of indirect signs and concomitant findings typical of this kind of tumours. In the case of gastrinomas, for example, a common accessory finding is represented by small-bowel mural thickening or oesophageal hyperenhancement (Figs. 6.3 and 6.4).

Duodenal NETs are rare tumours and comprise 1-3% of all duodenal neoplasms; they are generally small (<2 cm) and usually confined to mucosa or submucosa but in approximately 40–60% and 10% lymph node and liver metastases, respectively, have been reported.

The majority (90%) of duodenal NENs are non-functional, but an association with Zollinger– Ellison is reported as well as with carcinoid syndrome.

Upper gastrointestinal endoscopy is the most sensitive method of detection and diagnosis, while EUS can help determine the extension of the tumour invasion. CT, MRI and SSTRs functional imaging can be used in order to determine



Fig. 6.3 A 72-year-old patient affected by anaemia, loss of B12 and gastritis. A biopsy of a polypoid mass seen at endoscopy demonstrated a well-differentiated NET G1 of the gastric body, ki67 = 1%. A 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT

was performed for staging, confirming the gastric lesion and highlighting a hepatic metastasis in the third segment
(a, axial, b, coronal). (a) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT axial.
(b) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT coronal

the presence and the extent of metastatic disease [5] (Fig. 6.5).

Small intestinal neuroendocrine tumours (siNETs) derive from serotonin-producing enterochromaffin cells, and frequently they present with non-specific symptoms (abdominal pain, weight loss, bleeding or intermittent partial bowel obstruction). At the same time, 20–30% of patients develop carcinoid syndrome that is associated with liver metastases in more than 95% of cases.

SiNETs frequently present as multiple small lesions and have a high propensity to metastasise, as liver metastases are already seen at the moment of diagnosis in 80–90% of patients. However,



Fig. 6.4 A 76-year-old gentleman restaged for gastric NET (G2) relapsed after 3 years from surgery. 68Ga-DOTANOC PET-CT (**a**, MIP) and 18F-FDG PET-CT (**b**, MIP) were performed because of the clinical history and because of the moderate differentiation (G2). The residual gastric wall (after surgery) suspected for relapse of disease showed intense tracer uptake at the receptor PET-CT, whereas was not FDG avid. (**a**)

68Ga-DOTANOC PET-CT MIP. (b) 18F-FDG PET-CT MIP. Several liver lesions appeared as areas of no-uptake at 68Ga-DOTANOC PET-CT (c, axial) and as intense foci of uptake at the FDG images (d, axial). (c) 68Ga-DOTANOC PET-CT axial. (d) 18F-FDG PET-CT axial. Moreover, only FDG PET-CT revealed a bone lesion in the right femur neck (e, coronal and f, axial). (e) FDG PET-CT coronal. (f) FDG PET-CT axial



Fig. 6.4 (continued)



Fig. 6.5 A 67-year-old male patient was operated for gallbladder stones. Histology revealed the presence of a small amount of tissue with immune-reactivity orienting for the presence of a neuroendocrine tumour. Endoscopic ultrasound was performed, showing a lump in the distal part of the duodenum. The following MRI detected an

area with early contrast enhancement in the duodenum, in keeping with a neuroendocrine lesion (**a**, axial, arterial phase); confirmed as an area of intense focal uptake at 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT (**b**, axial fused). (**a**) MRI axial, arterial phase. (**b**) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT axial fused despite their malignant behaviour, most of them belong to the G1 histopathological group.

CT or MRI, CT/MRI water enteroclysis or endoscopic techniques and SRS or 68Ga-DOTATOC PET can be helpful for the detection of the primary tumour and probable metastatic lesions while colonoscopy can detect tumours located in the terminal ileum.

Contrast-enhanced CT or MR imaging is often the preferred imaging techniques.

Small-bowel distention is often advisable to improve lesion detection using CT enterography and MR enteroclysis that have shown improved sensitivity (100% and 86%–94%, respectively) and specificity (96.2% and 95%–98%, respectively) for tumour detection [49].

These tumours usually appear as small, hypervascular, polypoid masses or as asymmetric or concentric bowel wall thickening. Another meaningful indirect sign is represented by mesenteric retraction (desmoplastic reaction), especially in the case of small-bowel lesions. This sign is crucial, and it may be more easily recognised than the primary lesion, at CT but also at MRI.

As with CT, multiphasic and multiplanar MRI is recommended for the study of GEPs and considered superior to CT for lesion assessment in solid visceral organs. Typically, fat-suppressed contrast-enhanced T1-weighted sequences provide the best accuracy.

A steep differential diagnostic consideration in these patients, concerning CT and MR, is chronic mesenteric panniculitis (also known as sclerosing mesenteritis) [50].

Given the technical difficulties to diagnose such small lesions at conventional imaging, functional imaging has gained over the past years an increasing role for siNETs, with an overall sensitivity of 80–90% for somatostatin receptor imaging [51] (Fig. 6.6).



Fig. 6.6 A 79-year-old male patient with a 10-year history of a low-grade, multifocal, neuroendocrine tumour of the ileum. He was treated with surgery on the ileum and on the metastatic liver lesions that aroused in the second year after diagnosis. After 5 years of negative follow-up, an abdominal MRI for follow-up showed multiple solid nodules in the mesenteric adipose tissue with significant arterial contrast enhancement, thus suspicious for carcinoid tumour (a, MRI, dynamic sequence, arterial phase fat-saturated; b, MRI, DWI sequence b 800). (a) MRI, dynamic sequence, arterial phase fat-saturated. (b) MRI, DWI sequence b 800. After multidisciplinary consultation, a new surgery was performed on the mesenterial nodules and lymph nodes. No further treatment was suggested. Three years after surgery, during which the patient was negative for residual disease, a 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT scan was asked in the follow-up, detecting a pathological uptake in the mesenterial adipose tissue (c,

axial fused). An area of uptake was also seen in the temporal region consistent with meningioma (d, axial fused). (c) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT axial fused, mesenterial node. (d) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT axial fused, meningioma. Also, MRI confirmed the presence of a mesenterial node (e, axial dynamic sequence "Lava MPh"). (e) MRI axial dynamic sequence "Lava MPh". Treatment with "cold" analogues of somatostatin was started, and MRI was the imaging chosen for follow-up, recording a progressive dimensional increase in the peritoneal lesion in the following 2 years, until the last MRI performed in November 2019 (f, MRI dynamic sequence, arterial phase fat-saturated; g, MRI axial dynamic sequence "Lava MPh"). (f) Dynamic sequence, arterial phase fat-saturated. (g) Axial dynamic sequence "Lava MPh". Subsequent multidisciplinary decision: "watch and wait" approach and continue with follow-up imaging studies



Fig. 6.6 (continued)

Appendix NETs are often incidentally discovered during appendicectomy and represent the most common neoplasm of the appendix. Despite they are generally considered indolent, approximately 49% display lymph node metastases while 9% present with distant metastases. The risk of distant metastases is associated with tumour size and is considered significantly increased for tumours >2 cm. For tumours >2 cm or with angioinvasion and infiltration of the mesoappendix, further imaging with abdominal CT/MRI and SRS or 68Ga-DOTATOC PET is recommended.

Colon NETs are often aggressive and metastatic at diagnosis while rectal neuroendocrine tumours are frequently low to intermediate grade and are associated with long-term survival.

EUS should be used to determine the depth of invasion while pelvic MRI is considered to be

most accurate in determining local lymph node status [52] (Fig. 6.7).

6.4.2 Pancreatic NETs

Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours are rare but represent the second most common pancreatic cancer. They can be functioning or nonfunctioning with a heterogeneous pattern of clinical presentation. They are often slow-growing lesions associated with prolonged survival, even in the presence of distant metastases.

Non-functioning pancreatic NETs show no symptoms as they are non-secreting lesions and are often detected when already of large size and usually in an advanced stage. Interestingly, the majority of non-functioning tumours are likely to





Fig. 6.7 A 68-year-old gentleman affected by a rectal mass revealed as moderately differentiated NET with an endoscopic biopsy. A 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT was performed for staging showing intense focal uptake of the primary lesion, regional lymphadenopathies, multiple

liver and bone metastasis (**a**, MIP, **b**, axial fused, **c** axial fused). (**a**) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT MIP. (**b**) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT axial fused. (**c**) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT axial fused

be malignant while functioning tumours, which have typical hormone-secreting clinical presentations, are benign [53].

Imaging techniques for the diagnosis of pancreatic NETs are the same already outlined for GEPs and especially in these tumours, the endoscopic US is of paramount importance due to its role for identification and histologic characterisation of lesions.

Multiphase multi-detector CT examination represents the first-line imaging test to evaluate pancreatic tissue with a detection rate rating between 69% and 94% in recent studies [4].

Functioning NETs are usually small in size (1-2 cm) and have a vibrant capillary network; therefore, present as homogeneously hypervascular lesions. When greater than 2 cm, they may show heterogeneity and degeneration patterns. Non-functioning tumours are instead well-defined, larger (> 4 cm) and show heterogeneous enhancement. This imaging characteristic is due to the possible cystic, necrotic or calcific components within the lesions.

Pancreatic NET secondary lesions are commonly seen in liver and locoregional lymph nodes, but retroperitoneal localisation can also occur. Moreover, as for pancreatic adenocarcinomas, also in the case of pancreatic NETs, the evaluation of locoregional vascular structures is mandatory. Pancreatic NETs tend to have a high rate of neoplastic vein thrombosis (splenic, portal and superior mesenteric veins) even though they show a lower rate of vascular encasement, more typical for pancreatic adenocarcinoma [54].

On MRI, most pancreatic NETs are hyperintense on T2-weighted images and hyper- or isointense during the arterial phase of the dynamic study. MR-DWI and ADC maps play an important complementary role to the other sequences, particularly at localising non-hyper-vascular tumours [55].

Despite the advances in the diagnostic approaches, in general, NETs are difficult to identify, and no single imaging test fulfils all the clinical expectations. For this reason, it is crucial to have a multimodal diagnostic approach that comprises invasive and non-invasive techniques.

Somatostatin receptor imaging, using scintigraphy or PET-CT is recommended because of the high expression of somatostatin receptors generally occurring in these tumours, especially in the well-differentiated forms.

The reported sensitivity of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy, to detect islet cell tumours, is between 70% and 90%. However, it appears to be generally lower, ranging between 20% and 60% for insulinomas. Enthusiastic results with a detection rate of 100% for glucagonomas, 88% for VIPomas, 72% for gastrinomas, 82% for non-functioning islet cell tumours and 87% for other carcinoids is seen in some European experiences [20].

SRS has been widely adopted for diagnosis but also for the clinical management in the restaging after surgery to assess the therapy response and to plan further treatments.

The detection of unexpected sites of diseases, not found at other imaging modalities, is crucial to delineate the therapeutic strategy in the management of the patient. 68GaDOTA-peptide PET-CT has shown to be more sensitive than to SRS in the detection of primary pancreatic NETs, with sensitivity reported around 80–90%. Versari et al. found similar figures for 68GaDOTATOC (sensitivity 92%) compared to multi-slice CT (sensitivity 91%) in detecting a duodenal-pancreatic tumour in a series of 19 patients [56].

Data on the comparison between 68Ga-DOTApeptide PET-CT and MRI, particularly the diffusion-weighted MRI, are discordant on the superiority of one to the other, thus suggesting that the association of the two techniques is recommended to obtain the best performance [57].

68Ga-DOTA-peptide PET-CT also demonstrated to be superior to F-DOPA with a sensitivity of 96% and 56%, respectively [58].

FDG PET-CT is most indicated in patients affected by poorly differentiated or more aggressive forms and to complete staging when the disease is already metastatic, to assess the possible different behaviour of the different lesions.

MIBG scintigraphy has no clinical role in the study of pancreatic NETs (Figs. 6.8, 6.9, and 6.10).



Fig. 6.8 A 44-year-old man suffered from weight loss in several months and a mild and unfocused abdominal pain. He underwent an abdominal ultrasound that showed multiple hepatic lesions, confirmed at a CT scan, particularly at the arterial phase for intense contrast enhancement. CT images also showed a 5 cm lesion in the pancreatic tail infiltrating the splenic hilum structures (a, CT axial, arterial phase). (a) CT axial, arterial phase. An ultrasoundguided biopsy was done on the liver. Histology revealed localisation of the well-differentiated NET tumour, with G1 aspects, ki67 = 2%, in keeping with the pancreatic origin. To complete staging a receptor PET-CT was performed and, because of the extension of disease, and FDG PET-CT was also scheduled. At 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT (b, MIP), the voluminous pancreatic mass in the organ tail was confirmed, showing inhomogeneous uptake of the radiopharmaceutical for a necrotic area in its context. Multiple foci of intense uptake were seen in the liver. The



left adrenal appeared increased and almost fused with the pancreatic lesion; however, given the physiological adrenal uptake at receptor imaging, no conclusion was made on the effective adrenal pathological involvement (c, axial). Two bony lesions were seen, only at the receptor PET-CT, in the sacrum (d, CT of PET and fused) and the right femur (e, CT of PET and fused). (b) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT MIP. (c) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT axial pancreas and liver lesions. (d) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT axial (CT of PET and fused) lesion in the sacrum. (e) 68Ga-DOTATOC PET-CT axial (CT of PET and fused) lesion in the right femur. At 18F-FDG PET-CT (f, MIP), the pancreatic mass appeared with moderate tracer uptake around a central area of necrosis. Only some of the multiple liver lesions were detectable. The left adrenal did not show pathological uptake (g, coronal). The patient was scheduled for systemic chemotherapy. (f) 18F-FDG PET-CT MIP. (g) 18F-FDG PET-CT axial

6 Advances in Diagnostic Imaging



Fig. 6.8 (continued)



Fig. 6.9 A 47-year-old woman after an episode of jaundice was investigated using an abdominal ultrasound revealing a coarse mass in the pancreatic head. After an ultrasound-guided biopsy, the diagnosis of a welldifferentiated pancreatic NET, G2, according to WHO 2000, Ki67 = 7%, was done. At contrast-enhanced abdominal CT, the lesion (4.2×4.8 cm and long 6.5 cm) early appeared in the arterial phase, with vivid contrast enhancement, an inhomogeneous aspect and a necrotic area within. Moreover, it appeared to have a compressive attitude towards the descending part of the duodenum

(a, axial, arterial phase). (a) Contrast-enhanced abdominal CT, axial. At either 68Ga-DOTATOC (b, coronal, c, axial) or 18F-FDG PET-CT (d, coronal, e, axial), which followed the diagnostic CT, the lesion demonstrated to take up both tracers intensely and was characterised by a central area of no uptake due to necrotic changes. (b) 68Ga-DOTA-TOC PET-CT, coronal fused images. (c) 68Ga-DOTA-TOC PET-CT, axial fused images. (e) 18F-FDG PET-CT, axial fused images. (e) 18F-FDG PET-CT, axial fused images



Fig. 6.9 (continued)

Fig. 6.10 In 2013 at the age of 71, this female patient had an incidental finding of a pancreatic lesion at CT scan done for abdominal pain (a, arterial phase axial and b, venous phase coronal). The following endoscopy and histological examination confirmed the presence of a pancreatic lesion, which resulted in a well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumour of the pancreatic gland, G2. After surgical evaluation, the patient was defined as suitable for resection and underwent distal splenic-pancreatectomy. (a) Abdominal CT scan, arterial phase axial. (b) Abdominal CT scan, arterial phase, venous phase, coronal view. Intraoperative US examination found bi-lobar liver lesions that were analysed histologically and resulted in metastatic localisations of the pancreatic NET (not seen at CT scan). A 68Ga-DOTA-NOC PET-CT was performed to complete staging after surgery with evidence of some foci of tracer uptake in the liver, in keeping with secondary localisation of the known neuroendocrine tumour of the pancreas (c, axials, fused). (c) 68Ga-DOTA-NOC PET-CT axial fused. After multidisciplinary discussion, treatment with somatostatin analogue was prescribed, with the progression of disease seen at 6 months of CT scan. Therefore, a treatment shift to chemotherapy was introduced. After the third cycle of chemotherapy, the

follow-up CT scan showed a mixed response, but the treatment was stopped due to vascular complications, and 2 months later a substantial progression in number and size of the hepatic lesions was detected at CT (d, e), implying a new change of strategy with second-line chemotherapy. (d) Abdominal CT, arterial phase, axial view. (e) Abdominal CT, arterial phase, axial view. In the following 18 months, the disease remained stable. Then at the progression of liver disease seen at MRI, a palliative trans-arterial embolisation (TAE) of the accessible liver lesions was considered and performed. Successive followup CT scan: dimensional reduction of the liver lesions treated with TAE and stability of the other lesions; thus, a successive TAE was planned and performed. Follow-up abdominal MRI: progression in number and size of the untreated lesions, the stability of the treated lesions which appear inert. After further oncologic evaluation, taking into account the progression of the disease at a hepatic level even after TAE treatment, the latter was discontinued. In 2020, a new 68-GaDOTATOC was performed to evaluate the possibility to perform radio-receptor therapy (PRRT), which was started in April 2020. (f) 68-Ga-kDOTATOC MIP: multiple liver lesions and a bone lesion in C2



6.5 Conclusion

Imaging plays a fundamental role in the management of neuroendocrine tumours. Molecular and morphological information are available in a combined fashion and give a fundamental contribution to the diagnosis, staging, treatment election and treatment monitoring of these diseases.

References

- Sundin A. Radiological and nuclear medicine imaging of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenteral. 2012;26:803–18.
- Kim KW, Krajewski KM, Nishino M, et al. Update on the management of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors with emphasis on the role of imaging. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2013;201:811–24.
- Caplin ME, Baudin E, Ferolla P, et al. The ENETS consensus conference participants. Pulmonary neuroendocrine (carcinoid) tumors: European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society expert consensus and recommendations for best practice for typical and atypical pulmonary carcinoids. Ann Oncol. 2015;26:1604–20.
- Sahani DV, Bonaffini PA, Del Castillo CF, et al. Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: role of imaging in diagnosis and management. Radiology. 2013;266(1):38–61.
- Heller MT, Shah AB. Imaging of neuro- endocrine tumors. Radiol Clin N Am. 2011;49(3):529–48. vii
- Modlin IM, Gustafsson BI, Kidd M. Gastrointestinal carcinoid tumours. In: Howden BJ, Buchman AL, Metz DC, Modlin IM, editors. Advances in digestive disease. Bethesda, MD: AGA Institute Press; 2007.
- Low G, Panu A, Millo N, Leen E. Multi- modality imaging of neoplastic and non- neoplastic solid lesions of the pancreas. Radiographics. 2011;31(4):993–1015.
- Bader TR, Semelka RC, Chiu VC, et al. MRI of carcinoid tumors: spectrum of appearances in the gastroin- testinal tract and liver. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2001;14(3):261–9.
- Hwang J, Kim YK, Park MJ, et al. Liver MRI at 3.0 tesla: comparison of image quality and lesion detectability between single-source conventional and dualsource parallel radio- frequency transmissions. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2012;36:546–53.
- Dromain C, de Baere T, Lumbroso J, et al. Detection of liver metastases from endocrine tumors: a prospective comparison of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy, computed tomography, and magnetic resonance imaging. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:70–8.
- 11. D'Assignies G, Fina P, Bruno O, et al. High sensitivity of diffusion-weighted MR imaging for the detection of liver metastases from neuroendocrine tumors: com-

parison with T2- weighted and dynamic gadoliniumenhanced MR imaging. Radiology. 2013;26:26.

- Joseph S, Wang YZ, Boudreaux JP, et al. Neuroendocrine tumors: current recommendations for diagnosis and surgical management. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 2011;40(1):205–31.
- Sundin A, Vullierme MP, Kaltsas G, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine tumors: radiological examinations. Neuroendocrinology. 2009;90:167–83.
- Bombardieri E, Giammarile F, Aktolun C, et al. 131I/123IMetaiodobenzylguanidine (mIBG) scintigraphy: procedure guidelines for tumour imaging. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2010;37:2436–46.
- Bombardieri E, Ambrosini V, Aktolun C, et al. 111In-pentetreotide scintigraphy: procedure guidelines for tumour imaging. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2010;37:1441–8.
- Virgolini I, Ambrosini V, Bomanji JB, et al. Procedure guidelines for PET/CT tumour imaging with 68Ga-DOTA-conjugated peptides: 68Ga-DOTA-TOC, 68Ga-DOTA-NOC, 68Ga-DOTA-TATE. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2010;37:2004–10.
- Bozkurt MF, Virgolini I, Balogova S, et al. Guideline for PET/CT imaging of neuroendocrine neoplasms with 68Ga-DOTA-conjugated somatostatin receptor targeting peptides and 18F–DOPA. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2017;44:1588–601.
- Balon E, Goldsmith SJ, Siegel BA, et al. Procedure guideline for somatostatin receptor scintigraphy with 111In-pentetreotide. J Nucl Med. 2001;42:1134–8.
- Kolby L, Bernhardt P, Levin-Jakobsen AM, et al. Uptake of metaiodobenzylguanidine in neuroendocrine tumours is mediated by vesicular monoamine transporters. Br J Cancer. 2003;89:1383–8.
- Pepe G, Bombardieri E, Lorenzoni A, Chiti A. Singlephoton emission computed tomography tracers in the diagnostics of neuroendocrine tumors. PET Clin. 2014;9(1):11–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cpet.2013.08.011.
- Bergeret S, Charbit J, Ansquer C, et al. Novel PET tracers: added value for endocrine disorders. Endocrine. 2019;64:14–30.
- 22. Krenning EP, Bakker WH, Kooij PPM, et al. Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy with ¹¹¹In-DTPA-D-Phe1-octreotide in man: metabolism, dosimetry and comparison with [123I-Tyr-3-]-octreotide. J Nucl Med. 1992;33:652–8.
- Gabriel M, Decristoforo C, Donnemiller E, et al. An intrapatient comparison of 99mTc-EDDA/HYNIC-TOC with 111In-DTPA-octreotide for diagnosis of somatostatin receptor-expressing tumors. J Nucl Med. 2003;44(5):708–16.
- 24. Kabasakal L, Demirci E, Ocak M, et al. Comparison of (6)(8)Ga-DOTATATE and (6)(8)Ga-DOTANOC PET/CT imaging in the same patient group with neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2012;39:1271e7.
- 25. Kayani I, Bomanji JB, Groves A, et al. Functional imaging of neuroendocrine tumors with com-

bined PET/CT using 68Ga-DOTATATE (DOTA-DPhe1,Tyr3- octreotate) and 18F-FDG. Cancer. 2008;112(11):2447–55.

- Johnbeck CB, Knigge U, Kjær A. PET tracers for somatostatin receptor imaging of neuroendocrine tumors: current status and review of the literature. Future Oncol. 2014;10:2259–77.
- Binderup T, Knigge U, Loft A, et al. 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography predicts survival of patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:978e85.
- Korner M, Stockli M, Waser B, et al. GLP1 receptor expression in human tumors and human normal tissues: potential for in vivo targeting. J Nucl Med. 2007;48:736e43.
- Wild D, Fani M, Fischer R, et al. Comparison of somatostatin receptor agonist and antagonist for peptide receptor radionuclide therapy: a pilot study. J Nucl Med. 2014;55:1248e52.
- Phan AT, Öberg K, Choi J, et al. NANETS consensus guideline for the diagnosis and management of neuroendocrine tumors: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the thorax (includes lung and thymus). Pancreas. 2010;39(6):784–98.
- Öberg K, Hellman P, Ferolla P, et al. ESMO Guidelines Working Group. Neuroendocrine bronchial and thymic tumors: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(S7):vii120–3.
- Jeung MY, Gasser B, Gangi A, et al. Bronchial carcinoid tumors of the thorax: spectrum of radiologic findings. Radiographics. 2002;22:351–65.
- Meisinger QC, Klein JS, Butnor KJ, et al. CT features of peripheral pulmonary carcinoid tumors. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2011;197:1073–80.
- 34. Schrevens L, Vansteenkiste J, Deneffe G, et al. Clinical-radiological presentation and outcome of surgically treated pulmonary carcinoid tumors: a long-term single institution experience. Lung Cancer. 2004;43:39–45.
- Bhosale P, Shah A, Wei W, et al. Carcinoid tumours: predicting the location of the primary neoplasm based on the sites of metastases. Eur Radiol. 2013;23:400–7.
- Sundin A, Garske U, Örlefors H. Nuclear imaging of neuroendocrine tumours. Best Practic Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;21(1):69–85.
- 37. Lua SJ, Gnanasegarana G, Buscombec J, et al. Single photon emission computed tomography/computed tomography in the evaluation of neuroendocrine tumours: a review of the literature. Nucl Med Commun. 2013;34(2):98–107.
- van Essen M, Sundin A, Krenning EP, et al. Neuroendocrine tumours: the role of imaging for diagnosis and therapy. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2013;10(2):102–14.
- Wibmer AG, Hricak H, Ulaner GA, et al. Trends in oncologic hybrid imaging. Eur J Hybrid Imaging. 2018;2(1):1.
- 40. Chang S, Choi D, Lee SJ, et al. Neuro- endocrine neoplasms of the gastrointes- tinal tract: classi-

fication, pathologic basis, and imaging features. Radiographics. 2007;27(6):1667–79.

- Tan EH, Tan CH. Imaging of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. World J Clin Oncol. 2011;2(1):28–43.
- Procacci C, Carbognin G, Accordini S, et al. Nonfunctioning endocrine tumors of the pancreas: possibilities of spiral CT characterisation. Eur Radiol. 2001;11(7):1175–83.
- Tamm EP, Kim EE. Imaging of neu-roendocrine tumors. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2007;21(3):409–32. vii
- 44. Teunissen JJ, Kwekkeboom DJ, Valkema R, et al. Nuclear medicine techniques for the imaging and treatment of neuroendocrine tumours. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2011;18:S27–51.
- Maffione AM, Karunanithi S, Kumar R, et al. Nuclear medicine procedures in the diagnosis of NET: a historical perspective. PET Clin. 2014;9(1):1–9.
- 46. Baumann T, Rottenburger C, Nicolas G, et al. Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours (GEP-NET)—imaging and staging. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016;30(1):45–57.
- Levy AD, Sobin LH. From the archives of the AFIP: gastro-intestinal carcinoids: imaging features with clinicopathologic comparison. Radiographics. 2007;27(1):237–57.
- Kulke MH, Anthony LB, Bushnell DL, et al. NANETS treatment guidelines: well differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the stomach and pancreas. Pancreas. 2010;39(6):735–52.
- Kamaoui I, De-Luca V, Ficarelli S, et al. Value of CT enteroclysis in suspected small-bowel carcinoid tumors. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2010;194(3):629–33.
- Woodard PK, Feldman JM, Paine SS, et al. Midgut carcinoid tumors: CT findings and biochemical profiles. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 1995;19(3):400–5.
- 51. Boudreaux JP, Klimstra DS, Hassan MM, et al. The NANETS consensus guideline for the diagnosis and management of neuroendocrine tumors: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the Jejunum, Ileum, Appendix, and Cecum. Pancreas. 2010;39(6):753–66.
- Tsoli M, Chatzellis E, Koumarianou A, et al. Current best practice in the management of neuroendocrine tumors. Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab. 2019;10:1–18.
- 53. Billimoria KY, Tomlinson JS, Merkow RP, et al. Clinicopathologic features and treatment trends of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: analysis of 9821 patients. J Gastrointest Surg. 2007;11:1460–7.
- Dromain C, Déandréis D, Scoazec JY, et al. Imaging of neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas. Diagn Interv Imaging. 2016;97:1241–57.
- 55. Lee SS, Byun JH, Park BJ, et al. Quantitative analysis of diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging of the pancreas: usefulness in characterising solid pancreatic masses. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2008;28:928–36.
- 56. Versari A, Camellini L, Carlinfante G, et al. Ga-68 DOTATOC PET, endoscopic ultra- sonography, and

multi-detector CT in the diagnosis of duodenopancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: a single-centre retrospective study. Clin Nucl Med. 2010;35:321–8.

57. Farchione A, Rufini V, Brizi MG, et al. Evaluation of the added value of diffusion-weighted imaging to conventional magnetic resonance imaging in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and comparison with 68 Ga-DOTANOC positron emission tomography/computed tomography. Pancreas. 2016;45:345–54.

58. Haug A, Auernhammer CJ, Wängler B, et al. Intraindividual comparison of 68Ga-DOTA-TATE and 18F-DOPA PET in patients with welldifferentiated metastatic neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2009;36:765–70.

Part III

New Approaches for Treatment

Abbreviations

ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic hormone
BM	Bowel movements
CC	Carcinoid crisis
CHD	Carcinoid heart disease
CS	Carcinoid syndrome
GH	Growth hormone
GHRH	Growth hormone-releasing
	hormone
IFN-alpha	Interferon-alpha
LAR	Long-acting release
NETs	Neuroendocrine tumors
pNET	Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors
PPI	Proton pump inhibitors
PRRT	Peptide receptor-targeted
	radionuclide therapy
PTH	Parathyroid hormone
PTHrP	PTH-related peptide
SA	Somatostatin analogs
u5-HIAA	24-hour urinary
	5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid
ZES	Zollinger-Ellison syndrome

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management,

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_7

7.1 Introduction

Generally, a delay of 53.8 months occurs in the diagnosis of neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) [1, 2], and patients with functioning NETs have a shorter overall survival than those with nonfunctioning NETs [3]. Beside overall survival and comorbidities, hormonal syndrome can also be related to quality of life, as for example, in the case of increased frequency of bowel movements (BM) in carcinoid syndrome CS [4]. For these reasons, timely diagnosis and proper treatment for syndrome control are crucial for patients with functioning NETs. This chapter will deal with the of functioning NETs-related treatment symptoms.

For the treatment of symptoms due to mass effects and for treatments aiming to reduce tumor burden in order to reduce hormonal secretion, see chapters on surgical procedures, locoregional treatments, and chemotherapy. Primary tumor resection in functioning NETs is controversial. There are data in the literature on improved survival after primary tumor resection of welldifferentiated NETs metastatic to the liver [5]. Accordingly, some studies have demonstrated that this practice could help disease control [6-10] but data on survival improvement are scanty and hampered by many bias such as retrospective design of the studies [5]. Primary tumor resection should be carefully evaluated in a multidisciplinary team for patients with functioning NETs

Treatment of NET-Related Symptoms



Franco Grimaldi, Fabio Vescini, and Elda Kara

F. Grimaldi (\boxtimes) · F. Vescini · E. Kara Endocrinology and Metabolism Unit, University Hospital of Udine, Udine, Italy e-mail: franco.grimaldi@asufc.sanita.fvg.it

in order to reduce hormonal secretion (e.g., Zollinger–Ellison syndrome (ZES) patients, CS, insulinoma).

7.2 Carcinoid Syndrome

Carcinoid syndrome occurs in almost 20% of patients with well-differentiated NETs of the small bowel [11]. It usually presents with liver metastasis at diagnosis [11] and is rarely associated with NETs of other organs (pancreas, rectum, etc.) [12, 13]. CS can present as typical or atypical. In the first case (95% of cases), it is due to a huge production and release of serotonin and is characterized by diarrhea, abdominal pain, and flushing, [14] while atypical CS (5% of cases) is usually mediated by histamine and is characterized by prolonged flushing, ocular edema and hyperemia, bronchospasm, and hypotension [14]. Other substances such as tachykinins, prostaglandins, and callicrein can be secreted as biochemical mediators of CS.

Somatostatin analogs (SA) and especially long-acting SA remain the mainstay of CS treatment. Lanreotide and octreotide, the two agents commercially available, are equally effective for symptom control [15]. Literature provides us evidence of their antisecretory and antiproliferative effects [16, 17] along with a high tolerability [18]. Pasireotide, a multireceptor-targeted somatostatin analog that at the moment is not approved for NET treatment, has also been studied in patients with CS resistant or refractory to treatment with octreotide long-acting release (LAR) [19] showing symptom improvement. However, it was not superior to octreotide in a comparative trial [20]. In case of refractory CS, dose escalation above the upper labeled dosages should be considered [15, 21, 22], and successively, in case of persistence of symptoms, subcutaneous shortacting SA can be associated.

Interferon-alpha (IFN-alpha) is recommended as a second-line therapy in functionally active NETs [15]. It is recommended as an add-on therapy to SA. However, we should always keep in mind unfavorable side effects (especially flu-like symptoms, fatigue, thyroid dysfunctions) of INFalpha while treating patients with it. A pegylated formulation with weekly administration can reduce side effects [23].

Telotristat is an oral inhibitor of peripheral serotonin synthesis, which acts by inhibiting tryptophan hydroxylase, the enzyme involved in the conversion of tryptophan to serotonin [24]. It may offer new possibilities for patients with refractory CS. In two prospective randomized clinical trials, telotristat demonstrated efficacy in reducing BM frequency and 24-hour urinary 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (u5-HIAA), and it also gave relief of symptoms during the assessment period [24, 25]. The percentage reduction of BM was greater in patients with greater percentage reduction of u5-HIAA. The clinical responses observed in these patients suggest that the assumption that diarrhea was mediated by serotonin and its reduction could improve symptoms was correct. Furthermore, telotristat etiprate was generally well tolerated, and there were no reports of depression and constipation [25] as reported previously for another tryptophan hydroxylase inhibitor [26]. Clinical trials that focused on telotristat safety showed a favorable safety profile and suggested that the depression observed [27, 28] could be related to the underlying disease or other causes recommending monitoring of patient's mood. Actually, it seems that telotristat does not cross the blood-brain barrier [29]. Peptide receptor-targeted radionuclide therapy (PRRT) with radiolabeled somatostatin analogs is an effective therapeutic option in patients with NETs [30]. PRRT usually involves administration of radiolabeled hormone analogs with high specificity to somatostatin receptors on tumor cells, leading to the internalization of the radioactivity into the tumor cells and consequent cell death [3]. The two most commonly used ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATAE radiopeptides are and ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC [31, 32]. Netter-1 trial showed that PRRT is highly effective in controlling advanced progressive NETs along with a favorable safety and quality of life profile [33]. FDA
and EMA approval for the use of LutaThera[™] in NETs will lead to increased use of PRRT in many countries. Patients with decompensated heart failure are not suitable candidates for PRRT, because it requires concomitant amino acid and fluid infusions before and along with peptide receptor radionuclide therapy [34].

Carcinoid heart disease (CHD) is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in patients with CS [34, 35]. Most frequently, it involves the pulmonary and tricuspid valves [35]. NT-proBNP for screening patients with carcinoid syndrome for evidence of clinically significant carcinoid heart disease and measurement of either 24-h urine 5-HIAA or plasma 5-HIAA are essential for diagnosis and follow-up of CS and CHD [34]. Furthermore. а 24-h u5-HIAA level >300 mmol/24 h seems to be a useful marker for identifying patients at risk for developing carcinoid heart disease [34]. Echocardiography and echocardiographic features seem to be the best modality in the evaluation of carcinoid heart disease and in the assessment of disease severity [34]. Cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) and computed tomography (CT) scanning can be a valuable adjunct in the investigation of patients with CHD, especially where echocardiographic windows are poor or structures are difficult to visualize [36]. Patients with CHD and severe regurgitation should be referred for surgery, and the choice of valve prosthesis should be individually tailored [36]. An experienced medical (cardiologist, endocrinologist, oncologist), surgical and anesthetic team approach is mandatory for these patients in order to give them the best and complete management [34].

Carcinoid crisis (CC) is a life-threatening form of CS that occurs due to systemic release of a large surge of bioactive amines and peptides [3]. The classical (typical) CS is characterized by diarrhea, flushing, wheezing and shortness of breath, sudden changes in blood pressure, and hyperthermia [37]. CC can be precipitated by different conditions such as surgery, biopsies, PRRT, locoregional treatments, anesthesia, some kind of food, emotional stress, pain stimuli, certain medications, and alcohol intake. Some studies have identified patients with large tumor burden, already known CS, elevated chromogranin A and/or high 24-h u5-HIAA levels or preexisting CHD as high-risk patients for CC [3]. Other factors include increasing age, hepatic metastasis, previous exposure to octreotide, and increasing duration of anesthesia, but patients without these conditions can also develop intraoperative crises [38, 39]. PRRT is a procedure that increases the risk for hormonal crises [40], probably due to tumor lysis. According to the ENETS guidelines, long-acting SA should be discontinued 4–6 weeks before PRRT [41], while short-acting formulations can be given [41].

Electrolyte, vitamin, and protein abnormalities in CS patients should be corrected before surgery along with dehydration [42, 43]. Patients with severe diarrhea may require parenteral nutrition [44]. Patients with CHD who need to undergo surgery or other invasive procedures should also undergo preoperative evaluation by an expert cardiologist in CHD [44] to prevent low cardiac output syndrome due to right ventricular failure [44]. Various octreotide administration regimen and various schemes have been proposed [44]. Some authors suggest subcutaneous administration for low-risk patients and minor procedures [45], but intravenous octreotide infusions should be readily available since CC can be induced even by minor surgical procedures [44]. However, the intravenous administration is currently considered the most preferable one [46]. If patients already receive long-acting SA, they should be continued [44]. Some data in the literature suggest that patients pretreated with SA may require higher doses of octreotide infusion [46]. Most experts initiate prophylactic treatment with intravenous octreotide 12 h before surgery and escalate the dose as necessary to control symptoms at least 48 h after the operation [44]. It seems that intravenous octreotide at a starting dose of 50-100 microgr/h (mean dose 100 - 200microgr/h) is currently used by most centers [42-44]. In addition, ondansetron may help for diarrhea control [47].

Patients with tumors originating from the foregut (especially lung, stomach, and duodenum) may present a less common atypical CS. Atypical SC is usually mediated by both histamine and serotonin and is characterized by patchy, intensely red flush, sweating, itching, cutaneous edema, bronchoconstriction, salivary gland swelling, lacrimation, and cardiovascular instability (mainly hypotension). In these patients, histamine urinary metabolite methylimidazole acetic acid must be controlled since 24-h u5-HIAA may be not elevated because of decarboxylation deficit [44]. In these patients, addition of H₁ receptor blockers and H₂ blockers is recommended, and sometimes also cortisone can be administered to block histamine peripheral actions [48, 49].

Specific recommendations about anesthesia and the drugs to prefer should also be considered in the management of CS patients. Appropriate pain relief and anxiety control can reduce catecholamines-mediated stress response, and this is very important since catecholamines are thought to contribute to the release of tumor products [42, 43, 50].

7.3 Hypoglycemia

Insulinomas are rare functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (pNET) [51–53]. Symptoms of hypoglycemia (adrenergic and neuroglycopenic) with concomitant documented low blood glucose levels and the relief of symptoms by intake of carbohydrates (Whipple's triad) are strongly suggestive for the presence of an insulinoma [54]. However, documented levels of hypoglycemia with concomitant blood insulin, C-peptide, proinsulin, and β -hydroxybutyrate levels during a supervised 72-h fasting test, considered the gold standard, are needed to confirm the diagnosis of insulinoma [51, 54, 55] as well as the absence of sulfonylurea in plasma and/or urine [52, 53] and the absence of insulin antibodies [56].

Surgical exploration is recommended in all insulinoma patients with or without MEN1, if non-resectable metastatic disease is not present

[57]. A laparoscopic approach is usually recommended in patients with sporadic disease and with imaged tumors [58]. In patients with a localized insulinoma, who are not candidates for surgery, ablative therapy either endoscopically or percutaneously with radiological guidance should be considered [57]. Prior to surgery or locoregional treatments, in order to control hypoglycemia and to reduce the risk of hypoglycemic crises during the procedure, medical therapy is very important. Besides treating patients with diazoxide (first-line treatment for hypoglycemia), 30–50% of them also respond to SA [57], but they need to be carefully monitored, because some of them may get worse [59–65] since SA also inhibit the secretion of counterregulatory hormones. Everolimus can be used in refractory hypoglycemia due to malignant insulinoma [2, 57], while treatment with glucocorticoids can be used because it induces hyperglycemia by inhibiting insulin secretion and increasing insulin resistance [2]. PRRT, even though experience in malignant insulinoma is very limited [2], may be an effective treatment option for hormonal syndrome control and tumor burden reduction or stabilization [33, 66, 67]. Sunitinib and pasireotide were also shown to be effective [57, 68], even though the experience is limited. However, it is not known which is the best and most effective therapeutic sequence in patients with malignant insulinomas.

7.4 Zollinger–Ellison Syndrome

Inappropriately elevated fasting serum gastrin in the presence of hypergastrinemia when gastric acid secretion (gastric pH < 2) is present suggests the diagnosis of Zollinger–Ellison syndrome (ZES) [57]. Routine surgical exploration is still not generally recommended in MEN1/ZES patients with pNETs < 2 cm [57]. Patients with sporadic gastrinomas and without contraindications should undergo surgical exploration by a gastrinomas dedicated surgeon [69]. Peritumoral lymph nodes should be removed in order to be assessed for prognostic purposes and to increase the cure rate [57]. Enucleation is the generally recommended surgical procedure; pancreaticduodenotomy is reserved for selected cases [70–75]. pNETs with preoperative vascular involvement or invasion should be evaluated by a team well versed in this kind of surgery [57].

Proton pump inhibitors (PPI) remain the mainstay of medical therapy for gastric acid secretion control [57]. Hypomagnesemia and vitamin B_{12} deficiency can develop during long-term treatment [76–82]. Some epidemiological studies have also found an increased incidence of bone fractures even though this finding was not confirmed in other studies [57]. The high somatostatin receptor expression in gastrinomas makes them highly responsive to SA and supports the use of such drugs to control tumor growth in patients not amenable to surgical cure. However, only limited data exist to support the use of SSAs in advanced gastrinomas [83].

7.5 Glucagonoma

Glucagonoma is an uncommon neuroendocrine tumor arising from pancreatic islet alpha cells [84]. Its clinical manifestations include necrolytic migratory erythema, glucose intolerance or diabetes mellitus, and importantly weight loss [44, 84]. SSA, antibiotics, and amino acid infusion may improve syndrome control and may help heal skin lesions [44]. These patients are at high risk for deep venous thrombosis and pulmonary embolism. For this reason, they should also receive thromboprophylaxis especially before surgical procedures. Locoregional treatments and medical systemic therapy may also be considered based on disease extension and grading surgery.

7.6 VIPoma

VIPoma is generally a pNET secreting vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) that causes a clinical syndrome characterized by severe secretory diarrhea, which leads to severe hypokalemia, loss of bicarbonate, metabolic acidosis, and dehydration [44]. Patients must be treated for this lifethreatening condition by correcting electrolyte abnormalities and dehydration. SA remain the treatment of choice for rare functioning NETs [44, 57] prior to surgery or if resection is not possible.

7.7 Somatostatinoma

Somatostatinomas are NETs of the pancreas, duodenum, or jejunum [57], and, at present, there are more than 100 cases described in the literature [57]. The clinical syndrome is characterized by diabetes mellitus, cholelithiasis, diarrhea, and steatorrhea [57, 85]. Primary tumor and metastasis surgery, when possible, can help treat symptoms due to tumor load, hormonal secretion, and obstructive symptoms [85]. With this aim, locoregional therapies may also be considered.

7.8 Ectopic Syndromes

Nonfunctioning NETs can also become suddenly functional NETs, and usually this is a poor prognostic factor [2]. Syndrome control is important in order to reduce comorbidities associated to the syndrome and in order to prepare the patient for surgical or other invasive procedures.

7.8.1 Syndrome of Inappropriate Antidiuresis (SIAD)

NETs syndrome of inappropriate antidiuresis (SIAD) is usually caused by small-cell lung carcinoma, but other neuroendocrine neoplasias can cause SIAD too [86]. SIAD is characterized by euvolemic hypotonic hyponatremia due to the antidiuretic effect of inappropriate levels of antidiuretic hormone (ADH). [87]. Hyponatremia correction is very important since it is a lifethreatening situation. In severe symptomatic hyponatremia, infusion of 3% NaCl saline as boluses or as a continuous infusion should be administered [88]. Vaptans, nonpeptide vasopressin receptor antagonists, cause serum sodium increase by inducing aquaresis [88]. Treatment is usually started with 7.5–15 mg per day. Cases of secondary resistance to tolvaptan in paraneoplastic SIAD have been reported despite increasing doses of tolvaptan [87]. The authors think that this can be due to extraordinarily high levels of ADH, rather than adaptive mechanisms at receptor level. Loss of aquaretic effect in these patients can represent disease progression [87].

7.8.2 Acromegaly

The incidence of acromegaly due to a pituitary adenoma is three cases per one million persons per year, and the prevalence is about 60 cases per million [89]. In less than 1% of cases, acromegaly may develop because of ectopic secretion of hormone (GH)-releasing growth hormone (GHRH) [90–95] or, more rarely, GH secretion from a nonpituitary origin, mostly from a neuroendocrine tumor (NET) [96-98]. Usually, it is secondary to pNETs or bronchial carcinoids, but NETs from other origin can also cause ectopic acromegaly [57]. There are reported cases of ectopic acromegaly in a patient with pheochromocytoma [99], lymphoma [98], and paraganglioma [89].

Surgical resection of the primary tumor [89] should be considered whenever possible in order to control syndrome, and, if it is not possible, curative SA should be used for their antiproliferative effect and hormonal excess control. After SA treatment, in case of persistence of high hormonal levels, pegvisomant, a GH receptor antagonist, should also be considered. In case of unresectable tumor or extensive metastasis, other systemic therapies, locoregional treatments, and radiotherapy should also be evaluated for syndrome control according to the extent, grading, and biological characteristics of the neuroendocrine disease [89].

7.8.3 Cushing Syndrome

Ectopic adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) secretion has been reported primarily in patients with lung NETs [44], but can also be encountered in patients with gastrointestinal tumors [100, 101]. Syndrome control, especially before surgical procedures, is very important since ectopic hypercortisolism can cause severe hypokalemia, hyperglycemia, and high thromboembolic risk arising very quickly.

Drugs aiming at controlling hypercortisolism can act at the tumor level (SA, cabergoline), at the adrenals (metyrapone, ketoconazole), or at the glucocorticoid receptor. These drugs can also be used in association. Attention must be paid with ketoconazole that can interfere with the metabolism of other drugs such as anticoagulants, antibiotics, and chemotherapeutics. Hypokalemia must be corrected since these patients can present with rapid onset and severe hypokalemia that can cause cardiac rhythm alterations. Glucose levels control is also of crucial importance. Furthermore, these patients can present frailty fractures secondary to hypercortisolism, especially vertebral fractures, and for this reason adequate vitamin D supplementation and eventually antiosteoporotic treatment (such as zoledronate) should be considered. Finally, if medical therapy does not control hypercortisolism, bilateral adrenalectomy should be carefully considered by a multidisciplinary team and with a dedicated surgeon.

7.8.4 Hypercalcemia (PTHrP and MEN1)

Ectopic hypercalcemia may be secondary to ectopic production of parathyroid hormonerelated peptide (PTHrP) [44] or, less commonly, to ectopic production of parathyroid hormone (PTH) [102]. In patients with uncontrolled hormonal syndrome, debulking surgery and hepatic locoregional treatment must be considered [44] despite systemic pharmacotherapy for the neoplasia. The mainstays of medical treatment in case of severe ectopic hypercalcemia are patient rehydration and treatment with bisphosphonates (zoledronate, pamidronate) or denosumab with the aim to reduce bone resorption [103]. Hydrocortisone can inhibit calcium absorption and reduce extra renal calcitriol [103]. Treatment with furosemide is controversial. Cinacalcet mimics high levels of calcium to reduce PTH levels [104]. In case of patients unresponsive to pharmacotherapy or in case of severe hypercalcemia with important kidney failure, hemodialysis must be considered.

Hypercalcemic primary hyperparathyroidism can present in patients with pNETs in MEN1 syndrome. Although the optimum timing has not been defined, surgery for subtotal parathyroidectomy or total parathyroidectomy is recommended [105]. Total parathyroidectomy with autotransplantation may be considered. Patient management should be done by a NETs multidisciplinary experienced team that should include an experienced endocrine surgeon. Conventional open bilateral exploration is recommended, while minimally invasive parathyroidectomy is usually not recommended because multiple glands are typically affected [105]. Concurrent transcervical profilactic thymectomy is also suggested at the time of surgery [105]. While waiting for parathyroidectomy, hypercalcemia can be treated with cinacalcet and/or bisphosphonates.

7.9 Conclusions

Clinical syndrome control is paramount for comorbidities, mortality, and quality of life control in functioning NET patients. Whenever possible, surgery of the primary and/or metastasis should be considered in order to reduce tumor burden and consequently hormonal secretion. Because of their antiproliferative and antisecretive effects, SA are the mainstay for many hormonal syndromes in NETs. However, further investigation is needed for the use of multiple SA receptor pasireotide in the treat-

ment of NET-related syndromes. According to the type of hormonal secretion, other medical treatments should be used alone or in combination therapy with SA in order to control symptoms, and to prepare the patient for procedures such as surgery, locoregional treatments, and PRRT. We still have to deal with syndromes that we cannot control at all, such as refractory CS, hypoglycemia in malignant insulinomas, or severe ectopic hypercortisolism. In the first case, telotristat has provided very promising outcomes, while for malignant insulinomas usually combination therapy with different sequences is recommended. For these reasons and with the aim to offer our patients the best treatment currently available, a multidisciplinary team approach is always crucial for treatment and follow-up.

References

- Basuroy R, Bouvier C, Ramage JK, et al. Delays and routes to diagnosis of neuroendocrine tumors. BMC Cancer. 2018;18:1122.
- Veltroni A, Cosaro E, Spada F, et al. Clinicopathological features, treatments and survival of malignant insulinomas: a multicenter study. Eur J Endocrinol. 2020;182(4):439–46.
- Tapia Rico G, Li M, Pavlakis N, et al. Prevention and management of carcinoid crisis in patients with high-risk neuroendocrine tumors undergoing peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT): literature review and case series from two Australian tertiary medical institutions. Cancer Treat Rev. 2018;66:1–6.
- Beaumont JL, Cella D, Phan AT, et al. Comparison of health-related quality of life in patients with neuroendocrine tumors with quality of life in the general US population. Pancreas. 2012;41(3):461–6.
- Citterio D, Pusceddu S, Facciorusso A, et al. Primary tumor resection may improve survival in functional well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors metastatic to the liver. J Cancer Surg. 2017;43:380–7.
- Schindl M, Kaczirek K, Passler C, et al. Treatment of small intestinal neuroendocrine tumors: is an extended multimodal approach justified? World J Surg. 2002;26:976–84.
- Capurso G, Bettini R, Rinzivillo M, et al. Role of secretion of the primary pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor only in patients with unresectable metastatic liver disease: a systematic review. Neuroendocrinology. 2011;93:223–9.

- Capurso G, Rinzivillo M, Bettini R, et al. Systematic review of resection of primary midgut carcinoid tumor in patients with unresectable liver metastasis. Br J Surg. 2012;99:1480–6.
- Bettini R, Mantovani W, Boninsegna L, et al. Primary tumor resection in metastatic non functioning pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas. Dig Liver Dis. 2009;41:49–55.
- Eriksson B, Kloppel G, Krenning E, et al. Frascati Consensus Conference Partecipants. Consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine tumors -- well-differentiated jejunal-ileal tumor/carcinoma. Neuroendocrinology. 2008;87:8–19.
- Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A, et al. One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2008;26:3063–72.
- Halperin DM, Shen C, Dasari A, et al. Frequency of carcinoid syndrome at neuroendocrine tumor diagnosis: a population-based study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:525–34.
- Polikarpova PB, Lubimova NV, Ogereliev AS, et al. Clinical and biochemical aspects of the carcinoid syndrome in neuroendocrine tumors of the abdominal and retroperitoneal organs and its impact for the disease prognosis. Bull Exp Biol. 2009;148:803–6.
- Fazio N, Gelsomino F, Falconi M, et al. Linee guida neoplasie neuroendocrine. Edizione: Italian Association for Neuroendocrine Tumors; 2019.
- 15. Pavel M, O'Toole D, Costa F, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines update for the management of distant metastatic disease of intestinal, pancreatic, bronchial neuroendocrine neoplasms (NEN) and NEN of unknown primary site. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103:172–85.
- 16. Rinke A, Muller HH, Schade-Brittinger C, Klose KJ, et al. Place-controlled, double-blind, prospective, randomized study on the effect of octreotide LAR in the control of tumor growth in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine midgut tumors: a report from the PROMID study group. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:4656–63.
- Caplin ME, Pavel M, Jaroslaw B, et al. Lanreotide in metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:224–33.
- Caplin ME, Pavel M, Cwikla JB, et al. Anti-tumor effects of lanreotide for pancreatic and intestinal neuroendocrine tumors: the CLARINET open-label extension study. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2016;23(3):191–9.
- Kvols KJ, Oberg KE, O'Dorisio TM, et al. Pasireotide (SOM230) shows efficacy and tolerability in the treatment of patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors refractory or resistant to octreotide LAR: results from a phase II study. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2012;19:657–66.

- 20. Wolin E, Jarzab B, Eriksson B, et al. Phase III study of pasireotide long-acting release in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine tumors and carcinoid symptoms refractory to available somatostatin analogues. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2015;9:5075–86.
- 21. Strosberg JR, Benson AB, Huynh L, et al. Clinical benefits of above-standard dose of octreotide LAR in patients with neuroendocrine tumors for control of carcinoid syndrome symptoms: a multicenter retrospective chart review study. Oncologist. 2014;19:930–6.
- 22. Al-Efraij K, Aljama MA, Kennecke HF. Association of dose escalation of octreotide long-acting release on clinical symptoms and tumor markers and response among patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer Med. 2015;4:864–70.
- Pavel ME, Baum U, Hahn EG, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of pegylated IFN-alpha in patients with neuroendocrine gastroenteropancreatic carcinomas. J Interf Cytokine Res. 2006;26:8–13.
- 24. Kulke MH, O'Dorisio TM, Phan A, et al. Telotristat etiprate, a novel serotonin synthesis inhibitor, in patients with carcinoid syndrome and diarrhea not adequately controlled by octreotide. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2014;21(5):705–14.
- Pavel M, Horsch D, Caplin M, et al. Telotristat etiprate for carcinoid syndrome: a single-arm, multicenter trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100:1511–9.
- Engelman K, Lovenberg W, Sjordsma A. Inhibition of serotonin synthesis by Para-chlorophenylalanine in patients with the carcinoid syndrome. N Engl J Med. 1967;277:1103–8.
- Cella D, Beaumont JL, Hudgens S, et al. Relationship between symptoms and health-related quality-oflife benefits in patients with carcinoid syndrome: post hoc analyses from TELESTAR. Clin Ther. 2018;40:2006–20.
- Pavel M, Gross DJ, Benavent M, et al. Telotristat ethyl in carcinoid syndrome: safety and efficacy in the TELECAST phase 3 trial. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2018;25:309–22.
- 29. Liu Q, Yang Q, Sun W, et al. Discovery and characterization of novel tryptophane hydroxylase inhibitors that selectively inhibit serotonin synthesis in the gastrointestinal tract. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2008;325:47–55.
- Seregni E, Maccauro M, Chiesa C, et al. Treatment with tandem [⁹⁰Y]DOTA-TATE and [¹⁷⁷Lu]DOTA-TATE of neuroendocrine tumors refractory to conventional therapy. Eur J Nucl Med Imag. 2014;41:223–30.
- Krenning EP, de Jong M, Kooij PPM, et al. Radiolabelled somatostatin analogue(s) for peptide receptor scintigraphy and radionuclide therapy. Ann Oncol. 1999;10:S23–9.
- Kwekkeboom DJ, de Herder WW, Kam BL, et al. Treatment with the radiolabeled somatostatin analog [^{177L}u-DOTA0, Tyr3]octreotate: toxicity, efficacy,

and survival. J Clin Oncol Official J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2008;26:2124–30.

- 33. Strosberg J, El-Haddad G, Wolin E, et al. Phase 3 trial of ¹⁷⁷-Lu-Dotatate for midgut neuroendocrine tumors. N Eng J Med. 2017;376:125–35.
- 34. Davar J, Connolly HM, Martyn E, et al. Diagnosing and managing carcinoid heart disease in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;69:1288–304.
- Moller JE, Pellikka PA, Bernheim AM, et al. Prognosis of carcinoid heart disease. Circulation. 2005;112:3320–65.
- 36. Bhattacharyya S, Toumpanakis C, Burke M, et al. Features of carcinoid heart disease identified by 2and 3-dimensional echocardiography and cardiac MRI. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2010;3:103–11.
- Soga J. Carcinoids and their variant endocrinomas. An analysis of 11,842 reported cases. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2003;22:517–30.
- Condron ME, Pommier SJ, Pommier RF. Continuous infusion of octreotide combined with perioperative octreotide bolus does not prevent intraoperative carcinoid crisis. Surgery. 2016;159:358–67.
- Seymour N, Sawh SC. Mega-dose intravenous octreotide for the treatment of carcinoid crisis: a systematic review. Can J Anaesthesia. 2013;60:492–9.
- 40. Davì MV, Bodei L, Francia G, et al. Carcinoid crisis induced by receptor radionuclide therapy with ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC in a case of liver metastases from bronchial neuroendocrine tumor (atypical carcinoid). J Endocrinol Investig. 2006;29(6):563–7.
- 41. Hicks RJ, Kwekkeboom DJ, Krenning E, Bodei L, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine neoplasia: peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with radiolabeled somatostatin analogues. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;105:295–309.
- Vaughan DJ, Brunner MD. Anesthesia for patients with carcinoid syndrome. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 1997;35:129–42.
- Graham GW, Unger BP, Coursin DB. Perioperative management of selected endocrine disorders. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 2000;38:31–67.
- 44. Kaltsas G, Caplin M, Davies P, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine tumors: pre- and perioperative therapy in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;105:245–54.
- 45. Mancuso K, Kaye AD, Boudreaux JP, Fox CJ, Lang P, et al. Carcinoid syndrome and perioperative anesthetic considerations. J Clin Anesth. 2011;23:329–41.
- 46. Seymour N, Sawh SC. Mega-dose intravenous octreotide for the treatment of carcinoid crisis: a systematic review. Can J Anaesth. 2013;60:492–9.
- Kiesewetter B, Raderer M. Ondansetron for diarrhea associated with neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1947–8.

- Tomassetti P, Migliori M, Lalli S, et al. Epidemiology, clinical features and diagnosis of gastroenteropancreatic endocrine tumours. Ann Oncol. 2001;12(suppl 2):S95–9.
- Kolby L, Nilsson O, Ahlman H. Gastroduodenal endocrine tumours. Scand J Surg. 2004;93:317–23.
- Massimino K, Harrskog O, Pommier S, Pommier R. Octreotide LAR and bolus octreotide are insufficient for preventing intraoperative complications in carcinoid patients. J Surg Oncol. 2013;107:842–6.
- De Herder WW, Niederle B, Scoazec JY, et al. Welldifferentiated pancreatic tumor/carcinoma: insulinoma. Neuroendocrinology. 2006;84:183–8.
- 52. Jensen RT, Cadiot G, Brandi ML, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms: functional pancreatic neuroendocrine syndromes. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95:98–119.
- Vinik AI, Woltering EA, Warner RR, et al. NANETS consensus guidelines for the diagnosis of neuroendocrine tumor. Pancreas. 2010;39:713–34.
- Service FJ. Hypoglycemic disorders. N Engl J Med. 1995;332:1144–52.
- 55. Service FJ, Nat N. The prolonged fast. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85:3973–4.
- 56. Cryer PE, Axelrod L, Grossman AB, et al. Evaluation and management of adult hypoglycemic disorders: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94:709–28.
- 57. Falconi M, Eriksson B, Kaltsas G, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines update for the management of patients with functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and non-functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103:153–71.
- Al-Kurd A, Chapchay K, Grozinsky-Glasberg S, et al. Laparoscopic resection of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:4908–16.
- Ito T, Igarashi H, Jensen RT. Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: clinical features, diagnosis and medical treatment: advances. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2012;26:737–53.
- Ito T, Igarashi H, Jensen RT. Therapy of metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (pNETs): recent insights and advances. J Gastroenterol. 2012;47:941–60.
- Tabarin A, Goichot B. Treatment: symptomatic treatment of hypoglycaemia. Ann Endocrinol (Paris). 2013;74:196–9.
- Baudin E, Caron P, Lombard-Bohas C, et al. Malignant insulinoma: recommendations for characterisation and treatment. Ann Endocrinol (Paris). 2013;74:523–33.
- Ferrer-Garcia JC, Iranzo Gonzalez-Cruz V, Navas-DeSolis S, et al. Management of malignant insulinoma. Clin Transl Oncol. 2013;15:725–31.

- 64. Jawiarczyk A, Bolanowski M, Syrycka J, et al. Effective therapy of insulinoma by using longacting somatostatin analogue. A case report and literature review. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2012;120:68–72.
- 65. Oberg KE, Reubi JC, Kwekkeboom DJ, et al. Role of somatostatins in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumor development and therapy. Gastroenterology. 2010;139:742–53. 753
- 66. van Schaik E, van Vliet EI, Feelders RA, et al. Improved control of severe hypoglycemia in patients with malignant insulinomas by peptide receptor radionuclide therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96:3381–9.
- 67. Magalhaes D, Sampaio IL, Ferreira G, et al. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with 177Lu-DOTA-TATE as a promising treatment of malignant insulinoma: a series of case reports and literature review. J Endocrinol Investig. 2019;42:249–60.
- Hendren NS, Panach K, Brown TJ, et al. Pasireotide for the treatment of refractory hypoglycemia from malignant insulinoma. Clin Endocrinol Oxf. 2018;88(2):341–3.
- Norton JA, Fraker DL, Alexander HR, et al. Value of surgery in patients with negative imaging and sporadic Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Ann Surg. 2012;256:509–17.
- 70. Jensen RT, Cadiot G, Brandi ML, et al. ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms: functional pancreatic endocrine tumor syndromes. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95:98–119.
- Ito T, Igarashi H, Jensen RT. Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: recent advances and controversies. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2013;29:650–61.
- Lopez CL, Falconi M, Waldmann J, et al. Partial pancreaticoduodenectomy can provide cure for duodenal gastrinoma associated with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Ann Surg. 2013;257:308–14.
- Bartsch DK, Albers M, Knoop R, et al. Enucleation and limited pancreatic resection provide long-term cure for insulinoma in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Neuroendocrinology. 2013;98:290–8.
- Krampitz GW, Norton JA. Current management of the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Adv Surg. 2013;47:59–79.
- Kulke MH, Anthony LB, Bushnell DL, et al. NANETS treatment guidelines: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the stomach and pancreas. Pancreas. 2010;39:735–52.
- 76. Ito T, Jensen RT. Association of long-term proton pump inhibitor therapy with bone fractures and effects on absorption of calcium, vitamin B12, iron, and magnesium. Curr Gastroenterol Rep. 2010;12:448–57.
- Luk CP, Parsons R, Lee YP, et al. Proton pump inhibitor-associated hypomagnesemia: what do FDA data tell us? Ann Pharmacother. 2013;47:773–80.

- Corleto VD, Festa S, Di Giulio E, et al. Proton pump inhibitor therapy and potential long-term harm. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2014;21:3–8.
- Famularo G, Gasbarrone L, Minisola G. Hypomagnesemia and proton-pump inhibitors. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2013;12:709–16.
- Reimer C. Safety of long-term PPI therapy. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2013;27:443–54.
- Heidelbaugh JJ, Metz DC, Yang YX. Proton pump inhibitors: are they overutilised in clinical practice and do they pose significant risk? Int J Clin Pract. 2012;66:582–91.
- Vakil N. Prescribing proton pump inhibitors: is it time to pause and rethink? Drugs. 2012;72: 437–45.
- 83. Guarnotta V, Martini C, Davì MV, et al. The Zollinger–Ellison syndrome: is there a role for somatostatin analogues in the treatment of the gastrinoma? Endocrine. 2018;60(1):15–27.
- 84. Shen C, He J, Zheng L, et al. Application of somatostatin, chemotherapy combined with TAE in heterogeneous glucagonoma presented with necrolytic migratory erythema. Onco Targets Ther. 2019;20(12):11339–44.
- Elangovan A, Zulfiqar H. Somatostatinoma. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing; 2020.
- Taskin M, Barker B, Calanog A, et al. Syndrome of inappropriate antidiuresis in ovarian serous carcinoma with neuroendocrine differentiation. Gynecol Oncol. 1996;62(3):400–4.
- Garrahy A, Hannon AM, Zia-Ul-Hussnain HM, et al. Secondary resistance to tolvaptan in two patients with SIAD due to small cell lung cancer. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2018;74:245–6.
- Peri A. Management of hyponatremia: causes, clinical aspects, differential diagnosis and treatment. Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab. 2019;14(1):13–21.
- Ghazi AA, Amirbaigloo A, Dezfoli AA, et al. Ectopic acromegaly due to growth hormone releasing hormone. Endocrine. 2013;42(2):293–302.
- 90. Thorner MO, Frohman LA, Leong DA, et al. Extrahypothalamic growth-hormone- releasing factor (GRF) secretion is a rare cause of acromegaly: plasma GRF levels in 177 acromegalic patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1984;59:846–9.
- 91. Faglia G, Arosio M, Bazzoni N. Ectopic acromegaly. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 1992;21:575–95.
- Losa M, von Werder K. Pathophysiology and clinical aspects of the ectopic GH-releasing hormone syndrome. Clin Endocrinol. 1997;47:123–35.
- Doga M, Bonadonna S, Burattin A, et al. Ectopic secretion of growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH) in neuroendocrine tumors: relevant clinical aspects. Ann Oncol. 2001;12(Suppl 2):S89–94.
- 94. Gola M, Doga M, Bonadonna S, et al. Neuroendocrine tumors secreting growth hormonereleasing hormone: pathophysiological and clinical aspects. Pituitary. 2006;9:221–9.

- Melmed S. Medical progress: acromegaly. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:2558–73.
- Melmed S, Ezrin C, Kovacs K, et al. Acromegaly due to secretion of growth hormone by an ectopic pancreatic islet-cell tumor. N Engl J Med. 1985;312:9–17.
- Beuschlein F, Strasburger CJ, Siegerstetter V, et al. Acromegaly caused by secretion of growth hormone by a non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2000;342:1871–6.
- Biswal S, Srinivasan B, Dutta P, et al. Acromegaly caused by ectopic growth hormone: a rare manifestation of a bronchial carcinoid. Ann Thorac Surg. 2008;85:330–2.
- 99. Vieira Neto L, Taboada GF, Correa LL, et al. Acromegaly secondary to growth hormone- releasing hormone secreted by an incidentally discovered pheochromocytoma. Endocr Pathol. 2007;18:46–52.
- 100. Kaltsas G, Androulakis II, de Herder WW, et al. Paraneoplastic syndromes secondary to neuroendocrine tumours. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2010;17:R173–93.

- 101. Maragliano R, Vanoli A, Albarello L, et al. ACTHsecreting pancreatic neoplasms associated with Cushing syndrome: clinicopathologic study of 11 cases and review of the literature. Am J Surg Pathol. 2015;39:374–82.
- 102. Kwon HJ, Kim JW, Kim H, et al. Combined hepatocellular carcinoma and neuroendocrine carcinoma with ectopic with ectopic secretion of parathyroid hormone: a case report and review of the literature. J Pathol Trans Med. 2018;52(4):232–7.
- 103. Sternlicht H, Glezerman IG. Hypercalcemia of malignancy and new treatment options. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2015;4(11):1779–88.
- 104. Valdes-Socin H, Almanza MR, Fernandez-Ladreda MT, et al. Use of cinacalcet and sunitinib to treat hypercalcemia due to a pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor. Arch Endocrinol Metab. 2017;61(5):506–9.
- 105. Thakker RV, Newey PJ, Walls GV, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1). J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97:2990–3011.

e-mail: falconi.massimo@hsr.it

Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (GEP-NENs) are heterogeneous malignancies arising from neuroendocrine cells. These lesions represent the second most common digestive tumor in terms of prevalence [1], and their incidence has significantly increased during the last three decades [2], probably due to the extensive use of endoscopic procedures and highquality diagnostic techniques [3]. These neoplasms are characterized by a broad spectrum of aggressiveness, as they comprise both slowgrowing tumors with an indolent biological behavior and aggressive neoplasms presenting at diagnosis with invasion of nearby structures or distant metastases [4]. GEP-NENs can be defined as functioning or nonfunctioning, based on the presence or absence of a clinical syndrome related to hormone hypersecretion; pancreatic NENs (PanNENs) are nonfunctioning in the vast majority of cases (90%) [5], whereas small bowel NENs (SB-NENs), especially when metastatic, are frequently associated with a typical carcinoid syndrome [4, 6]. Furthermore, these neoplasms

New Surgical Strategies

Valentina Andreasi, Stefano Partelli, Francesca Muffatti, and Massimo Falconi

> may display a variable aggressiveness depending on their site of origin. SB-NENs are characterized by a relatively high tendency to metastasize, but they are likely to have an indolent progression despite the unfavorable setting; conversely, gastric and rectal NENs have a low metastatic rate at initial diagnosis, but they rapidly progress once they have metastasized [4].

> Therefore, the management of GEP-NENs should be tailored according to the characteristics of the tumor, including site of origin, stage, grade, functionality, and disease extent. Moreover, patient's features, such as age, comorbidities, and performance status, should be taken into account as well.

> Surgical resection plays a pivotal role in the management of GEP-NENs, as it is the only chance of achieving a complete cure [4-8].

8.2 Management of Small and Incidentally Discovered Well-Differentiated Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors (GEP-NETs)

The incidental diagnosis of GEP-NETs is increasingly frequent, probably due to the widespread use of endoscopic and radiological examinations. Current guidelines [5, 7-10]report that nonfunctioning, well-differentiated,

8.1 Introduction

majority of cases (90%) [5], whereas small bow NENs (SB-NENs), especially when metastat are frequently associated with a typical carcino syndrome [4, 6]. Furthermore, these neoplast V. Andreasi · S. Partelli · F. Muffatti · M. Falconi (⊠) Pancreatic Surgery Unit, Pancreas Translational & Clinical Research Center, San Raffaele Hospital Neuroendocrine Tumor Group (ENETS Center of Excellence), Vita-Salute San Raffaele University, IRCCS San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy

⁰



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_8

low-grade, incidentally discovered GEP-NETs might benefit from a conservative management consisting in endoscopic resection or active surveillance.

8.2.1 Pancreatic NETs

The incidence of small, asymptomatic, nonfunctioning pancreatic NETs (NF-PanNETs) has significantly increased during the last three decades [2, 11]. However, it is likely that the real prevalence of these lesions is much higher, as small PanNETs are frequently found incidentally at final pathological examination in patients submitted to pancreatic resection for diagnoses other than NETs [12]. This finding supports the fact that many individuals are probably affected by small PanNETs that will remain unchanged for their entire life.

Given the dramatic increase in the incidence of these small lesions, their indolent behavior, and the high morbidity associated to pancreatic surgery, a watchful strategy has been advocated. Several retrospective studies [13–15] demonstrated the safety of active surveillance for asymptomatic NF-PanNETs with a maximum diameter ≤ 2 cm. Based on these series, current guidelines [5, 7, 9] proposed a "wait and see" strategy. More recently, the long-term outcomes of active surveillance were investigated and no disease-specific survival advantage from surgery compared to active surveillance was found in patients with small NF-PanNETs [16]. Despite this evidence, the conservative management for small NF-PanNETs is still controversial in some challenging situations such as small lesions occurring in young patients or in the presence of radiological or pathological worrisome features, such as dilation of the main pancreatic duct [14, 17].

Nowadays, an *active surveillance strategy* with a 6-month radiological follow-up for the first 2 years from diagnosis and yearly thereafter is recommended for *NF-PanNETs* $\leq 2 \ cm$ without *features of aggressiveness* (nodal metastases, dilation of the main pancreatic duct or bile duct, vascular or nearby organs invasion) [18].

8.2.2 Gastric NETs

Gastric NETs (G-NETs) are increasingly recognized entities due to the expanding indications for upper gastrointestinal endoscopy [2]. Type I G-NETs (70–80%), which are characterized by the association with chronic atrophic gastritis, usually display small size, indolent biological behavior (mostly G1), and excellent overall survival rates [8]. Therefore, current European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) guidelines proposed that conservative strategies should be preferred over surgery, in order to reduce the risk of overtreatment [8]. In particular, endoscopic surveillance every 12 or 24 months is recommended for lesions smaller than 1 cm, whereas endoscopic resection (ER) by endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR) or endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) is suggested for lesions measuring >1 cm and limited to the submucosal layer [18, 19]. Some series reported a greater complete resection rate by using ESD compared to EMR [20, 21]. However, it should be pointed out that ER, especially ESD, is associated to a measurable risk of bleeding and perforation. The endoscopic (a) and eco-endoscopic (b) appearance of a 12-mm type 1 G-NET are shown in Fig. 8.1. On the other hand, patients with type I G-NETs invading the muscular layer should be excluded from ER and submitted to surgery [22]. Regarding type II G-NETs (5-6%), which are caused by hypergastrinemia in the setting of an underlying gastrinoma in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1), treatment is usually dependent on the simultaneous presence of duodenal or pancreatic NETs which require surgical treatment [8]. Nevertheless, a conservative management should be considered as well since these lesions may regress with a successful medical treatment of the underlying gastrinoma [18, 23]. Finally, type III G-NENs are usually large, unique, high-grade (G3), malignant lesions. Their incidental diagnosis is rare as they often present with symptoms at an advanced stage of disease [8, 19]. Therefore, current guidelines [8, 24] recommend surgical resection (partial or total gastrectomy with nodal dissection), whereas ER rarely represents an



Fig. 8.1 Upper gastrointestinal endoscopy (**a**) and endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) (**b**) showing a 12-mm type I gastric neuroendocrine tumor (G-NET) G1 limited to the

submucosal layer of the gastric body and subsequently treated by endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD). The red circle indicates the tumor

acceptable treatment option [8]. In this regard, it has been reported that ER or wedge resection could be considered as initial treatment for type III G-NETs G1 <1.5–2 cm confined to the submucosal layer with no evidence of lymphovascular invasion [25, 26].

8.2.3 Duodenal NETs

Duodenal NETs (D-NETs) represent approximately 1-3% of all primary duodenal neoplasms and are often incidentally discovered during endoscopic or radiological examinations performed for other reasons [1]. Therefore, an increase in the detection of earlystage disease and a decrease in that of advanced disease have been observed [27]. Patients diagnosed with G1 D-NETs ≤ 1 cm, limited to the submucosal layer, can be submitted to ER (EMR or ESD) or to active surveillance [18] when the presence of nodal metastases has been ruled out [8]. The management of D-NETs with a diameter comprised between 1 and 2 cm is still not standardized, although an ER approach seems safe in the absence of aggressiveness features [8]. Currently, the endoscopic active surveillance approach is still debated as nodal metastases and microvascular invasion have been found even in few cases of small D-NETs G1 [28, 29].

8.2.4 Small Bowel NETs

Small bowel NETs (SB-NETs) represent approximately 30–50% of all neoplasms located in the small intestine and their incidence is increasing [1, 2]. An incidental diagnosis is rare and it may occur during colonoscopy performed for other reasons, if the lesion is located in the terminal ileum [30]. However, the vast majority of these tumors display features of aggressiveness, such as nodal metastases even when the lesion has a small size (50% of SB-NETs <1 cm) [31]. Therefore, all SB-NETs, even when small and incidentally detected, should be regarded as aggressive tumors and consequently treated with surgical resection associated to lymphadenectomy [7].

8.2.5 Colorectal NETs

Colorectal NETs are increasingly recognized entities, and they are rarely associated to the presence of a clinical syndrome, even when metastatic [32]. However, colonic and rectal NETs should be distinguished in terms of biology and treatment.

Colonic NETs (C-NETs) are often high-grade and poorly differentiated, therefore even an incidental diagnosis should be followed by surgical resection and careful postoperative follow up, based on the final pathological report [10].

On the other hand, rectal NETs (R-NETs), which represent approximately one-third of all digestive neuroendocrine tumors [2, 33], are usually small, low-grade (G1), and associated with a low risk of metastatic spread. According to the ENETS [10] and the North American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (NANETS) [34] guidelines, their management depends on tumor size. Incidentally discovered R-NETs measuring less than 1.5 cm, limited to mucosa or submucosa and without features of aggressiveness (atypical endoscopic aspect, tumor grade G2-G3, and lymphovascular invasion) can be resected by ER [10, 33]. Several endoscopic resection techniques are available, but ligation-assisted endoscopic mucosal resection (ESMR-L) and endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) seem to be the most effective ones, since the high R0 rates and the low risk of recurrence [35, 36] especially for R-NETs measuring <10 mm. The endoscopic appearance of an 8 mm R-NET G1, limited to the submucosal layer of rectum and treated by ESD, is shown in Fig. 8.2. Another available option is transanal endoscopic microsurgery (TEM), which is a minimally invasive endosurgical technique allowing to combine a rigid rectoscope with magnified tridimensional vision and endosurgical instruments [33]. The advantage of TEM over endoscopic techniques is the possibility of performing a full-thickness resection of the lesion. TEM is nowadays the

reference resection technique for T1 R-NETs measuring 10–15 mm and invading the submucosal layer, especially when located in the low or intermediate rectum, in order to avoid segmental resection surgery [37].

The follow-up of R-NETs after ER is not welldefined. No specific surveillance protocol is recommended for completely resected R-NETs <10 mm without high-risk features [10, 35]. As regards patients with completely resected (R0) R-NETs \geq 10 mm, a surveillance rectoscopy at 1 year, 3 years, and then after 5 years should be proposed [33]. In case of ER in the presence of high-risk features or R1 resection without salvage therapy, one rectoscopy or endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) every 6–12 months for at least 5 years is indicated [38–40]. ENETS guidelines recommend also the execution of an abdominopelvic MRI on a yearly basis in order to detect perirectal and/or distant recurrence [33, 38].

8.3 Surgical Management of Localized Gastroenteropancreatic (GEP)-NETs

Surgery plays a pivotal role in the management of localized GEP-NETs. According to the site of the primary tumor, different surgical strategies are recommended.



Fig. 8.2 Colonoscopy showing an 8-mm rectal neuroendocrine tumor (R-NET) G1 limited to the submucosal layer of the rectum, before (**a**) and after (**b**, red circle) endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD)

8.3.1 Localized Pancreatic (Pan) NETs

Surgical resection represents the backbone for the management of localized PanNETs. The latest ENETS [5] and NANETS [9] guidelines recommend surgical resection for all patients diagnosed with any functioning PanNETs or with localized NF-PanNETs >2 cm in size as well as for those with symptoms or features of aggressiveness (evidence of nodal metastases, dilation of the main pancreatic duct or bile duct, invasion of nearby structures).

8.3.1.1 Formal Resections and Lymphadenectomy

A formal pancreatic resection (pancreaticoduodenectomy, distal pancreatectomy, total pancreatectomy) associated to a systematic lymphadenectomy is recommended for patients with NF-PanNETs >2 cm as well as for those with symptoms or radiological features of aggressiveness [5, 9, 41].

The presence of nodal metastases is one of the most powerful prognostic factors after radical surgery [42, 43], and the risk nodal involvement increases with increasing tumor grade and tumor size [44, 45]. More recently, it has been demonstrated that also the number of positive lymph nodes (LN) affects the risk of recurrence after surgery in these patients [46, 47]. Therefore, guidelines recommend that an adequate lymphadenectomy should be routinely performed [7]. Several cutoffs have been proposed as the minimum number of LN to be resected/examined in order to ensure a proper nodal staging according to the site of the tumor [46, 48]. There is still no consensus about this issue, but it seems that 12 LN and 7 LN represent an adequate number of nodes to be resected/examined after pancreaticoduodenectomy and distal pancreatectomy, respectively [46].

8.3.1.2 Parenchyma-Sparing Resections

Parenchyma-sparing resections, which comprise enucleation, middle pancreatectomy, and middlepreserving pancreatectomy, represent an alternative option for the surgical treatment of functioning PanNETs and small NF-PanNETs [7, 49]. The main advantage is related to the reduced risk of developing both pancreatic endocrine and exocrine insufficiency, as compared to formal pancreatic resections [50, 51]. On the other hand, these surgical procedures are associated to an increased risk of postoperative pancreatic fistula, although the postoperative mortality risk is lower [52]. The main concern regards the oncological appropriateness of parenchymasparing resections [53], due to the risk of inadequate clearance of surgical margins during enucleation and the absence of a standard lymphadenectomy [7]. This latter limitation may be partially overcome by performing a nodal sampling in the presence of suspicious LN. If nodal involvement is intraoperatively demonstrated, a formal resection instead of an atypical one should be then performed [7]. Therefore, current guidelines [7, 9, 41] suggest that *enucleation* should be proposed to patients undergoing surgery for NF-PanNETs ≤ 2 cm or to those affected by insulinomas, when located further than 2–3 mm from the main pancreatic duct [54]. An intraoperative image of enucleation is shown in Fig. 8.3. On the



Fig. 8.3 Intraoperative image of an enucleation with open approach performed for an insulinoma

other hand, *middle pancreatectomy* should be offered to patients with small NF-PanNETs or insulinomas of the pancreatic neck/proximal body, when enucleation is not feasible, and the remaining parenchyma is enough to preserve a relevant pancreatic function [55]. Finally, *middle-preserving pancreatectomy* can be offered to patients with a multifocal neuroendocrine disease (i.e., MEN1 or Von Hippel Lindau) involving the pancreatic head and tail, but sparing the pancreatic body [49].

An additional option for reducing the risk of postoperative endocrine insufficiency is represented by *autologous islet transplantation* [56]. This procedure has a relatively low complication rate and can be proposed to patients, especially young, undergoing distal pancreatectomy for benign/borderline PanNETs located at the level of pancreatic body/neck [56–58].

8.3.2 Localized Gastric (G)-NETs

The management of localized G-NETs should be tailored according to the type. *Type I G-NETs* are usually managed conservatively. However, ENETS guidelines suggest to consider a local excision or partial gastrectomy when these lesions are T2 (or above) or with positive margins after endoscopic resection [8]. Concerning *type I*

G-NETs which recur after endoscopic resection, antrectomy represents a possible option [19].

Patients with *type 2 G-NETs* should be discussed at multidisciplinary meetings, as their management depends on the concomitant presence of PanNETs or D-NETs that may require surgical resection. Regarding the extent of resection, local or limited excision may be appropriate for these lesions [8].

Finally, ENETS [8] and NCCN [59] guidelines recommend managing *type III G-NETs* in the same manner as gastric adenocarcinoma. Therefore, surgical resection with total or partial gastrectomy associated to lymph node dissection is indicated.

8.3.3 Localized Duodenal (D)-NETs

Radical surgery with nodal dissection is recommended when a D-NET measures ≥ 2 cm and/or extends beyond the submucosal layer and/or has an ampullary/periampullary location [8, 60]. Surgical resection is required whenever the risk of malignancy is high [61]. The endoscopic appearance and the preoperative computed tomography (CT) scan of patient with a NET of the major duodenal papilla are shown in Fig. 8.4.

Pancreaticoduodenectomy is the procedure of choice [62], especially when nodal metastases are



Fig. 8.4 Endoscopic image showing bulging of the major duodenal papilla (**a**) and preoperative CT scan with contrast medium (**b**) of a patient submitted to pancreaticoduodenectomy for a neuroendocrine tumor of the major

duodenal papilla staged as pT2N1 G1 at the final pathological examination. The red arrows indicate the primary tumor, the red circle indicates a lymphadenopathy

preoperatively or intraoperatively detected, as it allows achieving a proper lymphadenectomy [61]. Nevertheless, the high rate of short-term and long-term postoperative complications associated with pancreaticoduodenectomy should be carefully evaluated for each patient [28, 63]. *Local excision* represents another possible option that can be considered when the risk of nodal involvement is low. This procedure can be used for patients with D-NETs located on the antipancreatic surface of the first part of duodenum, whereas *distal duodenectomy* can be performed for lesions arising in the fourth part of duodenum [8].

8.3.3.1 Localized Gastrinomas

Gastrinomas arise in the duodenum in approximately 70% of cases and represent the most frequent type of functioning D-NETs. These neoplasms frequently exhibit a malignant behavior, with nodal involvement being present in more than half of cases [5, 64]. Due to their small size (even below 5 mm), gastrinomas are frequently missed at preoperative imaging and the only radiological suspicious sign may be the presence of enlarged, hypervascularized lymph nodes [65]. Therefore, surgical exploration is indicated in all the patients with clinical and radiological signs of gastrinoma, even when the primary tumor is not clearly identified preoperatively [5]. Since the high rate of nodal metastases, lymphadenectomy should be systematically performed [5, 66] in any case, even if a pancreaticoduodenectomy is not the primary choice.

Gastrinomas affect patients with MEN1 syndrome in approximately one quarter of cases; in this setting, gastrinomas are frequently multiple and associated to nodal involvement. Despite these features, pancreaticoduodenectomy is curative in the majority of MEN1-associated gastrinomas [67].

8.3.4 Localized Small Bowel (SB)-NETs

Localized SB-NETs always require surgical resection, as their incidental diagnosis is rare and nodal metastases are frequently found even in the presence of small lesions [68]. The possibility to

achieve a radical resection mainly depends on the presence of nodal metastases, which may be surrounded by a massive fibrotic reaction, neoplastic mesenteric deposits, and on their anatomical relation with the mesenteric vessel root and the retroperitoneum [69, 70]. A SB-NET is defined as "unresectable" when nodal metastases and/or mesenteric tumor deposits surround the mesenteric vessel root and/or extend to the retroperitoneum [7].

Current guidelines recommend a *radical open resection of the primary tumor(s)* associated to a *systematic nodal dissection* along the superior mesenteric root and around the mesentery in all the patients with localized SB-NETs, when technically feasible [7, 30, 71]. The surgical specimen of a patient submitted to ileal resection with lymphadenectomy for a SB-NET is shown in Fig. 8.5.

Nodal metastases are present in approximately 80–90% of patients with SB-NETs [72], and consequently, a standard lymphadenectomy must be always performed, independently from



Fig. 8.5 Surgical specimen showing a 9-mm small bowel neuroendocrine tumor (SB-NET) staged as pT3N1 G1 at the final pathological examination. The red arrows indicate the tumor

the radiological evidence of suspicious LN [7]. A survival advantage has been demonstrated for patients undergoing a systematic lymphadenectomy as compared to those submitted to a selective nodal dissection [73]. The proper number of LN to be resected is still not well-defined, but it seems that at least 8 LN should be examined in order to obtain a proper nodal staging [74, 75]. As regards the extent of lymphadenectomy, it has been reported that there is no correlation between the number of resected LN and the length of small bowel resection [72]. Therefore, extended bowel resections ("pizza pie" rule) should be abandoned, as they are not necessary for achieving a proper nodal dissection [72]. On the other hand, "reverse" surgery, consisting in a wide lymphadenectomy followed by a limited small bowel resection, should be privileged [7].

Finally, an intraoperative bidigital palpation of the whole small intestine, from Treitz ligament to ileocecal valve, is always recommended in order to detect multifocal lesions, which are present in more than 80% of patients with SB-NETs [7, 71].

8.3.5 Localized Colonic (C)-NETs

C-NETs are usually diagnosed at an advanced stage of disease and they frequently appear as large tumors associated to metastatic spread. According to data from the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) dataset, less than half of C-NETs (45%) are localized at the time of diagnosis [1]. In these cases, ENETS guidelines suggest that a *localized colectomy* associated to a *proper lymphadenectomy* is the treatment of choice [38].

8.3.6 Localized Rectal (R)-NETs

The management of R-NETs should be tailored according to the presence or absence of predictors of nodal metastases, including tumor size >15 mm, atypical endoscopic aspect (depression/ ulceration of the lesion), invasion of the muscular layer (T stage ≥ 2), tumor grade (G3 or G2 versus

G1), and lymphovascular invasion [10, 35, 76]. Nearly all the cases of R-NETs with nodal involvement include at least one risk factor [40]. In all these cases, a formal oncologic *low anterior resection* (LAR) with *total mesorectal excision* (TME) [10] should be proposed. Moreover, according to the location of the tumor, a very low anterior resection as well as an intersphincteric resection can be performed. Quality of life related to anal preservation is of paramount importance in these patients since the long-term postoperative outcome is generally good [33].

The optimal extent of lymphadenectomy for R-NETs is not yet well-defined. R-NETs usually develop LN metastases in the mesorectum, but sometimes pelvic LN as well as obturator canal LN are also involved [77]. Consequently, a lymphadenectomy extended to these areas should be performed whenever suspicious LN have been preoperatively identified [33, 77].

8.3.7 Role of Minimally Invasive Surgery

8.3.7.1 Minimally Invasive Surgery for PanNETs

Minimally invasive surgery (MIS) has gained wide acceptance over the last two decades [78], especially for the treatment of PanNETs. Current guidelines state that the minimally invasive approach (laparoscopic or robotic) is safe and feasible, especially for neoplasms located in the pancreatic body/tail [7, 9]. Various retrospective studies have demonstrated the advantages of MIS in terms of short-term outcomes, including reduced intraoperative blood loss, lower postoperative complication rate, shortened length of hospital stay, and better cosmetic results [79, 80]. As regards the long-term oncological outcomes of minimally invasive pancreatic resections, several retrospective series reported similar recurrence and survival rates between patients submitted to laparoscopic/robotic and open pancreatic resections [78, 80, 81]. However, prospective randomized trials on the oncological adequacy of MIS in PanNETs are still lacking.

Concerning the comparison between *laparoscopic* and *robotic* approach, some retrospective experiences compared laparoscopic and robotic distal pancreatectomy (DP) performed for PanNENs, reporting reduced blood loss [82] and lower conversion rates [83] favoring the robotic approach. On the other hand, a significant advantage was reported for the laparoscopic approach in terms of total costs, that represent the main limitation for the implementation of robotic procedures [82].

8.3.7.2 Minimally Invasive Surgery for G-NETs

Laparoscopic antrectomy may be an option for treating type I G-NETs, especially when recurrent. This procedure is associated to a lower risk of recurrence compared to endoscopic resection and reduces the discomfort related to the endoscopic follow up [19]. Furthermore, being less invasive compared to an open antrectomy, it has better short-term postoperative outcomes. In selected cases, a minimally invasive approach can be used for type II and type III G-NETs (total gastrectomy associated to nodal dissection).

8.3.7.3 Minimally Invasive Surgery for SB-NETs

The role of minimally invasive surgery has been poorly investigated in the setting of SB-NETs. *Open resection* is the *procedure of choice*, as it allows better vascular control in case of bleeding at the origin of superior mesenteric vessels and more sensitive bidigital palpation of the whole small intestine [84]. Therefore, current guidelines recommend that laparoscopic resection of SB-NETs should be limited to early lesions in the absence of gross nodal metastases [7].

8.3.7.4 Minimally Invasive Surgery for R-NETs

The outcomes of radical laparoscopic surgery performed for R-NETs have been scarcely investigated, due to the rarity of the disease. However, *laparoscopic resection* is nowadays the *standard* *surgical approach* for R-NETs, as it is associated with better outcomes as compared with transabdominal open surgery [33]. Radical laparoscopic surgery seems to be also an appropriate procedure in case of previous incomplete endoscopic resection [85].

8.4 Surgery for G3 GEP-NENs

High-grade (G3) GEP-NENs represent approximately 10–20% of all GEP-NENs, with a median overall survival ranging between 10 and 23 months [86]. According to the latest World Health Organization (WHO) classification, G3 GEP-NENs can be further classified as *welldifferentiated*, defined as neuroendocrine tumors (G3 GEP-NETs), or *poorly differentiated*, defined as neuroendocrine carcinomas (G3 GEP-NECs) [87].

Current guidelines suggest that platinumbased chemotherapy represents the gold standard for the treatment of advanced grade 3 GEP-NENs [88, 89]. On the other hand, the role of radical surgery in this setting is more controversial. Although available data come from small retrospective series, it has been reported that radical surgical resection of the primary tumor is associated to a *survival benefit* compared to systemic therapies or palliative resection alone in patients with localized G3 GEP-NENs [90-93]. This advantage is particularly evident for welldifferentiated forms (G3 GEP-NETs) [92, 93]. Furthermore, two recent studies reported a possible survival benefit also for highly selected patients with metastatic G3 PanNETs who underwent radical surgical resection [93, 94]. Therefore, the role of surgery should be evaluated separately for well- and poorly differentiated GEP-NENs. In conclusion, surgical resection represents a valuable option for patients with G3 GEP-NETs, in selected cases even when metastatic; on the other hand, surgery should be carefully considered for localized G3 GEP-NECs and completely avoided for metastatic G3 GEP-NECs.

8.5 Surgery for Metastatic GEP-NETs

Surgical resection plays an important role also in the setting of metastatic disease, since GEP-NETs usually display an indolent behavior and the liver is frequently the only metastatic site [7].

8.5.1 Surgery with Curative Intent

Current guidelines recommend that surgery with curative intent should be considered in the presence of G1-G2 GEP-NETs with resectable or potentially resectable liver metastases, when extra-abdominal disease has been ruled out [7, 9, 95]. Regarding liver involvement, three patterns of neuroendocrine liver metastases have been described: type 1 when there is a single liver metastasis, type 2 when an isolated metastatic bulk associated to smaller deposits is present (bilobar involvement), and type 3 when there is a disseminated metastatic spread (bilobar involvement) [96]. Type 1 and 2 liver metastases are considered as resectable or potentially resectable. It has been reported that radical resection for GEP-NETs with type 1 liver metastases is associated to improved survival compared to medical therapies [97]. On the other hand, the survival benefit associated with surgery is less clear for patients with type 2 liver metastases. In the presence of this pattern of metastatization, a two-stage approach including resection of left metastases with right portal vein ligation followed by right hepatectomy could be an alternative, but the proper treatment sequence should be carefully discussed for each single patient in a dedicated multidisciplinary board [98, 99].

8.5.2 Palliative Resection of the Primary Tumor

Indications for palliative resection vary according to the site and the clinical presentation of the primary tumor. Generally, this surgical procedure is recommended to relieve symptoms related to tumor mass effect and hormonal hypersecretion (e.g., carcinoid syndrome).

Considering patients with functioning SB-NETs and unresectable liver metastases (type 3), debulking surgery should be considered with the aim of controlling symptoms and/or compli*cations* [7]. In patients with nonfunctioning SB-NETs, but symptomatic for small intestinal obstruction or ischemia, primary tumor resection is mandatory in order to prevent clinical deterioration and death [6]. Regarding PanNETs, a tumor located in the pancreatic body/tail is rarely symptomatic, and the management of complications related to tumors of the pancreatic head (jaundice or duodenal occlusion) usually does not require surgery.

Finally, several studies considering patients with GEP-NENs from different primary sites reported improved survival rates for patients undergoing palliative resection of the primary tumor in the presence of unresectable metastatic disease [100, 101]. This survival benefit was more evident for young patients with welldifferentiated G1-G2 GEP-NENs [101, 102]. The reasons of this advantage in terms of survival are essentially unknown. It has been speculated that resection of the primary tumor may enhance the efficacy of other treatments, such as peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT), enabling to have only one target organ (i.e., liver) and a lower burden of disease [103]. Nevertheless, it should be pointed out that these results are from retrospective series and may have been affected by a possible selection bias.

8.5.3 Hepatic Cytoreduction

The management of *neuroendocrine liver metastasis* (NELM) is controversial, with some studies advocating an aggressive surgical strategy and others adopting a more conservative approach. Several retrospective series reported that cytoreduction of NELM may ameliorate both *symptoms* and *survival* [104]. Patients with functioning liver metastases are the one who benefit the most from surgical management [104]. A controversial issue regards the *threshold for hepatic* *cytoreduction*: some studies recommend this surgical intervention when a debulking $\geq 90\%$ can be reached [105, 106], whereas more recent series show that this procedure can give a benefit even when a 70% debulking is achieved [107, 108]. Hepatic cytoreduction may be helpful also in controlling an oligo-metastatic disease progression, allowing patients to continue their ongoing systemic therapy [109].

8.5.4 Liver Transplantation

Liver transplantation (LT) is an option for patients with unresectable NELM, as it may provide a substantial *survival benefit* [110]. However, due to high recurrence rates, patients have to fulfil strict criteria in order to have access to this treatment. Specific selection criteria for LT have been proposed by Mazzaferro et al. [111]. These criteria include histological confirmation of low-grade neuroendocrine tumor (Ki67 < 10%), primary tumor drained by the portal system previously removed with all the extrahepatic deposits, involvement of less than 50% of liver parenchyma, and stable disease/response to therapies for ≥ 6 months during the pretransplantation period and age <60 years old (relative criterion) [111, 112]. high-grade neuroendocrine Patients with tumors or carcinomas, other medical/operative conditions contraindicating LT (including previous neoplasms) as well as those with nongastrointestinal NETs have to be considered not amenable of liver transplantation. Patients who meet the criteria and undergo LT have a significantly better survival when compared with patients undergoing alternative medical treatments [112,and surgical 113]. Transplantation-related survival increases over time and maximizes after 10 year [112].

8.6 Conclusions

Surgery plays a pivotal role in the management of GEP-NENs. Surgical resection represents the only chance of complete cure for patients with

localized tumors. A conservative "watch and wait" strategy should be routinely considered for patients with incidentally discovered, asymptomatic, small lesions without radiological or endoscopic features of aggressiveness. Finally, even selected patients with metastatic or high-grade neoplasms may benefit from surgery in terms of both survival and quality of life. Therefore, surgery should be included in the context of a multimodal strategy for patients with advanced disease.

Acknowledgments The authors are grateful to Gioja Bianca Costanza Fund for supporting the PhD Scholarship of Dr. Valentina Andreasi and the Research Fellowship of Dr. Francesca Muffatti. Authors thank the ERN EURACAN initiative.

References

- Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A, Dagohoy C, Leary C, Mares JE, et al. One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(18):3063–72.
- Dasari A, Shen C, Halperin D, Zhao B, Zhou S, Xu Y, et al. Trends in the incidence, prevalence, and survival outcomes in patients with neuroendocrine tumors in the United States. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(10):1335–42.
- Vagefi PA, Razo O, Deshpande V, McGrath DJ, Lauwers GY, Thayer SP, et al. Evolving patterns in the detection and outcomes of pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: the Massachusetts General Hospital experience from 1977 to 2005. Arch Surg. 2007;142(4):347–54.
- Cives M, Strosberg JR. Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):471–87.
- Falconi M, Eriksson B, Kaltsas G, Bartsch DK, Capdevila J, Caplin M, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines update for the management of patients with functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and non-functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2016; https://doi. org/10.1159/000443171.
- Pape U-F, Perren A, Niederle B, Gross D, Gress T, Costa F, et al. ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with neuroendocrine neoplasms from the jejuno-ileum and the appendix including goblet cell carcinomas. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95(2):135–56.
- 7. Partelli S, Bartsch DK, Capdevila J, Chen J, Knigge U, Niederle B, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for

standard of care in neuroendocrine tumours: surgery for small intestinal and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;105(3):255–65.

- Delle Fave G, O'Toole D, Sundin A, Taal B, Ferolla P, Ramage JK, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines update for gastroduodenal neuroendocrine neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(2):119–24.
- Howe JR, Merchant NB, Conrad C, Keutgen XM, Hallet J, Drebin JA, et al. The North American neuroendocrine tumor society consensus paper on the surgical management of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Pancreas. 2020;49(1):1–33.
- Ramage JK, De Herder WW, Delle Fave G, Ferolla P, Ferone D, Ito T, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines update for colorectal neuroendocrine neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology. 2016; https://doi. org/10.1159/000443166.
- Kuo EJ, Salem RR. Population-level analysis of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors 2 cm or less in size. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(9):2815–21.
- Partelli S, Giannone F, Schiavo Lena M, Muffatti F, Andreasi V, Crippa S, et al. Is the real prevalence of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors underestimated? A retrospective study on a large series of pancreatic specimens. Neuroendocrinology. 2019; https://doi. org/10.1159/000499606.
- Partelli S, Cirocchi R, Crippa S, Cardinali L, Fendrich V, Bartsch DK, et al. Systematic review of active surveillance versus surgical management of asymptomatic small non-functioning pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Br J Surg. 2017;104(1):34–41.
- Partelli S, Mazza M, Andreasi V, Muffatti F, Crippa S, Tamburrino D, et al. Management of small asymptomatic nonfunctioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: limitations to apply guidelines into real life. Surg (United States). 2019; https://doi. org/10.1016/j.surg.2019.04.003.
- Barenboim A, Lahat G, Nachmany I, Nakache R, Goykhman Y, Geva R, et al. Resection versus observation of small asymptomatic nonfunctioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Gastrointest Surg. 2019; https://doi.org/10.1007/s11605-019-04285-y.
- Powers BD, Rothermel LD, Fleming JB, Strosberg JR, Anaya DA. A survival analysis of patients with localized, asymptomatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: no surgical survival benefit when examining appropriately selected outcomes. J Gastrointest Surg. 2019; https://doi.org/10.1007/s11605-019-04433-4.
- Mintziras I, Keck T, Werner J, Fichtner-Feigl S, Wittel U, Senninger N, et al. Implementation of current ENETS guidelines for surgery of small (≤2 cm) pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms in the German surgical community: an analysis of the prospective DGAV StuDoQlPancreas registry. World J Surg. 2019; https://doi.org/10.1007/s00268-018-4751-2.
- Ariotti R, Partelli S, Muffatti F, Andreasi V, Della Sala F, Falconi M. How should incidental NEN of the pancreas and gastrointestinal tract be followed? Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2018; https://doi. org/10.1007/s11154-018-9445-4.

- Sato Y, Hashimoto S, Mizuno K-I, Takeuchi M, Terai S. Management of gastric and duodenal neuroendocrine tumors. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(30):6817–28.
- Sato Y, Takeuchi M, Hashimoto S, Mizuno K, Kobayashi M, Iwafuchi M, et al. Usefulness of endoscopic submucosal dissection for type I gastric carcinoid tumors compared with endoscopic mucosal resection. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2013;60(126):1524–9.
- Kim HH, Kim GH, Kim JH, Choi M-G, Song GA, Kim SE. The efficacy of endoscopic submucosal dissection of type I gastric carcinoid tumors compared with conventional endoscopic mucosal resection. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2014;2014:253860.
- 22. Merola E, Sbrozzi-Vanni A, Panzuto F, D'Ambra G, Di Giulio E, Pilozzi E, et al. Type I gastric carcinoids: a prospective study on endoscopic management and recurrence rate. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95(3):207–13.
- Tomassetti P, Migliori M, Caletti GC, Fusaroli P, Corinaldesi R, Gullo L. Treatment of type II gastric carcinoid tumors with somatostatin analogues. N Engl J Med. 2000;343(8):551–4.
- 24. Kulke MH, Anthony LB, Bushnell DL, de Herder WW, Goldsmith SJ, Klimstra DS, et al. NANETS treatment guidelines: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the stomach and pancreas. Pancreas. 2010;39(6):735–52.
- Kwon YH, Jeon SW, Kim GH, Kim J, Chung I-K, Jee SR, et al. Long-term follow up of endoscopic resection for type 3 gastric NET. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19(46):8703–8.
- Min B-H, Hong M, Lee JH, Rhee P-L, Sohn TS, Kim S, et al. Clinicopathological features and outcome of type 3 gastric neuroendocrine tumours. Br J Surg. 2018;105(11):1480–6.
- Fitzgerald TL, Dennis SO, Kachare SD, Vohra NA, Zervos EE. Increasing incidence of duodenal neuroendocrine tumors: incidental discovery of indolent disease? Surgery. 2015;158(2):466–71.
- Margonis GA, Samaha M, Kim Y, Postlewait LM, Kunz P, Maithel S, et al. A multi-institutional analysis of duodenal neuroendocrine tumors: tumor biology rather than extent of resection dictates prognosis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2016;20(6):1098–105.
- Mullen JT, Wang H, Yao JC, Lee JH, Perrier ND, Pisters PWT, et al. Carcinoid tumors of the duodenum. Surgery. 2005;138(6):971–8.
- Niederle B, Pape U-F, Costa F, Gross D, Kelestimur F, Knigge U, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines update for neuroendocrine neoplasms of the jejunum and ileum. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(2):125–38.
- 31. Walsh JC, Schaeffer DF, Kirsch R, Pollett A, Manzoni M, Riddell RH, et al. Ileal "carcinoid" tumors-small size belies deadly intent: high rate of nodal metastasis in tumors </=1 cm in size. Hum Pathol. 2016;56:123–7.
- Wang AY, Ahmad NA. Rectal carcinoids. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2006;22(5):529–35.

- 33. de Mestier L, Lorenzo D, Fine C, Cros J, Hentic O, Walter T, et al. Endoscopic, transanal, laparoscopic, and transabdominal management of rectal neuroendocrine tumors. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;33(5):101293.
- 34. Anthony LB, Strosberg JR, Klimstra DS, Maples WJ, O'Dorisio TM, Warner RRP, et al. The NANETS consensus guidelines for the diagnosis and management of gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors (nets): well-differentiated nets of the distal colon and rectum. Pancreas. 2010;39(6): 767–74.
- 35. de Mestier L, Brixi H, Gincul R, Ponchon T, Cadiot G. Updating the management of patients with rectal neuroendocrine tumors. Endoscopy. 2013;45(12):1039–46.
- He L, Deng T, Luo H. Efficacy and safety of endoscopic resection therapies for rectal carcinoid tumors: a meta-analysis. Yonsei Med J. 2015;56(1):72–81.
- 37. Gerard J-P, Andre T, Bibeau F, Conroy T, Legoux J-L, Portier G, et al. Rectal cancer: French Intergroup clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatments and follow-up (SNFGE, FFCD, GERCOR, UNICANCER, SFCD, SFED, SFRO). Dig Liver Dis. 2017;49(4):359–67.
- Caplin M, Sundin A, Nillson O, Baum RP, Klose KJ, Kelestimur F, et al. ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms: colorectal neuroendocrine neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95(2):88–97.
- Kwaan MR, Goldberg JE, Bleday R. Rectal carcinoid tumors: review of results after endoscopic and surgical therapy. Arch Surg. 2008;143(5):471–5.
- 40. Park CH, Cheon JH, Kim JO, Shin JE, Jang BI, Shin SJ, et al. Criteria for decision making after endoscopic resection of well-differentiated rectal carcinoids with regard to potential lymphatic spread. Endoscopy. 2011;43(9):790–5.
- 41. Shah MH, Goldner WS, Halfdanarson TR, Bergsland E, Berlin JD, Halperin D, et al. NCCN guidelines insights: neuroendocrine and adrenal tumors, version 2. 2018. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2018; https://doi.org/10.6004/jnccn.2018.0056.
- 42. Zaidi MY, Lopez-Aguiar AG, Switchenko JM, Lipscomb J, Andreasi V, Partelli S, et al. A novel validated recurrence risk score to guide a pragmatic surveillance strategy after resection of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: an international study of 1006 patients. Ann Surg. 2019; https://doi. org/10.1097/SLA.00000000003461.
- 43. Genç CG, Jilesen AP, Partelli S, Falconi M, Muffatti F, Van Kemenade FJ, et al. A new scoring system to predict recurrent disease in grade 1 and 2 nonfunctional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Surg. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.000000000002123.
- 44. Partelli S, Gaujoux S, Boninsegna L, Cherif R, Crippa S, Couvelard A, et al. Pattern and clinical predictors of lymph node involvement in nonfunctioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors

(NF-PanNETs). JAMA Surg. 2013; https://doi. org/10.1001/jamasurg.2013.3376.

- Bettini R, Partelli S, Boninsegna L, Capelli P, Crippa S, Pederzoli P, et al. Tumor size correlates with malignancy in nonfunctioning pancreatic endocrine tumor. Surgery. 2011;150(1):75–82.
- 46. Partelli S, Javed AA, Andreasi V, He J, Muffatti F, Weiss MJ, et al. The number of positive nodes accurately predicts recurrence after pancreatico-duodenectomy for nonfunctioning neuroendocrine neoplasms. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2018;44(6):778–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2018.03.005.
- 47. Zhang X-F, Xue F, Dong D-H, Lopez-Aguiar AG, Poultsides G, Makris E, et al. New nodal staging for primary pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: a multi-institutional and national data analysis. Ann Surg. 2019; https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.000000000003478.
- 48. Lopez-Aguiar AG, Zaidi MY, Beal EW, Dillhoff M, Cannon JGD, Poultsides GA, et al. Defining the role of lymphadenectomy for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: an eight-institution study of 695 patients from the us neuroendocrine tumor study group. Ann Surg Oncol. 2019;26(8):2517–24.
- Partelli S, Boninsegna L, Salvia R, Bassi C, Pederzoli P, Falconi M. Middle-preserving pancreatectomy for multicentric body-sparing lesions of the pancreas. Am J Surg. 2009;198(3):e49–53.
- Andreasi V, Partelli S, Capurso G, Muffatti F, Balzano G, Crippa S, et al. Long-term pancreatic functional impairment after surgery for neuroendocrine neoplasms. J Clin Med. 2019;8(10) https://doi. org/10.3390/jcm8101611.
- Lim PW, Dinh KH, Sullivan M, Wassef WY, Zivny J, Whalen GF, et al. Thirty-day outcomes underestimate endocrine and exocrine insufficiency after pancreatic resection. HPB. 2016; https://doi. org/10.1016/j.hpb.2015.11.003.
- Huttner FJ, Koessler-Ebs J, Hackert T, Ulrich A, Buchler MW, Diener MK. Meta-analysis of surgical outcome after enucleation versus standard resection for pancreatic neoplasms. Br J Surg. 2015;102(9):1026–36.
- Chua TC, Yang TX, Gill AJ, Samra JS. Systematic review and meta-analysis of enucleation versus standardized resection for small pancreatic lesions. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(2):592–9.
- Heeger K, Falconi M, Partelli S, Waldmann J, Crippa S, Fendrich V, et al. Increased rate of clinically relevant pancreatic fistula after deep enucleation of small pancreatic tumors. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2014;399(3):315–21.
- 55. Paiella S, De Pastena M, Faustini F, Landoni L, Pollini T, Bonamini D, et al. Central pancreatectomy for benign or low-grade malignant pancreatic lesions - a single-center retrospective analysis of 116 cases. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019; https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejso.2018.11.021.
- Balzano G, Maffi P, Nano R, Mercalli A, Melzi R, Aleotti F, et al. Autologous islet transplantation in

patients requiring pancreatectomy: a broader spectrum of indications beyond chronic pancreatitis. Am J Transplant. 2016; https://doi.org/10.1111/ ajt.13656.

- Balzano G, Maffi P, Nano R, Zerbi A, Venturini M, Melzi R, et al. Extending indications for islet autotransplantation in pancreatic surgery. Ann Surg. 2013;258(2):210–8.
- 58. Venturini M, Sallemi C, Colantoni C, Agostini G, Balzano G, Esposito A, et al. Single-centre experience of extending indications for percutaneous intraportal islet autotransplantation (PIPIAT) after pancreatic surgery to prevent diabetes: feasibility, radiological aspects, complications and clinical outcome. Br J Radiol. 2016;89(1064):20160246.
- Kulke MH, Shah MH, Benson AB 3rd, Bergsland E, Berlin JD, Blaszkowsky LS, et al. Neuroendocrine tumors, version 1.2015. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2015;13(1):78–108.
- Clements WM, Martin SP, Stemmerman G, Lowy AM. Ampullary carcinoid tumors: rationale for an aggressive surgical approach. J Gastrointest Surg. 2003;7(6):773–6.
- Dogeas E, Cameron JL, Wolfgang CL, Hirose K, Hruban RH, Makary MA, et al. Duodenal and ampullary carcinoid tumors: size predicts necessity for lymphadenectomy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2017;21(8):1262–9.
- Hartel M, Wente MN, Sido B, Friess H, Buchler MW. Carcinoid of the ampulla of Vater. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2005;20(5):676–81.
- 63. Partelli S, Tamburrino D, Cherif R, Muffatti F, Moggia E, Gaujoux S, et al. Risk and predictors of postoperative morbidity and mortality after pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: a comparative study with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Pancreas. 2019;48(4):504–9.
- Norton JA, Fraker DL, Alexander HR, Gibril F, Liewehr DJ, Venzon DJ, et al. Surgery increases survival in patients with gastrinoma. Ann Surg. 2006;244(3):410–9.
- 65. Jensen RT, Niederle B, Mitry E, Ramage JK, Steinmuller T, Lewington V, et al. Gastrinoma (duodenal and pancreatic). Neuroendocrinology. 2006;84(3):173–82.
- 66. Albers MB, Manoharan J, Bartsch DK. Contemporary surgical management of the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;33(5):101318.
- 67. Lopez CL, Falconi M, Waldmann J, Boninsegna L, Fendrich V, Goretzki PK, et al. Partial pancreaticoduodenectomy can provide cure for duodenal gastrinoma associated with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Ann Surg. 2013;257(2):308–14.
- Hughes MS, Azoury SC, Assadipour Y, Straughan DM, Trivedi AN, Lim RM, et al. Prospective evaluation and treatment of familial carcinoid small intestine neuroendocrine tumors (SI-NETs). Surgery. 2016;159(1):350–6.

- 69. de Mestier L, Lardiere-Deguelte S, Brixi H, O'Toole D, Ruszniewski P, Cadiot G, et al. Updating the surgical management of peritoneal carcinomatosis in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2015;101(2):105–11.
- Gonzalez RS, Liu EH, Alvarez JR, Ayers GD, Washington MK, Shi C. Should mesenteric tumor deposits be included in staging of well-differentiated small intestine neuroendocrine tumors? Mod Pathol Off J US Can Acad Pathol Inc. 2014;27(9):1288–95.
- Howe JR, Cardona K, Fraker DL, Kebebew E, Untch BR, Wang Y-Z, et al. The surgical management of small bowel neuroendocrine tumors: consensus guidelines of the North American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society. Pancreas. 2017;46(6):715–31.
- 72. Lardiere-Deguelte S, de Mestier L, Appere F, Vullierme M-P, Zappa M, Hoeffel C, et al. Toward a preoperative classification of lymph node metastases in patients with small intestinal neuroendocrine tumors in the era of intestinal-sparing surgery. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(5):552–9.
- 73. Landry CS, Lin HY, Phan A, Charnsangavej C, Abdalla EK, Aloia T, et al. Resection of at-risk mesenteric lymph nodes is associated with improved survival in patients with small bowel neuroendocrine tumors. World J Surg. 2013;37(7):1695–700.
- 74. Zaidi MY, Lopez-Aguiar AG, Dillhoff M, Beal E, Poultsides G, Makris E, et al. Prognostic role of lymph node positivity and number of lymph nodes needed for accurately staging small-bowel neuroendocrine tumors. JAMA Surg. 2019;154(2):134–40.
- Motz BM, Lorimer PD, Boselli D, Hill JS, Salo JC. Optimal lymphadenectomy in small bowel neuroendocrine tumors: analysis of the NCDB. J Gastrointest Surg. 2018;22(1):117–23.
- McConnell YJ. Surgical management of rectal carcinoids: trends and outcomes from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results database (1988 to 2012). Am J Surg. 2016;211(5):877–85.
- 77. Wang Y-Z, Beyer DT, Hall M. Obturator canal lymph node metastasis from rectal carcinoid tumors: total mesorectal excision may be insufficient. J Gastrointest Surg. 2016;20(6):1247–52.
- Zhang X-F, Lopez-Aguiar AG, Poultsides G, Makris E, Rocha F, Kanji Z, et al. Minimally invasive versus open distal pancreatectomy for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: an analysis from the U.S. neuroendocrine tumor study group. J Surg Oncol. 2019;120(2):231–40.
- Edwin B, Sahakyan MA, Abu Hilal M, Besselink MG, Braga M, Fabre JM, et al. Laparoscopic surgery for pancreatic neoplasms: the European association for endoscopic surgery clinical consensus conference. Surg Endosc. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00464-017-5414-3.
- 80. Partelli S, Andreasi V, Rancoita PMV, Perez-Sanchez E, Muffatti F, Balzano G, et al. Outcomes after distal pancreatectomy for neuroendocrine neoplasms: a retrospective comparison between minimally invasive and open approach using propensity

score weighting. Surg Endosc. 2020; https://doi. org/10.1007/s00464-020-07375-0.

- Tamburrino D, Partelli S, Renzi C, Crippa S, Muffatti F, Perali C, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis on laparoscopic pancreatic resections for neuroendocrine neoplasms (PNENs). Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;11(1):65–73.
- 82. Alfieri S, Butturini G, Boggi U, Pietrabissa A, Morelli L, Vistoli F, et al. Short-term and long-term outcomes after robot-assisted versus laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (pNETs): a multicenter comparative study. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2019;404(4):459–68.
- Guerrini GP, Lauretta A, Belluco C, Olivieri M, Forlin M, Basso S, et al. Robotic versus laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy: an up-to-date meta-analysis. BMC Surg. 2017;17(1):105.
- 84. Pasquer A, Walter T, Hervieu V, Forestier J, Scoazec J-Y, Lombard-Bohas C, et al. Surgical management of small bowel neuroendocrine tumors: specific requirements and their impact on staging and prognosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(Suppl 3):S742–9.
- 85. Moon CM, Huh KC, Jung S-A, Park DI, Kim WH, Jung HM, et al. Long-term clinical outcomes of rectal neuroendocrine tumors according to the pathologic status after initial endoscopic resection: a KASID multicenter study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2016;111(9):1276–85.
- Heetfeld M, Chougnet CN, Olsen IH, Rinke A, Borbath I, Crespo G, et al. Characteristics and treatment of patients with G3 gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2015;22(4):657–64.
- Perren A. WHO classification of tumours. Digestive system tumours. 5th ed. Lyon: IARC; 2019.
- 88. Garcia-Carbonero R, Rinke A, Valle JW, Fazio N, Caplin M, Gorbounova V, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine neoplasms. Systemic therapy 2: chemotherapy. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;105(3):281–94.
- 89. Strosberg JR, Coppola D, Klimstra DS, Phan AT, Kulke MH, Wiseman GA, et al. The NANETS consensus guidelines for the diagnosis and management of poorly differentiated (high-grade) extrapulmonary neuroendocrine carcinomas. Pancreas. 2010;39(6):799–800.
- Crippa S, Partelli S, Bassi C, Berardi R, Capelli P, Scarpa A, et al. Long-term outcomes and prognostic factors in neuroendocrine carcinomas of the pancreas: morphology matters. Surgery. 2016;159(3):862–71.
- 91. Haugvik S-P, Janson ET, Osterlund P, Langer SW, Falk RS, Labori KJ, et al. Surgical treatment as a principle for patients with high-grade pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma: a nordic multicenter comparative study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5): 1721–8.
- 92. Merola E, Rinke A, Partelli S, Gress TM, Andreasi V, Kollár A, et al. Surgery with radical intent: is there an indication for G3 neuroendocrine neoplasms?

Ann Surg Oncol. 2019; https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-019-08049-5.

- 93. Yoshida T, Hijioka S, Hosoda W, Ueno M, Furukawa M, Kobayashi N, et al. Surgery for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor G3 and carcinoma G3 should be considered separately. Ann Surg Oncol. 2019; https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-019-07252-8.
- 94. Merola E, Falconi M, Rinke A, Staettner S, Krendl F, Partelli S, et al. Radical intended surgery for highly selected stage IV neuroendocrine neoplasms G3. Am J Surg. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2020.03.009.
- 95. Pavel M, O'Toole D, Costa F, Capdevila J, Gross D, Kianmanesh R, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines update for the management of distant metastatic disease of intestinal, pancreatic, bronchial neuroendocrine neoplasms (NEN) and NEN of unknown primary site. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(2):172–85.
- Frilling A, Li J, Malamutmann E, Schmid K-W, Bockisch A, Broelsch CE. Treatment of liver metastases from neuroendocrine tumours in relation to the extent of hepatic disease. Br J Surg. 2009;96(2):175–84.
- Partelli S, Inama M, Rinke A, Begum N, Valente R, Fendrich V, et al. Long-term outcomes of surgical management of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors with synchronous liver metastases. Neuroendocrinology. 2015;102(1–2):68–76.
- Frilling A, Modlin IM, Kidd M, Russell C, Breitenstein S, Salem R, et al. Recommendations for management of patients with neuroendocrine liver metastases. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(1):e8–21.
- 99. Kianmanesh R, Sauvanet A, Hentic O, Couvelard A, Levy P, Vilgrain V, et al. Two-step surgery for synchronous bilobar liver metastases from digestive endocrine tumors: a safe approach for radical resection. Ann Surg. 2008;247(4):659–65.
- 100. Partelli S, Cirocchi R, Rancoita PMV, Muffatti F, Andreasi V, Crippa S, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis on the role of palliative primary resection for pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasm with liver metastases. HPB. 2018;20(3):197–203. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.hpb.2017.10.014.
- 101. Tierney JF, Chivukula SV, Wang X, Pappas SG, Schadde E, Hertl M, et al. Resection of primary tumor may prolong survival in metastatic gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Surgery. 2019;165(3):644–51.
- 102. Ye H, Xu HL, Shen Q, Zheng Q, Chen P. Palliative resection of primary tumor in metastatic nonfunctioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Surg Res. 2019;243:578–87.
- 103. Bertani E, Fazio N, Radice D, Zardini C, Grana C, Bodei L, et al. Resection of the primary tumor followed by peptide receptor radionuclide therapy as upfront strategy for the treatment of G1–G2 pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors with unresectable liver metastases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016; https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-016-5550-3.

- 104. Mayo SC, de Jong MC, Pulitano C, Clary BM, Reddy SK, Gamblin TC, et al. Surgical management of hepatic neuroendocrine tumor metastasis: results from an international multi-institutional analysis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(12):3129–36.
- 105. Sarmiento JM, Heywood G, Rubin J, Ilstrup DM, Nagorney DM, Que FG. Surgical treatment of neuroendocrine metastases to the liver: a plea for resection to increase survival. J Am Coll Surg. 2003;197(1):29–37.
- McEntee GP, Nagorney DM, Kvols LK, Moertel CG, Grant CS. Cytoreductive hepatic surgery for neuroendocrine tumors. Surgery. 1990;108(6):1091–6.
- 107. Maxwell JE, Sherman SK, O'Dorisio TM, Bellizzi AM, Howe JR. Liver-directed surgery of neuroendocrine metastases: what is the optimal strategy? Surgery. 2016;159(1):320–33.
- Morgan RE, Pommier SJ, Pommier RF. Expanded criteria for debulking of liver metastasis also apply to pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Surgery. 2018;163(1):218–25.
- 109. Al-Toubah T, Partelli S, Cives M, Andreasi V, Silvestris F, Falconi M, et al. Local treatment for

focal progression in metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2018; https://doi. org/10.1530/ERC-18-0462.

- 110. Moris D, Tsilimigras DI, Ntanasis-Stathopoulos I, Beal EW, Felekouras E, Vernadakis S, et al. Liver transplantation in patients with liver metastases from neuroendocrine tumors: a systematic review. Surgery. 2017;162(3):525–36.
- 111. Mazzaferro V, Pulvirenti A, Coppa J. Neuroendocrine tumors metastatic to the liver: how to select patients for liver transplantation? J Hepatol. 2007;47(4):460–6.
- 112. Mazzaferro V, Sposito C, Coppa J, Miceli R, Bhoori S, Bongini M, et al. The long-term benefit of liver transplantation for hepatic metastases from neuroendocrine tumors. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(10):2892–902.
- 113. Le Treut YP, Gregoire E, Klempnauer J, Belghiti J, Jouve E, Lerut J, et al. Liver transplantation for neuroendocrine tumors in Europe-results and trends in patient selection: a 213-case European liver transplant registry study. Ann Surg. 2013;257(5):807–15.



9

New Approaches in Medical Therapies

Manila Rubino, Francesca Spada, Alice Laffi, and Nicola Fazio

9.1 Introduction

Advances in research of the molecular pathways associated with NETs have led to the discovery of multiple treatment options for patients with advanced NETs. Current available therapies include somatostatin analogs (SSA), peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT), the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitor everolimus, and the tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKi) sunitinib and interferon. Moreover, cytotoxic agents are indicated for the treatment of aggressive well-differentiated NETs and of poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas. Hepatic-directed treatments are recommended for patients with well-differentiated NETs and liver-predominant disease.

However, different drugs are currently under investigation in NET therapy, some molecules are similar to drugs already used in clinical practice, while others are approved in other tumors but not in NETs.

9.2 Pasireotide

Pasireotide is a newer SSA with higher affinity for all subtypes of somatostatin receptors (SSTRs) 1, 2, 3, and 5, compared to octreotide and lanreotide, which mainly target SSTR2.

Pasireotide showed to be effective and well tolerated in controlling diarrhea and flushing related to carcinoid syndrome in patients with advanced NET refractory or resistant to octreotide LAR therapy [1]. However, pasireotide did not show a difference in symptoms control at 6 months in a randomized phase III trial compared to octreotide LAR, therefore, the study was interrupted early despite initial PFS improvements noted in the pasireotide treatment arm [2].

The phase II randomized trial, LUNA trial, assessed the efficacy of pasireotide alone or in combination with everolimus in lung and thymic carcinoids. The combination therapy with pasireotide and everolimus was not superior in mPFS compared to everolimus alone (12.5 months in the everolimus group and 11.8 months in the combination group), while a higher rate of adverse events was reported in combination group [3]. Several other monotherapy, combination, or increased dosage treatment strategies with pasireotide are currently being explored [4]. Pasireotide has not been approved for use in GEP-NETs but is certainly a focus of future research (Fig. 9.1).

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_9

M. Rubino · F. Spada · A. Laffi · N. Fazio (⊠) Division of Gastrointestinal Medical Oncology and Neuroendocrine Tumors, European Institute of Oncology, IEO, IRCCS, Milan, Italy e-mail: nicola.fazio@ieo.it



Fig. 9.1 Overview of new therapeutic strategies for NETs. APC antigen-presenting cell, CTLA-4 cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein-4, PD-1 programmed cell death-1, CDK 4/6 cyclin-dependent kinases

9.3 New Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors

Neuroendocrine neoplasms are conventionally considered highly vascularized tumors, especially well-differentiated tumors that showed a high microvascular density [5, 6]. Tyrosine kinase pathways are involved in angiogenesis, tumor growth, and progression. For that reason, several molecules that act on specific tergets such as VEGFR, PDGFR, c-KIT, Flt-3, and RET [7] are under investigation.

Sunitinib is the only available TKi approved in PanNETs [8]. Clinical studies investigated other TKi with different activities on the multiple tyrosine kinase receptors (VEGFR, PDGFR, FGFR, KIT, RET, and MET).

Pazopanib is an oral multi-TKi that targets VRGFR1-2-3, PDGFR, c-Kit, and FGFR 1-2-3. Three phase II trials analyzed the activity and safety of pazopanib in advanced welldifferentiated NETs from different primary tumors.

The study by Phan et al. explored the efficacy of pazopanib 800 mg/day and octreotide LAR (up to 40 mg every 3 weeks) in 44 patients with metastatic or locally advanced G1-G2 well-differentiated tumors from mixed primary sites. Thirty-two patients had pancreatic NETs. A partial response was observed in 22% of patients with a median PFS of 14.4 months and a median OS of 25 months [9]. Another study by Ahn et al. investigated the efficacy and safety of pazopanib 800/day in 37 patients with metastatic G1-G2 well-differentiated NETs and poorly differentiated G3 NECs from pancreatic and colorectal primaries. A PR rate of 19%, SD 57%, and mPFS of 9 months were observed [10]. In this study, patients had not been previously treated with other TKi or everolimus. On the contrary, PAZONET trial included patients after at least one prior systemic therapy, including other TKis. The study enrolled 44 patients advanced well-differentiated G1-G2 with NETs, and the median PFS was 9.5 months for the whole population, but it should be noticed that it was 12.4 months for patients pretreated with TKi and 6.8 for patients pretreated with mTOR inhibitors [11].

However, no phase III randomized clinical trials have been performed to date that define the role of pazopanib in the management of NENs, therefore, it is not currently approved for the treatment, although it could be useful in tumors resistant to standard therapy.

In general, pazopanib was well tolerated; the most common side effects were fatigue, nausea,

diarrhea, and hypertension and the most severe reactions (grade 4) being thromboembolism and hypertriglyceridemia that occurred in one patient each [10].

Cabozantinib is an orally available TKi that exerts a strong antagonist activity against MET and VEGFR2, but it also targets several kinases implicated in tumor pathology as KIT, RET, AXL, TIE2, and FLT3 [12].

A single-arm phase II trial in advanced welldifferentiated pancreatic and small intestine NET showed that cabozantinib improved median PFS (21.8 and 31.4 months) for both PNET as well as small intestine NETs [13]. These results have led to a phase III trial (CABINET) that is now ongoing in USA, to assess the efficacy of cabozantinib in patients with advanced well-differentiated NETs who have progressed on everolimus (NCT03375320), but at the moment, this treatment is not currently approved for use in GEP-NETs. Main toxicities associated to cabozantinib therapy were hypertension, hypophosphatemia, and diarrhea.

Lenvatinib is an oral TKi that targets VEGFR 1-3, PDGFR, FGFR, RET, and SCFR. The effect of lenvatinib 24 mg/day has been investigated in a phase II trial, TALENT trial, in patients with G1-G2 advanced pancreatic (55 patients) and gastrointestinal (56 patients) NETs. Among patients with pancreatic primary tumors, 64% and 25% of patients were pretreated with everolimus or sunitinib, respectively. The study reported an overall response rate of 29%, in particular 42.3% for pancreatic primaries and 16.3% for gastrointestinal primaries. Median PFS and OS were 15.5 months and 29.2 months for pancreatic and gastrointestinal NETs, respectively. The most frequent grade 3/4 adverse events were hypertension, fatigue, and diarrhea, and in this study, almost 90% of patients experienced an adverse event.

Axitinib is an oral, second generation TKi that targets VEGFR 1-2-3, PDGFR, and c-KIT.

Axitinib has been studied at the dose of 10 mg/ day in a phase II trial in 30 patients with welldifferentiated advanced extrapancreatic (gastrointestinal, thoracic, and unknown primary) NETs. Interestingly, 53% of patients had history of carcinoid syndrome. Median PFS was 26.7 months and median OS was 45.3 months. Adverse events were mainly hypertension, thyroid dysfunction, and thromboembolism [14]. On the basis of this phase II trial, a phase II/III placebo-controlled trial is ongoing to evaluate the effectiveness of axitinib associated to octreotide LAR vs. placebo associated to octreotide LAR in G1-G2 NETs from extrapancreatic primary (NCT01744249).

Surufatinib is TKi that not only inhibits VEGFR1-2-3 but also targets FGFR1 and CSF pathways, which represent the supposed main acquired mechanism of resistance to anti-VEGF therapies. A phase I/II trial studied the efficacy of surufatinib in 81 patients, 42 with pancreatic, and 39 with extrapancreatic NETs. Overall response rate was 19% and 15%, while median PFS was 21.2 months and 13.4 months, in pancreatic and extrapancreatic NET, respectively. Grade 3/4 adverse events were mainly hypertension, proteinuria, and hyperuricemia. On this basis, the research with surufatinib moved to a next step and surufatinib demostrated efficacy vesrus placebo in two phase III trials in Asia in extra-pancreatic NETs (SANET-p) and pancreatic NETs (SANET-p) (Xu J et al. Lancet Oncol 2020) conducted in Asia [15]. Therefore it is not available yet in Western Countries for the treatment of pancreatic and extra-pancreatic NETs.

9.4 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

A new modality of immunotherapy has recently modified cancer treatment approach and has changed the treatment of some cancers, such as melanoma and lung cancer. However, the application of checkpoint inhibitors in the management of patients with NETs is still evolving. Many factors have been proposed as potential predictor of response to immune checkpoint inhibitors as programmed cell death-1 ligand (PD-L1) expression, lymphocyte infiltration, mismatch repair deficiency, and consequently tumor mutational and neoantigen load.

Levels of PD-L1 vary widely across published studies, suggesting that expression of this protein is heterogeneous in G1/G2 NETs. In particular, PD-L1 expression has been associated with more advanced tumors as well as intermediate- to highgrade (G2-G3) GEP-NETs [16]. Lymphocyte infiltration is commonly observed in these tumors, but considering the low proportion of cases positive for PD-1/PD-L1, it is not clear if TILs are effectively activated by tumor neoantigens. Moreover, mechanisms of mismatch repairs appear to be efficient in most NETs, consequently, the mutational burden of these malignancies is relatively low, as only 3% of panNETs harbor >17 mutations/Mb, a cutoff usually used to predict response to immunotherapy [17].

Microsatellite instability (MSI) is considered a predictive biomarker for response to PD-1/ PD-L1 inhibition. In well-differentiated tumors, high-level MSI has been demonstrated in sporadic insulinomas [18], but rarely in other GEP-NETs [19–21].

Taking into account this data, welldifferentiated NETs do not seem good candidates for immunotherapy. In contrast, it seems to be more likely that NECs could be a target to checkpoint immunotherapy, given their mutational load and dense immune infiltration [22].

Checkpoint inhibitors utilize antibodies to target the programmed cell death receptor 1 (PD)-1/PD-L1 or cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen (CTLA)-4 inhibitory axis found on immune cells to lower their threshold for activation and generate a more robust antitumor response. Several PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies are available for clinical use including pembrolizumab, nivolumab, and avelumab as well as ipilimumab for CTLA4 targets [23].

Pembrolizumab, a monoclonal antibody (mAb) targeting PD-1, has been investigated in the phase Ib study KEYNOTE-028. Two hundredseventeen patients had been evaluated for PD-1 expression and 36% were positive. The trial enrolled 16 and 25 patients with pretreated PD-L1-positive pancreatic and extrapancreatic (nine lungs and seven guts) NETs. Objective responses were observed in 12% of carcinoid cohort and 6% of pancreatic cohorts; SD rates were 60% and 88% in carcinoid and pancreatic cohort, respectively. The 1-year PFS rate was 27% for either subgroups. This study showed higher response rates in tumors that had high mutational burdens as well as microenvironments that were T cell-enriched suggesting potential criteria that will be helpful in predicting eligibility for these treatments [24].

These results have been confirmed by another study that has investigated the efficacy of pembrolizumab (KEYNOTE-158) in a larger cohort of patients (107 patients) with well-differentiated NETs of the lung and gastroenteropancreatic. Sixteen percent of patients had PD-L1-positive tumors. ORR was 3.7% with 4 PR and no complete response. Median PFS was 4.1 months and median OS was 24.2 months [25].

Similar results have been recently reported in a study of 116 patients with well-differentiated G1-G2 gastroenteropancreatic and lung NETs as well as gastroenteropancreatic poorly differentiated NECs treated with spartalizumab (PDR-001), a mAb anti-PD-1. In this study, ORR was 7.4% in well-differentiated NETs and 4.8% in poorly differentiated NEC, to be noted, patients with lung carcinoids had higher ORR (20%). Main grade 3/4 adverse events were abdominal and back pain, anemia, dyspnea, and hypertension. PD-L1 expression was generally low, GEP NEC patients had a higher proportion of PD-L1 expression (43%) [26].

A phase Ib trial investigated the efficacy of toripalimab, an mAb anti PD-1 receptor, in 40 patients with NENs with Ki-67 > 10% progressing to first-line therapy. ORR was 20% (eight partial response and six stable disease) and median disease objective response was 15.2 months [27].

One strategy to increase the percentage of response to immunotherapy is to combine two treatments.

The phase II basket trial (DART trial) explored the combination of ipilimumab and nivolumab in rare tumors. In the NEN cohort, 32 patients had a non-pancreatic NEN, 56% had a NEC. Most common primary sites were gastrointestinal (47%) and lung (19%). The overall ORR was 25%, but in patients with NEC, ORR was 44%. Median OS was 11 months. The most common toxicities were hypothyroidism, fatigue, and nausea [28]. It is currently unknown whether prior treatment with chemotherapy or peptide receptor radiotherapy or concomitant treatment with TKi may enhance the efficacy of immunotherapy in NETs. Strategies to enhance immune response and efficacy of immunotherapy in NENs are based on modulation of T cells and reverse immunosuppression, in particular the association of two immune checkpoint inhibitors, or the association of immunotherapy with chemotherapy, PRRT, and target therapy is under evaluation in several clinical trials [29]. Checkpoint inhibitors are an exciting option that deserve further investigation.

9.5 Cyclin-Dependent 4/6 Inhibitors

The cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) regulating cell cycle progression have been viewed as promising targets for cancer therapy. Palbociclib is an inhibitor of CDK4 and CDK6 approved together with other third-generation CDK4/6 inhibitors (ribociclib and abemaciclib) for the treatment of hormone receptor-positive and HER2-negative breast cancer in combination with either aromatase inhibitors or fulvestrant based on significant improvements in PFS [30]. It shows a potent antiproliferative activity in RB-positive tumor cells in vitro, inducing G1 arrest [31–33] in pNET cell lines overexpressing CDK4 [34].

The phase I trial by Fujivara et al. with abemaciclib in 11 patients with advanced tumors with different primaries found a reduction in tumor size >30% in two patients, one of them with a NET [35].

This encouraging result has not been confirmed by the phase II trial by Grande et al. assessed activity and safety of palbociclib 125 mg 21 of 28 days in 21 patients with advanced or metastatic G1-G2 pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. All patients received at least one line of previous therapy, and 66% of patients received more than two lines of therapy. The median PFS was only 2.6 months and there were no objective response. Fifty-four percent of patients showed a disease stabilization for more than 6 months. Main toxicities were muscle weakness, neutrophil, and platelet count decrease. No correlation between the clinical outcome and the expression of RB1, Ki-67, and p16 on the tumor tissue was observed [36]. Translational studies correlating palbociclib activity with Ki-67 proliferation index are ongoing.

9.6 Epigenetic Drugs

The low mutation rate observed in NET compared to other tumors suggests that other mechanisms, such as epigenetic changes, could be involved in NET development and progression.

The term epigenetics is referred to external modifications to DNA, which do not alter the DNA sequence but change chromatin structure influencing gene expression and genomic stability. Epigenetic changes are transmitted in cells divisions and consist of DNA methylation and histone modification. Both mechanisms are deregulated in cancer, including NET, and contribute to tumor evolution.

Epigenetic drugs inhibit proteins implicated in the writing, the reading, or the erasing of epigenetic marks such as DNA methylation or posttranslational modifications of histones. The main categories of this compounds are the inhibitors of DNA methyltransferases, such as azacitidine and decitabine, and the inhibitors of histone deacetylases [37].

Methylation profiles can be a predictive factor of response to chemotherapeutic agents and of survival, as for example, the methylation of MGMT promoter. MGMT (O6-methylguaninemethyltransferase) is an enzyme of DNA repair, and the methylation of the promoter seems to predict for better response to therapy with alkylating agent as temozolomide in panNET patients [38, 39]. Larger and randomized clinical trials should be conducted to confirm these findings.

Studies in vitro in panNET and small intestine cell lines used DNA methylases inhibitor and histone deacetylases inhibitor, showing results in terms of reducing cell viability and increasing gene expression [40–44]. Interestingly, decitabine increased the expression of SSTR2 and the Ga-DOTATOC uptake in BON1 tumour-bearing mice, indicating a possible therapy implication in reexpression of somatostatin receptors for PRRT [45, 46].

These drugs are under investigation also in clinical trials, and the efficacy in NETs is under investigation.

A phase II trial with panobinostat, a histone deacetylases inhibitor, has been conducted in 15 patients with metastatic, low-grade NETs. The study was stopped at planned interim analysis based on a Simon two-stage design. There were no radiologic responses, but all patients have a disease stabilization. The median PFS was 9.9 months, and the median OS was 47.3 months. Fatigue (27%), thrombocytopenia (20%), diarrhea (13%), and nausea (13%) were the most common related grade 3 toxicities. The low response rate and the mPFS did not meet the prespecified criteria to open the study to full accrual [46].

A phase I trial with CC90011, a reversible oral inhibitor of the epigenetic target, lysine-specific demethylase 1A (LSD 1) showed in 50 patients (26 with neuroendocrine neoplasms) a complete response in 1 patient and a disease stabilization in 22 patients, with 7 patients with a duration of >4 months(five bronchial and two prostate NENs). Toxicity were thrombocytopenia and neutropenia. Retrospective studies on the epigenetic profile of neuroendocrine tumors would be necessary for future researches and specific treatments. Currently, multiple clinical trials are underway attempting to identify and use biomarkers for clinical use (NCT02630654, NCT02948946).

Given the clinical heterogeneity observed in NETs based on grade, anatomical location, etc., it is imperative that future efforts work toward an improved molecular understanding of NETs and their response to particular treatments.

References

 Kvols LK, Oberg KE, O'Dorisio TM, et al. Pasireotide (SOM230) shows efficacy and tolerability in the treatment of patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors refractory or resistant to octreotide LAR: results from a phase II study. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2012;19(5):657–66.

- Wolin EM, Jarzab B, Eriksson B, et al. Phase III study of pasireotide long-acting release in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine tumors and carcinoid symptoms refractory to available somatosta- tin analogues. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2015;9:5075–86.
- Ferolla P, Brizzi MP, Meyer T, Mansoor W, Mazieres J, DoCao C, Léna H, Berruti A, Damiano V, Buikhuisen W. Efficacy and safety of long-acting pasireotide or everolimus alone or in combination in patients with advanced carcinoids of the lung and thymus (LUNA): an open-label, multicentre, randomised, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:1652–64.
- Vitale G, Dicitore A, Sciammarella C, et al. Pasireotide in the treatment of neuroendocrine tumors: a review of the literature. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2018;25(6):R351–R64.
- Scoazec JY. Angiogenesis in neuroendocrine tumors: therapeutic applications. Neuroendocrinology. 2013;97(1):45–56.
- Marion-Audibert AM, Barel C, Gouysse G, et al. Low microvessel density is an unfavorable histoprognostic factor in pancreatic endocrine tumors. Gastroenterology. 2003;125:1094–104.
- Grillo F, Florio T, Ferraù F, et al. Emerging multitarget tyrosine kinase inhibitors in the treatment of neuroendocrine neoplasms. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2018;25(9):R453–R66.
- Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL, et al. Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(6):501–13.
- Phan AT, Halperin DM, Chan JA, et al. Pazopanib and depot octreotide in advanced, well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumours: a multicentre, single-group, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(6):695–703.
- Ahn HK, Choi JY, Kim KM, et al. Phase II study of pazopanib monotherapy in metastatic gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Br J Cancer. 2013;109(6):1414–9.
- Grande E, Capdevila J, Castellano D, et al. Pazopanib in pretreated advanced neuroendocrine tumors: a phase II, open-label trial of the Spanish task force group for neuroendocrine tumors (GETNE). Ann Oncol. 2015;26(9):1987–93.
- Yakes FM, Chen J, Tan J, et al. Cabozantinib (XL184), a novel MET and VEGFR2 inhibitor, simultaneously suppresses metastasis, angiogenesis, and tumor growth. Mol Cancer Ther. 2011;10(12):2298–308.
- Chan JA, Faris JE, Murphy JE, et al. Phase II trial of cabozantinib in patients with carcinoid and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors(pNET). J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(4_suppl):228.
- Strosberg J, Cives M, Hwang J, et al. A phase II study of axitinib in advanced neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2016;23(5):411–8.
- 15. Hutchison China MediTech (Chi-Med). Surufatinib phase III SANET-ep study has met its primary endpoint at interim analysis in advanced non-pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in china and will stop early.

(AIM/Nasdaq: HCM) Innovation Platform, Press Releases, RNS Announcements; 2019.

- Kim ST, Ha SY, Lee S, et al. The impact of PD-L1 expression in patients with metastatic GEP-NETs. J Cancer. 2016;7(5):484–9.
- Salem ME, Puccini A, Grothey A, Raghavan D, Goldberg RM, Xiu J, et al. Landscape of tumor mutation load, mismatch repair deficiency, and PD-L1 expression in a large patient cohort of gastrointestinal cancers. Mol Cancer Res. 2018;16(5):805–12.
- Mei M, Deng D, Liu TH, Sang XT, Lu X, Xiang HD, Zhou J, Wu H, Yang Y, Chen J, Lu CM, Chen YJ. Clinical implications of microsatellite instability and MLH1 gene inactivation in sporadic insulinomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94:3448–57.
- Arnason T, Sapp HL, Rayson D, Barnes PJ, Drewniak M, Nassar BA, Huang WY. Loss of expression of DNA mismatch repair proteins is rare in pancreatic and small intestinal neuroendocrine tumors. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2011;135:1539–44.
- Kidd M, Eick G, Shapiro MD, Camp RL, Mane SM, Modlin IM. Microsatellite instability and gene mutations in transforming growth factor-beta type II receptor are absent in small bowel carcinoid tumors. Cancer. 2005;103:229–36.
- 21. Lawrence MS, Stojanov P, Polak P, Kryukov GV, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko A, Carter SL, Stewart C, Mermel CH, Roberts SA, Kiezun A, Hammerman PS, Mckenna A, Drier Y, Zou L, Ramos AH, Pugh TJ, Stransky N, Helman E, Kim J, Sougnez C, Ambrogio L, Nickerson E, Shefler E, Cortes ML, Auclair D, Saksena G, Voet D, Noble M, DiCara D, Lin P, Lichtenstein L, Heiman DI, Fennell T, Imielinski M, Hernandez B, Hodis E, Baca S, Dulak AM, Lohr J, Landau DA, Wu CJ, Melendez-Zajgla J, Hidalgo-Miranda A, Koren A, McCarroll SA, Mora J, Crompton B, Onofrio R, Parkin M, Winckler W, Ardlie K, Gabriel SB, Roberts CWM, Biegel JA, Stegmaier K, Bass AJ, Garraway LA, Meyerson M, Golub TR, Gordenin DA, Sunyaev S, Lander ES, Getz G. Mutational heterogeneity in cancer and the search for new cancer-associated genes. Nature. 2013;499:214-8.
- Rickman DS, Beltran H, Demichelis F, Rubin MA. Biology and evolution of poorly differentiated neuroendocrine tumors. Nat Med. 2017;23(6):1–10.
- Cunha LL, Marcello MA, Rocha-Santos V, et al. Immunotherapy against endocrine malignancies: immune checkpoint inhibitors lead the way. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2017;24(12):T261–T81.
- 24. Mehnert JM, Rugo HS, O'Neil BH, Santoro A, Schellens JHM, Cohen RB, et al. 4270 – Pembrolizumab for patients with PD-L1–positive advanced carcinoid or pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: results from the KEYNOTE-028 study. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(Suppl 5):v142–57.
- 25. Strosberg J, Mizuno N, Doi T, Grande E, Delord JP, Shapira-Frommer R, Bergsland E, Shah M, Fakih M, Takahashi S, Piha-Paul SA, O'Neil B, Thomas S, Lolkema MP, Chen M, Ibrahim N, Norwood K,

Hadoux J. Efficacy and safety of pembrolizumab in previously treated advanced neuroendocrine tumors: results from the phase II KEYNOTE-158 study. Clin Cancer Res. 2020;26(9):2124–30.

- 26. Yao JC, Strosberg J, Fazio N, Pavel ME, Ruszniewski P, Bergsland E, et al. 13080 activity and safety of spartalizumab (PDR-001) in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors of pancreatic, gastrointestinal or thoracic origin, & gastroenteropancreatic neuro-endocrine carcinoma who have progressed on prior treatment. Ann Oncol. 2018;29(Suppl 8):viii467–78.
- 27. Lu M, Zhang P, Zhang Y, Li Z, Gong J, Li J, Li J, Li Y, Zhang X, Lu Z, Wang X, Zhou J, Peng Z, Wang W, Feng H, Wu H, Yao S, Shen L. Efficacy, safety, and biomarkers of toripalimab in patients with recurrent or metastatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: a multiple-center phase Ib trial. Clin Cancer Res. 2020;26(10):2337–45.
- 28. Patel SP, Othus M, Chae YK, Giles FJ, Hansel DE, Singh PP, Fontaine A, Shah MH, Kasi A, Al Baghdadi T, Matrana M, Gatalica Z, Korn WM, Hayward J, McLeod C, Chen HX, et al. A phase II basket trial of dual anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 blockade in rare tumors (DART SWOG 1609) in patients with nonpancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2020;26(10):2290–6.
- Schmidt D, Wiedenmann B. Extremely long survival under combined immunotherapy in a metastatic functional neuroendocrine neoplasia patient. Neuroendocrinology. 2018;106(4):381–8.
- Turner NC, Ro J, André F, et al. Palbociclib in hormone-receptor-positive advanced breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:209–19.
- Dickson MA, Tap WD, Keohan ML, et al. Phase II trial of the CDK4 inhibitor PD0332991 in patients with advanced CDK4-amplified well-differentiated or dedifferentiated liposarcoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:2024–8.
- 32. Clark AS, Karasic TB, DeMichele A, et al. Pal-bociclib (PD0332991)-a selective and potent cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor: a review of pharmacodynamics and clinical. JAMA Oncol. 2016;2(2):253–60.
- 33. Vlenterie M, Hillebrandt-Roeffen MH, Schaars EW, et al. Targeting cyclin-dependent kinases in synovial sarcoma: Palbociclib as a potential treatment for synovial sarcoma patients. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:2745–52.
- 34. Tang LH, Contractor T, Clausen R, et al. Attenuation of the retinoblastoma pathway in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors due to increased cdk4/cdk6. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:4612–20.
- 35. Fujiwara Y, Tamura K, Kondo S, Tanabe Y, Iwasa S, Shimomura A, Kitano S, Ken O, Kellie Turner P, Mori J, Asou H, Chan EM, Yamamoto N. Phase 1 study of abemaciclib, an inhibitor of CDK 4 and 6, as a single agent for Japanese patients with advanced cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2016;78(2):281–8.
- Grande E, Teulé A, Alonso-Gordoa T, Jiménez-Fonseca P, Benavent M, Capdevila J, Custodio A,

Vera R, Munarriz J, La Casta A, Díez JJ, Gajate P, Molina-Cerrillo J, Matos I, Cristóbal EM, Ruffinelli JC, Palacios J, García-Carbonero R. The PALBONET trial: a phase II study of palbociclib in metastatic grade 1 and 2 pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (GETNE-1407). Oncologist. 2020;25(9):745-e1265.

- Michalak EM, Burr ML, Bannister AJ, Dawson MA. The roles of DNA, RNA and histone methylation in ageing and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2019;20(10):573–89.
- Schmitt AM, Pavel M, Rudolph T, Dawson H, Blank A, Komminoth P, Vassella E, Perren A. Prognostic and predictive roles of MGMT protein expression and promoter methylation in sporadic pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology. 2014;100:35–44.
- 39. Walter T, van Brakel B, Vercherat C, Hervieu V, Forestier J, Chayvialle JA, Molin Y, Lombard-Bohas C, Joly MO, Scoazec JY. O⁶-Methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase status in neuroendocrine tumours: prognostic relevance and association with response to alkylating agents. Br J Cancer. 2015;112: 523–31.
- Baradari V, Huether A, Hopfner M, Schuppan D, Scherubl H. Antiproliferative and proapoptotic effects of histone deacetylase inhibitors on gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumor cells. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2006;13:1237–50.

- 41. Zhang HY, Rumilla KM, Jin L, Nakamura N, Stilling GA, Ruebel KH, Hobday TJ, Erlichman C, Erickson LA, Lloyd RV. Association of DNA methylation and epigenetic inactivation of RASSF1A and beta-catenin with metastasis in small bowel carcinoid tumors. Endocrine. 2006;30:299–306.
- Habbe N, Bert T, Simon B. Identification of methylation-associated gene expression in neuroendocrine pancreatic tumor cells. Pancreatology. 2007;7:352–9.
- Alexander VM, Roy M, Steffens KA, Kunnimalaiyaan M, Chen H. Azacytidine induces cell cycle arrest and suppression of neuroendocrine markers in carcinoids. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2010;3:95–102.
- Arvidsson Y, Johanson V, Pfragner R, Wangberg B, Nilsson O. Cytotoxic effects of valproic acid on neuroendocrine tumour cells. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103:578–91.
- 45. Taelman VF, Radojewski P, Marincek N, Ben Shlomo A, Grotzky A, Olariu CI, Perren A, Stettler C, Krause T, Meier LP. Upregulation of key molecules for targeted imaging and therapy. J Nucl Med. 2016;57:1805–10.
- 46. Jin N, Lubner SJ, Mulkerin DL, Rajguru S, Carmichael L, Chenv H, Holen KD, LoConte NK. A phase II trial of a histone deacetylase inhibitor panobinostat in patients with low-grade neuroendocrine tumors. Oncologist. 2016;21(7):785–6.

F. Orsi (🖂) · G. Bonomo

e-mail: franco.orsi@ieo.it

Interventional Radiology, called also Interventional Oncology (IO) when applied to the field of oncology, provides several treatment options alternatives, or sometime complementary, to the traditional ones. IO can also provide unique therapies for complex clinical situations, where no or not efficient standard options, are available. Some of the techniques developed within the IO field are nowadays upgraded to standard options and included into the clinical guidelines. It is especially true for hepatic tumors where, both in primary and metastatic disease, locoregional therapies can provide outstanding clinical results with minimal invasiveness.

Also in the field of Neuroendocrine Tumors. IO plays a very important role, in the management of metastatic stages, thanks to the several locoregional treatments, available from its wide armamentarium, ranged from the percutaneous techniques to the intra-arterial ones. Several indications for locoregional therapies of metastatic liver disease, from NET, are reported from the literature, whereas radical tumor ablation, tumor debulking, and hormone release control are the

most common, also because of the increasing response to the medical therapy [1].

Locoregional Therapies of NEN

Franco Orsi and Guido Bonomo

30-50% of patients with PNETs syndromes and 98-100% of patients with carcinoid syndrome due to a malignant GI-NET (carcinoids) have liver metastases at presentation [2-7]. These patients are rarely cured surgically and thus are candidates for various forms of liver-directed therapies, particularly when the primary tumor is resected [8–14]. In those clinical settings, liverdirected therapies allow for tumor debulking and/ or hormone release control. However, treatment strategy is usually based on a multifactorial evaluation, mainly related to the general clinical conditions, the therapeutic options available, and, most importantly, on the histopathological tumor characteristics. According to its complexity, treatment strategy in NET setting requires a dedicated multidisciplinary team and very often an individualized approach [15]. The range of effective treatment options for NET liver metastases includes surgery (only limited to a small percentage of patients), medical therapies, interventional radiology, and nuclear medicine treatments [16, 17]; however, there is still a lack of evidencebased recommendations, regarding the ideal sequence of those treatments in these patients.

Liver surgery is reported as the treatment of choice for liver metastatic disease, with 5-year survival rates >70% in patients amenable to resection [18–20], but resection is often impossible due to the extent of the disease.

Introduction 10.1

Division of Interventional Radiology, European

Institute of Oncology (I.E.O.), IRCCS, Milan, Italy

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_10

Rationale for intra-arterial liver-directed therapies, such as arterial embolization (TAE), arterial chemoembolization (TACE), or arterial radioembolization (TARE), is based on the evidence that NET liver metastases are usually hypervascular and primarily supplied by branches of the hepatic artery, whereas normal liver parenchyma is fed by the portal vein. For that reason, the arterial route to the tumor is widely accepted for affecting liver metastatic deposits, by shutting down the blood flow to the tumor, alone (TAE) or with the coadministration of chemotherapeutic agents (TACE), or with radio-emitted beads (TARE) [9–12, 21, 22].

Mechanism of action for thermal ablation (TA) techniques is based on the sensitivity of any biological tissue to the high temperature. Cell death during exposure to heat is exponential and dependent on the temperature and length of exposure [23].

Different techniques are available for providing thermal damage to the cancer tissues, but Radiofrequency (RF) and Microwaves (MW) are the most common in clinical practice, for treating liver nodules, both primary and metastatic tumors.

Indications, results, and main technical aspects of IO liver-directed therapies, in liver metastatic NET, will be described within this chapter.

10.2 Intra-Arterial Therapies

More than 95% of liver metastases from NET are hyper-enhancing during the arterial phase on contrast-enhanced ultrasonography (CEUS), meanwhile on CT or MR, they could be hypointense or hypoattenuating during the same vascular phase, mostly because of a lower temporal resolution compared to CEUS [24]. However, the basic concept behind intra-arterial treatment strategy is that liver metastases from NET are mostly fed by the arterial system as any other liver tumor, whereas normal adjacent liver is mainly supplied by the portal venous system [25].

Embolization (TAE), chemoembolization (TACE), and radioembolization (TARE) have been shown to achieve objectives responses, tumor markers decrease, and control of tumorrelated symptoms, in those patients with unresectable liver metastases and/or specific carcinoid symptoms, such as diarrhea, hypertension, abdominal pain, and flushing [26]. However, there is still no clear evidence, in terms of imaging response, symptomatic response, or impact on survival, about the superiority of one out of these three approaches [13, 17]. Liverpredominant disease and/or major uncontrolled symptoms in nonsurgical candidate patients are the two most common indications for hepatic intra-arterial therapies, meanwhile extrahepatic stable metastatic tumor and/or the presence of stable primary tumor are not considered absolute contraindications [4, 9].

10.2.1 Embolization/ Chemoembolization

Transarterial Embolization (TAE), also called "bland embolization," refers to the selective distal arterial embolization, with the aim of occluding small arteries, feeding the liver metastases and consequently tumor ischemia and necrosis [27]. During the last few years, more efficient embolic material has been developed, in order to achieve a better and more distal arterial embolization, with the specific goal to improve local results, meanwhile reducing the toxicity of surrounding healthy liver tissue. Small and roundshaped beads, with size ranged between 100 and 40 microns in diameter, could better reach a deeper level of tumor embolization, if compared with bigger and with irregular shaped embolics [28, 29]. The adoption of super-selective techniques, thanks to the more and more performing micro-catheters and the improved integrated imaging for guiding the intra-arterial procedures, may allow for really efficient selective embolization of liver tumors, mainly if hypervascular, such as HCC and metastatic NET (Fig. 10.1).



Fig. 10.1 NET G2 (Ki67 10%) of the pancreatic tail, with synchronous metastases on the right liver lobe; (a) CT shows the largest nodule, sited in S6 (arrows), and confirmed on $Ga^{68}PET/CT$ (b). On NET-MDTB (IEO) was defined the indication to TAE, for control liver disease, followed by surgical resection of primary pancreatic tumor. Multiple sequential TAE sessions were superselectively performed; (c) common hepatic artery (arrow) angiogram clearly shows how the liver lesions (arrowheads) are hyper-vascular; (d) super-selective angiogra-

phy, performed with the micro-catheter tip (arrow) into the feeder of the lesion sited in S6 (*), confirms the right position for delivering the microbeads. After multiple sessions of TAE, patient underwent resection of the pancreatic tail. 24 months after last session of TAE, CT (e) shows sustained objective response at the level of S6, where the treated lesion is no more enhancing (arrows); (f) Ga⁶⁸PET/ CT shows a photopenic area (arrows) at the same level
Transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) is based on the association of intra-arterial chemotherapy administration together with embolics. The rationale behind TACE is to increase the intra-tumor concentration of cytotoxic drugs, such as doxorubicin or epirubicin, with no or very few systemic side effects, if compared to the standard systemic chemotherapy, meanwhile concurrent or following embolization will reduce drug washout from the tumor, compared to drug infusion alone [30]. During conventional TACE (cTACE), the drug is emulsified with Lipiodol[®] (Guerbet) and selectively delivered into the tumor. In DEB-TACE, the drug is concentrated within small beads (DEB = Drug Eluting Beads), which will shut down the blood flow within the tumor and will elute the chemotherapeutic agent into the tumor microvasculature. The advantage of using eluting beads is mainly based on pharmacokinetic studies in HCC patients, which revealed that DEB-TACE resulted in a higher intra-tumor drug concentrations and a lower systemic exposure than TACE [31, 32].

Both TAE and TACE are usually performed for palliative treatment of liver-predominant disease, which is not surgically resectable, in order to reduce the hepatic tumor mass, and 25–85% of patients have an objective tumor response, with a mean response duration of 6–45 months. This approach has been particularly considered in patients with hepatic symptoms or refractory malignant F-NET syndromes [9–12, 21, 22]. In general, TACE/TAE result in a symptomatic response in 50–100% of patients, and numerous series as well as case reports have documented their control of symptoms in patients with both carcinoid syndrome and F-pNET syndromes [9– 12, 21, 22, 33–39].

To date, no randomized study has sought to compare the efficacy of either embolization or chemoembolization in NET G3. CNCCN, NANETS, and ENETS guidelines include both TAE and TACE, within the list of local therapies for symptomatic and/or progressive NET liver metastases, on the basis of level IIB-3 evidence, but they offer no recommendation regarding the different techniques [13, 40–43]. No statistical difference in clinical efficacy of TAE versus TACE in the treatment of liver metastases from well-differentiated non-pNET in a prospective study has been reported [44]. According to this report, there are no data supporting the hypothesis of an additive clinical advantage of intraarterial administration of chemotherapeutic agent compared to the arterial embolization alone. Meanwhile, some studies reported superior survival and/or outcomes of TAE compared to TACE [22, 45, 46]; two retrospective series have reported higher biliary complication rate after DEB-TACE [47, 48] compared to TAE, but there are still no definitive data regarding the superiority between cTACE and TAE.

10.2.2 Radioembolization

Radioembolization (TARE) delivers targeted radiation therapy to unresectable hepatic malignancies, by the injection of the β -emitting isotope Yttrium-90 (90Y) through micro-catheter, which is permanently bound to biocompatible, nonbiodegradable microspheres (glass or resin), into the arterial supply of the liver, in order to reach tumor microvasculature. It results in delivering doses of ionizing radiation, above 120 Gy, into the tumor compartment, with no intolerable toxicity to the healthy liver parenchyma [49, 50]. TARE demonstrated a close correlation between delivered dose to the tumor and local response [51]. The dose of the radioactive microspheres has also to be adapted to the lung shunting fraction, when present, and assessed before TARE by scintigraphy, obtained after intra-arterial infusion of ⁹⁹Tc-macroaggregated albumin (highest tolerable dose of the lung <30Gy).

Several authors reported data on the efficacy of TARE in the biological control of the disease and in the reduction of symptoms [52–55]. Interesting results about its feasibility and impact on survival compared to other locoregional therapies showed its possible application in particular series of patients [56–61]. One of the critical approaches in this kind of treatment is the calculation of the optimal dose that on the contrary is a well known and investigated topic in HCC patients [62].

The most common side effects of TARE are abdominal pain, nausea, fever, and fatigue that last from 1 week to 1 month. Various complications have been described after or during the procedure of TARE. They are mainly caused by the delivery of radioactive beads to the normal liver parenchyma or to extrahepatic sites, such as the gastrointestinal system (e.g., gastroduodenal ulceration, radiation gastritis, cholecystitis, or pancreatitis), the abdominal wall (i.e., radiation dermatitis), and the lungs (i.e., radiation pneumonitis) [63]. Treatment toxicity is significantly related to the radiation activity delivered to the healthy liver, which is the main limiting factor making TARE less repeatable than TAE/TACE, because of the risk of irreversible damage of liver parenchyma. In 2008, Sangro et al. [64] described toxicity using the term "RadioEmbolization-Induced Liver Disease" (REILD), which is considered a form of sinusoidal obstructive syndrome (SOS) and includes ascites, weight gain, liver function impairment, and elevation of bilirubin levels. Furthermore, late changes in liver size and TARE, appearance, following have been described, with radiation injury potentially developing into sinusoidal congestion and portal hypertension [65, 66]. In a recent study, Yu-Kai et al. [67] evaluated the long-term (>2 years after treatment) hepatotoxicity of radioembolization in patients with mNETs, by reviewing imaging and laboratory findings and determining their correlation with clinical symptoms. They concluded that whole-liver 90Y TARE for patients with neuroendocrine tumors results in long-term imaging findings of cirrhosis-like morphology and portal hypertension in >50% of treated patients, with signs of hepatic decompensation that are more pronounced than those in patients treated with unilobar 90Y radioembolization. However, a majority of these patients will remain clinically asymptomatic. This evidence is crucial, as patients with mNETs have longer life expectancies than patients with other unresectable hepatic metastases [68]. Although this practice may result in an improved tumor response rate and overall survival, there may conceivably be manifestations of long-term hepatotoxicity from ⁹⁰Y. In the setting of a slowly progressive disease that remains localized into the liver for a long period of time, TARE should be considered in a very well selected patients and should be carried out with super-selective technique only (Fig. 10.2), in order to reduce the risks of early and late complications (i.e., REILD and late hepatotoxicity). TAE/TACE and TARE should not be considered competing therapies, but complementary tools. Many patients, according to their individual tumor and healthy liver characteristics, could be candidates for either TAE/TACE or TARE.

10.3 Percutaneous Liver Ablation

Radical resection is considered as the only curative treatment for liver metastases from NET, allowing for survival improvement [19, 69] and also recommended for tumor debulking in hormone-active metastases, for palliative purposes [70–72]. The overall survival after hepatic resection is 46-86% at 5 years and 35-79% at 10 years [19, 73, 74], but complete resection is achieved in only 20-57% with a local recurrence rate of 94% at 5 years [75]. Due to that high metastatic recurrence rate, repeated local treatments during patient's life might be required. Therefore, minimally invasive treatment, such as TA for liver metastatic disease, may play an important clinical role as an interesting tissue-sparing treatment, alternative to the conventional surgery, mainly for small tumor deposits. Repeatability and low invasiveness, together with a very high success rate, are the most relevant features of TA techniques for liver tumors.

TA refers to the application of high temperature to a tissue with the aim to effect tumor cell death. There are different methods and different energies for delivering the heat into the tumor, where percutaneous radiofrequency ablation (RFA) and microwaves ablation (MWA) are the most common and used in clinical practice.



Fig. 10.2 Unknown primary site NET G1 (Ki67 1%), with single liver metastasis of right lobe. As the liver lesion was growing, the NET MDTB (IEO) put indication for local treatment. (a) CT scan in arterial phase shows the highly enhancing liver metastasis in S7 (arrows) (a), and according to its histology, super-selective TARE was indicated. (b) Angiography, obtained with the micro-catheter (arrow) in the right hepatic artery shows the hyper-enhancing tumor (arrowheads). (c) Super-selective angiogram from the tumor (arrowheads) feeder: the micro-catheter tip (arrow) is sited close to the tumor, dis-

The area affected by the heat is called "ablation zone," and its size and shape are dependent by many factors, some of them closely related to the tissue characteristics and some others to specific features of the different TA technologies. However, the size of the ablation zone should cover the whole tumor volume, including a peripheral safety margin (0.5–1 cm) of healthy liver [65]. For large lesions or for irregular shapes, multiple overlapping ablation zones might be necessary in order to achieve a complete tumor eradication [76–78].

TA can be performed percutaneously, laparoscopically, and during open surgery, where the

tally to some lateral branches, in order reduce the healthy liver involvement during Y90-micro-particles injection. According to the low percentage of β + positron emission of the ⁹⁰Y, an abdominal PET/CT (**d**) was performed the day after TARE, in order to evaluate ⁹⁰Y-micro-particles distribution (arrows). The exam also shows no healthy liver was involved during the treatment. (**e**) CT scans, the last one (**d**) performed 4 years later showed a "scar" (arrows) in the site of the lesion, with no evidence of active pathologic tissue

imaging-guided percutaneous approach is the most common technique. Ultrasound and CT are the more common imaging modalities used, in clinical practice, for guiding percutaneous liver TA. The first modality has the unique feature to provide real-time imaging, which is essential for a safe needle penetration, from the skin surface to the target. The advantage of using CT is, first of all, the panoramic view and the higher spatial resolution. It is more and more emerging the need of both the two guidance modalities, during the same session, also integrated within the newer navigational tools [79], for a safer and more precise procedure. Contrast enhancement CT is also essential for providing data regarding the outcome of the ablation, when it is performed at the end of the procedure. Clinical indications for liver ablation in liver metastases from NET are still not well defined, and patients have to be always discussed within a dedicated MDTB, meanwhile technical indications are well established and are mainly related to the tumor size, shape, and site. Generally speaking, acceptable size criteria for ablation may differ, according to the different techniques and devices used, ranging from 3 to 5 cm of largest diameter. However, it is well known that local recurrence and treatment failure are higher with larger lesions due to incomplete ablation at the periphery [80]. Ablation margin is actually reported as an independent factor affecting the local recurrence after laparoscopic RFA of liver NET metastases [81]. Hence, the precise placement of the RFA needle, which is deeply affected by the imaging modality used for guidance and ablation monitoring, has to be considered critical for achieving as large margins as possible, in order to obtain local tumor control.

10.3.1 Radiofrequency Ablation

In RFA, an alternating current is flowing between the uninsulated probe tip and a dispersive skin electrode-pad (unipolar) or between the different electrodes within one or multiple probes (multipolar). The current is converted into tissue heating by friction of the ions adjacent to the uninsulated tip of the RFA electrode [76, 82, 83]. RFA is the most frequently used ablation technique performed in this clinical setting, often in combination with surgery, especially to remove isolated metastases too deeply located for a safe resection. Several criteria regarding the possible indication for liver RFA in NET have been proposed and are mainly based on the number of lesions, size, and proximity to vital structures. Besides the use of RFA as an antitumor treatment, a number of studies have reported enhanced symptomatic control of functional NETs after its use [4, 9–11, 13, 21,

84–88]. In a series of 129 patients undergoing 177 sessions of laparoscopic RFA, for a total number of 770 liver metastases from NET, authors reported a 5- and 10-year overall survivals of 76% and 59%, respectively, and a median OS of 125 months, at a median follow-up of 73 months. Limitations of the technique include the poor efficacy of ablation in large tumors, where tumor size remains an independent predictor of poor overall survival [89].

10.3.2 Microwave Ablation

MWA is based on an oscillating electromagnetic field (0.9–2.450 GHz), generated by an antenna/ needle, which induces water dipoles to continuously realign with the magnetic field. This kinetic energy induces heat in the tissue adjacent to the antenna, exposed at the magnetic field [90].

Compared to RFA, MW ablation is usually faster and less sensitive to the heat-sink effect, but its use is less common because it is more recently introduced in the clinical practice than RFA. Percutaneous application of MWA is more common in clinical practice, than during laparoscopy or open surgery, but due to the faster efficacy than RFA in destroying the tumor tissue, its use during open surgery is increasing, allowing liver tumors eradication, whereas resection only is not feasible or too invasive (Fig. 10.3).

A recent retrospective study comparing MWA, resection, and resection plus MWA, in patients affected by liver metastases from NET, reported a mean overall recurrence-free survival 21.2 months (0 to 189 months), with no statistically significant difference when comparing patients treated with MWA only versus those who underwent surgical resection with or without MWA [91]. Moreover, patients treated with MWA only had a similar overall survival of 57 months, as patients undergoing resection with or without MWA. After MWA, the length of hospital stay is also reported to be significantly shorter than after surgery, with number of complications and their severity significantly reduced if compared with resection.



Fig. 10.3 Ileal NET G1 (Ki-67 1%) with two synchronous small liver metastases in S5 and S6. Patient previously received right emicolectomy, including the last ileal loop, and was subsequently treated with somatostatin analogues (SSAs). After 6 months, patient reported intolerance to SSAs. NET MDTB (IEO) puts indication for liver local treatment by percutaneous thermal ablation. Pretreatment-enhanced MRI clearly shows the lesion in S6 (arrow) both in T1w excretory phase (**a**) and in DWI (**b**); the lesion is also well defined on ⁶⁸GaPET/CT (**c**).

Percutaneous MWA was performed to both the two lesions (S5 and S6) by using fusion-imaging technique (**d**) for a better precision; the lesion in S6 (arrows) is visible both on US and CT scan. (**e**) On US imaging, the tip of MWA-antenna located into the lesion (arrowheads); (**f**) as the result of the heat, tissue "vaporization" is visible at US as a white cloud (arrows). (**g**) CT performed 18 months after ablation clearly shows the hypodense scar of both the two treated liver metastases in S5 (arrowhead) and S6 (arrow)



Fig. 10.3 (continued)

References

- Ito T, Lee L, Jensen RT. Treatment of symptomatic neuroendocrine tumor syndromes: recent advances and controversies. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2016;17(16):2191–205.
- Jensen RT, Norton JA, Oberg K. Neuroendocrine tumors. In: Feldman M, Friedman LS, Brandt LJ, editors. Sleisenger and Fordtran's gastrointestinal and liver diseases. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders. p. 501–41.
- Falconi M, Eriksson B, Kaltsas G, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines update for the management of patients with functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and non-functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103:153–71.
- Pavel M, O'Toole D, Costa F, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines update for the management of distant metastatic disease of intestinal, pancreatic, bronchial neuroendocrine neoplasms (NEN) and NEN of unknown primary site. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103:172–85.
- Jensen RT, Niederle B, Mitry E, et al. Gastrinoma (duodenal and pancreatic). Neuroendocrinology. 2006;84:173–82.
- Jensen RT, Cadiot G, Brandi ML, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms: functional pancreatic endocrine tumor syndromes. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95:98–119.
- Nieman LK. Cushing's syndrome: update on signs, symptoms and biochemical screening. Eur J Endocrinol. 2015;173:M33–8.
- Ito T, Igarashi H, Jensen RT. Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: clinical features, diagnosis and medical treatment: advances. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2012;26:737–53.
- De Baere T, Deschamps F, Tselikas L, et al. GEP-NETS update: interventional radiology: role in the treatment of liver metastases from GEP-NETs. Eur J Endocrinol. 2015;172:R151–66.

- Gupta S. Intra-arterial liver-directed therapies for neuroendocrine hepatic metastases. Semin Intervent Radiol. 2013;30:28–38.
- Kennedy AS. Hepatic-directed therapies in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2016;30:193–207.
- Del Prete M, Fiore F, Modica R, et al. Hepatic arterial embolization in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2014;33:43.
- Kennedy A, Bester L, Salem R, et al. Role of hepatic intra-arterial therapies in metastatic neuroendocrine tumours (NET): guidelines from the NET-Liver-Metastases Consensus Conference. HPB (Oxford). 2015;17:29–37.
- Yang TX, Chua TC, Morris DL. Radioembolization and chemoembolization for unresectable neuroendocrine liver metastases - a systematic review. Surg Oncol. 2012;21:299–308.
- Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Kaltsas G, Kaltsatou M, et al. Hepatic intra-arterial therapies in metastatic neuroendocrine tumors: lessons from clinical practice. Endocrine. 2018;60(3):499–509.
- Chamberlain RS, Canes D, Brown KT, et al. Hepatic neuroendocrine metastases: does intervention alter outcomes? J Am Coll Surg. 2000;190:432–45.
- Clift AK, Frilling A. Management of patients with hepatic metastases from neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Saudi Med. 2014;34:279–90.
- Norton JA, Warren RS, Kelly MG, et al. Aggressive surgery for metastatic liver neuro- endocrine tumors. Surgery. 2003;134:1057–63.
- Sarmiento JM, Heywood G, Rubin J, et al. Surgical treatment of neuroendocrine metastases to the liver: a plea for resection to increase survival. J Am Coll Surg. 2003;197:29–37.
- Kianmanesh R, Sauvanet A, Hentic O, et al. Two-step surgery for synchronous bilobar liver metastases from digestive endocrine tumors: a safe approach for radical resection. Ann Surg. 2008;247:659–65.
- Ito T, Igarashi H, Jensen RT. Therapy of metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (pNETs): recent insights and advances. J Gastroenterol. 2012;47:941–60.
- 22. Fiore F, Del Prete M, Franco R, et al. Transarterial embolization (TAE) is equally effective and slightly safer than transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) to manage liver metastases in neuroendocrine tumors. Endocrine. 2014;47:177–82.
- Dewhirst MW, Viglianti BL, Lora-Michiels M, et al. Basic principles of thermal dosimetry and thermal thresholds for tissue damage from hyperthermia. Int J Hyperth. 2003;3:267–94.
- Ronot M, Cuccioli F, Burgio MD, et al. Neuroendocrine liver metastases: vascular patterns on triple-phase MDCT are indicative of primary tumor location. Eur J Radiol. 2017;89:156–62.
- Clouse ME, Perry L, Stuart K, et al. Hepatic arterial chemoembolization for metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. Digestion. 1994;55(Suppl. S3): 92–7.

- Frilling A, Clift AK. Therapeutic strategies for neuroendocrine liver metastases. Cancer. 2015;121:1172–86.
- 27. Fohlen A, Tasu JP, Kobeiter H, et al. Transarterial chemoembolization (tace) in the management of hepatocellular carcinoma: results of a French national survey on current practices. Diagn Interv Imaging. 2018;99:527–35.
- Lee KH, Liapi E, Vossen JA, et al. Distribution of iron oxide-containing Embosphere particles after transcatheter arterial embolization in an animal model of liver cancer: evaluation with MR imaging and implication for therapy. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2008;19(10):1490–6.
- Dreher MR, Sharma KV, Woods DL, et al. Radiopaque drug-eluting beads for transcatheter embolotherapy: experimental study of drug penetration and coverage in swine. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2012;23(2):257–64.
- Biolato M, Marrone G, Racco S, et al. Transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) for unresectable HCC: a new life begins? Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2010;14:356–62.
- 31. Zhang S, Huang C, Li Z, et al. Comparison of pharmacokinetics and drug release in tissues after transarterial chemoembolization with doxorubicin using diverse lipiodol emulsions and CalliSpheres Beads in rabbit livers. Drug Deliv. 2017;24(1):1011–7.
- 32. Varela M, Real MI, Burrel M, et al. Chemoembolization of hepatocellular carcinoma with drug eluting beads: efficacy and doxorubicin pharmacokinetics. J Hepatol. 2007;46(3):474–81.
- Bloomston M, Al-Saif O, Klemanski D, et al. Hepatic artery chemoembolization in 122 patients with metastatic carcinoid tumor: lessons learned. J Gastrointest Surg. 2007;11:264–71.
- 34. Kyriacou A, Mansoor W, Lawrance J, et al. Intractable hypoglycaemia in a patient with advanced carcinoid syndrome successfully treated with hepatic embolization. Hormones (Athens). 2015;15:118–21.
- Maiza JC, Vezzosi D, Grunenwald S, et al. Treatment with somatostatin analogs and chemoembolization of liver metastases for severe hypoglycemia in malignant insulinomas. J Endocrinol Investig. 2011;34:e253–8.
- Moscetti L, Saltarelli R, Giuliani R, et al. Intraarterial liver chemotherapy and hormone therapy in malignant insulinoma: case report and review of the literature. Tumori. 2000;86:475–9.
- Muro S, Nasu J, Harada R, et al. Prompt resolution of hypoglycemia by hepatic transarterial embolization for malignant insulinoma with multiple liver metastases. Acta Med Okayama. 2014;68:303–6.
- Pericleous M, Caplin ME, Tsochatzis E, et al. Hepatic artery embolization in advanced neuroendocrine tumors: efficacy and long-term outcomes. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol. 2016;12:61–9.
- 39. Yarmohammadi H, Erinjeri JP, Brown KT. Embolization of metastatic neuroendocrine tumor resulting in clinical manifestations of syndrome of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2015;26:533–7.

- 40. Boudreaux JP, Klimstra DS, Hassan MM, et al. North American neuroendocrine tumor society (NANETS). The NANETS consensus guideline for the diagnosis and management of neuroendocrine tumors: well- differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the jejunum, ileum, appendix, and cecum. Pancreas. 2010;39:753–66.
- Kulke MH, Anthony LB, Bushnell DL, et al. NANETS treatment guidelines: well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the stomach and pancreas. Pancreas. 2010;39:735–52.
- Kulke MH, Shah MH, Benson AB 3rd, et al. Neuroendocrine tumors, version 1.2015. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2015;13:78–108.
- 43. Pavel M, Baudin E, Couvelard A, et al. Barcelona Consensus Conference participants. ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with liver and other distant metastases from neuroendocrine neoplasms of foregut, midgut, hindgut, and unknown primary. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95:157–76.
- 44. Maire F, Lombard-Bohas C, O'Toole D, et al. Hepatic arterial embolization versus chemoembolization in the treatment of liver metastases from well-differentiated midgut endocrine tumors: a prospective randomized study. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;96:294–300.
- 45. Gupta S, Johnson MM, Murthy R, et al. Hepatic arterial embolization and chemoembolization for the treatment of patients with metastatic neuroendocrine tumors: variables affecting response rates and survival. Cancer. 2005;104:1590–602.
- 46. Ruutiainen AT, Soulen MC, Tuite CM, et al. Chemoembolization and bland embolization of neuroendocrine tumor metastases to the liver. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2007;18:847–55.
- 47. Bhagat N, Reyes DK, Lin M, Kamel I, et al. Phase II study of chemoembolization with drug-eluting beads in patients with hepatic neuroendocrine metastases: high incidence of biliary injury. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2013;36:449–59.
- 48. Guiu B, Deschamps F, Aho S, et al. Liver/biliary injuries following chemoembolisation of endocrine tumours and hepatocellular carcinoma: lipiodol vs. drug-eluting beads. J Hepatol. 2012;56:609–17.
- Kennedy A, Nutting C, Coldwell D, et al. Pathologic response and microdosimetry of 90Y-microspheres in man: review of four explanted whole livers. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2004;60:1552–63.
- Campbell A, Bailey I, Burton M. Tumour dosimetry in human liver following hepatic 90Y-microsphere therapy. Phys Med Biol. 2001;46:487–98.
- Lau WY, Leung WT, Ho S, et al. Treatment of inoperable hepatocellular carcinoma with intrahepatic arterial yttrium-90microspheres: a phase I and II study. Br J Cancer. 1994;70:994–9.
- Frilling A, Clift AK, Braat AJAT, Alsafi A, Wasan HS, et al. Radioembolisation with 90y microspheres for neuroendocrine liver metastases: an institutional case series, systematic review and meta-analysis. HPB. 2019;21:773–83.

- 53. Paprottka PM, Hoffmann RT, Alexander H, Sommer WH, Raessler F, Trumm RG, et al. Radioembolization of symptomatic, unresectable neuroendocrine hepatic metastases using yttrium-90 microspheres. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2012;35:334–42.
- Cramer B, Xing M, Kimt HS. Prospective longitudinal quality of life assessment in patients with neuroendocrine tumor liver metastases treated with 90y radioembolization. Clin Nucl Med. 2016;41:e493–7.
- 55. Kalinowski M, Dressler M, König A, El-Sheik M, Rinke A, Höffken H, Gress TM, Arnold R, Klose KJ, Wagner HJ. Selective internal radiotherapy with Yttrium-90 microspheres for hepatic metastatic neuroendocrine tumors: a prospective single center study. Digestion. 2009;79(3):137–42.
- 56. Egger ME, Armstrong E, Martin RC 2nd, Scoggins CR, Philips P, Shah M, Konda B, Dillhoff M, Pawlik TM, Cloyd JM. Transarterial chemoembolization vs radioembolization for neuroendocrine liver metastases: a multi-institutional analysis. J Am Coll Surg. 2020;230(4):363–70.
- 57. Do Minh D, Chapiro J, Gorodetski B, Huang Q, Liu C, Smolka S, Savic LJ, Wainstejn D, Lin M, Schlachter T, Gebauer B, Geschwind JF. Intra-arterial therapy of neuroendocrine tumour liver metastases: comparing conventional TACE, drug-eluting beads TACE and yttrium-90 radioembolisation as treatment options using a propensity score analysis model. Eur Radiol. 2017;27(12):4995–5005.
- Zuckerman DA, Kennard RF, Roy A, Parikh PJ, Weiner AA. Outcomes and toxicity following Yttrium-90 radioembolization for hepatic metastases from neuroendocrine tumors-a single-institution experience. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2019;10(1):118–27.
- Memon K, Lewandowski RJ, Mulcahy MF, Riaz A, Ryu RK, Sato KT, Gupta R, et al. Radioembolization for neuroendocrine liver metastases: safety, imaging, and long-term outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;83(3):887–94.
- 60. Braat A, Kappadath SC, Ahmadzadehfar H, Stothers CL, Frilling A, et al. Radioembolization with (90)y resin microspheres of neuroendocrine liver metastases: international multicenter study on efficacy and toxicity. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2019;42:413–25.
- Barbier C, Garske-Román U, Sandström M, Nyman R, Granberg D. Selective internal radiation therapy in patients with progressive neuroendocrine liver metastases. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;43:1425–31.
- 62. Chansanti O, Jahangiri Y, Matsui Y, Adachi A. Tumor dose response in yttrium-90 resin microsphere embolization for neuroendocrine liver metastases: a tumor-specific analysis with dose estimation using SPECT-CT. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2017;28:1528–35.
- Braat MNGJA, van Erpecumb KJ, Zonnenberga BA, et al. Radioembolization-induced liver disease: a systematic review. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;29:144–52.
- 64. Sangro B, Gil-Alzugaray B, Rodriguez J, et al. Liver disease induced by radioembolization of liver

tumors: description and possible risk factors. Cancer. 2008;112:1538–46.

- Memon K, Lewandowski RJ, Kulik L, et al. Radioembolization for primary and metastatic liver cancer. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2011;21:294–302.
- 66. Seidensticker R, Seidensticker M, Damm R, et al. Hepatic toxicity after radioembolization of the liver using 90y-microspheres: sequential lobar versus whole liver approach. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2012;35:1109–18.
- Yu-Kai S, Mackey RV, Riaz A, et al. Long-term hepatotoxicity of yttrium-90 radioembolization as treatment of metastatic neuroendocrine tumor to the liver. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2017;28:1520–6.
- 68. Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A, et al. One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:3063–72.
- Tan MC, Jarnagin WR. Surgical management of non-colorectal hepatic metastasis. J Surg Oncol. 2014;109:8–13.
- Scott AT, Breheny PJ, Keck KJ, et al. Effective cytoreduction can be achieved in patients with numerous neuroendocrine tumor liver metastases (NETLMs). Surgery. 2019;165:166–75.
- Osborne DA, Zervos EE, Strosberg J, et al. Improved outcome with cytoreduction versus embolization for symptomatic hepatic metastases of carcinoid and neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006;13:572–81.
- Frilling A, Modlin IM, Kidd M, et al. Recommendations for management of patients with neuroendocrine liver metastases. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:e8–21.
- Elias D, Lasser P, Ducreux M, et al. Liver resection (and associated extrahepatic resections) for metastatic well-differentiated endocrine tumors: a 15-year single center prospective study. Surgery. 2003;133:375–82.
- Glazer ES, Tseng JF, Al-Refaie W, et al. Long-term survival after surgical management of neuroendocrine hepatic metastases. HPB (Oxford). 2010;12:427–33.
- Mayo SC, de Jong MC, Pulitano C, et al. Surgical management of hepatic neuroendocrine tumor metastasis: results from an international multi-institutional analysis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:3129–36.
- Chen MH, Wei Y, Yan K, et al. Treatment strategy to optimize radiofrequency ablation for liver malignancies. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2006;17:671–83.
- 77. Lee JM, Han JK, Kim HC, et al. Multiple-electrode radiofrequency ablation of in vivo porcine liver: comparative studies of consecutive monopolar, switching monopolar versus multipolar modes. Investig Radiol. 2007;42:676–83.
- Solbiati L, Livraghi T, Goldberg SN, et al. Percutaneous radio-frequency ablation of hepatic metastases from colorectal cancer: long-term results in 117 patients. Radiology. 2001;221:159–66.
- Sánchez Y, Anvari A, Samir AE, et al. Navigational guidance and ablation planning tools for interventional radiology. Curr Probl Diagn Radiol. 2017;46(3):225–33.

- Covey AM, Sofocleous CT. Radiofrequency ablation as a treatment strategy for liver metastases from breast cancer. Semin Intervent Radiol. 2008;25(4):406–12.
- Takahashi H, Akyuz M, Aksoy E, et al. Local recurrence after laparoscopic radiofrequency ablation of malignant liver tumors: results of a contemporary series. J Surg Oncol. 2017;115(7):830–4.
- 82. Goldberg SN, Hahn PF, Tanabe KK, et al. Percutaneous radiofrequency tissue ablation: does perfusion-mediated tissue cooling limit coagulation necrosis? J Vasc Interv Radiol. 1998;9:101–11.
- Dupuy DE, Goldberg SN. Image-guided radiofrequency tumor ablation: challenges and opportunities– part II. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2001;12:1135–48.
- 84. Harring TR, Nguyen NT, Goss JA, et al. Treatment of liver metastases in patients with neuroendocrine tumors: a comprehensive review. Int J Hepatol. 2011;2011:1–11.
- 85. Eriksson J, Stalberg P, Nilsson A, et al. Surgery and radiofrequency ablation for treatment of liver metastases from midgut and foregut carcinoids and endocrine pancreatic tumors. World J Surg. 2008;32:930–8.

- Mazzaglia PJ, Berber E, Milas M, et al. Laparoscopic radiofrequency ablation of neuroendocrine liver metastases: a 10-year experience evaluating predictors of survival. Surgery. 2007;142:10–9.
- Karabulut K, Akyildiz HY, Lance C, et al. Multimodality treatment of neuroendocrine liver metastases. Surgery. 2011;150:316–25.
- Gillams A, Cassoni A, Conway G, et al. Radiofrequency ablation of neuroendocrine liver metastases: the Middlesex experience. Abdom Imaging. 2005;30:435–41.
- Kose E, Kahramangil B, Aydin H, et al. Outcomes of laparoscopic tumor ablation for neuroendocrine liver metastases: a 20-year experience. Surg Endosc. 2020;34(1):249–56.
- Lubner MG, Brace CL, Hinshaw JL, et al. Microwave tumor ablation: mechanism of action, clinical results, and devices. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2010;21:S192–203.
- Perrodin SF, Renzulli MM, Maurer MH, et al. Can microwave ablation be an alternative to resection for the treatment of neuroendocrine liver metastases? Endocr Pract. 2020;26(4):378–87.

Nazionale Tumori, Milan, Italy

A. Lorenzoni (🖂) · M. Maccauro · E. Seregni

e-mail: alice.lorenzoni@istitutotumori.mi.it

Nuclear Medicine Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_11

11.1 Introduction

Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) is a highly effective anticancer treatment modality for patients with non-resectable, metastasized neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) that express highly and frequently somatostatin receptors (SSTRs), mainly subtypes 2 and 5. PRRT is an attractive therapy option for delivering cytotoxic radiation to tumor cells through specific binding of a radiolabeled peptide to a molecular target, representing the most successful paradigm of theranostics approach, in which the same (or very similar) agents are used for both diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. PRRT represents, in fact, the step following the initial development of the diagnostic technique for in vivo localization of NETs using the radiolabeled somatostatin analogue ¹¹¹In-pentetreotide. The logical sequel to somatostatin receptor imaging (SRI) for diagnostic purposes was to use the same receptorbinding concept for treatment. In 1992, using the specific physical characteristics of the Auger and conversion electrons of ¹¹¹In, the first NET patient with glucagonoma was successfully treated with high doses of ¹¹¹In-pentetreotide [1].

After a few years of PRRT experience with ¹¹¹In-pentetreotide [2], it became clear that other radionuclides might be better suited for the regimen than ¹¹¹In because its short tissue range resulted in relatively modest tumor shrinkage. In addition, DOTA-chelated peptides, which could be more easily labeled with radioactive metals, also started becoming available. In the late 1990s and early 2000s, Yttrium-90 and Lutetium-17 coupled to various somatostatin analogues have been proposed for PRRT. From the early 90s, the clinical evidence of antineoplastic efficacy of PRRT was deriving only from limited, nonrandomized and I-II phase studies [3]. Recently, the randomized phase III NETTER-1 trial unequivocally demonstrated the efficacy of PRRT [4]. Consequently, ¹⁷⁷Luoxodotreotide (also known as ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-TATE and Lutathera®) received marketing authorization in patients with metastatic and progressive midgut G1-G2 NET. Despite the great advances that PRRT represents in the management of NET, 177Lu-DOTA-TATE is currently the only approved peptide-based radiotherapeutic agent. It is expected that approval of 177Lu-DOTATOC (¹⁷⁷Lu-edotreotide) will follow the completion of the COMPETE-NCT03049189 phase III trial comparing ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-TOC with the mTOR inhibitor everolimus in patients with inoperable, progressive NETs. These and other trials should further precise the position of PRRT in the

Alice Lorenzoni, Marco Maccauro, and Ettore Seregni

Radioreceptor Therapy

11





[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

current clinical algorithm with regard to other systemic therapies. PRRT are currently mainly performed with the medium-energy β -emitter ¹⁷⁷Lu, while α emitters (e.g., ²²⁵Ac/²¹³Bi) are increasingly studied in various clinical applications. The use of alternative theranostic pairs of radionuclides, such as radioisotopes of scandium (43/44/47Sc) and terbium (149/152/155/161Tb), might open novel theranostic applications. An important evolution step is the use of radiolabeled SSTR antagonists instead of agonists. A number of clinical and preclinical studies suggest significant improvement in diagnostic sensitivity and therapeutic efficacy of the antagonists.

Furthermore, combining PRRT with other agents to achieve maximum benefits from the internal radiation therapy, while sparing nontarget organs from radiation toxicity, is an attractive perspective. Several mechanisms, to increase tumor perfusion, determine SSTR upregulation, and induce radiosensitization, may be used. Finally, more precise image-based dosimetry, to establish dose-effect relationship, and development of biomarkers, such as multitranscript gene blood assays, are expected to improve the prediction of outcome following PRRT.

11.2 Radiopharmaceuticals

Several radiolabeled SSAs have been proposed for PRRT, and they are different in terms of radionuclide, somatostatin analogue, and chelator.

Three types of radiation may be used in PRRT: β -particles (in particular ¹⁷⁷Lu and ⁹⁰Y), α -particles, and Auger electrons (Table 11.1).

 Table 11.1
 Physical characteristics of radionuclides for PRRT

Radioisotope	Type of emission	Max energy (MeV)	Half-life
¹¹¹ In	γ, Auger electron	0.61 (Au)	2.8 days
¹⁷⁷ Lu	β, y	0.49 (β)	6.68 days
⁹⁰ Y	β	2.27	2.67 days
²¹³ Bi	α	8.32	45.7 min
²²⁵ Ac	α	6.83	10 days

Beta particles have long range in tissues (0.05– 12 mm) so that neighboring cells around the targeted cell are also irradiated (cross-fire effect). This is considered ideal for targeting large tumors with heterogeneous target distribution. In contrast, alpha particles (e.g., 213Bi and 225Ac) have a very short range in tissues (20-100 µm), irradiating volumes with cellular dimensions, therefore, sparing normal surrounding tissues from cytotoxic radiation. Their linear energy transfer (LET) is much higher compared to β -particles (50-230 vs. 0.2 keV/µm), which makes alpha radiation far more cytotoxic. Finally, Auger emitters (e.g., ¹¹¹In) have a very short range in tissue (<20 µm, subcellular dimensions) and intermediate LET (4-25 keV/µm).

Beta emitters, in particular Yttrium-90 and Lutetium-177, are currently used for PRRT. ⁹⁰Y electrons are highly energetic (Emax 2.27 MeV, penetration range max 11 mm, halflife 64 h) and penetrating, leading to better crossfire through the tumor, which is particularly valuable in larger tumors and when heterogeneous receptor and/or activity distribution exists. The shorter half-life of ⁹⁰Y allows a higher dose rate. 177Lu, on the other hand, has lower energy and smaller particle range, allowing a better absorption probably in smaller tumors, also has less toxicity to bone marrow and kidney. In fact, ¹⁷⁷Lu is a medium-energy β-emitter (Emax 0.498 MeV, penetration range max 1.7 mm, half-life 162 h) and a low-energy γ -rays emitter (208 keV and 113 keV with 10%) and 6% abundance, respectively), which allows SRI and subsequently to assess an internal dosimetry with the same therapeutic radiopharmaceutic agent [5]. Peptide-based radiotherapeutics require a chelator that stably chelates the radiometal in vivo, in order to exclude deposition of free radiometal in normal tissues. DOTA is the most used chelator agent due to its high affinity for radiometals such as Yttrium-90 and Lutetium-177. Both Tyr3octreotide (TOC) and Tyr3-octreotate (TATE) are well-experimented somatostatin analogues in clinical trials. The somatostatin analogue TATE differs from TOC only in that the C-terminal threoninol is replaced with threonine, resulting in a higher affinity for the somatostatin receptor subtype 2 [6].

11.3 Clinical Consideration

Candidates for therapy are selected based on somatostatin receptor scintigraphy or ⁶⁸Galliumlabeled synthetic SST analogues PET imaging. Such images should indicate an adequate uptake (at least equal to the uptake of normal liver) as evidence of adequate expression of targetable somatostatin receptors [7]. SRI is the most accurate noninvasive method to identify and confirm the overexpression of functioning SSTR. Other methods like immunohistochemistry, which provides similar information at the time of biopsy, are not practical from a clinical point of view. The in vivo use of functional SRI allows the simultaneous evaluation of the receptor density and the internalization capacity in all lesions with a single functional imaging approach. Certain tumors, such as the majority of highly malignant and high grade (Ki-67 > 55%) NETs, do not express adequate numbers of detectable somatostatin receptors. The success of PRRT is also influenced by the site of primary tumor and tumor burden. Patients with high tumor load and with massive liver involvement have lower chance to respond to PRRT [8].

Patients with poor performance status (e.g., Karnofsky score < 50) are not ideal candidates for PRRT even if unexpected and favorable responses are not rare in these clinically advanced patients. Exclusion criteria are also renal function, bone marrow, and impairment. Patient eligibility criteria and contraindications for PRRT are summarized in Table 11.2. The practical consideration of PRRT in patients with advanced, non-resectable NET should include the goal of therapy: carcinoid syndrome control resistant to somatostatin analogues, reduction of progressive tumor mass, or neoadjuvant treatment before surgery. Furthermore, the optimal sequence for using PRRT, chemotherapy, everolimus, and sunitinib will remain to be established.

Table 11.2	Patient	eligibility	criteria	and	contraindica-
tions for PR	RT				

Indication			
Tumor	NET G1-G2		
characteristics	NET G3 is considered (further		
	data needed)		
Disease stage	Inoperable/metastatic		
SSTR expression	Tumor uptake on diagnostic		
	SSTR imaging at least equal to		
	the uptake of normal liver		
Performance status	Karnofsky performance status		
	>50%		
Contraindication			
Child-bearing	Pregnancy or ongoing		
	lactation		
Kidney function	Severe renal impairment:		
	Creatinine clearance <30 mL/		
	min		
Bone marrow	Impaired hematologic function:		
	Hb < 5 mmol/L (8 g/dL);		
	$PLT < 75 \times 10 \text{ 9/L};$		
	WBC < 2×10 9/L		
	Previous external beam		
	radiation therapy involving		
	more than 25% of bone		
	marrow		
Liver function	Severe hepatic impairment:		
	Total bilirubin $>3 \times$ ULN; or		
	both albumin <25 g/L and		
	prothrombin time increased		
	>1.5 × ULN		
Heart	Severe cardiac impairment:		
	New York Heart Association		
	grade III or IV		

11.4 PRRT Administration

⁹⁰Y/¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATOC or ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE radiopharmaceuticals are systemically delivered in fractioned sequential cycles (generally four to six) every 6-9 weeks. The rhythm of administration is based on the time that has been determined as necessary to recover from potential hematological toxicity. The administered activities, in clinical trials, range from 2.8 to 3.7 GBq (80–100 mCi) for ⁹⁰Y-labeled SSAs and 5.5–7.4 GBq (150–200 mCi) for ¹⁷⁷Lu-labeled SSAs [9–11]. The recommended ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-TATE (Lutathera®) acitivity is 7.4 GBq every 8 weeks for a total of four administrations [4]. The cumulative activity, fractionated in multiple cycles, is able to irradiate the tumor more efficiently, than single dose, without surpassing the conventional 25- to 27-Gy absorbed dose threshold to the kidneys, which are the doselimiting organs. The biologic effective dose (BED) as opposed to the absorbed dose provides a dose threshold value that is slightly higher.

To reduce the renal dose of irradiation, patients are infused with a concomitant intravenous solution of positively charged amino acids (lysine and/or arginine), which are able to inhibit in a competitive manner the radiopeptide resorption in the nephron proximal tubuli.

The radiopeptide is intravenously administered slowly over 20–30 min. Mild adverse events may be experienced during the administration, in particular gastrointestinal symptoms, such as a slight nausea, and occasionally, vomiting. These symptoms may be related to the amino acids coadministration, but are controlled with appropriate medication [4].

11.4.1 Side Effects of PRRT

PRRT is generally well tolerated. Acute side effects include nausea and, more rarely, vomiting that are usually mild and self-limiting. In the majority of cases, these effects are attributable to amino acid infusion and can be effectively treated with antiemetics [12]. Other common adverse events include fatigue or asthenia, abdominal pain, and diarrhea, generally of mild entity. A severe but rare complication (incidence around 1% of cases) is a carcinoid crisis related to a massive release of biologically active amine or peptides [13]. This crisis develops shortly after infusion and, in any cases, within 24-48 h after the first radiopharmaceutical administration and requires proper clinical management. Another subacute adverse event is increased hair loss [10]. This transitory and mild side effect is observed in about one half of patients treated with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE. Bone marrow suppression, occurring within 4-6 weeks after therapy, is usually mild and reversible. Severe hematological toxicities (WHO grade 3 or 4) have been reported in about 13% and 4% of patients treated with ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC and ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE, respectively [10, 14–16].

Long-term serious side effects of PRRT are renal failure or myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS)/leukemia. With advances in expertise and knowledge about PRRT, cases of severe, endstage renal damage are currently very rare. However, loss of kidney function can occur after PRRT, with a creatinine clearance loss of about 4% per year for ¹⁷⁷Lu-octreotate and 7% per year for ^{90Y}-DOTATOC [17]. Preexisting risk factors such as poorly controlled diabetes or hypertension seem to be correlated with more persistent renal damage. Serious side effects of PRRT on the bone marrow, such as MDS or leukemia, were reported by various groups. The frequency of MDS seems higher after ¹⁷⁷Lu-octreotate than after ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC, but also in analyses with long patient follow-up, it does not exceed 2% of patients [3]. It's to be noted, however, that different factors related either to antineoplastic treatments (previous chemo or radiotherapy) or tumor evolution (bone marrow involvement) can affect the development of MDS and, in some cases, it is quite impossible to relate the MDS to PRRT.

11.4.2 Efficacy of PRRT in GEP-NETs

11.4.2.1 ⁹⁰Y-Labeled Somatostatin Analogues

⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC was evaluated in several phase I and phase II studies. Differences in cycle doses and administered cumulative dose, as well as differences in patient characteristics (included tumor types, patient performance status) make it virtually impossible to compare these studies. The reported objective responses range from 4% to 44%. Different studies report median progression-free survival (PFS) varying from 17 to 29 months and median overall survival (OS) from 22 to 37 months [18]. The evaluation of results of many trails using PRRT indices that treatment in a phase of early progression rather than a wait-and-watch approach was more efficacy. In fact, the assessment of the objective response according to the basal status indicated that individuals stable at baseline demonstrated a better outcome than individuals with progressive disease. Overall, it was apparent that PRRT treatment in advanced stage disease was substantially less effective.

11.4.2.2 ¹⁷⁷Lu-Labeled Somatostatin Analogues

¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE is currently the most widely used radiopeptide for PRRT. In a comparison study, ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE demonstrated a significantly longer tumor residence time than¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATOC, leading to a higher absorbed tumor dose, with a comparable uptake in the kidneys, spleen, and liver. In several studies, ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE has demonstrated similar efficacy as compared with 90Y-DOTATOC, while having a more favorable toxicity profile, particularly in terms of hematological and renal toxicity. The initial report of using ¹⁷⁷Lu DOTATATE was published by Kwekkeboom et al. in 2003 [19]. This study consists of 35 patients with gastroenteropancreatic (GEP)-NETs, all patients treated with 3.7, 5.6, or 7.4 GBq of ¹⁷⁷Lu-octreotate, up to a final cumulative dose of 22.2–29.6 GBq, with complete and partial responses in 38%. In the next study, the same group analyzed responses to ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy according to tumor type at 3 months after the last therapy cycle in 310 patients [20]. The overall objective response rate (ORR) was 46%. Stable disease was noted in 16% of patients. Prognostic factors for predicting tumor remission were high uptake on diagnostic SRI and a Karnofsky performance score of over 70. The most important information was the impact of PRRT on survival, with a median OS over 48 months and a median PFS of 33 months. A direct comparison with data obtained from similar patients showed a substantial 40-month to 72-month survival benefit for PRRT-treated subjects. A categorization of overall response rate indicated that pancreatic NETs tended to respond better than other GEP- NETs, although functioning tumors (e.g., pancreatic gastrinomas) tended to relapse in a shorter interval (median time to progression 20 months vs. >36 in the remaining GEP-NETs). In a recent meta-analysis [21] which considered 473 NET patients submitted to

¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE, ORR varied from 18% to 44%, with an average disease control rate of about 80%. Furthermore, PFS in patients with advanced and progressive NETs was about 36 months. Although these data are not derived from robust prospective-randomized phase III trials, this substantial survival difference probability reflects a real impact of PRRT as a very efficacy therapeutic approach in advanced nonresectable NETs.

Starting from these results, a randomized prospective phase 3 trial (NETTER-1) [4] was designed in order to demonstrate the efficacy of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy. NETTER-1 trial, evaluating 177Lu-DOTATATE vs. high-dose Octreotide LAR in 221 patients with nonresectable, progressive, midgut carcinoid tumors, showed that 177Lu-octreotate significantly improves PFS in patients with functional as well as nonfunctional tumors (PFS not reached vs. 8.4 months; hazard ratio 0.21, with a 79% reduction of the risk of progression). The response rates of 18% in the 177Lu-DOTATATE group and 3% in the control group were observed (P < 0.001).

Consequently, ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE (Lutathera®) has been approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and European Medicines Agency (EMA) in SSTRs-positive well-differentiated.

GEP-NETs, at a recommended fixed dosage of 7.4 GBq (200 mCi) every 8 weeks, for a total of four cycles. An example of objective response to PRRT is reported in Fig. 11.1.

11.4.2.3 Combination of ⁹⁰Y/¹⁷⁷Lu-Labeled Somatostatin Analogues

Protocols combining ¹⁷⁷Lu-peptides and ⁹⁰Y-peptides have been considered to take advantage of the different physical properties of both radionuclides. The combination of the two radioisotopes, in fact, would allow simultaneous treatment of both larger lesions (based on the higher energy and penetration range of the particles emitted by ⁹⁰Y) and small lesions (based on the lower energy and penetration range of ¹⁷⁷Lu). Initial data indicate that combination treatments



Fig. 11.1 Scintigraphic whole-body evaluation, performed after the first therapeutic administration of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE, shows overexpressing somatostatin receptors liver lesions and pelvic nodes (**a**). Whole-body scintigraphy, performed after the four cycles of PRRT,

shows partial response most clearly detectable in liver (**b**). Abdominal MRI confirms significant reduction of the hepatic secondary lesion (white arrows) after PRRT completion (**c**: baseline MRI; **d**: post-therapy MRI)

with the two isotopes of Y-90 and Lu-177 linked either to DOTA-TOC or to DOTA-TATE administered in sequential treatment cycles or as a cocktail infusion for several cycles improve survival.

In the study performed by Kunikowska and colleagues [22], therapy with tandem radioisotopes (90Y/177Lu-DOTATATE) provides longer overall survival than with a single radioisotope (90Y-DOTATATE) in 50 patients with disseminated NETs. In a cohort study by Villard et al. [23], 486 patients with metastasized NETs were treated with repeated cycles of ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-TOC or with cycles alternating between 90Y-DOT-TOC and 177Lu-DOTA-TOC until tumor progression or permanent toxicity. The combination treatment was associated with improved overall survival compared with ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-TOC alone (5.51 vs. 3.96 years) in patients completing three or more cycles of treatment. Finally, the results of a pilot study performed by Seregni and colleagues [24] involving 26 patients treated with tandem regimen with 177Lu/90Y-DOTA-TATE showed objective response in 42.3% of the cases with a median PFS time of 25 months. This relatively new strategy, however, has been still be validated in clinical practice in a larger series of patients.

11.4.3 PRRT in Non-GEP-NETs

PRRT and functional imaging with labeled SSAs have been effectively applied for diagnosis and treatment of several SSTRs-expressing tumors. Beyond current applications, other PRRT potential targets in oncology include meningioma, bronchial NET (B-NET), malignant pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma, medullary thyroid cancer, and neuroblastoma. Applications of PRRT in paraganglioma treatment have been assessed in several small cohorts of patients with inoperable disease, with promising outcomes in tumor response and symptoms' control. It has been proven that PRRT is an effective treatment also in case of refractory or relapsed high-risk neuroblastoma, offering clinicians a valid therapeutic option when chemotherapy and 131I-metaiodobenzylguanidine treatment are unfeasible.

A retrospective review of 114 advanced B-NETs treated with 90Yttrium-, a combination of 90Y and 177Lutetium-, or 177Lu-based PRRT, identified the median overall survival to be 58.8 months, with a median PFS of 28 months. Patients treated with 177Lu-DOTATATE, alone or in combination with 90Y-PRRT (n = 48 and 21, respectively), exhibited the longest 5-year overall survival (61.4% for both series, vs. 31.6% for 90Y-PRRT) [25]. In a recent, larger study (n = 34 bronchial NETs), the disease control rate was 80%, with 6% achieving a complete response, 27% a partial response, and 47% disease stabilization. The overall median PFS was 20.1 months [26]. The efficacy of PRRT in patients with bronchial NETs are encouraging, and they seem similar to those observed in GEP-NETs even if there are no perspective phase III trials necessary to establish the effective role of PRRT in the therapeutic algorithm of B-NETs.

11.5 Combined Strategies in PRRT

Combining PRRT with synergistic drugs that have ideally minimally overlapping toxicities could potentiate PRRT through several mechanisms. An option to enhance treatment efficacy of PRRT is the combination with radiosensitizing chemotherapy. Results of a nonrandomized phase II study treating patients with a combination of capecitabine and ¹⁷⁷Lu-octreotate showed a 24% partial response (PR), 70% stable disease (SD), and 6% progressive disease (PD) in 33 patients [27]. Median PFS and median overall survival had not been reached at a median follow-up of 16 months (range 5-33 months). Survival at 1 and 2 years was 91% (95% CI 75-98%) and 88% (95% CI 71–96%). Claringbold et al. treated patients with GEP-NETs with a combination of ¹⁷⁷Lu-octreotate, capecitabine, and temozolomide. Among 35 patients evaluated for tumor response, complete response (CR) was found in 15%, PR in 38%, SD in 38%, and PD in 9%. Median PFS was 31 months [28]. In a retrospective study, Kashyap et al. [29] showed favorable outcomes in patients with ¹⁸F-FDG PET-positive GEP-NETs with advanced progressive ⁶⁸Ga-octreotate PET-avid disease with a combination of 5-FU and ¹⁷⁷Lu-octreotate. Among 52 patients, they report CR in 2%, PR 28%, SD 68%, and PD in only 2% of patients with median PFS for 48 months.

A recent randomized clinical trial by Ballal et al. [30] established clinical efficacy of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE combination with capecitabine over PRRT alone. In the combination group, PR was achieved in 34%, SD in 50.2%, and PD in 6.8% of patients (compared to 6.3, 60.9, and 26.5% in the PRRT-only group, respectively), and the combination group was shown to have longer OS and PFS.

Other strategies to enhance PRRT efficacy include the coadministration of drugs that improve delivery of the radiopharmaceutical via increased tumor perfusion or through increased somatostatin receptor density at tumor surface.

It has been observed that the antiangiogenic drugs, which prevent neovascularization, could allow tumor vasculature to mature and become more efficient at the delivery of drugs, as well as radiopharmaceuticals. The antiangiogenic agent sunitinib has been shown to potentiate external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) in preclinical models and in a phase 2 clinical trial of patients with oligometastases from any primary sites, the head and neck being the most common. Its capacity to increase the delivery of 177Lu-octreotate in patients needs to be examined. The mTOR inhibitor everolimus, whose efficacy is primarily attributed to its antiproliferative properties, also has an antiangiogenic effect. Recently, results from a study in 33 patients with pancreatic NET with liver metastases showed that everolimusinduced increased tumor blood volume, which was attributed to improved tumor perfusion [31]. In an Australian phase 1 study (NETTLE) in 16 patients, the combination of everolimus and PRRT appeared well tolerated. The maximum dose of everolimus was 7.5 mg/day and the median follow-up was 34 months [32].

Increasing the expression of SSTR-2 by the NET cells could result in a more effective at

equal or lower administered activities of ¹⁷⁷Luoctreotate, with limited additional risk of toxicity. A variety of drugs, as well as radiation, which have been shown to upregulate expression of SSTR in NETs, are potential candidates for ¹⁷⁷Lu-octreotate PRRT. Jin et al. [33] demonstrated that a combination of the radiosensitizer 5-FU with epigenetics drugs tacedinaline or decitabine can upregulate SSTR2 and radiosensitize the NET cells. Interestingly, this study also revealed that each of these agents alone acted as both a radiosensitizer and an SSTR-

Furthermore, molecularly targeted therapeutics may be important to attain synergy with PRRT. For instance, concurrent inhibition of the DNA repair mechanisms, with the use of a poly-[ADP-ribose]-polymerase 1 (PARP-1) inhibitor results in increased DNA doublestrand breaks. Recent preclinical studies show that PARPi sensitizes different NET cells and U2OS sarcoma cells expressing SSTR2 to ¹⁷7Lu-octreotate [34, 35]. Both the studies showed that the inhibition of PARP leads to a greater accumulation of DNA damage after ¹⁷⁷Lu-octreotate treatment as seen with markers such as 53BP1 or γ H2AX, which in turn increases apoptosis.

11.6 New Developments in PRRT

An important evolution step is the use of radiolabeled SSTR antagonists instead of agonists.

A number of clinical and preclinical studies suggest significant improvement in diagnostic sensitivity and therapeutic efficacy of the antagonists. ¹⁷⁷Lu-satoreotide tetraxetan (¹⁷⁷Lu-OPS201 or ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-JR11) shows higher tumor accumulation and absorbed dose and higher numbers of.

DNA double-strand breaks than ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-TATE [36]. This is partly due to the higher number of available binding sites and the longer tumor residence time for the antagonist. ¹⁷⁷Lu-OPS201 is currently under evaluation in a multicenter phase I/II study (NCT02592707) and in a single center study (NCT02609737).

Recently, a new long-circulating SSTR agonist has been developed. To improve the pharmacokinetics of SSTR2 analogs and reduce PRRT toxicity, Evans blue-based albumin was conjugated with octreotate (EB-TATE). In a SSTR2-positive AR42J xenograft model, ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-EB-TATE effectively accumulated in the tumor, resulting in complete regression of the tumors and full survival of the tumor-bearing mice with a single low dose of 3.7 MBq of ⁹⁰Y-DOTA-EB-TATE [37]. The first-in-humans study has recently explored the safety and dosimetry of ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-EB-TATE in eight patients with advanced metastatic **NETs** [38]. ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-EB-TATE showed remarkably higher uptake and retention in NETs (7.9-fold increase of tumor dose) compared to 177Lu-DOTA-TATE, but at the cost of an even greater increase of renal and bone marrow absorbed doses, questioning its potential advantage over ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTA-TATE.

Use of multi/heterovalent vectors to simultaneously target several receptors concomitantly expressed in the same cancer cell is an interesting approach to overcome tumor heterogeneity, resistance, and change of phenotype during disease progression. Recent in vitro studies have shown that, apart from somatostatin receptors, other peptide receptors are overexpressed in NETs, in particular the incretin receptor glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) receptor, the glucosedependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) receptor, and cholecystokinin (CCK) receptors (CCK1 and CCK2 subtypes). On the basis of the evidence that specific cancers express two or more peptide receptors, multireceptor targeting in vivo is an attractive perspective. The clinical development of ¹¹¹In-DOTA-exendin-4 and ⁶⁸Ga-exendin-4 targeting the GLP-1 receptor has been highly successful in insulinomas [39]. Preclinical evidence has shown that ⁶⁸Ga-DOTA-GIP can label GIP receptor-positive cancers in animals, although this method is not yet used in clinics.

Treatment of cancer with alpha-particle therapy (TAT) has been gaining popularity over the past few years. Alpha particles are positively charged and have a high particle energy ranging

upregulating agent.

from 5 to 9 MeV and a very short range of 40-100 µm. The range of the particle is thus equivalent to the thickness of 1-3 cell widths. Due to the short therapeutic range, intracellular accumulation of the alpha particle is preferred to ensure a higher chance of target damage to the cell's nucleus. Linear energy transfer (LET) is a term used in ionizing radiation to measure the ionizing density and hence molecular damage of a particle per unit length. LET is very high for alpha particles (80–100 keV/ μ m) throughout its range and three times greater at the end of the path range (the Bragg peak). The two principal therapeutic radionuclides used in preclinical and clinical TAT of the SSR are ²¹³Bi and ²²⁵Ac. The first-in-human TAT study with ²¹³Bi-DOTATOC described the treatment In NETs patients with liver metastases refractory to treatment with ⁹⁰Y-DOTATOC or ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATOC [40]. Seven patients were treated with an intra-arterial infusion of ²¹³Bi-DOTATOC, and one patient with bone marrow carcinosis was treated with a systemic infusion of radiopharmaceutical. Enduring responses were observed in all treated patients. Kratochwil et al. [41] presented a dose escalation study data of single cycle and fractionation concepts for ²²⁵Ac-DOTATOC in TAT on European Association of Nuclear Medicine (EANM) conference in 2015. Treatment was performed in 34 patients (46 treatment cycles) with progressive NET. They investigated tolerability of fractions-multiple fractions were tolerated with 25 MBq injected activity every 4 months or 18.5 MBq every 2 months up to cumulative activity of 75 MBq. It was no preference of a particular fractionation concept in the radiologic treatment response. At European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) conference 2018 was presented treatment results of ten patients with progressive metastatic NET, refractory to ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE therapy [42]. One to two cycles (average 1.2) of ²¹³Bi or ²²⁵Ac-DOTATOC was done. Eight weeks post therapy PET/CT with ⁶⁸Ga-DOTANOC showed in 60% patients up to 40% reduction of target tumor volume. A phase I dose escalation study, examining the dose tolerance of ²¹²Pb-AR-RMX in PRRT-naive patients, is ongoing (NCT03466216). The first results were shown during 11th International Symposium on Targeted-Alpha-Therapy in May 2019 (TAT11) [43]. In nine enrolled patients, treatment was well tolerated with single ascending or the first multi-ascending doses of 212Pb-AR-RMX. Few mild adverse events were reported (nausea and mild hair loss in two of nine patients, abdominal pain and diarrhea in three of nine patients, fatigue in two of nine patients). There was no dose-limiting toxicity.

11.7 Conclusion

PRRT is an established therapy for patients with inoperable or metastasized NETs. In clinical practice, the indications are limited to G1-G2 well-differentiated NETs with high expression of SSTR, and its precise position in the treatment algorithm remains to be explored. PRRT is generally well tolerated by most of the patients. Chronic and permanent damage on the kidneys and bone marrow are generally mild. Combining PRRT with synergistic drugs might result in additive effects, through several mechanisms such as increased tumor perfusion, SSTR upregulation, and radiosensitization. The clinical experience with somatostatin-based targeted therapy in NET showed very promising results even in patients refractory to treatment with β -emitters.

References

- Krenning EP, Kooij PP, Bakker WH, et al. Radiotherapy with a radiolabeled somatostatin analogue, [111In-DTPA-D-Phe1]-octreotide: a case history. Ann NY Acad Sci. 1994;733:496–506.
- Valkema R, De Jong M, Bakker WH, et al. Phase I study of peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with [In-DTPA]octreotide: the Rotterdam experience. Semin Nucl Med. 2002;32:110–22.
- van der Zwan WA, Bodei L, Mueller-Brand J, et al. GEPNETs update: radionuclide therapy in neuroendocrine tumors. Eur J Endocrinol. 2015;172(1):R1–8.
- Strosberg J, El-Haddad G, Wolin E, et al. NETTER-1 trial investigators. Phase 3 trial of (177)Lu-dotatate for midgut neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(2):125–35.
- Volkert WA, Hoffman TJ. Thrapeutic radiopharmaceuticals. Chem Rev. 1999;99:2269–92.

- Reubi JC, Schar JC, Waser B, et al. Affinity profiles for human somatostatin receptor subtypes SST1-SST5 of somatostatin radiotracers selected for scintigraphic and radiotherapeutic use. Eur J Nucl Med. 2000;27:273–82.
- Krenning EP, Kwekkeboom DJ, Bakker WH, et al. Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy with [¹¹¹In-DTPA-D-Phe1]- and [¹²³I-Tyr3]-octreotide: the Rotterdam experience with more than 1000 patients. Eur J Nucl Med. 1993;20:716–31.
- Kwekkeboom DJ, Teunissen JJ, Bakker WH, et al. Radiolabeled somatostatin analog [177Lu DOTA0,Tyr3]octreotate in patients with endocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(12):2754–62.
- Hirmas N, Jadaan R, Al-Ibraheem A. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy and the treatment of gastroentero-pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: current findings and future perspectives. Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2018;52(3):190–9.
- Kwekkeboom DJ, Krenning EP. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy in the treatment of neuroendocrine tumors. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2016;30(1):179–91.
- Bodei L, Cremonesi M, Kidd M, Grana CM, Severi S, Modlin IM, Paganelli G. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy for advanced neuroendocrine tumors. Thorac Surg Clin. 2014;24(3):333–49.
- Sansovini M, Severi S, Ambrosetti A, et al. Treatment with the radiolabelled somatostatin analog Lu-DOTATATE for advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2013;97:347–54.
- De Keizer B, van Aken MO, Feelders RA, et al. Hormonal crises following receptor radionuclide therapy with the radiolabeled somatostatin analogue [177Lu-DOTA0,Tyr3]octreotate. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2008;35:749e55.
- 14. Imhof A, Brunner P, Marincek N, et al. Response, survival, and long-term toxicity after therapy with the radiolabeled somatostatin analogue [90Y-DOTA]-TOC in metastasized neuroendocrine cancers. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:2416–23.
- Bodei L, Kidd M, Paganelli G, et al. Long-term tolerability of PRRT in 807 patients with neuroendocrine tumours: the value and limitations of clinical factors. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2015;42:5e19.
- Gupta SK, Singla S, Bal C. Renal and hematological toxicity in patients of neuroendocrine tumors after peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with 177Lu-DOTATATE. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. 2012;27:593.
- Valkema R, Pauwels SA, Kvols LK, et al. Long-term follow-up of renal function after peptide receptor radiation therapy with (90)Y-DOTA(0),Tyr(3)-octreotide and (177)Lu-DOTA(0), Tyr(3)- octreotate. J Nucl Med. 2005;46(Suppl 1):83S–91S.
- Brabander T, Teunissen JJ, Van Eijck CH, et al. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy of neuroendocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016;30(1):103–14.

- Kwekkeboom DJ, Bakker WH, Kam BL, et al. Treatment of patients with gastro-entero-pancreatic (GEP) tumours with the novel radiolabelled somatostatin analogue [177Lu-DOTA(0),Tyr3]octreotate. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2003;30(3): 417–22.
- Kwekkeboom DJ, de Herder WW, Kam BL, et al. Treatment with the radiolabeled somatostatin analog [177 Lu-DOTA 0,Tyr3]octreotate: toxicity, efficacy, and survival. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(13): 2124–30.
- Kim SJ, Pak K, Koo PJ, Kwak JJ, Chang S. The efficacy of (177)Lu-labelled peptide receptor radionuclide therapy in patients with neuroendocrine tumours: a meta-analysis. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2015;42(13):1964–70.
- 22. Kunikowska J, Królicki L, Hubalewska-Dydejczyk A, et al. Clinical results of radionuclide therapy of neuroendocrine tumours with 90Y-DOTATATE and tandem 90Y/177Lu-DOTATATE: which is a better therapy option? Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2011;38(10):1788–97.
- Villard L, Romer A, Marincek N, et al. Cohort study of somatostatin-based radiopeptide therapy with [(90) Y-DOTA]-TOC versusn[(90)Y-DOTA]-TOC plus [(177)Lu-DOTA]-TOC in neuroendocrine cancers. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(10):1100–6.
- 24. Seregni E, Maccauro M, Chiesa C, Mariani L, Pascali C, Mazzaferro V, De Braud F, Buzzoni R, Milione M, Lorenzoni A, Bogni A, Coliva A, Lo Vullo S, Bombardieri E. Treatment with tandem [90Y]DOTA-TATE and [177Lu]DOTA-TATE of neuroendocrine tumours refractory to conventional therapy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2014;41(2):223–30.
- Mariniello A, Bodei L, Tinelli C, et al. Long-term results of PRRT in advanced bronchopulmonary carcinoid. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;43: 441–52.
- 26. Ianniello A, Sansovini M, Severi S, et al. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with (177) Lu-DOTATATE in advanced bronchial carcinoids: prognostic role of thyroid transcription factor 1 and (18)F-FDG PET. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;43:1040–6.
- 27. Claringbold PG, Brayshaw PA, Price RA, Turner JH. Phase II study of radiopeptide 177Lu-octreotate and capecitabine therapy of progressive disseminated neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2011;38:302–11.
- Claringbold PG, Price RA, Turner JH. Phase I-II study of radiopeptide 177Lu-octreotate in combination with capecitabine and temozolomide in advanced low-grade neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. 2012;27(9):561.
- 29. Kashyap R, Hofman MS, Michael M, Kong G, Akhurst T, Eu P, Zannino D, Hicks RJ. Favourable outcomes of 177Lu-octreotate peptide receptor chemoradionuclide therapy in patients with FDGavid neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2015;42:176–85.

- 30. Ballal S, Yadav MP, Damle NA, et al. Concomitant 177Lu-DOTATATE and capecitabine therapy in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors: a long-term-outcome, toxicity, survival, and quality-oflife study. Clin Nucl Med. 2017;42(11):e457–66.
- Sundlov A, Sjogreen-Gleisner K, Svensson J, et al. Individualised ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE treatment of neuroendocrine tumours based on kidney dosimetry. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2017;44(9):1480–9.
- Claringbold PG, Turner JH. NeuroEndocrine tumor therapy with lutetium-177-octreotate and everolimus (NETTLE): a phase I study. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. 2015;30(6):261–9.
- 33. Jin XF, Auernhammer CJ, Ilhan H, et al. Combination of 5-fluorouracil with epigenetic modifiers induces radiosensitization, somatostatin receptor 2 expression, and radioligand binding in neuroendocrine tumor cells in vitro. J Nucl Med. 2019;60(9):1240–6.
- 34. Nonnekens J, van Kranenburg M, Beerens CE, et al. Potentiation of peptide receptor radionuclide therapy by the PARP inhibitor olaparib. Theranostics. 2016;6:1821–32.
- 35. Purohit NK, Shah RG, Adant S, Hoepfner M, Shah GM, Beauregard JM. Potentiation of (177) Lu-octreotate peptide receptor radionuclide therapy of human neuroendocrine tumor cells by PARP inhibitor. Oncotarget. 2018;9:24693–706.
- 36. Nicolas GP, Mansi R, McDougall L, et al. Biodistribution, pharmacokinetics, and dosimetry of 177Lu-, 90Y-, and 1111n-labeled somatostatin receptor antagonist OPS201 in comparison to the agonist 177Lu-DOTATATE: the mass effect. J Nucl Med. 2017;58:1435–41.

- Tian R, Jacobson O, Niu G, Kiesewetter DO, et al. Evans blue attachment enhances somatostatin receptor subtype-2 imaging and radiotherapy. Theranostics. 2018;8(3):735–45.
- 38. Zhang J, Wang H, Jacobson Weiss O, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetics and dosimetry of a long-acting radiolabeled somatostatin analogue 177Lu-DOTA-EB-TATE in patients with advanced metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Nucl Med. 2018;59:1699–705.
- Jansen TJP, van Lith SAM, Boss M, et al. Exendin-4 analogs in insulinoma theranostics. J Labell Comp Radiopharm. 2019;62(10):656–72.
- 40. Kratochwil C, Giesel FL, Bruchertseifer F, et al. (213) Bi- DOTATOC receptor-targeted alpha-radionuclide therapy induces remission in neuroendocrine tumours refractory to beta radiation: a first-inhuman experience. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2014;41(11):2106–19.
- 41. Kratochwil C, Bruchertseifer F, Giesel FL, et al. Presented at annual meeting of the European association of nuclear medicine and molecular imaging 2015 p. S36(Abstract OP089) no. S1 vol. 42.
- 42. Dureja SA, Sen IB, Pant VC. 213Bi and 225Ac -DOT ATOC receptor labeled targeted alpha-radionuclide therapy in neuroendocrine tumors refractory to beta radiation - early experience abstract #2210 presented in ENETS 2018, Barcelona.
- 43. Tworowska I, Delpassand E, Bolek L, et al. Targeted alpha-emitter therapy of neuroendocrine tumors using 212Pb-octreotate (AlphaMedix TM) presented at TAT 11 in 2019. J Med Imag Radiat Sci. 2019;50:S434.

Part IV

Treatment NETs from Different Organs

NETs of the Lung

Natalie Prinzi, Roberta Elisa Rossi,

Giovanni Leuzzi, and Sara Pusceddu

12.1 Introduction and Epidemiology

Neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) are malignant neoplasms arising from neuroendocrine system, mainly located in the gastrointestinal tract and lung [1]. An estimated 25–30% of all NETs have their origin in the bronchial tract and lungs. Lung NETs account for less than 1–2% of all pulmonary neoplasms [1–4]. Their incidence rate, which is 0.2–2/100000 population/year in Europe and United States, has dramatically risen over the past 30 years [1, 5, 6]. NETs of the lung comprise a heterogeneous population of tumors ranging from well-differentiated bronchial NETs to highly malignant and poorly differentiated smallcell lung cancer (SCLC) and large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (LCNEC) [7].

Well-differentiated NETs of the lung are also named lung carcinoids (LCs), including typical (TCs) and atypical carcinoids (ACs). TCs are more common than ACs, accounting for 90% of all LCs [5]. Both the subtypes arise mainly in female and in Caucasian, Hispanic, and Asian people [5, 8–10]. The median age at diagnosis is 45 years for TCs and 55 for ACs [5, 8–11].

Surgery is the gold standard in earlier stages. The 5-year overall survival (OS) for limited disease ranges from 87–90% for TCs to 44–78% for ACs, respectively [12–16]. Conversely, the patients with advanced stages show a poor prognosis with a median OS of 17 months and a 5-year survival rate of about 27% [17].

Given their rarity, only few available data from prospective studies are available, and no global consensus exists in regards to therapeutic management of LCs. Target agents such as everolimus, somatostatin analogues (SSAs), and chemotherapy treatments represent the options of choice in the advanced setting [5]. Peptide receptor radiotherapy (PRRT) and immunotherapy are emerging options. A multidisciplinary approach is strongly suggested in all clinical scenarios. Herein, we will provide a comprehensive literature review on diagnosis and management of advanced LCs.

12



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_12

N. Prinzi · S. Pusceddu (🖂)

Department of Medical Oncology, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Tumori Milano, Milan, Italy

ENETS Center of Excellence, Milan, Italy e-mail: sara.pusceddu@istitutotumori.mi.it

R. E. Rossi ENETS Center of Excellence, Milan, Italy

Gastro-intestinal Surgery and Liver Transplantation Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy

Department of Pathophysiology and Organ Transplant, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milan, Italy

G. Leuzzi ENETS Center of Excellence, Milan, Italy

Division of Thoracic Surgery, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy

12.2 Etiology and Classification

The majority of LCs are sporadic neoplasms [18, 19]. Differently from high-grade lung NETs, no relationship between LCs and smoking habit has been proved so far [5]. In approximately 5% of the patients, the development of these neoplasms occurs in the context of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) syndrome [20–23], and the association to a rare pulmonary carcinoid tumor genetic syndrome is reported in sporadic cases as well [19]. Although rare, some patients may present with multiple lung nodules or tumorlets and widespread peripheral airway neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia. In this case, a diagnosis of diffuse idiopathic pulmonary neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia (DIPNECH) can be made [24]. The mechanisms underlying progression and/or onset of LCs from DIPNECH are still unclear [7, 25].

12.3 Histopathological Features and WHO Classification

The availability of adequate tissue sample is required to distinguish lung NET subtypes.

The 2015 WHO classification has defined four lung NETs subtypes: TC, AC, LCNEC, and SCLC. SCLC and LCNEC are poorly differentiated, aggressive neoplasms, while LCs are well differentiated, indolent tumors (Table 12.1) [7].

The definition of LCs include lesions of more than 5 mm in diameter, while lung lesions of 5 mm or less are still classified as carcinoid tumorlets (DIPNECH) [7]. Two aspects are crucial to define lung NETs subtypes: the presence of necrosis and the number of mitoses. In particular, TCs have no evidence of necrosis and less than two mitoses per 2 mm² in the tumor area, while ACs are characterized by focal necrosis and 2–10 mitoses per 2 mm² [7]. However, the distinction between well- and poorly differentiated lung NETs based on the number of mitoses (less or more than 10/ mm², respectively) is still debated [5, 7, 26]. Other biomarkers like synaptophysin, chromogranin A (CgA), and CD56 have to be combined to the WHO classification to confirm lung NET diagnosis [7].

The prognostic role of Ki-67 cell proliferation index by immunohistochemistry (IHC) has not been well defined in lung NETs, and its role is currently under debate. According to the WHO of 2015, a Ki-67 value lower than 20% characterizes LCs (\leq 5% in the TC and \leq 20% in the AC), while a value >40% is typical of the high-grade pulmonary NETs [7].

Although the Ki-67 index is not currently accredited with lung NET subtyping due to some overlap of cut-off thresholds among biologically adjacent tumors (TC versus AC, AC versus LCNEC, LCNEC versus SCLC), its differential distribution between low- to intermediate-grade and high-grade tumors has made it an exceptional discriminator especially on biopsy/cytology samples, being its determination recommended on surgical specimens as well [7, 27, 28].

The reproducibility and clinical usefulness of Ki-67 in lung NETs is still under debate, and there is no current diagnostic role for Ki-67,

AT LCNEC SCLC TC Tumor grade Intermediate High Low High Histology Well differentiated Well differentiated Poorly differentiated Poorly differentiated Mitosis/2 mm² <2 2 - 10>10 (median 70) >10 (median 80) Ki-67 40-80% 50-100% ≤5% ≤20% Necrosis None Focal, if any Present Present Malignancy Low-grade malignancy Low-grade malignancy^a Highly malignant Highly malignant

Table 12.1 WHO 2015 classification of lung/thymus neuroendocrine neoplasms

Legend: TC typical carcinoid, AT atypical carcinoid, LCNEC large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma, SCLC small cell lung cancer

^aConsiderable malignant potential

whereas the mitotic count has remained the only proliferation criterion in tumor classifications over time [7].

12.4 Diagnostic Workup

12.4.1 Clinical Presentation

TCs are usually located in the central parenchyma of the lung, while ACs often develop peripherally. TCs and ACs are usually diagnosed in earlier stages, but liver and bone metastases are common in advanced stages [5, 24]. Patients with LCs are often asymptomatic or present unspecific symptoms like hemoptysis, dyspnea, cough, or chest pain [24, 29]. Functional LCs are rare.

Although typical carcinoid syndrome occurs in only 10% of the cases [13, 30], NETs of the lung may secrete various hormones and vasoactive peptides.

In particular, LCs have been more often associated with adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) production and can cause Cushing's syndrome [31, 32].

12.4.2 Imaging

Computed tomography (CT) is the gold standard to diagnose and stage LCs. A single round lesion is the most frequent radiological aspect [17, 24], but multiple calcified lesions may also be present [33]. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) may help in the detection of bone or liver metastases [5]. Approximately 80-90% of LCs express somatostatin receptors (SSTRs), thus functional imaging based on radiolabeled SSA plays a key role in both staging and defining treatment strategy [13, 29, 34, 35]. The octreoscan or somatostatin receptor scintigraphy (111In-pentetreotide/octreotide scan) demonstrates 93% sensitivity and 87% specificity, respectively, in LC diagnosis [34, 36]. However, more recently, the 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT has been introduced in lung NET management.

Considering the binding to SSTRs, 68Ga-DOTATATE showed a tenfold higher affinity than octreotide [37, 38]. A sensitivity of 81% and a specificity of 90% have been reported by Haug and collaborators, and in another study, the 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT detected a significantly larger number of NET lesions expressing type 2 SSTR than octreoscan (p < 0.001) [39–41].

Also taken into account the reduced scanning time and the better imaging resolution, PET/CT 68Ga-DOTATATE should be preferred in LC management [42, 43].

The role of fluoro-deoxy-glucose (FDG)-PET/ CT in LCs is still debated. TCs are usually characterized by low or no uptake on FDG scan, whereas a higher uptake is possible in ACs with a high proliferative index [44]. In a small retrospective series of 20 LCs, Bongiovanni et al. showed a shorter progression-free survival (PFS) in LCs with positive 18-FDG PET/CT scan than in those with negative 18-FDG-PET/CT scan (p = 0.015) [45]. These data could support the possible prognostic role of 18-FDG-PET/CT and its potential ability in suggesting different therapeutic strategies for LCs according to the different FDG uptake.

12.5 Surgery

Surgical resection, with preservation of as much normal lung tissue as possible, is still the gold standard in case of limited and resectable disease [5, 24].

Regarding TCs, surgery is associated with excellent outcomes, with 5- and 10-year survival rates of ~90% and ~80%, respectively, and very low recurrence rates (3-5%) [46, 47]. In detail, recent analyses of the European Association of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS) Neuroendocrine Tumours Working Group revealed that surgically resected TCs are associated with a 5-year survival rate of 94% [48]. On the other hand, 5- and 10-year survival rates following surgery in AC patients are lower (about 70% and 50%, respectively), given the higher rate of relapse (~25%) [46, 47, 49].

According to the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) database, lobectomy is the most common procedure (51.2%), compared to sublobar resection (wedge resection or segmentectomy, 24.1% of cases). Other less-used procedures are pneumonectomy, bronchoplasty, extended resection, and bronchoscopic ablation [50].

As a rule, the surgical technique of choice is lobectomy. On the other hand, given the indolent nature of TCs, sublobar resections may be taken into account in this setting as similar outcomes compared to lobectomy have been reported [51, 52]. Furthermore, segmentectomy and wedge resections should be considered in patients with compromised pulmonary function and/or severe comorbidities [53]. Further randomized studies are needed to better assess the differences in terms of perioperative outcome, long-term survival, and disease recurrence between the two approaches.

A minimally invasive approach, such as videoassisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS), is recommended in experienced centers due to fewer complications and potentially increased survival rates [53, 54]. Some authors reported promising results also in the setting of minimally invasive bronchoplastic procedures [55].

The natural history of these tumors is strictly related to the lymph-node status. It has been reported that lymph-node metastases may be present in up to 25% of the cases in TCs and >50% in ACs, respectively [56]. Node-negative and N1 patients have similar outcomes. Conversely, N2 tumors have been reported especially in ACs and are associated with a dismal prognosis [16, 57]. Furthermore, in the majority of the patients, lymph-node involvement does not modify surgical indication, given that the neoadjuvant treatment does not improve the resectability rate or survival in LCs [58]. Thus, although the need for lymph-node dissection is still poorly defined in TCs, a complete radical lymphadenectomy should be performed in all cases.

From the surgical point of view, unknown lung lesions (that exhibit NET radiological features) undergoing upfront surgery should undergo wedge excisional biopsy. If intraopera-

tive frozen section is consistent with NET and the margins are negative, systematic lymph-node dissection should be performed [59]. If the patient is node-negative, a completion lobectomy is not required. In node-positive patients with adequate pulmonary reserve, lobectomy should be performed regardless of histology [5, 59]. If atypical features are found during pathologic evaluation, an interval completion lobectomy may be considered in fit patients [5, 49]. When there is suspicion of N2 nodal involvement or after mediastinoscopy/endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) showing N2 disease, multimodality treatment might be required [60].

Approximately 20% of all LCs present as pure endobronchial polyp-like lesions without gross radiologically detectable involvement of the bronchial wall and lung parenchyma [60]. Rarely, N1 lymph nodes may involve the bronchial takeoff. In both cases, bronchoplastic procedures (bronchial sleeve resection or wedge) with or without parenchymal resection are indicated [61] since they protect from the detrimental effects of pneumonectomy on respiratory functions as well as on quality of life. In the literature, the incidence of sleeve resections in the different series varies from 1.4% to 41% of cases [62]. Given the indolent behavior of these tumors, a complete resection with disease-free margins (~ 5 mm) is mandatory [62]. In rare cases, a pulmonary artery reconstruction can be associated as well [63]. Bronchial sleeve resections have been also described for more peripheral lesions involving the segmental bronchi [64], although this procedure is still debated. In order to assess the best surgical strategy, fiberoptic bronchoscopy should always be performed by the operating surgeon to have a precise idea of the anatomic details. The technical procedures are identical to those of bronchial sleeve resections performed for lung cancer. As a rule, the anastomosis can be encircled by intercostals pedicle flap, thymic, or mediastinal tissue in order to favor protection/ revascularization of the bronchial anastomosis, to separate it from the arterial side when a combined bronchovascular reconstruction is performed (avoiding broncho-arterial fistulas)

and to contain a small dehiscence [62]. Concerning the perioperative outcome, one study only [65] compared bronchoplastic procedures between LCs and primary lung cancer, reporting less frequent anastomotic and nonsurgical complications in the LC group (probably because of the younger age of these patients).

Surgery is still considered a curative treatment for LCs, also in the metastatic setting [65]. Pulmonary resection is often recommended in patients with limited hepatic metastases, with \sim 20% achieving a cure [66]. If complete resection is not possible, palliative debulking surgery may be taken into account in particular cases to relieve symptoms or prevent complications (i.e., pneumonitis). However, resection of the primary tumor is not indicated in case of unresectable metastases when the primary site is relatively stable.

12.6 Endobronchial Resection

Due to their indolent clinical course, bronchoscopic excision can be taken into account in those cases presenting with centrally located intraluminal LCs. In the literature, a variety of endobronchial procedures have been reported as an effective alternative to surgical treatment such as YAG laser, diode laser, cryo or electrosurgery, argon-plasma coagulation, and mechanical debulking [67–71]. To date, these techniques are still considered suboptimal approaches and reserved for selected cases only. As a rule, extra-luminal tumor growth, larger tumor diameter, and suspected locoregional/distant metastases are generally considered contraindication for bronchoscopic excision [68]. Furthermore, bronchoscopic treatment is not always effective, especially when LCs extend to the segmental bronchi and when the tumor is in either the upper left or right lobes.

As reported by a recent study assessing prognostic factors for endobronchial ablation, only small intraluminal tumors smaller than 2 cm are suitable for this kind of procedure, whereas all other tumors should be treated with conventional surgery [68]. Another indication is the desobstruction and recanalization of the involved bronchus to obtain resolution of postobstructive pneumonia [72] as well as to limit the extension of the subsequent surgical resection [73]. A recent systematic review reported excellent outcome results for TCs (5-year survival ranging from 89 to 94% in the literature) and a low rate of locoregional and distant recurrence in bronchoscopic-treated patients, ranging from 0-5% to 0-4% respectively [74]. Although these results seem promising, these studies are biased by the patients' selection (small tumors, young patients, usually indolent histology). Further prospective-randomized studies are, therefore, needed to better address this issue.

12.7 Somatostatin Analogues

For low-proliferating lung neuroendocrine tumors, treatment with SSAs is an option for functional tumors with clinical symptoms. SSAs constitute the gold standard for symptomatic control with >50% improvement in both flushing and diarrhea in gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) and LCs [75, 76]. Patients who have metastatic NETs and carcinoid syndrome should be treated with SSAs such as octreotide or lanreotide [77]. The long-acting release (LAR) formulation of octreotide is commonly used for the chronic management of symptoms in patients with carcinoid syndrome. Standard doses of octreotide LAR are 30 mg intramuscularly every 28 days. Dose and frequency may be further increased for symptom control as needed. Short-acting octreotide (usually 150-250 mcg subcutaneously three times daily) can be added to octreotide LAR for rapid relief of symptoms or for breakthrough symptoms [78, 79].

Lanreotide Autogel has a similar mechanism of action as octreotide, but is administered as a deep subcutaneous injection at the dose of 120 mg every 28 days [80, 81].

The more recent multicentric phase III ELECT trial randomized 115 patients with carcinoid syndrome (including LCs) who were either naïve or responsive to octreotide to receive 120 mg of lanreotide or placebo and evaluated the number of days patients required use of rescue octreotide. Patients in the lanreotide arm required lessfrequent rescue octreotide than those in the placebo arm (33.7% vs. 48.5%; P = 0.017), supporting the use of lanreotide for symptom control [82].

Moreover, interesting results have been reported by a specific study focused on advanced, functioning LCs, describing complete symptom control and normalization of urinary 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA) in 7 out of 126 ACs patients who received short-acting octreotide injections [83].

In nonfunctioning tumors, the use of SSAs is still controversial, but after the results reported by the PROMID and the CLARINET study indicating antitumor efficacy of octreotide LAR and Lanreotide Autogel drugs in GEP-NETs, it is now also widely accepted for nonfunctioning tumors of other origins [84, 85].

However, studies specifically focused on LCs are scanty. In a recent retrospective study, Bongiovanni et al. [45] investigated the efficacy of SSAs as first-line treatment of 30 metastatic nonfunctioning LCs and reported that, out the 30 patients, one patient (3.3%) achieved a partial response (PR) and 26 (86.6%) showed stable disease (SD), thus highlighting the antitumor activity of SSAs with a satisfiable safety profile.

A randomized double-blind, phase 3 study (SPINET trial, NCT02683941, clinicaltrial.gov) evaluating the efficacy and safety of lanreotideautogel versus placebo is ongoing in patients with well-differentiated, metastatic, and/or unresectable TCs and ACs.

Due to the very limited level of evidence about the use of SSAs in nonfunctioning, advanced LCs, no clear consensus exists on the timing of octreotide or lanreotide initiation in asymptomatic patients with metastatic well-differentiated LCs. However, if patients with advanced lowgrade LCs present with clinically significant tumor burden, initiation of octreotide and lanreotide may be considered [86].

12.8 Peptide Receptor Radiotherapy

PRRT with radiolabeled SSAs is an option in patients with NETs expressing high levels of SSTRs, namely well-differentiated forms [34, 87, 88].

Well-differentiated LCs frequently express subtype 2 of the SSTR family, and this can be identified by 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT scans, which constitute predictors of response [89].

PRRT with either 90Y- or 177Lu-peptides is generally well tolerated, and reported results are promising, even if mainly focused on gastrointestinal neoplasms.

So far, no prospective studies were performed with PRRT specifically in lung NETs, but only few retrospective study including LC patients are published [88–94].

A recent study examined the long-term efficacy, survival, and toxicity of 177Lu-dotatate in a group of 610 Dutch patients with metastatic GEP and lung NETs [95]. PFS and overall survival (OS) for all patients were 29 months and 63 months, respectively.

Other smaller studies also found improved OS (58.8 months) [90] and median PFS (20.1 months with TCs and 15.7 months with ACs) with PRRT treatment in patients with advanced LCs [93].

The phase III study NETTER-1 evaluated the efficacy and safety of 177Lu-dotatate in 229 patients with advanced, progressive, SSTR-positive midgut NETs who were randomly assigned to receive either 177-Lu-dotatate plus best supportive care (BSC) including octreotide LAR or octreotide LAR alone. Results of this study showed that treatment with 177Lu-dotatate was associated with a significant improvement in PFS (not reached vs. 8.4 months; P < 0.0001). Objective tumor responses were observed in 18% of patients who received 177Lu-dotatate versus 3% in the control group (P < 0.001). According to this trial, 177Lu-dotatate resulted in markedly longer PFS than high-dose octreotide LAR and was associated with limited acute toxic effects. Unfortunately, no LCs were included [96].

Given the results of this landmark trial, PRRT with 177Lu-dotatate was approved by the Food

and Drug Administration (FDA) in January 2018 for the treatment of patients with unresectable, low- or intermediate-grade, locally advanced, or metastatic GEP-NETs.

The National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) 2019 guidelines [86] recommend to consider PRRT with 177Lu-dotatate as a treatment option for some patients with advanced and/or metastatic gastrointestinal tract and lung NETs that are SSTR-positive on imaging and show disease progression while taking SSAs, if the tumor is either low-grade (typical) with clinically significant tumor burden or intermediategrade (atypical).

In summary, only few, mainly retrospective, studies specifically dedicated on PRRT in LCs are available, but, based on data reported in literature, particularly in the setting of gastrointestinal NETs, PRRT might be considered as an effective option in progressive LCs with strong expression of SSTRs and high tumor burden.

12.9 Chemotherapy

No randomized trials on chemotherapy are available, and there is no currently an established standard regimen, being the role of chemotherapy in LCs under debate. Because of their low proliferative capacity, LCs are generally considered as chemoresistant neoplasms [97].

In general, available chemotherapy regimens for TCs and ACs include the use of streptozotocin plus 5-fluorouracil/doxorubicin, or capecitabine/ oxaliplatin, temozolomide, dacarbazine, doxorubicin, etoposide, and cyclophosphamide [5, 26, 29, 98–101].

The objective response rates (ORR) with single-agent chemotherapy is generally not >20%, reserving this approach to pretreated patients or to patients with poor performance status [5, 26, 29, 101].

Poly-chemotherapy regimens (i.e., platinumbased chemotherapy, temozolomide combined with capecitabine or bevacizumab, capecitabine plus oxaliplatin) have demonstrated greater activity and are the best option in patients with good performance status and significant tumor burden. Patients are treated with poly-chemotherapy regimens SD in 30–50%, PR in 5–10%, and symptomatic response in 40–60% of the cases. However, these results derived from studies conducted on patients with NETs of any sites including only few patients with LCs [5, 26, 29, 98–103].

Among all the chemotherapy agents evaluated, temozolomide and oxaliplatin have shown the best clinical benefit in patients with LCs so far.

Temozolomide is a well-known alkylating agent, used in different types of cancer. The oral administration, the ability to cross the bloodbrain barrier, and the possibility of being associated with other cytostatics represent the main strengths of this drug [104, 105]. Ekeblad and colleagues performed a retrospective analysis of 36 patients with histologically confirmed metastatic or inoperable malignant NETs treated with oral temozolomide (100-200 mg/m² for 5 days every 28 days). The study group included ten patients with TCs and three with ACs. After a of 7 months (range median follow-up 2–17 months), 31% of patients with LCs had SD and 31% showed a PR [106]. The most relevant toxicity was grade 3 and 4 thrombocytopenia in 14% of the cases.

Another retrospective study evaluated the activity of temozolomide in 31 patients affected by metastatic LCs, reporting PR in 14% of the cases and SD in 52% of the cases. The most common toxicity was, again, grade 3 and 4 thrombocytopenia [107].

Given these premises, a phase 2 study with the aim to evaluate the efficacy and safety of Lanreotide Autogel plus temozolomide in patients with advanced or unresectable LCs or thymus carcinoids is currently ongoing (ATLANT-NCT 02698410, clinicaltrial.gov).

Some data correlated the role of methylguanine DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) as predictor of response to temozolomide [108, 109]. MGMT is an enzyme promoting repair of DNA damage caused by alkylating agents. High levels of intracellular enzyme reduce the alkylating agents activity, whereas MGMT gene methylation reduces the levels of the intracellular enzyme. Kulke et al. reported data about 95 patients with advanced NETs treated with temozolomide and showed that MGMT gene methylation is more common in pancreatic NETs compared with LCs.

This resulted in higher overall response rate with temozolomide in pancreatic NETs compared with LCs (34% versus 2% PR, respectively) [110]. Moreover, the recent study by Campana et al. evaluated the correlation between the outcome of 95 advanced NETs treated with temozolomide and the MGMT promoter methylation status. The authors showed an ORR of 51.8 and 17.7% in patients with or without MGMT promoter methylation, respectively, suggesting that the presence of MGMT promoter methylation represented a strong predictive factor for temozolomide response in NETs [109].

Finally, oxaliplatin has been reported as an active and potentially effective agent in retrospective analyses of patients with metastatic well-differentiated lung NETs alone or combined with other primary sites, treated with XELOX, GEMOX, CAPOX, or FOLFOX regimens [100, 110, 111].

Conversely, the use of cisplatin/carboplatin plus etoposide schedule, recommended by the international guidelines for the treatment of poorly differentiated lung NECs (SCLC and LCNEC), is not currently suggested as a treatment of choice in advanced LCs [34, 98, 101].

12.10 Targeted Therapy

12.10.1 mTOR (Mammalian Target of Rapamycin) Inhibitors

Although lung NETs are typically poorly represented in clinical trials of NET treatments, two phase III trials (RADIANT-2 and RADIANT-4), evaluating the efficacy of everolimus in advanced NETs, have recently reported specific results for LCs [112, 113].

In RADIANT-2, which evaluated the impact of combination therapy with the oral mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitor everolimus and the SSA octreotide LAR in patients with advanced NET and carcinoid symptoms, among them 6.9% of patients in the experimental group and 2.3% of patients in the control group were diagnosed with lung NETs. Overall, patients were randomly assigned to receive octreotide LAR 30 mg intramuscularly every 28 days combined with everolimus 10 mg per day (N = 216) or octreotide LAR plus a placebo (N = 213). Treatment with everolimus combined with octreotide was associated with longer PFS: 16.4 months in patients treated with everolimus and octreotide versus 11.3 months in control patients (P = 0.026); patients with lung NETs showed trend to improve PFS with everolimus plus octreotide (P = 0.228) [113, 114].

Based on these promising findings, a subsequent RADIANT-4 trial evaluated progressive, well-differentiated nonfunctioning, NETs. including LCs, where patients were treated with everolimus plus BSC versus placebo plus BSC [113]. Out of a total of 302 patients who were randomized to receive either everolimus or placebo (n = 97), the primary endpoint was PFS. In total, 175 patients had gastrointestinal NET and 90 had lung disease. Everolimus-treated patients showed a prolonged median PFS, as compared with those receiving placebo (11.0 vs. 3.9 months, HR 0.48; p < 0.00001). This benefit in PFS was consistent in all subgroup analyses: in particular, there was a 50% improvement in PFS for patients with lung tumors and a 44% benefit for those with gastrointestinal NETs [113, 115].

Finally, a trial specifically looking at lung NETs, the LUNA phase II trial, where patients were randomly assigned to everolimus, the SSA pasireotide (a novel multi-receptor ligand SSA with higher affinity for SSTR1, SSTR3, and SSTR5 than octreotide, but a lower affinity for SSTR2) [116], or the combination of both, was associated with antitumor activity and an acceptable safety profile. A total of 112 patients with LCs were included. The LUNA study achieved the preplanned statistical objective of a 9-month PFS rate >20% in all the three arms, supporting the efficacy of everolimus in lung NETs [117].

Since the results from these three phase II-III prospective trials have been published, everolimus, a selective mTOR inhibitor, has been approved for the treatment of unresectable or metastatic, well-differentiated, nonfunctional NETs of lung origin in patients with progressive disease.

12.10.2 Antiangiogenic Agents

The potential role of antiangiogenic agents in LCs is still far from being clearly understood. Sunitinib is an orally administered kinase inhibitor small molecule with activity against a number of tyrosine kinase inhibitors including vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR)-1, -2, -3, platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR)-a and -b [118]. A phase II study evaluated the activity of sunitinib in 109 NET patients including 41 with carcinoids of whom 14 were foregut including LCs and observed that sunitinib had antitumor activity in pancreatic forms, while its activity against carcinoid tumors could not be definitively determined [119].

The PAZONET trial [120] of pazopanib as a sequencing treatment in progressive metastatic NETs, including patients with LCs, observed a clinical benefit in 85% of patients treated with pazopanib.

Moreover, bevacizumab, an anti-VEGF monoclonal antibody, is also being evaluated for LCs. In the phase II study by Yao et al. [121] including 44 patients with advanced NETs of different origins (four were LCs), patients were randomized to either bevacizumab or pegylated interferon (IFN). The PFS rates after 18 weeks were 95% with bevacizumab versus 68% with pegylated IFN.

12.11 Immunotherapy

Immune checkpoint inhibitors have changed the clinical practice of different types of malignant neoplasms [122, 123]. The main evidence of the efficacy of immunotherapy in NETs is currently exclusively limited to poorly differentiated NETs of the skin (Merkel Cell Carcinomas), while results from clinical trials are disappointing for well-differentiated tumors [124]. In low-grade

LCs, two immunotherapy agents have been evaluated in clinical studies so far, namely pembrolizumab and spartalizumab.

Pembrolizumab is a highly selective, humanized anti-programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) antibody. Antitumoral activity of pembrolizumab carcinoids (lung and gut) and wellin differentiated pancreatic NETs was initially evaluated in the phase 1b KEYNOTE-028 study at dose of 10 mg/kg, every 2 weeks. Out of 25 treated patients with LCs, three (12%) had objective response rate. Durations of response were 6.9, 9.2, and 11.1 months for the three LC responders, respectively. Stable disease rate was 60% (15 patients) [125]. The KEYNOTE-158 phase 2 basket study investigated the antitumor activity and safety of pembrolizumab (200 mg intravenously every 3 weeks) in different types of cancer, progressed after standard-of-care systemic therapy. One-hundred-seven patients with different types of NETs were enrolled and 14 of were LCs. Median follow-up was them 24.2 months (range: 0.6–33.4). ORR was 3.7%, with 0 complete responses and 4 PR (three pancreatic and one rectal). All the responses were in patients with PD-L1-negative tumors. Median PFS and median OS were 4.1 months and 24.2 months, respectively. Treatment-related grade 3-5 adverse events occurred in 21.5% of the patients. The authors concluded that pembrolizumab showed limited efficacy in pretreated advanced well-differentiated NETs [126].

Spartalizumab (PDR001), a high-affinity, humanized, anti-PD-1 antibody, was evaluated in a phase II, multicenter study in well- and poorly differentiated NETs. Primary endpoint was the ORR, and secondary endpoints included duration of response, biomarker analyses, and safety. In this study, PDR001 was administered at a flat dose of 400 mg, every 4 weeks. Of the 116 patients enrolled, 30 were thoracic NETs, 33 pancreatic NETs, 32 gastrointestinal NETs, and 21 GEP-NECs. After a median follow-up of 7.6 months in NET and 6 months in GEP-NEC, ORR was 7.4% in well-differentiated NETs and 4.8% in poorly differentiated NECs.

Patients with thoracic NETs had a higher ORR (20%) compared to GEP-NETs (1.5%) and GEP-

NECs (5%). Most common grade 3/4 adverse events (>2.5%) were hypertension, dyspnea, anemia, abdominal and back pain. Interestingly, PD-L1 expression was generally low, with a higher proportion of PD-L1 expression in immune cells >1% in GEP-NECs (43%) compared to thoracic NETs (19%) and gastrointestinal NETs (33%). These preliminary results might suggest clinical activity of PDR001 in thoracic NETs [127].

12.12 Summary and Conclusions

LCs are rare tumors with an incidence of 2% and 0.2% for TCs and ACs, respectively. However, due to the improvement in screening and imaging techniques and increased disease awareness, LC incidence has increased during the last three decades [1, 5, 6]. Given the disease rarity and the scarcity of prospective studies, some controversies still exist on diagnosis and management of LCs. A multidisciplinary approach is always recommended.

Surgery with preservation of as much normal lung tissue as possible remains the gold standard in case of limited and resectable disease. Bronchoscopic excision might be also taken into account in those cases presenting with centrally located intraluminal LCs, even though further prospective studies are warranted to validate this more conservative approach.

For advanced or progressive disease, no standard treatment or therapeutic algorithm is currently available. In advanced metastatic LCs, medical therapy represents the milestone and SSA, everolimus, chemotherapy, and PRRT treatments constitute the therapeutic armamentarium in this setting, being generally reserved to welldifferentiated tumors with low proliferative index and SSTR positivity.

The majority of the studies exploring the efficacy of SSA therapy for both symptom and tumor growth control are retrieved from studies on GEP-NETs; however, the LUNA trial is the only prospective study dedicated exclusively to LCs [117], which reported that long-acting pasireotide, everolimus, or combination therapy with both agents was associated with antitumor activity and an acceptable safety profile. Furthermore, the SPINET trial is ongoing, evaluating the efficacy and safety of lanreotide versus placebo for the treatment of well-differentiated, metastatic and/or unresectable nonfunctioning LCs.

PRRT with radiolabeled SSAs is an option in patients with well-differentiated low-intermediate grade NETs expressing high levels of SSTRs; however, only few, mainly retrospective, studies specifically dedicated to PRRT in LCs are available. Systemic chemotherapy is reserved for those cases of locally advanced or metastatic disease; however, the standard chemotherapy regimen to be recommended in clinical practice is still unclear, and the choice of chemotherapy should be made by taking into account the characteristics of both patient and tumor.

The role of targeted therapies in LCs remains still limited with the exception of the only approved drug (everolimus) in clinical practice. Everolimus represents a therapeutic option in patients with progressive disease with advanced LCs.

The RADIANT 4 study will likely have a major impact on clinical practice, especially for lung NETs [115]. Indeed, it was the first randomized study to specifically show that everolimus is significantly effective in patients with LCs. We believe that this study represents a major breakthrough, as, to date, there has not been any properly established treatment algorithm for LCs. In particular, we think that everolimus may be particularly suitable for patients with more aggressive and rapidly progressing disease such as those with ACs, in whom upfront treatment can be suggested. Moreover, data on second-line therapy with everolimus are even more grounded, also compared with those available for chemotherapy and PRRT, which are mostly derived from retrospective series or nonrandomized studies in a mixed population of patients with TCs and subjects with ACs.

Conversely, there is a lack of studies focused on the potential role of antiangiogenic agents in LCs. Finally, immune checkpoint inhibitors have shown promising results in different tumors, and the main evidence of the efficacy of immunotherapy in the neuroendocrine setting is only in Merkel Cell Carcinomas but not in welldifferentiated forms, even though [124] in lowgrade LCs, pembrolizumab and spartalizumab had shown preliminary promising results in terms of both efficacy and safety.

Further studies, specifically dedicated to LCs, are needed to draw more robust conclusions, particularly to better clarify the most adequate sequence and timing of systemic drugs in the management of this subgroup of rare neoplasms.

References

- Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A, Dagohoy C, Leary C, Mares JE, Abdalla EK, et al. One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(18):3063–72.
- Rekhtman N. Neuroendocrine tumors of the lung an update. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010;134(11):1628–38.
- Korse CM, Taal BG, van Velthuysen ML, Visse O. Incidence and survival of neuroendocrine tumours in the Netherlands according to histological grade: experience of two decades of cancer registry. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(8):1975–83.
- Naalsund A, Rostad H, Strom EH, Lund MB, Strand TE. Carcinoid lung tumors--incidence, treatment and outcomes: a population-based study. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2011;39(4):565–9.
- Caplin ME, Baudin E, Ferolla P, Filosso P, Garcia-Yuste M, Lim E, et al. Pulmonary neuroendocrine (carcinoid) tumors: European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society expert consensus and recommendations for best practice for typical and atypical pulmonary carcinoid. Ann Oncol. 2015;26:1604–20.
- Petursdottir A, Sigurdardottir J, Fridriksson BM, Johnsen A, Isaksson HJ, Hardardottir H, et al. Pulmonary carcinoid tumours: incidence, histology, and surgical outcome. A population-based study. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2020;68(5):523–9.
- Travis WD, Brambilla E, Nicholson AG, Yatabe Y, Austin JHM, Beasley MB, et al. The 2015 World Health Organization Classification of Lung Tumors: impact of genetic, clinical and radiologic advances since the 2004 classification. J Thorac Oncol. 2015;10:1243–60.
- Faggiano A, Ferolla P, Grimaldi F, Campana D, Manzoni M, Davì MV, et al. Natural history of gastro-entero-pancreatic and thoracic neuroendocrine tumors. Data from a large prospective and retrospective Italian Epidemiological study: the NET MANAGEMENT study. J Endocrinol Investig. 2012;35:817–23.

- Hassan MM, Phan A, Li D, Dagohoy CG, Leary C, Yao JC. Risk factors associated with neuroendocrine tumors: a U.S.-based case-control study. Int J Cancer. 2008;123:867–73.
- Filosso PL, Rena O, Donati G, Casadio C, Ruffini E, Papalia E, et al. Bronchial carcinoid tumors: surgical management and long-term outcome. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2002;123:303–9.
- Zuetenhorst JM, Taal BG. Metastatic carcinoid tumors: a clinical review. Oncologist. 2005;10:123–31.
- Ferguson MK, Landreneau RJ, Hazelrigg SR, Altorki NK, Naunheim KS, Zwischenberger JB, et al. Longterm outcome after resection for bronchial carcinoid tumors. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2000;18:156–61.
- Pusceddu S, Lo Russo G, Macerelli M, Proto C, Vitali M, Signorelli D, et al. Diagnosis and management of typical and atypical lung carcinoids. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2016;100:167–76.
- Filosso PL, Oliaro A, Ruffini E, Bora G, Lyberis P, Asioli S, et al. Outcome and prognostic factors in bronchial carcinoids: a single-center experience. J Thorac Oncol. 2013;8(10):1282–8.
- Skuladottir H, Hirsch FR, Hansen HH, Olsen JH. Pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors: incidence and prognosis of histological subtypes. A population-based study in Denmark. Lung Cancer. 2002;37(2):127–35.
- Cardillo G, Sera F, Di Martino M, Graziano P, Giunti R, Carbone L, et al. Bronchial carcinoid tumors: nodal status and long-term survival after resection. Ann Thorac Surg. 2004;77(5):1781–5.
- Raz DJ, Nelson RA, Grannis FW, Kim JY. Natural history of typical pulmonary carcinoid tumors: a comparison of nonsurgical and surgical treatment. Chest. 2015;147(4):1111–7.
- De Giorgi U, Fanini F, Amadori D, Cancellieri A, Fiorentini G, Poletti V, et al. Tumorlets in familial history of bronchopulmonary carcinoid. J Thorac Oncol. 2011;6(9):1613–4.
- Oliveira AM, Tazelaar HD, Wentzlaff KA, Kosugi NS, Hai N, Benson A, et al. Familial pulmonary carcinoid tumors. Cancer. 2001;91:2104–9.
- Leotlela PD, Jauch A, Holtgreve-Grez H, Thakker RV. Genetics of neuroendocrine and carcinoid tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2003;10:437–50.
- Matsuda KM, Nobrega R, Quezado M, Schrump DS, Filie AC. Melanocytic bronchopulmonary carcinoid tumor in a patient with multiple endocrine neoplasia syndrome type 1: a case report with emphasis on intraoperative cytological findings. Diagn Cytopathol. 2010;38:669–74.
- Sachithanandan N, Harle RA, Burgess JR. Bronchopulmonary carcinoid in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Cancer. 2005;103:509–15.
- Ferolla P, Daddi N, Urbani M, Semeraro A, Ribacchi R, Giovenali P, et al. Tumorlets, multicentric carcinoids, lymphnodal metastases, and long-term behavior in bronchial carcinoids. J Thorac Oncol. 2009;4:383–7.

- Travis WD. Advances in neuroendocrine lung tumors. Ann Oncol. 2010;21(Suppl 7):vii65–71.
- Wirtschafter E, Walts AE, Liu ST, Marchevsky AM. Diffuse idiopathic pulmonary neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia of the lung (DIPNECH): current best evidence. Lung. 2015;193(5):659–67.
- Filosso PL, Ferolla P, Guerrera F, Ruffini E, Travis WD, Rossi G, et al. Multidisciplinary management of advanced lung neuroendocrine tumors. JThorac Dis. 2015;7(Suppl 2):S163–71.
- Volante M, Gatti G, Papotti M. Classification of lung neuroendocrine tumors: lights and shadows. Endocrine. 2015;50(2):315–9.
- Pelosi G, Papotti M, Rindi G, Scarpa A. Unraveling tumor grading and genomic landscape in lung neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Pathol. 2014;25:151–64.
- 29. Öberg K, Hellman P, Ferolla P, Papotti M. Neuroendocrine bronchial and thymic tumors: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(suppl 7):vii120–3.
- Halperin DM, Shen C, Dasari A, Xu Y, Chu Y, Zhou S, et al. Frequency of carcinoid syndrome at neuroendocrine tumour diagnosis: a population-based study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:525–34.
- Alexandraki KI, Grossman AB. The ectopic ACTH syndrome. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2010;11(2):117–26.
- 32. Neary NM, Lopez-Chavez A, Abel BS, Boyce AM, Schaub N, Kwong K, et al. Neuroendocrine ACTHproducing tumor of the thymus--experience with 12 patients over 25 years. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(7):2223–30.
- Meisinger QC, Klein JS, Butnor KJ, Gentchos G, Leavitt BJ. CT features of peripheral pulmonary carcinoid tumors. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2011;197(5):1073–80.
- 34. Righi L, Volante M, Tavaglione V, Billè A, Daniele L, Angusti T, et al. Somatostatin receptor tissue distribution in lung neuroendocrine tumours: a clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical study of 218 clinically aggressive cases. Ann Oncol. 2010;21(3):548–55.
- Fisseler-Eckhoff A, Demes M. Neuroendocrine tumors of the lung. Cancers (Basel). 2012;4:777–98.
- 36. Modlin IM, Oberg K, Chung DC, Jensen RT, de Herder WW, Thakker RV, et al. Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Lancet Oncol. 2008;9(1):61–72.
- 37. Mojtahedi A, Thamake S, Tworowska I, Ranganathan D, Delpassand ES. The value of (68) Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT in diagnosis and management of neuroendocrine tumors compared to currentFDA approved imaging modalities: a review of literature. Am J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2014;4(5):426–34. eCollection 2014
- Reubi JC, Schär JC, Waser B, Wenger S, Heppeler A, Schmitt JS, et al. Affinity profiles for human somatostatin receptor subtypes SST1-SST5 of somatostatin radiotracers selected for scintigraphic and

radiotherapeutic use. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2000;27:273–82.

- Haug AR, Cindea-Drimus R, Auernhammer CJ, Reincke M, Wangler B, Uebleis C, et al. The role of 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT in suspected neuroendocrinen tumors. J Nucl Med. 2012;53:1686–92.
- Haug AR, Cindea-Drimus R, Auernhammer CJ, Reincke M, Beuschlein F, Wängler B, et al. Neuroendocrine tumor recurrence: diagnosis with 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT. Radiology. 2014;270:517–25.
- 41. Srirajaskanthan R, Kayani I, Quigley AM, Soh J, Caplin ME, Bomanji J. The role of 68Ga-DOTATATE PET in patients with neuroendocrine tumors and negative or equivocal findings on 111In-DTPA-octreotide scintigraphy. J Nucl Med. 2010;51(6):875–82.
- 42. Krausz Y, Freedman N, Rubinstein R, Lavie E, Orevi M, Tshori S, et al. 68Ga-DOTA-NOC PET/ CT imaging of neuroendocrine tumors: comparison with 111In-DTPA-octreotide (OctreoScan®). Mol Imaging Biol. 2011;13:583–93.
- 43. Hörsch D, Schmid KW, Anlauf M, Darwiche K, Denecke T, Baum RP, et al. Neuroendocrine tumors of the bronchopulmonary system (typical and atypical carcinoid Tumors): current strategies in diagnosis and treatment. Conclusions of an expert meeting February 2011 in Weimar, Germany. Oncol Res Treat. 2014;37:266–76.
- 44. Abgral R, Leboulleux S, Déandreis D, Aupérin A, Lumbroso J, Dromain C, et al. Performance of (18) fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography and somatostatin receptor scintigraphy for high Ki67 (≥10%) well-differentiated endocrine carcinoma staging. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(3):665–71.
- 45. Bongiovanni A, Recine F, Riva N, Foca F, Liverani C, Mercatali L, et al. Outcome analysis of first-line somatostatin analog treatment in metastatic pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors and prognostic significance of 18FDG-PET/CT. Clin Lung Cancer. 2017;18(4):415–20.
- 46. Aydin E, Yazici U, Gulgosteren M, Agackiran Y, Kaya S, Gulhan E, et al. Longterm outcomes and prognostic factors of patients with surgically treated pulmonary carcinoid: our institutional experience with 104 patients. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2011;39:549–54.
- 47. Cañizares MA, Matilla JM, Cueto A, Algar J, Muguruza I, Moreno-Mata N, et al. Atypical carcinoid tumours of the lung: prognostic factors and patterns of recurrence. Thorax. 2014;69: 648–53.
- 48. Filosso PL, Guerrera F, Evangelista A, Welter S, Thomas P, Casado PM, et al. Prognostic model of survival for typical bronchial carcinoid tumours: analysis of 1109 patients on behalf of the European Association of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS) Neuroendocrine Tumours Working Group. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2015;48:441–7. discussion 447

- 49. Okoye CC, Jablons DM, Jahan TM, Kukreja J, Cardozo S, Yom SS. Divergent management strategies for typical versus atypical carcinoid tumors of the thoracic cavity. Am J Clin Oncol. 2014;37:350–5.
- Fox M, Van Berkel V, Bousamra M, Sloan S, Martin RCG. Surgical management of pulmonary carcinoid tumors: sublobar resection versus lobectomy. Am J Surg. 2013;205(2):200–8.
- Yendamuri S, Gold D, Jayaprakash V, Dexter E, Nwogu C, Demmy T. Is sublobar resection sufficient for carcinoid tumors? Ann Thorac Surg. 2011;92(5):1774–8.
- Afoke J, Tan C, Hunt I, Zakkar M. Is sublobar resection equivalent to lobectomy for surgical management of peripheral carcinoid? Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2013;16(6):858–63.
- Detterbeck FC, Lewis SZ, Diekemper R, Addrizzo-Harris D, Alberts WM. Executive summary: diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed. American College of Chest Physicians evidencebased clinical practice guidelines. Chest. 2013;143(5 Suppl):7S–37S.
- 54. Mei J, Guo C, Xia L, Liao H, Pu Q, Ma L, et al. Long-term survival outcomes of video-assisted thoracic surgery lobectomy for stage I-II non-small cell lung cancer are more favorable than thoracotomy: a propensity score-matched analysis from a highvolume center in China. Transl Lung Cancer Res. 2019;8(2):155–66.
- 55. Yu D, Han Y, Zhou S, Song X, Li Y, Xiao N, et al. Video-assisted thoracic bronchial sleeve lobectomy with bronchoplasty for treatment of lung cancer confined to a single lung lobe: a case series of Chinese patients. J Cardiothorac Surg. 2014;9:67.
- 56. Lim E, Yap YK, De Stavola BL, Nicholson AG, Goldstraw P. The impact of stage and cell type on the prognosis of pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2005;130:969–72.
- 57. Travis WD, Rush W, Flieder DB, Falk R, Fleming MV, Gal AA, et al. Survival analysis of 200 pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors with clarification of criteria for atypical carcinoid and its separation from typical carcinoid. Am J Surg Pathol. 1998;22:934–44.
- Wolin EM. Advances in the diagnosis and management of well-differentiated and intermediatedifferentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the lung. Chest. 2017;151(5):1141–6.
- Wurzt A, Benhamed L, Conti M, Bouchindhomme B, Porte H. Results of systematic nodal dissection in typical and atypical carcinoid tumors of the lung. J Thorac Oncol. 2009;4(3):388–94.
- Detterbeck FC. Management of carcinoid tumors. Ann Thorac Surg. 2010;89:998–1005.
- 61. El Jamal M, Nicholson AG, Goldstraw P. The feasibility of conservative resection for carcinoid tumors: is pneumonectomy ever necessary for uncomplicated cases? Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2000;18:301–6.
- Anile M, Diso D, Rendina EA, Venuta F. Bronchoplastic procedures for carcinoid tumors. Thorac Surg Clin. 2014;24(3):299–303.

- 63. Venuta F, Ciccone AM, Anile M, Ibrahim M, De Giacomo T, Coloni GF, et al. Reconstruction of the pulmonary artery for lung cancer: long term results. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2009;138:1185–91.
- Okada M, Nishio W, Sakamoto T, Uchino K, Yuki T, Nakagawa A, et al. Sleeve segmentectomy for non small cell lung carcinoma. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2004;128:420–4.
- 65. Lemaitre J, Mansour Z, Kochetkova EA, Koriche C, Ducrocq X, Wihlm JM, et al. Bronchoplastic lobectomy: do early results depend on the underlying pathology? A comparison between typical carcinoids and primary lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2006;30:168–71.
- 66. Phan AT, Oberg K, Choi J, Harrison LH, Hassan MM, Strosberg JR, et al. NANETS consensus guide-line for the diagnosis and management of neuroen-docrine tumors well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the thorax (includes lung and thymus). Pancreas. 2010;39:784–98.
- Cavaliere S, Foccoli P, Toninelli C. Curative bronchoscopic laser therapy for surgically resectable tracheobronchial tumors: personal experience. J Bronchol. 2002;9(2):90–5.
- Reuling EMBP, Dickhoff C, Plaisier PW, Coupé VMH, Mazairac AHA, Lely RJ, et al. Endobronchial treatment for bronchial carcinoid: patient selection and predictors of outcome. Respiration. 2018;95(4):220–7.
- Dalar L, Ozdemir C, Abul Y, Sokucu SN, Karasulu L, Urer HN, et al. Endobronchial treatment of carcinoid tumors of the lung. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2016;64(2):166–71.
- Brokx HA, Paul MA, Postmus PE, Sutedja TG. Long-term follow-up after firstline bronchoscopic therapy in patients with bronchial carcinoids. Thorax. 2015;70(5):468–72.
- Orino K, Kawai H, Ogawa J. Bronchoscopic treatment with argon plasma coagulation for recurrent typical carcinoids: report of a case. Anticancer Res. 2004;24(6):4073–7.
- 72. Venuta F, Rendina EA, De Giacomo T, Mercadante E, Francioni F, Pugliese F, et al. Nd:YAG laser resection of lung cancer invading the airway as a bridge to surgery and palliative treatment. Ann Thorac Surg. 2002;74:995–8.
- 73. Neuberger M, Hapfelmeier A, Schmidt M, Gesierich W, Reichenberger F, Morresi-Hauf A, et al. Carcinoid tumours of the lung and the 'PEPPS' approach: evaluation of preoperative bronchoscopic tumour debulking as preparation for subsequent parenchyma-sparing surgery. BMJ Open Respir Res. 2015;2(1):e000090.
- Reuling EMBP, Dickhoff C, Plaisier PW, Bonjer HJ, Daniels JMA. Endobronchial and surgical treatment of pulmonary carcinoid tumors: a systematic literature review. Lung Cancer. 2019;134: 85–95.
- 75. Oberg K, Ferone D, Kaltsas G, Knigge UP, Taal B, Plöckinger U, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for

the standards of care in neuroendocrine tumors: biotherapy. Neuroendocrinology. 2009;90:209–13.

- Modlin IM, Pavel M, Kidd M, Gustafsson BI. Review article: somatostatin analogues in the treatment of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine (carcinoid) tumours. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2010;31:169–88.
- 77. Oberg K, Kvols L, Caplin M, Delle Fave G, de Herder W, Rindi G, et al. Consensus report on the use of somatostatin analogs for the management of neuroendocrine tumors of the gastroenteropancreatic system. Ann Oncol. 2004;15:966–73.
- Janson ET, Oberg K. Long-term management of the carcinoid syndrome. Treatment with octreotide alone and in combination with alpha- interferon. Acta Oncol. 1993;32:225–9.
- Kvols LK, Moertel CG, O'Connell MJ, Schutt AJ, Rubin J, Hahn RG. Treatment of the malignant carcinoid syndrome. Evaluation of a long-acting somatostatin analogue. N Engl J Med. 1986;315:663–6.
- Ruszniewski P, Ish-Shalom S, Wymenga M, O'Toole D, Arnold R, Tomassetti P, et al. Rapid and sustained relief from the symptoms of carcinoid syndrome: results from an open 6-month study of the 28-day prolonged-release formulation of lanreotide. Neuroendocrinology. 2004;80:244–51.
- Ruszniewski P, Valle JW, Lombard-Bohas C, Cuthbertson DJ, Perros P, Holubec L, et al. Patientreported outcomes with lanreotide autogel/depot for carcinoid syndrome: an international observational study. Dig Liver Dis. 2016;48:552–8.
- Vinik AI, Wolin EM, Liyanage N, Gomez-Panzani E, Fisher GA, ELECT Study Group. Evaluation of lanreotide depot/autogel efficacy and safety as a carcinoid syndrome treatment (elect): a randomized, double-blind. Placebo-Controll Trial Endocr Pract. 2016;22:1068–80.
- Filosso PL, Ruffini E, Oliaro A, Papalia E, Donati G, Rena O. Long-term survival of atypical bronchial carcinoids with liver metastases, treated with octreotide. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2002;21:913–7.
- 84. Rinke A, Müller HH, Schade-Brittinger C, Klose KJ, Barth P, Wied M, et al. Placebo-controlled, doubleblind, prospective, randomized study on the effect of octreotide LAR in the control of tumor growth in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine midgut tumors: a report from the PROMID Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:4656–63.
- Caplin ME, Pavel M, Ćwikła JB, Phan AT, Raderer M, Sedláčková E, et al. Lanreotide in metastatic enteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(3):224–33.
- Shah MH, Goldner WS, Benson AB, Bergsland E, Berlin JD, Blaszkowsky LS et al. Neuroendocrine and adrenal tumors. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. 2019.
- 87. Hörscha D, Schmid KW, Anlauf M, Darwiche K, Denecke T, Baum RP, et al. Neuroendocrine tumors of the bronchopulmonary system (typical and atypical carcinoid tumors): current strategies in diagnosis and treatment conclusions of an expert meeting

February 2011 in Weimar, Germany. Oncol Res Treat. 2014;37:266–76.

- Bodei L, Cremonesi M, Kidd M, Grana CM, Severi S, Modlin IM, et al. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy for advanced neuroendocrine tumors. Thorac Surg Clin. 2014;24:333–49.
- Waldherr C, Pless M, Maecke HR, Haldemann A, Mueller-Brand J. The clinical value of [90Y-DOTA]-D-Phe1-Tyr3-octreotide (90Y-DOTATOC) in the treatment of neuroendocrine tumours: a clinical phase II study. Ann Oncol. 2001;12:941–5.
- Mariniello A, Bodei L, Tinelli C, Baio SM, Gilardi L, Colandrea M, et al. Long-term results of PRRT in advanced bronchopulmonary carcinoid. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;43(3):441–52.
- 91. Imhof A, Brunner P, Marincek N, Briel M, Schindler C, Rasch H, et al. Response, survival, and long-term toxicity after therapy with the radiolabeled somatostatin analogue [90YDOTA]-TOC in metas-tasized neuroendocrine cancers. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(17):2416–23.
- 92. Bodei L, Cremonesi M, Grana C, Rocca P, Bartolomei M, Chinol M, et al. Receptor radionuclide therapy with 90Y-[DOTA]0-Tyr3-octreotide (90Y-DOTATOC) in neuroendocrine tumours. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2004;31:1038–46.
- Ianniello A, Sansovini M, Severi S, Nicolini S, Grana CM, Massri K, et al. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with 177Lu-DOTATATE in advanced bronchial carcinoids: prognostic role of thyroid transcription factor 1 and 18F-FDG PET. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;43(6):1040–6.
- 94. van Essen M, Krenning EP, Bakker WH, de Herder WW, van Aken MO, Kwekkeboom DJ. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with 177Lu-octreotate in patients with foregut carcinoid tumours of bronchial, gastric and thymic origin. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2007;34:1219–27.
- 95. Brabander T, van der Zwan WA, Teunissen JJM, Kam BLR, Feelders RA, de Herder WW, et al. Long-term efficacy, survival, and safety of (177) Lu-DOTA(0),Tyr(3)octreotate in patients with gastroenteropancreatic and bronchial neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23(16):4617–24.
- 96. Strosberg J, El-Haddad G, Wolin E, Hendifar A, Yao J, Chasen B, et al. Phase 3 trial of ¹⁷⁷Lu-Dotatate for midgut neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:125–35.
- 97. Lim E, Goldstraw P, Nicholson AG, Travis WD, Jett JR, Ferolla P, et al. Proceedings of the IASLC international workshop on advances in pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors 2007. J Thorac Oncol. 2008;3(10):1194–201.
- Granberg D, Eriksson B, Wilander E, Grimfjärd P, Fjällskog ML, Oberg K, et al. Experience in treatment of metastatic pulmonary carcinoid tumors. Ann Oncol. 2001;12(10):1383–91.
- Turner NC, Strauss SJ, Sarker D, Gillmore R, Kirkwood A, Hackshaw A, et al. Chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil, cisplatin and streptozoto-

cin for neuroendocrine tumours. Br J Cancer. 2010;102(7):1106–12.

- 100. Bajetta E, Catena L, Procopio G, De Dosso S, Bichisao E, Ferrari L, et al. Are capecitabine and oxaliplatin (XELOX) suitable treatments for progressing low-grade and high-grade neuroendocrine tumours? Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2007;59:637–42.
- 101. Kvols LK, Brendtro KL, North American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (NANETS). The North American Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (NANETS) guidelines: mission, goals, and process. Pancreas. 2010;39(6):705–6.
- Wirth LJ, Carter MR, Jänne PA, Johnson BE. Outcome of patients with pulmonary carcinoid tumors receiving chemotherapy or chemoradiotherapy. Lung Cancer. 2004;44:213–20.
- 103. Chan JA, Stuart K, Earle CC, Clark JW, Bhargava P, Miksad R, et al. Prospective study of bevacizumab plus temozolomide in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(24):2963–8.
- 104. Pavel M, Grossman A, Arnold R, Perren A, Kaltsas G, Steinmüller T, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of brain, cardiac and ovarian metastases from neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2010;91:326–32.
- 105. Koumarianou A, Kaltsas G, Kulke MH, Oberg K, Strosberg JR, Spada F, et al. Temozolomide in advanced neuroendocrine neoplasms: pharmacological and clinical aspects. Neuroendocrinology. 2015;101(4):274–88.
- 106. Ekeblad S, Sundin A, Janson ET, Welin S, Granberg D, Kindmark H, et al. Temozolomide as monotherapy is effective in treatment of advanced malignant neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:2986–91.
- 107. Crona J, Fanola I, Lindholm DP, Antonodimitrakis P, Öberg K, Eriksson B, et al. Effect of temozolomide in patients with metastatic bronchial carcinoids. Neuroendocrinology. 2013;98:151–5.
- 108. Kulke MH, Hornick JL, Frauenhoffer C, Hooshmand S, Ryan DP, Enzinger PC, et al. O6-methylguanine DNA methyltransferase deficiency and response to temozolomide-based therapy in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:338–45.
- 109. Campana D, Walter T, Pusceddu S, Gelsomino F, Graillot E, Prinzi N, et al. Correlation between MGMT promoter methylation and response to temozolomide-based therapy in neuroendocrine neoplasms: an observational retrospective multicenter study. Endocrine. 2018;60(3):490–8.
- 110. Walter T, Planchard D, Bouledrak K, Scoazec JY, Souquet PJ, Dussol AS, et al. Evaluation of the combination of oxaliplatin and 5-fluorouracil or gemcitabine in patients with sporadic metastatic pulmonary carcinoid tumors. Lung Cancer. 2016;96:68–73.
- 111. Spada F, Antonuzzo L, Marconcini R, Radice D, Antonuzzo A, Ricci S, et al. Oxaliplatin-based che-

motherapy in advanced neuroendocrine tumors: clinical outcomes and preliminary correlation with biological factors. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(6):806–14.

- 112. Pavel ME, Hainsworth JD, Baudin E, Peeters M, Hörsch D, Winkler RE, et al. RADIANT-2 Study Group. Everolimus plus octreotide long-acting repeatable for the treatment of advanced neuroendocrine tumours associated with carcinoid syndrome (RADIANT-2): a randomised, placebocontrolled, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2011;378(9808): 2005–12.
- 113. Yao JC, Fazio N, Singh S, Buzzoni R, Carnaghi C, Wolin E, et al. Everolimus for the treatment of advanced, non-functional neuroendocrine tumours of the lung or gastro-intestinal tract (RADIANT-4): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2016;387(10022):968–77.
- 114. Fazio N, Granberg D, Grossman A, Saletan S, Klimovsky J, Panneerselvam A, et al. Everolimus plus octreotide long-acting repeatable in patients with advanced lung neuroendocrine tumors: analysis of the phase 3, randomized, placebo-controlled RADIANT-2 study. Chest. 2013;143(4):955–62.
- 115. Fazio N, Buzzoni R, Delle Fave G, Tesselaar ME, Wolin E, Van Cutsem E, et al. Everolimus in advanced, progressive, well-differentiated, non-functional neuroendocrine tumors: RADIANT-4 lung subgroup analysis. Cancer Sci. 2018;109(1):174–81.
- Cives M, Strosberg J. The expanding role of somatostatin analogs in gastroenteropancreatic and lung neuroendocrine tumors. Drugs. 2015;75:847–58.
- 117. Ferolla P, Brizzi MP, Meyer T, Mansoor W, Mazieres J, Do Cao C, et al. Efficacy and safety of long-acting pasireotide or everolimus alone or in combination in patients with advanced carcinoids of the lung and thymus (LUNA): an open-label, multicentre, randomised, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(12):1652–64.
- 118. Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL, Bang YJ, Borbath I, Lombard-Bohas C, et al. Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:501–13.
- 119. Kulke MH, Lenz HJ, Meropol NJ, Posey J, Ryan DP, Picus J, et al. Activity of sunitinib in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(20):3403–10.
- 120. Grande E, Capdevila J, Castellano D, Teulé A, Durán I, Fuster J, et al. Pazopanib in pretreated advanced neuroendocrine tumors: a phase II, open-label trial of the Spanish Task Force Group for Neuroendocrine Tumors (GETNE). Ann Oncol. 2015;26(9):1987–93.
- 121. Yao JC, Phan A, Hoff PM, Chen HX, Charnsangavej C, Yeung SC, et al. Targeting vascular endothelial growth factor in advanced carcinoid tumor: a random assignment phase II study of depot octreotide with bevacizumab and pegylated interferon alpha-2b. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(8):1316–23.
- 122. Califano R, Kerr K, Morgan RD, Lo Russo G, Garassino M, Morgillo F, et al. Immune checkpoint
blockade: a new era for non-small cell lung cancer. Curr Oncol Rep. 2016;18(9):59.

- 123. Onitilo AA, Wittig JA. Principles of immunotherapy in melanoma. Surg Clin North Am. 2020;100(1):161–73.
- 124. Femia D, Prinzi N, Anichini A, Mortarini R, Nichetti F, Corti F, et al. Treatment of advanced Merkel cell carcinoma: current therapeutic options and novel immunotherapy approaches. Target Oncol. 2018;13(5):567–82.
- 125. Mehnert JM, Rugo HS, O'Neil BH, Santoro A, Schellens JHM, Cohen RB, et al. Pembrolizumab for patients with PD-L1-positive advanced carcinoid or pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: results from the KEYNOTE-028 study. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(Suppl_5):v142–57. https://doi.org/10.1093/ annonc/mdx36.
- 126. Strosberg JR, Mizuno N, Doi T, Grande E, Delord JP, Shapira-Frommer R, et al. Efficacy and safety of pembrolizumab in previously treated advanced neuroendocrine tumors: results from the phase 2 KEYNOTE-158 study. Clin Cancer Res. 2020;26(9):2124–30.
- 127. Yao JC, Strosberg J, Fazio N, Pavel ME, Ruszniewski P, Bergsland E, et al. Activity & safety of spartalizumab (PDR001) in patients (pts) with advanced neuroendocrine tumors (NET) of gastro-intestinal (GI), or thoracic (T) origin & gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma (GEP NEC) who have progressed on prior treatment (TX). Ann Oncol. 2018;29(suppl_8):viii467–78. https://doi. org/10.1093/annonc/mdy293.

Gastric Neuroendocrine Tumors

Davide Ravizza and Giancarla Fiori

13.1 Introduction

Gastric neuroendocrine neoplasms (g-NENs) should be defined according to the World Health Organization classification and staged according to the Tumor Node Metastasis system. The former is based on histological differentiation and grade, which relies on the proliferation index assessed by the Ki67 and mitotic index [1, 2]. Therefore, g-NENs are classified in well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) and poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas (NECs). NETs show a low to high proliferation grade, whereas NECs, by definition, are high-grade neoplasms [1].

Gastric neuroendocrine tumors (g-NETs), known as gastric carcinoid, were originally regarded as rare, but over the last few decades, their incidence has been growing (sevenfold to tenfold over the last 30 years) [3–5]. The increased incidence, frequently with lesions at early stage, may essentially be a consequence of the widespread use of endoscopy and imaging studies, improved immunohistochemical staining and increased awareness of the diagnosis [5, 6].

Recent epidemiological data show that g-NETs represent 6.9–8.7% of all gastrointesti-

Division of Endoscopy, European Institute of Oncology (IEO), IRCCS, Milan, Italy e-mail: davide.ravizza@ieo.it nal (GI) NETs and 0.3–1.8% of all gastric tumors [3, 6–11]. However, in a prospective Austrian study, g-NETs accounted for 23% of all NETs [10]. According to the last US epidemiological data (Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results - SEER), the age standardized incidence rate of g-NETs is approximately 0.4/100,000/ year [12].

Most of the g-NETs develop from enterochromaffin-like (ECL) cells while a small proportion develop from non-ECL cells of gastric mucosa. Histologically, the diagnosis is confirmed by positive immunohistochemical staining of chromogranin A (CgA) and synaptophysin [13].

Gastric NETs are generally slow growing and often indolent neoplasms but can also be very aggressive and metastasize widely [11, 14–16]. They are divided into three types with different pathophysiology, clinical characteristics, aggressiveness, and prognosis (Tables 13.1 and 13.2) [17]. Type I and type II are associated with chronic hypergastrinemia causing ECL cells hypertrophy/hyperplasia and, ultimately, ECL cell NETs development [18]. In the former, the presence of a body chronic atrophic gastritis (CAG), mainly autoimmune, leads to achlorhydria which induces an appropriate hypergastrinemia [19, 20]. In the latter, the hypergastrinemia is inappropriate because it occurs in the presence of gastric acid hypersecretion, and it is due to an ectopic gastrin-producing G cell neoplasia

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_13

Check for updates

D. Ravizza (🖂) · G. Fiori

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

	Туре І	Type II	Type III
Prevalence (%)	70–80	5-6	15-20
Gender	Females	Females = males	Males
Age at diagnosis (years)	50-70	>50	>50
Associated conditions	CAG	Gastrinomas (ZES)	None
Other syndromes	Autoimmune polyglandular syndrome	MEN-1	None
Serum gastrin levels	Very high	Very high	Normal
Gastric pH	High	Low	Normal
Risk of metastases (%)	<10	10–30	50-100
Treatment	EMR, ESD or surgery	EMR, ESD or surgery	ESD or surgery
Tumor-related deaths (%)	None	<10	25-30

Table 13.1 Clinical characteristics of gastric neuroendocrine tumors

CAG chronic atrophic gastritis, ZES Zollinger–Ellison syndrome, MEN-1 multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1, EMR endoscopic mucosal resection, ESD endoscopic submucosal dissection

	Type I	Type II	Type III
Cell of origin	ECL	ECL	ECL in most cases
Gastric mucosa	Atrophic ECL hyperplasia	Hypertrophic ECL hyperplasia	Normal
Endoscopic appearance	Polypoid/subepithelial	Polypoid/subepithelial	Polypoid/subepithelial
Location	Body and fundus	Body and fundus	Any region
Number	Multiple	Multiple	Single
Size (mm)	≤10	≤10	Often >20
Differentiation	Well differentiated	Well differentiated	Well differentiated
Grading	G1/G2	G1/G2	G1/G2/G3
Depth of invasion	Mucosa/submucosa	Mucosa/submucosa	Any depth
Angioinvasion (%)	Rare	<10	> 50

 Table 13.2
 Endoscopic and pathological characteristics of gastric neuroendocrine tumors

ECL enterochromaffin-like cells

(gastrinoma) in the context of a Zollinger–Ellison syndrome (ZES), almost exclusively associated with a multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN-1) [21–24].

Although proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) can induce ECL cell hyperplasia, only rare cases of well-differentiated g-NETs developing after long-term PPI use are reported in the literature [25].

Type III g-NETs are not associated with any background gastric pathology, and serum fast gastrin levels are normal. These neoplasms have a more aggressive clinical behavior mimicking that of gastric adenocarcinoma [11, 26]. Occasionally, they are associated with an atypical carcinoid syndrome [4, 27, 28].

Gastric NECs are highly aggressive and, usually, at an advanced stage at the time of presentation. They are rare and solitary, mainly diagnosed in men over 60 years of age. NECs are high-grade and poorly differentiated epithelial neoplasms showing neuroendocrine differentiation by morphology and immunohistochemistry. Genomic evidence suggest that NETs and NECs are unrelated neoplasms. They have the worst prognosis among all g-NENs with 50% of the patients dying within 12 months [13, 29–32].

13.2 Clinical Presentation and Prognosis

13.2.1 Type I Gastric Neuroendocrine Tumors

Type I g-NETs are the most common, accounting for 75–80% of cases. They develop in response to hypergastrinemia because of achlorhydria secondary to autoimmune CAG where gastric acid-producing parietal cells are destroyed by an autoimmune process [19]. Less frequently, they can also arise in the setting of *Helicobacter pylori*-induced CAG [33].

Type I g-NETs mostly occur in women in the fifth and seventh decades, although with the more extensive use of endoscopy, they are increasingly diagnosed at younger age, mainly in patients with multiple autoimmune disease (most frequently autoimmune thyroid disease and type I diabetes) [34, 35].

Most of the time, type I g-NETs are incidentally observed during endoscopic procedure in patients with macrocytic or iron deficiency anemia. In fact, gastric parietal cell loss in CAG impairs iron and vitamin B_{12} absorption through a reduced acid output and intrinsic factor availability. Moreover, patients may complain of dysmotility-like dyspepsia (due to slow gastric emptying associated with CAG) or other gastrointestinal symptoms [36–39].

Endoscopically, they generally present as smooth, rounded, subepithelial, or polypoid multiple lesions in the gastric fundus or gastric body with or without central depression and ulceration [40] (Figs. 13.1 and 13.2). Gastric folds are reduced, the mucosa is atrophic, and the NETs are usually less than 10 mm in size although they can be identified only in biopsies in 22.2% of patients [41]. At endoscopic ultrasonography (EUS) g-NETs appear as hypoechoic homogeneous lesions with clear and regular margins, usually placed in the first three echo layers of the gastric wall (the mucosa and the submucosa) (Fig. 13.3) [42].

Type I g-NETs are well-differentiated NENs, they have a low to moderate proliferation grade and show a very low malignant potential with an excellent prognosis and a 5-year survival rate of almost 100% [43]. However, rare cases of metastatic spread and



Fig. 13.2 Multiple type I g-NETs with marked atrophy of the surrounding mucosa



Fig. 13.1 A typical endoscopic appearance of type I g-NET with a rich superficial vascular supply



Fig. 13.3 Type I g-NET at endoscopic ultrasonography. A well-demarcated hypoechoic lesion with regular borders, placed in the first three echo layers of the gastric wall (the mucosa and the submucosa)

extraordinary tumor-related death at followup have been described [11, 14–16].

13.2.2 Type II Gastric Neuroendocrine Tumors

Type II g-NETs are the least common, accounting for 5–6% of cases. They develop in response to hypergastrinemia in the setting of hyperchlorhydria due to neoplastic secretion from gastrinomas, mostly in ZES-MEN1 patients, rarely in sporadic ZES [21–24]. For this reason, in type II g-NET patients, a screening for other associated tumors in the pituitary and parathyroid is required. Germline testing for MEN-1 should be considered. Type II g-NETs are equally frequent in men and women, with a clinical presentation characterized by severe peptic disease and diarrhea, both caused by an excessive gastric acid production [4, 44]. Endoscopically, they have the same presentation of type I g-NETs but with a hypertrophic background mucosa gastric (Fig. 13.4).

Type II g-NETs are well-differentiated NENs with a low to moderate proliferation grade, but unlike type I, they show a more aggressive behavior, with an increased metastatic potential (10–30% of cases) [4]. The 5-year survival rate of these patients is good (70–90%) although their prognosis is dominated by the behavior of the concomitant gastrinoma [45].

13.2.3 Type III Gastric Neuroendocrine Tumors

Type III g-NETs account for 15–20% of cases. They are generally observed in male patients over the fifth decade and are not associated with hypergastrinemia or any background gastric mucosa pathology. These NETs develop from ECL cells in most cases, in the absence of gastric mucosa ECL cells hyperplasia.

It is not uncommon that type III g-NETs diagnosis is made in asymptomatic patients when searching for a primary tumor in the setting of liver metastases of unknown origin. However, patients usually complain of pain, weight loss, and iron deficiency anemia as seen in adenocarcinoma of the stomach [29].

Mostly non-functioning, type III g-NETs are infrequently associated with an atypical carcinoid syndrome due to histamine production [4, 27, 28].

Endoscopically, they are generally larger than 2 cm and solitary with an infiltrative growth pattern, arising everywhere in the stomach on a normal-looking gastric mucosa (Fig. 13.5).



Fig. 13.4 A type II g-NET with significantly hypertrophic adjacent gastric folds in a patient with Zollinger– Ellison syndrome and multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1



Fig. 13.5 A type III g-NET of the proximal gastric body. The lesion is larger than 25 mm, sessile, with a broad base and central depressed region

Type III g-NETs are well-differentiated NENs with a low to high proliferation grade. Frequently, at diagnosis local and distant metastases are observed (>50%). Type III g-NETs show the worst prognosis among all g-NETs with a 5-year survival rate of less than 35% [11, 17, 26, 30, 34, 46].

13.3 Diagnosis and Tumor Staging

Upper GI endoscopy with careful evaluation of the tumors is the gold standard in diagnosing g-NETs. In addition to assess site, number, and size of the lesions, it allows their adequate pathological diagnosis and characterization by the biotic sampling. Multiple random antrum, corpus, and fundus biopsies should also be taken to search for etiologic orientation, such as the presence of CAG (whose diagnosis is essential to define type I g-NETs), and to assess the presence of ECL cell hyperplasia and Helicobacter pylori infection. In type II g-NETs, upper GI endoscopy is also necessary to search for duodenal gastrinomas and to verify adequate control of gastric hypersecretion (healing of peptic disease) [47-49].

Endoscopic ultrasonography is recommended in g-NETs that appear resectable, except for lesions <10 mm in size, to define parietal invasion and regional lymph nodes status. Furthermore, it allows lymph node cytological assessment by fine needle aspiration. Moreover, in ZES-MEN1 patients with normal conventional imaging studies, EUS has a pivotal role to search for small pancreatic gastrinomas [47–50].

Contrast-enhanced abdominopelvic computerized tomography (CT) scan and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) with gadolinium-enhanced and diffusion-weighted sequences are of very limited value for small type I and II g-NETs. However, they are mandatory in all patients with an increased risk of regional/distant tumor spreading such as type I and II g-NET patients with a tumor size ≥ 10 mm and/or muscularis propria invasion and type III g-NET patients [15, 35, 49]. Transabdominal ultrasonography can be used in situations with a very low risk of local or distant metastases. Somatostatin-receptor imaging [Somatostatin-receptor scintigraphy and 68Ga-DOTA positron-emitting tomography (PET)] should be performed in all g-NETs associated with liver metastases or if there is concern for metastatic disease or lymph node involvement [35, 49]. 18Fluorodeoxyglucose-PET is helpful in higher grade g-NETs, and its positivity is an independent poor prognostic factor [49, 51].

Laboratory tests should be performed for diagnosis and during follow-up. The measurement of gastrin values is crucial for diagnostic purposes. In patients with type I and II g-NETs, serum gastrin levels are always elevated differently from patients with type III who have normal serum gastrin levels. Hypergastrinemia is also observed in approximately one third of patients with NECs. Gastrin measurement during follow-up is not necessary. It is worth to keep in mind that PPIs alter serum gastrin levels whose dosage should be preferably performed 14 days after the interruption of these drugs (except in ZES patients, in whom PPIs must not be stopped to prevent rebound acid secretion, possibly leading to peptic ulceration and GI bleeding) [35, 52, 53].

Serum CgA levels are always elevated in type I and II g-NETs because of the hypergastrinemiainduced ECL cells hypertrophy/hyperplasia. For this reason, the measurement of this biochemical marker is not necessary neither for the diagnosis nor during the follow-up of these patients. However, in patients with type III g-NETs in which serum gastrin levels are normal and liver metastases are frequently observed, plasma CgA may be useful [35]. In fact, it is well known that CgA has a higher sensitivity for metastatic NETs in comparison with localized NETs [54]. CgA false-positive results may be observed during treatment with PPIs or in patients with heart disease and severe kidney failure [55]. As well as serum gastrin levels, serum CgA evaluation should be preferably performed 14 days after PPI interruption (see the above comment about PPI withdrawal) [54, 56].

Urinary 5-hydroxy-indolacetic acid dosage should also be considered in type III g-NET patients in the rare cases with associated symptoms suggestive of the carcinoid syndrome.

In patients with type I g-NETs anti-parietal cell and anti-intrinsic factor antibodies should be evaluated in the context of autoimmune CAG. *Helicobacter pylori* should be searched because its eradication may modify the natural history of gastric atrophy [17, 57].

It must be highlighted that is of paramount importance that patients with type I g-NETs, particularly if elderly, are screened for iron and vitamin B_{12} deficiency at diagnosis and mainly during follow-up. In fact, iron deficiency anemia has been found to be the presenting feature in more the 50% of CAG patients, whereas vitamin B_{12} deficiency is frequently observed in these patients and can be responsible of significant health consequences (neurological, cognitive, psychotic, and mood impairment) [57].

Thyroid function, thyroid peroxidase antibodies, and thyroglobulin antibodies should be assessed in type I g-NETs because of the possible association of autoimmune CAG with autoimmune thyroiditis [41, 57].

13.4 Treatment and Follow-Up

An expert NEN-dedicated multidisciplinary team should be involved to individualize treatment.

13.4.1 Localized Disease

13.4.1.1 Type I Gastric Neuroendocrine Tumors

Due to the indolent course of type I g-NETs, a conservative management is to be preferred over surgery [48]. In these patients, tumor size ≥ 1 cm is a potential predictor of lymph nodal metastases and should be the lesion characteristic considered first when their management is planned [14, 15].

Lesions <1 cm should be removed without any additional evaluation, although nothing suggests a less favorable evolution if they are left in place and followed up [58]. Endoscopic resection is the treatment of choice for these tumors, ranging from polypectomy and endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR) to endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) [48].

Complete resection of g-NETs is difficult with conventional polypectomy because most of them are not confined to the mucosa but, rather, they invade the submucosa, resulting in frequent involvement of the resection margins. This might account for the high recurrence rates observed in some series [41]. EMR and ESD can satisfactorily achieve the en bloc resection of these lesions without any difference in complication (bleeding and perforation) incidence, although ESD is more time-consuming than EMR [59-62]. However, the rate of vertical resection margin involvement has been observed to be significantly lower in the ESD-treated lesions than in those treated with EMR [61, 62]. Moreover, EMR and ESD might be used to resect remnant tumor after an initial incomplete endoscopic resection as observed in incompletely resected rectal NETs [63, 64].

Recently, a novel endoscopic therapeutic technique, the endoscopic full-thickness resection (EFTR), has been used for the treatment of gastric subepithelial tumors. ETFR allows a fullthickness resection of the gastric wall showing interesting results for the treatment g-NETs [65].

In the case of type I g-NETs ≥ 1 cm, CT scan or MRI is necessary to rule out lymph nodal and/ or distant metastases. EUS evaluation is mandatory to exclude invasion beyond the submucosal layer or regional lymph nodal invasion. If the lesions do not reach the muscularis propria layer, then endoscopic resection, preferably using the ESD technique, should be performed [48].

After endoscopic resection, an endoscopic surveillance is required. First, because type I g-NETs are recurring disease. Second, because of the underlying CAG, to monitor the risk of development of intestinal metaplasia, dysplasia, and adenocarcinoma [66, 67]. Endoscopic surveillance is suggested every 12 months for patients with recurring neoplasms and every 24 months for those with non-recurring lesions [35, 41].

Surgery (wedge resection or total gastrectomy with lymphadenectomy) should be considered for lesions not amenable to endoscopic resection (lymph nodal and/or distant spread, extensive multifocal diffusion), in case of involvement beyond the submucosa (at EUS or at pathological examination of an endoscopically resected tumor), in the presence of positive margins after endoscopic resection and if vascular and/or lymphatic invasion are observed [48]. Any surgical treatment should be planned considering patientrelated parameters (age, comorbidity) and the well-known usually indolent course of type I g-NETs also in the presence of recurrence and local or distant spread [14, 41, 59].

Antrectomy is a further surgical option for the treatment of type I g-NETs. It can be considered for extensive recurrent or multifocal lesions not amenable of less invasive treatment [48]. Antrectomy removes the source of the hypergastrinemia which is the cause of ECL cell hypertrophy/hyperplasia and, ultimately, ECL cell NET development [28]. Patients treated with antrectomy have a lower risk of recurrence and need fewer follow-up endoscopies than those treated with endoscopic resection [68]. However, given the evidence that some lesions recur after hypergastrinemia interruption, the improvement in endoscopic techniques, the complications and side effects of surgery, and the possibility of medical treatment, its use is debated and rarely practiced [48, 69].

Long acting somatostatin analogs (SSAs), because of their antiproliferative, antiangiogenetic, and antisecretive effects, are widely used as a medical treatment of both functioning and nonfunctioning NENs [70]. They inhibit gastrin release from antral G cells suppressing hypergastrinemia, the leading cause of ECL cell NET development, and directly inhibit endocrine cells proliferation. When administered continuously, SSAs have been demonstrated to reduce the number and size of type I g-NETs. However, after their withdrawal, lesions recur early and increase in size [71–76]. SSAs must be given by injection and are generally well tolerated, although some adverse drug reaction (ADR) such as diarrhea, headache, gallstones development, and hyperglycemia are non-infrequently observed [70]. Because of the high costs of SSAs, their ADR profile and the usually excellent prognosis of most type I g-NET patients, these drugs might be proposed in selected cases, as for recurrent or multifocal lesions and when endoscopic resection is not feasible or radical. Randomized controlled trials comparing SSA treatment efficacy to endoscopic management are needed. ENET guidelines suggest their use only according to expert opinion [35, 48].

Another potential medical option in type I g-NET treatment is Netazepide, an orally active, highly selective, competitive gastrin/cholecystokinin 2 receptor antagonist. In 16 patients treated once daily for 12 weeks, it significantly reduced the number of tumors, the size of the largest tumors, and the circulating CgA within the normal range. Serum gastrin values were unaffected. Netazepide is safe and well tolerated; however, the tumors regrow quickly after the drug is discontinued [77, 78]. The same results in terms of efficacy, safety, and tolerability were observed in 13 patients treated with netazepide daily for 52 weeks. It is interesting to note that also circulating CgA increased again after netazepide was stopped. ECL cells, both in g-NETs and in CAG, are the source of CgA, and its normalization is consistent with netazepide inhibiting ECL cell growth. Thus, CgA might be used to monitor treatment [79].

Despite these initial favorable experiences, placebo-controlled studies in a larger number of patients and for a longer time are needed to confirm the use of netazepide for the treatment of type I g-NETs.

13.4.1.2 Type II Gastric Neuroendocrine Tumors

Even more than in type I g-NETs, treatment strategy of type II g-NET patients should be planned in a NEN-dedicated multidisciplinary team. Their management needs to be individualized and to be approached in the context of MEN-1 syndrome whose treatment is first influenced by the presence of duodenal or pancreatic gastrinomas for whom surgical resection is recommended whenever it is possible.

Because of the more aggressive clinical behavior than type I g-NETs, type II should always be treated, and local or limited excision are recommended. Endoscopic resection is reserved for lesions limited to the gastric wall and without invasion beyond the submucosa otherwise surgery is recommended. As in type I g-NETs, further treatments will be evaluated in relation to the pathological examination of the resected lesions. For the endoscopically successfully managed patients, endoscopic surveillance is suggested yearly [18, 35, 48].

Some case series have shown that SSA treatment resulted in reduction in size and number of type II g-NETs [80].

In type II g-NET patients, high-dose PPI therapy is mandatory to control acid hypersecretion and to prevent life-threatening complications from peptic ulceration [81].

13.4.1.3 Type III Gastric Neuroendocrine Tumors

At diagnosis, most of type III g-NETs show invasion beyond the submucosa, lymphoinvasion, angioinvasion, and local or distant spread. They should be managed aggressively following the same guidelines for gastric adenocarcinomas. Resectable disease often undergoes partial or total gastrectomy with lymphadenectomy [48].

Endoscopic management by means of EMR or better with ESD for small (generally ≤ 2 cm) type III g-NETs might be considered as initial treatment if an appropriate and careful preoperative staging is unremarkable. The pathological examination of the resected lesion will dictate the need for further treatments [60, 82, 83]. A close endoscopic and radiological (CT scan or MRI) follow-up is then mandatory for these patients.

13.4.2 Advanced Disease

Treatment options for advanced g-NETs, include SSAs, systemic chemotherapy and molecular targeted agents. Liver metastases can be treated also with locoregional therapies (transarterial chemoembolization and radiofrequency ablation), peptide-receptor radionuclide therapy, and surgery [84].

The treatment strategy should be planned on a case-by-case basis and discussed by an expert

NEN-dedicated multidisciplinary team. Previous treatment, cumulative toxicity, the impact of treatment on patient's quality of life and the long survival of g-NETs must properly weighted.

13.5 Conclusions

Gastric neuroendocrine tumor diagnosis is on the rise, and they are more frequently diagnosed at an early stage, allowing a conservative approach for most of them. Based on pathophysiology, three types of g-NETs are recognized. Type I are the most frequent and associated with CAG. They are slow-growing neoplasms with an excellent prognosis also in the presence of local or distant spread which is infrequently observed. Endoscopy is a powerful and suitable technique to manage most of them in terms of both diagnosis/staging and treatment. Because of CAG, it is of paramount clinical relevance to screen type I g-NET patients for micronutrients deficiency and gastric adenocarcinoma development.

Types II and III g-NETS are less frequently observed, but they behave more aggressively. The former, usually managed as type I, should be approached in the context of MEN-1 syndrome. The latter have the worst prognosis among all g-NETs. They are surgically managed although the endoscopic resection may be adequate in selected cases.

References

- 1. WHO Classification of Tumours. Digestive system tumours, vol. 1. 5th ed. Lyon: IARC; 2019.
- Bierley J, Gospodarowicz MK, Wittekind C, International Union Against Cancer. TNM classification of malignant tumours. 8th ed. Oxford; Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell; 2017.
- Modlin IM, Oberg K, Chung DC, Jensen RT, de Herder WW, Thakker RV, Caplin M, Delle Fave G, Kaltsas GA, Krenning EP, Moss SF, Nilsson O, Rindi G, Salazar R, Ruszniewski P, Sundin A. Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Lancet Oncol. 2008;9(1):61–72. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1470-2045(07)70410-2.
- Kaltsas GA, Besser GM, Grossman AB. The diagnosis and medical management of advanced neuroendocrine

tumors. Endocr Rev. 2004;25(3):458–511. https://doi. org/10.1210/er.2003-0014.

- Kidd M, Gustafsson B, Modlin IM. Gastric carcinoids (neuroendocrine neoplasms). Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 2013;42(2):381–97. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gtc.2013.01.009.
- Kaltsas G, Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Alexandraki KI, Thomas D, Tsolakis AV, Gross D, Grossman AB. Current concepts in the diagnosis and management of type 1 gastric neuroendocrine neoplasms. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2014;81(2):157–68. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cen.12476.
- O'Connor JM, Marmissolle F, Bestani C, Pesce V, Belli S, Dominichini E, Mendez G, Price P, Giacomi N, Pairola A, Loria FS, Huertas E, Martin C, Patane K, Poleri C, Rosenberg M, Cabanne A, Kujaruk M, Caino A, Zamora V, Mariani J, Dioca M, Parma P, Podesta G, Andriani O, Gondolesi G, Roca E. Observational study of patients with gastroenteropancreatic and bronchial neuroendocrine tumors in Argentina: Results from the large database of a multi-disciplinary group clinical multicenter study. Mol Clin Oncol. 2014;2(5):673–84. https://doi.org/10.3892/mco.2014.332.
- Hallet J, Law CH, Cukier M, Saskin R, Liu N, Singh S. Exploring the rising incidence of neuroendocrine tumors: a population-based analysis of epidemiology, metastatic presentation, and outcomes. Cancer. 2015;121(4):589–97. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.29099.
- Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A, Dagohoy C, Leary C, Mares JE, Abdalla EK, Fleming JB, Vauthey JN, Rashid A, Evans DB. One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(18):3063–72. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2007.15.4377.
- Niederle MB, Hackl M, Kaserer K, Niederle B. Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours: the current incidence and staging based on the WHO and European Neuroendocrine tumour society classification: an analysis based on prospectively collected parameters. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2010;17(4):909– 18. https://doi.org/10.1677/ERC-10-0152.
- Modlin IM, Lye KD, Kidd M. A 50-year analysis of 562 gastric carcinoids: small tumor or larger problem? Am J Gastroenterol. 2004;99(1):23–32. https:// doi.org/10.1046/j.1572-0241.2003.04027.x.
- Dasari A, Shen C, Halperin D, Zhao B, Zhou S, Xu Y, Shih T, Yao JC. Trends in the incidence, prevalence, and survival outcomes in patients with Neuroendocrine tumors in the United States. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(10):1335–42. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamaoncol.2017.0589.
- Assarzadegan N, Montgomery E. What is new in 2019 World Health Organization (WHO) classification of tumors of the digestive system: review of selected updates on neuroendocrine neoplasms, appendiceal tumors, and molecular testing. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2020. https://doi.org/10.5858/arpa.2019-0665-RA.

- 14. Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Thomas D, Strosberg JR, Pape UF, Felder S, Tsolakis AV, Alexandraki KI, Fraenkel M, Saiegh L, Reissman P, Kaltsas G, Gross DJ. Metastatic type 1 gastric carcinoid: a real threat or just a myth? World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19(46):8687–95. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg. v19.i46.8687.
- Tsolakis AV, Ragkousi A, Vujasinovic M, Kaltsas G, Daskalakis K. Gastric neuroendocrine neoplasms type 1: a systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol. 2019;25(35):5376–87. https://doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v25.i35.5376.
- 16. Spampatti MP, Massironi S, Rossi RE, Conte D, Sciola V, Ciafardini C, Ferrero S, Lodi L, Peracchi M. Unusually aggressive type 1 gastric carcinoid: a case report with a review of the literature. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;24(5):589–93. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MEG.0b013e328350fae8.
- Rindi G, Luinetti O, Cornaggia M, Capella C, Solcia E. Three subtypes of gastric argyrophil carcinoid and the gastric neuroendocrine carcinoma: a clinicopathologic study. Gastroenterology. 1993;104(4):994– 1006. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-5085(93)90266-f.
- Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Alexandraki KI, Angelousi A, Chatzellis E, Sougioultzis S, Kaltsas G. Gastric carcinoids. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2018;47(3):645–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecl.2018.04.013.
- Vannella L, Sbrozzi-Vanni A, Lahner E, Bordi C, Pilozzi E, Corleto VD, Osborn JF, Delle Fave G, Annibale B. Development of type I gastric carcinoid in patients with chronic atrophic gastritis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;33(12):1361–9. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2036.2011.04659.x.
- Dias AR, Azevedo BC, Alban LBV, Yagi OK, Ramos MFKP, Jacob CE, Barchi LC, Cecconello I, Ribeiro U Jr, Zilberstein B. Gastric neuroendocrine tumor: review and update. Arq Bras Cir Dig. 2017;30(2):150– 4. https://doi.org/10.1590/0102-6720201700020016.
- Cadiot G, Lehy T, Mignon M. Gastric endocrine cell proliferation and fundic argyrophil carcinoid tumors in patients with the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Acta Oncol. 1993;32(2):135–40. https://doi. org/10.3109/02841869309083902.
- Norton JA, Melcher ML, Gibril F, Jensen RT. Gastric carcinoid tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia-1 patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome can be symptomatic, demonstrate aggressive growth, and require surgical treatment. Surgery. 2004;136(6):1267–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2004.06.057.
- Gibril F, Schumann M, Pace A, Jensen RT. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 and Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: a prospective study of 107 cases and comparison with 1009 cases from the literature. Medicine (Baltimore). 2004;83(1):43–83. Erratum in: Medicine (Baltimore). 2004 May;83(3):175. https://doi. org/10.1097/01.md.0000112297.72510.32.
- Cadiot G, Vissuzaine C, Potet F, Mignon M. Fundic argyrophil carcinoid tumor in a patient with sporadic-type Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Dig Dis

Sci. 1995;40(6):1275-8. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF02065537.

- Cavalcoli F, Zilli A, Conte D, Ciafardini C, Massironi S. Gastric neuroendocrine neoplasms and proton pump inhibitors: fact or coincidence? Scand J Gastroenterol. 2015;50(11):1397–403. https://doi.org /10.3109/00365521.2015.1054426.
- 26. Rindi G, Bordi C, Rappel S, La Rosa S, Stolte M, Solcia E. Gastric carcinoids and neuroendocrine carcinomas: pathogenesis, pathology, and behavior. World J Surg. 1996;20(2):168–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s002689900026.
- Bordi C, D'Adda T, Azzoni C, Canavese G, Brandi ML. Gastrointestinal endocrine tumors: recent developments. Endocr Pathol. 1998;9:99–115. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF02782603.
- Basuroy R, Srirajaskanthan R, Prachalias A, Quaglia A, Ramage JK. Review article: the investigation and management of gastric neuroendocrine tumours. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2014;39(10):1071–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.12698.
- Scherübl H, Cadiot G, Jensen RT, Rösch T, Stölzel U, Klöppel G. Neuroendocrine tumors of the stomach (gastric carcinoids) are on the rise: small tumors, small problems? Endoscopy. 2010;42(8): 664–71. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0030-1255564.
- Rindi G, Azzoni C, La Rosa S, Klersy C, Paolotti D, Rappel S, Stolte M, Capella C, Bordi C, Solcia E. ECL cell tumor and poorly differentiated endocrine carcinoma of the stomach: prognostic evaluation by pathological analysis. Gastroenterology. 1999;116(3):532–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0016-5085(99)70174-5.
- La Rosa S, Vanoli A. Gastric neuroendocrine neoplasms and related precursor lesions. J Clin Pathol. 2014;67(11):938–48. https://doi.org/10.1136/ jclinpath-2014-202515.
- 32. Li TT, Qiu F, Qian ZR, Wan J, Qi XK, Wu BY. Classification, clinicopathologic features and treatment of gastric neuroendocrine tumors. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(1):118–25. https://doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i1.118.
- 33. Sato Y, Iwafuchi M, Ueki J, Yoshimura A, Mochizuki T, Motoyama H, Sugimura K, Honma T, Narisawa R, Ichida T, Asakura H, Van Thiel DH. Gastric carcinoid tumors without autoimmune gastritis in Japan: a relationship with helicobacter pylori infection. Dig Dis Sci. 2002;47(3):579–85. https://doi.org/10.102 3/a:1017972204219.
- Modlin IM, Lye KD, Kidd M. Carcinoid tumors of the stomach. Surg Oncol. 2003;12(2):153–72. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0960-7404(03)00034-3.
- 35. Delle Fave G, Kwekkeboom DJ, Van Cutsem E, Rindi G, Kos-Kudla B, Knigge U, Sasano H, Tomassetti P, Salazar R, Ruszniewski P, Barcelona Consensus Conference Participants. ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of patients with gastroduodenal neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95(2):74–87. https://doi.org/10.1159/000335595.

- Borch K, Renvall H, Liedberg G. Gastric endocrine cell hyperplasia and carcinoid tumors in pernicious anemia. Gastroenterology. 1985;88(3):638–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-5085(85)90131-3.
- 37. Stockbrügger RW, Menon GG, Beilby JO, Mason RR, Cotton PB. Gastroscopic screening in 80 patients with pernicious anaemia. Gut. 1983;24(12):1141–7. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.24.12.1141.
- Thomas RM, Baybick JH, Elsayed AM, Sobin LH. Gastric carcinoids. An immunohistochemical and clinicopathologic study of 104 patients. Cancer. 1994;73(8):2053–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(19940415)73:8<2053::aid-cncr2820730807>3. 0.co;2-0.
- 39. Marignani M, Delle Fave G, Mecarocci S, Bordi C, Angeletti S, D'Ambra G, Aprile MR, Corleto VD, Monarca B, Annibale B. High prevalence of atrophic body gastritis in patients with unexplained microcytic and macrocytic anemia: a prospective screening study. Am J Gastroenterol. 1999;94(3):766–72. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.1999.00949.x.
- Sato Y. Endoscopic diagnosis and management of type I neuroendocrine tumors. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;7(4):346–53. https://doi.org/10.4253/ wjge.v7.i4.346.
- Merola E, Sbrozzi-Vanni A, Panzuto F, D'Ambra G, Di Giulio E, Pilozzi E, Capurso G, Lahner E, Bordi C, Annibale B, Delle FG. Type I gastric carcinoids: a prospective study on endoscopic management and recurrence rate. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95(3):207–13. https://doi.org/10.1159/000329043.
- Chin JL, O'Toole D. Diagnosis and management of upper gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Endosc. 2017;50(6):520–9. https://doi.org/10.5946/ ce.2017.181.
- Crosby DA, Donohoe CL, Fitzgerald L, Muldoon C, Hayes B, O'Toole D, Reynolds JV. Gastric neuroendocrine tumours. Dig Surg. 2012;29(4):331–48. https://doi.org/10.1159/000342988.
- 44. Ito T, Igarashi H, Jensen RT. Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: recent advances and controversies. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2013;29(6):650–61. https://doi. org/10.1097/MOG.0b013e328365efb1.
- O'Toole D, Delle Fave G, Jensen RT. Gastric and duodenal neuroendocrine tumours. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2012;26(6):719–35. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bpg.2013.01.002.
- 46. Borch K, Ahrén B, Ahlman H, Falkmer S, Granérus G, Grimelius L. Gastric carcinoids: biologic behavior and prognosis after differentiated treatment in relation to type. Ann Surg. 2005;242(1):64–73. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.sla.0000167862.52309.7d.
- 47. Attili F, Capurso G, Vanella G, Fuccio L, Delle Fave G, Costamagna G, Larghi A. Diagnostic and therapeutic role of endoscopy in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Dig Liver Dis. 2014;46(1):9–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dld.2013.04.007.
- 48. Delle Fave G, O'Toole D, Sundin A, Taal B, Ferolla P, Ramage JK, Ferone D, Ito T, Weber W, Zheng-Pei Z, De Herder WW, Pascher A,

Ruszniewski P, Vienna Consensus Conference Participants. ENETS consensus guidelines update for gastroduodenal neuroendocrine neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(2):119–24. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000443168.

- 49. de Mestier L, Lepage C, Baudin E, Coriat R, Courbon F, Couvelard A, Do Cao C, Frampas E, Gaujoux S, Gincul R, Goudet P, Lombard-Bohas C, Poncet G, Smith D, Ruszniewski P, Lecomte T, Bouché O, Walter T, Cadiot G, Thésaurus National de Cancérologie Digestive (TNCD). Digestive Neuroendocrine Neoplasms (NEN): French Intergroup clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up (SNFGE, GTE, RENATEN, TENPATH, FFCD, GERCOR, UNICANCER, SFCD, SFED, SFRO, SFR). Dig Liver Dis. 2020;52(5):473–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dld.2020.02.011.
- Zilli A, Arcidiacono PG, Conte D, Massironi S. Clinical impact of endoscopic ultrasonography on the management of neuroendocrine tumors: lights and shadows. Dig Liver Dis. 2018;50(1):6–14. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.dld.2017.10.007.
- Bahri H, Laurence L, Edeline J, Leghzali H, Devillers A, Raoul JL, Cuggia M, Mesbah H, Clement B, Boucher E, Garin E. High prognostic value of 18F-FDG PET for metastatic gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: a long-term evaluation. J Nucl Med. 2014;55(11):1786–90. https://doi.org/10.2967/ jnumed.114.144386.
- 52. Singh Ospina N, Donegan D, Rodriguez-Gutierrez R, Al-Hilli Z, Young WF Jr. Assessing for multiple endocrine Neoplasia type 1 in patients evaluated for Zollinger-Ellison syndrome-clues to a safer diagnostic process. Am J Med. 2017;130(5):603–5. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.11.035.
- Poitras P, Gingras MH, Rehfeld JF. The Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: dangers and consequences of interrupting antisecretory treatment. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;10(2):199–202. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cgh.2011.08.012.
- 54. Oberg K, Couvelard A, Delle Fave G, Gross D, Grossman A, Jensen RT, Pape UF, Perren A, Rindi G, Ruszniewski P, Scoazec JY, Welin S, Wiedenmann B, Ferone D, Antibes Consensus Conference Participants. ENETS consensus guidelines for standard of care in neuroendocrine tumours: biochemical markers. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;105(3):201–11. https://doi.org/10.1159/000472254.
- 55. Vezzosi D, Walter T, Laplanche A, Raoul JL, Dromain C, Ruszniewski P, d'Herbomez M, Guigay J, Mitry E, Cadiot G, Leboulleux S, Lombard-Bohas C, Borson-Chazot F, Ducreux M, Baudin E. Chromogranin a measurement in metastatic well-differentiated gastro-enteropancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma: screening for false positives and a prospective follow-up study. Int J Biol Markers. 2011;26(2):94–101. https://doi.org/10.5301/JBM.2011.8327.
- Korse CM, Muller M, Taal BG. Discontinuation of proton pump inhibitors during assessment of chro-

mogranin a levels in patients with neuroendocrine tumours. Br J Cancer. 2011;105(8):1173–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2011.380.

- 57. Lahner E, Zagari RM, Zullo A, Di Sabatino A, Meggio A, Cesaro P, Lenti MV, Annibale B, Corazza GR. Chronic atrophic gastritis: natural history, diagnosis and therapeutic management. A position paper by the Italian Society of Hospital Gastroenterologists and Digestive Endoscopists [AIGO], the Italian Society of Digestive Endoscopy [SIED], the Italian Society of Gastroenterology [SIGE], and the Italian Society of Internal Medicine [SIMI]. Dig Liver Dis. 2019;51(12):1621–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dld.2019.09.016.
- Ravizza D, Fiori G, Trovato C, Fazio N, Bonomo G, Luca F, Bodei L, Pelosi G, Tamayo D, Crosta C. Longterm endoscopic and clinical follow-up of untreated type 1 gastric neuroendocrine tumours. Dig Liver Dis. 2007;39(6):537–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dld.2007.01.018.
- Uygun A, Kadayifci A, Polat Z, Yilmaz K, Gunal A, Demir H, Bagci S. Long-term results of endoscopic resection for type I gastric neuroendocrine tumors. J Surg Oncol. 2014;109(2):71–4. https://doi. org/10.1002/jso.23477.
- Chen WF, Zhou PH, Li QL, Xu MD, Yao LQ. Clinical impact of endoscopic submucosal dissection for gastric neuroendocrine tumors: a retrospective study from mainland China. Sci World J. 2012;2012:869769. https://doi.org/10.1100/2012/869769.
- 61. Kim HH, Kim GH, Kim JH, Choi MG, Song GA, Kim SE. The efficacy of endoscopic submucosal dissection of type I gastric carcinoid tumors compared with conventional endoscopic mucosal resection. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2014;2014:253860. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2014/253860.
- 62. Sato Y, Takeuchi M, Hashimoto S, Mizuno K, Kobayashi M, Iwafuchi M, Narisawa R, Aoyagi Y. Usefulness of endoscopic submucosal dissection for type I gastric carcinoid tumors compared with endoscopic mucosal resection. Hepatogastroenterology. 2013;60(126):1524–9. https://doi.org/10.5754/ hge121185.
- Zhou X, Xie H, Xie L, Li J, Cao W, Fu W. Endoscopic resection therapies for rectal neuroendocrine tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;29(2):259–68. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jgh.12395.
- 64. Jeon SM, Lee JH, Hong SP, Kim TI, Kim WH, Cheon JH. Feasibility of salvage endoscopic mucosal resection by using a cap for remnant rectal carcinoids after primary EMR. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;73(5): 1009–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2010.12.029.
- 65. Meier B, Schmidt A, Glaser N, Meining A, Walter B, Wannhoff A, Riecken B, Caca K. Endoscopic fullthickness resection of gastric subepithelial tumors with the gFTRD-system: a prospective pilot study (RESET trial). Surg Endosc. 2020;34(2):853–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00464-019-06839-2.

- 66. Chen WC, Warner RR, Ward SC, Harpaz N, Divino CM, Itzkowitz SH, Kim MK. Management and disease outcome of type I gastric neuroendocrine tumors: the Mount Sinai experience. Dig Dis Sci. 2015;60(4):996–1003. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-014-3410-1.
- 67. Pimentel-Nunes P, Libânio D, Marcos-Pinto R, Areia M, Leja M, Esposito G, Garrido M, Kikuste I, Megraud F, Matysiak-Budnik T, Annibale B, Dumonceau JM, Barros R, Fléjou JF, Carneiro F, van Hooft JE, Kuipers EJ, Dinis-Ribeiro M. Management of epithelial precancerous conditions and lesions in the stomach (MAPS II): European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE), European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group (EHMSG), European Society of Pathology (ESP), and Sociedade Portuguesa de Endoscopia Digestiva (SPED) guideline update 2019. Endoscopy. 2019;51(4):365–88. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-0859-1883.
- Jenny HE, Ogando PA, Fujitani K, Warner RR, Divino CM. Laparoscopic antrectomy: a safe and definitive treatment in managing type 1 gastric carcinoids. Am J Surg. 2016;211(4):778–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. amjsurg.2015.08.040.
- 69. Gladdy RA, Strong VE, Coit D, Allen PJ, Gerdes H, Shia J, Klimstra DS, Brennan MF, Tang LH. Defining surgical indications for type I gastric carcinoid tumor. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16(11):3154–60. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-009-0687-y.
- Eriksson B, Oberg K. Summing up 15 years of somatostatin analog therapy in neuroendocrine tumors: future outlook. Ann Oncol. 1999;10(Suppl 2):S31–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/10.suppl_2.s31.
- Massironi S, Zilli A, Fanetti I, Ciafardini C, Conte D, Peracchi M. Intermittent treatment of recurrent type-1 gastric carcinoids with somatostatin analogues in patients with chronic autoimmune atrophic gastritis. Dig Liver Dis. 2015;47(11):978–83. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.dld.2015.07.155.
- Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Kaltsas G, Gur C, Gal E, Thomas D, Fichman S, Alexandraki K, Barak D, Glaser B, Shimon I, Gross DJ. Long-acting somatostatin analogues are an effective treatment for type 1 gastric carcinoid tumours. Eur J Endocrinol. 2008;159(4):475–82. https://doi.org/10.1530/ EJE-08-0420.
- Campana D, Nori F, Pezzilli R, Piscitelli L, Santini D, Brocchi E, Corinaldesi R, Tomassetti P. Gastric endocrine tumors type I: treatment with long-acting somatostatin analogs. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2008;15(1):337–42. https://doi.org/10.1677/ERC-07-0251.
- 74. Jianu CS, Fossmark R, Syversen U, Hauso Ø, Fykse V, Waldum HL. Five-year follow-up of patients treated for 1 year with octreotide long-acting release for enterochromaffin-like cell carcinoids. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2011;46(4):456–63. https://doi.org/10.3109/00365521.2010.539255.

- Khuroo MS, Khuroo MS, Khuroo NS. Treatment of type I gastric neuroendocrine tumors with somatostatin analogs. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2010;25(3):548–54. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1746.2009.06131.x.
- 76. Thomas D, Tsolakis AV, Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Fraenkel M, Alexandraki K, Sougioultzis S, Gross DJ, Kaltsas G. Long-term follow-up of a large series of patients with type 1 gastric carcinoid tumors: data from a multicenter study. Eur J Endocrinol. 2013;168(2):185– 93. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-12-0836.
- 77. Fossmark R, Sørdal Ø, Jianu CS, Qvigstad G, Nordrum IS, Boyce M, Waldum HL. Treatment of gastric carcinoids type 1 with the gastrin receptor antagonist netazepide (YF476) results in regression of tumours and normalisation of serum chromogranin a. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2012;36(11–12):1067–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.12090.
- 78. Moore AR, Boyce M, Steele IA, Campbell F, Varro A, Pritchard DM. Netazepide, a gastrin receptor antagonist, normalises tumour biomarkers and causes regression of type 1 gastric neuroendocrine tumours in a nonrandomised trial of patients with chronic atrophic gastritis. PLoS One. 2013;8(10):e76462. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0076462.
- Boyce M, Moore AR, Sagatun L, Parsons BN, Varro A, Campbell F, Fossmark R, Waldum HL, Pritchard DM. Netazepide, a gastrin/cholecystokinin-2 receptor antagonist, can eradicate gastric neuroendocrine tumours in patients with autoimmune chronic atrophic gastritis. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2017;83(3):466– 75. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.13146.
- Tomassetti P, Migliori M, Caletti GC, Fusaroli P, Corinaldesi R, Gullo L. Treatment of type II gastric carcinoid tumors with somatostatin analogues. N Engl J Med. 2000;343(8):551–4. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM200008243430805.
- 81. Jensen RT, Cadiot G, Brandi ML, de Herder WW, Kaltsas G, Komminoth P, Scoazec JY, Salazar R, Sauvanet A, Kianmanesh R, Barcelona Consensus Conference Participants. ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms: functional pancreatic endocrine tumor syndromes. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95(2):98–119. https://doi. org/10.1159/000335591.
- Kwon YH, Jeon SW, Kim GH, Kim JI, Chung IK, Jee SR, Kim HU, Seo GS, Baik GH, Choi KD, Moon JS. Long-term follow up of endoscopic resection for type 3 gastric NET. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19(46):8703–8. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg. v19.i46.8703.
- Hirasawa T, Yamamoto N, Sano T. Is endoscopic resection appropriate for type 3 gastric neuroendocrine tumors? Retrospective multicenter study. Dig Endosc. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1111/den.13778.
- Ahmed M. Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors in 2020. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2020;12(8):791– 807. https://doi.org/10.4251/wjgo.v12.i8.791.

Treatment of Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors

14

Carlo Carnaghi and Elettra Merola

14.1 Introduction

This chapter focuses on the medical treatment of metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (PanNETs) not suitable for curative surgical treatment or loco-regional therapies. In this setting, medical treatment is the cornerstone for improving survival and preserving the quality of life.

Over the last 10 years, the landscape of medical treatment of PanNETs changed completely not only because of the availability of several new effective drugs but also for the better comprehension of tumor biology which emphasized that PanNETs are heterogeneous tumors requiring individualized approaches.

Presently, the clinical management of metastatic PanNETs is a challenge. The low number of randomized and sequence trials implies a low level of evidence for therapeutic options as the lack of predictive biomarkers of response and survival does not allow the patient's selection.

This algorithm and treatment combinations can be argued, and it is recommended to discuss

Oncology Unit, Humanitas Istituto Clinico Catanese, Misterbianco, Italy e-mail: carlo.carnaghi@ccocatania.it

E. Merola

Gastroenterology and Digestive Endoscopy Unit, Ospedale Santa Chiara, Trento, Italy PanNET patients in a dedicated and specialized multidisciplinary tumor board.

The different therapeutic medical options will be detailed below according to recent data.

14.2 Somatostatin Analogs

Somatostatin analogs (SSAs) are usually adopted as the first line in advanced gastroenteropancreatic NETs (GEP-NETs) expressing somatostatin receptors. Standard doses are octreotide LAR 30 mg every 4 weeks and lanreotide extendedrelease (autogel) 120 mg every 4 weeks.

Their antiproliferative effect in PanNETs G1-G2 is based on the results of the CLARINET trial [1], which included a subgroup of 91 patients with the pancreatic primary site and Ki67 up to 10% and suggested a benefit in the lanreotide arm when compared to placebo (median PFS, "not reached" vs. 12.1; HR, 0.58), with a good safety profile. Most of the adverse events were mild, mainly represented by diarrhea, hyperglycemia, and cholelithiasis. An ongoing trial enrolling only PanNETs with Ki67 < 10% treated with lanreotide will provide more details about tumor control by SSAs in this subset of patients (NCT03947762).

Although SSAs are currently adopted also for PanNETs with Ki67 > 10%, data about the efficacy of this therapy in this subgroup of patients are still scanty. From the real-world setting, Jann

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_14

Check for updates

C. Carnaghi (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

H [2] showed, in a retrospective analysis of seven patients treated with octreotide LAR, median time to progression is 4 months (95% CI, 1.434–6.566), but the metastatic pattern or further patients' features were not detailed. Preliminary results from a retrospective, cooperative study [3] presented at the 17th ENETS Conference have shown a benefit from SSAs in 59 metastatic PanNETs with Ki67 10%–35%, with a median PFS of 11.9 months (95% CI, 6.7–14.1 months), and 5-year OS rate of 64.2% (SE:8.9%). In this series, the hepatic tumor burden has been confirmed as a prognostic factor for disease control with SSAs.

An increase in SSA doses at disease progression is also adopted in clinical practice for PanNETs, although data in literature supporting this therapeutic strategy derives from retrospective cohorts. A very recent publication by Diamantopoulos [4] retrospectively analyzed the clinical outcomes of GEP-NETs treated with SSA administration every 3 weeks, observing in 105 included patients a median PFS of 25 months (95% CI: 16.9–33.1) and disease control rate in half of the population. Results from a prospective study will provide soon further data about this indication (NCT02651987).

14.3 Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy

Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) exploits the expression of somatostatin receptors, binding radiolabeled somatostatin analogs. Toxicity usually includes transient nausea and vomiting, hematologic events (e.g., lymphopenia in 9%, thrombocytopenia in 2%, leukopenia in 1%, and neutropenia in 1%) [5].

The NETTER-1 trial [5] is the largest prospective study regarding this treatment. It randomized 229 patients with well-differentiated, metastatic midgut NETs to receive 177Lu-Dotatate (116 patients) plus best supportive care including octreotide long-acting vs. octreotide alone (113 patients). Progression-free survival at month 20 was 65.2% (95% CI, 50.0– 76.8) in the 177Lu-Dotatate group and 10.8% (95% CI, 3.5–23.0) in the control group. The response rate was 18% in the 177Lu-Dotatate group vs. 3% in the control group (P < 0.001). Although PRRT has been approved for GEP-NETs thanks to the NETTER-1 study, pancreatic cases were not enrolled in this trial. Data investigating the efficacy of this treatment in PanNETs derive from retrospective cohorts [6], and just a few of them focused on pancreatic cases only. The reported median disease control rate was 83% (range, 50%–94%), median PFS ranged from 25 to 34 months, and median OS ranged from 42 to 71 months [7].

Sharma et al. [8] described a median time to progression from the first PRRT cycle of 37.0 months (6.5–48.0) for PanNETs, with a median OS of 37.3 months (18.1–48.0). Zandee et al. [9] described, in 34 metastatic, functioning PanNETs, median progression-free survival was 18.1 months (interquartile range: 3.3 to 35.7); disease control rate was reached in 78% of cases with baseline progression, and in 71% of patients with uncontrolled symptoms, a clinical improvement. Regarding toxicity, subacute hematological toxicity, grade 3 or 4 occurred in four patients (12%) and a hormonal crisis in three patients (9%).

No phase III trials on PRRT in PanNETs are currently available, while some trials enrolling also pancreatic cases are ongoing, investigating the association of PRRT with capecitabine (NCT02736448, NCT02736500, NCT02358356, NCT04194125) or the comparison with everolimus (NCT03049189).

The role of PRRT as a neoadjuvant treatment for PanNENs has been explored in a few retrospective series, suggesting an increase in the stroma and the preservation of somatostatin receptors expression after treatment [10]. An ongoing trial will provide prospective results about this PRRT application (NCT04385992).

14.3.1 Everolimus

Everolimus is the most extensively investigated target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitor in NETs. The standard dosage is 10 mg/day as continuous

oral intake, with a positive impact on response rates and OS for cumulative dose >3000 mg [11]. In the case of toxicity, a dose adjustment to 5 mg/ day is possible. This targeted drug is approved for progressive GEP-NETs and lung carcinoids as a result of several clinical studies, also supported by "real-life" experiences.

A phase II trial (RADIANT-1) [12] focused on metastatic pancreatic NETs (PanNETs) after chemotherapy failure and assessed the efficacy in tumor control of both everolimus alone (10 mg/ die) and in combination with LAR octreotide, observing a median PFS of 9.7 months and 16.7 months, respectively.

The phase III RADIANT-3 study [13] enrolled 140 PanNETs with disease progression in the last year and investigated the real benefit from everolimus in comparison to placebo. A significantly different median PFS was described between the two subgroups: 11.0 vs. 4.6 months, respectively (P < 0.01).

The efficacy of everolimus in advanced progressive NETs and the good safety profile were confirmed also in a "real-life" setting [14]. In 169 patients treated in "compassionate use," median PFS was similar to the RADIANT-3 study (12 months). Median OS was 32 months, and similar disease control rates were observed for PanNETs and non-PanNETs. Toxicity was acceptable but higher for patients previously treated with PRRT and chemotherapy, suggesting to adopt everolimus before these other options.

Bajetta et al. [15] adopted the combined regimen of everolimus and LAR octreotide in naïve advanced NETs, with positive conclusions. In detail, 18% and 74% of the 50 cases showed objective response and disease stabilization for at least 6 months, respectively.

The efficacy of everolimus associated with SSA was also verified in a "real-world" setting by a Spanish study [16], retrospectively analyzing the outcome of 57 NETs, describing a median time to progression of 25.8 months.

The COOPERATE-2 study [17] compared the antiproliferative effect of everolimus alone vs. everolimus + pasireotide in advanced progressive PanNETs. Grade 3/4 fasting hyperglycemia was respectively reported in 11% and 37% of patients.

Furthermore, no significant difference was observed between the two groups in terms of PFS, OS, or disease control rates. Considering these results and toxicity profile, this drug combination has shown less encouraging results than the other SSA formulations.

Focusing on chemotherapy, the combination of everolimus and temozolomide offered interesting results in advanced PanNETs. In 40 patients [18] treated with these two therapies for 6 months, no synergistic toxicities were observed, and 40% of patients experienced a partial response. The median PFS rate was 15.4 months, while the median OS was not reached.

An ongoing trial is currently recruiting advanced progressive NETs to receive everolimus in comparison to PRRT (NCT03049189).

Preclinical studies had suggested a potential antiproliferative effect of everolimus also in G3 cases [19]. Experiences were so far mainly based on well-differentiated cases, e.g., the NET G3 patients [20]. A 15 cases NET-G3 series was reported [20] (including 4 naive cases) with ki67 ranging from 20% to 55%. Median PFS was 6 months, and median OS was 28 months. Disease stabilization was maintained in 40% of cases for at least 12 months. These encouraging results have been so far reached only in a retrospective setting. However, two trials are investigating the efficacy of everolimus in G3 patients: the EVINEC study (NCT02113800), using everolimus for G3 neuroendocrine patients after platinum-based chemotherapy failure; results from another trial (NCT02248012) will show the potential synergy of everolimus and temozolomide in G3 NET patients (ki67: 20%–55%).

As far as toxicity of everolimus is concerned, most common adverse events are represented by aphthous ulceration, abdominal pain, perimalleolar edema, and fatigue. A meta-analysis of RCTs [21] described stomatitis in 67% of patients with solid tumors treated with everolimus. A longer PFS was observed in patients experiencing stomatitis at first after 8 weeks from treatment start when compared to cases not presenting stomatitis. Other possible symptoms can be diarrhea, rash, bone marrow toxicity, and metabolic impairment (increase in cholesterol, risk of diabetes especially if associated with SSAs), risk of infections (sometimes leading to sepsis), and frequent respiratory tract. A typical everolimus complication is the occurrence of interstitial pneumonitis in 10.4% of patients, as reported by a meta-analysis of 2223 patients extracted from RCTs [22].

14.4 Sunitinib

Sunitinib is an oral multikinase inhibitor competing with ATP for binding within the intracellular domain of various wild-type and/or mutated receptor tyrosine kinases. It is currently approved for advanced progressive PanNETs at a standard oral daily dosage of 37.5 mg.

Following the first phase II study adopting this drug in NETs [23] with a schedule of a 6-week cycle (50 mg/d for 4 weeks, then 2 weeks off treatment), Raymond et al. [24] performed a double-blind phase III RCT enrolling 171 advanced progressive PanNETs, treated with sunitinib or placebo. The trial was discontinued early due to significantly different outcomes and toxicity between the two arms. Median PFS was 11.4 months with sunitinib group vs. 5.5 months with placebo, while rates at 6 months were 71.3% vs. 43.2% (P < 0.01). Objective response rate respectively was 9.3% vs. 0%, with disease control rate in 72% and 60%. Rate of OS at 6 months respectively was 92.6% vs. 85.2% (P = 0.02).

Some data about sunitinib comes from "realworld settings." In a study [25] adopting sunitinib in 21 advanced progressive PanNETs, the disease control rate was reached in 57% with a median PFS of 7.0 months. In a Chinese monocenter series [26], 18 progressive PanNETs treated with sunitinib had a median PFS of 12 months, with disease control rate in 77.8%–88.9%.

The combination of sunitinib with SSA [16] adopted in 50 NET patients lead to a "not reached" median PFS, with disease control in 86% of cases. Conclusions reporting a better outcome than RCT [24] might suggest a synergistic effect of the combination therapy, but they come from "real-world" studies and may be limited by

retrospective design including heterogeneous population.

Sunitinib was also investigated to potentiate tumor control after transarterial hepatic embolization (TAE) in NETs [27]. In 23 enrolled patients, a 34% increase of circulating VEGF was observed after TAE. Sunitinib was administered for 1 year after the procedure, with a median PFS of 15.2 months and an overall response rate of 72%. The authors concluded that sunitinib can be safely administered after the embolization procedure.

The most frequently reported adverse events during sunitinib treatment are gastrointestinal symptoms (diarrhea, nausea, vomiting) in 33%– 59% of PanNETs and fatigue (41% of patients) [28, 29]. Other possible side effects can be the "hand-foot syndrome," hypertension, headache, and neutropenia.

A re-analysis [30] of the phase III RCT by Raymond et al. [24] has shown no significant difference in the quality of life between treatment and placebo arm during the study. Only a worsening of diarrhea affected patients receiving sunitinib (P < 0.05 vs. placebo) that besides this side effect significantly provided a benefit in PFS without adversely worsening patient life.

Regarding G3 cases, literature reports only a small series of poorly differentiated pancreatic G3 carcinoma [31]. These five naïve NEC refused chemotherapy and received standard-dose sunitinib (37.5 mg/day, 5 patients) associated with SSA (30 mg Sandostatin LAR monthly). Toxicities (acute and late) were manageable, and no toxicities were needed to stop the treatment. All patients progressed within 15 months and presented a minimum OS of 24 months. Further cohorts are surely needed to validate this experience.

14.5 Locoregional Treatments for Liver Metastases

Locoregional treatments for hepatic metastases include several approaches, such as surgery, radiofrequency ablation (RFA), hepatic arterial embolization (HAE), radioembolization, or radiation. In a recent series of 69 GEP-NETs treated with local treatment for focal progression, the median time to new systemic treatment was 32 months (95% CI, 16.5–47.5 months). The median time to any additional intervention was 19 months (95% CI, 8.7–25.3 months) [32].

In a retrospective series including 71 metastatic PanNETs receiving embolotherapy, median PFS was 9.3–18.5 months, and hepatic tumor burden was shown as a prognostic face for tumor response.

As far as radioembolization is concerned, Su et al. [33] described a cirrhosis-like morphology in 26.7% of patients, ascites in 13.3%, and varies in 6.7%.

An ongoing trial is investigating tumor control by locoregional treatments in metastatic GEP-NETs (NCT02724540).

14.6 Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy represents the standard for PanNET situations in which the objective is to downsize the disease that may be necessary to plan surgery or to alleviate the symptoms related to tumor burden. The most studied category of drugs are alkylants including streptozotocin, dacarbazine, and temozolomide [34–36]. Prior to the development of PRRT, chemotherapy represented conventional second-line therapy after somatostatin analog failure. The first evidence of the efficacy of streptozotocin dates back to 1968 when its efficacy was documented on the control of syndrome and on the control of tumor growth in a malignant insulinoma. Its usefulness in combination with 5-fluorouracil and doxorubicin has therefore been studied in a randomized trial conducted by 105 patients from Moertel [34]. Despite the methodological limitations of this study, since the 1990s the combination regiments based on streptozotocin have remained the standard of care for metastatic PanNETs. However, it should be stressed that the high response rates observed by Mortel with the combination regimens (overall response rate 69% and 45%) have not been confirmed in subsequent studies and that to date they are not the only predictive

response criterion identified is a proliferative activity >5% [37]. Furthermore, the combination regimens, especially with anthracyclines, are characterized by rather high toxicity that does not allow their prolonged use over time [38]. With the aim of improving the tolerability profile, various authors have tested combination regiments where streptozotocin was replaced by dacarbazine, another alkylating agent [35, 39]. The results obtained were interesting and apparently similar to those observed with streptozotocin, but, in the absence of large randomized studies, the chemotherapy of choice for PanNETs are always the combination regimens with streptozotocin. In the last 10 years, attention has therefore been shifted to temozolomide, an oral prodrug of dacarbazine, already widely used in brain tumors and melanoma. The drug, whose main toxicity is represented by myelotoxicity, was developed first in monotherapy and subsequently in combination therapies mainly with capecitabine, an oral prodrug of 5-fluorouracil [36, 40, 41]. The data initially observed by Fine on 18 patients and confirmed in a subsequent phase II study on 30 patients showed that in addition to being well-tolerated, the combination is particularly active (ORR 61%, 2-year survival 92%) [42]. A phase II randomized study not yet published but of which the final data presented at ASCO 2018 is available, compared to temozolomide monotherapy with the combination of temozolomide and capecitabine. The progressionfree survival (PFS) figure was favorable for the combination regiment (22 vs. 18 months) despite the presence of similar response rates between the two regiments [43]. It is difficult to define the impact on the survival of these regimens as PanNETs can not only behave very differently from each other but at the same time, the evolution of knowledge makes available to the clinician a series of treatment options to be used ideally sequentially in order to maximize the ultimate survival benefit.

Unfortunately, also for temozolomide as for the other alkylating agents, there are no certain predictive response criteria. MGMT, an enzyme involved in repairing DNA damage, has been studied extensively. The hypothesis was that his deficit could be associated with a good response to temozolomide. Kulke's retrospective data supported this hypothesis, however, confirmed by subsequent studies [44–46]. In the absence of large prospective randomized MGMT studies, it cannot yet be considered a validated predictive response criterion.

With regard to platinum agents, their effectiveness should be restricted to the NEC/NET G3 group only. In fact, the few experiences conducted with the traditional combination of cisplatin and etoposide in well-differentiated forms have proved very unsatisfactory due to the poor efficacy shown by this regiment [47].

14.7 Conclusions

Medical treatments are still the cornerstone for patients with metastatic or advanced PanNETs unsuitable for surgical or locoregional treatments. Choosing the optimal treatment for each individual patient is difficult not only due to the multiplicity of treatment options (somatostatin analogs, chemotherapy, target therapies, PRRT) but also due to the lack of randomized studies.

In order to define the optimal treatment, clinicians are asked to carefully analyze the data studied by integrating these data with the patient and tumor characteristics and updated scientific guidelines. This process should be conducted as part of a multidisciplinary tumor board including a panel of expert clinicians with specific expertise in NETs.

The decision-making process must be based on some key elements: the Grade (G 1,2,3), the proliferation index (Ki67), expression of somatostatin receptors, the rate of growth of the disease over time, and the presence of tumor-related symptoms.

Watch and wait strategy is not commonly used in metastatic pancreas neuroendocrine tumors. The only exception is for asymptomatic patients with a low tumor burden where they have not progressed over the last 12 months. For welldifferentiated (G1–2), SSTR-positive, lowgrowth (ki67% <10%) PanNETs, the treatment of choice is somatostatin analogs (lanreotide or octreotide) that can be useful also as a secondline treatment at increased doses [1, 48].

The most difficult therapeutic choice is how to treat a metastatic SSTR-positive G2 PanNET with KI67 > 10%. In this setting, the use of everolimus, sunitinib, chemotherapy, and PRRT is adequately supported by scientific data, and there are no clear criteria that favor the choice of one treatment over the other [7, 9, 13, 24].

In the presence of patients where a rapid tumor shrinkage is needed (i.e., presence of symptoms, imminent risks of visceral failure, bringing inoperable patients to a surgical program), chemotherapy with CAP-TEM regimen seems like the right choice due to the high rate of objective response [42, 43]. In this setting also PRRT seems to be effective, but it takes more time to achieve significant tumor shrinkage.

The use of everolimus and sunitinib is supported by strong scientific evidence from large randomized studies that achieved very similar results in terms of progression-free survival, overall survival, and low response rate. Due to the lack of predictive factors, the choice between these two options must be made on the basis of the different toxicity profiles of the two drugs [13, 24].

Regarding G3 PanNETs, it should clearly be distinguished between well-differentiated tumors (NET) and poorly differentiated carcinoma (NEC). Very limited prospective data are available for the treatment of G3 PanNETs, and guide-lines suggest a therapeutic approach similar to G2 PanNETs with ki67 > 10% [49].

Finally, in G3 PanNEC, platinum-based chemotherapy is the only available treatment option although the results in terms of overall survival are disappointing [50].

References

- Caplin ME, Pavel M, Cwikla JB, Phan AT, Raderer M, Sedlackova E, et al. Lanreotide in metastatic enteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(3):224–33.
- Jann H, Denecke T, Koch M, Pape UF, Wiedenmann B, Pavel M. Impact of octreotide long-acting release on tumour growth control as a first-line treatment

in neuroendocrine tumours of pancreatic origin. Neuroendocrinology. 2013;98(2):137–43.

- Merola EAG, Zhang PC, Al-Toubah TD, Pelle ED, Liu ME, Laskaratos FE, de Mestier LF, Lamarca AG, Hernando JH, Cives MI, van Leeuwaarde RJ. Somatostatin analogs for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: is there any benefit when Ki-67 Is ≥ 10%? Neuroendocrinology. 2020;110(Suppl. 1).
- Diamantopoulos L, Laskaratos FM, Kalligeros M, Shah R, Navalkissoor S, Gnanasegaran G, et al. Antiproliferative effect of above-label doses of somatostatin analogs for the management of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2020.
- Strosberg J, El-Haddad G, Wolin E, Hendifar A, Yao J, Chasen B, et al. Phase 3 trial of (177)Lu-Dotatate for midgut neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(2):125–35.
- Katona BW, Roccaro GA, Soulen MC, Yang YX, Bennett BJ, Riff BP, et al. Efficacy of peptide receptor radionuclide therapy in a United States-based cohort of metastatic neuroendocrine tumor patients: single-institution retrospective analysis. Pancreas. 2017;46(9):1121–6.
- Ramage J, Naraev BG, Halfdanarson TR. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy for patients with advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Semin Oncol. 2018;45(4):236–48.
- Sharma N, Naraev BG, Engelman EG, Zimmerman MB, Bushnell DL Jr, O'Dorisio TM, et al. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy outcomes in a north American cohort with metastatic well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors. Pancreas. 2017;46(2):151–6.
- Zandee WT, Brabander T, Blazevic A, Kam BLR, Teunissen JJM, Feelders RA, et al. Symptomatic and radiological response to 177Lu-DOTATATE for the treatment of functioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;104(4):1336–44.
- Schiavo Lena M, Partelli S, Castelli P, Andreasi V, Smart CE, Pisa E, et al. Histopathological and immunophenotypic changes of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors after neoadjuvant peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT). Endocr Pathol. 2020;31(2):119–31.
- Berardi R, Torniai M, Pusceddu S, Spada F, Ibrahim T, Brizzi MP, et al. Prognostic impact of the cumulative dose and dose intensity of everolimus in patients with pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer Med. 2017;6(7):1493–9.
- 12. Yao JC, Lombard-Bohas C, Baudin E, Kvols LK, Rougier P, Ruszniewski P, et al. Daily oral everolimus activity in patients with metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors after failure of cytotoxic chemotherapy: a phase II trial. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(1):69–76.
- Yao JC, Shah MH, Ito T, Bohas CL, Wolin EM, Van Cutsem E, et al. Everolimus for advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(6):514–23.

- Panzuto F, Rinzivillo M, Fazio N, de Braud F, Luppi G, Zatelli MC, et al. Real-world study of everolimus in advanced progressive neuroendocrine tumors. Oncologist. 2014;19(9):966–74.
- Bajetta E, Catena L, Fazio N, Pusceddu S, Biondani P, Blanco G, et al. Everolimus in combination with octreotide long-acting repeatable in a first-line setting for patients with neuroendocrine tumors: an ITMO group study. Cancer. 2014;120(16):2457–63.
- 16. Capdevila J, Sevilla I, Alonso V, Anton Aparicio L, Jimenez Fonseca P, Grande E, et al. Evaluation of the efficacy and safety of lanreotide in combination with targeted therapies in patients with neuroendocrine tumours in clinical practice: a retrospective crosssectional analysis. BMC Cancer. 2015;15:495.
- 17. Kulke MH, Ruszniewski P, Van Cutsem E, Lombard-Bohas C, Valle JW, De Herder WW, et al. A randomized, open-label, phase 2 study of everolimus in combination with pasireotide LAR or everolimus alone in advanced, well-differentiated, progressive pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: COOPERATE-2 trial. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(6):1309–15.
- Chan JA, Blaszkowsky L, Stuart K, Zhu AX, Allen J, Wadlow R, et al. A prospective, phase 1/2 study of everolimus and temozolomide in patients with advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor. Cancer. 2013;119(17):3212–8.
- Bollard J, Couderc C, Blanc M, Poncet G, Lepinasse F, Hervieu V, et al. Antitumor effect of everolimus in preclinical models of high-grade gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas. Neuroendocrinology. 2013;97(4):331–40.
- Panzuto F, Rinzivillo M, Spada F, Antonuzzo L, Ibrahim T, Campana D, et al. Everolimus in pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas G3. Pancreas. 2017;46(3):302–5.
- Rugo HS, Hortobagyi GN, Yao J, Pavel M, Ravaud A, Franz D, et al. Meta-analysis of stomatitis in clinical studies of everolimus: incidence and relationship with efficacy. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(3):519–25.
- 22. Iacovelli R, Palazzo A, Mezi S, Morano F, Naso G, Cortesi E. Incidence and risk of pulmonary toxicity in patients treated with mTOR inhibitors for malignancy. A meta-analysis of published trials. Acta Oncol. 2012;51(7):873–9.
- Kulke MH, Lenz HJ, Meropol NJ, Posey J, Ryan DP, Picus J, et al. Activity of sunitinib in patients with advanced neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(20):3403–10.
- Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL, Bang YJ, Borbath I, Lombard-Bohas C, et al. Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(6):501–13.
- Lahner H, Rinke A, Unger N, Poeppel TD, Kuhl H, Lehmann N, et al. Sunitinib efficacy in patients with advanced pNET in clinical practice. Horm Metab Res. 2016;48(9):575–80.
- 26. Gao HL, Ying HY, Cheng YJ, Meng CT, Bai CM. Efficiency of Sunitinib in Chinese patients with

advanced progressive pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor. Zhongguo Yi Xue Ke Xue Yuan Xue Bao. 2016;38(3):300–4.

- 27. Strosberg JR, Weber JM, Choi J, Campos TL, Valone TL, Han G, et al. A phase II clinical trial of sunitinib following hepatic transarterial embolization for metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(9):2335–41.
- Santoni M, Conti A, Massari F, Arnaldi G, Iacovelli R, Rizzo M, et al. Treatment-related fatigue with sorafenib, sunitinib and pazopanib in patients with advanced solid tumors: an up-to-date review and meta-analysis of clinical trials. Int J Cancer. 2015;136(1):1–10.
- 29. Santoni M, Conti A, De Giorgi U, Iacovelli R, Pantano F, Burattini L, et al. Risk of gastrointestinal events with sorafenib, sunitinib and pazopanib in patients with solid tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials. Int J Cancer. 2014;135(4):763–73.
- 30. Vinik A, Bottomley A, Korytowsky B, Bang YJ, Raoul JL, Valle JW, et al. Patient-reported outcomes and quality of life with Sunitinib versus placebo for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: results from an international phase III trial. Target Oncol. 2016;11(6):815–24.
- Gilabert M, Rho YS, Kavan P. Targeted therapies provide treatment options for poorly differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas. Oncology. 2017;92(3):170–2.
- 32. Al-Toubah T, Partelli S, Cives M, Andreasi V, Silvestris F, Falconi M, et al. Local treatment for focal progression in metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2019;26(4):405–9.
- 33. Su YK, Mackey RV, Riaz A, Gates VL, Benson AB 3rd, Miller FH, et al. Long-term hepatotoxicity of Yttrium-90 Radioembolization as treatment of metastatic neuroendocrine tumor to the liver. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2017;28(11):1520–6.
- Moertel CG, Lefkopoulo M, Lipsitz S, Hahn RG, Klaassen D. Streptozocin–doxorubicin, Streptozocin– fluorouracil, or chlorozotocin in the treatment of advanced islet-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 1992;326:519–23.
- 35. Ramanathan RK, Cnaan A, Hahn RG, Carbone PP, Haller DG. Phase II trial of dacarbazine (DTIC) in advanced pancreatic islet cell carcinoma. Study of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group-E6282. Ann Oncol. 2001;12:1139–43.
- 36. De Mestier L, Walter T, Brixi H, Evrard C, Legoux J-L, De Boissieu P, Hentic O, Cros J, Hammel P, Tougeron D, et al. Comparison of temozolomide-Capecitabine to 5-Fluorouracile-Dacarbazine in 247 patients with advanced digestive neuroendocrine tumors using propensity score analyses. Neuroendocrinology. 2019;108:343–53.
- Cheng PN, Saltz LB. Failure to confirm major objective antitumor activity for streptozocin and doxorubicin in the treatment of patients with advanced islet cell carcinoma. Cancer. 1999;86:944–8.

- Kouvaraki MA, Ajani JA, Hoff P, Wolff R, Evans DB, Lozano R, Yao JC. Fluorouracil, doxorubicin, and Streptozocin in the treatment of patients with locally advanced and metastatic pancreatic endocrine carcinomas. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22:4762–71.
- 39. Mitry E, Lombard-Bohas C, Caroli-Bosc F-X, Legoux J-L, Ruszniewski PB, Seitz J-F, Terrebonne E, Etienne P-L, Rougier P, Benmansour HB, et al. Renal effects of streptozocin: preliminary results of the STREPTOTOX prospective study. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:e15155.
- 40. Strosberg JR, Fine RL, Choi J, Nasir A, Coppola M, Chen D-T, Helm J, Kvols L. First-line chemotherapy with capecitabine and temozolomide in patients with metastatic pancreatic endocrine carcinomas. Cancer. 2010;117:268–75.
- Ekeblad S, Sundin A, Janson ET, Welin S, Granberg D, Kindmark H, Dunder K, Kozlovacki G, Örlefors H, Sigurd M, et al. Temozolomide as monotherapy is effective in treatment of advanced malignant neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13: 2986–91.
- 42. Fine RL, Gulati AP, Krantz B, Moss R, Schreibman S, Tsushima DA, Mowatt KB, Dinnen RD, Mao Y, Stevens PD, et al. Capecitabine and temozolomide (CAPTEM) for metastatic, well-differentiated neuro-endocrine cancers: the Pancreas Center at Columbia University experience. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2013;71:663–70.
- 43. Kunz PL, Catalano PJ, Nimeiri H, Fisher GA, Longacre TA, Suarez CJ, Yao JC, Kulke MH, Hendifar AE, Shanks JC, et al. A randomized study of temozolomide or temozolomide and capecitabine in patients with advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: a trial of the ECOG-ACRIN Cancer Research Group (E2211). J Clin Oncol. 2018;36:4004.
- 44. Kulke MH, Hornick JL, Frauenhoffer C, Hooshmand S, Ryan DP, Enzinger PC, Meyerhardt JA, Clark JW, Stuart K, Fuchs CS, et al. O6-Methylguanine DNA methyltransferase deficiency and response to temozolomide-based therapy in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15: 338–45.
- 45. Walter T, Van Brakel B, Vercherat C, Hervieu V, Forestier J, Chayvialle J-A, Molin Y, Lombard-Bohas C, Joly M-O, Scoazec J-Y. O6-Methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase status in neuroendocrine tumours: prognostic relevance and association with response to alkylating agents. Br J Cancer. 2015;112:523–31.
- 46. Cros J, Hentic O, Rebours V, Zappa M, Gille N, Theou-Anton N, Vernerey D, Maire F, Levy P, Bedossa P, et al. MGMT expression predicts response to temozolomide in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2016;23:625–33.
- 47. Moertel CG, Kvols LK, O'Connell MJ, Rubin J. Treatment of neuroendocrine carcinomas with combined etoposide and cisplatin. Evidence of major therapeutic activity in the anaplastic variants of these neoplasms. Cancer. 1991;68:227–32.

- 48. Rinke A, Müller H-H, Schade-Brittinger C, Klose K-J, Barth P, Wied M, Mayer C, Aminossadati B, Pape U-F, Bläker M, et al. Placebo-controlled, doubleblind, prospective, randomized study on the effect of octreotide LAR in the control of tumor growth in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine midgut tumors: a report from the PROMID study group. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:4656–63.
- 49. Falconi M, Eriksson B, Kaltsas G, Bartsch DK, Capdevila J, Caplin M, Kos-Kudla B, Kwekkeboom D, Rindi G, Klöppel G, Reed N, Kianmanesh R, Jensen RT, Vienna Consensus Conference Participants. ENETS consensus guidelines update for

the management of patients with functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and non-functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(2):153–71.

50. Sorbye H, Welin S, Langer SW, Vestermark LW, Holt N, Osterlund P, Dueland S, Hofsli E, Guren MG, Ohrling K, Birkemeyer E, Thiis-Evensen E, Biagini M, Gronbaek H, Soveri LM, Olsen IH, Federspiel B, Assmus J, Janson ET, Knigge U. Predictive and prognostic factors for treatment and survival in 305 patients with advanced gastrointestinal neuroendocrine carcinoma (WHO G3): the NORDIC NEC study. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(1):152–60.

Treatment of Intestinal NETs (Including Appendix)

15

Francesco Panzuto and Maria Rinzivillo

15.1 Introduction

The treatment of intestinal neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) remains a challenge for physicians, requiring a multidisciplinary approach and a tailored patient's evaluation [1]. Prognosis of this disease depends on a number of factors, including specific primary tumor site, tumor grade (expressed as Ki67 value), staging, and expression of somatostatin receptors (sstr). Among these factors, grading is widely considered the most powerful, with significant role in terms of predicting tumor behavior and patients' prognosis. The recent WHO 2019 classification identifies four different categories, based on Ki67 values and tumor differentiation [2]: NET G1, well-differentiated morphology and Ki67 < 3%; NET G2, well-differentiated morphology and Ki67 3-20%; NET G3, well-differentiated morphology and Ki67 > 20%; NEC G3, poorly differentiated morphology and Ki67 > 20%. The majority of intestinal NETs are included in NET G1 to NET G2 groups, whereas NET G3 and NEC are considered rare entities. Tumor spontaneous behavior, response to treatments, and thus

Digestive Disease Unit, Sant'Andrea University Hospital, ENETS Center of Excellence, Rome, Rome, Italy

e-mail: fpanzuto@ospedalesantandrea.it

patient's clinical outcome strictly depend on grading. In fact, in some cases, intestinal NETs may present as indolent, slow-growing diseases, whereas in other cases, tumor may be more aggressive resulting in a worse clinical outcome. From a clinical point of view, intestinal NETs may be divided into two major categories: "functioning tumors" when a specific clinical syndrome (usually a carcinoid syndrome, mainly characterized by diarrhea and flushing, with cardiovascular disease and difficult to breath in advanced stage) related to secretion of active substances by the tumor exists; otherwise, the tumor is defined as "non-functioning" when only generic mass-related symptoms are present.

Irrespective of the tumor functionality, intestinal NETs are commonly diagnosed at advanced stage, with distant metastases which are most frequently found in up to 75% of patients [3, 4]. Nevertheless, long-term survival rates are fairly good, ranging from 45% to 75% depending on the above-mentioned prognostic factors [4–6] and the efficacy of therapeutic management.

Current scientific evidences demonstrate a range of efficient therapies to treat advanced intestinal NETs, including somatostatin analogs (SSAs), targeted therapy, peptide-receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) (Table 15.1, Fig. 15.1) which, in addition to surgery and liver-directed ablative treatments, need to be carefully considered when approaching the therapeutic sequence of these patients.

Check for updates

F. Panzuto (🖂) · M. Rinzivillo

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_15

	Number of patients		
Reference	evaluated	Drug used	Main finding
Arnold et al. CGH	105	Octreotide vs. octreotide +	Combination treatment was not superior
2005 [7]	gastrointestinal	interferon	to monotherapy concerning progression-
	and pancreatic		free and long-term survival
Yao et al. JCO 2017	427	Octreotide + interferon vs.	No significant differences in PFS were
[8] (SWOG study)	gastrointestinal	octreotide + bevacizumab	observed between the bevacizumab and
			IFN arms
Faiss et al. JCO	80 gastrointestinal	Lanreotide vs. interferon	Comparable antiproliferative effects
2003 [9]	and pancreatic	vs. lanreotide + interferon	among the three arms
Kolby Br J Surg	68 midgut	Octreotide alone vs.	Addition of IFN- α to octreotide may
2003 [10]	carcinoids	octreotide plus interferon	retard tumor growth in patients with
			midgut carcinoid tumors
Rinke et al. JCO	85 midgut	Octreotide vs. placebo	Octreotide LAR significantly lengthens
2009 [11] (Promid	carcinoids		time to tumor progression compared with
study)			placebo
Caplin et al. NEJM	73 midgut (total)	Lanreotide 120 mg vs.	Lanreotide was associated with
2014 [12] (Clarinet		placebo	significantly prolonged progression-free
study)			survival among patients with metastatic
			gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine
Stracharg at al	220 midaut	[177] III II DOTA TATE	1771 u Dotatata regultad in markadlu longar
NEIM 2017 [17]	229 midgut	LI//LUJLU-DOIA-IAIE	progression free survivel
(Netter-1 study)	carcinolus	vs. high dose betreblide	progression-mee survivar
Pavel et al Lancet	224 small	Octreotide + everolimus	Everolimus plus octreotide L AR
2011 [24]	intestine	vs. octreotide + placebo	compared with placebo plus octreotide
(Radiant-2 study)	Intestine	vs. oetreotide + pideeoo	LAR improved progression-free survival
(Rudhant 2 study)			in patients with advanced neuroendocrine
			tumours associated with carcinoid
			syndrome
Yao et al. Lancet	302	Everolimus vs. placebo	Everolimus was associated with
2016 [25]	gastrointestinal or	±	significant improvement in progression-
(Radiant-4 study)	lung		free survival

Table 15.1 Randomized-controlled trials performed in advanced NENs over time

For each study, the number of enrolled patients, the therapeutic schedule, and the main finding are reported. Further data may be found in the text

15.2 Medical Treatment for Advanced Disease

15.2.1 Somatostatin Analogs

Synthetic somatostatin analogs octreotide and lanreotide are widely considered the first-line therapy for patients with well-differentiated G1 and G2 intestinal NETs. Up to 90% of NETs carry sstr on tumor cell membrane and are therefore optimal candidate to receive SSAs-based therapy. Since their introduction in the early 1980s, they showed a clear activity to improve diarrhea and flushing in patients with carcinoid syndrome, as well as to decrease tumor markers chromogranin A and urinary 5-HIAA, by inhibiting the release of neuropeptide. In the following years, several retrospective and phase 2 trials proposed their ability to reduce tumor growth in patients with well-differentiated NETs. The antiproliferative activity of octreotide was definitively demonstrated in 2009, when the phase 3 PROMID trial was published [11]. In that trial, a clear benefit in terms of progression-free survival (PFS) was observed in patients with advanced "midgut carcinoid" (mainly small intestine NETs) receiving octreotide LAR 30 mg every 4 weeks, compared with placebo, with a 66% reduction in risk of disease progression. This figure was confirmed and further corroborated in the CLARINET study [12], the largest phase 3 trial ever published on SSAs and NETs, including 204



Fig. 15.1 Proposed therapeutic algorithm for the treatment of unresectable well-differentiated G1–G2 small-bowel NET

patients with advanced well-differentiated NETs rising from gastrointestinal tract or pancreas. Lanreotide extended-release (autogel) at a dose of 120 mg every 4 weeks significantly decrease the risk of tumor progression compared with placebo (-53%), even in those tumors with relatively high proliferation (NET G2 with Ki67 < 10%) or presenting metastatic liver involvement >25%. Both trials showed an excellent safety profile in patients receiving SSAs, most frequent serious adverse events (AEs) being diarrhea, abdominal pain, cholelithiasis, and flatulence.

Given the findings reported by those phase 3 trials, octreotide LAR 30 mg/4 weeks and lanreotide extended release (autogel) 120 mg/4 weeks are recommended by international guidelines as first-line therapy for well-differentiated, slowgrowing NET G1 and G2 gastro-enteropancreatic NETs expressing sstr [13, 14].

Meanwhile, several studies have suggested that an escalation of SSAs dosage might provide additional antiproliferative activity compared

with the above-mentioned standard doses. Higher doses of SSAs, also referred to as nonconventional SSA doses, are achieved by either increasing administered dose (increased dose intensity; e.g., octreotide LAR 60 mg) or reducing interval between administrations (increased dose density; e.g., lanreotide autogel 120 mg every 21 or 14 days). Above-label doses of SSAs are being used frequently for the management of NETs in clinical practice in patients with disease progression or uncontrolled symptoms while on standard dose therapy without excessing toxicity [15, 16]. However, solid data regarding the role of non-conventional SSA doses are lacking, given the absence of large, prospective trials focusing on this topic. To date, increasing SSA dose above the standard may be proposed in selected NET patients progressing with the standard SSA dose after a multidisciplinary discussion has been made, carefully considering the kind of tumor progression (increase in number of lesions and/or increase in tumor size), presence of uncontrolled NET-related syndrome, patient's

age and comorbidities, and potential therapeutic alternatives including PRRT and everolimusbased target therapy.

Clinical trial with lanreotide high doses has recently been completed, and data will be published shortly (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02651987).

15.2.2 Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy

Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) is the result of a combination of a radionuclide and a peptide conjugate with an appropriate chelator that specifically binds to sstr delivering a cytotoxic radiation to the tumor. Upon binding of the radiolabeled peptide to the receptor, after an internalization of the compound has took place, the emission of ionizing radiation from the bound radionuclide occurs, inducing selective tumor cell destroy. In clinical practice, this model of radio-labeled targeted therapy consists of [177Lu] Lu-DOTA-TATE, a complex compound in which 177Lutethium is conjugated with a chelator (DOTA) and a targeting peptide (octreotate).

After almost 20 years during which several non-randomized studies, often retrospective, proposed this treatment to be effective in different kinds of NETs, the first phase 3 randomized trial NETTER-1 definitively confirmed the clear [177Lu]Lu-DOTA-TATE benefits of in advanced, progressive intestinal NETs [17]. In that trial, 229 patients were randomized to receive [177Lu]Lu-DOTA-TATE or high-dose octreotide (60 mg/4 weeks); the risk of tumor progression or death was reduced in the active arm by 79%, and an objective tumor response in terms of significant reduction in tumor size was observed in 18% of patients. The treatment was well-tolerated, with most important AEs being lymphopenia, vomiting, diarrhea, nausea, and abdominal pain. Given the impressive results obtained by the NETTER-1 trial, [177Lu] Lu-DOTA-TATE has been approved by international regulatory agencies FDA and EMA for treating patients with advanced, progressive gastrointestinal or pancreatic, well-differentiated G1 and G2 NETs expressing somatostatin receptors. A number of publications outside the regulatory trial further corroborates data from NETTER-1 study. In fact, similar findings were reported by a very large retrospective study including a mixed population of 1214 patients with NETs from different sites treated with [177Lu]Lu-DOTA-TATE over 15 years period of time [18]. The reported median overall survival rate was 58 months in the subgroup of patients with intestinal NETs and documented progressive disease, a promising figure if compared with data deriving from other therapeutic strategies. Again, a significant ability to induce objective tumor response was reported in 30% of patients. Safety data analyses were in agreement with those reported by the phase 3 trial. While [177Lu]Lu-DOTA-TATE PRRT is considered a well-tolerated therapy with few, usually transient, AEs, some concerns have been raised concerning long-term toxicity. The risk of persistent renal toxicity has significantly decreased over time after specific administration protocols including kidney protection with amino acids infusion has been applied [18, 19]. As far as hematological toxicity is concerned, myelodysplastic syndrome and acute leukemia have been reported to rarely occur in the late follow-up of patients treated with PRRT. Although severe, these conditions represent very rare event, being reported in nearly 1% of patients, particularly in those previously treated with alkylating agents [19, 20]. This observation further highlights the need to properly plan the optimal therapeutic sequence in NET patients, to provide optimal anti-tumor activity and to avoid unnecessary toxicity.

Tumor size is considered a prognostic factor for patients treated with [177Lu]Lu-DOTA-TATE, and an inverse correlation between tumor burden and treatment effectiveness has been proposed in the past. However, a recent sub-analysis from the NETTER-1 trial showed clear [177Lu] Lu-DOTA-TATE activity regardless of baseline liver tumor burden and presence of large target lesions [21].

Beyond efficacy, [177Lu]Lu-DOTA-TATE PRRT has showed to have a positive impact on patients' quality of life (QoL), by prolonging global health time to QoL deterioration, as well as by improving both physical and role functioning in treated patients [22]. Maintaining QoL is particularly important in patients with NETs, given the relatively indolent course of these diseases which gives patients the possibility to receive several therapies during the long clinical course.

Furthermore, there is a promising emerging evidence supporting the effectiveness of PRRT in somatostatin-receptor imaging (SRI)-positive G3 disease. In fact, favorable clinical outcome, in terms of both disease control rate (69–78%) and median PFS (11–16 months) have been also observed in patients with highly proliferating G3 tumors with Ki67 ranging between 20% and 55% [23], thus suggesting that PRRT might play a significant role in the therapeutic sequence also in this more aggressive setting of disease.

Although placing [177Lu]Lu-DOTA-TATE PRRT in the therapeutic sequence of intestinal NETs still remains an interesting open question which need to be definitively answered, it is reasonable to consider this treatment as second-line therapy after failure of SSAs.

15.2.3 Everolimus

Everolimus is an inhibitor of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) used as a systemic therapy in lung and gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors at a dose of 10 mg/day. In the last decade, its activity in different settings of NETs has been extensively investigated. Concerning intestinal NETs, two phase 3 RCTs have focused on the activity of this compound in this subgroup of NET. The Radiant-2 trial [24] enrolled 429 patients with advanced progressive gastrointestinal NET with previous history of carcinoid syndrome; although it failed to reach the pre-specified statistical significance threshold, it showed an advantage in terms of PFS for patients receiving everolims compared with the control group who received octreotide. This initial promising finding was confirmed in the subsequent Radiant-4 trial [25], which clearly

demonstrated a benefit in PFS for patients treated with everolimus vs. those receiving placebo. The median PFS was 11 months, and the risk for tumor progression was reduced by 52%. Both studies reported a proportion of objective response rates ranging <10%. Most frequent side effects of everolimus include hyperglycemia, cytopenias, oral ulcers, rash, diarrhea, and atypical infections. Basing on the findings from the above-mentioned trials, everolimus was approved in advanced, progressive, well-differentiated lung and gastrointestinal NETs, thus including intestinal primaries.

15.2.4 Chemotherapy

Cytotoxic agents are the cornerstone of therapy for patients with poorly differentiated NEC, irrespective of the primary tumor site. Given the extreme rarity of NEC rising from the small intestine, their use in this setting of patients is a rare event. As far as well-differentiated intestinal NETs are concerned, disappointing data have been reported by using different chemotherapeutic agents. Well-designed studies in this peculiar clinical scenario are particularly scant, in fact most of the available literature is based on retrospective studies including heterogeneous small series of NET patients.

Even a phase 3 study including 64 patients randomized to receive streptozotocin/5fluoruracil or interferon failed to demonstrate any difference in terms of PFS and OS between the two groups, and only one patient achieved partial response in the chemotherapy group [26]. Similarly, negligible activity with single-agent or temozolomide-based regimens has been reported by other studies, again confirming that chemotherapy plays a minor role in treatment of intestinal well-differentiate intestinal NETs [27, 28]. To date, there is no evidence of clinical outcome benefit by using systemic chemotherapy in welldifferentiated intestinal NETs.

Conversely, chemotherapy might be considered in the setting of highly proliferating tumors, however without good quality scientific data supporting it.

15.3 Liver-Directed Treatments for Hepatic Disease

Several liver-directed approaches have been proposed for treating NETs hepatic metastases, including radiofrequency ablation (RA), transarterial embolization (TAE) and trans-arterial chemo-embolization (TACE). The main goal of these treatment is to control symptoms in patients with functioning tumors and related carcinoid syndrome. Potential benefits on patients' survival have been proposed, however with no solid evidence-based data supporting it.

Radiofrequency ablation is a thermal ablative technique based on the cytotoxic effects of high temperature locally administrated in the liver through electrode needles, inducing coagulation necrosis, which can be performed percutaneously under ultrasonography guidance or intraoperatively [29]. This technique has showed to improve symptoms in approximatively 90% of syndromic NET patients, with a relief duration ranging from 14 to 27 months [30]. The treatment-related mortality is below 1%, usually related to uncontrolled carcinoid syndrome exacerbated by ablation, whereas morbidity is around 10%, consisting of hemorrhage, abscess, perforation, bile leakage, and transient live insufficiency [25]. An early computed-tomography is usually performed within the first week after ablation, to identify incomplete ablation and to establish subsequent follow-up. The risk of local disease recurrence is quite high, recurrence rate being reported to range between 5% and 25% [30]. Unfortunately, there is not sufficient amount of prospective trials nor comparative studies able to give reliable information concerning the impact of RA on long-term patient survival.

Other ablative techniques are mainly represented by microwave ablation, cryotherapy, and percutaneous ethanol injection, which however are less frequently performed compared with RA for safety reasons, and due to their lower efficacy.

Trans-arterial embolization (TAE) and chemoembolization (TACE) consist of the intravascular delivery of therapeutic agents via selective catheter placement under radiological guidance. The rational basis consists of the highly arterial vascularization of NET liver metastases. Transarterial embolization (TAE) involves the infusion of embolic agents like lipiodol, absorbable gelfoam particles, or non-absorbable bland microspheres into the artery, which will stop the blood flow. The principle of TACE is to perform intraarterial injection of cytotoxic agents, usually doxorubicin, or streptozotocin, or a combination of chemotherapy agents before embolization. The treatment consists of multiple embolizations performed every 4-8 weeks, until symptomatic control and/or objective tumor response is achieved. The choice to prefer TAE or TACE in liver metastases from intestinal NETs still remains an unanswered question. Comparing TAE and TACE is difficult because the majority of studies are retrospective, with few patients, including heterogeneous NET populations. A better tolerance has been reported by some authors by using TAE. Concerning efficacy, no significant difference was observed in terms of both objective response and patient's progressionfree survival [29-31]. Symptomatic relief is achieved in 60-85% of syndromic NET patients after embolization is performed, whereas objective response is observed in approximatively 50% of patients, with a median PFS of 18–24 months [32]. The most common complication is the so-called post-embolization syndrome, consisting of fever, leukocytosis, abdominal pain, nausea, and transient impairment of liver function tests. Morbidity may be reduced by fractioning treatment in different procedures targeted to embolize each liver segment separately.

Selective internal radiation therapy (SIRT), also known as radioembolization, is a recently developed technique in which 90Y-labeled microspheres are deposited in the hepatic artery. Objective tumor response is reported between 40% and 65% [32]. Again, there is limited data regarding the real impact of this procedure on patients' survival.

15.4 Appendiceal Neuroendocrine Tumors

The appendix is one of the most common sites for NENs. Appendiceal NENs are found in approximatively 0.3%-0.9% of patients undergone appendectomy for acute appendicitis. In a large retrospective analysis performed on 1237 appendectomies, a total of five appendiceal NENs were found, accounting for 0.4% [33]. There is not a specific clinical syndrome related to appendiceal NENs, since the vast majority of them are incidental findings in postappendectomy specimens. They are slightly more frequent in females, occurring at an average age of 40–50 years; however, they have also been reported in a series of pediatric patients. The prognosis of this kind of NEN is usually excellent, with several series reporting 5-year survival rate of 100% [34]. However, in some cases, they present a more aggressive behavior determining a less favorable patient's clinical outcome. Metastatic disease is a rare event; however, it may occur in those patients with large tumor.

The most powerful prognostic factor of these NENs is tumor size. A diameter above 2 cm is well-recognized as a major negative feature, being associated with presence of metastases in up to 40% of cases [35]. Conversely, tumors sized <1 cm are usually considered with negligible risk of metastases, although some studies have reported few patients with lymph node involvement even in case of such small primary tumors.

International guidelines propose to assess risk profile of appendiceal NENs based on the following criteria: tumor size, specific localization within the appendix, extent of invasion (if any) into the meso-appendix and vascular invasion, proliferative index Ki67 determining tumor grading, lymphatic invasion. Assessing the potential risk of malignancy of appendiceal NENs is pivotal when approaching patients with incidental NEN diagnosed after appendectomy, to understand whether this minimally invasive surgical treatment may be considered curative or not. In the presence of risk factors, right emicolectomy with standard lymphoadenectomy should be performed to prevent the risk of late metastatic occurrence (Fig. 15.2).



Fig. 15.2 Prognostic stratification and proposed therapeutic approach to appendiceal NENs. Risk Factor: infiltration of mesoappendix (cut-off 3 mm); grading (other than G1); lympho-invasion; angio-invasion

To date, right-emicolectomy with lymph node resection is recommended in those patients with tumor sized >2 cm, if tumors are located at the base of appendix, when the surgical margin is involved after appendectomy (R1 tumors), in selected cases with tumor sized <2 cm if risk factors are present (>3 mm infiltration of mesoappendix, presence of lympho-angioinvasion, grading G2) (Fig. 15.2) [34]. However, planning the optimal treatment for appendiceal NENs with small tumors and presence of risk factors remains a clinical challenge. In a recent multicenter large retrospective analysis, tumor size >1.5 cm, grading G2 (Ki67 3-20%) and lympho-vascular infiltration were independent risk factors related to nodal metastases, suggesting that in the presence of at least one of these factors, right emicolectomy should be suggested [35].

Although the majority of tumors <2 cm do not harbor any risk to develop metastases and may be considered cured after appendectomy, several controversies remain for some of these patients, in whom several risk factors have been identified. Those patients may have to undergo an additional operation and a proportion of them will need long-term follow-up [36]. Well-designed clinical trials, with long-term patients' follow-up, are definitively understand the prognostic impact of those risk factors which could be associated with regional or distant metastases and potentially adverse outcomes [36].

15.5 Conclusions

Clinical management of intestinal NETs still remains a challenge for physicians dealing with this rare kind of cancer. In the last decades, therapeutic landscape of these tumors has dramatically changed, given the introduction novel therapies (Fig. 15.1), including targeted agents and radiolabeled compounds, which may be used when the first-line therapy based on somatostating analogs fails to control tumor growth. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy is an established treatment for progressive intestinal G1 and G2 NETs, with solid scientific data confirming its ability to induce tumor regression and prolong both progression-free survival and overall survival. Ablative liver-directed treatments may be helpful to reduce hepatic tumor load and to control symptoms in functioning tumors.

Appendiceal NETs need to be separately considered, given their peculiar biology and frequent indolent behavior. In these tumors, an accurate prognostic stratification is mandatory to reduce the risk of tumor recurrence and to avoid unnecessary surgical procedures.

References

- Magi L, Mazzuca F, Rinzivillo M, Arrivi G, Pilozzi E, Prosperi D, Iannicelli E, Mercantini P, Rossi M, Pizzichini P, Laghi A, Signore A, Marchetti P, Annibale B, Panzuto F. Multidisciplinary management of neuroendocrine neoplasia: a real-world experience from a referral center. J Clin Med. 2019;8(6).
- WHO. Classification of tumours. In: Digestive system tumours, vol. 1. 5th ed. Lyon: IARC; 2019.
- Modlin IM, Oberg K, Chung DC, Jensen RT, de Herder WW, Thakker RV, Caplin M, Delle Fave G, Kaltsas GA, Krenning EP, Moss SF, Nilsson O, Rindi G, Salazar R, Ruszniewski P, Sundin A. Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Lancet Oncol. 2008;9(1):61–72.
- Panzuto F, Nasoni S, Falconi M, Corleto VD, Capurso G, Cassetta S, Di Fonzo M, Tornatore V, Milione M, Angeletti S, Cattaruzza MS, Ziparo V, Bordi C, Pederzoli P, Delle FG. Prognostic factors and survival in endocrine tumor patients: comparison between gastrointestinal and pancreatic localization. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2005;12(4):1083–92.
- Strosberg J, Gardner N, Kvols L. Survival and prognostic factor analysis of 146 metastatic neuroendocrine tumors of the mid-gut. Neuroendocrinology. 2009;89(4):471–6.
- Panzuto F, Campana D, Fazio N, Brizzi MP, Boninsegna L, Nori F, Di Meglio G, Capurso G, Scarpa A, Dogliotti L, De Braud F, Tomassetti P, Delle Fave G, Falconi M. Risk factors for disease progression in advanced jejunoileal neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;96(1):32–40.
- Arnold R, Rinke A, Klose KJ, et al. Octreotide versus octreotide plus interferon-alpha in endocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors: a randomized trial. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2005;3:761–71.
- Yao JC, Guthrie KA, Moran C, et al. Phase III prospective randomized comparison trial of depot Octreotide plus interferon Alfa-2b versus depot Octreotide plus Bevacizumab in patients with advanced carcinoid tumors: SWOG S0518. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35:1695–703.

- Faiss S, Pape UF, Böhmig M, Dörffel Y, Mansmann U, Golder W, Riecken EO, Wiedenmann B, International Lanreotide and Interferon Alfa Study Group. Prospective, randomized, multicenter trial on the antiproliferative effect of lanreotide, interferon alfa, and their combination for therapy of metastatic neuroendocrine gastroenteropancreatic tumors—the International Lanreotide and Interferon Alfa Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(14):2689–96.
- Kölby L, Persson G, Franzén S, Ahrén B. Randomized clinical trial of the effect of interferon alpha on survival in patients with disseminated midgut carcinoid tumours. Br J Surg. 2003;90(6):687–93.
- 11. Rinke A, Müller HH, Schade-Brittinger C, Klose KJ, Barth P, Wied M, Mayer C, Aminossadati B, Pape UF, Bläker M, Harder J, Arnold C, Gress T, Arnold R, PROMID Study Group. Placebo-controlled, doubleblind, prospective, randomized study on the effect of octreotide LAR in the control of tumor growth in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine midgut tumors: a report from the PROMID study group. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(28):4656–63.
- Caplin ME, Pavel M, Ćwikła JB, Phan AT, Raderer M, Sedláčková E, Cadiot G, Wolin EM, Capdevila J, Wall L, Rindi G, Langley A, Martinez S, Blumberg J. Ruszniewski P; CLARINET investigators. Lanreotide in metastatic enteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(3):224–33.
- 13. Strosberg JR, Halfdanarson TR, Bellizzi AM, Chan JA, Dillon JS, Heaney AP, Kunz PL, O'Dorisio TM, Salem R, Segelov E, Howe JR, Pommier RF, Brendtro K, Bashir MA, Singh S, Soulen MC, Tang L, Zacks JS, Yao JC, Bergsland EK. The north American neuroendocrine tumor society consensus guidelines for surveillance and medical management of midgut neuroendocrine tumors. Pancreas. 2017;46(6):707–14.
- 14. Niederle B, Pape UF, Costa F, Gross D, Kelestimur F, Knigge U, Öberg K, Pavel M, Perren A, Toumpanakis C, O'Connor J, O'Toole D, Krenning E, Reed N, Kianmanesh R, Vienna Consensus Conference Participants. ENETS consensus guidelines update for neuroendocrine neoplasms of the jejunum and ileum. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(2):125–38.
- Broder MS, Beenhouwer D, Strosberg JR, Neary MP, Cherepanov D. Gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumors treated with high dose octreotide-LAR: a systematic literature review. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21(6):1945–55.
- 16. Lamberti G, Faggiano A, Brighi N, Tafuto S, Ibrahim T, Brizzi MP, Pusceddu S, Albertelli M, Massironi S, Panzuto F, Badalamenti G, Riccardi F, Butturini G, Gelsomino F, De Divitiis C, Modica R, Bongiovanni A, La Salvia A, Torchio M, Colao A, Ferone D, Campana D. Nonconventional doses of somatostatin analogs in patients with progressing well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumor. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2020;105(1):dgz035. https://doi. org/10.1210/clinem/dgz035.
- 17. Strosberg J, El-Haddad G, Wolin E, Hendifar A, Yao J, Chasen B, Mittra E, Kunz PL, Kulke MH, Jacene

H, Bushnell D, O'Dorisio TM, Baum RP, Kulkarni HR, Caplin M, Lebtahi R, Hobday T, Delpassand E, Van Cutsem E, Benson A, Srirajaskanthan R, Pavel M, Mora J, Berlin J, Grande E, Reed N, Seregni E, Öberg K, Lopera Sierra M, Santoro P, Thevenet T, Erion JL, Ruszniewski P, Kwekkeboom D, Krenning E, NETTER-1 Trial Investigators. Phase 3 trial of 177Lu-Dotatate for midgut neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(2):125–35.

- Brabander T, van der Zwan WA, Teunissen JJM, Kam BLR, Feelders RA, de Herder WW, van Eijck CHJ, Franssen GJH, Krenning EP, Kwekkeboom DJ. Long-term efficacy, survival, and safety of [177Lu-DOTA0,Tyr3] octreotate in patients with gastroenteropancreatic and bronchial neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23(16):4617–24. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2743.
- Bodei L, Kidd M, Paganelli G, Grana CM, Drozdov I, Cremonesi M, Lepensky C, Kwekkeboom DJ, Baum RP, Krenning EP, Modlin IM. Long-term tolerability of PRRT in 807 patients with neuroendocrine tumours: the value and limitations of clinical factors. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2015;42(1):5–19.
- Bodei L, Modlin IM, Luster M, Forrer F, Cremonesi M, Hicks RJ, et al. Myeloid neoplasms after chemotherapy and PRRT: myth and reality. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2016;23:C1–7.
- 21. Strosberg J, Kunz PL, Hendifar A, Yao J, Bushnell D, Kulke MH, Baum RP, Caplin M, Ruszniewski P, Delpassand E, Hobday T, Verslype C, Benson A, Srirajaskanthan R, Pavel M, Mora J, Berlin J, Grande E, Reed N, Seregni E, Paganelli G, Severi S, Morse M, Metz DC, Ansquer C, Courbon F, Al-Nahhas A, Baudin E, Giammarile F, Taïeb D, Mittra E, Wolin E, O'DorisioTM, Lebtahi R, Deroose CM, Grana CM, Bodei L, Öberg K, Polack BD, He B, Mariani MF, Gericke G, Santoro P, Erion JL, Ravasi L, Krenning E; NETTER-1 Study Group. Impact of liver tumour burden, alkaline phosphatase elevation, and target lesion size on treatment outcomes with 177Lu-Dotatate: an analysis of the NETTER-1 study. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00259-020-04709-x.
- 22. Strosberg J, Wolin E, Chasen B, Kulke M, Bushnell D, Caplin M, Baum RP, Kunz P, Hobday T, Hendifar A, Oberg K, Sierra ML, Thevenet T, Margalet I, Ruszniewski P, Krenning E, NETTER-1 Study Group. Health-related quality of life in patients with progressive Midgut neuroendocrine tumors treated with 177Lu-Dotatate in the phase III NETTER-1 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(25):2578–84.
- Sorbye H, Kong G, Grozinsky-Glasberg S. PRRT in high-grade gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (WHO G3). Endocr Relat Cancer. 2020;27(3):R67–77. https://doi.org/10.1530/ ERC-19-0400.
- 24. Pavel ME, Hainsworth JD, Baudin E, Peeters M, Hörsch D, Winkler RE, Klimovsky J, Lebwohl D, Jehl V, Wolin EM, Öberg K, Van Cutsem E, Yao JC, RADIANT-2 Study Group. Everolimus plus

octreotide long-acting repeatable for the treatment of advanced neuroendocrine tumours associated with carcinoid syndrome (RADIANT-2): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2011;378(9808):2005–12. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61742-X.

- 25. Yao JC, Fazio N, Singh S, Buzzoni R, Carnaghi C, Wolin E, Tomasek J, Raderer M, Lahner H, Voi M, Pacaud LB, Rouyrre N, Sachs C, Valle JW, Fave GD, Van Cutsem E, Tesselaar M, Shimada Y, Oh DY, Strosberg J, Kulke MH, Pavel ME, RAD001 in Advanced Neuroendocrine Tumours, Fourth Trial (RADIANT-4) Study Group. Everolimus for the treatment of advanced, non-functional neuroendocrine tumours of the lung or gastrointestinal tract (RADIANT-4): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2016;387(10022):968–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00817-X.
- 26. Dahan L, Bonnetain F, Rougier P, Raoul JL, Gamelin E, Etienne PL, Cadiot G, Mitry E, Smith D, Cvitkovic F, Coudert B, Ricard F, Bedenne L, Seitz JF, Fédération Francophone de Cancérologie Digestive (FFCD); Digestive Tumors Group of the Fédération Nationale des Centres de Lutte Contre le Cancer (FNCLCC). Phase III trial of chemotherapy using 5-fluorouracil and streptozotocin compared with interferon alpha for advanced carcinoid tumors: FNCLCC-FFCD 9710. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2009;16(4):1351–61. https://doi.org/10.1677/ERC-09-0104.
- Cives M, Pelle E, Quaresmini D, Mandriani B, Tucci M, Silvestris F. The role of cytotoxic chemotherapy in well-differentiated gastroenteropancreatic and lung neuroendocrine tumors. Curr Treat Options Oncol. 2019;20(9):72. Review. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11864-019-0669-7.
- Lamarca A, Elliott E, Barriuso J, Backen A, McNamara MG, Hubner R, Valle JW. Chemotherapy for advanced non-pancreatic well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumours of the gastrointestinal tract, a systematic review and meta-analysis: a lost cause? Cancer Treat Rev. 2016;44:26–41. Epub 2016 Jan 25. Review. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2016.01.005.
- Dermine S, Palmieri LJ, Lavolé J, Barré A, Dohan A, Abou Ali E, Cottereau AS, Gaujoux S, Brezault C, Chaussade S, Coriat R. Non-pharmacological therapeutic options for liver metastases in advanced neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Med. 2019;8(11):E1907. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8111907.

- Mohan H, Nicholson P, Winter DC, O'Shea D, O'Toole D, Geoghegan J, Maguire D, Hoti E, Traynor O, Cantwell CP. Radiofrequency ablation for neuroendocrine liver metastases: a systematic review. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2015;26(7):935–942.e1. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jvir.2014.12.009.
- de Mestier L, Zappa M, Hentic O, Vilgrain V, Ruszniewski P. Liver transarterial embolizations in metastatic neuroendocrine tumors. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2017;18(4):459–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11154-017-9431-2.
- 32. Maire F, Lombard-Bohas C, O'Toole D, Vullierme MP, Rebours V, Couvelard A, Pelletier AL, Zappa M, Pilleul F, Hentic O, Hammel P, Ruszniewski P. Hepatic arterial embolization versus chemoembolization in the treatment of liver metastases from well-differentiated midgut endocrine tumors: a prospective randomized study. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;96(4):294–300. https://doi.org/10.1159/000336941.
- Tchana-Sato V, Detry O, et al. Carcinoid tumor of the appendix: a consecutive series from 1237 appendectomies. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12:6699–701.
- 34. Pape UF, Niederle B, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for neuroendocrine neoplasms of the appendix (excluding globet cell carcinomas). Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103:144–52.
- 35. Brighi N, La Rosa S, Rossi G, Grillo F, Pusceddu S, Rinzivillo M, Spada F, Tafuto S, Massironi S, Faggiano A, Antonuzzo L, Santini D, Sessa F, Maragliano R, Gelsomino F, Albertelli M, Vernieri C, Panzuto F, Fazio N, De Divitiis C, Lamberti G, Colao A, Fave GD, Campana D, Brighi N, La Rosa S, Rossi G, Grillo F, Pusceddu S, Rinzivillo M, Spada F, Tafuto S, Massironi S, Faggiano A, Antonuzzo L, Santini D, Sessa F, Maragliano R, Gelsomino F, Albertelli M, Vernieri C, Panzuto F, Fazio N, De Divitiis C, Lamberti G, Colao A, Fave GD, Campana D. Morphological factors related to nodal metastases in neuroendocrine tumors of the appendix: a multicentric retrospective study. Ann Surg. 2020;271(3):527–33.
- 36. Toumpanakis C, Fazio N, Tiensuu JE, Hörsch D, Pascher A, Reed N, O'Toole D, Nieveen van Dijkum E, Partelli S, Rinke A, Kos-Kudla B, Costa F, Pape U, Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Scoazec J, The ENETS 2016 Munich Advisory Board Participants. Unmet needs in appendiceal neuroendocrine neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology. 2019;108:37–44.



16

Treatment of NETs from Rare Origin

Nazarena Betella, Valeria Smiroldo, Roberto Baldelli, and Andrea Lania

16.1 Introduction

Rare NETs closely resemble their lung and gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) counterparts, although it is still unknown whether they also share similar genetic alterations. Therefore, it is unknown whether they may benefit from treatment reserved for lung and GEP NENs or, on the contrary, should be treated according to protocols used for epithelial cancers of the specific primary site. The impossibility to conduct large-scale studies on rare NETs leads to a lack of definitive biologic, epidemiologic and prognostic information, as well as standardized treatment guidelines.

Department of Bionedical Sciences, Humanitas University, Pieve Emanuele, Italy e-mail: andrea.lania@humanitas.it

16.2 Oesophageal Neuroendocrine Tumours

Oesophageal neuroendocrine tumours (OeNETs) occur in the middle-low third of the oesophagus as a reflection of the distribution of neuroendocrine cells and account for 0.4–2% of oesophageal malignancies [1–3]. The estimated prevalence of oesophageal primary site among GEP NETs is approximately of 0.04–4.6% [2, 6]. Prevalence is highest in Japan, Korea and China, showing a predominance in men in their seventh to eighth decades of life [1, 4–6]. The major risk factors include smoking, alcohol abuse, a prior

N. Betella

Endocrinology and Diabetology Unit, ENETS Center of Excellence, IRCCS Humanitas Research Hospital, Rozzano, Italy

V. Smiroldo

Oncology Unit, ENETS Center of Excellence, Humanitas Research Hospital, Rozzano, Italy

R. Baldelli

Endocrinology Unit, Department of Oncology and Medical Specialities, A.O. San Camillo Forlanini, Roma, Italy

A. Lania (🖂)

Endocrinology and Diabetology Unit, ENETS Center of Excellence, IRCCS Humanitas Research Hospital, Rozzano, Italy

However, a comprehensive genomic characterization of NENs arising in uncommon sites represents an essential starting point for advancing our understanding of their biological behaviour and leading to the identification of reproducible diagnostic markers and of genetic alterations that could be exploited therapeutically in some subgroups of patients. The demonstration of a common molecular background shared by similar histotypes could be of great clinical relevance for treatment planning, broadening the spectrum of therapeutic options, regardless of the primary site of diseases. In this chapter, we will discuss clinical presentation, diagnosis and treatment of oesophageal, thymic, renal/genitourinary and breast neuroendocrine tumours.

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_16

history of achalasia, gastroesophageal reflux disease and Barrett metaplasia. Lastly, OeNETs can arise as part of MEN1 and MEN2 familial cancer syndrome, von Hippel–Lindau disease, type 1 neurofibromatosis and tuberous sclerosis [6–8].

The 2010 WHO classification for digestive system NETs has divided OeNETs into lowgrade (G1) and intermediate-grade (G2) NETs, and high-grade (G3) NECs, which include smallcell and large-cell oesophageal carcinoma (SCEC and LCEC) [9, 10]. Virtually all oesophageal NETs are high-grade poorly differentiated NECs, with the "small cell" histotype being the most common finding, especially in the context of mixed neuroendocrine/non-neuroendocrine neoplasms (MiNENs) [4].

OeNETs are characterized by rapid progression (metastases are found in 31-90% of cases at presentation, mainly in the lymph nodes, liver, lungs and bone, while brain metastases are relatively rare), resulting in a poor prognosis, even in the setting of clinically localized disease [1-3, 6,11]. Given their aggressiveness, the time to diagnosis is lower than that for other histological types [11]. Prognostic factors include age, stage (median survival time can reach 20 months for limited disease vs. 6-12 months of the extended disease), biochemical parameters and type of treatment [2, 12, 13]. Among the biochemical markers, circulating NSE levels ≤ 17 ng/mL seem to be associated with a better prognosis [14], and patients with LGR5 (leucine-rich repeatingcontaining G-protein-coupled receptor 5) overexpression seem to present more frequently an advanced stage, lymph node metastasis, poor response to chemotherapy and a worse prognosis [14, 15]. Regarding the histotype, although few cases of LCEC have been reported so far, no apparent differences have emerged in survival rates in comparison to the small cell subtype if they are equally treated [16].

16.2.1 Clinical Manifestation and Diagnosis

The most common clinical onset of OeNETs consists of progressive dysphagia, hoarse voice,

anorexia, fatigue and weight loss. Less frequently, the initial presentation may include retrosternal/epigastric pain or painful swallowing, dysphonia, dyspnoea, emesis and digestive bleeding. Rarely the recurrent left laryngeal nerve can be injured, resulting in a vocal cord paralysis. Often the diagnosis occurs randomly on endoscopic examination, and sometimes, it is related to metastatic sites. While carcinoid syndrome is rarely described, paraneoplastic syndromes are more frequently reported (i.e. inappropriate anti-diuretic hormone syndrome and watery diarrhoea-hypokalaemia-achlorhydria syndrome) [4, 5].

The assessment of circulating markers, including CgA, NSE, carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) and pro-gastrin-releasing peptide (pro-GRP) may contribute to the diagnosis and management [3, 4]. Preliminary investigations may include a barium oesophagography and/or an esophagogastroduodenoscopy (EGD) that usually depict a single elevated polypoid or nodular lesion expanding the oesophageal lumen. Subsequently, the diagnostic workup is typically accomplished by conventional crosssectional contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT) and/or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans, generally including the chest, abdomen and pelvis [4, 9]. Somatostatin receptor-based imaging (i.e. 68Ga-DOTATATE or DOTATOC-PET) is instrumental for NET G1-G3; whereas 18-F fluorodeoxyglucose PET-CT scanning is recommended for NECs [17]. Given their poor differentiation and aggressive behaviour with a propensity to metastasize extensively, the FDG-PET/CT has been proposed also for the detection of any recurrence during the follow-up. Finally, an endoscopic ultrasound with biopsy remains the most contributory technique for delineating the anatomic extent of oesophageal wall invasion and lymph node malignancy and establish a preoperative histological diagnosis [4]. Positive immunostaining for common neuroendocrine markers (chromogranin A, CgA, synaptophysin, Syn, and neuron-specific enolase, NSE) as well as for CK (cytokeratin) and CD56 (cluster differentiation 56) is mandatory for the diagnosis of oesophageal NETs, with synaptophysin proving the most sensitive marker, whereas SCECs are often CgA- and Synnegative and NSE-positive [1, 4].

16.2.2 Treatment

The treatment of OeNETs strictly depends on grade and stage [1, 5]. While there is general consensus that well-differentiated NETs (G1 and G2) should be treated surgically or, in case of inoperability or diffuse disease, with somatostatin analogues, different treatments have been evaluated for poorly differentiated NECs in an attempt to improve survival rates [2, 9, 12, 18].

16.2.2.1 Surgery

Surgery is indicated for localized welldifferentiated OeNETs. It generally consists of minimally invasive transhiatal esophagectomy that, unlike *classic transhiatal esophagectomy*, does not involve radical lymph node dissection, thus reducing the risk of pulmonary complications. The minimally invasive procedure is recommended for early cancers in the middle (below the level of carina) and lower (type I and II esophagogastric junction tumours) third of the oesophagus. It is also performed for advanced oesophageal cancers in patients who are not fit to undergo a thoracotomy [19]. Transthoracic esophagectomy has the advantage of a more extensive resection and may be associated with a longer disease-free survival (DFS) [20]. However, it deeply affects short- and long-term health-related quality of life (QoL), with the postoperative recovery period potentially taking more than half or even all the patient's remaining life expectancy, generally not showing any improvement to the preoperative level until 9 months post-surgery [21].

16.2.2.2 Chemotherapy (CT)

Since surgery alone is rarely curative, a multimodality approach including systemic CT is recommended even for patients with limited-stage disease [22, 23]. Taken singularly, CT seems superior to surgery or radiotherapy alone for NEC treatment, with a further survival improve-

ment by combining it with one of these two treatments [4, 6, 24-28]. Standard first-line CT schedule for metastatic NEC consists of cisplatin/carboplatin combined with etoposide or irinotecan (reported median survival time of 12.8 and 9.4 months, respectively). Even though the optimal duration of treatment is not established, performing four to six cycles of therapy seem reasonable, but if a patient is still responding and tolerating well the treatment, continuation of CT to at least maximal response is appropriate. Based upon data on small-cell lung cancer (SCLC), patients with platinum-sensitive disease may benefit from retreatment with a platinum and etoposide combination if relapse occurs at least 6 months after discontinuation of first-line treatment [24–28]. Second-line regimens, although not yet evaluated rigorously, include temozolomide-, fluoropyrimidine-, irinotecan-, and oxaliplatin-based regimens [7, 29, 30].

16.2.2.3 Radiotherapy (RT)

RT alone has shown disappointing results in terms of survival, notably when compared to CT alone (5 vs. 24 months) or surgery alone (7 vs. 17 months) [31]. Moreover, the optimal radiation dose for localized SCEC has not been established: locoregional recurrence is observed in approximately half of the patients receiving <50 Gy, and in 14–22% of those receiving >60 Gy [11, 32].

16.2.2.4 Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy (PRRT)

PRRT with 177Lu-DOTATATE was found to be effective in a single patient with OeNET [33], but further studies are required to better evaluate its efficacy.

16.2.2.5 Multidisciplinary Modalities

Combination of local and systemic treatments has been largely reported to improve median survival time in comparison with local treatments alone in patients with SCEC [6, 8, 12, 22]. Interestingly, the concurrent administration of CT plus RT (chemoradiation, **CRT**) seems more effective than sequential scheme. Definitive **CRT** seems even superior to surgery plus CT for locoregional oesophageal NECs (3-year OS of 50% vs. 24%) [23]. Long-term relapse-free survival (RFS) is possible among patients with localized disease who are treated with multimodality therapy, as demonstrated by a single-institution retrospective review of 25 patients with oesophageal SCEC (14 with limited-stage disease, LD, and 9 with extensive disease, ED), in which six (24%) remained alive at a median follow-up of 38 months, one with ED and five with LD [22].

Therefore, a possible treatment algorithm for oesophageal NECs depending on the stage was proposed.

- Stage I/IIA. Surgery is suggested for its effectiveness in comparison to RT (29 vs. 17 months), without a further median survival improvement given by adjuvant CT.
- Stage IIB/III. Administration of postoperative CT increases median survival time compared to patients who do not received it (13 vs. 6 months).
- Stage IV. CRT is more effective in extending median survival time than CT alone (13.2 vs. 8.9 months) [15].

16.3 Thymic Neuroendocrine Tumours

Thymic neuroendocrine tumours (T-NETs) represent the least common primary thymic neoplasms, accounting for 2-5% of the total [34]. Specifically, a primary thymic site constitutes about 0.4% of all NETs, corresponding to an estimated annual incidence of approximately 0.2 per million [35, 36]. Almost all cases have been reported in adults (median age of 54 years), with a male preponderance (male to female ratio of 3:1) [34, 35]. Up to 25% of T-NETs occur in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) [37], and T-NETs are broadly categorized as low-grade (typical carcinoid), intermediate-grade (atypical carcinoid) or highgrade (large-cell and small-cell neuroendocrine

carcinomas, LCNECs and SCNECs) [38]. Most T-NETs are classified as atypical carcinoids; however, even if well differentiated, these tumours are characterized by relatively aggressive behaviour and high propensity for locoregional invasion, local recurrence and distant dissemination [34, 39, 40].

16.3.1 Clinical Manifestation and Diagnosis

T-NET typically presents as a large locally advanced mass in the anterior mediastinum, inducing symptoms from local mass effects (e.g. cough, dyspnoea and chest pain to superior vena cava syndrome, and hoarseness due to recurrent laryngeal nerve invasion) [39]. About one third of them are asymptomatic findings on radiographic study done for an unrelated cause or for MEN1 surveillance [34]. Among paraneoplastic syndromes, Cushing's is the most common [41]. Finally, 20-40% of patients can manifest symptoms and signs related to distant metastases (lung, pleura, chest wall, bone, liver and pancreas) [34, 39, 40]. Mediastinal lymph node localizations are present in approximately 50% of patients at presentation [39, 40].

Most T-NETs consist of high-grade tumours, generally characterized by aggressive behaviour, resistance to standard therapy, tendency to recur locally and to metastasize over up to 20 years, resulting in an average poorer prognosis compared to NETs of similar stage and grade arising elsewhere [42–44]. The main prognostic factors are: surgical resectability and completeness of resection (patients who were able to undergo surgical therapy had a significantly longer median survival than those who did not, 109 vs. 46 months, respectively), completeness of resection being a strong prognostic factor for overall survival [35, 40]; disease stage (in the SEER database, the median survival for patients with localized, regional and distant metastases were 110, 59 and 35 months, respectively) [35]. Interestingly, tumour grade/differentiation did
not seem to affect survival, but span to recurrence/progression [39]. Tumour size also impacts outcomes, 10-year rate of survival being significantly higher for tumours <7 cm compared with those 7 cm or larger (91 vs. 29%) [44].

Most T-NETs are nonfunctioning. Given the high incidence of Cushing's syndrome in patients with non-MEN1-associated thymic NETs, some experts recommend measurement of serum cortisol levels and a 24-h urine collection [45]. Contrast-enhanced chest CT scan is the imaging procedure of choice for anterior mediastinal masses. However, a cardiac MRI can be helpful in assessing invasion of the adjacent cardiovascular structures [45]. A T-NET usually manifests as a large, lobulated, invasive mass with indistinct margins and heterogeneous enhancement that may exhibit areas of haemorrhage and necrosis, as well as punctate and dystrophic calcifications. It may be difficult to distinguish a thymic NET from other thymic or non-thymic malignancies based on radiographic imaging [45, 46]. A preoperative histological diagnosis obtained by means of a CT-guided core needle biopsy should be performed to guide decision-making about neoadjuvant therapy [47]. If a diagnosis of a T-NET is established, it is recommended to complete the evaluation with cross-sectional imaging of the abdomen and somatostatin-receptor-based scans (68Ga DOTATATE PET/CT) in order to exclude a primary NET in another site, identify metastatic disease and evaluate the possible benefit from somatostatin analogues (SSA) or peptide receptor radioligand therapy (PRRT) for advanced disease [48]. However, specificity is somewhat limited because somatostatin receptors can be expressed also in malignant thymic epithelial tumours, granulomas and autoimmune diseases. Moreover, sensitivity may be limited because many thymic NETs do not express high levels of somatostatin receptors [37, 40]. This, in addition to the aggressiveness of most thymic NENs, brings out the utility of 18-F fluorodeoxyglucose/ PET scans in the further characterization of negative or equivocal radiolabelled somatostatin analogues diagnostic imaging [49].

16.3.2 Treatment

Treatment of T-NETs depends on their size, extension and the presence of metastases.

16.3.2.1 Locally Resectable (or Borderline Resectable) Tumours

Surgery is the mainstay of therapy for resectable cases. A total extended thymectomy accompanied by hilar and mediastinal lymph node sampling implies removal of all mediastinal tissue anterior to the pericardium from the innominate vessels to the diaphragm and laterally to each phrenic nerve. Maximal resection of anterior mediastinal masses can be achieved via different approaches. Since most of the thymic NETs are diagnosed at a size that is not amenable to minimally invasive techniques (transthoracic, transcervical, video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery or robotic thymectomy), standard transthoracic thymectomy via a median sternotomy is usually the approach to choose to achieve the highest oncologic efficacy, avoiding tumour spillage and incomplete resection. Unfortunately, microscopically radicality is uncommonly attained for tumours that invade contiguous structures such as major blood vessels, pericardium or phrenic nerve [47].

RT plays a role in subtotally resected or locally advanced unresectable nonmetastatic disease as adjuvant and neoadjuvant treatment, respectively, while evidence supporting benefit for definitive RT is limited. Although few series and case reports have proven a better local control thanks to adjuvant RT after complete resection, there is no evidence that this confers any survival advantage [35, 40].

Adjuvant systemic therapy is based on chemoradiotherapy (CRT) and long-acting somatostatin analogues (LA-SSA). If the tumour is resectable upfront, a postoperative consolidation approach based on the concurrent use of radiosensitizing doses of fluorouracil or capecitabine in conjunction with platinum/etoposide-based CT, as typically used for small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC), is considered more appropri-

ate than RT alone for patients with moderately to poorly differentiated tumours (atypical carcinoids and NECs), even when a complete resection has been obtained, in order to reduce the risk of recurrence and to achieve prolonged disease control [50, 51]. The role of consolidation therapy with SSA after surgical resection, possibly followed by CRT, is not established in the absence of endocrine secretion syndrome [52, 53].

Neoadjuvant systemic therapy may be delivered in locally advanced disease at the time of diagnosis with invasion of intra-thoracic neighbouring structures to reduce the tumour burden, possibly allowing subsequent local treatment with a curative intent. In such cases, the feasibility of neoadjuvant CT or CRT to increase resectability has been demonstrated, but whether this approach improves outcomes over maximum resection followed by adjuvant RT is unknown [52–54]. Guidelines from the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) on the treatment of thymic NETs does not address the utility of neoadjuvant therapy [50].

16.3.2.2 Unresectable, Recurrent and Metastatic Disease

Options for recurrent and/or metastatic disease include resection (when possible), RT and systemic therapy. Survivals as long as 12-15 years have been reported with aggressive surgical resection of both local and distant metastases [1]. If not surgically manageable, metastatic and/or unresectable disease should be properly treated by systemic therapy, which relies on cytotoxic chemotherapy (temozolomide- and platinumbased regimen for well- and poorly-differentiated NETs, respectively), somatostatin receptor therapy (LA-SSA and PRRT) and everolimus [50, 55–58]. LA-SSAs should probably be the firstline treatment for patients with relatively lowvolume and asymptomatic somatostatinreceptor-positive disease. However, the stabilizing effect on tumour growth exerted by these agents on some GEP-NETs is unclear and supported by few data for thymic carcinoids [50, 59, 60]. Moreover, there are no evidence for selecting or sequencing these treatments except that PRRT should be limited to patients with somatostatin-receptor-expressing tumours. Even in these cases, there is no real basis for choosing PRRT over everolimus, or vice versa, as the second-line treatment [50, 55–58]. Given the difficulty to perform randomized trials focusing only on thymic NETs because of their rarity and considering their biological and clinical similarity to pulmonary NETs, the potential efficacy of everolimus has been extended to progressive thymic NETs on the basis of the results obtained from the RADIANT 4 study, which demonstrated a significant improvement in progression-free survival (PFS) in patients with progressive lung NETs treated with everolimus compared with those receiving placebo [55].

Among patients with advanced midgut NETs, the benefits of PRRT have been shown in the NETTER-1 trial, which demonstrated significant improvement in objective response rate, PFS and overall survival (OS) with PRRT compared with high-dose LA-octreotide in patients whose disease had progressed on standard-dose SSA therapy (median PFS not reached versus 18 months). However, data on thymic NETs are limited to two reported patients treated with 177Lu-dotatate, one of whom had stable disease as the best response. Since the 2018 FDA approval did not cover thymic NETs, off-label use could be considered in appropriate patients [57, 58].

Poorly differentiated high-grade NECs should be treated, similarly to SCLC, with combined CT including platinum plus etoposide [61].

Whether **surgical debulking** of large tumours without curative intent may confer any survival benefit is unclear; however, surgical resection of a large tumour causing compression disturbance as well as palliative radiation on a symptomatic site may provide benefits in terms of symptom control and therefore is suggested [34, 50]. Palliative resection could also be considered in case of debilitating uncontrolled hormonal secretory condition such as Cushing's syndrome, hypercalcemia or carcinoid syndrome. The use of LA-SSA and/or adrenal steroidogenesis inhibitors (i.e. ketoconazole, metyrapone, etomidate, aminoglutethimide and others) has proven to attain a satisfactory hypercortisolism control prior to surgery in thymic ACTH-producing NETs. Particularly, LA-SSAs has been reported to rapidly lower ectopic ACTH secretion, although not having any effect on the mass reduction [41, 62]. However, it is much important to reach a mitigation of Cushing's syndrome for the purposes of a safer perioperative course that some authors have suggested recurring to mitotane or bilateral surgical adrenalectomy in the event of SSA and adrenal enzyme inhibitors failure [62, 63].

There are no evidence-based guidelines for posttreatment surveillance but, given the potentially long delay between primary treatment and the development of metastases, long-term surveillance is recommended. A shared strategy is to perform first imaging within 6 months, then every 4–12 months depending on tumour grade. After 5 years, if there is no evidence of recurrence, imaging frequency can be decreased but continued at least annually and possibly in association with tumour markers for at least 10 years [50–54].

16.4 Renal Neuroendocrine Tumours

Primary renal neuroendocrine tumours (R-NETs), including well-differentiated (WD) carcinoid tumour and poorly differentiated largeand carcinoma (PD-LCNEC small-cell and PD-SCNEC), have an estimated annual incidence of 0.13 per one million persons [64–67]. Only 2.5% of PD-NECs occur in extrapulmonary sites, including the genitourinary tract, where they have been more commonly reported in the urinary bladder and prostate, with only ~50 cases described in the kidney so far [65, 68]. Carcinoid tumours arising from the genitourinary tract constitute less than 1% of all NETs and less than 1% of all genitourinary neoplasms, with kidney being the second most frequent site of WD-NETs in each sex, following testis in men and ovaries in women [67, 68]. Overall ~150 cases have been reported in literature to date, mostly deriving from small series focusing on WD-NETs, in which different grading methods, often not including the Ki-67 proliferative index, and no official American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) staging system have been applied [64– 68]. However, some consistent findings have emerged across the series [64-68]. R-NETs affect equally men and women in their 50s (median age at diagnosis of 57 years). The pathogenesis is unclear, since neuroendocrine cells are not normally found in adult renal parenchyma. This would suggest an origin either from neural crest cells entrapped during embryogenesis or from activation of gene sequences common to neuroendocrine programmed cells in multipotent stem cells within foci of metaplastic or teratomatous epithelium. This hypothesis is further supported by the strong association seen between renal NENs and congenital or acquired anomalies of the kidneys, such as metaplasia of the urothelium induced by chronic inflammation, mature cystic teratoma and horseshoe kidney (20-30%) of renal NENs arise within a horseshoe kidney, with a calculated relative risk ranging from 62 to 120, markedly greater than that for Wilms tumour or transitional cell carcinoma), albeit their clinical course appears to be more benign than that of the non-horseshoe variant [67, 69]. Regional lymph nodes involvement and distant metastasis to liver and bone are common at diagnosis (reported in up to 92% and 46% of cases, respectively), with most of patients (75%) experiencing secondary localizations at any point of the disease course [64–67].

16.4.1 Clinical Manifestation and Diagnosis

Abdominal, back or flank pain, accompanied by haematuria or fever, is the most common presenting symptom; an incidental diagnosis is made in 25–30% of cases and carcinoid syndrome occurs in less than 15% of patients. Even rarer are symptoms related to other neuroendocrine syndromes, such as glucagon-induced constipation, Zollinger– Ellison, Verner–Morrison and Cushing's syndromes [70–73]. Usually diagnosed at a large size (>4 cm in 75% of cases) with invasion of the perirenal or sinus/hilar fat or of the renal vein in almost half of the cases, R-NETs show no distinctive pattern on CT or MRI. They can present as well-circumscribed, lobulated, bulging and heterogeneous (in the 60% of cases) solid masses, occasionally associated with cystic components and calcifications (up to 30% of cases), characterized by non- or slight enhancement). The presence of necrosis and haemorrhage indicates a more aggressive behaviour while calcifications are often associated with long-standing tumour growth or presence of teratomatous elements [3, 4]. Along with conventional radiographic techniques, 68Ga-DOTATATE PET is instrumental for the diagnosis, staging and follow-up of carcinoid tumours [66, 67, 74]. A preoperative histopathological diagnosis through a renal trucut biopsy is recommended.

16.4.2 Treatment

Treatment of R-NETs depends on their size, extension and the presence of metastases.

16.4.2.1 Localized Disease

If it is commonly accepted that a **radical/partial nephrectomy**, eventually accompanied by a **lymph node dissection**, is the gold standard treatment for early stage disease, no trial so far has shown its direct impact on survival, as well as the utility of any neoadjuvant/adjuvant treatment. Close follow-up after surgery is strongly recommended [67].

16.4.2.2 Advanced Disease

Given the high rate of successful **total resection** and the evidence of improved outcomes in patients with other metastatic NENs undergoing hepatic debulking or transarterial embolization [75], an aggressive surgical approach (i.e. radical nephrectomy, lymphadenectomy and eventual hepatic metastasectomy) has been proposed as the cornerstone of treatment for primary R-NETs [64–67]. However, given their indolent clinical course, the possible development of metastatic recurrence in most patients even after radical resection and the lack of data comparing the survival of patients who have not undergone surgery or complete resection, the superiority of such an aggressive strategy in terms of survival advantage has to be demonstrated [64–67]. Moreover, the role of debulking/cytoreductive surgery, CT, RT, LA-SSAs, and targeted therapy in the management of advanced disease remains an open question [67].

Systemic therapy plays a role in case of inoperability, residual disease or surgically notaccessible recurrence [64–67]. The survival benefit of chemotherapeutic regimens, including cisplatin/carboplatin, etoposide and 5-FU, in the management of renal carcinoid tumours has not been proven [67]. If consistent responses to CT have not been observed, the use of LA-SSAs as a first-line therapy has shown disease stabilization in almost half of patients, with another half of them rescued by the second-line agent everolimus. The only patient who received simultaneous everolimus and SSA in the first-line setting showed documented radiographic disease regression at 3 months, but progression at 7 months [64]. In the absence of a solid clinical experience with LA-SSAs in renal NENs treatment, it seems reasonable to consider them as a first-line therapy for patients with advanced WD-NETs, relying on the abovementioned few publications and, mostly, on the results of welldesigned trials on GEP NETs that demonstrated not only a good control of hormonal excess by means of these agents, but also an antineoplastic activity in both functionally active and inactive NETs, resulting in a significantly prolonged time to disease progression (14.3 vs. 6 months in the "placebo" group) [59]. Similarly, based on the evidence of an extension of the progression-free survival (PFS) time using everolimus in patients with metastatic non-functional lung and GEP NENs, it seems appropriate to consider the mTOR inhibitor as a first-line therapy for patients with renal NENs that do not express somatostatin receptors, other than as a secondline choice in alternative to the tyrosine kinase inhibitor sunitinib and PRRT for patients with progression during SSA therapy [55, 59, 76]. The radiologic response in three of six patients

who underwent **RT** (five with palliative purpose on metastatic disease and one as adjuvant chemoradiotherapy, CRT, to the tumour resection bed), with the other three showing disease stability, gives reason to palliative RT of symptomatic metastases [64, 67]. Based on the results of a phase III randomized clinical trial, **PRRT** with 177Lu-dotatate has been recently approved for the treatment of GEP NETs after progression during LA-SSA therapy, and this therapeutic technique seems also effective, often resulting in durable disease stability, for pancreatic and thoracic NENs [57, 77-79]. Consequently, the indication for PRRT as a second-line therapy option can be extended to WD R-NETs expressing somatostatin receptors [64].

Combined approaches have been used for PD renal NECs, but with suboptimal results, as demonstrated by the median OS of 8-10 months reported by two reviews on patients with renal SCNECs [80]. These neoplasms are indeed overly aggressive, often presenting with extrarenal extension not amenable to complete resection, bringing about a rapidly fatal outcome regardless of the therapeutic strategies adopted. However, both adjuvant RT on the residual disease and upfront systemic platinumbased CT seem to improve the prognosis [65]. In fact, although palliative in nature, the initial relative chemosensitivity of SCNECs makes cytotoxic chemotherapy to become the mainstay of treatment of these high-grade malignancies, with best results demonstrated if it is given preoperatively [64, 65, 67]. Moreover, platinum-based CT alone has yielded a better, although not statistically different, survival compared to surgery alone in genitourinary SCNECs [81]. As a result, it could be reasonable to offer CT as first-line therapy to patients with recognized PD renal NECs, reserving nephrectomy only for those selected cases with high risk of local complications [68].

Metastasis of renal NENs are possible even years after treatment, indicating the need for long-term follow-up, with images taken within 6 months after primary treatment and then every 6–12 months on an individual basis [64–67].

16.5 Gynaecologic Neuroendocrine Tumours

NETs of the female genital tract, often occurring in association with other epithelial and germ cell neoplasms, account for less than 2% of all gynaecologic cancers [82–85]. The most common site is the cervix (cNETs), where the high-grade forms are much more prevalent, followed by the ovaries (oNETs), where most are clinically benign carcinoid tumours arising within mature cystic teratomas, and the uterus (uNETs) [82– 84]. Primary NETs of the vagina and vulva (vNETs) are sporadically reported as high-grade neuroendocrine carcinoma (NEC) at both sites and as Merkel cell carcinoma in the vulva, often presenting metastatic disease and showing extremely aggressive behaviour [86, 87].

While the classification of primary NTEs occurring at endometrium, cervix, vagina, and vulva has been updated in the WHO 2014 to match the GEP terminology that grouped typical and atypical carcinoids into low-grade NETs and neuroendocrine carcinoma of small-cell (SCNEC) and large-cell (LCNEC) type into high-grade NETs, the current ovarian classification does not adopt a separate category for ovarian NENs, including low-grade NETs among the tumours arising from a dermoid cyst and the high-grade SCNEC of pulmonary type in the miscellaneous category [86-89]. The largest retrospective review, including more than 500 patients with gynaecologic NET (43% cNET, 30% oNET, 20% uNET, 7% vNET), demonstrates an incidence on the rise over 25 years (from 0.3 per million in 1987 to 1.3 per million in 2012), without any signs of improvement in OS which usually results in less than 2 years [90].

16.5.1 Cervical Neuroendocrine Tumours

Cervical neuroendocrine tumours (cNETs), representing 0.9–1.5% of the tumours of the uterine cervix with an annual incidence of 0.06/100000 women, are mostly poorly differentiated and aggressive HPV-associated neoplasms (high-risk HPV DNA and overexpression of p16 are detected in over 95% of high-grade cNETs and in no one of low-grade cNETs), diagnosed at a relatively young age (median age: 37-46 years) and at an advanced stage [91-93]. Even neoplasms with a minor component of high-grade NEC may behave aggressively, commonly presenting lymph-vascular space invasion (LVSI), regional and distant lymph node involvement, and local or distant relapses (mainly in the lung, liver, bone and brain), and therefore carrying an ominous prognosis (a median DFS of 16 months and a median OS of 24-54 months have emerged from different reports) [85–87, 93–95]. Since their exceptional rarity in this site, the prognosis of typical carcinoids is difficult to be evaluated, whereas atypical carcinoids and NECs, frequently associated with subclinical lymphatic and hematogenous spreading even in apparently early disease, have overall low survival rates [86, 87, 90-95]. Other than histotype, the tumour stage is the strongest prognostic factor, with age [91], smoking, tumour size [96], depth of invasion, LVSI, lymph node involvement [97] and margin status [96] being other relevant prognostic variables. The stated 5-year OS for SCNEC, the most common oNEC subtype, was 30-60% for early stages and 0–17% for advanced stages [93, 96]. The combination of negative HER-2/neu and positive EGFR expression had the worst impact on LCNEC patients' survival, where a median OS of 16.5 months has been reported [98].

No prospective, well-designed clinical trials are currently available, making cNETs a therapeutic challenge for clinicians. Different multimodality approaches, mainly adapted from those of lung NETs [24, 82, 99, 100], have been reported even in early stage patients and, specifically, radical hysterectomy followed by adjuvant chemotherapy (ACT) or concurrent chemoradiation (CCRT) for early stage disease; definitive CCRT sometimes preceded by neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) and followed by ACT for locally advanced disease; palliative CT for metastatic disease.

In this respect, locoregional treatment alone has proved inadequate both to control local disease and to prevent distant metastases; as recently demonstrated by a SEER database analysis reporting equally poor outcomes in cNET patients undergoing surgery alone and those undergoing primary RT, in which loco-regional recurrences outside of the irradiated fields (specifically in para-aortic lymph node or vagina) frequently occurred [91, 93]. CT both in NACT and ACT setting and in concomitance with CCRT demonstrated to improve the OS in patients with all stages when compared with other treatment modalities [99]. The most effective and frequently used regimen involve the combination of cisplatin and etoposide [94]. On multivariable analysis, besides early stage disease, the use of radical hysterectomy and any CT were independent prognostic variables for improved OS [91, 93, 97]. However, recurrence and progression frequently occur, leading to a lower OS at all stages compared to that for squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix [91-97, 99]. In a series of approximately 60 patients with LCNEC, perioperative CT was an independent prognostic variable for longer OS. Unfortunately, most of these patients undergoing radical surgery and adjuvant CT or CCRT developed a recurrence and died within 6-24 months after the operation [101].

Conversely, no information on the use of somatostatin analogues (SSAs), mTOR inhibitors and antiangiogenic agents are currently available for cNETs [93].

In Table 16.1, there is a proposal of stagebased therapeutic strategies drawn from a "systematic review" that has conducted an in-depth analysis of the different treatment modalities available so far in the literature [93].

The high recurrence rate of patients with early clinical stage and the poor prognosis of those with advanced disease make the detection of novel therapeutic options strongly warranted for the management of cNETs. The statistically significant PFS benefit observed in patients with recurrent SCNECs who received a combination of chemotherapeutic agents and *bevacizumab* compared to those who received regimens not containing bevacizumab [102] and the apparent

Stage disease (FIGO)	Suggested treatment strategies
IA-IIA1	- Radical hysterectomy + pelvic and Para-aortic lymphadenectomy followed by ACT (PE
	regimen)
	- Adjuvant cisplatin-based CCRT could be added in case of lymph nodes positivity or
	surgical margins involved (extra-cervical disease ± positive lymph nodes)
IB–IIA2	- NACT (PE regimen for 3 cycles), followed by radical hysterectomy with pelvic and
	Para-aortic lymphadenectomy
	- ACT (3 additional cycles of PE) in case of complete or optimal partial response
	(persistent residual disease with <3 mm stromal invasion and negative lymph nodes)
	- Adjuvant cisplatin-based CCRT followed by 3 additional cycles of CT (PE regimen) in
	case of persistent intra-cervical residual disease (>3 mm stromal invasion and negative
	lymph nodes) or residual extra-cervical disease ± positive lymph nodes
IIB–IVA	- NACT (PE regimen for 3 cycles), followed by cisplatin-based CCRT (on both pelvis and
	Para-aortic area) and then by 3 additional cycles of CT (PE regimen)
IVB	- NACT (PE regimen for 3 cycles), followed by palliative tailored RT on the pelvis ± on
	single distant metastases

Table 16.1 Therapeutic algorithm proposed by Gaducci et al. [93]

negative prognostic implication of *survivin* expression [97] suggest a promising future for the incorporation of targeted therapies into the treatment of these tumours [93]. Conversely, hormonal therapy has no clinical usefulness, considering the extremely low rate of positive oestrogen receptor and progesterone receptor staining [98].

16.5.2 Ovarian Neuroendocrine Tumours

Ovarian neuroendocrine tumours (oNETs) arise from the neural crest tissue present in the stroma and surface epithelium or within teratoma [88]. Indeed, although histologically like other typical/ atypical carcinoid tumours, low-grade NETs in the ovary are often present as a component of a "specialized" Well-differentiated teratoma. oNETs can manifest four histological patterns: insular, trabecular, stromal and mucinous, with the first being the most common and the latter being the most unfavourable, potentially associated with advance stage, pelvic spread and metastasis, whereas poorly differentiated oNECs are morphologically identical to LCNECs in the lung [87, 88]. To date, only 58 cases of ovarian LCNECs (of which only 15 were pure LCNECs) have been reported, all characterized by extreme aggressiveness and lethal outcome even when diagnosed at an early stage [103]. Data from

major series including patients affected by oNEC of small or large or mixed cell type pointed out a mean age at diagnosis of 55-60 years (with 20–40% of the patients younger than 50 years), a unilateral involvement in 60% of cases, a high prevalence of metastatic disease on initial presentation (70%), and a median OS of 16-30 months [90, 94, 103, 104]. In the SEER registry, with a mean survival of 27 months, close to that of ovarian carcinosarcoma, the oNEC histotype, luckily representing only the ~0.4% of all ovarian malignancies, resulted the most aggressive epithelial ovarian cancer (including serous, endometrioid, mucinous and clear cell) [87, 104]. The 1-, 3- and 5-year survival was of 58%, 33% and 27%, respectively [104]. Demographic characteristics including race, age and the year of diagnosis did not influence the prognosis; while early clinical stage (FIGO stage I/II), low tumour grade and surgical treatment independently predicted a better survival [104].

Due to a lack of clinical research into ovarian NETs, individualized treatment guidelines have not been established, and whether these tumours should be treated according to guidelines for GEP NETs or those for ovarian cancer remains unclear [104]. At present, most ovarian NENs are treated according to ovarian cancer protocols, whose unquestionable cornerstone is primary surgical debulking, which results in undoubted benefit for the patient [89, 105]. In line, data from

the SEER database showed that an important strategy for improving survival rates was the achievement of a complete surgical resection that, therefore, should be undertaken as a primary treatment modality for ovarian NECs [90, 104]. Specifically, the standard procedure includes a debulking surgery (bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy, extra-fascial hysterectomy, prophylactic omentectomy and, when necessary, pelvic and para-aortic lymph node dissection, appendectomy and bowel resection) with the goal of a complete macroscopic tumour resection, followed by ACT based on carboplatin and paclitaxel in line with the treatment standards for epithelial ovarian cancer [88, 89, 103, 105]. Although routinely performed as an adaption from ovarian cancer surgery, whether such a radical procedure provides an added benefit is unclear at this point [89]. Accordingly to what stated by the most recent European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) guidelines with regard to the epithelial ovarian cancer treatment, conservative surgery alone (unilateral salpingo-oophorectomy with a fertility-sparing approach) can be applied to those patients with Ki-67 \leq 5% and FIGO Ia, especially in younger patients with unfulfilled wish for a child [103]. In any case, to preserve the fertility of patients undergoing ACT and/or pelvic irradiation, oocyte and embryo cryopreservation and ovarian transposition (oophoropexy) should be offered in routine reproductive clinical practice [103].

For poorly differentiated NECs, different ACT regimens (including platinum, paclitaxel, etoposide and bleomycin) and, less frequently, postoperative RT have been used [88, 89, 103, 105]. The paucity of data still suggests that platinum-based CT, mainly associated with etoposide, may be of benefit to patients, inducing some authors to propose it as the adjuvant treatment-of-choice in high-grade ovarian NECs, mandatory for stages III-IV, in line with the recommendations for GEP and pulmonary NECs [89, 94, 103]. General opinion is to prefer a neuroendocrine-aimed platinum-etoposide regimen in the case of pure NEC or if the neuroendocrine component is much more prevalent and to decide on a first-line paclitaxel plus carboplatin treatment in the presence of a prevailing proportion of epithelial elements in mixed high-grade neoplasms [103]. However, considering the substantial side effects (i.e. nausea, hair-loss and hemotoxicity) and the scantiness of data not confirming a definitive benefit of adjuvant platinum-based CT, it is unclear if it should be always administered in early stages [89, 103].

In general, there is limited evidence to use systemic CT in slowly growing low-proliferative NETs (suggested Ki-67 cut-off of <30%), where rather alternative approaches such as somatostatin receptor-targeted therapies (SSAs or PRRT) should be considered [89]. The efficacy of SSAs in slowing tumour growth and improving carcinoid symptoms is reported in few reports on oNETs limited to well-differentiated neoplasms and should only be discussed in poorly differentiated tumours when the Ki-67 index remains below 30% [106]. Finally, novel targeted therapies, such as CDK4/6 inhibitors, are being studied in pre-clinical and clinical research [107].

16.5.3 Endometrial Neuroendocrine Tumours (eNETs)

High-grade eNETs account for 0.8% of all endometrial carcinomas, with nearly 130 cases reported in the literature, mainly as SCNEC and mixed with other more typical histotypes [86, 87]. Usually described as bulky, ill-defined, large endometrial-based masses with deep myometrial invasion, eNETs manifest clinically with vaginal bleeding, similarly to other uterine malignancies, and rarely with symptoms associated to a paraneoplastic syndrome [94, 108]. According to the largest published series, the average age at diagnosis is approximately 60 years without clear risk factors, an advanced stage (FIGO stage \geq IIIA) is reported in over 60% of cases with distant metastasis present in 30-50% of patients; median OS is about 50 months with a quarter of patients surviving more than 5 years [90, 94, 108]. The recurrence rate and mean OS in stage I-II vs. stage III-IV disease have been reported to be 50% vs. 88%

and 22 vs. 12 months, respectively [94]. Typically, eNETs are positive for at least one neuroendocrine marker in at least 10% of the tumour cells and present frequent lymph-vascular space invasion, geographic necrosis and a high mitotic index [87, 94, 108].

Analogously to the therapeutic strategy adopted for cervical SCNECs, multimodal approaches have been employed for endometrial equivalents. In all cases, surgery (hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy with variable lymphadenectomies) was performed as a first-line therapy, followed by different adjuvant treatments (platinum-based CT or CCRT or pelvic RT). Regardless of the therapeutic strategy, all patients with stage IVB disease died with a median OS of 9 months [89, 108].

16.5.4 Vaginal Neuroendocrine Tumours

Approximately 28 cases of SCNEC arising in the vagina have been described in literature, two of them presenting with Cushing's syndrome. In these extraordinary cases, a diagnosis of exclusion must be performed, ruling out metastasis from elsewhere. The median age of diagnosis is 55 years, with 65% having stage I-II and 35% stage III-IV disease [109]. Surgery or radiotherapy alone have been adopted to treat early stage vaginal NECs, while CCRT using a PE regimen has been the most common treatment modality for advanced stage disease. Despite the combined approaches, this aggressive malignancy maintains a high mortality rate with a mean OS of 10 months and only two reported cases with a relative long survival (2 and 3.5 years) [109].

16.6 Breast Neuroendocrine Tumours

Breast neuroendocrine tumours (bNETs) are a rare condition that constitutes approximately 0.5–1% among all breast cancers, and it mostly affects postmenopausal women, of Caucasian ethnicity, between sixth and seventh decades of

life; but it is also described as rare cases in male patients [110–112]. Unlike other types of breast invasive ductal carcinomas (BIDC), the bNET is frequently characterized by a greater propensity to metastasize to the loco-regional lymph nodes and often it is diagnosed at stage II of the disease. The real prevalence of bNET is likely underestimated because of little use of immunohistochemical techniques in routine pathological anatomy [111]. Indeed, despite some morphological features may suggest the possible neuroendocrine origin of a neoplasm, the certain diagnosis of a NET is based on the positivity of specific neuroendocrine markers. Among these, synaptophysin and chromogranin are the most specific and sensitive, and their positivity respectively characterize about 50% and 100% of poorly differentiated carcinomas. Furthermore, in the majority of welldifferentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas and in more than half of those poorly, it is possible to identified the presence of specific sexual hormonal markers. Commonly, the bNETs are featured by immunophenotypic pattern luminal B (ER and/or PR positive, Her2 negative, high proliferation rate); this aspect is more representative bNET than the others BIDC. However, in some studies, an equivalent prevalence of luminal A (ER and/or PR positive, Her2 negative, low proliferation rate) and luminal B pattern has been reported, while other studies showed the prevalence of luminal A pattern [110, 113]. Like other small-cell carcinomas, the poorly differentiated bNETs often express the thyroid transcription factor 1 (TTF1), and, in about 45% of cases, they present androgen receptor in co-expression with gross disease fluid protein 15 (GCDFP15) [112]. Nowadays, the classification of these tumours is still impaired because of the rarity of this specific histological type. Based on the current classification of neuroendocrine tumours and carcinomas, the bNET could be classified into welldifferentiated NET (breast carcinoid tumours NET G1, G2 or G3); Ductal carcinoma in situ (NEC-DCIS), with neuroendocrine in situ differentiation; invasive carcinomas BIDC, solid invasive papillary carcinomas with neuroendocrine differentiation and mucinous carcinomas, currently considered as breast non-neuroendocrine carcinomas; poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas, that is considered a sub-type of invasive cancer. In some rare cases, characterized by remarkable aggressiveness, bNETs show Merkel's cellular features.

16.6.1 Clinical Manifestation and Diagnosis

The clinical presentation of bNET is like other histologic type of BIDC; however, according to their neuroendocrine origin, it is possible to observe hormonal hypersecretion syndrome [112]. The bNETs are still a heterogeneous entity with nosographic and histological difficulties. Indeed, the diagnostic path and the knowledge about their biological behaviour are not yet certain due to the limited number of cases. The characterization of neuroendocrine markers is not routinely performed except in cases where the pathologist has a suspicion for the presence of a neuroendocrine component, so the incidence of bNETs may be underestimated. Despite the limitations related with the poor representation of different study population, now neuroendocrine tumours of the breast are treated similarly to other invasive breast carcinomas. Surgery is the first and best choice of the treatment for early bNETs [114], while no specific studies are present for adjuvant radiation treatment. Radiotherapy should be considered following the already known recommendations just given for the other kinds of invasive breast cancer. Tumour size and nodal metastases represent the prognostic factors for evaluating the possible relapse for bNETs, as for other types of breast cancer [115, 116].

16.6.2 Treatment

CT can be used as AT in patients with a high risk of relapse or as neoadjuvant therapy in cases of locally advanced or not operable bNETs. Patients with hormone receptor-positive bNET are nor-

mally candidates to undergo adjuvant endocrine therapy [117]. The negative prognostic value of proliferation index, patients with hormone receptor-positive and high Ki67 may also benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy in addition to endocrine therapy [118]. Different chemotherapy schedules have been suggested such as anthracyclines and/or taxanes, also combinations of platiagents etoposide, fluorouracil/ num and epirubicin/cyclophosphamide followed by docetaxel. docetaxel/epirubicin/cyclophosphamide, cyclophosphamide and doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide/methotrexate/fluorouracil, paclitaxel alone, carboplatin/paclitaxel, carboplatin or cisplatin and etoposide, and cisplatin and irinotecan [117–119]. HER2 is rarely expressed by bNET [120–122], and its prognostic role in bNET is not so clear. bNETs are able to metastasize even many years therefore a long-term follow up is suggested. For bNETs, the expression of somatostatin receptors should theoretically support the PPRT and LA-SSAs treatment in patients positive for SSTR at 68Gallium PET-CT [123]. Future perspectives underline the possible use of different molecules targeting for specific pathways such as PIK3CA, fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) family members [124, 125]. The mutation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 (VEGFR2) (activating mutation) [126] seems to be strongly expressed in bNET [127]. This observation supports a rationale for the possible use of antiangiogenic molecules. It is well known that the PI3K/AKT/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway is involved in the pathogenesis and progression of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours (pNETs) [128]. Everolimus (mTOR inhibitor) is efficacy in welland moderately differentiated pNET [76]. Taking into account that PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway seems to be implicated also in the mechanism of the resistance to hormone therapy in oestrogen receptor (ER)-positive breast cancer [129], the addition of everolimus to the aromatase inhibitor exemestane seems to be able to significantly prolong progression-free survival of these patients [130, 131].

References

- Ilett EE, Langer SW, Olsen IH, Federspiel B, Kjær A, Knigge U. Neuroendocrine carcinomas of the gastroenteropancreatic system: a comprehensive review. Diagnostics (Basel). 2015;5(2):119–76.
- Babu Kanakasetty G, Dasappa L, Lakshmaiah KC, Kamath M, Jacob LA, Mallekavu SB, et al. Clinicopathological profile of pure neuroendocrine neoplasms of the esophagus: a south Indian center experience. J Oncol. 2016;2016:2402417.
- Egashira A, Morita M, Kumagai R, Taguchi KI, Ueda M, Yamaguchi S, et al. Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the esophagus: clinicopathological and immunohistochemical features of 14 cases. PLoS One. 2017;12(3):e0173501.
- Giannetta E, Guarnotta V, Rota F, DeCicco F, Grillo F, Colao A, Faggiano A, NIKE. A rare rarity: Neuroendocrine tumor of the esophagus. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2019;137:92–107.
- Casas F, Ferrer F, Farrus B, Casals J, Biete A. Primary small cell carcinoma of the esophagus: a review of the literature with emphasis on therapy and prognosis. Cancer. 1997;80:1366–72.
- Al Mansoor S, Ziske C, Schmidt-Wolf IG. Primary small cell carcinoma of the esophagus: patient data metaanalysis and review of the literature. Ger Med Sci. 2013;11:Doc12.
- Brenner B, Tang LH, Shia J, Klimstra DS, Kelsen DP. Small cell carcinomas of the gastrointestinal tract: clinicopathological features and treatment approach. Semin Oncol. 2007;34(1):43–50.
- Zhu Y, Qiu B, Liu H, Li Q, Xiao W, Hu Y, Liu M. Primary small cell carcinoma of the esophagus: review of 64 cases from a single institution. Dis Esophagus. 2014;27:152–8.
- Schizas D, Mastoraki A, Kirkilesis GI, Sioulas AD, Papanikolaou IS, Misiakos EP, et al. Neuroendocrine tumors of the esophagus: state of the art in diagnostic and therapeutic management. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2017;48:299–304.
- Rindi G, Arnold R, Bosman FT. Nomenclature and classification of neuroendocrine neoplasms of the digestive system. In: Bosman TF, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND, editors. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Digestive System. 4th ed. Lyon: International Agency for Research on cancer (IARC); 2010. p. 13.
- Bennouna J, Bardet E, Deguiral P, Douillard JY. Small cell carcinoma of the esophagus: analysis of 10 cases and review of the published data. Am J Clin Oncol. 2000;23:455–9.
- Ding J, Ji J, Zhu W, Zhou K, Han J, Zhang Y, et al. A retrospective study of different treatments of limitedstage small-cell esophageal carcinoma and associated prognostic factor analysis. Dis Esophagus. 2013;26:696–702.
- Chen WW, Wang F, Zhang DS, Luo HY, Wang ZQ, Wang FH, et al. Primary small cell carcinoma of the

esophagus: clinicopathological study of 44 cases. BMC Cancer. 2014a;14:222.

- Yan H, Wang R, Jiang S, Zhu K, Feng R, Xu X, Meng X. NSE can predict the sensitivity to definitive chemoradiotherapy of small cell carcinoma of esophagus. Med Oncol. 2014;31:796.
- Chen WW, Wang F, Chen S, Wang L, Ren C, Luo HY, et al. Detailed analysis of prognostic factors in primary esophageal small cell carcinoma. Ann Thorac Surg. 2014b;97:1975–81.
- Dasari A, Mehta K, Byers LA, Sorbye H, Yao JC. Comparative study of lung and extrapulmonary poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas: a SEER database analysis of 162,983 cases. Cancer. 2018;124(4):807–15.
- 17. Walter T, Tougeron D, Baudin E, Le Malicot K, Lecomte T, Malka D, et al. Poorly differentiated gastro-entero-pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas: are they really heterogeneous? Insights from the FFCD-GTE national cohort. Eur J Cancer. 2017;79:158.
- Delle Fave G, Kwekkeboom DJ, Van Cutsem E, Rindi G, Kos-Kudla B, Knigge U, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of patients with gastroduodenal neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95:74–87.
- Pisarska M, Małczak P, Major P, Wysocki M, Budzyński A, Pędziwiatr M. Enhanced recovery after surgery protocol in oesophageal cancer surgery: systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2017;12(3):e0174382.
- Omloo JM, Lagarde SM, Hulscher JB, Reitsma JB, Fockens P, van Dekken H, et al. Extended transthoracic resection compared with limited transhiatal resection for adenocarcinoma of the mid/distal esophagus: five-year survival of a randomized clinical trial. Ann Surg. 2007;246:992–1000; discussion 1000–1001.
- Scarpa M, Valente S, Alfieri R, Cagol M, Diamantis G, Ancona E, Castoro C. Systematic review of health-related quality of life after esophagectomy for esophageal cancer. World J Gastroenterol. 2011;17:4660–74.
- Hou X, Wei JC, Wu JX, Wang X, Fu JH, Lin P, Yang HX. Multidisciplinary modalities achieve encouraging long-term survival in resectable limiteddisease esophageal small cell carcinoma. PLoS One. 2013;8:e69259.
- 23. Meng MB, Zaorsky NG, Jiang C, Tian LJ, Wang HH, Liu CL, et al. Radiotherapy and chemotherapy are associated with improved outcomes over surgery and chemotherapy in the management of limited-stage small cell esophageal carcinoma. Radiother Oncol. 2013;106:317.
- Walenkamp AM, Sonke GS, Sleijfer DT. Clinical and therapeutic aspects of extrapulmonary small cell carcinoma. Cancer Treat Rev. 2009;35:228.
- 25. Eriksson B, Annibale B, Bajetta E, Mitry E, Pavel M, Platania M, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine tumors:

chemotherapy in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2009;90:214.

- Fazio N, Spada F, Giovannini M. Chemotherapy in gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) neuroendocrine carcinomas (NEC): a critical view. Cancer Treat Rev. 2013;39:270.
- 27. Sorbye H, Welin S, Langer SW, Vestermark LW, Holt N, Osterlund P, et al. Predictive and prognostic factors for treatment and survival in 305 patients with advanced gastrointestinal neuroendocrine carcinoma (WHO G3): the NORDIC NEC study. Ann Oncol. 2013;24:152.
- Yamaguchi T, Machida N, Morizane C, Kasuga A, Takahashi H, Sudo K, et al. Multicenter retrospective analysis of systemic chemotherapy for advanced neuroendocrine carcinoma of the digestive system. Cancer Sci. 2014;105:1176–81.
- Olsen IH, Sørensen JB, Federspiel B, Kjaer A, Hansen CP, Knigge U, Langer SW. Temozolomide as second or third line treatment of patients with neuroendocrine carcinomas. ScientificWorldJournal. 2012;2012:170496. https:// doi.org/10.1100/2012/170496.
- Hadoux J, Malka D, Planchard D, Scoazec JY, Caramella C, Guigay J, et al. Post-first-line FOLFOX chemotherapy for grade 3 neuroendocrine carcinoma. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2015;22:289.
- Kukar M, Groman A, Malhotra U, Warren GW, Bogner P, Nwogu CE, et al. Small cell carcinoma of the esophagus: a SEER database analysis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:4239–44.
- 32. Yamashita H, Nakagawa K, Asari T, Murakami N, Igaki H, Okuma K, Ohtomo K. Concurrent chemoradiation alone with curative intent for limited-disease small-cell esophageal cancer in nine Japanese patients. Dis Esophagus. 2009;22:113–8.
- 33. Thapa P, Parghane R, Basu S. (177)Lu-DOTATATE peptide receptor radionuclide therapy in metastatic or advanced and inoperable primary neuroendocrine tumors of rare sites. World J Nucl Med. 2017;16:223–8.
- 34. Chaer R, Massad MG, Evans A, Snow NJ, Geha AS. Primary neuroendocrine tumors of the thymus. Ann Thorac Surg. 2002;74(5):1733–40.
- Gaur P, Leary C, Yao JC. Thymic neuroendocrine tumors: a SEER database analysis of 160 patients. Ann Surg. 2010;251:1117.
- 36. Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A, Dagohoy C, Leary C, Mares JE, et al. One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:3063.
- 37. Gibril F, Chen YJ, Schrump DS, Vortmeyer A, Zhuang Z, Lubenskyet IA, et al. Prospective study of thymic carcinoids in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88:1066.
- Strobel P, Marx A, Chan JKC. Thymid neuroendocrine tumours: typical and atypical carcinoid. In: Travis WD, Brambilla E, Buirke AP, Marx A,

Nicholson AG, editors. WHO Classification of Tumours of the lung, pleura, thymus, and heart. 4th ed. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2015. p. 234.

- Moran CA, Suster S. Neuroendocrine carcinomas (carcinoid tumor) of the thymus. A clinicopathologic analysis of 80 cases. Am J Clin Pathol. 2000;114:100.
- Tiffet O, Nicholson AG, Ladas G, Sheppard MN, Goldstraw P. A clinicopathologic study of 12 neuroendocrine tumors arising in the thymus. Chest. 2003;124(1):141–6.
- 41. Neary NM, Lopez-Chavez A, Abel BS, Boyce AM, Schaub N, Kwong K, et al. Neuroendocrine ACTHproducing tumor of the thymus--experience with 12 patients over 25 years. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97:2223.
- Sullivan JL, Weksler B. Neuroendocrine tumors of the thymus: analysis of factors affecting survival in 254 patients. Ann Thorac Surg. 2017;103:935.
- 43. Filosso PL, Yao X, Ahmad U, Zhan Y, Huang J, Ruffini E, et al. Outcome of primary neuroendocrine tumors of the thymus: a joint analysis of the International Thymic Malignancy Interest Group and the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons databases. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2015;149:103.
- 44. Cardillo G, Rea F, Lucchi M, Paul MA, Margaritora S, Carleo F, et al. Primary neuroendocrine tumors of the thymus: a multicenter experience of 35 patients. Ann Thorac Surg. 2012;94:241.
- 45. Lardinois D, Weder W. Diagnostic strategies in mediastinal mass. In: Patterson GA, Pearson FG, Cooper JD, et al., editors. Pearson's thoracic & esophageal surgery, vol. 1. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone, Elsevier; 2008. p. 1506.
- 46. Su S, Colson YL. Overview of benign and malignant mediastinal diseases. In: Sugarbaker DJ, Bueno R, Colson YL, et al., editors. Adult chest surgery. 2nd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill Education; 2015. p. 1234.
- Kaiser LR. Surgical treatment of thymic epithelial neoplasms. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2008;22:475.
- 48. Agzarian J, Quandeel H, Bancos I, Johnson GB, Scharf SC, Thompson GB, et al. Use of DOTATATE PET/CT scan in the diagnosis and staging of Thymic atypical carcinoid tumor in a patient with secondary ACTH-dependent Cushing syndrome: look twice and cut once. World J Endoc Surg. 2018; 10:127.
- Groves AM, Mohan HK, Wegner EA, Hain SF, Bingham JB, Clarke SE. Positron emission tomography with FDG to show thymic carcinoid. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2004;182(2):511–3.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN). NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. https://www.nccn.org/professionals/
- Girard N. Neuroendocrine tumors of the thymus: the oncologist point of view. J Thorac Dis. 2017;9(Suppl 15):S1491–500.

- 52. Öberg K, Hellman P, Ferolla P, Papotti M, ESMO Guidelines Working Group. Neuroendocrine bronchial and thymic tumors: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(Suppl 7):vii120–3.
- 53. Caplin ME, Baudin E, Ferolla P, Filosso P, Garcia-Yuste M, Lim E, et al. ENETS consensus conference participants. Pulmonary neuroendocrine (carcinoid) tumors: European neuroendocrine tumor society expert consensus and recommendations for best practice for typical and atypical pulmonary carcinoids. Ann Oncol. 2015;26:1604–20.
- 54. Girard N, Ruffini E, Marx A, Faivre-Finn C, Peters S, ESMO Guidelines Committee. Thymic epithelial tumours: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(Suppl 5):v40–55.
- 55. Yao JC, Fazio N, Singh S, Buzzoni R, Carnaghi C, Wolin E, et al. Everolimus for the treatment of advanced, non-functional neuroendocrine tumours of the lung or gastrointestinal tract (RADIANT-4): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2016;387(10022):968–77.
- 56. Saranga-Perry V, Morse B, Centeno B, Kvols L, Strosberg J. Treatment of metastatic neuroendocrine tumors of the thymus with capecitabine and temozolomide: a case series. Neuroendocrinology. 2013;97(4):318–21. https://doi.org/10.1159/000345938.
- Strosberg J, El-Haddad G, Wolin E, Hendifar A, Yao J, Chasen B, et al. Phase 3 trial of (177)Lu-Dotatate for Midgut neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:125.
- 58. van Essen M, Krenning EP, Bakker WH, de Herder WW, van Aken MO, Kwekkeboom DJ. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with 177Lu-octreotate in patients with foregut carcinoid tumours of bronchial, gastric and thymic origin. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2007;34:1219.
- 59. Rinke A, Müller HH, Schade-Brittinger C, Klose KJ, Barth P, Wied M, et al. Placebo-controlled, doubleblind, prospective, randomized study on the effect of octreotide LAR in the control of tumor growth in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine midgut tumors: a report from the PROMID study group. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(28):4656–63.
- Caplin ME, Pavel M, Ćwikła JB, Phan AT, Raderer M, Sedláčková E, et al. Lanreotide in metastatic enteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(3):224–33.
- Takahashi T, Hatao K, Yamashita Y, Tanizawa Y. Ectopic ACTH syndrome due to thymic atypical carcinoid treated with combination chemotherapy of cisplatin and etoposide. Intern Med. 2003; 42:1197.
- 62. Ilias I, Torpy DJ, Pacak K, Mullen N, Wesley RA, Nieman LK. Cushing's syndrome due to ectopic corticotropin secretion: twenty years' experience at the national institutes of health. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90(8):4955–62.

- 63. Isidori AM, Kaltsas GA, Pozza C, Frajese V, Newell-Price J, Reznek RH, et al. The ectopic adrenocorticotropin syndrome: clinical features, diagnosis, management, and long-term follow-up. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91(2):371–7. https://doi. org/10.1210/jc.2005-1542.
- 64. McGarrah PW, Westin GFM, Hobday TJ, Scales JA, Ingimarsson JP, Leibovich BC, et al. Renal neuroendocrine neoplasms: a single-center experience. Clin Genitourin Cancer. 2020;18(4):e343–9. pii: S1558–7673(19)30354–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clgc.2019.11.003.
- 65. Teegavarapu PS, Rao P, Matrana M, Cauley DH, Wood CG, Tannir NM. Neuroendocrine tumors of the kidney: a single institution experience. Clin Genitourin Cancer. 2014;12:422–7.
- Romero FR, Rais-Bahrami S, Permpongkosol S, Fine SW, Kohanim S, Jarrett TW. Primary carcinoid tumors of the kidney. J Urol. 2006;176(6 Pt 1):2359–66.
- Korkmaz T, Seber S, Yavuzer D, Gumus M, Turhal NS. Primary renal carcinoid: treatment and prognosis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2013;87(3):256–64.
- 68. La Rosa S, Bernasconi B, Micello D, Finzi G, Capella C. Primary small cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the kidney: morphological, immunohistochemical, ultrastructural, and cytogenetic study of a case and review of the literature. Endocr Pathol. 2009;20(1):24–34.
- 69. Motta L, Candiano G, Pepe P, Panella P, Galia A, Aragona F. Neuroendocrine tumor in a horseshoe kidney: case report and updated follow-up of cases reported in the literature. Urol Int. 2004; 73:361–4.
- Gleeson MH, Bloom SR, Polak JM, Henry K, Dowling RH. Endocrine tumour in kidney affecting small bowel structure, motility, and absorptive function. Gut. 1971;12(10):773–82.
- Joshi VV, Nord KS, Hanna M. Case 3. Renal gastrinoma with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Pediatr Pathol. 1986;6(4):475–6.
- Hamilton I, Reis L, Bilimoria S, Long RG. A renal vipoma. Br Med J. 1980;281:1323.
- Hannah J, Lippe B, Lai-Goldman M, Bhuta S. Oncocytic carcinoid of the kidney associated with periodic Cushing's syndrome. Cancer. 1988;61:2136.
- Mufarrij P, Varkarakis IM, Studeman KD, Jarrett TW. Primary renal carcinoid tumor with liver metastases detected with somatostatin receptor imaging. Urology. 2005;65:1002.
- Pivovarcikova K, Agaimy A, Martinek P, Alaghehbandan R, Perez-Montiel D, Alvarado-Cabrero I, et al. Primary renal well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumour (carcinoid): next-generation sequencing study of 11 cases. Histopathology. 2019;75(1):104–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/ his.13856.
- Yao JC, Shah MH, Ito T, Lombard-Bohas C, Wolin EM, Van Cutsem E, et al. Everolimus for advanced

pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:514-23.

- 77. Raymond E, Dahan L, Raoul JL, Bang YJ, Borbath I, Lombard-Bohas C, et al. Sunitinib malate for the treatment of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:501–13.
- Naraev BG, Ramirez RA, Kendi AT, Halfdanarson TR. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy for patients with advanced lung carcinoids. Clin Lung Cancer. 2019;20:e376–92.
- Ramage J, Naraev BG, Halfdanarson TR. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy for patients with advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Semin Oncol. 2018;45:236–48.
- Hicks RJ, Kwekkeboom DJ, Krenning E, Bodei L, Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Arnold R, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine neoplasia: peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with radiolabeled somatostatin analogues. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;105: 295–309.
- Majhail NS, Elson P, Bukowski RM. Therapy and outcome of small cell carcinoma of the kidney: report of two cases and a systematic review of the literature. Cancer. 2003;97:1436–41.
- Gardner GJ, Reidy-Lagunes D, Gehrig PA. Neuroendocrine tumors of the gynecologic tract: a Society of Gynecologic Oncology (SGO) clinical document. Gynecol Oncol. 2011;122:190–8.
- Rouzbahman M, Clarke B. Neuroendocrine tumours of the gynecologic tract: select topics. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2013;30(3):224–33.
- Patibandla JR, Fehniger JE, Levine DA, Jelinic P. Small cell cancers of the female genital tract: molecular and clinical aspects. Gynecol Oncol. 2018;149(2):420–7.
- 85. Guadagno E, De Rosa G, Del Basso Del Caro M. Neuroendocrine tumours in rare sites: differences in nomenclature and diagnostics-a rare and ubiquitous histotype. J Clin Pathol. 2016;69:563–74.
- Kurman RJ, Carcangiu ML, Herrington CS, Young RH. WHO classification of tumours of the female reproductive organs. Lyon: IARC Press; 2014.
- Howitt BE, Kelly P, McCluggage WG. Pathology of neuroendocrine tumours of the female genital tract. Curr Oncol Rep. 2017;19:59.
- Vora M, Lacour RA, Black DR, Turbat-Herrera EA, Gu X. Neuroendocrine tumors in the ovary: histogenesis, pathologic differentiation, and clinical presentation. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2016;293(3):659–65.
- 89. Sehouli J, Woopen H, Pavel M, Richter R, Lauterbach LK, Taube E, et al. Neuroendocrine neoplasms of the ovary: a retrospective study of the north eastern German Society of Gynecologic Oncology (NOGGO). Anticancer Res. 2016;36:1003–9.
- 90. Gibbs J, Mei S, Economos K, Lee YC, Kanis MJ. Clinicopathologic features, incidence, and survival trends of gynecologic neuroendocrine tumors: a SEER database analysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2019;221:53.e1–6.

- Chen J, Macdonald OK, Gaffney DK. Incidence, mortality, and prognostic factors of small cell carcinoma of the cervix. Obstet Gynecol. 2008;111:1394–402.
- Margolis B, Tergas AI, Chen L, Hou JY, Burke WM, Hu JC, et al. Natural history and outcome of neuroendocrine carcinoma of the cervix. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;141(2):247–54.
- Gadducci A, Carinelli S, Aletti G. Neuroendrocrine tumors of the uterine cervix: a therapeutic challenge for gynecologic oncologists. Gynecol Oncol. 2017;144:637–46.
- Atienza-Amores M, Guerini-Rocco E, Soslow RA, Park KJ, Weigelt B. Small cell carcinoma of the gynecologic tract: a multifaceted spectrum of lesions. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;134(2):410–8.
- 95. Ganesan R, Hirschowitz L, Dawson P, Askew S, Pearmain P, Jones PW, et al. Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the cervix: review of a series of cases and correlation with outcome. Int J Surg Pathol. 2016;24:490–6.
- Chan JK, Loizzi V, Burger RA, Rutgers J, Monk BJ. Prognostic factors in neuroendocrine small cell cervical carcinoma: a multivariate analysis. Cancer. 2003;97(3):568–74.
- Sukpan K, Settakorn J, Khunamornpong S, Cheewakriangkrai C, Srisomboon J, Siriaunkgul S. Expression of survivin, CD117, and C-erbB-2 in neuroendocrine carcinoma of the uterine cervix. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2011;21(5):911–7.
- 98. Tangjitgamol S, Ramirez PT, Sun CC, See HT, Jhingran A, Kavanagh JJ, Deavers MT. Expression of HER-2/neu, epidermal growth factor receptor, vascular endothelial growth factor, cyclooxygenase-2, estrogen receptor, and progesterone receptor in small cell and large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the uterine cervix: a clinicopathologic and prognostic study. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2005;15(4):646–56.
- 99. Cohen JG, Kapp DS, Shin JY, Urban R, Sherman AE, Chen L, et al. Small cell carcinoma of the cervix: treatment and survival outcomes of 188 patients. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2010;4:347.
- 100. Brennan SM, Gregory DL, Stillie A, Herschtal A, Mac Manus M, Ball DL. Should extrapulmonary small cell cancer be managed like small cell lung cancer? Cancer. 2010;116(4):888–95.
- 101. Embry JR, Kelly MG, Post MD, Spillman MA. Large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the cervix: prognostic factors and survival advantage with platinum chemotherapy. Gynecol Oncol. 2011;120:444–8.
- 102. Frumovitz M, Munsell MF, Burzawa JK, Byers LA, Ramalingam P, Brown J, Coleman RL. Combination therpay with topotecan, paclitaxel and bevacizumab improves progression-free survival in recurrent small cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the cervix. Gynecol Oncol. 2017;144:46–50.
- 103. Yang X, Chen J, Dong R. Pathological features, clinical presentations and prognostic factors of ovarian large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma: a case report and review of published literature. J Ovarian Res. 2019;12:69.

- 104. Zhu Y, Meng F, Fang H, Zhang Z, Wang L, Zheng W. Clinicopathologic characteristics and survival outcomes in neuroendocrine carcinoma of the ovary. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2020;30(2):207–12.
- 105. Reed NS, Gomez-Garcia E, Gallardo-Rincon D, Barrette B, Baumann K, Friedlander M, et al. Gynecologic Cancer InterGroup (GCIG) consensus review for carcinoid tumors of the ovary. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2014;24(9 Suppl 3):S35–41.
- 106. Pistilli B, Grana C, Fazio N, Cavaliere A, Ferrari ME, Bodei L, et al. Pregnant with metastatic neuroendocrine tumour of the ovary: what now? Ecancermedicalscience. 2012;6:240.
- 107. Xue Y, Meehan B, Macdonald E, Venneti S, Wang XQD, Witkowski L, et al. Cdk4/6 inhibitors target SMARCA4-determined cyclin D1 deficiency in hypercalcemic small cell carcinoma of the ovary. Nat Commun. 2019;10:558.
- Pocrnich CE, Ramalingam P, Euscher ED, Malpica A. Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the endometrium: a clinicopathologic study of 25 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40(5):577–86.
- 109. Bing Z, Levine L, Lucci JA, Hatch SS, Eltorky MA. Primary small cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the vagina: a clinicopathologic study. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2004;128(8):857–62.
- 110. Feyrter F, Hartmann G. On the carcinoid growth form of the carcinoma MAMMAE, especially the carcinoma SOLIDUM (GELATINOSUM) MAMMAE. Frankf Z Pathol. 1963;73:24–39.
- 111. Osamura RY, Matsui N, Okubo M, Chen L, Field AS. Histopathology and cytopathology of neuroendocrine tumors and carcinomas of the breast: a review. Acta Cytol. 2019;63(4):340–6.
- 112. Rosen LE, Gattuso P. Neuroendocrine tumors of the breast. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2017;141(11): 1577–81.
- 113. Kelten Talu C, Leblebici C, Kilicaslan Ozturk T, Hacihasanoglu E, Baykal Koca S, Gucin Z. Primary breast carcinomas with neuroendocrine features: clinicopathological features and analysis of tumor growth patterns in 36 cases. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2018;34:122–30.
- 114. Jablon LK, Somers RG, Kim PY. Carcinoid tumor of the breast: treatment with breast conservation in three patients. Ann Surg Oncol. 1998;5: 261–4.
- 115. Wang J, Wei B, Albarracin CT, Hu J, Abraham SC, Wu Y. Invasive neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a population-based study from the surveillance, epidemiology and end results (SEER) database. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:147.
- 116. Shin SJ, DeLellis RA, Ying L, Rosen PP. Small cell carcinoma of the breast: a clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical study of nine patients. Am J Surg Pathol. 2000;24:1231–8.
- 117. Angarita FA, Rodríguez JL, Meek E, Sánchez JO, Tawil M, Torregrosa L. Locally-advanced primary neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: case report and review of the literature. World J Surg Oncol. 2013;11:128.

- 118. Cheang MC, Chia SK, Voduc D, Gao D, Leung S, Snider J, et al. Ki67 index, HER2 status, and prognosis of patients with luminal B breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2009;101:736–50.
- 119. Wei X, Chen C, Xi D, Bai J, Huang W, Rong L, et al. A case of primary neuroendocrine breast carcinoma that responded to neo-adjuvant chemotherapy. Front Med. 2015;9:112–6.
- 120. Bogina G, Munari E, Brunelli M, Bortesi L, Marconi M, Sommaggio M, et al. Neuroendocrine differentiation in breast carcinoma: clinicopathological features and outcome. Histopathology. 2015;68:422–32.
- 121. Fujimoto Y, Yagyu R, Murase K, Kawajiri H, Ohtani H, Arimoto Y, et al. A case of solid neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast in a 40-year-old woman. Breast Cancer. 2007;14:250–3.
- 122. Zhang Y, Chen Z, Bao Y, Du Z, Li Q, Zhao Y, Tang F. Invasive neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a prognostic research of 107 Chinese patients. Neoplasma. 2013;60:215–22.
- 123. Savelli G, Zaniboni A, Bertagna F, Bosio G, Nisa L, Rodella C, et al. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) in a patient affected by metastatic breast cancer with neuroendocrine differentiation. Breast Care (Basel). 2012;7:408–10.
- Engelman JA. Targeting PI3K signalling in cancer: opportunities, challenges and limitations. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9:550–62.
- 125. Herbert C, Lassalle G, Alcouffe C, Bono F. Approaches targeting the FGF-FGFR system: a review of the recent patent literature and associated advanced therapeutic agents. Pharm Pat Anal. 2014;3:585–612.
- 126. Ang D, Ballard M, Beadling C, Warrick A, Schilling A, O'Gara R, et al. Novel mutations in neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: possible therapeutic targets. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2015;23:97–103.
- 127. Marton I, Knezevic F, Ramic S, Milosevic M, Tomas D. Immunohistochemical expression and prognostic significance of HIF-1 α and VEGF-C in neuroendocrine breast cancer. Anticancer Res. 2012;32(12):5227–32.
- 128. Missiaglia E, Dalai I, Barbi S, Beghelli S, Falconi M, Della Peruta M, et al. Pancreatic endocrine tumors: expression profiling evidences a role for AKTmTOR pathway. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:245–55.
- 129. Johnston SR. Clinical efforts to combine endocrine agents with targeted therapies against epidermal growth factor receptor/human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 and mammalian target of rapamycin in breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:1061s–8s.
- 130. Baselga J, Campone M, Piccart M, Burris HA III, Rugo HS, Sahmoud T, et al. Everolimus in postmenopausal hormone-receptor- positive advanced breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:520–9.
- 131. Yardley DA, Noguchi S, Pritchard KI, Burris HA III, Baselga J, Gnant M, et al. Everolimus plus exemestane in postmenopausal patients with HR(+) breast cancer: BOLERO-2 final progression-free survival analysis. Adv Ther. 2013;30:870–84.

Part V

NENs with Peculiar Biology and Features



17

Neuroendocrine Neoplasms with Peculiar Biology and Features: MEN1, MEN2A, MEN2B, MEN4, VHL, NF1

Antongiulio Faggiano, Tiziana Feola, Giulia Puliani, Franz Sesti, and Elisa Giannetta

N TEVE

Abbreviations

AKT	Protein kinase B
ATA	American Thyroid Association
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
CEA	Carcinoembryonic antigen
CLA	Cutaneous lichen amyloidosis
СТ	Computed tomography
DOPA	3,4-Dihydroxyphenylalanine
d-pNET	Duodeno-pancreatic NET
EUS	Endoscopic ultrasound
FDG	Fluorodeoxyglucose
FNA	Fine-needle aspiration
GEP	Gastroenteropancreatic
GLP-1R	Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor

A. Faggiano (🖂)

Endocrinology Unit, Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Sant' Andrea Hospital, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy e-mail: antongiulio.faggiano@uniroma1.it

T. Feola

Department of Experimental Medicine, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Neuroendocrinology, Neuromed Institute, IRCCS, Pozzilli, Italy

G. Puliani

Department of Experimental Medicine, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Oncological Endocrinology Unit, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, IRCCS, Rome, Italy

F. Sesti · E. Giannetta Department of Experimental Medicine, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_17

Gastric NET
Hypoxia-inducible factors
Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1
Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2
Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 4
Metaiodobenzylguanidine
Mixed neuroendocrine non-
neuroendocrine neoplasm
Magnetic resonance imaging
Medullary thyroid cancer
Mammalian target of rapamycin
Neuroendocrine carcinoma
Neuroendocrine neoplasm
Neuroendocrine tumor
Neurofibromatosis type 1
Programmed cell death protein 1
Platelet-derived growth factor
polypeptide
Positron emission tomography
Progression-free survival
Paraganglioma
Pheochromocytoma
Primary hyperparathyroidism
Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
Pancreatic NEN
Phenylethanolamine N
methyltransferase
Proton pump inhibitors
Peptide receptor radionuclide
therapy
Rearranged during Transfection
Single photon emission computed
tomography

SSAs	Somatostatin analogs
SST	Somatostatin
SUV	Standardized uptake value
TGFα	Transforming growth factor α
TKI	Tyrosine kinases inhibitor
US	Ultrasound
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VHL	Von Hippel–Lindau disease
VIPoma	Vasoactive intestinal polypeptidoma
WDHA	Watery diarrhea, hypokalemia, and
	achlorhydria
ZES	Zollinger–Ellison syndrome

17.1 Introduction

A subgroup of neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) show a hereditary background and occur in the context of genetic endocrine neoplastic syndromes, such as multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1), multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 (MEN2), variants MEN2A and MEN2B, multiple endocrine neoplasia type 4 (MEN4), Von Hippel–Lindau disease (VHL), and neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) [1–5]. It has been estimated a rate around 10% of patients with gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) NENs associated with a hereditary endocrine neoplastic syndrome [1, 2]; this rate is higher in case of pancreatic NENs (pNEN), while thyroid NENs are associated with MEN2 in 20–30% of cases [6].

The genetic origin of the neoplasm greatly influences its natural history, since the diagnosis of NEN is generally made toward the sixth decade of life in the case of sporadic forms, while the forms associated with hereditary syndromes are diagnosed approximately two to three decades in advance, sometimes in adolescence [1, 7]. NENs associated with hereditary syndromes are generally well differentiated, the so-called neuroendocrine tumors (NET), low proliferating, multiple, and multifocal [1, 2]. MEN1-related duodeno-pancreatic NETs (d-pNETs) are in most cases grade 1 or 2, while no case of neuroendocrine carcinoma (NEC) is generally found [2].

D-pNETs are found in 70–80% of patients with MEN1, while VHL is associated with pNET

in up to 30% and NF1 with dNET in 1% of cases [8–12]. These tumors are frequently associated with functioning endocrine syndromes and highly express somatostatin (SST) receptors. MEN2A and B are mainly characterized by the development of thyroid NET, the so-called medullary thyroid cancer (MTC), in about 100% of cases [6]. Lung and thymic carcinoids as well as gastric NET (gNET) arise in less than 10% of MEN1 patients [8]. Together with malignant tumors, neuroendocrine adenomas could arise in these genetic syndromes. Pituitary and parathyroid adenomas are common in MEN1, while they represent the main lesions of MEN4 [8, 13]. Parathyroid adenomas also develop in MEN2A [8]. Pheochromocytoma (PHEO) is common in MEN2 (~50%), VHL (10-20%), and less common in NF1 (~5%) [14]. Extra-adrenal PHEO, the so-called paragangliomas (PGLs), can occur in VHL as well as NF1. These tumors frequently result in hormone hypersecretion syndromes, such as hyperprolactinemia, hyperparathyroidism, and hypersecretion of catecholamines. Rarely adrenomedullary tumors and very rarely pituitary as well as parathyroid tumors present malignant behavior in patients with hereditary endocrine neoplastic syndromes. Other tumors of non-neuroendocrine origin are described in all the hereditary syndromes associated with NEN. They are less frequent in MEN1, MEN2, and MEN4, while VHL and NF1 represent the main manifestations and have negative prognostic impact [1-5].

An update of diagnosis and treatment of NENs in patients with MEN1, MEN2A, MEN2B, MEN4, VHL, NF1 is here described.

17.2 MEN1

17.2.1 Overview

MEN1 is an autosomal dominant genetic syndrome characterized by the occurrence of NENs arising mainly in parathyroid glands, pancreatic islet cells, and anterior pituitary gland [8]. The syndrome is caused by mutations in the tumor suppressor *MEN1* gene, located on chromosome 11 (11q13), consisting of 10 exons, encoding a 610 amino acid nuclear protein, named menin [15]. Menin, in association with 50 different proteins, contributes to DNA repair, cell signaling, cytoskeletal structure, cell division, adhesion, and motility. The main mechanism underlying tumorigenesis related to menin loss in MEN1 syndrome needs to be fully elucidated [16]. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (AKT)/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway, which appears to be inhibited by menin [17, 18], is shown in Fig. 17.1.

In 90% of patients, the mutation is inherited from an affected parent, and only in 10% there is a de novo *MEN1* germline mutation [19]. Currently, contrary to what occurs in MEN2, a clear correlation between phenotype and genotype has not been found [20].

The prevalence of MEN1 is 1-10/100,000 [21]. It has been estimated to be 1-18% in patients with primary hyperparathyroidism



Fig. 17.1 Molecular pathogenesis of NENs in hereditary endocrine neoplastic syndromes (MEN1, MEN4, VHL, NF1). The red boxes indicate onco-soppressor genes acting by negative regulation of various pathways involved in cell growth and proliferation (PI3K/AKT/mTOR; RAS/RAF/MAPK; p27/Ciclina E/CDK2) and angiogenesis (HIF1/2). The inactivating mutations of these genes are responsible of oncogenic events in the corresponding syndrome (MEN1, MEN4, VHL and NF1). *IGF* insulin growth factor, *EGF* epidermal growth factor, *SCF* stem

cell factor, *PDGF* platelet derived growth factor, *VEGF* vascular endothelial growth factor, *PI3K* phosphoinositide 3-kinase, *SRC* sarcome tyrosine kinase, *AKT* protein kinase B, *mTOR* mammalian target of rapamycin, *PTEN* phosphatase and tensin homolog, *VHL* Von Hipple Lindau, *HIF* hypoxia inducible factor, *TGFa* transforming growth factor, *MAPK* mitogen activated protein kinase, *MEN1* multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1, *CDKN1B* cyclin-dependent kinase 2, *NF1* neurofibromatosis type 1 (PHPT), 16–38% in patients with gastrinomas, and <3% in patients with pituitary adenomas [8]. The syndrome affects patients with an age ranging from 5 to 81 years [8].

The syndrome can be diagnosed using the 2012 Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guidelines criteria as follows: (1) clinical diagnosis, occurrence of at least two endocrine tumors typically associated with MEN1, (2) familial diagnosis, presence of one MEN1-related tumor in a first-degree relative of a patient with a clinical diagnosis of MEN1, (3) genetic diagnosis, detection of a germline *MEN1* mutation in an asymptomatic subject with no evidence of tumor by biochemical or imaging examination [8].

The typical MEN1 manifestations are PHPT, occurring in >90% of patients and due to adenoma/hyperplasia generally involving all parathyroid glands, pituitary adenomas, occurring in 30–40% of cases and characterized by prolactin hypersecretion in about half of cases, and NENs, which are observed in 70–80% of patients, mainly located within pancreas and duodenum but also found in other sites within digestive and respiratory system [8, 10] (Table 17.1).

17.2.2 MEN1-Related NEN: Diagnostic and Therapeutic Update

Among NENs, those arising in duodenum and pancreas are the most frequent in MEN1 (up to 80% of cases) [8, 10]. MEN1-related NENs are divided into functioning and non-functioning tumors. A variety of hormones are secreted excessively by functioning tumors such as gastrinomas, insulinomas, glucagonomas, vasoactive intestinal polypeptidomas (VIPomas), and several of them are associated with specific clinical syndromes [8] (Table 17.2).

Non-functioning tumors could be either nonsecreting or secrete inactive polypeptides such as pancreatic polypeptide, chromogranin A, neurotensin, neuron-specific enolase, or ghrelin. In most cases, such tumors are detected incidentally or, rarely, patients could exhibit symptoms related to tumor mass. In case of functioning tumors, the clinical features are dependent on the secreted hormone. Gastrinoma's clinical presentation often includes abdominal pain, heartburn, nausea, gastrointestinal bleeding, and diarrhea (steatorrhea) [22, 23]. The presence of hypergastrinemia and recurrent peptic ulcerations, caused by the secretion of gastrin, allow the diagnosis of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (ZES) which occurs in 21-70% of patients with MEN1 [8, 21, 24]. Insulinomas cause fasting hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia accompanied by autonomic and neuroglycopenic symptoms [22, 23]. The pathognomonic combination of necrolytic migratory erythema, weight loss, anemia, and stomatitis may be absent in MEN1-related glucagonomas, so they can be detected just by glucose intolerance and hyperglucagonemia [8, 22]. Watery diarrhea, hypokalemia, and achlorhydria (WDHA) are characteristics of the Verner-Morrison syndrome (WDHA syndrome), caused by VIPomas [8].

Contrary to the sporadic counterpart, MEN1related d-pNENs occur at a younger age and are multifocal and generally well-differentiated, lowgrade tumors (G1-G2 NET) [2, 25, 26]. Moreover, the presence of d-pNENs in patients with MEN1 is correlated with an increased mortality [10, 27, 28], and tumor size has been proven to be directly related to a higher risk of metastatization and death regardless of hormone secretion [29, 30]. Another factor which is independently associated with an increased risk of distant metastases is the presence of ZES [29, 31]. Nevertheless, ZES, which used to be the major cause of death in patients with MEN1 [21], nowadays, seems not associated with an increased mortality; however, this evidence needs further confirmations [27-29].

Bronchopulmonary and thymic NENs occur in about 2% of MEN1 patients, gNENs (the type II gastric carcinoid of the clinical classification) in <10%, and PHEOs in <1% [8] (Tables 17.2 and 17.3). Thymic NENs in MEN1 are particularly aggressive and are associated with a significantly increased risk of death, even in absence of distant metastases [29].

			NEC				\mathbf{X}^{b}		
	Thymic carcinoid			X					
	Lung carcinoid			Х			X		
		Stomach		Х			Х		
	ic NET		NF	х			Х	Х	Х
	pancreati	ancreas	Other	\mathbf{X}^{a}					X°
	oentero	enum-I	INS	Х					Х
	Gastro	Duod	ZES	Х			Х		
IL OTITO	PGL				x			Х	х
ante vince	PHEO			Х	x	x		Х	Х
IIC IICODI	ACA			х			Х		
CIROCUL	PTC			Х			х		
1 cuitai y	MTC				Х	X			
			NF	×			×		
1 011 055	enoma		ACTH	х			Х		
rru ull	ary ade		GH	x			х		
de sid,	Pituit		PRL	X			X		
	PHPT			Х	Х		Х	Х	
				MENI	MEN2A	MEN2B	MEN4	VHL	NF1

 Table 17.1
 Phenotypic spectrum across the hereditary endocrine neoplastic syndromes

PHPT primary hyperparathyroidism, PRL prolactin, GH growth hormone, ACTH adrenocorticotrophic hormone, NF non-functioning, MTC medullary thyroid cancer, PTC papillary thyroid cancer, ACA adrenal cortex adenoma, PHEO pheochromocytoma, PGL paraganglioma, NET neuroendocrine tumor, ZES Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, INS insulinoma, NEC neuroendocrine carcinoma

"Glucagonoma, vipoma

^bSmall cell cervical NEC reported in one case

°Somatostatinoma

		JIASTITS ASSOCIATION WITH INVIOU	tary churchine incoprastices.	numers. companison with the spore	
Neuroendocrine neol	plasms				
	MENI	MEN4	VHL	NF1	Sporadic tumors ^a
Rate of NENs	Up to 80%	17%	20%	1%	1
Age at tumor diagnosis	<50 years	50-60 years	35 years (mean age)	<50 years	56–66 years (mean age) ^b
M:F ratio	1:1.4	Only F	1:1.1 to 1:1.6	M=F	M>F (si-, d-, p-, rNET) F>M (g-, a-, ceNET)
Site (from high to low frequency)	Pancreas, duodenum, stomach, lung, thymus	Pancreas, duodenum, stomach, lung, cervix	Pancreas	Duodenum and peri-ampullary region, pancreas, rectum	All sites
Histology	Well differentiated low	Well differentiated low	Well differentiated low	Well differentiated low tumor	Well differentiated (G1–G3
	NET)	typical carcinoid)	NET)	Prammoma bodies in SSoma	Poorly differentiated (NEC):
	No G3 reported	NEC in cervix	G3 NET extremely rare		10%
Metastases at diagnosis	13.7%	Metastases in 4/8 cases (lymph node and distant)	Rare distant metastasis at diagnosis	Common lymph nodes, rare distant metastases	G1 NET: 21% G2 NET: 30%
					G3 NET or NEC: 50%
Clinical manifestation	 Non-functioning: incidental diagnosis 	 Non-functioning: incidental diamosis 	 Non-functioning: incidental 	 Non-functioning: incidental diagnosis local symptoms. 	 Non-functioning: incidental diagnosis
(from high to low	symptoms in case of	local symptoms	diagnosis,	pain, and jaundice	symptoms in case of
frequency)	complications	- ZES	symptoms in case	 SSoma (often asymptomatic) 	complications
	– ZES		of complications	– Insulinoma	 Carcinoid syndrome
	– Insulinoma				– ZES
	 Extremely rare: 				 Insulinoma
	VIPoma;				- Rare: VIPoma;
	glucagonoma; SSoma				glucagonoma, SSoma
Neuroendocrine	CgA, specific markers	CgA, gastrin	CgA	CgA, specific markers according	CgA, NSE, specific markers
markers	according to clinics		NSE	to clinics	according to clinics
Conventional	Gastrointestinal	Gastrointestinal	Endoscopic US, CT/	Gastrointestinal endoscopy,	Gastrointestinal endoscopy,
imaging	endoscopy, endoscopic US, CT/MRI	endoscopy, endoscopic US, CT/MRI	MRI	endoscopic US, CT/MRI	endoscopic US, CT/MRI
Functional imaging	⁶⁸ Ga-DOTA PET-CT (¹⁸ F-FDG PET-CT)	68Ga-DOTA PET-CT (18F-FDG PET-CT)	⁶⁸ Ga-DOTA PET-CT (¹⁸ F-FDG PET-CT)	68Ga-DOTA PET-CT (¹⁸ F-FDG PET-CT)	⁶⁸ Ga-DOTA PET-CT (¹⁸ F-FDG PET-CT)

238

Dodiool anarani in loool	and locoregional NET if	resectable	 Enucleation or 	endoscopic resection, if	possible, in stage I	tumors, according to	tumor site, size, grade,	and presence of	e functioning syndrome	 Surveillance in 	non-functioning	nonprogressive pNET	<2 cm and d-gNET	<1 cm	 SSA in unresectable/ 	metastatic disease and,	in case of progression,	PRRT or targeted	therapy	 CHT in metastatic 	tumors non-responsive	to previous therapies or	G3 NEN			annantia NET "NET reated NET
Dadioal current	(pancreaticoduodenectomy) ir	d-pNET >2 cm (local	resection if possible)	 Endoscopic resection or 	transduodenal surgical	ampullectomy in small tumor	(<1-2 cm)	 SSA in unresectable/ 	metastatic disease and, in case	of progression, PRRT or	targeted therapy	 CHT in metastatic tumors 	non-responsive to previous	therapies or MiNEN												
Dodiool curcomi in	DNET >2 cm (if	possible,	enucleation)	 Surveillance in 	pNET <2 cm	- SSA in	unresectable/	metastatic disease	and, in case of	progression, PRRT	or targeted therapy	- CHT in metastatic	tumors non-	responsive to	previous therapies	or rare G3 NET										
Dodinol anaromi in	d-pNET >2 cm or	tumor growth rate	>0.5 cm/year or	functioning tumor (if	possible, enucleation)	 Radical surgery in 	lung NEN	 Endoscopic resection 	in gNET >1 and	<2 cm	 Surveillance in 	non-functioning	nonprogressive	d-pNET <2 cm and	gNET <1 cm	 SSA in unresectable/ 	metastatic disease	and, in case of	progression, PRRT or	targeted therapy	 CHT in metastatic 	tumors non-	responsive to previous	therapies or NEC		-
Dodinal manufin	d-bNET ≥2 cm or	tumor growth rate	>0.5 cm/year or	functioning tumor (if	possible, enucleation)	 Radical surgery in 	lung/thymic NEN	 Endoscopic resection 	in gNET >1 and	<2 cm	 Surveillance in 	non-functioning	nonprogressive	d-pNET <2 cm and	gNET <1 cm (SSA	alternative approach)	 SSA in unresectable/ 	metastatic disease	and, in case of	progression, PRRT or	targeted therapy	 CHT in metastatic 	tumors non-	responsive to previous	therapies	
Tweetmant	ILVAUIIVIIL																									- VR

gNET gastric NET, aNET appendiceal NET, ceNET cecum NET, NEC neuroendocrine carcinoma, VIP vasoactive intestinal polypeptide, ZES Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, SS somatostatin, CgA chromogranin A, NSE neuron-specific enolase, US ultrasound, CT computed tomography, MRI magnetic resonance imaging, PET positron emission tomography, FDG fluorodeoxyglucose, MIBG metaiodobenzylguanidine, SSA somatostatin analog, PRRT peptide receptor-targeted radiotherapy, CHT chemotherapy, MiNEN mixed References: Garcia-Carbonero et al. ENETS Consensus Guidelines for High-Grade Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors and Neuroendocrine Carcinomas, neuroendocrine non-neuroendocrine neoplasms

Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(2):186–94; Cives M, Strosberg JR. Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors.CA Cancer J Clin. 2018 Nov;68(6):471–87 ^bMean age at diagnosis was younger in appendiceal NEN

Dheachromocytome	untes or precentionies of	טווומ מווט וושמשמש שווט			патопися. соптранзон млиги	
	MEN1	MEN2A	MEN2B	VHL	NF1	Sporadic tumors ^a
Rate of PHEO/PGL	<1%	70-80% of MEN2	5% of MEN2	10-20%	7.7-14.6%	
Age at tumor diagnosis	<50 years	<35 years	<35 years	<30 years	>40 years	30–50 years
M:F ratio	M = F	M = F	M=F		F>M (++ malignant tumors)	M=F
Site (from high to low frequency)	Monolateral PHEO, rarely bilateral Anecdotical PGL	Multicentric and bilateral PHEO 65% of cases	Multicentric and bilateral PHEO 65% of cases	Mostly PHEO, usually multiple and bilateral Less frequent PGL	85% monolateral adrenal PHEO 9.6% bilateral PHEO, 6%	Mostly monolateral PHEO
		Metachronous in up to 25% of cases	Metachronous in up to 25% of cases	(more functioning)	PGL	
Malignancy rate	15%	1-4%	1-4%	5%	11.5%	10-17%
Clinical manifestation (from	Symptomatic: hypertension	- Symptomatic:	- Symptomatic:	- Symptomatic: mostly	- Asymptomatic: incidental disonosis	- Symptomatic: hymertension
high to low	headache, sweating,	headaches,	headaches,	norepinephrine	- Symptomatic related to	headache, sweating,
frequency)	palpitations, flushing	sweating	sweating	secretion	epinephrine and	palpitations, flushing
		- Asymptomatic in	- Asymptomatic in	- Rarely dopamine	norepinephrine secretion	- Asymptomatic:
		1/3 at the time of diagnosis	1/3 at the time of diagnosis	secretion or asymptomatic		incidental diagnosis or mass effect
Neuroendocrine	Plasma free or	Plasma free or	Plasma free or	Plasma free or urinary	Plasma free or urinary	Plasma free or urinary
markers	urinary fractionated	urinary fractionated	urinary fractionated	fractionated	fractionated	fractionated
	metanephrines	metanephrines	metanephrines	metanephrines, (methoxytyramine)	metanephrines, (methox ytyramine)	metanephrines
Conventional imaging	CT or MRI	CT or MRI	CT or MRI	CT or MRI	CT or MRI	CT or MRI for adrenal mass; MRI for extra-adrenal mass
Functional imaging	¹²³ I-MIBG	¹²³ I-MIBG	¹²³ I-MIBG	¹²³ I-MIBG	¹²³ I-MIBG	¹²³ I-MIBG
	(¹⁸ F-DOPA PET-CT/ ¹⁸ FDG PFT-CT)	(¹⁸ F-DOPA Pet-Ct/ ¹⁸ edg	(¹⁸ F-DOPA PFT-CT/ ¹⁸ FDG	(¹⁸ F-DOPA PET-CT/ ¹⁸ FDG PFT-CT)	¹⁸ F-DOPA PET-CT	In metastatic disease: ¹⁸ FDG PFT_CT
		PET-CT)	PET-CT)			10-171001

 Laparoscopic adrenalectomy for primary tumors ¹³¹L-MIBG/PRRT, CHT, sunitinib, everolimus for metastatic tumors
Laparoscopic adrenalectomy for small and unilateral tumors – Posterior retroperitoneoscopic adrenalectomy for large or bilateral tumors – Laparoscopic cortical sparing adrenal surgery for bilateral tumors – ¹³¹ LMIBG, CHT, sunitinib for metastatic tumors
 Laparoscopic cortical sparing adrenalectomy for primary tumors ¹³¹I-MIBG/PRRT, CHT, sunitinib, everolimus for metastatic tumors
Laparoscopic cortical sparing adrenalectomy for recurrence
Laparoscopic cortical sparing adrenalectomy for recurrence
 Laparoscopic adrenalectomy for primary tumors ¹³¹L-MIBG-PRRT, CHT, sunitinib, everolimus for metastatic tumors
Treatment

PET positron emission tomography, *DOPA* dihydroxyphenylalanine, *FDG* fluorodeoxyglucose, *PRRT* peptide receptor-targeted radiotherapy, *CHT* chemotherapy "Reference: Lenders JWM et al. Pheochromocytoma and Paraganglioma: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline- J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014 Jun;99(6):1915–42. yrs years, M male, F female, PHEO pheochromocytoma, PGL paraganglioma, CT computed tomography, MRI magnetic resonance imaging, MIBG metaiodobenzylguanidine, doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-1498 The importance of an early diagnosis is highlighted by the high prevalence and unfavorable prognostic significance of d-pNENs in MEN1.

As reported in the current guidelines, besides a clinical diagnosis associated with plasma biochemical evaluation of hyperexcreted hormones, there is not a well-established consensus for the best radiological screening of MEN1-related NENs [8]. The minimum suggested imaging protocol includes annual abdominal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), contrast-enhanced triphasic computed tomography (CT), or endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) [8]. Chest CT or MRI performed every 1-2 years is recommended for the detection of thymic and bronchopulmonary NENs. In patients with hypergastrinemia, a gastroscopy with eventual biopsy every 3 years is performed to detect peptic ulcer and type II gastric carcinoids [8].

⁶⁸Gallium positron emission tomography (PET) is widely used in sporadic NEN diagnosis, staging, and restaging [32]. Moreover, it can also provide prognostic information [33] and lead to therapeutic decisions, e.g., cold or radiolabeled somatostatin analogs (SSAs) [34]. The high sensibility and specificity of ⁶⁸Gallium PET-CT has been demonstrated in detecting also MEN1related NENs [35-37]. Its diagnostic accuracy is high in both primary and metastatic tumors [38]. Given its higher diagnostic performance, 68Gallium PET-CT should replace ¹¹¹In-pentetreotide single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) in the diagnostic work-up of MEN1-related NENs [39] and should be included in the radiologic screening and follow-up of these patients due to its capability to significantly adjust patient's therapeutic management [35, 36]. 68Gallium PET-CT should be considered in the diagnostic work-up also when an insulinoma is suspected. Contrary to preliminary studies using ⁶⁸Ga-DOTANOC PET-CT which showed a low detection rate of insulinomas, with a sensitivity of 25% [40], ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATATE/ DOTATOC PET-CT can identify up to 90% of sporadic insulinomas, and in case of MEN1 syndrome could be able to exclude the presence of additional pancreatic lesions not detected by anatomic imaging [41, 42].

Recently, due to the overexpression of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor (GLP-1R) in benign insulinomas [43], PET-CT with ⁶⁸Ga-NOTA–exendin-4 has been studied in these patients. This new functional imaging has shown to be highly sensitive in the localization of sporadic benign insulinomas [44] and seems promising also in MEN1-related insulinomas, with a potential role in leading selective and pancreassparing surgery [45].

¹⁸F-Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) PET avidity in sporadic metastatic NENs is strongly related to tumor differentiation and WHO tumor grade [46]. Moreover, it has also a prognostic role, and, regardless of Ki-67 index and histologic classification, the overall survival of patients with a positive ¹⁸F-FDG PET scan is significantly lower than negative ones [47]. Given its prognostic role, ¹⁸F-FDG PET-CT is suggested in MEN1 patients to identify lesions with a higher malignant potential, above all for pancreatic [48], pulmonary, and thymic lesions [49].

Recently, EUS has emerged as the most sensitive technique to detect small and intrapancreatic tumors [50]. Among its advantages, EUS allows a precise evaluation of pNEN size and can be utilized to assess serial changes in pNEN dimensions. Finally, fine-needle aspiration (FNA) can be associated with EUS to obtain a histological diagnosis guiding the clinician in therapeutic decisions [9, 51].

Medical therapy to control gastric hypersecretion includes proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) and H_2 receptor antagonists [8]. Surgical management of gastrinomas is controversial; however, surgical excision is the suggested treatment for ZES-related gastrinomas >2 cm. Surgical technique should be tailored to the patients considering preoperative findings, patient history, and preference [8, 52]. A more extensive surgery, such as pancreaticoduodenectomy with lymphadenectomy, is not performed routinely because of its higher operative mortality and long-term complications [8, 52]. In MEN1 patients with insulinomas, surgery ranges from tumor enucleation to distal pancreatectomy or partial pancreatectomy. It is the gold standard treatment in case of non-metastatic disease [8, 52]. EUS-guided ethanol ablation and CT-guided radiofrequency ablation can be performed in selected cases [52]. Before surgery, and in case of recurrent and metastatic insulinoma, patients need medical treatment. Besides frequent carbohydrate meals, also diazoxide, SSAs, the mTOR inhibitor everolimus, peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT), or hepatic artery embolization is effective in controlling hypoglycemia [52].

Regarding the other rarer functioning NETs, a curative resection is recommended in patients with pNENs >2 cm, and SSAs is the treatment of choice to control the hormone-excess prior to surgery or for unresectable lesions [8, 52].

Surgical resection is indicated for nonfunctioning pNEN more than 1–2 cm in size or a doubling of tumor size, over a 3- to 6-month interval and exceed 1 cm in size. Enucleation or local resection is preferred over pancreaticoduodenectomy [8]. Conservative management is safe for patients with lesions of ≤ 2 cm and is associated with a low risk of disease-specific mortality [53, 54]. However, recent evidence suggested that treatment with lanreotide autogel can improve progression-free survival in MEN1related pNENs <2 cm, so avoiding or delaying surgery in a significant rate of patients [55].

Surgical treatment with curative intent is the treatment of choice for resectable thymic and bronchial NENs and PHEOs [8].

Small type II gastric carcinoids (<1 cm) may be endoscopically surveilled. Endoscopic resection or local resection with partial or total gastrectomy is reserved for larger tumors.

Similarly to sporadic NENs, in case of nonresectable or metastatic disease, SSAs (octreotide or lanreotide) are considered the first-line treatment, while PRRT is now available for NENs progressing under SSAs. Targeted therapy (everolimus or sunitinib) and chemotherapy (streptozotocin, 5-fluorouracil, doxorubicine, capecitabine/temozolomide) are effective therapies that could be employed for progressive disease [8, 56].

17.3 MEN2

17.3.1 Overview

MEN2 is an autosomal dominant genetic syndrome characterized by the occurrence of NENs arising most commonly in thyroid and adrenal glands [57] (Table 17.1). MEN2 is further classified into two subcategories: MEN2A that also presents primary PHPT (20%–30%) and MEN2B. MEN2A is further categorized into the following four subtypes: (1) classical MEN2, (2) MEN2A with cutaneous lichen amyloidosis (CLA), (3) MEN2A with Hirschsprung disease (HD), (4) familial medullary thyroid cancer.

In both MEN2A and MEN2B, there is an occurrence of multicentric NEN formation in all organs where *REarranged during Transfection* (*RET*) proto-oncogene is expressed.

The syndrome is caused by mutations in the *RET* proto-oncogene, localized on chromosome 10q11.2, which encodes a receptor tyrosine kinase. It appears to transduce growth and differentiate signals in several tissues, particularly those arising from neural crest cells. Some cytogenetic mutations have been reported; these may involve intracellular and extracellular domains of the RET protein signaling pathway. The germline *RET* mutations in MEN2 result in a gain of function of this tyrosine kinase receptor. This is different from many other inherited predispositions to neoplasia that are due to heritable "loss-of-function" mutations that inactivate tumor suppressor proteins [57] (Fig. 17.2).

The majority of the mutations in MEN2A variants occur in the cysteine-rich region of RET protein's extracellular domain (coded by the genes in exon 10 and 11). Mutations in the intracellular tyrosine kinase 2 domain cause MEN2B-associated tumors. A single 918 Met to Thr mutation (M918T) in exon 16 is responsible for



Fig. 17.2 Molecular pathogenesis of NENs in MEN2 syndrome. The proto-oncogene RET encodes for a Receptor Tyrosin Kinases that, activated by the GDNF-family ligands, regulates intracellular pathway involved in cell survival, growth, proliferation and angiogenesis. Constitutively activating mutations of RET are responsi-

over 95% of cases of MEN2B. Other less common mutations are associated with both MEN2A and MEN2B divided into high-risk, moderate-risk, and low-risk categories [57–59].

The total prevalence of all MEN2 worldwide variants is approximately 1/35000. MEN2A accounts for about 95% of cases, MEN2B for 5%. In approximately 50% of MEN2B cases, a de novo germline *RET* mutation gives rise to the disease.

MEN2 should be suspected in any patient diagnosed with MTC or PHEO, particularly when the age of presentation is very young (<35 years). Any patient with diagnosed MTC or family history of MTC should be tested for

ble of oncogenic event in MEN2 syndrome. *GDNF* glial cell-line-derived neutrophic factor, *RET* RErranged during Transfection receptor protein, *PI3K* phosphoinositide 3-kinase, *AKT* protein kinase B, *mTOR* mammalian target of rapamycin, *PTEN* phosphatase and tensin homolog, *MAPK* mitogen activated protein kinase

RET proto-oncogene mutations for both MEN2A and MEN2B. The patients who are diagnosed with PHEO at an earlier age than sporadic forms should be tested for MEN2. The classic symptoms of PHEO are the paroxysms of a headache, anxiety, diaphoresis, palpitations, and high blood pressure. The presence of these symptoms in the third decade, particularly in between 25 and 32 years, should prompt to screen for MEN2 [57].

Other possible physical examination findings include marfanoid habitus (decreased upper to lower body ratio), mucosal neuromas (red papules) over lips and tongues, and joint hyperlaxity associated with MEN2B. MEN2A is also suspected in patients with clinical features like purity, scaly, pigmented papules in the interscapular region, typical features of CLA [60]. The presence of PHPT alone does not indicate for further testing as it is less than 20% associated with MEN2A and no associated with MEN2B.

17.3.2 MEN2-Related NEN: Diagnostic and Therapeutic Update

17.3.2.1 MTC

Virtually all patients with MEN2A develop MTC. MTC is multicentric and occupies preferentially the upper and middle portions of each thyroid lobe. The tumor remains confined to the thyroid gland for a variable period of time before spreading to the regional lymph nodes and subsequently to the liver, lung, bone, and brain. Histologically, 20% of the tumors have a predominantly cellular growth pattern, 40% have a fibrous pattern with more than half of the cellular component replaced by a calcified acellular stroma, and the remaining 40% display an intermediate pattern with neoplastic nests of cells separated by bands of fibrous tissue. The stroma is composed primarily of full-length calcitonin, which has staining properties similar to amyloid [61].

The tumors should be appropriately staged using the synoptic cancer worksheets proposed by the College of American Pathologists [62]. Multifocality or C-cell hyperplasia in the contralateral lobe should be assessed, because those features indicate a strong likelihood of germline *RET* mutation and inherited disease [63].

It is important that clinicians who first see children with MEN2B recognize the characteristic signs and symptoms associated with the syndrome, because the MTC is highly aggressive in this setting, and there is a narrow window during which thyroidectomy may be curative [64–67].

Measurement of serum calcitonin levels, especially after the administration of the provocative secretagogues calcium, served as the primary method for screening family members at risk for hereditary MTC [68].

In line with the American Thyroid Association (ATA) management guideline for adult patients

with thyroid nodules [63], the thyroid ultrasound (US) examination represents the first diagnostic choice. The US features suggestive of MTC could be hypoechoic, solid with smooth borders, round or oval shape nodule, and particularly the presence of micro- or macrocalcifications [69, 70].

The cytologic appearance of MTC on FNA can be variable, causing misdiagnosis with follicular neoplasm or sarcoma. A more accurate method of diagnosing MTC is to measure calcitonin in FNA washout fluid. FNA calcitonin is more sensitive than cytology for diagnosing MTC, reaching a 100% accuracy using a threshold value of 39.6 pg/mL (range reported in literature 7.4–67 pg/mL) [71], or a FNA calcitonin/ serum calcitonin ratio >1.39 [72].

Immunocytochemistry staining of FNA specimens for calcitonin, carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), and chromogranin can also be performed, increasing the sensitivity of cytology to 89.2% (95% CI: 74.6%–96.9%) [71].

The revised ATA guideline for MTC now recommends measurement of calcitonin in FNA washout fluid and immunocytochemistry for calcitonin, CEA, and chromogranin when cytology is inconclusive or suggestive of MTC (grade B recommendation based on fair evidence); however, the guideline does not recommend a threshold value for calcitonin [73]. CEA is not a specific MTC biomarker, but it is useful for monitoring disease progression. In addition, baseline levels of calcitonin can indicate distant metastases when they are higher than 500 pg/mL, recommending systemic imaging [74].

Approximately 50% of patients with MTC have metastatic disease on initial presentation [75]. Palpable thyroid nodules are associated with a 70% rate of lymph node metastasis and a 10% rate of distant metastasis [76].

Recommended imaging studies include neck US, CT of lungs and mediastinum, three-phase contrast-enhanced multi-detector liver CT or contrast-enhanced MRI of liver, and bone MRI or scintigraphy [77]. ¹⁸F-FDG PET-CT and ¹⁸F-dihydroxyphenylalanine [DOPA] PET-CT are less sensitive in detecting metastases and therefore are not recommended [78, 79].

Specific *RET* mutations are associated with disease aggressiveness and dictate early timing of thyroidectomy [80]. Before MTC is treated, diagnosis of a PHEO is essential to avoid a hypertensive crisis during surgery [80]. The preferred therapeutic option is total thyroidectomy with dissection of lymph nodes in the central neck. Additional lymph node compartments are dissected if there is evidence of metastases on preoperative imaging studies, or at the time of thyroidectomy. Currently, the generally accepted practice is to use a combination of genetic testing and the basal or stimulated serum calcitonin level to decide the timing of thyroidectomy. In families with hereditary MEN2B, the disease may be apparent at or soon after birth, when thyroidectomy may be curative; however, the MTC is aggressive in this setting, and rarely, infants have regional lymph node metastases at the time of thyroidectomy [81].

Lifelong follow-up is indicated, beginning every 3 months postoperatively, and at longer intervals if there is no evidence of persistent or recurrent disease in the first year after thyroidectomy. Serial measurements of serum calcitonin and CEA levels are useful in documenting disease progression, and especially their the doubling time.

For the patients with persistent or recurrent MTC, the treatment option is systemic therapy with orally available tyrosine kinases inhibitors (TKI), such as vandetanib, a selective inhibitor of RET, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR), and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling, and cabozantinib, targeting MET, VEGFR2 and RET [82]. Recently LIBRETTO 001 (NCT03157128), a phase I-II trial on the efficacy of selpercatinib, a selective RET inhibitor, has been published. In RETmutated thyroid cancer, including also a group of 55 patients affected by MTC, objective response was 69% [83]. Phase III trial comparing selpercatinib with cabozantinib or vandetanib in tirosin kinase naive patients is currently ongoing (NCT 04211337). Another selective RET inhibitors (BLU-667, Blueprint Medicines, Inc., Cambridge, MA, USA) is currently being evaluated in a phase II clinical trial (NCT03037385).

17.3.2.2 Pheochromocytomas and Paragangliomas

PHEOs develop in approximately 50% of patients with MEN2A and MEN2B, the clinical presentation and behavior are similar in the two syndromes. The mean age of presentation is 36 years, and the diagnosis is made after MTC in 50% of cases, concurrently with MTC in 40% of cases, and before MTC in 10% of cases. In patients with PHEO, the adrenal tumors are almost always benign and confined to the gland. In 65% of cases, they are multicentric and bilateral. Patients with unilateral PHEO usually develop a contralateral PHEO within 10 years [84].

There is significant morbidity and mortality associated with an undiagnosed PHEO; thus, in patients with known MEN2A or MEN2B, it is critical to rule out this tumor before interventional procedures. In MEN2B, over 90% of patients with PHEO have gastrointestinal symptoms characterized by abdominal pain, constipation, and alternatively diarrhea, bloating, and megacolon. The gastrointestinal symptoms are particularly evident in children and young adults and may require a surgical procedure to relieve symptoms [85]. Of note, about one-third of the patients were not symptomatic (hypertension, headaches, sweating) at the time of diagnosis [86]. Then systematic screening should thus be performed regularly even in the absence of clinical signs suggestive of PHEO.

The development of PHEO in MEN2 is usually progressive, and bilateral PHEOs are not always synchronous: metachronous PHEOs have been reported in up to 25% of cases after a mean period of 5–10 years [86, 87], requiring a prolonged follow-up after the first surgery. PHEO represents the most prevalent disease of MEN2 given the fact that young familial cases are treated by prophylactic thyroidectomy.

Positive diagnosis is based on increased plasma metanephrines and normetanephrines (drawn from a supine patient after an overnight fast), or 24-h urinary fractionated metanephrines and normetanephrines or plasma or urinary fractionated metanephrine and normetanephrine [88]. MEN2-associated PHEOs express phenylethanolamine N methyltransferase (PNMT), the enzyme that converts norepinephrine to epinephrine, hence the association with predominant epinephrine secretion and elevated metanephrines [88]. Serum chromogranin A is elevated in 48% of patients with PHEO [88]. Diagnostic utility of chromogranin A is, however, constrained by poor specificity due to its elevation in several conditions [88].

Imaging should be performed only when biochemistry becomes positive [89]. US can detect PHEO in 80–90% of cases [90] where it may be visible as a well-defined mass, which may be solid (75% in one case series) or cystic or mixed [91]. CT scanning and MRI are used to localize PHEO. The sensitivity (90%–100%) and specificity (70%–80%) are similar for the two procedures [92, 93].

Several specific radiopharmaceuticals (123I-metaiodobenzylguanidine [MIBG], ¹⁸F-DOPA ¹¹¹In-pentetreotide PET, and (Octreoscan, Covidien) and ⁶⁸Gallium PET) have been used for functional imaging [92, 94, 95]. The main advantage of ¹⁸F-DOPA compared to other radiopharmaceuticals is the absence or faintly uptake by normal adrenal glands. ¹⁸F-DOPA PET-CT can also detect residual MTC in patients with persistent hypercalcitoninemia [96–100]. MIBG is the most common and available functional imaging used in the assessment of PHEO. The uptake of radiotracer is proportional to the number of neurosecretory granules within the tumor [92, 94, 95]; therefore, the characteristic appearance of a PHEO is unilateral focal uptake within the tumor [101]. Octreoscan and ⁶⁸Gallium PET can detect PHEO, because they express SST receptors [95].

Excepting very unusual circumstances, a PHEO should be resected before the MTC if both are present. Preoperative preparation is with alpha-adrenergic blockade and if necessary beta-adrenergic blockade. Subtotal sparing adrenalectomy is indicated to preserve adrenocortical function [102, 103]. The idea of adrenal sparing surgery is to take off the PHEO while maintaining one third to one fourth of the gland to allow maintenance of a normal cortisol and aldosterone function. As there is only a very low 1–4% risk of malignancy for MEN2 PHEO [104], this proce-

dure should be systematically considered in all patients with MEN2 PHEO. The standard procedure is laparoscopic adrenalectomy [105, 106]. Recurrence after adrenal sparing surgery will be mainly treated by total adrenalectomy, or in some very experienced centers, by another partial adrenalectomy [107].

17.4 MEN4

17.4.1 Overview

MEN4 is a recently characterized autosomal dominant genetic syndrome characterized by the occurrence of NETs arising mainly in parathyroid glands and anterior pituitary gland [13]. The syndrome is caused by mutations in the tumor suppressor CDKN1B gene, located on chromosome 12 (12p13), consisting of three exons, encoding a kinase inhibitor protein named p27, primarily inhibiting the complex cyclin E/cyclindependent kinase (CDK)2 [108] (Fig. 17.1). MEN4 is generally observed in patients with MEN1 phenotype but no *MEN1* gene mutations, the so-called MEN1 phenocopies, or patients with an intermediate phenotype between MEN1 and MEN2 without MEN1 and RET mutations. The incidence of CDKN1B mutations in MEN1 phenocopies has been estimated in the range of 1.5-3.7% [109, 110]. To date, 48 subjects have been reported as CDKN1B mutated, including 23 MEN4 patients and 25 carriers. Nineteen different heterozygous loss-of-function CDNK1B mutations have been identified in patients with MEN4, including nine missense, six nonsense or frameshift, and four mutation/deletion within the 5'-UTR region [109–123]. As a whole, CDKN1B mutations causing MEN4 affect p27 cellular localization, stability, or biding with Cdk2 or Grb2 [108].

All typical MEN1 endocrine tumors are observed also in MEN4 (Table 17.1). As in MEN1, PHPT is the most frequent endocrine disorder in MEN4 (83%), while pituitary adenoma occurs in 39% and is mostly ACTH- and GH-secreting, conversely to MEN1 where the prolactin-secreting adenoma is the main type. NENs presented a lower penetrance in MEN4 than MEN1, being reported in 17% of the *CDKN1B* positive subjects reported in the literature. However, the rate of NENs is double (35%) if we consider the 23 cases with MEN4 reported.

17.4.2 MEN4-Related NEN: Diagnostic and Therapeutic Update

Due to the very small number of cases, it is not possible to achieve specific conclusions for MEN4-related NENs. These included GEP NEN in six cases, lung and cervix in one case each [109, 110, 112, 114, 116, 117, 120, 123](Table 17.2). All GEP NENs were welldifferentiated tumors (NET) as well as the lung one, which was a typical carcinoid. A small cell poorly differentiated cervical NEC occurred in one patient. Among the GEP NETs, four were pNET, in combination with dNETs in three cases, and two gNET. A ZES was the only functioning endocrine syndrome, reported in two patients with d-pNETs. No other functioning syndrome such as insulinoma, glucagonoma, VIPoma, and ectopic hormone syndrome has been reported. When reported, Ki-67 index was 1% (G1). Three pNET, two of whom associated with dNETs, were metastatic, as well as the lung carcinoid, while the gNETs were localized.

In all cases, NENs were diagnosed in females at age ranging 42–79 years (median, 57 years). In all cases but one, a PHPT was also detected, while pituitary adenomas were in three out of the eight patients with NEN (acromegaly, Cushing's disease, and nonfunctioning pituitary adenoma respectively).

As a whole, a diagnosis of MEN4 has to be considered in all patients with MEN1-related tumors and no *MEN1* mutation. MEN4-related NENs are usually NETs located within the duodenum–pancreas tract. They are well differentiated and low proliferating, resulting in tumor diagnosis in the sixth decade as average.

In the lack of specific studies for MEN4related NENs, the diagnostic work-up of these tumors should be made in the same way as for MEN1 NENs, where contrast-enhanced triphasic CT scan or MRI, in combination with EUS, is the best diagnostic procedure to detect the small NETs which are located in duodenum and pancreas. Endoscopy and EUS are the optimal tool to characterize gNETs. As for either MEN1 or sporadic NETs, ⁶⁸Gallium PET is the best functioning imaging technique in MEN4-related NETs, to perform tumor staging in combination with CT, as well as to candidate these tumors to therapy with cold or radiolabeled SSAs.

As for MEN1, ZES can be associated with MEN4 d-pNETs and should be therefore investigated by measuring serum gastrin levels, after exclusion of all other conditions of hypergastrinemia, first of all the use of PPIs. Chromogranin A is the general neuroendocrine marker to be assessed after the histological diagnosis of NET, as potentially useful biochemical marker for follow-up.

An optimal strategy to perform an early diagnosis of NEN in MEN4, is to perform the mutational analysis of *CDKN1B* in all patients with MEN1 phenotype and negative *MEN1* analysis. Care should be in particular for females affected with PHPT.

When a MEN4 patient is identified, a familiar genetic screening has to be performed in order to recognize asymptomatic patients and gene carriers. All *CDKN1B*-positive subjects should undergo a clinical, biochemical, and radiological work-up, which has to be addressed not only to parathyroid glands and pituitary but also to NENs, in particular d-pNETs.

Therapy of MEN4-related GEP NENs could be the same as in MEN1. Surgery has to be considered for tumors >1.5–2.0 cm within pancreas or duodenum or tumor progressing during active surveillance or those associated with ZES. As in MEN1, radical surgery has not to be taken in account because of high morbidity and mortality rate, while tumor enucleation, distal pancreatectomy, and duodenectomy are reasonable procedures for this kind of patients.

SSAs are the first therapeutic option in MEN4related d-pNETs with uncontrolled ZES or tumor progression. MEN4-related GEP NENs are expected to be clinically controlled and radiologically stabilized for long time with SSA therapy. In case of SSA failure, PRRT is a new option for all SST-positive tumors. MEN4 NETs likely express SST at high grade and therefore are potential candidates for PRRT. Alternatively, a targeted-therapy with everolimus could be performed, especially in consideration of the peculiar molecular pathway underling these tumors, where the AKT-mTOR complex results to be hyperactivated. Finally, chemotherapy is another option that could be considered in metastatic NETs with high tumor burden, not responding to previous therapies.

17.5 Von Hippel–Lindau

17.5.1 Overview

VHL disease is an autosomal dominant genetic syndrome caused by a germline mutation in the VHL gene. VHL is a suppressor gene located on chromosome 3p25 [124]. This gene has three exons which encode for two different mRNA and, consequently, two isoforms of VHL protein [125]. Both the isoforms are required for VHL protein actions. VHL is a tumor suppressor gene, so tumors arise in patients after the inactivation of the wild-type allele. VHL protein, localized in the nucleus or cytoplasm, binds elongin B, elongin C, and Cullin 2 [126]. The multi-protein complex is responsible of the inhibition of transcription elongation and ubiquitin-mediated degradation of various proteins, including the α subunits of hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs) 1 and 2 [127] (Fig. 17.1). Consequently, abnormal or absent VHL protein is implicated in tumorigenesis by enhancing HIFs and, consequently, stimulating glucose uptake and expression of angiogenic and mitogenic factors as VEGF, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and transforming growth factor α (TGF α) [4, 128, 129].

Prevalence of VHL disease is 1/36,000 live births [4]; the majority of VHL cases are familial but up to 20% are caused by de novo mutations [130]. Penetrance is almost complete by the age of 75 years [131]. VHL patients show inherited susceptibility to many kinds of benign and malig-

nant tumors including renal clear cell carcinoma, hemangioblastomas of the retina and of the central nervous system, endolymphatic sac tumors, simple cysts, pancreatic serous cystadenomas, and NENs [132]. Clinically, VHL syndrome is classified into two types according to the absence (type 1) or presence (type 2) of PHEO. Type 1 can be subclassified in accordance with high (1A) or low (1B) risk of renal cell carcinoma. Type 2 VHL is further categorized into type 2A (associated with other tumors different from renal cell carcinoma), type 2B (associated with renal cell carcinoma), and type 2C (only PHEO, also called autosomal dominant familial nonsyndromic PHEO). Interestingly, different fammembers can have different disease ily manifestations as well as different VHL subtypes [133, 134].

Clinical diagnosis is based on the discovery of a classical VHL-associated tumor (central nervous system hemangioblastoma, retinal hemangioblastoma, renal cell carcinoma, PHEO) in a patient with positive familial history or, for sporadic cases, diagnosis is based on the presence of at least two classical VHL-associated tumors (in particular, two hemangioblastomas or one hemangioblastoma associated with one visceral tumor) [133]. Genetic testing is always recommended for confirmatory diagnosis, familial screening, genetic counseling, and genotypephenotype predictions [132, 135]. The identification of asymptomatic carriers of VHL mutation is essential for early detection of VHL-related tumors in order to limit morbidity and mortality [135, 136].

NENs associated with VHL include pNENs and PHEO/PGLs, while PHPT is anecdotally reported (Table 17.1).

17.5.2 VHL-Related NEN: Diagnostic and Therapeutic Update

17.5.2.1 Pancreatic NEN

Patients with VHL syndrome have a lifetime risk of developing one or more pNENs of 20%. Table 17.2 reports the main features of VHLassociated pNETs. Histologically, VHL-related pNETs are similar to the sporadic counterpart, even if they can present clear cell features [137]. Classical neuroendocrine cells are medium size, uniform cells with eosinophilic cytoplasm, round to oval nuclei, and "salt-and-pepper" granular chromatin, usually organized in trabecular structures [138]. Similarly to MEN1-, MEN4-, and NF1-related NENs, VHL-related NENs are usually grade 1 or 2 NETs. Women have a slightly higher risk of pNET development, with male to female ratio ranging from 1:1.1 to 1:1.6 [139, 140]. Mean age of presentation is 35 years, about 20 years before sporadic pNET [141]. The youngest patient affected by pNET was 11 years old [141]. Half of these tumors are localized in the head of the pancreas [142]. VHL-related pNETs differ from sporadic ones because of their tendency to be multiple [143] but with overall indolent behavior, even if a variable proportion of patients ranging, in larger studies or metanalysis, from 12.8 to 20% have metastatic disease [141, 144].

The great part of VHL-associated pNETs are non-functioning [139], and only sporadic reports demonstrated that they can secrete ACTH, causing ectopic Cushing's syndrome [145]. Patients are therefore usually asymptomatic, and symptoms arise in case of compression of nearby structures [146].

Diagnosis is based on radiological findings. Morphological imaging commonly used for the detection of pancreatic lesions are contrastenhanced CT and MRI and EUS [147]. CT shows a well-defined solid mass, usually with rounded or lobulated borders, characterized by early enhancement [148]. Pancreatic MRI usually shows hypointense T1-weighted sequences and hyperintense T2-weighted sequences lesions, which can contain hemorrhagic, necrotic, and calcified portions [149]. EUS is the most sensitive method for the diagnosis of small solid pancreatic tumors [147]. Functional imaging is recommended in case of locally advanced or metastatic disease; moreover, it could play a role for helping differential diagnosis and for identifying tumor recurrence [147]. In sporadic pancreatic tumors, ⁶⁸Gallium-DOTA PET showed a better sensibility compared to SST receptor scintigraphy [39, 150]. This data has been confirmed also in VHL-associated pNET [141, 151]. In a study on 197 patients affected by VHL-related pancreatic lesions, Sadowski et al. demonstrated that ¹⁸F-FDG PET-CT was able to correctly characterize pNETs using a standardized uptake value (SUV) cut-off of 4 (sensibility 92%, specificity 75%) and in three patients also gave the possibility to recognize metastatic sites not previously detected by total-body CT scan [152]. Routine use of biopsy in these patients is not recommended, because tumors are nearly often correctly identified by morphological and functional imaging, and pNET in VHL disease are known to be well differentiated, although a biopsy would be useful to characterize tumor biology in selected patients [147]. Chromogranin A can be useful for follow-up in some patients with high basal levels [153].

Natural history of pNET is variable among VHL patients, so it is of a great importance to consider prognostic factors in order to identify the best treatment strategy.

Blansfield et al., in a study on 108 VHLrelated pNETs, described that more aggressive tumors, with higher metastatic potential, had three characteristics: size >3.0 cm, presence of a mutation in exon three and tumor doubling time less than 550 days [139]. Similarly, Krauss et al. underwent to comparable conclusions: size >2.8 cm and mutation in codon 161/167 of exon three were the main prognostic factors [141].

According to these findings, surgical resection is the therapy of choice for larger masses. Guidelines recommended surgery in case of diameter >3.0 cm in pancreatic tail and body, considering the higher risk of metastases, and >2.0 cm in pancreatic head and uncinate process, in order to prevent main pancreatic duct involvement, which implicates a more radical resection [147]. After guidelines publication, an original article on 2330 VHL patients, 273 of which had pNETs, demonstrated a longer 10 years diseasefree survival also in small pNET surgically treated compared to surveillance [154]. On the other hand, surgically treated patients had a high rate of postoperative complications. In particular, early postoperative complications were fistula,

abscess, or cholangitis (23%), while long-term postoperative complications were diabetes mellitus and exocrine insufficiency (41%) [141]. Taking into account ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of pNET [52], it is reasonable to suggest a surgical resection of VHL pNETs with one of the following characteristics: diameter >2.0 cm, growth rate >0.5 cm per year or in case of functioning tumors.

In case of surgical resection, given the possibility of multiple lesions, intraoperative US should be suggested [155]. When it is possible, enucleation of pNETs is recommended for sparing pancreatic tissue [143], even if no comparison study between enucleation and classical resection is currently available. Lymphadenectomy is recommended for correct staging [147].

After surgical excision, annual imaging with CT or MRI is recommended [155]. In case of locally advanced or metastatic disease, no specific data are available in VHL patients, so patients are treated according to the beforementioned ENETS guidelines [52]. Briefly, surgical intervention can be considered for reducing tumor burden or in case of complications, as obstruction, compression, or hemorrhage [147]. Systemic first-line therapy is based on SSAs, which has demonstrated in CLARINET study to increase progression-free survival (PFS) in entero-pancreatic NETs [156]. In case of disease progression, it is possible to consider PRRT [52] or targeted therapy [157]. Specific targeted therapies could play an important role in VHL-related tumors, even if no dedicated clinical trials are currently available in VHL-mutated patients.

17.5.2.2 Pheochromocytomas and Paragangliomas

PHEO/PGLs arise respectively from chromaffin cells localized in the adrenal medulla and in extra-adrenal paraganglia. The percentage of VHL patients developing PHEO/PGLs is estimated from 10 to 20% [4, 132]. Table 17.3 reports the main features of VHL-associated PHEO/PGLs. For definition, PHEO occurs only in type 2 VHL. Mean age of presentation is <30 years, and the risk of malignancy is lower than 5%

[158]. More than 900 VHL mutations have been described, including deletions, missense substitutions, and mutations causing the synthesis of a truncated protein. PHEO often occurs in association with specific alleles, usually due to missense mutations rather than deletions or premature termination [125]; particularly, the mutation at nucleotide 238 in exon 3 is associated with a 62% risk for PHEO [159]. The reason could be that PHEO development requires partial but not complete loss of function in VHL protein [134]. Interestingly, HIF-2 α is highly expressed in the adrenal medulla and in the organ of Zuckerkandl, and the gene encoding for tyrosine hydroxylase, implicated in adrenal catecholamine production, is a HIF target gene [160].

PHEO in VHL disease can be bilateral and multiple [4] and most commonly secrete norepinephrine, although a small percentage can produce dopamine [161]. Clinical presentation includes intermittent or sustained hypertension, palpitations, tachycardia, headaches, anxiety, sweating, pallor, and flashes up to hypertensive crisis [130].

PHEO/PGLs are histologically characterized by neoplastic cells, with oval nuclei, granular cytoplasm, and evident nucleolus, gathered in nest or "zellballen" pattern, surrounded by S-100positive sustentacular cells [132, 138].

Diagnosis is based on the dosage of plasmatic or urinary fractionated metanephrines. Plasmatic normetanephrines seem to have the greatest sensitivity and specificity compared to other plasma catecholamines and urinary catecholamines, and vanillylmandelic acid [162]. Urinary fractionated metanephrines can be used alternatively [163]. Endocrine Society Clinical Practice guidelines on PHEO/PGL recommend drawing blood sample for plasma testing in supine position, using liquid chromatography with mass spectrometric or electrochemical detection methods and checking possible pharmacological interferences [163].

Confirmatory clonidine suppression test demonstrated 97% sensibility and 100% specificity in a retrospective study [164], but no data are available in VHL syndrome, and this test should be performed in centers with an adequate experience and only in selected patients. In case of biochemical alterations, morphological imaging is recommended. CT is usually preferred for the detection of adrenal masses, considering the great sensibility and special resolution, while MRI is more accurate for PGL identification [163]. PHEOs/PGLs appear as homogeneous or heterogeneous mass, usually necrotic, with some calcifications [165]. MRI usually shows hyperintense mass in T2-weighted image [166].

Functional imaging is particularly relevant in case of extra-adrenal PGLs or for metastatic disease. Guidelines recommend ¹²³I- MIBG scintigraphy for the high accuracy in PHEO diagnosis (sensibility 92%, specificity 94%) [167] and for predicting response to radiotherapy using ¹³¹I-MIBG. In metastatic cases, diagnostic accuracy of ¹⁸F-FDG PET seems better than ¹²³I-MIBG [168]. Few studies analyzed diagnostic accuracy of ¹⁸F-DOPA PET-CT in VHL-related PHEOs/ PGLs. Weisbrod et al., in a study on 52 VHLmutated patients, demonstrated that ¹⁸F-DOPA PET-CT was able to identify lesions not detected by conventional imaging in 9.6% of patients, even if CT and MRI generally identified a larger amount of masses. The authors concluded that ¹⁸F-DOPA PET-CT should be used as complementary diagnostic technique [169]. Another study on 101 patients, including 19 VHL mutated patients, with known or suspected PHEOs/PGLs, demonstrated a high sensibility and specificity of ¹⁸F-DOPA PET-CT, respectively 93% and 88% [170].

Surgery is the treatment of choice and should be performed even in asymptomatic patients. Best surgical management for VHL-associated PHEO is laparoscopic cortical sparing mass excision, in order to maintain corticosteroid independence [171, 172]. In case of functioning PHEO/ PGL, patients require previous preparation therapy with α -adrenergic receptor blockers. Objectives of pre-surgical treatment are reduction of diastolic blood pressure and heart rate, and minimization of the risk of postoperative hypotension [173].

 β -Adrenergic receptor blockers are indicated for controlling tachycardia but can be used only after starting α -adrenergic receptor blockers, and calcium antagonist can be added for controlling blood hypertension [174].

In metastatic PHEOs/PGLs, debulking surgery can improve overall survival [175]. In case of stable disease or slow progression, a follow-up strategy or radionuclide therapy using ¹³¹I-MIBG or ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE is recommended [176].

Systemic treatment includes chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and dacarbazine. This protocol is burdened by serious adverse events and determines a partial response in about 37% of patients [177].

Recently, new targeted therapies are under evaluation for the treatment of metastatic PHEOs/ PGLs. Antiangiogenic therapy with TKI has been studied as potential treatment in malignant lesions [178], and an international randomized study on sunitinib is now ongoing (FIRSTMAPPP, NCT01371201). Sunitinib seems particularly promising in VHL syndrome, considering the role of sustained angiogenesis in VHL mutated tumors [179].

Finally, immunotherapy has been proposed in patients with alterations in proteins associated with the regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor- α , as in VHL disease [176, 180]. The programmed cell death protein 1 (PD1) is one of the checkpoints that impedes the efficacy of cytotoxic T lymphocyte response, and pembrolizumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody directed against PD1 [181]. Only one phase II trial on pembrolizumab is now recruiting (NCT02721732), and the results could be very interesting for VHL-associated PHEO/PGL.

VHL guidelines [131, 182, 183] recommend that screening for PHEO/PGL should begin in early childhood (5 years) and should be repeated every 12 months, using blood pressure monitoring and evaluation of fractionated metanephrines (paying special attention to normetanephrine) in plasma or 24-h urine collection. Imaging protocol includes annually abdominal US examination from 8 to 15 years, reserving MRI or functional imaging in case of biochemical alterations. After the age of 16 years, abdominal US and
MRI, which is preferred to CT for reducing exposure to ionizing radiation. Clearly, abdomen examination is performed also for the early diagnosis of renal cell cancer and pNET.

17.6 Neurofibromatosis Type 1

17.6.1 Overview

NF1, also known as von Recklinghausen disease, is an autosomal dominant disorder with a complete penetrance and variable expression, caused by germline mutations in the *NF1* tumor suppressor gene. *NF1* gene, located on chromosome 17q11.2, encodes for neurofibromin, a protein acting as negative regulator of the RAS-RAF-MAPK pathway, involved in cell growth and proliferation (Fig. 17.1). So the loss of neurofibromin expression, as seen in NF1, leads to increased cell growth and survival through hyper-activation of RAS. NF1 belongs to a group of inherited disorders referred to as phakomatoses or neurocutaneous syndromes.

Its prevalence is estimated in 1/3000 live births, with half of cases showing a family history and half arising with a de novo mutation. NF1 can affect multiple organ systems and has a wide range of variable clinical manifestations.

Approximately all individuals with NF1 develop pigmentary lesions (café-au-lait macules, skinfold freckling, and Lisch nodules) and dermal neurofibromas. Some individuals show skeletal abnormalities (scoliosis, tibial pseudarthrosis, and orbital dysplasia), brain tumors (optic pathway gliomas and glioblastoma), peripheral nerve tumors (spinal neurofibromas, plexiform neurofibromas, and malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors), learning disabilities, attention deficits, and social and behavioral problems, which can negatively affect the quality of life. Life expectancy in people with NF1 is reduced by 10-15 years mainly due to a high risk of malignant tumors [184]. NENs can occur in the context of NF1 including either GEP NENs or PHEOs/PGLs (Table 17.1).

17.6.2 NF1-Related NEN: Diagnostic and Therapeutic Update

17.6.2.1 Gastroenteropancreatic NEN

NF1-related GEP NENs (Table 17.2) are reported in about 1% of individuals with NF1 with special affinity for the duodenal and periampullary region [185]. In the most recent review of gastrointestinal tumors associated with NF1, tumor sites were duodenum (60%), ampulla (31%), pancreas (5%), or bile duct/gallbladder (4%), with SST-positive NET, the socalled somatostatinoma, as the most common histology (40%) [5]. The peri-ampullary somatostatinoma is almost patognomonic of NF1, because a rate of 26–41% of these tumors has been reported in association with NF-1 [5]. A recent study of whole-exome sequencing of six NF1-related dNETs confirmed the importance of somatic inactivation of the wild-type NF1 and suggested that loss of chromosome 22 is another genetic determinant in at least a subset of cases [186].

The NF1 somatostatinomas, compared to sporadic ones, occur at younger age (<50 years) and are smaller in size, probably because of the earlier diagnosis due to local symptoms (i.e., pain and jaundice) related to peri-ampullary localization and the clinical screening of this kind of NET in the context of NF1 [185]. They are well differentiated (NET), with low tumor grade (G1-G2) and high incidence of psammoma bodies (psammomatous calcifications), which are helpful in guiding the diagnosis. Very rarely mixed neuroendocrine non-neuroendocrine neoplasms (MiNENs) of periampullary region, expressing SST, have been reported [187]. The majority of peri-ampullary and dNENs in NF1, although express SST, are non-functioning somatostatinomas, so they occur in the absence of the characteristic syndrome, including diabetes mellitus, steatorrhea, cholelithiasis, and weight loss. Most patients with gastrointestinal tumors associated with NF1 are symptomatic (92%), but clinical features are variable depending on tumor localization, size, and spread [5].

The most frequent symptoms are attributed to the mass effect: jaundice and non-specific abdominal pain are the most common, occurring in approximately two thirds of patients, followed by weight loss, gastrointestinal bleeding, and anemia. Due to the high risk of NF1-related malignancies, patients with abdominal symptoms may show one or more intra-abdominal, synchronous, or metachronous tumors, especially gastrointestinal stromal tumors, associated with dNETs [188].

The imaging features of a peri-ampullary mass in a patient with NF1 are clinically relevant in making the differential diagnosis, since somatostatinoma usually presents as a focal intraluminal mass [185].

Since these tumors express SST receptor subtypes 2 and 5, SST receptor-based imaging techniques are useful to localize them, but also to predict the response to therapy with cold or radiolabeled SSAs. Therefore, the ⁶⁸Gallium-DOTATATE PET-CT, in combination with upper gastrointestinal endoscopy, EUS, CT, and MRI should be considered for diagnosis, staging, and preoperative assessment of these tumors [189].

In NF1 individuals, NETs very rarely metastasize. Local and node invasions are more frequent, but the preoperative imaging study and endoscopic biopsy are often inaccurate regarding lymph node involvement and depth of invasion [190].

For tumors smaller than 1-2 cm, there is no consensus regarding management. Endoscopic excision or transduodenal surgical ampullectomy have been suggested [191]. Endoscopic ampullectomy could be an option when the tumor is limited to the mucosal layer without lymphovascular involvement [190]. Otherwise, transduodenal surgical ampullectomy could be suggested for relatively small tumors with suspected submucosal invasion [190]. However, ENETS guidelines for gastroduodenal sporadic NETs smaller than 1 cm suggest a more aggressive approach for peri-ampullary lesions with surgical resection, whereas an endoscopic management for not periampullary localizations. On the contrary, for NF1-related NETs ≥ 2 cm, surgical resection is recommended, and local lymphadenectomy should also be considered due to the risk of submucosal invasion and lymph node involvement. Pancreaticoduodenectomy with regional lymphadenectomy should be limited to larger tumors with more aggressive behavior. Postoperative treatments in cases with node metastases have not been established. Response to chemotherapy with etoposide and cisplatin has been reported in a metastatic NET [190], while to 5-fluoroacil and oxaliplatin in a patient with MiNEN [192].

pNETs in NF1 patients are rare with only seven cases reported in the literature, five of them showed an aggressive behavior, suggesting that might be some biological differences between peri-ampullary and pancreatic NF1-related NETs. Histology was insulinoma in three cases, somatostatinoma in two cases, and nonfunctioning NET in two other cases [193].

In only two NF1 patients, rectal NETs have been described. They were multiple, with different and nonspecific clinical symptoms, that include changes in bowel habits, hematochezia, and abdominal pain. This clinical picture is similar to those of the most frequent rectal diseases such as hemorrhoids, rectal polyps, and colorectal adenocarcinoma, thus making difficult to achieve an early diagnosis [194].

17.6.2.2 Pheochromocytomas and Paragangliomas

PHEOs/PGLs in patients with NF1 (Table 17.3) show a debatable prevalence. While the mostly cited prevalence in the literature is 0.1–5.7% based on a retrospective review [195], subsequent studies showed that the prevalence might be higher if patients were screened prospectively (7.7–14.6%) [196, 197]. In the last few years, an increased number of incidental diagnosis was evident in normotensive and asymptomatic patients due to the large use of advanced imaging and a better knowledge of the disease genetic basis. Individuals with PHEOs/PGLs associated with NF1 were predominantly women in the fourth decade of life with no family history of PHEOs/PGLs.

The mean age was younger in NF1 than in patients with sporadic PHEOs/PGLs, while older as compared to patients with other genetic syndromes, probably due to lack of routine screening for adrenal medulla in NF1 and consequent delayed identification [198, 199].

Approximately 84% of individuals with PHEO/PGL have solitary adrenal tumors, 10% bilateral adrenal tumors, and 6% have extraadrenal tumors in the abdominal sympathetic chain, the organ of Zuckerkandl or the bladder [200]. Individuals with NF1 are at higher risk of malignant PHEO/PGL than sporadic ones (11.5% vs. 4%) and can present with distant metastases [200]. A recent study found that all cases of bilateral, metastatic, and recurrent PHEOs/PGLs occurred in women [201].

NF1-related PHEOs/PGLs, whether or not secreting, are mostly asymptomatic. When symptomatic, patients can show typical symptoms of catecholamines hypersecretion: hypertension, sweating, palpitations, headache, or flushing.

NF1 PHEOs produce both epinephrine and norepinephrine attributable to the activity of the PNMT enzyme, the terminal enzyme in catecholamine synthesis, which converts norepinephrine to epinephrine [202, 203]. In these patients, the increased plasma and urinary levels of metanephrine (indicating epinephrine overproduction) and normetanephrine (a norepinephrine metabolite) help to discriminate NF1 from VHL tumors that express only a noradrenergic phenotype [202, 203]. All patients with NF1, such as patients with MEN2, presented with tumors characterized by increased plasma concentrations of metanephrines, in contrast plasma-free methoxytyramine was elevated only in 39% of patients with NF1 [203]. Therefore, when suspected, PHEOs are diagnosed by assessing the levels of plasma-free metanephrines and performing abdominal imaging (CT or MRI), combined with functional imaging using ¹²³I-MIBG or ¹⁸F-DOPA PET [196].

Clonidine suppression testing can also be used in case of an indeterminate adrenal nodule associated with elevated urinary metanephrine levels [204].

Over the last few years, the potential significance of systematic screening for PHEO/PGL in patients with NF1 has been questioned in the literature. If individuals with other hereditary endocrine neoplasia syndromes are routinely screened for PHEO/PGL, contrarily, both adult and pediatric NF1 guidelines not recommend routine biochemical screening for these types of tumors. They recommend that patients with NF1 should have a specialist clinic visit once a year with blood pressure measurement, given the associawith tion renal artery stenosis and PHEO. According to the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics, only patients with NF1 and hypertension, aged \geq 30 years, who are pregnant, and/or symptomatic should be considered for biochemical or imaging screening. Some recent studies suggest that systematic biochemical screening should be a part of the routine evaluation in patients with NF1, by regular measurements of plasma-free or urinary fractionated metanephrines, starting from early adolescence and repeated every 3 years [198, 205, 206]. Patients with undiagnosed PHEO/PGL are at risk of developing life-threatening cardiovascular complications due to catecholamine crises triggered by tumor manipulation, anesthesia, drugs, pregnancy, or rarely metastatic disease [206], so biochemical testing should also be carried out prior to elective surgical procedures and conception [201, 206].

Surgical resection with laparoscopic adrenalectomy is the standard treatment for these tumors. Posterior retroperitoneoscopic adrenalectomy is a reasonable approach with a more direct access to the adrenal gland in cases with significant history of abdominal surgeries and bilateral adrenal tumors [207]. However, in last years, management of hereditary PHEOs has drastically evolved and cortical sparing adrenal surgery may be proposed to avoid definitive adrenal insufficiency especially in case of bilateral PHEOs with low risk of malignancy, the most great experience was in patients with MEN2 and VHL [208].

Patients with NF1 had the most volatile intraoperative hemodynamic course and more severe postoperative complications that may be related to large tumors associated with abundant catecholamine secretion [202].

The treatment of malignant PHEO should be focused on symptomatic control of the hypersecretion using alpha and beta adrenergic blockade. If possible, a surgical excision or a debulking procedure should be performed. No effective treatment currently exists for PHEO with distant metastases. Internal radiotherapy with ¹³¹I-MIBG and chemotherapy, using cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and dacarbazine, have been widely used with poor responses. Sunitinib, an oral receptor TKI, inhibits catecholamine synthesis and secretion in PHEO tumor cells and may prove to be useful in the treatment of malignant PHEOs in the future even in the context of genetic syndromes [209].

Funding and Acknowledgment This chapter, part of the volume *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, has been partially supported by a grant of the Italian Ministry of Education, Research and University (PRIN 2017Z3N3YC).

References

- Anlauf M, Garbrecht N, Bauersfeld J, Schmitt A, Henopp T, Komminoth P, Heitz PU, Perren A, Kloppel G. Hereditary neuroendocrine tumors of the gastroenteropancreatic system. Virchows Arch. 2007;451(Suppl 1):S29–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00428-007-0450-3.
- Faggiano A, Ferolla P, Grimaldi F, Campana D, Manzoni M, Davi MV, Bianchi A, Valcavi R, Papini E, Giuffrida D, Ferone D, Fanciulli G, Arnaldi G, Franchi GM, Francia G, Fasola G, Crino L, Pontecorvi A, Tomassetti P, Colao A. Natural history of gastro-entero-pancreatic and thoracic neuroendocrine tumors. Data from a large prospective and retrospective Italian epidemiological study: the NET management study. J Endocrinol Invest. 2012;35(9):817–23. https://doi.org/10.3275/8102.
- Hadoux J, Pacini F, Tuttle RM, Schlumberger M. Management of advanced medullary thyroid cancer. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2016;4(1):64–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00337-X.
- Lonser RR, Glenn GM, Walther M, Chew EY, Libutti SK, Linehan WM, Oldfield EH. von Hippel-Lindau disease. Lancet. 2003;361(9374):2059–67. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13643-4.
- Relles D, Baek J, Witkiewicz A, Yeo CJ. Periampullary and duodenal neoplasms in neurofibromatosis type 1: two cases and an updated 20-year review of the literature yielding 76 cases. J Gastrointest Surg. 2010;14(6):1052–61. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11605-009-1123-0.
- Pacini F, Castagna MG, Cipri C, Schlumberger M. Medullary thyroid carcinoma. Clin Oncol

(R Coll Radiol). 2010;22(6):475–85. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.clon.2010.05.002.

- Ramundo V, Milone F, Severino R, Savastano S, Di Somma C, Vuolo L, De Luca L, Lombardi G, Colao A, Faggiano A. Clinical and prognostic implications of the genetic diagnosis of hereditary NET syndromes in asymptomatic patients. Horm Metab Res. 2011;43(11):794–800. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-0031-1286324.
- Thakker RV, Newey PJ, Walls GV, Bilezikian J, Dralle H, Ebeling PR, Melmed S, Sakurai A, Tonelli F, Brandi ML, Endocrine S. Clinical practice guidelines for multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1). J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(9):2990–3011. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-1230.
- Camera L, Paoletta S, Mollica C, Milone F, Napolitano V, De Luca L, Faggiano A, Colao A, Salvatore M. Screening of pancreaticoduodenal endocrine tumours in patients with MEN 1: multidetector-row computed tomography vs. endoscopic ultrasound. Radiol Med. 2011;116(4):595– 606. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11547-011-0636-2.
- Donegan D, Singh Ospina N, Rodriguez-Gutierrez R, Al-Hilli Z, Thompson GB, Clarke BL, Young WF Jr. Long-term outcomes in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 and pancreaticoduodenal neuroendocrine tumours. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2017;86(2):199–206. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cen.13264.
- 11. Park TY, Lee SK, Park JS, Oh D, Song TJ, Park DH, Lee SS, Seo DW, Kim MH. Clinical features of pancreatic involvement in von Hippel-Lindau disease: a retrospective study of 55 cases in a single center. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2015;50(3):360–7. https:// doi.org/10.3109/00365521.2014.992364.
- Dayal Y, Tallberg KA, Nunnemacher G, DeLellis RA, Wolfe HJ. Duodenal carcinoids in patients with and without neurofibromatosis. A comparative study. Am J Surg Pathol. 1986;10(5):348–57. https:// doi.org/10.1097/00000478-198605000-00007.
- Thakker RV. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) and type 4 (MEN4). Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2014;386(1-2):2–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mce.2013.08.002.
- Martucci VL, Pacak K. Pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma: diagnosis, genetics, management, and treatment. Curr Probl Cancer. 2014;38(1):7–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. currproblcancer.2014.01.001.
- 15. Lemmens I, Van de Ven WJ, Kas K, Zhang CX, Giraud S, Wautot V, Buisson N, De Witte K, Salandre J, Lenoir G, Pugeat M, Calender A, Parente F, Quincey D, Gaudray P, De Wit MJ, Lips CJ, Hoppener JW, Khodaei S, Grant AL, Weber G, Kytola S, Teh BT, Farnebo F, Thakker RV, et al. Identification of the multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) gene. The European Consortium on MEN1. Hum Mol Genet. 1997;6(7):1177–83. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/6.7.1177.

- Agarwal SK. The future: genetics advances in MEN1 therapeutic approaches and management strategies. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2017;24(10):T119–34. https:// doi.org/10.1530/ERC-17-0199.
- 17. Scarpa A, Chang DK, Nones K, Corbo V, Patch AM, Bailey P, Lawlor RT, Johns AL, Miller DK, Mafficini A, Rusev B, Scardoni M, Antonello D, Barbi S, Sikora KO, Cingarlini S, Vicentini C, McKay S, Quinn MC, Bruxner TJ, Christ AN, Harliwong I, Idrisoglu S, McLean S, Nourse C, Nourbakhsh E, Wilson PJ, Anderson MJ, Fink JL, Newell F, Waddell N, Holmes O, Kazakoff SH, Leonard C, Wood S, Xu Q, Nagaraj SH, Amato E, Dalai I, Bersani S, Cataldo I, Dei Tos AP, Capelli P, Davi MV, Landoni L, Malpaga A, Miotto M, Whitehall VL, Leggett BA, Harris JL, Harris J, Jones MD, Humphris J, Chantrill LA, Chin V, Nagrial AM, Pajic M, Scarlett CJ, Pinho A, Rooman I, Toon C, Wu J, Pinese M, Cowley M, Barbour A, Mawson A, Humphrey ES, Colvin EK, Chou A, Lovell JA, Jamieson NB, Duthie F, Gingras MC, Fisher WE, Dagg RA, Lau LM, Lee M, Pickett HA, Reddel RR, Samra JS, Kench JG, Merrett ND, Epari K, Nguyen NQ, Zeps N, Falconi M, Simbolo M, Butturini G, Van Buren G, Partelli S, Fassan M, Australian Pancreatic Cancer Genome I, Khanna KK, Gill AJ, Wheeler DA, Gibbs RA, Musgrove EA, Bassi C, Tortora G, Pederzoli P, Pearson JV, Waddell N, Biankin AV, Grimmond SM. Wholegenome landscape of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Nature. 2017;543(7643):65-71. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature21063.
- Wang Y, Ozawa A, Zaman S, Prasad NB, Chandrasekharappa SC, Agarwal SK, Marx SJ. The tumor suppressor protein menin inhibits AKT activation by regulating its cellular localization. Cancer Res. 2011;71(2):371–82. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3221.
- Lemos MC, Thakker RV. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1): analysis of 1336 mutations reported in the first decade following identification of the gene. Hum Mutat. 2008;29(1):22–32. https:// doi.org/10.1002/humu.20605.
- Marini F, Giusti F, Fossi C, Cioppi F, Cianferotti L, Masi L, Boaretto F, Zovato S, Cetani F, Colao A, Davi MV, Faggiano A, Fanciulli G, Ferolla P, Ferone D, Loli P, Mantero F, Marcocci C, Opocher G, Beck-Peccoz P, Persani L, Scillitani A, Guizzardi F, Spada A, Tomassetti P, Tonelli F, Brandi ML. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: analysis of germline MEN1 mutations in the Italian multicenter MEN1 patient database. Endocrine. 2018;62(1):215–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-018-1566-8.
- Jensen RT, Berna MJ, Bingham DB, Norton JA. Inherited pancreatic endocrine tumor syndromes: advances in molecular pathogenesis, diagnosis, management, and controversies. Cancer. 2008;113(7 Suppl):1807–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.23648.
- 22. Yates CJ, Newey PJ, Thakker RV. Challenges and controversies in management of pancreatic neuro-

endocrine tumours in patients with MEN1. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2015;3(11):895–905. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00043-1.

- 23. Jensen RT, Cadiot G, Brandi ML, de Herder WW, Kaltsas G, Komminoth P, Scoazec JY, Salazar R, Sauvanet A, Kianmanesh R, Barcelona Consensus Conference P. ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms: functional pancreatic endocrine tumor syndromes. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95(2):98–119. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000335591.
- 24. Gibril F, Schumann M, Pace A, Jensen RT. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 and Zollinger-Ellison syndrome: a prospective study of 107 cases and comparison with 1009 cases from the literature. Medicine (Baltimore). 2004;83(1):43–83. https:// doi.org/10.1097/01.md.0000112297.72510.32.
- D'Souza SL, Elmunzer BJ, Scheiman JM. Long-term follow-up of asymptomatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type I syndrome. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2014;48(5):458–61. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.00000000000062.
- Chiloiro S, Lanza F, Bianchi A, Schinzari G, Brizi MG, Giampietro A, Rufini V, Inzani F, Giordano A, Rindi G, Pontecorvi A, De Marinis L. Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in MEN1 disease: a monocentric longitudinal and prognostic study. Endocrine. 2018;60(2):362–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12020-017-1327-0.
- 27. Goudet P, Murat A, Binquet C, Cardot-Bauters C, Costa A, Ruszniewski P, Niccoli P, Menegaux F, Chabrier G, Borson-Chazot F, Tabarin A, Bouchard P, Delemer B, Beckers A, Bonithon-Kopp C. Risk factors and causes of death in MEN1 disease. A GTE (Groupe d'Etude des Tumeurs Endocrines) cohort study among 758 patients. World J Surg. 2010;34(2):249–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00268-009-0290-1.
- 28. Ito T, Igarashi H, Uehara H, Berna MJ, Jensen RT. Causes of death and prognostic factors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: a prospective study: comparison of 106 MEN1/Zollinger-Ellison syndrome patients with 1613 literature MEN1 patients with or without pancreatic endocrine tumors. Medicine (Baltimore). 2013;92(3):135–81. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.0b013e3182954af1.
- Vinault S, Mariet AS, Le Bras M, Mirallie E, Cardot-Bauters C, Pattou F, Ruszniewski P, Sauvanet A, Chanson P, Baudin E, Elias D, Menegaux F, Gaujoux S, Borson-Chazot F, Lifante JC, Caron P, Carrere N, Tabarin A, Laurent C, Klein M, Brunaud L, Niccoli P, Sebag F, Cadiot G, Kianmanesh R, Luu M, Binquet C, Goudet P. Metastatic potential and survival of duodenal and pancreatic tumors in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: a GTE and AFCE cohort study (Groupe d'etude des Tumeurs Endocrines and Association Francophone de Chirurgie Endocrinienne). Ann Surg. 2018;272(6):1094–101. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.000000000003162.

- 30. Oleinikov K, Uri I, Jacob H, Epshtein J, Benson A, Ben-Haim S, Atlan K, Tal I, Meirovitz A, Maimon O, Lev-Cohain N, Mazeh H, Glaser B, Gross DJ, Grozinsky-Glasberg S. Long-term outcomes in MEN-1 patients with pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: an Israeli specialist center experience. Endocrine. 2020;68(1):222–9. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12020-020-02217-4.
- 31. Gibril F, Venzon DJ, Ojeaburu JV, Bashir S, Jensen RT. Prospective study of the natural history of gastrinoma in patients with MEN1: definition of an aggressive and a nonaggressive form. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(11):5282–93. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.86.11.8011.
- 32. Singh S, Poon R, Wong R, Metser U. 68Ga PET imaging in patients with neuroendocrine tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Nucl Med. 2018;43(11):802–10. https://doi.org/10.1097/ RLU.00000000002276.
- 33. Lee DY, Kim YI. Prognostic value of maximum standardized uptake value in 68Ga-somatostatin receptor positron emission tomography for neuroendocrine tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Nucl Med. 2019;44(10):777–83. https://doi. org/10.1097/RLU.00000000002694.
- 34. Frilling A, Sotiropoulos GC, Radtke A, Malago M, Bockisch A, Kuehl H, Li J, Broelsch CE. The impact of 68Ga-DOTATOC positron emission tomography/ computed tomography on the multimodal management of patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Surg. 2010;252(5):850–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.0b013e3181fd37e8.
- 35. Froeling V, Elgeti F, Maurer MH, Scheurig-Muenkler C, Beck A, Kroencke TJ, Pape UF, Hamm B, Brenner W, Schreiter NF. Impact of Ga-68 DOTATOC PET/CT on the diagnosis and treatment of patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia. Ann Nucl Med. 2012;26(9):738–43. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12149-012-0634-z.
- 36. Sadowski SM, Millo C, Cottle-Delisle C, Merkel R, Yang LA, Herscovitch P, Pacak K, Simonds WF, Marx SJ, Kebebew E. Results of (68)Gallium-DOTATATE PET/CT scanning in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. J Am Coll Surg. 2015;221(2):509–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jamcollsurg.2015.04.005.
- 37. Lastoria S, Marciello F, Faggiano A, Aloj L, Caraco C, Aurilio M, D'Ambrosio L, Di Gennaro F, Ramundo V, Camera L, De Luca L, Fonti R, Napolitano V, Colao A. Role of (68)Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1). Endocrine. 2016;52(3):488–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-015-0702-y.
- Sharma P, Mukherjee A, Karunanithi S, Naswa N, Kumar R, Ammini AC, Bal C. Accuracy of 68Ga DOTANOC PET/CT imaging in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia syndromes. Clin Nucl Med. 2015;40(7):e351–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/ RLU.0000000000000775.

- 39. Morgat C, Velayoudom-Cephise FL, Schwartz P, Guyot M, Gaye D, Vimont D, Schulz J, Mazere J, Nunes ML, Smith D, Hindie E, Fernandez P, Tabarin A. Evaluation of (68)Ga-DOTA-TOC PET/CT for the detection of duodenopancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in patients with MEN1. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;43(7):1258–66. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00259-016-3319-3.
- 40. Sharma P, Arora S, Karunanithi S, Khadgawat R, Durgapal P, Sharma R, Kandasamy D, Bal C, Kumar R. Somatostatin receptor based PET/CT imaging with 68Ga-DOTA-Nal3-octreotide for localization of clinically and biochemically suspected insulinoma. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;60(1):69–76.
- 41. Prasad V, Sainz-Esteban A, Arsenic R, Plockinger U, Denecke T, Pape UF, Pascher A, Kuhnen P, Pavel M, Blankenstein O. Role of (68)Ga somatostatin receptor PET/CT in the detection of endogenous hyperinsulinaemic focus: an explorative study. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;43(9):1593–600. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00259-016-3331-7.
- 42. Nockel P, Babic B, Millo C, Herscovitch P, Patel D, Nilubol N, Sadowski SM, Cochran C, Gorden P, Kebebew E. Localization of insulinoma using 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT scan. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102(1):195–9. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2016-3445.
- Korner M, Christ E, Wild D, Reubi JC. Glucagonlike peptide-1 receptor overexpression in cancer and its impact on clinical applications. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2012;3:158. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fendo.2012.00158.
- 44. Luo Y, Pan Q, Yao S, Yu M, Wu W, Xue H, Kiesewetter DO, Zhu Z, Li F, Zhao Y, Chen X. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor PET/CT with 68Ga-NOTA-Exendin-4 for detecting localized insulinoma: a prospective cohort study. J Nucl Med. 2016;57(5):715–20. https://doi.org/10.2967/ jnumed.115.167445.
- 45. Antwi K, Nicolas G, Fani M, Heye T, Pattou F, Grossman A, Chanson P, Reubi JC, Perren A, Gloor B, Vogt DR, Wild D, Christ E. 68Ga-Exendin-4 PET/ CT detects insulinomas in patients with endogenous hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia in MEN-1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;104(12):5843–52. https:// doi.org/10.1210/jc.2018-02754.
- 46. Squires MH 3rd, Volkan Adsay N, Schuster DM, Russell MC, Cardona K, Delman KA, Winer JH, Altinel D, Sarmiento JM, El-Rayes B, Hawk N, Staley CA 3rd, Maithel SK, Kooby DA. Octreoscan versus FDG-PET for neuroendocrine tumor staging: a biological approach. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(7):2295–301. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-015-4471-x.
- 47. Bahri H, Laurence L, Edeline J, Leghzali H, Devillers A, Raoul JL, Cuggia M, Mesbah H, Clement B, Boucher E, Garin E. High prognostic value of 18F-FDG PET for metastatic gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: a long-term evaluation. J Nucl

Med. 2014;55(11):1786–90. https://doi.org/10.2967/ jnumed.114.144386.

- Kornaczewski Jackson ER, Pointon OP, Bohmer R, Burgess JR. Utility of FDG-PET imaging for risk stratification of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in MEN1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102(6):1926– 33. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2016-3865.
- 49. So A, Pointon O, Hodgson R, Burgess J. An assessment of (18) F-FDG PET/CT for thoracic screening and risk stratification of pulmonary nodules in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2018;88(5):683–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/cen.13573.
- 50. van Asselt SJ, Brouwers AH, van Dullemen HM, van der Jagt EJ, Bongaerts AH, Kema IP, Koopmans KP, Valk GD, Timmers HJ, de Herder WW, Feelders RA, Fockens P, Sluiter WJ, de Vries EG, Links TP. EUS is superior for detection of pancreatic lesions compared with standard imaging in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;81(1):159–167 e152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gie.2014.09.037.
- Ito T, Jensen RT. Imaging in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1: recent studies show enhanced sensitivities but increased controversies. Int J Endocr Oncol. 2016;3(1):53–66. https://doi.org/10.2217/ ije.15.29.
- 52. Falconi M, Eriksson B, Kaltsas G, Bartsch DK, Capdevila J, Caplin M, Kos-Kudla B, Kwekkeboom D, Rindi G, Kloppel G, Reed N, Kianmanesh R, Jensen RT, Vienna Consensus Conference P. ENETS consensus guidelines update for the management of patients with functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and non-functional pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(2): 153–71. https://doi.org/10.1159/000443171.
- 53. Partelli S, Tamburrino D, Lopez C, Albers M, Milanetto AC, Pasquali C, Manzoni M, Toumpanakis C, Fusai G, Bartsch D, Falconi M. Active surveillance versus surgery of nonfunctioning pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms </=2 cm in MEN1 patients. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(6):779–86. https://doi.org/10.1159/000443613.
- 54. Triponez F, Sadowski SM, Pattou F, Cardot-Bauters C, Mirallie E, Le Bras M, Sebag F, Niccoli P, Deguelte S, Cadiot G, Poncet G, Lifante JC, Borson-Chazot F, Chaffanjon P, Chabre O, Menegaux F, Baudin E, Ruszniewski P, Du Boullay H, Goudet P. Long-term follow-up of MEN1 patients who do not have initial surgery for small </=2 cm nonfunction-ing pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors, an AFCE and GTE study: Association Francophone de Chirurgie Endocrinienne & Groupe d'Etude des Tumeurs Endocrines. Ann Surg. 2018;268(1):158–64. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.000000000002191.</p>
- 55. Faggiano A, Modica R, Lo Calzo F, Camera L, Napolitano V, Altieri B, de Cicco F, Bottiglieri F, Sesti F, Badalamenti G, Isidori AM, Colao A. Lanreotide therapy vs active surveillance in MEN1-related pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors <2</p>

centimeters. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2020;105(1). https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgz007.

- 56. Pavel M, O'Toole D, Costa F, Capdevila J, Gross D, Kianmanesh R, Krenning E, Knigge U, Salazar R, Pape UF, Oberg K, Vienna Consensus Conference P. ENETS Consensus Guidelines update for the management of distant metastatic disease of intestinal, pancreatic, bronchial neuroendocrine neoplasms (NEN) and NEN of unknown primary site. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(2):172–85. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000443167.
- 57. Yasir M, Mulji NJ, Kasi A. Multiple endocrine neoplasias, type 2 (MEN II, pheochromocytoma and amyloid producing medullary thyroid carcinoma, Sipple Syndrome). In: StatPearls. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls; 2020.
- Wells SA Jr. Advances in the management of MEN2: from improved surgical and medical treatment to novel kinase inhibitors. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2018;25(2):T1–T13. https://doi.org/10.1530/ ERC-17-0325.
- Raue F, Frank-Raue K. Update on multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2: focus on medullary thyroid carcinoma. J Endocr Soc. 2018;2(8):933–43. https:// doi.org/10.1210/js.2018-00178.
- 60. Prabhu M, Shakya S, Ballal S, Shamim SA, Bal C. Long-term clinicopathological features of a family with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A caused by C634R RET gene mutation. Indian J Nucl Med. 2020;35(1):48–53. https://doi.org/10.4103/ ijnm.IJNM_168_19.
- Khurana R, Agarwal A, Bajpai VK, Verma N, Sharma AK, Gupta RP, Madhusudan KP. Unraveling the amyloid associated with human medullary thyroid carcinoma. Endocrinology. 2004;145(12):5465–70. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2004-0780.
- Thomas CM, Asa SL, Ezzat S, Sawka AM, Goldstein D. Diagnosis and pathologic characteristics of medullary thyroid carcinoma-review of current guidelines. Curr Oncol. 2019;26(5):338–44. https://doi. org/10.3747/co.26.5539.
- 63. Haugen BR, Alexander EK, Bible KC, Doherty GM, Mandel SJ, Nikiforov YE, Pacini F, Randolph GW, Sawka AM, Schlumberger M, Schuff KG, Sherman SI, Sosa JA, Steward DL, Tuttle RM, Wartofsky L. 2015 American Thyroid Association Management Guidelines for Adult Patients with Thyroid Nodules and Differentiated Thyroid Cancer: The American Thyroid Association Guidelines Task Force on Thyroid Nodules and Differentiated Thyroid Cancer. Thyroid. 2016;26(1):1–133. https://doi.org/10.1089/ thy.2015.0020.
- 64. Sanso GE, Domene HM, Garcia R, Pusiol E, de Mondino K, Roque M, Ring A, Perinetti H, Elsner B, Iorcansky S, Barontini M. Very early detection of RET proto-oncogene mutation is crucial for preventive thyroidectomy in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 children: presence of C-cell malignant disease in asymptomatic carriers. Cancer. 2002;94(2):323– 30. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.10228.

- 65. Camacho CP, Hoff AO, Lindsey SC, Signorini PS, Valente FO, Oliveira MN, Kunii IS, Biscolla RP, Cerutti JM, Maciel RM. Early diagnosis of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2B: a challenge for physicians. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol. 2008;52(8):1393–8. https://doi.org/10.1590/ s0004-27302008000800031.
- 66. Wray CJ, Rich TA, Waguespack SG, Lee JE, Perrier ND, Evans DB. Failure to recognize multiple endocrine neoplasia 2B: more common than we think? Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(1):293–301. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-007-9665-4.
- Waguespack SG, Rich TA. Multiple endocrine neoplasia [corrected] syndrome type 2B in early childhood: long-term benefit of prophylactic thyroidectomy. Cancer. 2010;116(9):2284. https://doi. org/10.1002/cncr.24941.
- Wells SA Jr, Baylin SB, Linehan WM, Farrell RE, Cox EB, Cooper CW. Provocative agents and the diagnosis of medullary carcinoma of the thyroid gland. Ann Surg. 1978;188(2):139–41. https://doi. org/10.1097/00000658-197808000-00002.
- 69. Choi N, Moon WJ, Lee JH, Baek JH, Kim DW, Park SW. Ultrasonographic findings of medullary thyroid cancer: differences according to tumor size and correlation with fine needle aspiration results. Acta Radiol. 2011;52(3):312–6. https://doi.org/10.1258/ ar.2010.100247.
- Liu MJ, Liu ZF, Hou YY, Men YM, Zhang YX, Gao LY, Liu H. Ultrasonographic characteristics of medullary thyroid carcinoma: a comparison with papillary thyroid carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2017;8(16):27520–8. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.15897.
- 71. Trimboli P, Cremonini N, Ceriani L, Saggiorato E, Guidobaldi L, Romanelli F, Ventura C, Laurenti O, Messuti I, Solaroli E, Madaio R, Bongiovanni M, Orlandi F, Crescenzi A, Valabrega S, Giovanella L. Calcitonin measurement in aspiration needle washout fluids has higher sensitivity than cytology in detecting medullary thyroid cancer: a retrospective multicentre study. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2014;80(1):135–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cen.12234.
- Giannetta E, et al. Eur J Endocrinol. 2020;183(6):R197–215. https://doi.org/10.1530/ EJE-20-0506.
- 73. Wells SA Jr, et al. Thyroid. 2015;25:567-610.
- Machens A, Dralle H. Biomarker-based risk stratification for previously untreated medullary thyroid cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95(6): 2655–63. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2009-2368.
- Pacini F, Castagna MG, Brilli L, Pentheroudakis G, Group EGW. Thyroid cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(Suppl 7):vii110–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mds230.
- Moley JF. Medullary thyroid carcinoma: management of lymph node metastases. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2010;8(5):549–56. https://doi.org/10.6004/ jnccn.2010.0042.

- 77. Wells SA Jr, Asa SL, Dralle H, Elisei R, Evans DB, Gagel RF, Lee N, Machens A, Moley JF, Pacini F, Raue F, Frank-Raue K, Robinson B, Rosenthal MS, Santoro M, Schlumberger M, Shah M, Waguespack SG, American Thyroid Association Guidelines Task Force on Medullary Thyroid C. Revised American Thyroid Association guidelines for the management of medullary thyroid carcinoma. Thyroid. 2015;25(6):567–610. https://doi.org/10.1089/ thy.2014.0335.
- Perros P, Boelaert K, Colley S, Evans C, Evans RM, Gerrard Ba G, Gilbert J, Harrison B, Johnson SJ, Giles TE, Moss L, Lewington V, Newbold K, Taylor J, Thakker RV, Watkinson J, Williams GR, British Thyroid A. Guidelines for the management of thyroid cancer. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2014;81(Suppl 1):1–122. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cen.12515.
- Giraudet AL, Vanel D, Leboulleux S, Auperin A, Dromain C, Chami L, Ny Tovo N, Lumbroso J, Lassau N, Bonniaud G, Hartl D, Travagli JP, Baudin E, Schlumberger M. Imaging medullary thyroid carcinoma with persistent elevated calcitonin levels. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(11):4185–90. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2007-1211.
- 80. Tuttle RM, Ball DW, Byrd D, Daniels GH, Dilawari RA, Doherty GM, Duh QY, Ehya H, Farrar WB, Haddad RI, Kandeel F, Kloos RT, Kopp P, Lamonica DM, Loree TR, Lydiatt WM, McCaffrey J, Olson JA Jr, Parks L, Ridge JA, Shah JP, Sherman SI, Sturgeon C, Waguespack SG, Wang TN, Wirth LJ, National Comprehensive Cancer N. Medullary carcinoma. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2010;8(5):512–30. https://doi.org/10.6004/jnccn. 2010.0040.
- 81. Zenaty D, Aigrain Y, Peuchmaur M, Philippe-Chomette P, Baumann C, Cornelis F, Hugot JP, Chevenne D, Barbu V, Guillausseau PJ, Schlumberger M, Carel JC, Travagli JP, Leger J. Medullary thyroid carcinoma identified within the first year of life in children with hereditary multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A (codon 634) and 2B. Eur J Endocrinol. 2009;160(5):807–13. https:// doi.org/10.1530/EJE-08-0854.
- 82. Yakes FM, Chen J, Tan J, Yamaguchi K, Shi Y, Yu P, Qian F, Chu F, Bentzien F, Cancilla B, Orf J, You A, Laird AD, Engst S, Lee L, Lesch J, Chou YC, Joly AH. Cabozantinib (XL184), a novel MET and VEGFR2 inhibitor, simultaneously suppresses metastasis, angiogenesis, and tumor growth. Mol Cancer Ther. 2011;10(12):2298–308. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-11-0264.
- Wirth LJ, Sherman E, Robinson B, Solomon B, Kang H, Lorch J, Worden F, Brose M, Patel J, Leboulleux S, Godbert Y, Barlesi F, et al. Efficacy of Seloercatinib in RET-Altered Thyroid Cancers. N Engl J Med. 2020;383:825–35. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa2005651.
- 84. Janssen I, Chen CC, Millo CM, Ling A, Taieb D, Lin FI, Adams KT, Wolf KI, Herscovitch P, Fojo AT, Buchmann I, Kebebew E, Pacak K. PET/CT

comparing (68)Ga-DOTATATE and other radiopharmaceuticals and in comparison with CT/MRI for the localization of sporadic metastatic pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;43(10):1784–91. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00259-016-3357-x.

- Wells SA Jr, Pacini F, Robinson BG, Santoro M. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 and familial medullary thyroid carcinoma: an update. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(8):3149–64. https://doi. org/10.1210/jc.2013-1204.
- 86. Castinetti F, Qi XP, Walz MK, Maia AL, Sanso G, Peczkowska M, Hasse-Lazar K, Links TP, Dvorakova S, Toledo RA, Mian C, Bugalho MJ, Wohllk N, Kollyukh O, Canu L, Loli P, Bergmann SR, Biarnes Costa J, Makay O, Patocs A, Pfeifer M, Shah NS, Cuny T, Brauckhoff M, Bausch B, von Dobschuetz E, Letizia C, Barczynski M, Alevizaki MK, Czetwertynska M, Ugurlu MU, Valk G, Plukker JT, Sartorato P, Siqueira DR, Barontini M, Szperl M, Jarzab B, Verbeek HH, Zelinka T, Vlcek P, Toledo SP, Coutinho FL, Mannelli M, Recasens M, Demarquet L, Petramala L, Yaremchuk S, Zabolotnyi D, Schiavi F, Opocher G, Racz K, Januszewicz A, Weryha G, Henry JF, Brue T, Conte-Devolx B, Eng C, Neumann HP. Outcomes of adrenal-sparing surgery or total adrenalectomy in phaeochromocytoma associated with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2: an international retrospective populationbased study. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(6):648-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(14) 70154-8.
- 87. Thosani S, Ayala-Ramirez M, Palmer L, Hu MI, Rich T, Gagel RF, Cote G, Waguespack SG, Habra MA, Jimenez C. The characterization of pheochromocytoma and its impact on overall survival in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(11):E1813–9. https:// doi.org/10.1210/jc.2013-1653.
- Tsang VH, Tacon LJ, Learoyd DL, Robinson BG. Pheochromocytomas in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2. Recent Results Cancer Res. 2015;204:157–78. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-22542-5_7.
- Guerin C, Romanet P, Taieb D, Brue T, Lacroix A, Sebag F, Barlier A, Castinetti F. Looking beyond the thyroid: advances in the understanding of pheochromocytoma and hyperparathyroidism phenotypes in MEN2 and of non-MEN2 familial forms. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2018;25(2):T15–28. https://doi. org/10.1530/ERC-17-0266.
- Farrugia FA, Martikos G, Tzanetis P, Charalampopoulos A, Misiakos E, Zavras N, Sotiropoulos D. Pheochromocytoma, diagnosis and treatment: review of the literature. Endocr Regul. 2017;51(3):168–81. https://doi.org/10.1515/ enr-2017-0018.
- 91. Bowerman RA, Silver TM, Jaffe MH, Stuck KJ, Hinerman DL. Sonography of adrenal pheochromo-

cytomas. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1981;137(6):1227– 31. https://doi.org/10.2214/ajr.137.6.1227.

- 92. Ilias I, Pacak K. Current approaches and recommended algorithm for the diagnostic localization of pheochromocytoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89(2):479–91. https://doi.org/10.1210/ jc.2003-031091.
- Lenders JW, Eisenhofer G, Mannelli M, Pacak K. Phaeochromocytoma. Lancet. 2005;366(9486):665–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(05)67139-5.
- 94. Havekes B, Lai EW, Corssmit EP, Romijn JA, Timmers HJ, Pacak K. Detection and treatment of pheochromocytomas and paragangliomas: current standing of MIBG scintigraphy and future role of PET imaging. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2008;52(4):419–29.
- 95. Leung K, Stamm M, Raja A, Low G. Pheochromocytoma: the range of appearances on ultrasound, CT, MRI, and functional imaging. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2013;200(2):370–8. https://doi.org/10.2214/AJR.12.9126.
- 96. Timmers HJ, Chen CC, Carrasquillo JA, Whatley M, Ling A, Havekes B, Eisenhofer G, Martiniova L, Adams KT, Pacak K. Comparison of 18F-fluoro-L-DOPA, 18F-fluoro-deoxyglucose, and 18F-fluorodopamine PET and 123I-MIBG scintigraphy in the localization of pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94(12):4757–67. https://doi.org/10.1210/ jc.2009-1248.
- 97. Havekes B, King K, Lai EW, Romijn JA, Corssmit EP, Pacak K. New imaging approaches to phaeochromocytomas and paragangliomas. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2010;72(2):137–45. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2265.2009.03648.x.
- Taieb D, Neumann H, Rubello D, Al-Nahhas A, Guillet B, Hindie E. Modern nuclear imaging for paragangliomas: beyond SPECT. J Nucl Med. 2012;53(2):264–74. https://doi.org/10.2967/ jnumed.111.098152.
- Castinetti F, Kroiss A, Kumar R, Pacak K, Taieb D. 15 years of paraganglioma: imaging and imagingbased treatment of pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2015;22(4):T135–45. https://doi.org/10.1530/ERC-15-0175.
- 100. Shamim SA, Kumar A, Kumar R. PET/computed tomography in neuroendocrine tumor: value to patient management and survival outcomes. PET Clin. 2015;10(3):411–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cpet.2015.03.005.
- Ilias I, Pacak K. Anatomical and functional imaging of metastatic pheochromocytoma. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2004;1018:495–504. https://doi.org/10.1196/ annals.1296.061.
- 102. Scholten A, Valk GD, Ulfman D, Borel Rinkes IH, Vriens MR. Unilateral subtotal adrenalectomy for pheochromocytoma in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 patients: a feasible surgical strategy. Ann

Surg. 2011;254(6):1022–7. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.0b013e318237480c.

- 103. de Graaf JS, Dullaart RP, Zwierstra RP. Complications after bilateral adrenalectomy for phaeochromocytoma in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2—a plea to conserve adrenal function. Eur J Surg. 1999;165(9):843–6. https://doi. org/10.1080/11024159950189320.
- 104. Lee JE, Curley SA, Gagel RF, Evans DB, Hickey RC. Cortical-sparing adrenalectomy for patients with bilateral pheochromocytoma. Surgery. 1996;120(6):1064–70; discussion 1070–1061. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0039-6060(96)80056-0.
- 105. Brunt LM, Doherty GM, Norton JA, Soper NJ, Quasebarth MA, Moley JF. Laparoscopic adrenalectomy compared to open adrenalectomy for benign adrenal neoplasms. J Am Coll Surg. 1996;183(1):1–10.
- 106. Mazzaglia PJ, Vezeridis MP. Laparoscopic adrenalectomy: balancing the operative indications with the technical advances. J Surg Oncol. 2010;101(8):739– 44. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.21565.
- 107. Brauckhoff M, Gimm O, Brauckhoff K, Dralle H. Repeat adrenocortical-sparing adrenalectomy for recurrent hereditary pheochromocytoma. Surg Today. 2004;34(3):251–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00595-003-2690-4.
- Alrezk R, Hannah-Shmouni F, Stratakis CA. MEN4 and CDKN1B mutations: the latest of the MEN syndromes. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2017;24(10):T195– 208. https://doi.org/10.1530/ERC-17-0243.
- 109. Georgitsi M, Raitila A, Karhu A, van der Luijt RB, Aalfs CM, Sane T, Vierimaa O, Makinen MJ, Tuppurainen K, Paschke R, Gimm O, Koch CA, Gundogdu S, Lucassen A, Tischkowitz M, Izatt L, Aylwin S, Bano G, Hodgson S, De Menis E, Launonen V, Vahteristo P, Aaltonen LA. Germline CDKN1B/ p27Kip1 mutation in multiple endocrine neoplasia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(8):3321–5. https:// doi.org/10.1210/jc.2006-2843.
- 110. Molatore S, Marinoni I, Lee M, Pulz E, Ambrosio MR, degli Uberti EC, Zatelli MC, Pellegata NS. A novel germline CDKN1B mutation causing multiple endocrine tumors: clinical, genetic and functional characterization. Hum Mutat. 2010;31(11):E1825– 35. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.21354.
- 111. Pellegata NS, Quintanilla-Martinez L, Siggelkow H, Samson E, Bink K, Hofler H, Fend F, Graw J, Atkinson MJ. Germ-line mutations in p27Kip1 cause a multiple endocrine neoplasia syndrome in rats and humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(42):15558–63. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0603877103.
- 112. Agarwal SK, Mateo CM, Marx SJ. Rare germline mutations in cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor genes in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 and related states. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94(5):1826– 34. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2008-2083.
- 113. Costa-Guda J, Marinoni I, Molatore S, Pellegata NS, Arnold A. Somatic mutation and germline sequence

abnormalities in CDKN1B, encoding p27Kip1, in sporadic parathyroid adenomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(4):E701–6. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-1338.

- 114. Malanga D, De Gisi S, Riccardi M, Scrima M, De Marco C, Robledo M, Viglietto G. Functional characterization of a rare germline mutation in the gene encoding the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27Kip1 (CDKN1B) in a Spanish patient with multiple endocrine neoplasia-like phenotype. Eur J Endocrinol. 2012;166(3):551–60. https://doi. org/10.1530/EJE-11-0929.
- 115. Tichomirowa MA, Lee M, Barlier A, Daly AF, Marinoni I, Jaffrain-Rea ML, Naves LA, Rodien P, Rohmer V, Faucz FR, Caron P, Estour B, Lecomte P, Borson-Chazot F, Penfornis A, Yaneva M, Guitelman M, Castermans E, Verhaege C, Wemeau JL, Tabarin A, Fajardo Montanana C, Delemer B, Kerlan V, Sadoul JL, Cortet Rudelli C, Archambeaud F, Zacharieva S, Theodoropoulou M, Brue T, Enjalbert A, Bours V, Pellegata NS, Beckers A. Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1B (CDKN1B) gene variants in AIP mutation-negative familial isolated pituitary adenoma kindreds. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2012;19(3):233–41. https://doi.org/10.1530/ ERC-11-0362.
- 116. Belar O, De La Hoz C, Perez-Nanclares G, Castano L, Gaztambide S, Spanish MENG. Novel mutations in MEN1, CDKN1B and AIP genes in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 syndrome in Spain. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2012;76(5):719–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04269.x.
- 117. Occhi G, Regazzo D, Trivellin G, Boaretto F, Ciato D, Bobisse S, Ferasin S, Cetani F, Pardi E, Korbonits M, Pellegata NS, Sidarovich V, Quattrone A, Opocher G, Mantero F, Scaroni C. A novel mutation in the upstream open reading frame of the CDKN1B gene causes a MEN4 phenotype. PLoS Genet. 2013;9(3):e1003350. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003350.
- 118. Elston MS, Meyer-Rochow GY, Dray M, Swarbrick M, Conaglen JV. Early onset primary hyperparathyroidism associated with a novel germline mutation in CDKN1B. Case Rep Endocrinol. 2015;2015:510985. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/510985.
- 119. Sambugaro S, Di Ruvo M, Ambrosio MR, Pellegata NS, Bellio M, Guerra A, Buratto M, Foschini MP, Tagliati F, degli Uberti E, Zatelli MC. Early onset acromegaly associated with a novel deletion in CDKN1B 5'UTR region. Endocrine. 2015;49(1):58– 64. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-015-0540-y.
- 120. Tonelli F, Giudici F, Giusti F, Marini F, Cianferotti L, Nesi G, Brandi ML. A heterozygous frameshift mutation in exon 1 of CDKN1B gene in a patient affected by MEN4 syndrome. Eur J Endocrinol. 2014;171(2):K7–K17. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-14-0080.
- 121. Bugalho MJ, Domingues R. Uncommon association of cerebral meningioma, parathyroid adenoma and papillary thyroid carcinoma in a patient harbour-

ing a rare germline variant in the CDKN1B gene. BMJ Case Rep. 2016. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bcr-2015-213934

- 122. Borsari S, Pardi E, Pellegata NS, Lee M, Saponaro F, Torregrossa L, Basolo F, Paltrinieri E, Zatelli MC, Materazzi G, Miccoli P, Marcocci C, Cetani F. Loss of p27 expression is associated with MEN1 gene mutations in sporadic parathyroid adenomas. Endocrine. 2017;55(2):386–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-016-0941-6.
- 123. Frederiksen A, Rossing M, Hermann P, Ejersted C, Thakker RV, Frost M. Clinical features of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 4: novel pathogenic variant and review of published cases. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;104(9):3637–46. https:// doi.org/10.1210/jc.2019-00082.
- 124. Seizinger BR, Rouleau GA, Ozelius LJ, Lane AH, Farmer GE, Lamiell JM, Haines J, Yuen JW, Collins D, Majoor-Krakauer D, et al. Von Hippel-Lindau disease maps to the region of chromosome 3 associated with renal cell carcinoma. Nature. 1988;332(6161):268–9. https://doi. org/10.1038/332268a0.
- Friedrich CA. Genotype-phenotype correlation in von Hippel-Lindau syndrome. Hum Mol Genet. 2001;10(7):763–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/ hmg/10.7.763.
- 126. Duan DR, Pause A, Burgess WH, Aso T, Chen DY, Garrett KP, Conaway RC, Conaway JW, Linehan WM, Klausner RD. Inhibition of transcription elongation by the VHL tumor suppressor protein. Science. 1995;269(5229):1402–6. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.7660122.
- 127. Maxwell PH, Wiesener MS, Chang GW, Clifford SC, Vaux EC, Cockman ME, Wykoff CC, Pugh CW, Maher ER, Ratcliffe PJ. The tumour suppressor protein VHL targets hypoxiainducible factors for oxygen-dependent proteolysis. Nature. 1999;399(6733):271–5. https://doi. org/10.1038/20459.
- 128. Reifenberger G, Reifenberger J, Bilzer T, Wechsler W, Collins VP. Coexpression of transforming growth factor-alpha and epidermal growth factor receptor in capillary hemangioblastomas of the central nervous system. Am J Pathol. 1995;147(2):245–50.
- 129. Carmeliet P, Dor Y, Herbert JM, Fukumura D, Brusselmans K, Dewerchin M, Neeman M, Bono F, Abramovitch R, Maxwell P, Koch CJ, Ratcliffe P, Moons L, Jain RK, Collen D, Keshert E. Role of HIF-1alpha in hypoxia-mediated apoptosis, cell proliferation and tumour angiogenesis. Nature. 1998;394(6692):485–90. https://doi. org/10.1038/28867.
- 130. Varshney N, Kebede AA, Owusu-Dapaah H, Lather J, Kaushik M, Bhullar JS. A review of Von Hippel-Lindau syndrome. J Kidney Cancer VHL. 2017;4(3):20–9. https://doi.org/10.15586/ jkcvhl.2017.88.
- Poulsen ML, Budtz-Jorgensen E, Bisgaard ML. Surveillance in von Hippel-Lindau disease

(vHL). Clin Genet. 2010;77(1):49–59. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1399-0004.2009.01281.x.

- Findeis-Hosey JJ, McMahon KQ, Findeis SK. Von Hippel-Lindau Disease. J Pediatr Genet. 2016;5(2):116–23. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-0036-1579757.
- 133. Maher ER, Neumann HP, Richard S. von Hippel-Lindau disease: a clinical and scientific review. Eur J Hum Genet. 2011;19(6):617–23. https://doi. org/10.1038/ejhg.2010.175.
- Kaelin WG Jr. Molecular basis of the VHL hereditary cancer syndrome. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002;2(9):673– 82. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc885.
- 135. Nielsen SM, Rhodes L, Blanco I, Chung WK, Eng C, Maher ER, Richard S, Giles RH. Von Hippel-Lindau disease: genetics and role of genetic counseling in a multiple neoplasia syndrome. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(18):2172–81. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2015.65.6140.
- 136. Binderup ML, Jensen AM, Budtz-Jorgensen E, Bisgaard ML. Survival and causes of death in patients with von Hippel-Lindau disease. J Med Genet. 2017;54(1):11–8. https://doi.org/10.1136/ jmedgenet-2016-104058.
- 137. Frankel WL. Update on pancreatic endocrine tumors. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2006;130(7):963–6. https:// doi.org/10.1043/1543-2165(2006)130[963:UOPET] 2.0.CO;2.
- Cassol C, Mete O. Endocrine manifestations of von Hippel-Lindau disease. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2015;139(2):263–8. https://doi.org/10.5858/ arpa.2013-0520-RS.
- 139. Blansfield JA, Choyke L, Morita SY, Choyke PL, Pingpank JF, Alexander HR, Seidel G, Shutack Y, Yuldasheva N, Eugeni M, Bartlett DL, Glenn GM, Middelton L, Linehan WM, Libutti SK. Clinical, genetic and radiographic analysis of 108 patients with von Hippel-Lindau disease (VHL) manifested by pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (PNETs). Surgery. 2007;142(6):814–8; discussion 818 e811-812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2007.09.012.
- 140. Igarashi H, Ito T, Nishimori I, Tamura K, Yamasaki I, Tanaka M, Shuin T. Pancreatic involvement in Japanese patients with von Hippel-Lindau disease: results of a nationwide survey. J Gastroenterol. 2014;49(3):511–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00535-013-0794-1.
- 141. Krauss T, Ferrara AM, Links TP, Wellner U, Bancos I, Kvachenyuk A, Villar Gomez de Las Heras K, Yukina MY, Petrov R, Bullivant G, von Duecker L, Jadhav S, Ploeckinger U, Welin S, Schalin-Jantti C, Gimm O, Pfeifer M, Ngeow J, Hasse-Lazar K, Sanso G, Qi X, Ugurlu MU, Diaz RE, Wohllk N, Peczkowska M, Aberle J, Lourenco DM Jr, MAA P, Fragoso M, Hoff AO, Almeida MQ, AHD V, ARP Q, Zhang Z, Recasens M, Diaz LR, Kunavisarut T, Wannachalee T, Sirinvaravong S, Jonasch E, Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Fraenkel M, Beltsevich D, Egorov VI, Bausch D, Schott M, Tiling N, Pennelli G, Zschiedrich S, Darr R, Ruf J, Denecke T, Link

KH, Zovato S, von Dobschuetz E, Yaremchuk S, Amthauer H, Makay O, Patocs A, Walz MK, Huber TB, Seufert J, Hellman P, Kim RH, Kuchinskaya E, Schiavi F, Malinoc A, Reisch N, Jarzab B, Barontini M, Januszewicz A, Shah N, Young WF Jr, Opocher G, Eng C, HPH N, Bausch B. Preventive medicine of von Hippel-Lindau disease-associated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2018;25(9):783–93. https://doi.org/10.1530/ ERC-18-0100.

- 142. Chen M, Van Ness M, Guo Y, Gregg J. Molecular pathology of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2012;3(3):182–8. https://doi. org/10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2012.018.
- 143. Weisbrod AB, Kitano M, Thomas F, Williams D, Gulati N, Gesuwan K, Liu Y, Venzon D, Turkbey I, Choyke P, Yao J, Libutti SK, Nilubol N, Linehan WM, Kebebew E. Assessment of tumor growth in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in von Hippel Lindau syndrome. J Am Coll Surg. 2014;218(2):163–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2013.10.025.
- 144. Charlesworth M, Verbeke CS, Falk GA, Walsh M, Smith AM, Morris-Stiff G. Pancreatic lesions in von Hippel-Lindau disease? A systematic review and meta-synthesis of the literature. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(7):1422–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11605-012-1847-0.
- 145. Benitez Velazco A, Pacheco Capote C, Latre Romero JM. Ectopic Cushing's syndrome caused by a functioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumour in a patient with von Hippel-Lindau disease. Rev Esp Med Nucl. 2008;27(1):29–33. https://doi. org/10.1157/13114367.
- 146. Shanbhogue KP, Hoch M, Fatterpaker G, Chandarana H. von Hippel-Lindau disease: review of genetics and imaging. Radiol Clin North Am. 2016;54(3):409–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rcl.2015.12.004.
- 147. Keutgen XM, Hammel P, Choyke PL, Libutti SK, Jonasch E, Kebebew E. Evaluation and management of pancreatic lesions in patients with von Hippel-Lindau disease. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2016;13(9):537–49. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrclinonc.2016.37.
- 148. Torreggiani WC, Keogh C, Al-Ismail K, Munk PL, Nicolaou S. Von Hippel-Lindau disease: a radiological essay. Clin Radiol. 2002;57(8):670–80. https:// doi.org/10.1053/crad.2002.0971.
- 149. Noone TC, Hosey J, Firat Z, Semelka RC. Imaging and localization of islet-cell tumours of the pancreas on CT and MRI. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;19(2):195–211. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.beem.2004.11.013.
- 150. Treglia G, Castaldi P, Rindi G, Giordano A, Rufini V. Diagnostic performance of Gallium-68 soma-tostatin receptor PET and PET/CT in patients with thoracic and gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours: a meta-analysis. Endocrine. 2012;42(1):80–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-012-9631-1.

- 151. Prasad V, Tiling N, Denecke T, Brenner W, Plockinger U. Potential role of (68)Ga-DOTATOC PET/CT in screening for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumour in patients with von Hippel-Lindau disease. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;43(11): 2014–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-016-3421-6.
- 152. Sadowski SM, Weisbrod AB, Ellis R, Patel D, Alimchandani M, Quezado M, Millo C, Venzon DJ, Nilubol N, Linehan WM, Kebebew E. Prospective evaluation of the clinical utility of 18-fluorodeoxyglucose PET CT scanning in patients with von hippel-lindau-associated pancreatic lesions. J Am Coll Surg. 2014;218(5):997–1003. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2014.01.004.
- 153. Mosli HH, Dennis A, Kocha W, Asher LJ, Van Uum SH. Effect of short-term proton pump inhibitor treatment and its discontinuation on chromogranin A in healthy subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(9):E1731–5. https://doi.org/10.1210/ jc.2012-1548.
- 154. Krauss T, Ferrara AM, Links Thera, Wellner U, Bancos I, Kvacenyuk A, Villar Gomez K, Yuhina MY, Petrov R, et al. Preventive Medicine VHL disease associated pancreatic neuoendocrine tumors. End vRelated cancer. 25(9):ERC-18-0100. https:// doi.org/10.1530/ERC-18-0100.
- 155. Libutti SK, Choyke PL, Bartlett DL, Vargas H, Walther M, Lubensky I, Glenn G, Linehan WM, Alexander HR. Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors associated with von Hippel Lindau disease: diagnostic and management recommendations. Surgery. 1998;124(6):1153–9. https://doi.org/10.1067/ msy.1998.91823.
- 156. Caplin ME, Pavel M, Cwikla JB, Phan AT, Raderer M, Sedlackova E, Cadiot G, Wolin EM, Capdevila J, Wall L, Rindi G, Langley A, Martinez S, Blumberg J, Ruszniewski P, Investigators C. Lanreotide in metastatic enteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(3):224–33. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1316158.
- 157. Pavel M, Baudin E, Couvelard A, Krenning E, Oberg K, Steinmuller T, Anlauf M, Wiedenmann B, Salazar R, Barcelona Consensus Conference P. ENETS Consensus Guidelines for the management of patients with liver and other distant metastases from neuroendocrine neoplasms of foregut, midgut, hindgut, and unknown primary. Neuroendocrinology. 2012;95(2):157–76. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000335597.
- 158. Walther MM, Reiter R, Keiser HR, Choyke PL, Venzon D, Hurley K, Gnarra JR, Reynolds JC, Glenn GM, Zbar B, Linehan WM. Clinical and genetic characterization of pheochromocytoma in von Hippel-Lindau families: comparison with sporadic pheochromocytoma gives insight into natural history of pheochromocytoma. J Urol. 1999;162(3 Pt 1):659–64. https://doi. org/10.1097/00005392-199909010-00004.

- 159. Crossey PA, Richards FM, Foster K, Green JS, Prowse A, Latif F, Lerman MI, Zbar B, Affara NA, Ferguson-Smith MA, et al. Identification of intragenic mutations in the von Hippel-Lindau disease tumour suppressor gene and correlation with disease phenotype. Hum Mol Genet. 1994;3(8):1303–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/3.8.1303.
- 160. Kroll SL, Paulding WR, Schnell PO, Barton MC, Conaway JW, Conaway RC, Czyzyk-Krzeska MF. von Hippel-Lindau protein induces hypoxiaregulated arrest of tyrosine hydroxylase transcript elongation in pheochromocytoma cells. J Biol Chem. 1999;274(42):30109–14. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.274.42.30109.
- 161. Eisenhofer G, Walther MM, Huynh TT, Li ST, Bornstein SR, Vortmeyer A, Mannelli M, Goldstein DS, Linehan WM, Lenders JW, Pacak K. Pheochromocytomas in von Hippel-Lindau syndrome and multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 display distinct biochemical and clinical phenotypes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(5):1999–2008. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.86.5.7496.
- 162. Eisenhofer G, Lenders JW, Linehan WM, Walther MM, Goldstein DS, Keiser HR. Plasma normetanephrine and metanephrine for detecting pheochromocytoma in von Hippel-Lindau disease and multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2. N Engl J Med. 1999;340(24):1872–9. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM199906173402404.
- 163. Lenders JW, Duh QY, Eisenhofer G, Gimenez-Roqueplo AP, Grebe SK, Murad MH, Naruse M, Pacak K, Young WF Jr, Endocrine S. Pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(6):1915–42. https://doi. org/10.1210/jc.2014-1498.
- 164. Eisenhofer G, Goldstein DS, Walther MM, Friberg P, Lenders JW, Keiser HR, Pacak K. Biochemical diagnosis of pheochromocytoma: how to distinguish true- from false-positive test results. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(6):2656–66. https://doi. org/10.1210/jc.2002-030005.
- 165. Caoili EM, Korobkin M, Francis IR, Cohan RH, Platt JF, Dunnick NR, Raghupathi KI. Adrenal masses: characterization with combined unenhanced and delayed enhanced CT. Radiology. 2002;222(3):629– 33. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2223010766.
- 166. Jacques AE, Sahdev A, Sandrasagara M, Goldstein R, Berney D, Rockall AG, Chew S, Reznek RH. Adrenal phaeochromocytoma: correlation of MRI appearances with histology and function. Eur Radiol. 2008;18(12):2885–92. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00330-008-1073-z.
- 167. Jacobson AF, Deng H, Lombard J, Lessig HJ, Black RR. 123I-meta-iodobenzylguanidine scintigraphy for the detection of neuroblastoma and pheochromocytoma: results of a meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95(6):2596–606. https:// doi.org/10.1210/jc.2009-2604.

- 168. Takano A, Oriuchi N, Tsushima Y, Taketomi-Takahashi A, Nakajima T, Arisaka Y, Higuchi T, Amanuma M, Endo K. Detection of metastatic lesions from malignant pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma with diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging: comparison with 18F-FDG positron emission tomography and 123I-MIBG scintigraphy. Ann Nucl Med. 2008;22(5):395–401. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12149-008-0128-1.
- 169. Weisbrod AB, Kitano M, Gesuwan K, Millo C, Herscovitch P, Nilubol N, Linehan WM, Kebebew E. Clinical utility of functional imaging with (1)(8) F-FDOPA in Von Hippel-Lindau syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(4):E613–7. https://doi. org/10.1210/jc.2011-2626.
- 170. Rischke HC, Benz MR, Wild D, Mix M, Dumont RA, Campbell D, Seufert J, Wiech T, Rossler J, Weber WA, Neumann HP. Correlation of the genotype of paragangliomas and pheochromocytomas with their metabolic phenotype on 3,4-dihy droxy-6-18F-fluoro-L-phenylalanin PET. J Nucl Med. 2012;53(9):1352–8. https://doi.org/10.2967/ jnumed.111.101303.
- 171. Pavlovich CP, Linehan WM, Walther MM. Partial adrenalectomy in patients with multiple adrenal tumors. Curr Urol Rep. 2001;2(1):19–23. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11934-001-0021-0.
- 172. Baghai M, Thompson GB, Young WF Jr, Grant CS, Michels VV, van Heerden JA. Pheochromocytomas and paragangliomas in von Hippel-Lindau disease: a role for laparoscopic and cortical-sparing surgery. Arch Surg. 2002;137(6):682–8; discussion 688-689. https://doi.org/10.1001/archsurg.137.6.682.
- 173. Prys-Roberts C, Farndon JR. Efficacy and safety of doxazosin for perioperative management of patients with pheochromocytoma. World J Surg. 2002;26(8):1037–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00268-002-6667-z.
- 174. Lebuffe G, Dosseh ED, Tek G, Tytgat H, Moreno S, Tavernier B, Vallet B, Proye CA. The effect of calcium channel blockers on outcome following the surgical treatment of phaeochromocytomas and paragangliomas. Anaesthesia. 2005;60(5):439–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2044.2005.04156.x.
- 175. Roman-Gonzalez A, Zhou S, Ayala-Ramirez M, Shen C, Waguespack SG, Habra MA, Karam JA, Perrier N, Wood CG, Jimenez C. Impact of surgical resection of the primary tumor on overall survival in patients with metastatic pheochromocytoma or sympathetic paraganglioma. Ann Surg. 2018;268(1):172–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.00000000002195.
- 176. Corssmit EPM, Snel M, Kapiteijn E. Malignant pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma: management options. Curr Opin Oncol. 2020;32(1):20–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/CCO.000000000000589.
- 177. Niemeijer ND, Alblas G, van Hulsteijn LT, Dekkers OM, Corssmit EP. Chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide, vincristine and dacarbazine for malignant paraganglioma and pheochromocytoma: systematic

review and meta-analysis. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2014;81(5):642–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cen.12542.

- 178. O'Kane GM, Ezzat S, Joshua AM, Bourdeau I, Leibowitz-Amit R, Olney HJ, Krzyzanowska M, Reuther D, Chin S, Wang L, Brooks K, Hansen AR, Asa SL, Knox JJ. A phase 2 trial of sunitinib in patients with progressive paraganglioma or pheochromocytoma: the SNIPP trial. Br J Cancer. 2019;120(12):1113–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41416-019-0474-x.
- 179. Jimenez C, Cabanillas ME, Santarpia L, Jonasch E, Kyle KL, Lano EA, Matin SF, Nunez RF, Perrier ND, Phan A, Rich TA, Shah B, Williams MD, Waguespack SG. Use of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor sunitinib in a patient with von Hippel-Lindau disease: targeting angiogenic factors in pheochromocytoma and other von Hippel-Lindau disease-related tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94(2):386– 91. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2008-1972.
- 180. Fishbein L, Leshchiner I, Walter V, Danilova L, Robertson AG, Johnson AR, Lichtenberg TM, Murray BA, Ghayee HK, Else T, Ling S, Jefferys SR, de Cubas AA, Wenz B, Korpershoek E, Amelio AL, Makowski L, Rathmell WK, Gimenez-Roqueplo AP, Giordano TJ, Asa SL, Tischler AS, Cancer Genome Atlas Research N, Pacak K, Nathanson KL, Wilkerson MD. Comprehensive molecular characterization of pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma. Cancer Cell. 2017;31(2):181–93. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ccell.2017.01.001.
- 181. Kwok G, Yau TC, Chiu JW, Tse E, Kwong YL. Pembrolizumab (Keytruda). Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2016;12(11):2777–89. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/21645515.2016.1199310.
- VHL Alliance. VHLA suggested active surveillance guidelines. vhl.org/screening-guidelines. Accessed 19 Jun 2020.
- 183. VHL Alliance. The VHL handbook: what you need to know about VHL. 5th ed. Boston.
- Gutmann DH, Ferner RE, Listernick RH, Korf BR, Wolters PL, Johnson KJ. Neurofibromatosis type
 Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2017;3:17004. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrdp.2017.4.
- 185. Garrouche N, Ben Abdallah A, Arifa N, Hasni I, Ben Cheikh Y, Ben Farhat W, Ben Amor S, Jemni H. Spectrum of gastrointestinal lesions of neurofibromatosis type 1: a pictorial review. Insights Imaging. 2018;9(5):661–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13244-018-0648-8.
- 186. Noe M, Pea A, Luchini C, Felsenstein M, Barbi S, Bhaijee F, Yonescu R, Ning Y, Adsay NV, Zamboni G, Lawlor RT, Scarpa A, Offerhaus GJA, Brosens LAA, Hruban RH, Roberts NJ, Wood LD. Wholeexome sequencing of duodenal neuroendocrine tumors in patients with neurofibromatosis type 1. Mod Pathol. 2018;31(10):1532–8. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41379-018-0082-y.
- 187. Reynolds R, Marjoniemi V. Mixed mucinous adenocarcinoma and somatostatinoma of the ampulla

of Vater associated with neurofibromatosis type 1. Pathology. 2017;49(5):553–5. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pathol.2017.03.014.

- 188. Abdessayed N, Gupta R, Mestiri S, Bdioui A, Trimech M, Mokni M. Rare triad of periampullary carcinoid, duodenal gastrointestinal stromal tumor and plexiform neurofibroma at hepatic hilum in neurofibromatosis type 1: a case report. BMC Cancer. 2017;17(1):579. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12885-017-3567-z.
- 189. Thavaraputta S, Graham S, Rivas Mejia AM, Lado-Abeal J (2019) Duodenal somatostatinoma presenting as obstructive jaundice with the coexistence of a gastrointestinal stromal tumour in neurofibromatosis type 1: a case with review of the literature. BMJ Case Rep. 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1136/ bcr-2018-226702.
- 190. Park EK, Kim HJ, Lee YH, Koh YS, Hur YH, Cho CK. Synchronous gastrointestinal stromal tumor and ampullary neuroendocrine tumor in association with neurofibromatosis type 1: a report of three cases. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2019;74(4):227–31. https:// doi.org/10.4166/kjg.2019.74.4.227.
- 191. Poredska K, Kunovsky L, Prochazka V, Dolina J, Chovancova M, Vlazny J, Andrasina T, Eid M, Jabandziev P, Kysela P, Kala Z. Triple malignancy (NET, GIST and pheochromocytoma) as a first manifestation of neurofibromatosis type-1 in an adult patient. Diagn Pathol. 2019;14(1):77. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13000-019-0848-7.
- 192. Deschamps L, Dokmak S, Guedj N, Ruszniewski P, Sauvanet A, Couvelard A. Mixed endocrine somatostatinoma of the ampulla of vater associated with a neurofibromatosis type 1: a case report and review of the literature. JOP. 2010;11(1):64–8.
- 193. Nishi T, Kawabata Y, Hari Y, Imaoka H, Ishikawa N, Yano S, Maruyama R, Tajima Y. A case of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor in a patient with neurofibromatosis-1. World J Surg Oncol. 2012;10:153. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1477-7819-10-153.
- 194. Xie R, Fu KI, Chen SM, Tuo BG, Wu HC. Neurofibromatosis type 1-associated multiple rectal neuroendocrine tumors: a case report and review of the literature. World J Gastroenterol. 2018;24(33):3806–12. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg. v24.i33.3806.
- 195. Walther MM, Herring J, Enquist E, Keiser HR, Linehan WM. von Recklinghausen's disease and pheochromocytomas. J Urol. 1999;162(5):1582–6.
- 196. Kepenekian L, Mognetti T, Lifante JC, Giraudet AL, Houzard C, Pinson S, Borson-Chazot F, Combemale P. Interest of systematic screening of pheochromocytoma in patients with neurofibromatosis type 1. Eur J Endocrinol. 2016;175(4):335–44. https://doi. org/10.1530/EJE-16-0233.
- 197. Zinnamosca L, Petramala L, Cotesta D, Marinelli C, Schina M, Cianci R, Giustini S, Sciomer S, Anastasi E, Calvieri S, De Toma G, Letizia C. Neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) and pheochromocytoma: prevalence, clinical and cardiovascular

aspects. Arch Dermatol Res. 2011;303(5):317–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00403-010-1090-z.

- 198. Al-Sharefi A, Javaid U, Perros P, Ealing J, Truran P, Nag S, Kamaruddin S, Abouglila K, Cains F, Lewis L, James RA. Clinical presentation and outcomes of phaeochromocytomas/paragangliomas in neurofibromatosis type 1. Eur Endocrinol. 2019;15(2):95– 100. https://doi.org/10.17925/EE.2019.15.2.95.
- 199. Moramarco J, El Ghorayeb N, Dumas N, Nolet S, Boulanger L, Burnichon N, Lacroix A, Elhaffaf Z, Gimenez Roqueplo AP, Hamet P, Bourdeau I. Pheochromocytomas are diagnosed incidentally and at older age in neurofibromatosis type 1. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2017;86(3):332–9. https://doi. org/10.1111/cen.13265.
- 200. Opocher G, Conton P, Schiavi F, Macino B, Mantero F. Pheochromocytoma in von Hippel-Lindau disease and neurofibromatosis type 1. Fam Cancer. 2005;4(1):13–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10689-004-6128-y.
- 201. Gruber LM, Erickson D, Babovic-Vuksanovic D, Thompson GB, Young WF Jr, Bancos I. Pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma in patients with neurofibromatosis type 1. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2017;86(1):141–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cen.13163.
- 202. Butz JJ, Yan Q, McKenzie TJ, Weingarten TN, Cavalcante AN, Bancos I, Young WF Jr, Schroeder DR, Martin DP, Sprung J. Perioperative outcomes of syndromic paraganglioma and pheochromocytoma resection in patients with von Hippel-Lindau disease, multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2, or neurofibromatosis type 1. Surgery. 2017;162(6):1259–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. surg.2017.08.002.
- 203. Eisenhofer G, Pacak K, Huynh TT, Qin N, Bratslavsky G, Linehan WM, Mannelli M, Friberg

P, Grebe SK, Timmers HJ, Bornstein SR, Lenders JW. Catecholamine metabolomic and secretory phenotypes in phaeochromocytoma. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2011;18(1):97–111. https://doi.org/10.1677/ ERC-10-0211.

- 204. Wan W, Nguyen B, Graybill S, Kim J. Clonidine suppression testing for pheochromocytoma in neurofibromatosis type 1. BMJ Case Rep. 2019;12(6). https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2018-228263
- 205. Al-Sharefi A, Perros P, James RA. Phaeochromocytoma/paraganglioma and adverse clinical outcomes in patients with neurofibromatosis-1. Endocr Connect. 2018;7(10):R254–9. https://doi.org/10.1530/EC-18-0208.
- 206. Petr EJ, Else T. Pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma in neurofibromatosis type 1: frequent surgeries and cardiovascular crises indicate the need for screening. Clin Diabetes Endocrinol. 2018;4:15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40842-018-0065-4.
- 207. de Miguel V, Paissan A, Garcia Marchinena P, Jurado A, Isola M, Alfie J, Fainstein-Day P. Bilateral pheochromocytoma after kidney transplantation in neurofibromatosis type 1. Endocrinol Diabetes Metab Case Rep. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1530/ EDM-18-0162.
- 208. Castinetti F, Taieb D, Henry JF, Walz M, Guerin C, Brue T, Conte-Devolx B, Neumann HP, Sebag F. Management of endocrine disease: outcome of adrenal sparing surgery in heritable pheochromocytoma. Eur J Endocrinol. 2016;174(1):R9–18. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-15-0549.
- 209. Otoukesh S, Cooper CJ, Lou W, Mojtahedzadeh M, Nasrazadani A, Wampler M, Nahleh Z. Combination chemotherapy regimen in a patient with metastatic malignant pheochromocytoma and neurofibromatosis type 1. Am J Case Rep. 2014;15:123–7. https:// doi.org/10.12659/AJCR.890181.



18

Mixed Neuroendocrine and Nonneuroendocrine Neoplasms (Mi NEN)

Alice Laffi, Nicola Fazio, Manila Rubino, and Francesca Spada

18.1 Introduction and Terminology

Among epithelial neoplasms, the coexistence of neuroendocrine and non-neuroendocrine components is a rare but possible phenomenon. These entities encompass a heterogeneous category of neoplasms whose two histological components could be represented in different proportions in the whole tumoral mass. Furthermore, they can be characterized by a different morphology, proliferation index, and, thus, degree of differentiation in both neuroendocrine and non-neuroendocrine components. Despite their rarity, with the improving use of immunohistochemistry, the incidence of new cases increased compared with the past [1].

Indeed, during the years, the variability in proportions of the two different patterns gave birth to a large number of definitions, creating some clinical and pathologic controversies. In 2006, Volante et al. tried to explain the wide spectrum of histologic entities compositions, ranging between the two extremes: on the one hand, pure neuroendocrine and, on the other hand, pure nonneuroendocrine neoplasms [2]. In the 2010 classification system of digestive tract neoplasms, the World Health Organization (WHO) introduced the definition of "mixed adeno-neuroendocrine carcinomas" (MANECs) for those entities composed of a neuroendocrine and a non-neuroendocrine component and in which each histologic entity represented at least 30% of the whole tumor mass [3].

This threshold was adopted also by the 2017 WHO classification of pancreatic mixed neoplasms [4]. The cut-off of 30% mostly derived from the statement of the study by Lewin et al. that restricted the definition of "adeno-endocrine cell carcinomas" only to those neoplasms with a neuroendocrine component proportion of at least 30–50%. This assumption was not based on demonstrated, statistical differences in clinical or prognostic terms, but rather on the feeling that a minor component of one of the two histologies did not influence the biologic behavior of the whole tumor [5].

Anyway, the term "MANECs," in addition to not being officially accepted for mixed neoplasms arising of extra gastro-entero-pancreatic (GEP) tract, did not include all mixed neoplasms without a poorly differentiated neuroendocrine component and an adenocarcinoma as exocrine histology.

Indeed, both the patterns can show different features in terms of morphology for the neuroendocrine component (well and poorly differentiated) and type of non-neuroendocrine component

A. Laffi · N. Fazio · M. Rubino · F. Spada (⊠) Division of Gastrointestinal Medical Oncology and Neuroendocrine Division, European Institute of Oncology (IEO), IRCCS, Milan, Italy e-mail: francesca.spada@ieo.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_18

WHO 1980	WHO 2000 (GEP)	WHO 2010 (GEP)	WHO 2017 (pancreas)	WHO 2019 (GEP)
Mixed forms of	Mixed endocrine	Mixed adeno-	Mixed neuroendocrine	Mixed
carcinoid	exocrine cell neoplasms	endocrine	non-neuroendocrine	neuroendocrine
adeno-carcinomas	(MEEC) [7]	carcinoma	neoplasms (pancreatic	non-neuroendocrine
		(MANEC) [3]	MiNENs) [4]	neoplasms (GEP
				MiNENs) [6]

Table 18.1 Evolution in terminology for mixed forms of neuroendocrine neoplasms

GEP gastro-entero-pancreatic

depending on the arising site for exocrine component.

Therefore, to overcome this issue in 2017 for pancreatic neoplasms and then for whole digestive tract in 2019, WHO classification introduced the definition of "mixed neuroendocrine nonneuroendocrine neoplasms" (MiNENs). The new term was proposed, on the one hand, in order to include also other exocrine variants as squamous cell type and, on the other hand, the welldifferentiated neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) [6]. The evolution of the WHO classifications is reported in Table 18.1.

18.2 Epidemiology

Despite the progressively increasing detection of the disease, MiNENs represent a rare category of neoplasms, and their epidemiology is challenging due to missing and debatable data. Indeed, during the years, changes in terminology and in the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) made difficult to find a real epidemiologic data.

According to the Surveillance of Rare Cancers in Europe Registry (RARECAREnet), in 2008 the crude incidence was 0.01 cases per 100,000/ year, with 147 cases collected between 2000 and 2007 in RARECAREnet database [8]. The Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER)-18 database reported an incidence of gastrointestinal MANECs between 0.23 and 1.16 cases per 1,000,000 in 2000–2016 [9]. The Associazione Italiana Registri Tumori (AIRTUM) reported 17 cases in 2015 with a crude incidence <0.01 per 100,000/year, without an estimation of the 1- or 5-year survival [10].

The Italian Association of Medical Oncology (AIOM) [11], the European Society for Medical

Oncology (ESMO) [12], the European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) [13], and the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) [14] guidelines do not report the epidemiology of MiNENs as separate subgroup of neuroendocrine neoplasms. Due to the rarity of the disease, the difficult of detection, and the different classifications during the years, epidemiologic data regarding MiNENs patients (pts) mostly derived from case series or retrospective analyses.

18.3 Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis of MiNENs is a debated argument, and the lack of prospective data limits the resolution of this controversial issue among pathologists. The two more corroborated hypothesis are the following:

- The first is that two distinct neoplastic clones (neuroendocrine and non-neuroendocrine) grow up in a synchronous or in a metachronous fashion, giving rise to two different histologic patterns.
- The second concern is the possibility of a pluripotent stem cell that, under the same stimuli, undergoes to a divergent differentiation (*common precursor theory*).

In some cases, the detection of amphicrine cells, defined as cells in which neuroendocrine and non-neuroendocrine constituents can be found together, strongly supports the hypothesis of a common precursor [15].

In case of the presence of a poorly differentiated neuroendocrine component, the mutational pattern, common to the two components, mostly suggests a monoclonal origin of the two histologies, different in terms of morphology and immunophenotype [16].

A high concordance has been found between the mutational pattern of the poorly differentiated neuroendocrine and the non-neuroendocrine components in MiNENs; on the other hand, the same gene abnormalities are not found in welldifferentiated NETs.

This evidence suggests a multistep progression from a common precursor that gives rise to neuroendocrine cells from non-neuroendocrine ones, disproving an evolution from two different clones [17, 18].

Recently, a retrospective, small case series by La Rosa et al. reporting about mixed adenoma well-differentiated neuroendocrine (MANET) of the digestive system seemed to confirm the hypothesis of a multipotent stem cell with a divergent differentiation. In this study, all MANETs presented a transitional area between the two components intimately admixed, and also the molecular analysis demonstrated the same mutational pattern (the lack of mutations of Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog-KRAS; v-raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B-BRAF; phosphatidylinositol-4,5bisphosphate 3-kinase catalytic subunit alpha-PIK3CA aberrations) in both components. Furthermore, in this analysis, neuroendocrine and non-neuroendocrine components showed a lack in KRAS aberration, usually mutated in pure adenoma, and a high immunoreactivity of betacatenin in neuroendocrine component, commonly lower in pure NETs. Again, this evidence supported the monoclonal origin of the two components in MiNENs, differently from the pathways of development of pure adenomas and pure NETs [19].

18.4 Diagnosis

Pure neuroendocrine neoplasms represent a very heterogeneous entity. While the morphology remains the same within each lesions of the same neoplasm, different proliferation indexes can be commonly found between the primitive lesion and metastases (or even between distinct metastases). Indeed, several studies have reported cases of changes in Ki-67 between the different sites of biopsy, leading to an upgrading of the whole well-differentiated neoplasm [20-22].

Considering this, the diagnosis of MiNENs is even more challenging for pathologists.

Over to the possibility of a misgrading of the well-differentiated neuroendocrine component, biopsy could not be representative of the effective proportions of both the histologies. Indeed, small bioptic specimens could even virtually not include one of the two components, and not distinguish MiNENs from their pure counterparts.

The diagnosis of MiNENs is then likely underestimated, often until the surgical specimen becomes available [23].

This happens particularly because the definition of MiNENs is essentially based on the threshold of 30% [24]. As aforesaid, the quantitative cut-off is not supported by prospective studies, and its clinical role is actually unknown. Some studies proposed other thresholds (10 and 20%) and reported a statistically better prognosis for those pts. with a neuroendocrine component lower than these cut-offs [25, 26].

Anyway, in these studies, also carcinomas with neuroendocrine morphology and differentiation were included (as has been described in neoplasms of other sites, as lung) [27], but, according the WHO 2019 classification, the mere immunohistochemical expression of neuroendocrine markers by non-neuroendocrine cells should not be considered for the diagnosis of MiNENs.

As general rule, La Rosa et al. proposed the use of an appropriate panel of stains (hematoxylin and eosin) as mandatory to recognize both neuroendocrine and non-neuroendocrine components and to formulate the suspect on MiNENs, also in case of small specimens [1].

Synaptophysin represents one of the most reliable markers in diagnosis of neuroendocrine neoplasms. On the other hand, chromogranin A, mostly used in several studies of the past as unique marker of neuroendocrine differentiation, has an intensive and diffuse expression in well-differentiated NETs, but is usually lacking in the poorly differentiated neuroendocrine component [28].

According to a recent systematic review by Frizziero et al., the neuroendocrine component mostly presented a poorly differentiated morphology (39.5%), even if the feeling is that this percentage may be smaller than reality. Indeed, the grade of differentiation was available only for 124 of 2427 included pts. (5.1%). The nonneuroendocrine component was mostly represented by adenocarcinoma (92.2% of cases) and only in 2.5% by squamous cell carcinoma.

The immunophenotype of well-differentiated neuroendocrine component changes based on the site of the origin: CDX2 suggests an intestinal origin [29, 30], while PDX1 and ISL1 point toward a pancreatic origin [31, 32] and TTF1 to a pulmonary one [33, 34].

On the other hand, when a poorly differentiated neuroendocrine component is present, the immunophenotype does not show a correlation with the site of origin.

The morphology of well-differentiated neuroendocrine components is characterized by monomorphic cells with large nuclei and focal necrosis. Poorly differentiated neuroendocrine components are composed of poorly formed and solid nests of cells with large areas of necrosis [1].

The 2019 WHO classification added morphology to proliferation index as main diagnostic criteria only in digestive NENs, dividing the category into five subgroups. Grade 1 neuroendocrine tumors (NETs), grade 2 NETs, and grade 3 NETs are characterized by a well-differentiated morphology with $\leq 2\%$, 3–20%, and >20% Ki67 index, respectively. On the other hands, grade 3 NECs present ki67 index >20% and a poorly differentiated morphology. Therefore, the introduction of the MiNENs category only for GEP-NENs leads to the virtual possibility that, in these new entities, one of the subgroups above could variably combine with its non-neuroendocrine counterpart.

Even if the 2019 WHO classification has officially accepted the term of MiNENs only for those GEP-neoplasms that are composed of a neuroendocrine and a non-neuroendocrine component, in which each represents at least 30% of the whole tumor mass; mixed neoplasms could virtually arise from every site and the features of both components should depend on the tissue of origin.

Krugmann et al. reported two cases of ovarian mixed neoplasms. In both of them, neuroendocrine component was associated with a 10% serous papillary component. The authors emphasized that neuroendocrine neoplasms in the genital tract mostly be associated with smaller other non-neuroendocrine components rather than in pure form [35].

In another paper by Ramalingam et al., two cases of cervix MiNENs were reported. In both the cases, the neuroendocrine component was represented by NEC and the non-neuroendocrine component by a moderately differentiated endocervical adenocarcinomas (EAC). Immunohistochemistry revealed a positivity for p16 and for high-risk human papillomavirus (HPV) in both NEC and EAC, while neuroendocrine component was positive to synaptophysin [36].

As in GEP MiNENs, these evidences support a common origin by a stem cell undergoing a divergent differentiation and, even more in these cases, suggest the hypothesis of a common pathogenetic pathway of tumorigenesis. While, on the one hand, the result of the nonneuroendocrine differentiation seems to depend on the site of origin (embryogenic tissue and its stimuli), and on the other hand, the neuroendocrine component seems to derive, first of all, from non-neuroendocrine differentiation and then on the gain of further, distinct genetic traits.

Again, as in GEP MiNENs, also the threshold of 30% seems to be mostly an assumption rather than a cut-off defined by clinical and prognostic criteria.

In uterine cervix mixed carcinomas, the presence of 17.5–55% of poorly differentiated neuroendocrine component was associated with a worse prognosis compared to pure nonneuroendocrine carcinomas [37]. Furthermore, Bressenot et al. presented a case of a mixed neoplasm of the kidney, composed of 90% of the tumor mass by clear cells and 10% of a well-differentiated neuroendocrine component, with metastases only from the NET [38].

All these evidences, as well as the need of the threshold of 30% to be revised, suggest that extra-GEP MiNENs should be considered as a distinct clinicopathologic entity, even in the absence of a specific classification of the category [39, 40].

18.4.1 The Exception that Proves the Rule

Since the challenging diagnosis of MiNENs, several authors tried to clarify the criteria to standardize the pathologic approach. Lewin et al. defined all those lesions with a variable proportion (30–50%) of endocrine and non-endocrine epithelial cells as mixed tumors. The authors distinguished mixed tumors from other two categories that could likely be mistaken with MiNENs: collision and amphicrine tumors.

Collision tumors are neoplasms composed of a neuroendocrine and a non-neuroendocrine component juxtaposed to one another, without any intermixing between the two patterns. As general rule, the key to identify a collision tumor (and to distinguish it from MiNENs) is represented by the coexistence of two distinct, juxtaposed histologies and well distinguishable from each other, the absence of histologic admixture between the two patterns, and the growth in the same site [41]. Thus, a collision tumor is the result of a two neighboring independent neoplasms that grow in the same neoplastic mass [42].

On the other hand, amphicrine tumors differ from mixed neoplasms since they are not composed of two different histologic patterns but of cells that express both endocrine and non-neuroendocrine constituents at the same time [43]. Furthermore, the presence of amphicrine cells in MiNENs is not unusual, and it has been proposed by several authors in order to support the hypothesis of a common precursor stem cell capable of divergent differentiation [15].

A separate comment should be reserved to goblet cell tumors, which represent the first example of mixed endocrine and non-endocrine neoplasms of the appendix [2]. During the years, the plethora of definitions proposed for goblet cell carcinoid (mucinous carcinoid, adenocarcinoid, and crypt cell carcinoma) has contributed to the uncertainty surrounding this entity. Goblet cell tumors are composed of an intimate mixture of both epithelial (glandular) and neuroendocrine elements containing goblet cells. Diagnosis is mostly incidental, e.g., after an appendectomy due to an appendicitis. Furthermore, immunohistochemical staining for synaptophysin or chromogranin could not be so indicative: the positivity could highlight only the periphery of the goblet cell tumor in which are scattered the neuroendocrine cells [44].

Considering all pitfalls above, Volante et al. proposed a practical algorithm in order to identify nonneuroendocrine neoplasms with a neuroendocrine differentiation and distinguish those entities from MiNENs. The clinical and prognostic significance of neuroendocrine differentiation in non-neuroendocrine carcinoma remains controversial. Since no differences in clinical outcome has ever been proven by prospective studies for breast, lung, and gastrointestinal tract [45–50], a clinical issue has been raised about prostatic adenocarcinoma. Indeed, in this kind of neoplasms, the presence of chromogranin A-positive neuroendocrine cells is linked to unfavorable prognostic factors [51]. Therefore, the algorithm by Volante et al. defined chromogranin A as the first immunostaining choice, followed by synaptophysin, CD56, Ki67, and somatostatin receptors (proposed more to a systemic treatment rather than a diagnostic role).

Furthermore, it has to be mentioned that, not so commonly, the suitability of the sampling has been took in consideration by the studies as a potential source of discrepancy, reducing the quality of the evidence in literature.

In conclusion, as general rule, an adequate sampling and a panel of pan-neuroendocrine markers (not a single antibody) are needed for MiNENs diagnosis in order to identify, quantify, and characterize the proportion of the two components.

18.4.2 Mutational Landscape

During the years, the improvement in even more specific targeted therapies was the result of a progressively increased knowledge in matter of mutation patterns driving disease pathogenesis. The rarity and the diagnostic issues mentioned above represent the most important obstacle to the collection of high-quality data; anyway, some reports about MiNEN genetic aberrations are arising in literature. A case report by La Rosa et al. recently described clinicopathologic data, methylation profile, chromosomal gains and losses, and mutation analysis of a case of sinonasal mixed exocrineneuroendocrine carcinoma. The proportions were verified in order to confirm the diagnosis of extra-GEP MiNEN: the two components were represented by a non-neuroendocrine one resembling colorectal carcinoma and by a poorly differentiated NEC. Immunohistochemistry revealed that both components expressed Cytokeratin (CK) 8, CK20, CDX2 while were negative CK7 and Transcription Termination Factor 1 (TTF1). The Methylation-Specific Multiplex Ligation Probe Amplification (MS-MLPA) assay used to investigate the genetic and epigenetic profiles showed concurrent copy number changes in both the components. Aberration in chromosome regions was found in both non-neuroendocrine and neuroendocrine components: 17p13 (tumor protein p53-TP53), 14q24 (MutL-homolog3—MLH3), and 19q13 (Kallikrein-Related Peptidase 3—KLK3), 5q21 (adenomatous polyposis coli-APC), 7q21 (cell division protein kinase 6-CDK6), 9q34 (death-associated protein kinase 1-DAPK1), 12p13 (tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 1A-TNFRSF 1A, CDKN1B), 13q12 (breast cancer type 2—BRCA2), 17p13.3 (hypermethylated in cancer 1-HIC1), 18q21

(B-cell lymphoma 2-BCL2), and 22q12 (tissue-inhibitor of metalloproteinase 3-TIMP3). Furthermore, the mutational analysis did not detect KRAS (exons 2-4), BRAF (exon 15), and p53 (exons 4–10) in both the components. Interestingly, only the neuroendocrine component was found to be characterized by a deletion and aberrant methylation of APC gene (resulting in its inactivation) and an aberrant methylation of DAPK1 genes. Immunohistochemistry showed a difference between the two components too: synaptophysin, chromogranin A, serotonin and glicentin were found positive only in NEC.

These evidences supported the pathogenetic theory of the common precursor, suggesting the monoclonal origin from a stem cell undergoing a dual differentiation. In this setting, NEC seems to be the result of a further differentiation of the non-neuroendocrine component through a specific endocrine pathway due to the acquisition of additional mutations [52].

A systematic review about MiNENs by Frizziero et al. reported genetic and molecular information for pts. with colorectal disease, which is available for 49.1% of the 381 included pts. The most frequent mutations involved the following genes: *TP53*, *RB1* (retinoblastoma tumor corepressor 1), *PTEN* (phosphatase and tensin homolog), *APC*, *PI3KCA*, *KRAS*, *BRAF*, and *MYC* (v-myc avian myelocytomatosis viral oncogene homolog). The cluster of these aberrations above has been defined as a trunk of driver genes involved in tumorigenic process [24].

In another retrospective study, 19 samples of colorectal MiNENs and 8 NECs from the same site were analyzed with next-generation sequencing. MiNENs were also examined for microsatellite instability analysis and MLH-1 promoter methylation status; in three of them, the two components were separately analyzed.

The authors found that the two components of MiNENs, when compared, shared the same mutational pattern, expressing the driver genes implicated in colorectal carcinogenesis. Furthermore, compared with pure colorectal NECs, MiNENs showed a higher rate in BRAF aberration (37%; p = 0.006); instead, APC (16%; p = 0.001) and KRAS resulted less frequently mutated (21%; p = 0.043) [53]. Thus, compared to the non-neuroendocrine component, the neuroendocrine counterpart seems to present a higher rate of acquired genetic aberrations, and this phenomenon could correlate with their more aggressive behavior.

Also Capdevila et al. have reported that colorectal carcinoma and NECs arising from the same site shared a similar mutational pattern with frequent mutations in *TP53*, *APC*, *KRAS*, or *BRAF* genes; furthermore, the authors demonstrated a relatively higher rate of BRAF mutations in colorectal NECs compared to colorectal adenocarcinomas (28% vs 15.86%, respectively) [54].

These evidences not only suggested that a BRAF mutation could play a fundamental role in differentiation of neuroendocrine neoplasms (pure or mixed), but also that this mutation is likely to have a predictive role in the innovative targeted therapies.

La Rosa et al. reported the results of a clinicalpathological analysis of 14 digestive MANETs. The immunostaining for p53 was negative in all 10 analyzed neuroendocrine components and its positivity did not exceed 10% in 9/10 nonneuroendocrine components. A perfect overlap was reported for beta-catenin expression between NETs and adenomas components. None of the investigated case (4/14) showed mutations in KRAS, BRAF, PIK3CA, and MSI between the two components.

On the one hand, the differences in mutational pattern and immunohistochemistry between MANECs and MANETs suggest that the term MiNENs could be inclusive of probably distinct subcategories that need further specifications. Furthermore, the international classification systems may extend this term to the other extra-GEP neoplasms.

On the other hand, the mutational pattern and immunohistochemistry shared between neuroendocrine and non-neuroendocrine components of each entity above seems to support the monoclonal pathogenesis.

18.4.3 Morphologic and Functional Imaging

The diagnosis of MiNENs is basically histopathologic, but imaging represents a fundamental tool for staging and follow-up. The choice between computed tomography (CT) scan or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is mostly driven by the site of origin and, in the absence of specific guidelines, follows the diagnostic and stadiative recommendations of their pure counterparts [13]. The available data in literature are mainly represented by case reports or small case series, and it is likely that no useful conclusion can be drawn on the basis of the current evidences. A recent paper by Semrau et al. reported the case of a woman with a metastatic rectal MiNEN: initial diagnosis was performed with a chest and abdomen CT scan, followed by an MRI for a better stadiation of the rectal primitivity and the liver metastases. Follow-up was carried out with both imaging techniques [55]. The use of both CT scan and MRI was justified by the evidence that MRI alone seems to be less sensitive in the detection of pathological lymph nodes in MANECs than in pure adenocarcinomas [56]. In a recent review of the literature about extrahepatic biliary tract MANECs, the authors underlined the sensibility of MRI not only in detection of carcinomas of this site, but also in macroscopic description of the growing pattern [57, 58].

Concerning the use of functional imaging, assuming that poorly differentiated neuroendocrine components show the same high glucose metabolism of NECs, positron emission tomography with fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG PET) may be suggested to complete the staging of MANECs. On the other hand, 68-Gallium PET (68 Ga-PET) seems not to be appropriate due to the loss of somatostatin receptor expression [59].

According to the same principle, 68 Ga-PET may be indicated for MANETs. A recent case report by Both et al. dealt with a young woman with a mixed neoplasm composed of an acinar cell carcinoma as non-neuroendocrine component and a well-differentiated Grade 3 NET as neuroendocrine component. The neoplasms not only showed a high uptake on 68 Ga-PET but also demonstrated a response to peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) in numerous metastatic lesions [23].

Considering the high rate of false positives, functional imaging techniques alone do not substitute histologic diagnosis [60]. Thus, histologic diagnosis should not be delayed in order to perform various kinds of imaging once the lesions are detected.

18.4.4 Therapeutic Management

According to a recent systematic review, more than 81% of MiNENs pts. presented with a localized disease at diagnosis, with or without locoregional nodal involvement but in the absence of distant metastases. Advanced or metastatic disease accounted for almost 18% of cases [24]. In the absence of specific guidelines on MiNENs, the cumulative analysis conducted by Frizziero et al. on retrospective studies reported that 98.3% of pts. with localized disease underwent surgery with curative intent. Perioperative chemotherapy, when mentioned, mostly followed the guidelines for adenocarcinomas from the same sites of origin. In a few cases, (neo)adjuvant chemotherapy was based on NEN regimens, even if these therapeutic protocols are mostly part of a clinical practice rather than being supported by prospective studies, which are lacking. As general opinion, radical surgery represents the only therapeutic option to cure MiNENs, even if no clear surgical rules have been defined in prospective trials and the possible impact of perioperative chemotherapy on prognosis has not been defined yet [61].

Pokrzywa et al. recently released the retrospective data of 57,804 pts. who underwent surgery for stage I–III pancreatic neoplasms; 515 of them (0.9%) had pancreatic MiNENs. Median 5-year overall survival (OS) on MiNENs pts. was 37%, placed between acinar cell carcinomas (51%) and pure NECs (20%). Data concerning other systemic treatments were available for 49% of the sample: 41% and 8% received adjuvant and neoadjuvant chemotherapy, respectively, and regimens were not mentioned [62]. Milione et al. reported data about 160 MANECs pts. who underwent surgery. A better OS was reported for pts. with early stage (22.1 months [mo]), compared to stage IIIb pts. (12.7 mo) and stage IV pts. (15.7 mo), and for pts. with Ki67 index <55% in the NEC component (40.5 mo vs 12.2 mo, p < 0.0001) [63].

In the largest retrospective studies, a significant variability in terms of OS for pts. with localized disease has been described: from 14 and 75 mo.

This fact can be explained by the lack of information about staging, site of origin and morphologic feature of both MiNENs components: no distinction has ever been done between MANETs and MANECs.

Indeed, in case of MANETs, surgery (endoscopic resection) seems to be the best approach as it is for their non-neuroendocrine counterparts (polypoid adenomas).

A recent metanalysis by La Rosa et al. reported that the neuroendocrine component of MANETs is generally in the deeper portion of the polyp and surgery represents together a diagnostic and a therapeutic approach. Except for a single patient who died due to a likely occult NEC that became metastatic, all pts. were alive (with a median of follow-up of 6 years), 80% free from disease and 20% with a residual local disease, irrespective of the site of origin, stage and neuroendocrine component Ki67. This evidence supported that MANETs, with their indolent biologic behavior, should be considered and managed as a distinct entity from MiNENs with poorly differentiated neuroendocrine component [19].

On the other hand, in case of advanced or metastatic disease, surgery and radiotherapy seem to play a palliative role, while chemotherapy has the predominant one.

No specific regimens have been proposed, and retrospective analyses did not report a preferred scheme of systemic therapy. Indeed, where data were available, the percentage of pts. treated with adenocarcinomas or neuroendocrine regimens was similar (22.1% and 27.4%, respectively). ENET guidelines listed some regimens used for MANECs (platinum/etoposide, irinotecan-based regimens, S-1) that follow the indications for pure NECs, suggesting that prognosis of MiNENs likely depends mostly on the neuroendocrine component. This statement is supported by the evidence that the 60.8% of pts. with MiNENs presented synchronous or metachronous metastases with predominant poorly differentiated neuroendocrine component.

In the analysis by Frizziero et al., median OS for pts. with metastatic disease ranged between 10 and 18 mo, considering the results by Milione et al. on MANECs and what aforesaid about MANETs, this evidence suggests that the higher percentage of metastatic MiNENs pts. had a poorly differentiated neuroendocrine component.

Since the diagnosis is often performed after a radical surgery, we can find several studies suggesting for MANECs the same chemotherapeutic regimes as for their non-neuroendocrine counterparts from the same origin. Actually, in these studies, the treatment was administrate relying on a bioptic diagnosis that demonstrated only the non-neuroendocrine component; thus, the misunderstood MiNEN diagnosis was revealed only in retrospect [64].

Data about MANET treatments are even more scarce. In a recent paper by De Both et al., a case of a misunderstood metastatic MANET of the pancreas received the same treatment accepted for pancreatic NETs (sunitinib, temozolomide, and capecitabine and PRRT). The authors reported a certain response to all the systemic treatments [23].

In this scenario, a multimodality approach, shared in a multidisciplinary team, seems to be the best choice for MiNEN pts. management.

Kanazawa et al. reported the case of a man with MiNEN of the colon with synchronous thyroid and liver metastases. The combination of surgery of the three sites of cancer and chemotherapy based on small-cell lung cancer (SCLC) regimens (cisplatin and etoposide, carboplatin and irinotecan, amrubicin) lead to 7 years of no evidence disease follow-up [65].

In a recent retrospective study investigating the correlation between the 2019 WHO classification and the prognosis of ovarian NENs, pure NECs and mixed neoplasms of the ovary were treated as the same entity and, also in this case, almost the 60% of pts. received platinum-based combination chemotherapy [66].

Even if in largest retrospective analyses, no statistical differences were reported between therapeutic schemes, several authors reported the efficacy of non-neuroendocrine regimens in treatment of MiNENs.

Tagai et al. reported a case of a young woman affected by an ascending colonic MANECs who experienced a partial response to streptozotocin monotherapy and a stable disease to capecitabine + oxaliplatin and 5-fluorouracil/oxaliplatin/bevacizumab Scheme [67].

In other cases, MiNEN pts. received therapeutic regimens indicated for non-neuroendocrine neoplasms which arise from the same site. Toptas et al. described a successful treatment with carboplatin and taxol for pts. with an endometrial MANEC [68].

In addition to the lack of prospective trials, few retrospective studies and metanalyses about MiNEN management are burdened by a delayed or, worse, autoptic diagnosis.

Indeed, because the diagnosis is often performed after surgery, we can find several studies in literature that reported data about underestimated MiNENs, treated as their nonneuroendocrine counterparts, presenting all the results together after the diagnosis has been revealed [64].

In the era of molecular patterns and target therapies, customized treatments based on specific gene alterations are becoming a stronger idea. Indeed, in the literature, the first studies about the efficacy of the target therapy in rare neoplastic entities are arising [54].

With these premises, Quaas et al. reported the cases of a man with a metastatic MiNEN from ileum [69]. After the failure of two therapeutic lines, a tumor-DNA analysis was performed. A BRCA-1 mutation was revealed. Therefore, the patient was successfully treated with a combination of carboplatin, paclitaxel, and the poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitor Olaparib analogs (according the protocol described by Oza et al. [70]). The patient experienced a reduction of all liver metastases, allowing

the surgical removal of them. The authors reported that the patient was alive after 25 months from the diagnosis, without evidence of further metastases [69].

These evidences suggest the need for prospective studies whose aim would be to better understand the biologic behavior and personalize the treatments for each entity of this heterogeneous category.

18.4.5 Prognosis

Prognosis of pts. affected by MiNENs is another issue still to clear due to the lack of high-quality data in literature.

First, the most part of studies did not distinguish between MANECs and MANETs, and some of them, due the rarity of these entities, considered MANECs together with NECs [36].

According to the analysis by Frizziero et al., MiNENs, that are mostly composed of a poorly differentiated neuroendocrine component [71], presented a worse outcome than welldifferentiated NETs. On the other hand, prognosis of MiNENs compared to pure NECs remains debated.

According to some studies, in poorly differentiated GEP MiNENs, prognosis does not differ from pure NECs, except for gastric MiNENs pts. for whom a better survival has been observed compared to pure NECs [72]. Controversially, in the retrospective analysis by Milione et al., pts. with colorectal MANECs had a significantly poorer OS compared with pts. with esophageal or pancreato-biliary MANECs (12.2 months vs 17.3 months, p = 0.001) [63].

A recent analysis by Zeng et al. reported no statistical differences in terms of disease-free survival (DFS) and OS between NECs and MANECs of biliary tract (p = 0.152 for DFS, p = 0.150 for OS) [73]. On the other hand, a study by Pokrzywa et al. recently reported a better prognosis for pts. with MiNENs compared to pts. with pure NECs (5-year OS 37% vs 20%, respectively) [62].

This topic remains debated in the field of extra-GEP MiNENs too; the issue concerns not only the prognostic difference between MiNENs, pure non-neuroendocrine counterparts, and pure NECs, but also between MiNENs from different site of origin.

In urinary bladder, MiNENs composed of small-cell neuroendocrine component and highgrade urothelial carcinomas present a worse prognosis than pure non-neuroendocrine carcinomas [74]. On the other hand, mixed bladder neoplasms with a small-cell morphology for neuroendocrine component seem not to have significantly differences in terms of outcome compared to pure NECs (p = 0.8734) [75].

Despite the limits of the following comparison, the survival between extra-MiNENs from the various sites seems to be very different. In case of advanced disease, a mean OS of 16.5 months for a case series of sinonasal MiNENs pts. was reported [52], while, in another report, median OS was only 3 months for cervix MiNENs pts. [36].

Morphologic feature and proliferation index of neuroendocrine component could determine the outcome of MiNENs pts. too. It is not a case that in the retrospective analysis on MANET by La Rosa et al. all pts. were alive at median follow-up of 9 years (range 1–27 years) [19].

Furthermore, the prognosis seems to depend on stage (until 75 months for localized disease and 18 mo for metastatic disease of every sites) [24], morphologic features, and proliferation index of neuroendocrine components [63] and, likely, on treatments. In the absence of mindshare guidelines, the multimodality approach may be the best choice.

18.4.6 Conclusion

MiNENs represent a category of neoplasms extremely heterogeneous in terms of site of origin, morphologic features, proliferation index of neuroendocrine component, and stage of the disease at presentation. The relative novelty of this definition, the sequence of ambiguous terminologies used during the years, and the rarity of the disease made it hard to collect high-quality evidence to understand the state of the art about MiNENs. The 2019 WHO classification seems to have finally specified what the term "MiNENs" is referring to: a category of neoplasms composed of a neuroendocrine and a non-neuroendocrine component representing at least 30% of the whole tumor mass.

Anyway, the 2019 WHO classification adopted this term only for digestive NENs, leaving uncovered mixed neoplasms of all other sites.

The strict conditions for setting out what the "MiNENs" term means (the presence of two different histologies, the threshold of 30%, the need of an adequate sample which allows to determine morphology and Ki67 index of the neuroendocrine component) lead to the underestimation of the disease. The first hot topic that the international associations should address is to define the good clinical practice for the diagnosis of MiNENs, in order to avoid misunderstandings of pathologists and clinicians. The controversy around the cut-off of 30% should be resolved in prospective studies, in which the role of exocrine neoplasms with neuroendocrine components <30% (and vice versa) should be defined. These limits, together with the rarity of the disease itself, justify the lack of prospective trials enrolling pts. with this diagnosis.

Second, another unmet need is represented by the definition of a standardized management for each subcategory of MiNENs, divided according to the site of origin and the characteristics (morphology and Ki67) of neuroendocrine component. Indeed, it is likely that biologic behavior and prognosis of MiNENs are driven by this component, considering the evidences above.

Surgery seems to be the only curative approach, mostly in localized disease, while its role needs to be better explored in the palliative setting of a metastatic disease, especially distinguishing according to the morphology of the neuroendocrine component.

Perioperative therapies and systemic treatments are an even more unexplored field.

Assuming as true the pathogenetic hypothesis of the common precursor, neuroendocrine component should represent the result of a progressive differentiation of a non-neuroendocrine element toward a neuroendocrine cell, due to the sum of chromosomal and gene aberrations.

Furthermore, to our knowledge, no MiNENs with a high-grade non-neuroendocrine component and a low-grade neuroendocrine component has been described before. Therefore, if the statement is that the prognosis of NECs is poorer than their high-grade non-neuroendocrine counterparts and the prognosis of NETs is poorer than their low-grade non-neuroendocrine components, it is likely that systemic treatment depends on the features (morphology and proliferation index) of the neuroendocrine component.

There is no doubt that prospective studies are needed, but until the results of them are not available, each new case of MiNENs should be discussed within multidisciplinary team. With the improvement of targeted therapies and immunotherapies, the better knowledge of the mutational pattern and the pathogenetic pathways of the disease could help to identify new therapeutic strategies by the participation of MiNENs pts. in basket and/or umbrella trials. At present, the vast majority of clinical trials do not allow the enrollment of pts. with mixed neoplasms. Considering the rarity of the disease, the choice of the investigators could be to alter the purity of a case series or to design specific multicenter trials, aware of the slow accrual. We hold the idea that, in order to improve our knowledge about MiNENs, the best way to study these diseases is through prospective, observational studies with a centralized review of clinical, histopathological, and radiological data.

References

- La Rosa S, Sessa F, Uccella S. Mixed Neuroendocrine-Nonneuroendocrine Neoplasms (MiNENs): unifying the concept of a heterogeneous group of neoplasms. Endocr Pathol. 2016;27(4):284–311.
- Volante M, Rindi G, Papotti M. The grey zone between pure (neuro)endocrine and non-(neuro) endocrine tumours: a comment on concepts and classification of mixed exocrine-endocrine neoplasms. Virchows Arch. 2006;449(5):499–506.
- International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. 4th ed. IARC; 2010.

- International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). WHO classification of tumours of endocrine organs. 4th ed. IARC; 2017.
- Lewin K. Carcinoid tumors and the mixed (composite) glandular-endocrine cell carcinomas. Am J Surg Pathol. 1987;11(Suppl 1):71–86.
- International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) WHO Classification of Tumours Editorial Board. WHO classification of tumours. Digestive system tumours. 5th ed. IARC; 2019.
- E. Solcia, G. Kloppel, L.H. Sobin, (In collaboration with 9 pathologist from 9 countries). Histological typing of endocrine tumors, 2nd ed. WHO international histological classification of tumors. Springer (2000).
- Surveillance of rare cancers in Europe Registry. Available from: http://www.rarecarenet.eu/rarecarenet/images/indicators/Incidence.pdf.
- National Cancer Institute. About the SEER registries. http://seer.cancer.gov/registries/index.html.
- https://www.registri-tumori.it/PDF/AIRTUM2016/ TUMORIRARI/AIRTUM_RARI_full.pdf.
- 11. https://www.aiom.it/wp-content/ uploads/2019/10/2019_LG_AIOM_Neuroendocrini. pdf.
- Pavel M, Oberg K, Falconi M, Krenning E, Sundin A, Perren A, et al. Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2020;31(7):844–60.
- Garcia-Carbonero R, Sorbye H, Baudin E, Raymond E, Wiedenmann B, Niederle B, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for high-grade gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and neuroendocrine carcinomas. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(2):186–94.
- https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/ pdf/neuroendocrine_blocks.pdf
- Cheng H, Leblond CP. Origin, differentiation and renewal of the four main epithelial cell types in the mouse small intestine. V. Unitarian theory of the origin of the four epithelial cell types. Am J Anat. 1974;141(4):537–61.
- Han B, Mori I, Wang X, Nakamura M, Nakamura Y, Kakudo K. Combined small-cell carcinoma of the stomach: p53 and K-ras gene mutational analysis supports a monoclonal origin of three histological components. Int J Exp Pathol. 2005;86(4):213–8.
- Scardoni M, Vittoria E, Volante M, Rusev B, Bersani S, Mafficini A, et al. Mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas of the gastrointestinal tract: targeted next-generation sequencing suggests a monoclonal origin of the two components. Neuroendocrinology. 2014;100(4):310–6.
- Furlan D, Cerutti R, Genasetti A, Pelosi G, Uccella S, La Rosa S, et al. Microallelotyping defines the monoclonal or the polyclonal origin of mixed and collision endocrine-exocrine tumors of the gut. Lab Investig. 2003;83(7):963–71.
- La Rosa S, Uccella S, Molinari F, Savio A, Mete O, Vanoli A, et al. Mixed Adenoma Well-differentiated Neuroendocrine Tumor (MANET) of the digestive

system: an indolent subtype of Mixed Neuroendocrine-NonNeuroendocrine Neoplasm (MiNEN). Am J Surg Pathol. 2018;42(11):1503–12.

- Miller H, Flora R, Drymousis P, Wasan H, Goldin R, Schmid KW, Kidd M, Modlin IM, Frilling A. Heterogeneity in the Ki-67 index of neuroendocrine tumors. ENETS, Abstract #961.
- Singh S, Hallet J, Rowsell C, Law CH. Variability of Ki67 labeling index in multiple neuroendocrine tumors specimens over the course of the disease. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(11):1517–22.
- 22. Gao H, Jin K, Wang W, Zhang S, Xu J, Liu LC, Yu X. Is Ki67 index in biopsy tissue truly reflect grading of pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasm? ENETS, Abstract #1852.
- 23. De Both A, De Man M, Troisi R, Van Vlierberghe H, Hoorens A, Geboes K. Treatment of a mixed acinar-endocrine carcinoma with uptake on (68) Gallium-DOTATOC positron emission tomography-computed tomography: a case report. Oncol Lett. 2017;14(1):547–52.
- 24. Frizziero M, Chakrabarty B, Nagy B, Lamarca A, Hubner RA, Valle JW, et al. Mixed neuroendocrine non-neuroendocrine neoplasms: a systematic review of a controversial and underestimated diagnosis. J Clin Med. 2020;9(1):273.
- Park JY, Ryu MH, Park YS, Park HJ, Ryoo BY, Kim MG, et al. Prognostic significance of neuroendocrine components in gastric carcinomas. Eur J Cancer. 2014;50(16):2802–9.
- 26. Jiang SX, Mikami T, Umezawa A, Saegusa M, Kameya T, Okayasu I. Gastric large cell neuroendocrine carcinomas: a distinct clinicopathologic entity. Am J Surg Pathol. 2006;30(8):945–53.
- 27. Travis WD, Brambilla E, Burke AP, Marx A, Nicholson AG. WHO classification of tumours. Pathology & genetics of tumours of the lung, pleura, thymus and heart. IARC Press; 2015.
- Uccella S, Sessa F, La Rosa S. Diagnostic approach to neuroendocrine neoplasms of the gastrointestinal tract and pancreas. Turk Patoloji Derg. 2015;31(Suppl 1):113–27.
- La Rosa S, Rigoli E, Uccella S, Chiaravalli AM, Capella C. CDX2 as a marker of intestinal EC-cells and related well-differentiated endocrine tumors. Virchows Arch. 2004;445(3):248–54.
- Erickson LA, Papouchado B, Dimashkieh H, Zhang S, Nakamura N, Lloyd RV. Cdx2 as a marker for neuroendocrine tumors of unknown primary sites. Endocr Pathol. 2004;15(3):247–52.
- Hermann G, Konukiewitz B, Schmitt A, Perren A, Kloppel G. Hormonally defined pancreatic and duodenal neuroendocrine tumors differ in their transcription factor signatures: expression of ISL1, PDX1, NGN3, and CDX2. Virchows Arch. 2011;459(2):147–54.
- 32. Schmitt AM, Riniker F, Anlauf M, Schmid S, Soltermann A, Moch H, et al. Islet 1 (Isl1) expression is a reliable marker for pancreatic endocrine tumors and their metastases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32(3):420–5.

- Folpe AL, Gown AM, Lamps LW, Garcia R, Dail DH, Zarbo RJ, et al. Thyroid transcription factor-1: immunohistochemical evaluation in pulmonary neuroendocrine tumors. Mod Pathol. 1999;12(1):5–8.
- 34. La Rosa S, Chiaravalli AM, Placidi C, Papanikolaou N, Cerati M, Capella C. TTF1 expression in normal lung neuroendocrine cells and related tumors: immunohistochemical study comparing two different monoclonal antibodies. Virchows Arch. 2010;457(4): 497–507.
- 35. Krugmann J, Schwarz CL, Melcher B, Sterlacci W, Ozalinskaite A, Lermann J, et al. Malignant ascites occurs most often in patients with high-grade serous papillary ovarian cancer at initial diagnosis: a retrospective analysis of 191 women treated at Bayreuth Hospital, 2006-2015. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2019;299(2):515–23.
- 36. Ramalingam P, Malpica A, Deavers MT. Mixed endocervical adenocarcinoma and high-grade neuroendocrine carcinoma of the cervix with ovarian metastasis of the former component: a report of 2 cases. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2012;31(5):490–6.
- 37. Horn LC, Hentschel B, Bilek K, Richter CE, Einenkel J, Leo C. Mixed small cell carcinomas of the uterine cervix: prognostic impact of focal neuroendocrine differentiation but not of Ki-67 labeling index. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2006;10(3):140–3.
- Bressenot A, Delaunay C, Gauchotte G, Oliver A, Boudrant G, Montagne K. Composite renal cell carcinoma with clear cell renal cell carcinomatous and carcinoid tumoral elements: a first case report. J Clin Pathol. 2010;63(2):174–6.
- 39. Al-Ahmadie H, Compérat E, Epstein JI. Neuroendocrine tumors. In: Moch H, Humphrey PA, Ulbright TM, Reuter VE, editors. WHO classification of tumours. Pathology & genetics of tumours of the urinary system and male genital organs. 4th ed. IARC Press; 2016. p. 117–9.
- Kurman RJ, Carcangiu ML, Herrington CS, Young RH. WHO classification of tumours of the female reproductive organs. WHO classification of tumours. IARC Press; 2014.
- 41. Peng Y, Lin J, Guan J, Chen L, Zhang X, Li S, et al. Ovarian collision tumors: imaging findings, pathological characteristics, diagnosis, and differential diagnosis. Abdom Radiol. 2018;43(8): 2156–68.
- 42. Schizas D, Katsaros I, Michalinos A, Damaskos C, Garmpis N, Ntomi V, et al. Collision tumors of the gastrointestinal tract: a systematic review of the literature. Anticancer Res. 2018;38(11):6047–57.
- 43. Ichijima K, Akaishi K, Toyoda N, Kobashi Y, Ueda Y, Matsuo S, et al. Carcinoma of the pancreas with endocrine component in childhood. A case report. Am J Clin Pathol. 1985;83(1):95–100.
- 44. Gilmore G, Jensen K, Saligram S, Sachdev TP, Arekapudi SR. Goblet cell carcinoid of the appendix—diagnostic challenges and treatment updates: a case report and review of the literature. J Med Case Rep. 2018;12(1):275.

- Capella C, La Rosa S, Uccella S, Billo P, Cornaggia M. Mixed endocrine-exocrine tumors of the gastrointestinal tract. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2000;17(2):91–103.
- 46. Howe MC, Chapman A, Kerr K, Dougal M, Anderson H, Hasleton PS. Neuroendocrine differentiation in non-small cell lung cancer and its relation to prognosis and therapy. Histopathology. 2005;46(2):195–201.
- 47. Makretsov N, Gilks CB, Coldman AJ, Hayes M, Huntsman D. Tissue microarray analysis of neuroendocrine differentiation and its prognostic significance in breast cancer. Hum Pathol. 2003;34(10):1001–8.
- 48. Pelosi G, Pasini F, Sonzogni A, Maffini F, Maisonneuve P, Iannucci A, et al. Prognostic implications of neuroendocrine differentiation and hormone production in patients with Stage I nonsmall cell lung carcinoma. Cancer. 2003;97(10):2487–97.
- 49. Sapino A, Righi L, Cassoni P, Papotti M, Pietribiasi F, Bussolati G. Expression of the neuroendocrine phenotype in carcinomas of the breast. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2000;17(2):127–37.
- van Krimpen C, Elferink A, Broodman CA, Hop WC, Pronk A, Menke M. The prognostic influence of neuroendocrine differentiation in breast cancer: results of a long-term follow-up study. Breast. 2004;13(4):329–33.
- Bollito E, Berruti A, Bellina M, Mosca A, Leonardo E, Tarabuzzi R, et al. Relationship between neuroendocrine features and prognostic parameters in human prostate adenocarcinoma. Ann Oncol. 2001;12(Suppl 2):S159–64.
- 52. La Rosa S, Furlan D, Franzi F, Battaglia P, Frattini M, Zanellato E, et al. Mixed exocrine-neuroendocrine carcinoma of the nasal cavity: clinico-pathologic and molecular study of a case and review of the literature. Head Neck Pathol. 2013;7(1):76–84.
- 53. Jesinghaus M, Konukiewitz B, Keller G, Kloor M, Steiger K, Reiche M, et al. Colorectal mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas and neuroendocrine carcinomas are genetically closely related to colorectal adenocarcinomas. Mod Pathol. 2017;30(4):610–9.
- 54. Capdevila J, Arques O, Hernandez Mora JR, Matito J, Caratu G, Mancuso FM, et al. Epigenetic EGFR gene repression confers sensitivity to therapeutic BRAFV600E blockade in colon neuroendocrine carcinomas. Clin Cancer Res. 2020;26(4):902–9.
- 55. Semrau S, Agaimy A, Pavel M, Lubgan D, Schmidt D, Cavallaro A, et al. Long-term control with chemoradiation of initially metastatic mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma of the rectum: a case report. J Med Case Rep. 2019;13(1):82.
- 56. Kim BC, Kim YE, Chang HJ, Lee SH, Youk EG, Lee DS, et al. Lymph node size is not a reliable criterion for predicting nodal metastasis in rectal neuroendocrine tumours. Color Dis. 2016;18(7):O243–51.
- Zhang L, Yang Z, Chen Q, Li M, Zhu X, Wan D, et al. Mixed adenoendocrine carcinoma in the extrahepatic biliary tract: a case report and literature review. Oncol Lett. 2019;18(2):1585–96.
- 58. Hong N, Kim HJ, Byun JH, Kim SY, Kim KW, Kim JH, et al. Neuroendocrine neoplasms of the

extrahepatic bile duct: radiologic and clinical characteristics. Abdom Imaging. 2015;40(1):181–91.

- 59. Sundin A, Arnold R, Baudin E, Cwikla JB, Eriksson B, Fanti S, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the standards of care in neuroendocrine tumors: radiological, nuclear medicine & hybrid imaging. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;105(3):212–44.
- Yamaga LYI, Wagner J, Funari MBG. 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT in nonneuroendocrine tumors: a pictorial essay. Clin Nucl Med. 2017;42(6):e313–e6.
- Ishida H, Lam AK. Pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: the latest surgical and medical treatment strategies based on the current World Health Organization classification. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2020;145:102835.
- Pokrzywa CJ, Abbott DE, Matkowskyj KA, Ronnekleiv-Kelly SM, Winslow ER, Weber SM, et al. Natural history and treatment trends in pancreatic cancer subtypes. J Gastrointest Surg. 2019;23(4):768–78.
- Milione M, Maisonneuve P, Pellegrinelli A, Grillo F, Albarello L, Spaggiari P, et al. Ki67 proliferative index of the neuroendocrine component drives MANEC prognosis. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2018;25(5):583–93.
- 64. Nagata H, Tsujimoto H, Yaguchi Y, Kouzu K, Itazaki Y, Ishibashi Y, et al. Mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma with loss of HER2 positivity after trastuzumab-based chemotherapy for HER2positive gastric cancer: a case report. Surg Case Rep. 2020;6(1):5.
- 65. Kanazawa Y, Kikuchi M, Imai Y, Katakami N, Kaihara S, Shinohara S. Successful treatment of a mixed neuroendocrine-nonneuroendocrine neoplasm of the colon with metastases to the thyroid gland and liver. Case Rep Otolaryngol. 2020;2020:5927610.
- 66. Kai K, Nasu K, Nishida H, Daa T, Shikama A, Shiozaki T, et al. Correlation of World Health Organization 2010 classification for gastroenteropancreatic neuro-endocrine neoplasms with the prognosis of ovarian neuroendocrine neoplasms: Kansai Clinical Oncology Group-Protocol Review Committee/Intergroup Study. Neuroendocrinology. 2021;111(4):320–9.

- Tagai N, Goi T, Morikawa M, Kurebayashi H, Kato S, Fujimoto D, et al. Favorable response of colonic mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma to streptozocin monotherapy. Int Cancer Conf J. 2017;6(4):175–9.
- Toptas T, Tasova-Yildirim G, Karaveli S, Simsek T. Malignant mixed Mullerian tumor with small cell neuroendocrine differentiation: a case report and review of the literature. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 2014;35(2):180–4.
- 69. Quaas A, Waldschmidt D, Alakus H, Zander T, Heydt C, Goeser T, et al. Therapy susceptible germlinerelated BRCA 1-mutation in a case of metastasized mixed adeno-neuroendocrine carcinoma (MANEC) of the small bowel. BMC Gastroenterol. 2018;18(1):75.
- Oza AM, Cibula D, Benzaquen AO, Poole C, Mathijssen RH, Sonke GS, et al. Olaparib combined with chemotherapy for recurrent platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer: a randomised phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(1):87–97.
- Frizziero M, Wang X, Chakrabarty B, Childs A, Luong LV, Walter T, Elshafie M, Shah T, Fulford P, Minicozzi A. Mixed adeno-neuroendocrine carcinoma (MANEC) of the gastroenteropancreatic (GEP) tract: a multicentre retrospective study. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(Suppl. 5):466.
- 72. La Rosa S, Inzani F, Vanoli A, Klersy C, Dainese L, Rindi G, et al. Histologic characterization and improved prognostic evaluation of 209 gastric neuroendocrine neoplasms. Hum Pathol. 2011;42(10):1373–84.
- 73. Zheng Z, Chen C, Li B, Liu H, Zhou L, Zhang H, et al. Biliary neuroendocrine neoplasms: clinical profiles, management, and analysis of prognostic factors. Front Oncol. 2019;9:38.
- Vakar-Lopez F, True LD. How wide is the spectrum of neuroendocrine carcinoma of the urinary bladder? Am J Clin Pathol. 2007;128(5):723–5.
- 75. Wang G, Xiao L, Zhang M, Kamat AM, Siefker-Radtke A, Dinney CP, et al. Small cell carcinoma of the urinary bladder: a clinicopathological and immunohistochemical analysis of 81 cases. Hum Pathol. 2018;79:57–65.



Merkel Cell Carcinoma

19

Francesca Consoli, Valeria Tovazzi, Simonetta Battocchio, William Vermi, Paolo Bossi, and Alfredo Berruti

19.1 Introduction

Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC) is a rare and highly aggressive primary cutaneous carcinoma of the skin with epithelial and endocrine features. Its origin-neuroendocrine-is still uncertain. The first description of MCC was performed by Toker who defined it as a "trabecular cancer of the skin" [1]. This tumor is rare, but its incidence is dramatically increasing. This chapter examines the incidence, pathogenesis, and molecular abnormalities of this malignancy. It discusses the most frequent clinical presentation, the diagnostic approach, modern treatments, and their results. It also reviews the patient prognosis and follow-up procedures. Because of the complexity, aggressive nature, and individuality of each case, MCC is best treated by a multidisciplinary team.

19.2 Epidemiology

The incidence of Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC) has increased worldwide [2].

Australia and New Zealand register both the higher incidence of MCC cases than anywhere else in the world [3–5]. This geographic predominance seems strictly related to the combination of exposure to UV (ultraviolet) radiation and fair-skinned population. In Queensland Australia, the average annual incidence reached 1.6/100,000 between 2006 and 2010, peaking at 20.7 per 100,000 for persons 80 years or older [5]; men accounted for around two thirds of all cases (68%), with a median age at diagnosis of 75.5 years compared with 78.0 years for women [5].

Differently, in Western Australia, the incidence was estimated at 0.82/100,000 between 1993 and 2007 with a higher value in older age (15.5/100,000 in the ≥ 85 year age group) [4]. In New Zealand, the age-adjusted incidence was 0.96/100,000 between 2000 and 2015: MCC affected mainly sun-exposed areas and the rate increased with age [3]. The age-adjusted incidence for MCC of males was 1.45 times that of females [3].

Data from Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER-18) database, derived from United States (US) registries, confirmed a rising

F. Consoli $(\boxtimes) \cdot V$. Tovazzi $\cdot P$. Bossi $\cdot A$. Berruti Department of Medical and Surgical Specialties, Radiological Sciences, and Public Health, Medical Oncology, University of Brescia at ASST-Spedali Civili, Brescia, Italy

S. Battocchio

Department of Laboratory Medicine, Unit of Pathology, ASST-Spedali Civili, Brescia, Italy

W. Vermi

Department of Molecular and Translational Medicine, Section of Pathology, School of Medicine, University of Brescia at ASST-Spedali Civili, Brescia, Italy

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_19

incidence rate of MCC from 0.5 cases per 100,000 in 2000 (95% CI 0.4–0.5) to 0.7 per 100,000 in 2013 (95% CI 0.7–0.8), corresponding to 2488 cases in 2013 [2]. Moreover, the incidence of MCC increased with age, varying from 0.1 cases/100,000 for ages 40–44 to 9.8/100,000 for ages more than 85, and it was higher in men than women, across all age groups. The total annual incidence of MCC has been predicted to increase to 2835 cases in 2020 and 3284 cases in 2025: this growth has been mainly related to the aging of the population and to an increased diagnostic accuracy [2, 6].

In European population, a growing incidence of MCC was documented in the different registries, as well: in Nederland, from 0.17 in 1993 to 0.35 per 100,000 in 2007 [7]; in Sweden from 0.23 in 1993 to 0.49 per 100,000 in 2012 [8] and in France from 0.57 in 2006 to 0.74 per 100,000 in 2010 [9].

Five-year survival rate for MCC differs between different states and was estimated approximately at 60% in US (1986–2004) [10], 64% in Western Australia (1993–2007) [4], and 40% in Queensland, Australia (2006–2010) [5].

19.3 Pathogenesis

The cell of origin of MCC is still uncertain and under debate. Tumor cells share morphologic and histologic features with the normal Merkel cell; however, there is no evidence of direct evolution from normal Merkel cells into tumor cells, and no precursor lesions have been identified [11].

The etiology divides MCCs into two types: Merkel cell polyomavirus (MCPyV) positive and MCPyV negative. The second one being associated to accumulation of UV-induced mutations. Virus-positive tumors are found in 80% of cases in the northern hemisphere, whereas virusnegative tumors are found in a majority of southern hemisphere cases. Although it is clear that these two categories have different mechanisms of promoting cell growth and replication, the pathogenesis of MCC is not yet completely understood [12].

19.3.1 Virus-Positive MCC

Merkel cell polyomavirus (MCPyV) belongs to Polyomaviridae family, a typical mammalian polyomavirus with a double-stranded DNA genome [13]. The potential oncogenic role of polyomaviruses was firstly demonstrated by Gross et al. who discovered the murine polyoma virus in 1953 [14]. In mice, the transforming mechanism of mouse polyoma was related to the integration of virus DNA into the host genome [15].

MCPyV has been mainly isolated from the skin, even though it is not known which cells support its replication [16]; recent evidences suggest monocyte as the possible reservoir for the virus [17].

Primary infection of MCPyV does not cause any signs or symptoms in healthy individuals, and the prevalence of subclinical infection increases with age. The viral genome possesses an early and a late regions, which contain genes encoding proteins for viral replication and viral capsid [18]. The early region encodes for four proteins: large T antigen (LT), small T antigen (sT), ALTO (alternate frame of the large T open reading frame), and 57 kt antigen transcript. The late region encodes for viral coat proteins: VP1 and VP2 and microRNA that regulates the T-antigen transcripts [18]. Productive viral infection is associated with cell death, rather than oncogenic transformation [19]. After entry into a host cells, the inhibition of viral replication commonly occurs and typically the virus defaults to a latent, non-replicative state after infection [18, 20].

Although MCPyV mostly causes a persistent innocuous infection, it may rarely generate an aggressive skin cancer known as Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC) [18]. An immunosuppressed state likely contributes to viral integration, mutagenesis, and carcinogenesis [21]. In 2008, Feng et al. discovered that MCPyV infection is related to MCC [22]. They documented that the viral genome was integrated into tumor genome in the virus-positive (VP) MCC samples analyzed [22]. This was the first association of a polyomavirus with human tumorigenesis.

Due to its oncogenic properties, the World Health Organization-International Agency for Research on Cancer has attributed to MCPyV the classification of probably carcinogens for human (group 2A) [23].

The incidence of infection among MCC patients has been estimated 80–90% [22, 24]. In the Northern hemisphere, the majority of MCC cases are of viral etiology [25].

The precise mechanism involved between MCPyV infection and MCC development remains unknown. Mongha et al. demonstrated the biological impact of UV radiation on MCPyV replication and biology, providing the potential explanation for the role of repetitive solar exposure in the pathogenesis of MCPyV positive MCC [26]. UV lights may also promote cancer through their immune-suppressive effect on tumor microenvironment [27].

Oncogenic transformation by MCPyV is hypothesized to require two events: integration of the viral genome into the host genome and truncation of LT to render the viral genome replication deficient [22]. The resulting truncated LT lacks the viral replication capacity, while it retains the ability to bind and inactivate the tumor suppressor retinoblastoma (RB1) protein, which leads to a dysregulation of cell cycle progression [28]. LT-Ag also downregulates expression of TLR (toll-like receptor) 9, a key receptor in the host innate immune response, liberating infected cells from host immune surveillance [29]. An additional LT-Ag property is to activate survivin, an inhibitor of apoptosis [30]. Unlike other polyomaviruses, MCPyV LT-Ag lacks TP53-binding capacity [31], so p53 disruption in MCC is independent from LT-Ag [32]. Therefore, viruspositive MCC displays a pattern of wild-type TP53, differently from the virus-negative counterpart [32].

The viral oncoprotein sT enhances MCC oncogenesis independently from LT properties. LT-stabilizing domain (LSD) is an sT domain, essential for its oncogenic activity [19]. LSD allows sT to inhibit the cellular SCF (complex of Skp1, Cul1, and F-Box protein) ubiquitin ligase protein complex, SCF^{Fbw7}. F-box/WD repeat-containing protein 7 (Fbw7) ubiquitin ligase protein complex normally promotes the degradation of proto-oncogene products such as cyclin E, c-Myc, c-Jun, mTOR, Notch, NFKB2 [33]. Recent findings support the concept that the sT-Ag inhibits the degradation of LT-Ag, c-myc, and cyclin E, thus enhancing the oncoprotein stability [19, 28, 34].

During transformation, another sT property, independent from the Fbw7, is the modulation of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway: sT preserves the hyperphosphorylation of the eukaryotic translation initiator factor 4E-binding protein 1 (4E-BP1). This event results in a dysregulation of cap-dependent translation and favors carcinogenesis [35].

Moreover, sT is a suppressor of nuclear factor KB (NFKB) activation, which likely impairs the local innate immune response to MCPyV infection [36].

The VP tumors typically express sT and the truncated LT both considered the main oncogenic triggers, while the expression of the capsid proteins, VP1 and VP2, is frequently lost [37].

In addition to the expression of sT and LT viral protein, VP tumors contain mutations that activate PI3K pathway (HRAS, KRAS, PI3KA, PTEN) [18].

19.3.2 Virus-Negative MCC

The pathogenesis and the consequent molecular profile distinct virus-negative (VN) MCCs from virus-positive (VP) variants [38]. The higher prevalence of this subtype in Australia, in comparison to Europe or North America [39], and the predilection of sun-exposed fair-skinned population suggest that UV radiation is central in the pathogenesis of VN-MCC [39, 40]. UV radiation is a known risk factor for many skin cancers [41]. It can cause mutagenic, carcinogenic, and immunosuppressive effects [42, 43]. UVB, in particular, promotes DNA damage, generates reactive oxygen species, and induces the immunosuppressive effect both locally and systemically. The decrease in DNA repair and subsequent immunosuppression contribute to carcinogenesis [42, 44]. Immunosuppressive mechanisms include depletion and downregulation of Langerhans cells presenting antigens, UV-induced regulatory T cells (CD4+ CD25+), secretion of cytokines such as interleukin-1, interleukin-10, and tumor necrosis factor [27]. UV-B rays are less prevalent than UV-A rays, but they are much more intense and destructive. UV-B induces mutations in the tumor suppressor p53 and Ha-RAS genes, which increase the risk of cancer [44]. UV-A has also been reported to induce MCC. This long-wavelength UV corresponds to deeper penetrance beyond the epidermis into the dermis and is a significant contributor to UV-induced immunosuppression [44, 45].

19.3.3 Mutational Landscape of Virus-Positive (VP) and Virus-Negative (VN) MCCs

The genome landscape differs significantly between virus-positive (VP) and virus-negative (VN)-MCC. VP-MCCs typically harbor few somatic mutations or copy number alterations and no definitive mutational signature [18, 46]. As detailed above, genome sequencing revealed the mutations in tumor suppressors and oncogenic mutation and the relative lack of UV-damaged DNA in VP tumors [46]. In contrast, VN-MCCs harbor a specific pattern of genomic alteration, suggesting a different etiology in comparison to VP tumors [46]. VN-MCCs showed a high mutational burden associated with UV damage, typically seen in other skin cancers associated to sun exposure such as melanoma, basal cell carcinoma, and squamous cell carcinoma [46, 47]. An enrichment in C > T transition, a typical somatic signature UV-related, had been demonstrated in this variant [46, 47].

Virus-negative MCCs harbor highly recurrent inactivating mutations in tumor-suppressor genes such as RB1, TP53, and genes encoding member of Notch family [20, 38, 46, 48, 49]. The mutations of RB1 and TP53 are clonal, occurring early during the tumor evolution, and they are shared by the primary tumor and by the metastases [20]. Hot-spot mutations of different oncogenes such as HRAS, KRAS, PIK3CA have been described both in VP and VN-MCCs [20]. Other oncogenes specifically associated with VN-MCCs have been characterized, including mutations in AKT1, EZH2 [20, 48, 50]. The mutational burden of VN-MCC is fivefold higher than non-small-cell lung cancer and melanoma [46]. The high incidence of point mutations generates non-selfpeptides that may be involved in the immunogenicity of virus-negative tumors [46].

Epigenetic changes may also play a role in the pathogenesis of MCC and jeopardize its prognosis. Epigenetic tumor suppressors silencing may play a role in MCC oncogenesis [28]. Main alterations are represented by DNA modifications, with promoter hypermethylation or by histone modifications [28].

19.4 Risk Factors

Advanced age is associated with an increased incidence of MCC [2]. Immuno-senescence, defined an imbalance between inflammatory and anti-inflammatory mechanisms, may explain the prevalence of MCC in older patients (aged 70 years or older): a remodeling of the immune system leads to weakened immune functions in the elderly [51]. This "inflammaging" state contributes to an impairment of both adaptive and innate immunity and, consequentially, to age-related disorders and neoplastic disease [51].

Other risk factors for MCC are represented by white skin pigmentation, sustained exposure to sun or UV light, or history of other skin cancers [52].

Iatrogenic or disease-related immunosuppression may also account for an increased risk of developing MCC. A compromised immunosurveillance may favor proliferation of atypical cells. The mechanism by which immunosuppression interacts with MCPyV and UV radiation exposure in the pathogenesis of MCC is unknown [53]. Immunosuppressed patients account for 10% of MCC population [54], and the age of onset of MCC is lower than in immune-competent patients [55]. Moreover, immunosuppression was demonstrated to be a stage-independent predictor of worse MCC-specific survival [54–56].

Immunosuppression-related risk factors include HIV/AIDS, organ transplantation, lymphoproliferative disorders, and autoimmune diseases [53, 57].

HIV infection has been associated with a tenfold increased MCC risk in comparison to general population [57]. The pathogenesis of HIV-related MCC is not well elucidated. It is plausible that HIV-1/AIDS predisposes to viruspositive MCC, but it should be noted that HIV-1/ AIDS increases the risk for developing UV-induced skin cancers (such as squamous cell carcinomas and basal cell carcinomas) and therefore may also increase the risk for virus-negative MCC [55].

Solid organ transplant increases the risk of malignancies, including MCC [53, 58]. After solid organ transplantation, the overall risk of MCC was increased 23.8-fold compared to general population [53]. The combination regimen of azathioprine and cyclosporine was associated with the highest MCC risk. MCC rose with advancing time since transplant, suggesting an etiologic role of long-term, chronic immunosuppression [53].

Lymphoproliferative disorders such as non-Hodgkin lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and multiple myeloma may also be associated to an increased risk of MCC [59]. Patients with lymphoproliferative diseases have weakened humoral and cell-mediated immuneresponse that could be advocated in MCC increased risk [21].

Chronic inflammatory disorders, such as rheumatoid arthritis, are also associated with higher incidence of MCC. Autoimmune disorders impair the natural immune response, creating an environment that makes an affected individual particularly vulnerable to secondary malignancies [60].

19.5 Histology and Immunohistochemistry

Merkel cell carcinoma is a primary cutaneous neuroendocrine cancer, characterized by high grade and poor differentiation [61]. Neoplastic proliferating cells are usually located in the dermis and frequently invade deeply into the hypodermis. The tumor growth pattern is nodular or infiltrative: the first appears as single- or multiplewell circumscribed nodules, the second is composed of single cells, nests, trabeculae, or rows, infiltrating the surrounding tissue (derma and soft tissue). The papillary dermis and adnexa are usually spared [62]. Ulceration may occur.

In about 10% of cases, cancer cells may display epidermotropism, with nested or pagetoid pattern [63–65]. In rare cases, only intraepidermal component has been described [66].

Tumor cells are characteristically small, uniform, with round to oval nuclei, finely dispersed chromatin, not prominent nucleoli and scant cytoplasm [67].

Mitoses are numerous. Apoptosis and necrosis are frequent [68] (Fig. 19.1). Even though necrosis can be prominent, it is not needed for the defi-



Fig. 19.1 MCC intermediate variant with necrotic foci and high mitotic activity (H&E, 20×)

nition of high-grade tumor. Lymphatic and vascular invasions are common.

Three main histologic variants are described: trabecular, intermediate, or small-cell.

The trabecular subtype was first reported by Toker [1]. This is the least frequent histological pattern. Cells have more abundant cytoplasm and are arranged in distinctly organoid clusters, with trabeculae and occasional ribbons. This type of tumor usually occurs adjacent to adnexal structures, particularly hair follicles [1].

The intermediate subtype is the most frequent histological subtype, observed in more than 50% of cases [68]. It exhibits large and solid nodules with basophilic sheets of irregular and hyperchromatic cells [69]; cytoplasm is less abundant than in the trabecular type, and nuclei may be more vesicular with small nucleoli. Mitoses and focal areas of necrosis are frequent. These tumors usually arise adjacent to adnexa and may invade the epidermis [62].

The small-cell type mimics small-cell tumors of other sites, e.g., small-cell lung cancers. The tumors are composed of solid sheets or cluster of cells, with frequent crush artifact and nuclear molding. The clinical behavior of this subtype appears to be as similar as the small-cell tumors of other origins [63].

Rarely, tumors might display a large cell and sometimes spindle cell morphology. Nevertheless, no clinical implication has been correlated to the morphological variants or cytologic characterization, because most MCCs display overlapping features and transitional forms [70].

Besides pure endocrine forms, some cases of MCC are combined with different skin tumors (more frequently SCC, infiltrating, or in situ) or show divergent differentiation (squamous or adnexal morphology) [71, 72].

The MCC has a characteristic immunohistological profile, with expression of both epithelial and neuroendocrine markers. Tumor cells stain positively for several type I and II cytokeratins such as CK8, CK18, CK19, and CK20. CK20 is considered a very sensitive and specific marker for MCC, since it is positive in 75–100% of cases. A wide range of neuroendocrine markers are immunoreactive with neoplastic cells, such as neuron-specific enolase (NSE), chromogranin A, synaptophysin, and CD56 [62, 63, 67].

Thyroid transcription factor 1 (TTF1) and CK7 are essentially negative [62, 67, 73].

The CK20 positivity, combined with thyroid transcription factor-1 (TTF-1) and CK7 negativity, is commonly used to distinguish MCC from other primary cutaneous tumors and metastasis of extracutaneous neuroendocrine carcinomas [73], in particular small-cell lung cancer (SCLC).

However, a subgroup of MCC may lack CK20 expression [74, 75] and rare case may be positive for CK7 or TTF1 [67, 70, 76, 77].

This unusual or aberrant immunohistochemical staining pattern makes the differential diagnosis more challenging.

In the past few years, additional markers have been studied and suggested as specific for Merkel cell carcinoma. Tumor cells are found to express Merkel cell markers: neurofilament (NF), frequently positive in MCC with dot-like pattern [74, 78], and special AT-rich sequence-binding protein 2 (SATB2) [74]. Atonal homolog 1 (ATOH1) is an additional Merkel cell marker, involved as a transcription factor driving cell differentiation; unfortunately, his expression has been found in other neuroendocrine tumors, and it is not selective [74, 79].

Insulinoma-associated protein 1(INSM1) is a marker of neuroendocrine differentiation. It may be useful in confirming the neuroendocrine nature of MCC, with respect to poorly differentiated skin tumors, but it is not consistent in the differential diagnosis with extracutaneous neuro-endocrine tumors [74, 80, 81].

Few cases of MCC can express paired box protein 5 (PAX5), terminal desoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT), CD99, and cell surfaceassociated mucin 1 (MUC1). Nevertheless, all of these markers are not relevant in the diagnosis, because they are shared with other kind of tumors and other neuroendocrine carcinomas [74, 82–84].

Positivity for the oncoprotein huntingtininteracting protein 1 (HIP1) has been observed in the majority of cases (almost 90%), and it contributes to the mechanism of MCC development, maintenance, or progression [85].

Staining for tumor protein 63 (p63) and survivin has been observed and has been linked to a worse prognosis, with more aggressive clinical course [86].

The detection of Merkel cell polyomavirus has also been suggested for MCC diagnosis. Different experiences have assessed morphologiimmunohistochemical differences cal and between MCPyV positive and negative tumors [74, 87, 88]. Based on morphological criteria, MCPyV negative tumors may display marked heterogeneous cytologic features, intraepithelial component and combination with other skin tumors, more frequently with squamous cell carcinoma [87–89]. Even though no marker has been reliably associated selectively with either virus-positive or -negative MCC, differences in immunohistochemical profiles are recognized. The classical panel (CK7-, CK20+, chromogranin+, synaptofisin+, NF+, and TTF1-), usually found in MCPyV-positive MCC (Fig. 19.2), is not commonly encountered in MCPyV- negative tumors. MCPyV-negative MCC, both in pure (neuroendocrine) and in combined (with SCC) form, may present reduced expression of CK20, chromogranin, and NF, with more frequent positivity for CK7 and TTF1 [74, 76, 88]. CD99 with dot-like expression pattern has appeared as a suitable biomarker of MCPyV positivity [74].

Recent evidences suggest a significant correlation of lymphocytes diffusely infiltrating tumor (brisk TILs) and high global PDL1 signal with MCPyV-positive tumors contrasted with virusnegative cases. MCPyV seems to convey greater immunogenicity to MCCs than the high mutational burden/greater neoantigen load of MCPyVnegative cases [72].

Methods for the detection of MCPyV in tumors include immunohistochemistry (IHC), PCR, RNA, or DNA in situ hybridization, and next-generation sequencing [20]. These assays vary significantly in sensitivity and specificity for detection of tumor-associated MCPyV [20].

The common approach used for MCPyV detection is represented by immunohistochemistry for the expression of T-antigen proteins.



Fig. 19.2 Classical immunohistochemical panel in MCPyV-positive MCC: (a) diffuse CK20 expression with cytoplasmic and dot-like pattern; (b) negativity for CK7; (c) diffuse chromogranin expression with pattern similar

to CK20; (d) NF expression with dot-like pattern; (e) high and diffuse nuclear expression of MCPyV; (f) negativity for TTF1
CM2B4 is a commercially available antibody to detect LT and has approximately 88% sensitivity and 94% specificity (compared to multimodal approaches combining PCR and IHC) [90].

Another method commonly used for the assessment of MCPyV is PCR. Quantitative PCR allows for the detection of number of copies of viral DNA integrated in a tumor. Copy number estimation by this method may range from extremely low (<1 MCPyV copy per 100 cells) to thousands of copies per cell [91].

A multimodal approach incorporating PCR and IHC results may be the most sensitive and specific method for confirming MCPyV status by commonly used assays [90].

19.6 Pathologic Report

The College of American Pathologists (CAP) provided a protocol for the examination of specimens from MCC patients. AJCC T-stage requirements include the description of maximum tumor diameter and tumor extension (invasion of fascia, muscle, cartilage, and bone) (as detailed below) [92]. Analysis from National Cancer Database (NCDB) supported the prognostic role of tumor size [93]. Furthermore, tumor diameter was significantly associated with nodal involvement and outcome [94]. A retrospective study showed that the tumor size and the deepest anatomic compartment involved by tumor inversely correlated with prognosis, at univariate analysis [95]. In accordance with these results, the NCBD confirmed the prognostic role of T4-stage category [93].

The CAP protocol completes the description of primary tumors with some other parameters such as:

- Tumor site.
- Margin status.
- Lymphovascular invasion.

In addition, other optional primary histopathologic features have been considered by CAP protocol, whose prognostic role is still debated:

- Tumor thickness.
- Mitotic rate.
- Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs).
- Tumor growth pattern.
- Presence of second malignancies.
- Specimen laterality.

19.6.1 Tumor Location

Tumor location has a prognostic role mostly in head and neck MCCs. Scalp tumors present more likely with distant metastasis, lip tumors have the highest rate of invasion into bone, cartilage, and muscle, and ear tumors have the highest rate of nodal metastasis [96].

19.6.2 Margins

The CAP protocol suggests recording the status of margins: for margins uninvolved, the distance (in millimeters, mm) of the carcinoma to the margins should be reported. When margins are involved, their location should be described [92]. A large experience on 6901 patients from National Cancer Database (NCDB) confirmed a relation between positive margins and poor survival across all stages (from I to III MCCs), at multivariate analysis [97]. Close or positive margins were correlated to local recurrence after surgery alone [98].

19.6.3 Lymphovascular Invasion

The identification of lymphovascular invasion was found to be strongly associated with sentinel node biopsy positivity [99] and had been related to worse prognosis [95].

19.6.4 Tumor Thickness

Tumor thickness should be recorded as for Breslow depth in melanomas, and it is defined as the distance in millimeters between the top of the granular layer of the epidermis and the deepest point of tumor invasion [92]. In a recent retrospective experience, tumor thickness and diameter were both moderately correlated, and each of them was independently associated with increased likelihood of positive sentinel node and worse overall survival [100].

19.6.5 Mitotic Index

In the CAP protocol, mitotic index, defined as the number of mitotic figures per square mm, is preferred than reporting the number per highpowered field (HPF) because the definition of HPF varies and depends on the technology available in each institution. No uniformly accepted threshold for low or high mitotic rate has been uniformly established [92]. The prognostic role of mitotic index varies across different studies with conflicting results [92, 101–103]. Nevertheless, some evidences suggest the correlation between mitotic rate, infiltrative growth pattern, and lymphovascular invasion [104] and between mitotic rate and sentinel node positivity [101].

19.6.6 Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes

Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) are defined as lymphocytes present at the interface of the tumor and the stroma. In the absence of specific accepted guidelines for the assessment of TILs, the CAP recommended to report TILs as is done in cutaneous melanomas [92]:

- TILs not identified: No lymphocytes present, or lymphocytes present but do not infiltrate tumor at all.
- TILs non-brisk: Lymphocytes infiltrate tumor only focally or not along the entire base of the vertical growth phase.
- TILs brisk: Lymphocytes diffusely infiltrate the entire base of the dermal tumor or the entire invasive component of the tumor.

Even though the literature produced conflicting data about the prognostic role of TILs [103], in more recent experience, the presence of TILs seemed to correlate with a better outcome [95, 105].

19.6.7 Tumor Growth Pattern

Two tumor growth patterns have been characterized by the CAP protocol: nodular and infiltrative [92]. Nodular pattern is defined as tumors with a relatively well-circumscribed interface, and it has been associated with a better prognosis [92, 95, 100]. Infiltrative pattern does not exploit a wellcircumscribed interface with the surrounding tissue, showing single cells, rows, trabeculae, or strands of cells infiltrating through dermal collagen or deeper soft tissue [92]. Retrospective experiences have documented the correlation between growth pattern and sentinel lymph node positivity with a higher risk for infiltrative variant [99, 101].

19.6.8 Second Malignancies

MCC has been observed contiguous to or intermingled with other skin malignancies, particularly cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, including Bowen disease [106]. A significant overexpression of p53 has been recently described in combined tumors [107]. Interestingly, MCPyV is not found in cases of MCC associated with cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, indicating that it does not play a part in these combined tumors [107].

19.6.9 Nodal Evaluation

The CAP protocol recommends to complete hematoxylin and eosin staining with immunohistochemistry to allow the identification of cancer cells in clinically occult lymph nodes [92]. Stains may include AE1/AE3, CK116, Cam 5.2, CD56, CK20, synaptophysin, and/or chromogranin [92].

19.7 Staging System

The AJCC eighth edition was based on an analysis of 9387 patients from the National Cancer Database (NCDB) diagnosed with MCC between 1998 and 2012. This classification provides important information for the management of prognosis of patients with MCC [93, 108].

19.7.1 T Category

T1 is defined as a tumor with a maximum clinical diameter not greater than 2 cm, T2 as tumor with a maximum clinical diameter greater than 2 cm but not greater than 5 cm, T3 as tumor with a maximum clinical diameter greater than 5 cm, and T4 as tumor that invade muscle, fascia, cartilage, or bone [108].

19.7.2 N Category

N stage is categorized as N1, defined as regional lymph node metastasis without in transit lesions; N2, as in transit lesions without node metastasis; N3, as combination of node metastasis and in transit lesions. N1 is further categorized as N1a for clinically occult metastasis or N1b for clinically or radiologically assessed nodal metastasis. In particular, N1a(sn) is defined as clinically occult lymph node metastasis detected only at sentinel node biopsy, while N1a is defined as clinically occult lymph node metastasis detected after lymph node dissection. For N1b, a histopathological assessment is necessary to confirm the lymph node involvement [108].

19.7.3 M Category

M0 is defined as the absence of metastatic spread, while M1 is tumor with distant metastasis. M1 is subcategorized as M1a for cutaneous/subcutaneous metastasis, M1b for lung metastasis, M1c for all the other metastatic sites other than M1a or M1b [108].

19.7.4 Stage

In eighth edition, both clinical and pathological staging groups are provided. Stage I is defined as T1 tumor without nodal or distant involvement. Stage II is subdivided into stage IIA (defined as T2 or T3 tumors) or stage IIB (defined as T4), both without nodal and distant disease.

Stage III recognizes two subgroups without distant metastasis: stage IIIA is defined as T1–4 with clinically occult nodal spread (N1a (sn) or N1a) or as unknown primary tumor (T0) with clinically/radiologically detected lymph node metastases (N1b); stage IIIB includes all the other categories (T1–4 N1b–3).

Stage IV is defined as any T and any N with M1 spread [108].

19.7.5 Prognosis

The AJCC eighth edition provides also a correlation between stages and clinical outcomes: survival data were based on the findings of an analysis of 9387 patients from the NCDB diagnosed with MCC between 1998 and 2012. Fiveyear overall survival (OS) estimates for local disease (n = 6138), regional metastatic disease (n = 2465), and distant metastatic disease (n = 784) were 50.6, 35.4, and 13.5%, respectively [93].

In patients with localized disease, without regional or distant metastatic spread, survival rate at 5 years was 55.8% in T1, 41.1% in T2–3, and 31.8% in T4.

Increasing tumor diameter was demonstrated to be predictive of poor survival (overall survival and disease-specific survival) and sentinel node involvement [100].

In patients with regional nodal involvement, the 5-year survival rate was found to be 39.7% for patients with clinically occult node metastasis (but pathologically positive lymph node), 26.8% for clinically detected nodal metastasis and 41.4% for patients in transit involvement. In the subgroup with occult primary lesions and clinically evident lymph node metastases, the proportion of 5-year surviving was 42.2% [93].

Clinical nodal staging that could hide a high rate of occult nodal disease is less reliable in the prediction of survival than pathological nodal staging. For the same specific T stage (from T1 to T4), a significant difference in OS was observed comparing clinical node negative patients (cN0) with pathological node negative patients (pN0). These observations led to widespread use of the sentinel node biopsy [93].

19.8 Clinical Features

MCC classically presents in older patients with asymptomatic, rapidly growing, red or violet cutaneous nodule, typically on sun-exposed skin of the head and neck or upper extremities [54]. Geographic areas at higher incidence of MCCs, such as Queensland Australia or New Zealand, are characterized by a similar pattern of clinical presentation: MCCs occur more commonly on the face and ears (35% of patients) in both sexes, with a predominance in male; women are more likely than men to have diagnosed MCCs on lower limbs [3, 5].

Current United States MCC incidence shows a major susceptibility of non-Hispanic white individuals in comparison to Hispanic, Blacks, or Asians [2, 109]. A dataset of 3431 MCCs from SEER registry diagnosed during 1973–2014 showed that age < 65 years, male sex, and tumor sites (trunk versus head-neck or limbs versus head-neck) were predictors of late-stage at diagnosis at multivariate analysis [110].

Heath et al. conducted a study on 195 patients with MCC to identify key features associated to MCC. They created the AEIOU acronym to aid clinicians in MCC diagnosis: *asymptomatic/lack* of tenderness, *expanding rapidly* (less than 3 months), *immune suppression*, *older than age* 50 years, and location on *UV*-exposed areas on a person with fair skin (Fig. 19.3). In this study, 89% of patients presented with three or more of the AEIOU criteria [54].



Fig. 19.3 A clinical example of Merkel cell carcinoma: a rapidly expanding red cutaneous lesion arose on sun-exposed area of the head, in an old man

About 15% of patients presents with MCC of unknown primary origin (MCC-UP) with a clinically positive nodal disease without an identifiable cutaneous primary lesion [111]. The diagnosis confirmation of MCC-UP requires immunohistochemical staining to exclude metastatic neuroendocrine carcinoma from other sites of primary origin such as the lung [73].

Several experiences postulated that MCC-UP could be characterized by a regression of the primary skin tumor, due to an immune-mediated mechanism. Recent evidences suggested that patients with nodal or metastatic MCC-UP had a better MCC-specific survival as compared to patients with known primary tumor (MCC-KP) [112]. Vandeven et al. recently explored the immune-mediated mechanisms underlined to MCC-UP: this cohort of patients had a higher MCPyV oncoprotein antibody titer and a higher mutational load in comparison to MCC-KP patients. These findings collectively suggest that enhanced immune function may underlie the development of MCC-UP through elimination of the primary skin lesion [112].



Fig. 19.4 PET-CT scan with fluorodeoxyglucose: these images refer to a cervical lymph node progression of Merkel cell carcinoma

19.9 Staging Assessment

Imaging studies are necessary to assess tumor extension, once a biopsy has confirmed the diagnosis of MCC. Computer tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and positron emission tomography (PET) with fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) has been validated to detect primary tumors, lymph node metastases, or distant metastases [63, 113] (Fig. 19.4).

These modalities may influence the subsequent management in stage II–III patients [114]. However, generalizable data are lacking about the sensitivity and specificity of imaging, as well as the utility of imaging in clinical management decisions and disease outcomes. Imaging is secondary to sentinel lymph node biopsy to stage patients, demonstrating a low sensitivity to detect nodal involvement [115].

19.10 Management of Local/ Locoregional Disease

Once a tumor biopsy has confirmed the diagnosis of MCC, a multidisciplinary approach is recommended to ensure an appropriate patient management.

Surgery is the primary treatment option for patients with localized MCC, also allowing an

appropriate staging of both the primary tumor and the locoregional nodes. Besides surgery, the lack of prospective clinical trials prevented the achievement of high-level clinical evidence. Therefore, the different strategies adopted, and the results obtained, as detailed in the subsequent paragraphs, are based upon the retrospective experiences available so far [63, 116].

19.10.1 Management of Primary Tumor

As mentioned previously, surgery of the primary MCC tumor is the treatment of choice and should be performed whenever possible. In a retrospective study on 2454 patients with local or locoregional MCCs from the NCDB, surgery as a part of the initial treatment improved overall survival as compared to definitive radiotherapy [117].

Several retrospective studies explored the correlation between surgical margin status (positive or negative) and local control and patient outcomes (progression free survival, recurrence-free survival, and overall survival), but conflicting results emerged [97, 118–123]. The variability of these results is due to confounding variables and in homogenous patient selection. As an example, in some studies, postoperative radiotherapy (RT) to the primary site could have led to a reduction of the risk of relapse, associated to residual disease [97, 118–123].

These limitations notwithstanding, negative surgical margins seemed to correlate with better local control and survival, in patients with stage I-II disease treated with surgery alone [124]. Furthermore, in one retrospective study, positive histologic (<1 mm) or close margins (1-9.9 mm) were directly related to local recurrence in patients who underwent narrow excision alone, without receiving adjuvant radiotherapy to primary site [98]. Accordingly, wide local excision (WLE) with 1-2 cm margin to the investing fascia of muscle or pericranium is recommended by the European and American guidelines [63, 125]. Safety margin is more intended to remove microsatellites than ensure clear margin of the primary tumor [125]. WLE is not always clinically feasible, due to unacceptable functional and cosmetic implications, especially when MCC involves the head and neck regions. Mohs micrographic surgery may represent a valid surgical approach, alternative to WLE and resulting in similar results in terms of survival and recurrence, even if limited by time and experience constraints [118–120, 125].

After surgery, patients may undergo observation or adjuvant RT of the primary site. Nowadays, no clear data exist about the role of adjuvant RT due to several limitations of the retrospective case series published: nonetheless, the American and European guidelines currently recommend considering adjuvant radiotherapy [63, 125]. NCCN guideline suggests some risk factors indicating the need for adjuvant RT to the tumor bed such as the presence of a primary tumor ≥ 1 cm, positive or limited surgical resection margins, lymphovascular invasion, a head and neck primary, and an immunocompromised host [63, 116].

Finally, radiation therapy may represent a definitive approach to treat primary lesions, for patients who are deemed inoperable or for patients who refuse surgery [126, 127].

19.10.2 Management of Regional Lymph Nodes

Before 1996, patients with a diagnosis of MCC underwent complete lymph node dissection. From 1996 onwards, sentinel lymph node biopsy (SLNB) has been routinely adopted in clinically node-negative patients, in place of extensive nodal approach [121, 128].

Lymphatic mapping is usually recommended to detect sentinel node [128]. Furthermore, a pooled patient-level metanalysis confirmed that SLNB had a higher sensitivity in detecting regional nodal disease, compared to computer tomography (CT) scan [115]. SLNB should be performed prior to or at the time of definitive surgery of the primary tumor, and SLN positivity has been reported for 30–38% of patients with clinically node-negative MCC [63].

SLNB is a staging tool that provides a better prognostic characterization, according to pathological stage groups [93].

Results from retrospective studies exploring the prognostic value of SLN status are still conflicting [129]. Some findings showed an association between SLN negativity and lower risk of recurrence [115, 130] and better survival [131]; conversely, some others provided opposite results [122, 129]. Nonetheless, information derived from SLNB guides the subsequent clinical decision [115].

A large retrospective cohort of 8044 MCC patients from NCDB assessed the relationship between primary tumor size and nodal positivity: the risk of nodal involvement was 14% for 0.5 cm tumors, 25% for 1.7 cm tumor (median sized) and >36% for ≥ 6 cm tumors [94]. Moreover, some pathologic features of primary MCC have been demonstrated to be predictive of SLNB positivity such as tumor diameter, thickness, mitotic rate, and infiltrative tumor growth [101].

Routine use of both hematoxylin-eosin staining and immunohistochemistry allows for the identification of micrometastases in the sentinel node [101]. CK20 immunostaining should be included in the pathologic assessment [101].

In an analysis on 721 MCCs, the overall falsenegative rate of SLNB was estimated to be 17%; nodal recurrence after a negative SLNB may be related to technical errors in localization and removal of sentinel nodes [129]. Contributing factors to technical failure include: the complex pattern of lymphatic drainage, the presence of multiple ipsilateral and contralateral sentinel node, the rapid tracer time transit, the close proximity of primary to sentinel nodes and primary site of head and neck [130]. Nodal recurrence after negative SLNB may also be classified as biological or pathological. A biological nodal failure is defined as a nodal relapse subsequent to a local or in transit relapse; pathological failure is derived from an incorrect classification of SLN as negative when metastasis is present [129].

The role of SLNB is less clear for primary lesions arising from head and neck region, since the lymphatic drainage is variable [129]. Nevertheless, SLNB should be considered in patients fits for surgery [63]. In a systematic review, patients with head and neck MCCs had a similar rate of SLNB positivity (about 30%) as those with non-head and neck location and a similar risk of false-negative findings [115, 130].

Lymph node dissection (LND) and/or radiotherapy (RT) to the nodal basin should be discussed in the presence of SLNB positive [63, 116]. It is currently unclear if LND could prolong survival in micro-metastatic sentinel node patients [129]. For patients undergoing complete lymph node dissection, the positivity of non-SLNs is predictive of poor overall survival and disease-free survival [49].

Retrospective experiences comparing node dissection to definitive radiotherapy in nodal MCCs showed conflicting results, in terms of survival advantage [97, 117]. Nowadays, it is unclear which treatment (nodal surgery or radiotherapy) is more effective for stage III MCCs, due to the absence of prospective studies. Accordingly, enrollment in clinical trials is the preferred choice in SLNB-positive patients [63, 116].

Finally, the American guideline suggests the role of adjuvant radiation therapy following

LND in the presence of extra-capsular extension or multiple nodes involvement, even for patients with clinically node-negative disease [63, 116]. Adjuvant RT is not indicated after LND for patients with low tumor burden on SLNB [63, 116].

For patients with clinically node negative, not candidate for SLNB, adjuvant radiotherapy to regional nodes should be considered. As supported by a French prospective trial, the addition of adjuvant nodal irradiation to wide local excision in stage I MCC resulted in a reduction of regional recurrence: a survival benefit was not demonstrated as a consequence of a premature interruption due to poor accrual and to the routinely introduction of SNLB [132].

In patients with clinically node positive, a fine-needle aspiration, or a core biopsy is recommended to confirm the diagnosis [63, 116]. Retrospective analyses confirmed a poorer outcome for patients with clinically positive nodes than those with clinically negative, but pathologically positive nodes [93, 122]. Surgical approach to nodal basin and/or radiotherapy (RT) should be considered in this setting, and the aggressiveness of nodal treatment should be commensurate to the extent of nodal disease [63, 116].

Even in the absence of prospective studies, NCCN panel members commonly recommend LND as the treatment of choice, while adjuvant RT is recommended after LND in the presence of extra-capsular extension or multiple nodes involvement [63, 116].

19.10.3 Radiotherapy

MCC is a radiosensitive tumor. The role of postoperative radiotherapy (RT) has been largely explored. Several retrospective studies have attempted to determine the benefit of adjuvant RT in terms of survival and reduction of local relapse, with conflicting results. The range of MCC stages, the variability of surgical approaches (SLNB, LND or none, differences in surgical margins), the differences in radiation's fields and dosing could have contribute to the opposite results, with some studies confirming a correlation between adjuvant RT and favorable outcome and others failing to show a significant correlation [97, 118, 121, 123, 131, 133–135].

In node-negative patients, no clear recommendation about the role of adjuvant RT emerged from the literature. It should be noted that the frequency of locoregional relapse in pathologic node-negative patients is estimated to be about 10% [135]. A prospective trial tried to demonstrate the role of adjuvant RT on draining basin, in stage I patients with clinically node negative: this trial was prematurely interrupted due to a drop in the recruitment attributed to the adoption of sentinel node dissection. The preliminary results revealed a significant reduction of locoregional relapse in the radiation therapy arm without a survival benefit, in patients not addressed to sentinel node biopsy [132].

Several retrospective studies tried to explore the association between postoperative RT and relapse/survival in pathologic node-negative patients (stage I–II). Unfortunately, these results were inconsistent: some studies confirmed that adjuvant radiotherapy could lead to an improvement in survival in comparison to surgery alone in stage I–II patients [97, 123, 136], while others did not confirm these results [133, 135]. Noteworthy, radiation therapy was not standardized across the studies, and it could involve the primary site, the nodal basin, or both.

As suggested by NCCN guideline, if SLNB is negative, observation of the nodal basin is appropriate [116]. Patients who are at high risk of disease progression may be considered for RT to the nodal basin [116]. These include patients with profound immunosuppression and those with factors associated with increased risk of falsenegative SLNB: technical failure (e.g., removal of non-sentinel nodes secondary to a rapid radiotracer transit), anatomic features (e.g., close proximity of primary MCCs to the SLN or previous history of surgery including WLE), and location (head and neck region could be associated to aberrant lymph node drainage and frequent presence of multiple SLN basins) [130]. In stage III patients, retrospective studies about the role of postoperative RT showed conflicting results. The largest of these experiences used data from MCC cases in the NCDB, exploring the role of adjuvant radiotherapy in stage III patients. This analysis showed no survival benefit of adjuvant RT in nodal MCCs [97]. The authors hypothesized that, in this cohort of patients, survival was mostly driven by the presence of subclinical distant metastases [97].

In contrast to these results, in a retrospective study from the Moffitt Cancer Center adjuvant radiotherapy was associated with an improved local control and disease specific survival, in clinically or pathologic node-positive patients but not in node-negative patients [133]. In particular, CLND was performed in 30 patients with SLN positivity (57.7%) and in 17 patients with clinically nodal involvement (100%) [133].

In conclusion, as detailed by the American and European guidelines, adjuvant RT to the lymphatic drainage area cannot be recommended in general after therapeutic node dissection but could be discussed in a multidisciplinary approach to improve local disease control mainly in the case of extracapsular nodal involvement or multiple nodes involvement [63, 125].

19.10.4 Chemotherapy

The role of adjuvant chemotherapy (CT) is uncertain and nowadays not recommended for patients with localized disease.

No randomized trials explored the role of postoperative chemotherapy; most of the data came from retrospective experiences where chemotherapy was not associated to a survival benefit, even in the presence of nodal disease [97, 134, 137]. In a large trial including 6908 stage I–II–III MCC patients, neither chemotherapy alone nor chemoradiotherapy was associated to a survival benefit [97].

The prospective TROG 96:07 study evaluated the role of chemoradiotherapy in a selected group of 53 patients, classified at higher risk of recurrence (based upon a recurrence after initial treatment, involved nodes, primary tumor size greater than 1 cm, gross residual disease after surgery, or occult primary with nodes). Treatments consisted of RT and synchronous carboplatin and etoposide. Wide surgical clearance of the primary site was not required or recommended, and having nodal disease resected or positive margins re-excised were not prerequisites. The 3-year overall survival, locoregional control, and distant control rates were 76, 75, and 76%, respectively [138]. However, a comparison of these data with those of a historical control group treated without CT suggested that the adjuvant chemotherapy did not affect the overall survival compared with standard local regional approaches consisting of surgery plus RT [139].

The most relevant study supporting the role of adjuvant chemoradiotherapy was a retrospective evaluation on 4815 patients with head and neck MCCs from NCDB [134]. Chemoradiotherapy was associated with improved overall survival over adjuvant RT alone, in patients with positive margins, male sex, and tumor size more than 3 cm. Both chemoradiotherapy and radiotherapy alone provided a survival benefit over surgery, as well. Furthermore, postoperative chemotherapy alone was associated with decreased OS in comparison to surgery alone. These results suggested the potential role of adjuvant chemoradiotherapy, but not chemotherapy alone, in patients at higher risk of relapse [134].

Noteworthy, the immunosuppressive effects of chemotherapy may interfere with the relevant role of the immune system against MCC. In Javelin Merkel 200 trial, patients exposed to adjuvant chemotherapy had a lower response to avelumab in comparison to those who received avelumab as first-line treatment [140, 141].

Recent evidences about the role of immunomodulating agents in metastatic MCCs have led to explore the same strategy in the postoperative setting: several trials are evaluating the role of adjuvant immunotherapy, using nivolumab (NCT02196961; NCT03798639), pembrolizumab (NCT03712605) or avelumab (NCT03271372; NCT04291885).

19.11 Recurrent and Metastatic Disease

The management of patients with recurrent or metastatic disease should require a multidisciplinary evaluation to better select treatments. Instrumental assessment should be ruled out to stage the extension of the disease.

Systemic therapy is often the treatment of choice. Radiotherapy or surgery may be considered in selected cases for primary and recurrent disease (oligometastatic disease or symptomatic lesions) [63, 116].

19.11.1 Systemic Treatment: From Chemotherapy to Immunotherapy

Historical systemic approach in metastatic MCC consisted of chemotherapy, even if no randomized trial confirmed its role in this setting. Cisplatin/carboplatin plus etoposide was the initial treatment option; alternative regimens included cyclophosphamide plus doxorubicin and vincristine [142]. As documented in retrospective experiences, despite high response rates of chemotherapy as first-line treatment (ranging between about 50 and 60%), median duration of complete and partial responses ranged from 6 to 3 months, respectively; overall survival benefit was not shown [143, 144]. These results suggested a rapid emergence of chemoresistance. Moreover, treatment toxicities such as febrile neutropenia, sepsis, fatigue, nausea, vomiting, especially in older patients affected treatment tolerability and compliance [144].

Several experiences evidenced the relation between immunosuppression and MCC oncogenesis supporting the role of immunotherapy as a promising approach. Merkel cell polyomavirus is present in 80% of tumors, and the integration of the virus into the host cell DNA favors tumor proliferation. In virus-negative tumors, the ultraviolet radiation exposure is associated to high mutation burden, necessary to the oncogenesis.



Fig. 19.5 Macrophage expression of PDL1 in Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC). Serial sections are from there cases of Merkel cell carcinoma stained for PDL1 (clone E1L3N, 1:200, Cell Signaling Technology), CD163 (clone10D6, 1:50, Thermo Scientific) and CD3 (clone

These mechanisms heighten the immune response, due to the presence of viral antigens in VP-MCCs or to the increase of neoantigens in VN-MCCs.

Programmed cell death ligand 1 (PDL1) was discovered to be expressed by MCC cells and by the adjacent immune system cells (Fig. 19.5). A significant association was observed between polyomavirus infection, inflammatory response and tumor cell PDL1 expression [145]. Moreover, specimens with PDL1-positive tumor cells were associated with immune infiltrate. These findings suggested that a local tumor-specific and a virusspecific immune response drove tumor PDL1 expression [145].

LN10, 1:70, Leica Biosystem) and revealed with Novolink Polymer (Dako) followed by DAB. Case #1 (a-c) represent a cold MCC lacking PDL1 expression, whereas case #2 (d-f) and case #3 (g-i) contain PDL1

Nowadays, immunotherapy represents the preferred first-line treatment for selected patients with advanced MCC, while chemotherapy retains a role in patients who progressed to immunotherapy.

Avelumab is a monoclonal antibody against programmed cell death ligand 1 (anti-PDL1). The phase II Javelin Merkel 200 trial aimed to demonstrate the efficacy of avelumab in MCC patients progressing after at least to one previous line of chemotherapy [141]. This prospective and multicenter study enrolled stage IV patients with metastatic MCC, refractory to chemotherapy. Systemic treatment with corticosteroids or immunosuppressive agents was not permitted. Patients with HIV, immunosuppression, hematological malignances, or solid organ transplant were excluded. Moreover, patient selection was not based on PDL1 expression or MCPyV status. The study enrolled 88 metastatic patients: 41% of them had received at least two or more lines of chemotherapy and visceral disease was assessed in 53% of patients. Samples were assessed for PDL1 and MCPyV: 79% [58] were PDL1positive while 60% [46] were MCPyV positive. The primary endpoint was treatment response [141]. With a minimum follow-up of 2 years (median follow-up of 29.2 months), there were 29 objective responses (33%) with 10 complete response (11%) [146]. Clinical activity was demonstrated regardless of the tumor expression of PD-L1 and MCPyV status. Two-year progression-free survival (PFS) was 26% while 2-year OS was 36% [146, 147]. Treatmentrelated adverse events occurred in 76% [67] patients, with grade 3 toxicity reported in 11.4% [10] of patients. No grade 4–5 toxicity was registered and 17% of patients had G1-2 infusion reaction; 2% of patient permanently discontinued treatment due to adverse events [146, 147].

Javelin Merkel 200 part B was a prospective trial of first-line treatment [140, 148]. The study included untreated stage IV MCC patients. In a pre-planned analysis on 29 patients with at least 3 months of follow-up, objective response rate (ORR) was 62.1%, with 14 of 18 responses ongoing at the time of analysis (77.8%). Among 39 patients assessed for safety, G3 treatment-related adverse events (TRAE) toxicity was detected in eight patients (20.5%), and no G4-5 TRAE were documented [140]. The primary analysis for part B of this trial after ≥ 15 months of follow-up in the full patient population showed that the median OS was 20.3 months (95% CI: 12.4 months to not estimable) and the 12-month OS rate was 60% (95% CI: 50–68%) [148].

Important data are also available from expanded access program. Between December 2015 and March 2019, 494 patients received avelumab: ORR was 46.7% and DOR was 71.2% [149].

These results have led to the approval of avelumab for the treatment of metastatic MCC.

Pembrolizumab is an anti-PD1 receptor agent demonstrated to be also effective in the treatment of MCCs. A phase II trial of 50 treatment-naïve patients with stage IIIB unresectable or stage IV explored the role of pembrolizumab (2 mg/kg every 3 weeks) for up to 2 years [150, 151]. After a median follow-up of 14.9 months, ORR was 56% (12 complete responses and 16 partial responses). The Kaplan-Meir estimation of duration of response was 79% at 24 months. No statistical difference was observed in response rates based upon polyomavirus status (53% in VN-MCCs and 59% in VP-MCCs) and on PDL1 expression. Median PFS was 16.8 months, and 2-year PFS was 48.3%; median OS had not been reached, and 2-year OS was 68.7%. TRAEs of any grade were detected in 48 patients (96%), while G3 or greater in 14 patients (28%). Seven patients (14%) discontinued treatment due to adverse events and one death due to treatment toxicity [151].

Recently, the effects of nivolumab, an anti-PD1 agent, have been explored in a phase I–II study (Checkmate 358). Twenty-five patients who had received ≤ 2 treatment lines were enrolled and candidate to nivolumab (240 mg every 2 weeks). ORR was 68% (in 22 evaluable responses): in treatment-naïve patients, responses were 71%, while in patients with 1–2 previous treatment responses were 63% (without differences in both VP and VN-MCC). Any grade TRAEs were registered in 68% of patients and G3–4 in 20% of patients [152].

19.11.2 Target Agents

Different target agents have been explored in the metastatic setting, without a clear evidence of efficacy. Imatinib, pazopanib, and cabozantinib have been documented in case reports, with a limited experience [153–156].

MCC expresses somatostatin receptors, and the efficacy of somatostatin analogs (octreotide and lanreotide) has been explored, as well. Responses have been documented in case reports; however, a formal prospective clinical trial has never been conducted [156–158]. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy could also have a role in this setting of disease, even if large experiences have not been reported, till now [156, 159].

References

- 1. Toker C. Trabecular carcinoma of the skin. Arch Derm. 1972;105(1):107–10.
- Paulson KG, Park SY, Vandeven NA, Lachance K, Thomas H, Chapuis AG, Harms KL, Thompson JA, Bhatia S, Stang ANP. Merkel cell carcinoma: current United States incidence and projected increases based on changing demographics. Am Acad Dermatol. 2018;78(3):457–63.
- Lee Y, Chao P, Coomarasamy C, Mathy JA. Epidemiology and survival of Merkel cell carcinoma in New Zealand: a population-based study between 2000 and 2015 with international comparison. Australas J Dermatol. 2019;60(4):e284–91.
- Girschik J, Thorn K, Beer TW, Heenan PJ, Fritschi L. Merkel cell carcinoma in Western Australia: a population-based study of incidence and survival. Br J Dermatol. 2011;165(5):1051–7.
- Youlden DR, Soyer HP, Youl PH, Fritschi L, Baade PD. Incidence and survival for Merkel cell carcinoma in Queensland, Australia, 1993-2010. JAMA Dermatol. 2014;150(8):864–72.
- 6. Freeman MBB, Holman DM, Qin J, Lunsford NB. Merkel cell carcinoma incidence, trends, and survival rates among adults aged ≥50 years from United States Cancer Statistics. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2019;80(4):1154–6.
- Reichgelt BA, Visser O. Epidemiology and survival of Merkel cell carcinoma in the Netherlands. A population-based study of 808 cases in 1993-2007. Eur J Cancer. 2011;47(4):579–85.
- Zaar O, Gillstedt M, Lindelöf B, Wennberg-Larkö AM, Paoli J. Merkel cell carcinoma incidence is increasing in Sweden. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2016;30(10):1708–13.
- Fondain M, Dereure O, Uhry Z, Guizard AV, Woronoff AS, Colonna M, et al. Merkel cell carcinoma in France: a registries-based, comprehensive epidemiological survey. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2018;32(8):1292–6.
- Lemos BD, Storer BE, Iyer JG, Phillips JL, Bichakjian CK, Fang LC, Johnson TM, Liegeois-Kwon NJ, Otley CC, Paulson KG, Ross MI, Yu SS, Zeitouni NC, Byrd DR, Sondak VK, Gershenwald JE, Sober AJ, Nghiem P. Pathologic nodal evaluation improves prognostic accuracy in Merkel cell carcinoma: analysis of 5,823 cases as the basis of the first consensus staging system for this cancer. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2010;63(5):751–61.
- 11. Kervarrec T, Samimi M, Guyétant S, Sarma B, Chéret J, Blanchard E, et al. Histogenesis of Merkel

cell carcinoma: a comprehensive review. Front Oncol. 2019;9:1–13.

- Schadendorf D, Lebbé C, zur Hausen A, Avril MF, Hariharan S, Bharmal M, et al. Merkel cell carcinoma: epidemiology, prognosis, therapy and unmet medical needs. Eur J Cancer. 2017;71:53–69.
- Buck CB, Van Doorslaer K, Peretti A, Geoghegan EM, Tisza MJ, An P, et al. The ancient evolutionary history of polyomaviruses. PLoS Pathog. 2016;12(4):1–26.
- Gross L. A filterable agent, recovered from Ak leukemic extracts, causing salivary gland carcinoma in C3H mice (20237). Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1952;83(2):414–21.
- Holländerová D, Raslová H, Blangy D, Forstová JBM. Interference of mouse polyomavirus with the c-myc gene and its product in mouse mammary adenocarcinomas. Int J Oncol. 2003;23(2):333–41.
- Schowalter RM, Pastrana DV, Pumphrey KA, Moyer AL, Buck CB. Merkel cell polyomavirus and two previously unknown polyomaviruses are chronically shed from human skin. Cell Host Microbe. 2010;7(6):509–15.
- Mertz KD, Junt T, Schmid M, Pfaltz M, Kempf W. Inflammatory monocytes are a reservoir for Merkel cell polyomavirus. J Invest Dermatol. 2010;130(4):1146–51.
- JA DC. Merkel cell polyomavirus and Merkel cell carcinoma. Philos Trans R Soc L B Biol Sci. 2017;372(1732):20160276.
- Kwun HJ, Wendzicki JA, Shuda Y, Moore PS, Chang Y. Merkel cell polyomavirus small T antigen induces genome instability by E3 ubiquitin ligase targeting. Oncogene. 2017;36(49):6784–92.
- Harms PW, Harms KL, Moore PS, Decaprio JA, Nghiem P, Wong MKK, et al. The biology and treatment of Merkel cell carcinoma: current understanding and research priorities. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2018;15(12):763–76.
- Ma JE, Brewer JD. Merkel cell carcinoma in immunosuppressed patients. Cancers. 2014;6(3):1328–50.
- Feng H, Shuda M, Chang Y, Moore PS. Clonal integration of a polyomavirus in human Merkel cell carcinoma. Science. 2008;319(5866):1096–100.
- Bouvard V, Baan RA, Grosse Y, Lauby-Secretan B, El Ghissassi F, Benbrahim-Tallaa L, et al. Carcinogenicity of malaria and of some polyomaviruses. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(4):339–40.
- 24. Santos-Juanes J, Fernández-Vega I, Fuentes N, Galache C, Coto-Segura P, Vivanco B, et al. Merkel cell carcinoma and Merkel cell polyomavirus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Dermatol. 2015;173(1):42–9.
- 25. Garneski KM, Warcola AH, Feng Q, Kiviat NB, Leonard JH, Nghiem P. Merkel cell polyomavirus is more frequently present in North American than Australian Merkel cell carcinoma tumors. J Invest Dermatol. 2009;129(1):246–8.
- Mogha A, Fautrel A, Mouchet N, Guo N, Corre S, Adamski H, et al. Merkel cell polyomavirus small T

antigen mRNA level is increased following in vivo UV-radiation. PLoS One. 2010;5(7):1–7.

- Schwarz T, Beissert S. Milestones in photoimmunology. J Invest Dermatol. 2013;133(E1):7–10.
- Erstad DJ, Cusack JC. Mutational analysis of Merkel cell carcinoma. Cancers. 2014;6(4):2116–36.
- 29. Shahzad N, Shuda M, Gheit T, Kwun HJ, Cornet I, Saidj D, et al. The T antigen locus of Merkel cell polyomavirus downregulates human toll-like receptor 9 expression. J Virol. 2013;87(23): 13009–19.
- Arora R, Shuda M, Guastafierro A, Feng H, Toptan T, Tolstov Y, et al. Survivin is a therapeutic target in Merkel cell carcinoma. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(133):19–20.
- Cheng J, Rozenblatt-Rosen O, Paulson KG, Nghiem P, DeCaprio JA. Merkel cell polyomavirus large T antigen has growth-promoting and inhibitory activities. J Virol. 2013;87(11):6118–26.
- 32. Houben R, Dreher C, Angermeyer S, Borst A, Utikal J, Haferkamp S, et al. Mechanisms of p53 restriction in Merkel cell carcinoma cells are independent of the Merkel cell polyoma virus T antigens. J Invest Dermatol. 2013;133(10):2453–60.
- Welcker M, Clurman BE. FBW7 ubiquitin ligase: a tumour suppressor at the crossroads of cell division, growth and differentiation. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008;8(2):83–93.
- 34. Kwun HJ, Shuda M, Feng H, Camacho CJ, Moore PSCY. Merkel cell polyomavirus small T antigen controls viral replication and oncoprotein expression by targeting the cellular ubiquitin ligase SCFFbw7. Cell Host Microbe. 2013;14(2):125–35.
- Shuda M, Kwun HJ, Feng H, Chang Y, Moore PS. Human Merkel cell polyomavirus small T antigen is an oncoprotein targeting the 4E-BP1 translation regulator. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(9):3623–34.
- 36. Abdul-Sada H, Müller M, Mehta R, Toth R, Arthur JSC, Whitehouse A, et al. The PP4R1 sub-unit of protein phosphatase PP4 is essential for inhibition of NF-κB by Merkel polyomavirus small tumour antigen. Oncotarget. 2017;8(15):25418–32.
- 37. Touzé A, Le Bidre E, Laude H, Fleury MJJ, Cazal R, Arnold F, et al. High levels of antibodies against Merkel cell polyomavirus identify a subset of patients with Merkel cell carcinoma with better clinical outcome. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(12):1612–9.
- Knepper TC, Montesion M, Russell JS, Sokol ES, Frampton GM, Miller VA, et al. The genomic landscape of Merkel cell carcinoma and clinicogenomic biomarkers of response to immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2019;25(19):5961–71.
- 39. Paik JY, Hall G, Clarkson A, Lee L, Toon C, Colebatch A, et al. Immunohistochemistry for Merkel cell polyomavirus is highly specific but not sensitive for the diagnosis of Merkel cell carcinoma in the Australian population. Hum Pathol. 2011;42(10):1385–90.
- 40. Banks PD, Sandhu S, Gyorki DE, Johnston ML, Rischin D. Recent insights and advances in the man-

agement of Merkel cell carcinoma. J Oncol Pract. 2016;12(7):637–46.

- Granstein RD, Matsui MS. UV radiation-induced immunosuppression and skin cancer. Cutis. 2004;74(5 suppl):4–9.
- 42. Rangwala S, Tsai KY. Roles of the immune system in skin cancer. Br J Dermatol. 2011;165(5):953–65.
- Noonan F, De Fabo EC. UV immunosuppression and skin cancer. J Invest Dermatol. 1998;111(4):706–7.
- 44. Popp S, Waltering S, Herbst C, Moll I, Boukamp P. UV-B-type mutations and chromosomal imbalances indicate common pathways for the development of Merkel and skin squamous cell carcinomas. Int J Cancer. 2002;99(3):352–60.
- Damian DL, Matthews YJ, Phan TA, Halliday GM. An action spectrum for ultraviolet radiationinduced immunosuppression in humans. Br J Dermatol. 2011;164(3):657–9.
- 46. Goh G, Walradt T, Markarov V, Blom A, Riaz N, Doumani R, et al. Mutational landscape of MCPyV-positive and MCPyV-negative Merkel cell carcinomas with implications for immunotherapy. Oncotarget. 2016;7(3):3403–15.
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SAJR. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature. 2014;500(7463):415–21.
- 48. Harms PW, Collie AM, Hovelson DH, Cani AK, Verhaegen ME, Patel RM, Fullen DR, Omata K, Dlugosz AA, Tomlins SABS. Next generation sequencing of cytokeratin 20-negative Merkel cell carcinoma reveals ultraviolet-signature mutations and recurrent TP53 and RB1 inactivation. Mod Pathol. 2016;29(3):240–8.
- 49. Lee JS, Durham AB, Bichakjian CK, Harms PW, Hayman JA, McLean SA, et al. Completion lymph node dissection or radiation therapy for sentinel node metastasis in Merkel cell carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2019;26(2):386–94.
- Harms PW, Vats P, Verhaegen ME, Robinson DR, Wu YM, Dhanasekaran SM, et al. The distinctive mutational spectra of polyomavirus-negative merkel cell carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2015;75(18):3720–7.
- Ventura MT, Casciaro M, Gangemi S, Buquicchio R. Immunosenescence in aging: between immune cells depletion and cytokines up-regulation. Clin Mol Allergy. 2017;15(21):1–8.
- 52. Becker JC, Eigentler T, Frerich B, Gambichler T, Grabbe S, Höller U, et al. S2k guidelines for Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC, neuroendocrine carcinoma of the skin)—update 2018. J Dtsch Dermatol Ger. 2019;17(5):562–76.
- Clarke CA, Robbins HA, Tatalovich Z, Lynch CF, Pawlish KS, Finch JL, et al. Risk of Merkel cell carcinoma after solid organ transplantation. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2015;107(2):1–9.
- 54. Heath M, Jaimes N, Lemos B, Mostaghimi A, Wang LC, Peñas PF, et al. Clinical characteristics of Merkel cell carcinoma at diagnosis in 195 patients: the AEIOU features. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2008;58(3):375–81.

- Goldstein RH, DeCaprio JA. Merkel cell carcinoma in the HIV-1/AIDS patient. Cancer Treat Res. 2019;177:211–29.
- Paulson KG, Iyer JG, Blom A, Margaret Warton E, Sokil M, Yelistratova L, et al. Systemic immune suppression predicts diminished Merkel cell carcinomaspecific survival independent of stage. J Invest Dermatol. 2013;133(3):642–6.
- Engels EA, Frisch M, Goedert JJ, Biggar RJ. Merkel cell carcinoma and HIV infection for personal use. Lancet. 2002;359:497–8.
- Mittal A, Colegio OR. Skin cancers in organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(10): 2509–30.
- Tadmor T, Aviv A, Polliack A. Merkel cell carcinoma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia and other lymphoproliferative disorders: an old bond with possible new viral ties. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(2):250–6.
- Davidson A, Diamond B. Advances in immunology: autoimmune diseases. N Engl J Med. 2001;345(5):340–50.
- 61. Rindi G, Klimstra DS, Abedi-Ardekani B, Asa SL, Bosman FT, Brambilla E, et al. A common classification framework for neuroendocrine neoplasms: an International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) and World Health Organization (WHO) expert consensus proposal. Mod Pathol. 2018;31(12):1770–86.
- Jaeger T, Ring J, Andres C. Histological, immunohistological, and clinical features of Merkel cell carcinoma in correlation to Merkel cell polyomavirus status. J Skin Cancer. 2012;2012:1–5.
- Bichakjian CK, Olencki T, Aasi SZ, Alam M, Andersen JS, Blitzblau R, et al. Merkel cell carcinoma, version 1.2018. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2018;16(6):742–74.
- 64. Jour G, Aung PP, Rozas-Muñoz E, Curry JL, Prieto V, Ivan D. Intraepidermal Merkel cell carcinoma: a case series of a rare entity with clinical follow up. J Cutan Pathol. 2017;44(8):684–91.
- Miraflor AP, LeBoit PE, Hirschman SA. Intraepidermal Merkel cell carcinoma with pagetoid Bowen's disease. J Cutan Pathol. 2016;43(11): 921–6.
- Ferringer T, Rogers HC, Metcalf JS. Merkel cell carcinoma in situ. J Cutan Pathol. 2005;32(2):162–5.
- Wong HH, Wang J. Merkel cell carcinoma. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010;134(11):1711–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/21043828
- Koljonen V. Merkel cell carcinoma. World J Surg Oncol. 2006;4:1–11.
- 69. Bichakjian CK, Lowe L, Lao CD, Sandler HM, Bradford CR, Johnson TM, et al. Merkel cell carcinoma: critical review with guidelines for multidisciplinary management. Cancer. 2007;110(1):1–12.
- Jürgen C. Becker, Andreas Stang, James A. DeCaprio, Lorenzo Cerroni, Celeste Lebbé, Michael Veness, Paul Nghiem. Merkel cell carcinoma. Nat Rev Dis Prim. 2018;1–41.

- Gaitskell K, Nassar S, Ibrahim H. Merkel cell carcinoma with divergent differentiation. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2020;45(3):327–32.
- Walsh NMG. Primary neuroendocrine (Merkel cell) carcinoma of the skin: morphologic diversity and implications thereof. Hum Pathol. 2001;32(7):680–9.
- 73. Cheuk W, Kwan MY, Suster S, Chan JKC. Immunostaining for thyroid transcription factor 1 and cytokeratin 20 aids the distinction of small cell carcinoma from Merkel cell carcinoma, but not from pulmonary from extrapulmonary small cell carcinomas. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2001;125(2):228–31.
- 74. Kervarrec T, Tallet A, Miquelestorena-Standley E, Houben R, Schrama D, Gambichler T, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of a panel of immunohisto-chemical and molecular markers to distinguish Merkel cell carcinoma from other neuroendocrine carcinomas. Mod Pathol. 2019;32(4):499–510.
- Miner AG, Patel RM, Wilson DA, Procop GW, Minca EC, Fullen DR, et al. Cytokeratin 20-negative Merkel cell carcinoma is infrequently associated with the Merkel cell polyomavirus. Mod Pathol. 2015;28(4):498–504.
- Reddi DM, Puri PK. Expression of focal TTF-1 expression in a case of CK7/CK20-positive Merkel cell carcinoma. J Cutan Pathol. 2013;40(4):431–3.
- Pulitzer M. Merkel cell carcinoma. Surg Pathol Clin. 2017;10(2):399–408.
- Schmidt U, Müller U, Metz KA, Leder LD. Cytokeratin and neurofilament protein staining in Merkel cell carcinoma of the small cell type and small cell carcinoma of the lung. Am J Dermatopathol. 1998;20(4):346–51.
- 79. Gambichler T, Mohtezebsade S, Wieland U, Silling S, Höh AK, Dreißigacker M, et al. Prognostic relevance of high atonal homolog-1 expression in Merkel cell carcinoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2017;143(1):43–9.
- Stanoszek LM, Chan MP, Palanisamy N, Carskadon S, Siddiqui J, Patel RM, et al. Neurofilament is superior to cytokeratin 20 in supporting cutaneous origin for neuroendocrine carcinoma. Histopathology. 2019;74(3):504–13.
- Leblebici C, Yeni B, Savli TC, Aydın Ö, Güneş P, Cinel L, et al. A new immunohistochemical marker, insulinoma-associated protein 1 (INSM1), for Merkel cell carcinoma: evaluation of 24 cases. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2019;40:53–8.
- Rajagopalan A, Browning D, Salama S. CD99 expression in Merkel cell carcinoma: a case series with an unusual paranuclear dot-like staining pattern. J Cutan Pathol. 2013;40(1):19–24.
- Fernandez-Flores A, Suarez-Peñaranda JM. Expression of MUC1 by merkel cell carcinoma is not dependent on Merkel cell polyomavirus infection: to the editor. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2016;24(2):e9–10.
- 84. Kolhe R, Reid MD, Lee JR, Cohen C, Ramalingam P. Immunohistochemical expression of PAX5 and TdT by Merkel cell carcinoma and pulmonary small

cell carcinoma: a potential diagnostic pitfall but useful discriminatory marker. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2013;6(2):142–7.

- Ames HM, Bichakjian CK, Liu GY, Oravecz-Wilson KI, Fullen DR, Verhaegen ME, et al. Huntingtininteracting protein 1: a Merkel cell carcinoma marker that interacts with c-Kit. J Invest Dermatol. 2011;131(10):2113–20.
- Portilla N, Alzate JP, Sierra FA, Parra-Medina R. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the survival and clinicopathological features of p63 expression in Merkel cell carcinoma. Australas J Dermatol. 2020;61(3):e276–82.
- Kuwamoto S, Higaki H, Kanai K, Iwasaki T, Sano H, Nagata K, et al. Association of Merkel cell polyomavirus infection with morphologic differences in Merkel cell carcinoma. Hum Pathol. 2011;42(5):632–40.
- Pasternak S, Carter MD, Ly TY, Doucette S, Walsh NM. Immunohistochemical profiles of different subsets of Merkel cell carcinoma. Hum Pathol. 2018;82:232–8.
- Nagase K, Kimura H, Yonekura N, Koba S, Inoue T, Narisawa Y. Large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma of the skin: ultrastructural and immunohistochemical findings. J Cutan Pathol. 2016;43(11): 1067–73.
- Moshiri AS, Doumani R, Yelistratova L, Blom A, Lachance K, Shinohara MM, et al. Polyomavirusnegative Merkel cell carcinoma: a more aggressive subtype based on analysis of 282 cases using multimodal tumor virus detection. J Invest Dermatol. 2017;137(4):819–27.
- Rodig SJ, Cheng J, Wardzala J, DoRosario A, Scanlon JJ, Laga AC, et al. Improved detection suggests all Merkel cell carcinomas harbor Merkel polyomavirus. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(12):4645–53.
- 92. Smoller BR, Bichakjian C, Brown JA, Crowson AN, Divaris D, Frishberg DP, Gao L, Gershenwald J, McNiff JM, Nghiem P, Prieto VG. Protocol for the examination of specimens from patients with Merkel cell carcinoma of the skin. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010;134(3):341–4.
- 93. Harms KL, Healy MA, Nghiem P, Sober AJ, Johnson TM, Bichakjian CK, et al. Analysis of prognostic factors from 9387 Merkel cell carcinoma cases forms the basis for the new 8th edition AJCC staging system. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(11):3564–71.
- 94. Iyer JG, Storer BE, Paulson KG, Lemos B, Phillips JL, Bichakjian CK, Zeitouni N, Gershenwald JE, Sondak V, Otley CC, Yu SS, Johnson TM, Liegeois NJ, Byrd D, Sober A, Nghiem P. Relationships among primary tumor size, number of involved nodes, and survival for 8044 cases of Merkel cell carcinoma. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2014;70(4):637–43.
- Andea AA, Coit DG, Amin B, Busam KJ. Merkel cell carcinoma: histologic features and prognosis. Cancer. 2008;113(9):2549–58.
- 96. Smith VA, MaDan OP, Lentsch EJ. Tumor location is an independent prognostic factor in head and neck

Merkel cell carcinoma. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2012;146(3):403–8.

- 97. Bhatia S, Storer BE, Iyer JG, Moshiri A, Parvathaneni U, Byrd D, et al. Adjuvant radiation therapy and chemotherapy in Merkel cell carcinoma: survival analyses of 6908 cases from the National Cancer Data Base. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2016;108(9):1–9.
- Harrington C, Kwan W. Radiotherapy and conservative surgery in the locoregional management of Merkel cell carcinoma: the British Columbia Cancer Agency experience. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(2):573–8.
- 99. Conic RRZ, Ko J, Saridakis S, Damiani G, Funchain P, Vidimos A, et al. Sentinel lymph node biopsy in Merkel cell carcinoma: predictors of sentinel lymph node positivity and association with overall survival. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2019;81(2):364–72.
- 100. Smith FO, Yue B, Marzban SS, Walls BL, Carr M, Jackson S, et al. Both tumor depth and diameter are predictive of sentinel lymph node status and survival in Merkel cell carcinoma. Cancer. 2015;121(18):3252–60.
- 101. Schwartz JL, Griffith KA, Lowe L, Wong SL, McLean SA, Fullen DR, et al. Features predicting sentinel lymph node positivity in Merkel cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(8):1036–41.
- 102. Skelton HG, Smith KJ, Hitchcock CL, McCarthy WF, Lupton GP, Graham JH. Merkel cell carcinoma: analysis of clinical, histologic, and immunohistologic features of 132 cases with relation to survival. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1997;37(5 pt 1):734–9.
- Mott RT, Smoller BR, Morgan MB. Merkel cell carcinoma: a clinicopathologic study with prognostic implications. J Cutan Pathol. 2004;31(3):217–23.
- 104. Husein-ElAhmed H, Ramos-Pleguezuelos F, Ruiz-Molina I, Civico-Amat V, Solis-García E, Galán-Gutierrez M, et al. Histological features, p53, c-Kit, and poliomavirus status and impact on survival in Merkel cell carcinoma patients. Am J Dermatopathol. 2016;38(8):571–9.
- 105. Paulson KG, Iyer JG, Simonson WT, Blom A, Thibodeau RM, Schmidt M, Pietromonaco S, Sokil M, Warton EM, Asgari MMNP. CD8+ lymphocyte intratumoral infiltration as a stageindependent predictor of Merkel cell carcinoma survival: a population-based study. Am J Clin Pathol. 2014;142(4):452–8.
- 106. Iacocca MV, Abernethy JL, Stefanato CM, Allan AE, Bhawan J. Mixed Merkel cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma of the skin. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1998;39(5 II suppl):882–7.
- 107. Lai JH, Fleming KE, Ly TY, Pasternak S, Godlewski M, Doucette S, et al. Pure versus combined Merkel cell carcinomas: immunohistochemical evaluation of cellular proteins (p53, Bcl-2, and c-kit) reveals significant overexpression of p53 in combined tumors. Hum Pathol. 2015;46(9):1290–6.
- 108. Trinidad CM, Torres-Cabala CA, Prieto VG, Aung PP. Update on eighth edition American Joint Committee on Cancer classification for Merkel

cell carcinoma and histopathological parameters that determine prognosis. J Clin Pathol. 2019;72(5):337–40.

- 109. Agbai ON, Buster K, Sanchez M, Hernandez C, Kundu RV, Chiu M, et al. Skin cancer and photoprotection in people of color: a review and recommendations for physicians and the public. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2014;70(4):748–62.
- 110. Liu MA, Nguyen JDJ. Influence of age and marital status on stage at diagnosis and survival of patients with Merkel cell carcinoma: a surveillance, epidemiology, and end results registry-based cohort study. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2018;79(6):1146–8.
- 111. Deneve JL, Messina JL, Marzban SS, Gonzalez RJ, Walls BM, Fisher KJ, Chen YA, Cruse CW, Sondak VK, Zager JS. Merkel cell carcinoma of unknown primary origin. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(7):2360–6.
- 112. Vandeven N, Lewis CW, Makarov V, Riaz N, Paulson KG, Hippe D, et al. Merkel cell carcinoma patients presenting without a primary lesion have elevated markers of immunity, higher tumor mutation burden, and improved survival. Clin Cancer Res. 2018;24(4):963–71.
- 113. Treglia G, Dabbagh Kakhki VR, Giovanella L, Sadeghi R. Diagnostic performance of fluorine-18fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography in patients with Merkel cell carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2013;14(6):437–47.
- 114. Poulsen M, Macfarlane D, Veness M, Estall V, Hruby G, Kumar M, et al. Prospective analysis of the utility of 18-FDG PET in Merkel cell carcinoma of the skin: a trans tasman radiation oncology group study, TROG 09:03. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol. 2018;62(3):412–9.
- 115. Gupta SG, Wang LC, Peñas PF, Gellenthin M, Lee SJ, Nghiem P. Sentinel lymph node biopsy for evaluation and treatment of patients with Merkel cell carcinoma: the Dana-Farber experience and meta-analysis of the literature. Arch Dermatol. 2006;142(6):685–90.
- 116. NCCN. Merkel cell carcinoma NCCN guideline. 2020.
- 117. Wright GP, Holtzman MP. Surgical resection improves median overall survival with marginal improvement in long-term survival when compared with definitive radiotherapy in Merkel cell carcinoma: a propensity score matched analysis of the National Cancer Database. Am J Surg. 2018;215(3):384–7.
- 118. Tarantola TI, Vallow LA, Halyard MY, Weenig RH, Warschaw KE, Grotz TE, et al. Prognostic factors in Merkel cell carcinoma: analysis of 240 cases. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2013;68(3):425–32.
- 119. Singh B, Qureshi MM, Truong MT, Sahni D. Demographics and outcomes of stage I and II Merkel cell carcinoma treated with Mohs micrographic surgery compared with wide local excision in the National Cancer Database. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2018;79(1):126–34.

- 120. Vargo JA, Ghareeb ER, Balasubramani GK, Beriwal S. RE: Adjuvant radiation therapy and chemotherapy in Merkel cell carcinoma: survival analyses of 6908 cases from the National Cancer Data Base. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2017;109(10):1–2.
- 121. Fields RC, Busam KJ, Chou JF, Panageas KS, Pulitzer MP, Allen PJ, et al. Recurrence after complete resection and selective use of adjuvant therapy for stage I through III Merkel cell carcinoma. Cancer. 2012;118(13):3311–20.
- 122. Fields RC, Busam KJ, Chou JF, Panageas KS, Pulitzer MP, Kraus DH, et al. Recurrence and survival in patients undergoing sentinel lymph node biopsy for Merkel cell carcinoma: analysis of 153 patients from a single institution. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18(9):2529–37.
- 123. Han AY, Patel PB, Anderson M, Diaz MFP, Chin R, St. John MA. Adjuvant radiation therapy improves patient survival in early-stage Merkel cell carcinoma: a 15-year single-institution study. Laryngoscope. 2018;128(8):1862–6.
- 124. Mattavelli I, Patuzzo R, Torri V, Gallino G, Maurichi A, Lamera M, et al. Prognostic factors in Merkel cell carcinoma patients undergoing sentinel node biopsy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43(8):1536–41.
- 125. Lebbe C, Becker JC, Grob JJ, Malvehy J, Del Marmol V, Pehamberger H, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of Merkel cell carcinoma. European consensus-based interdisciplinary guideline. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51(16):2396–403.
- 126. Harrington C, Kwan W. Outcomes of Merkel cell carcinoma treated with radiotherapy without radical surgical excision. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(11):3401–5.
- 127. Sridharan V, Muralidhar V, Margalit DN, Tishler RB, DeCaprio JA, Thakuria M, et al. Merkel cell carcinoma: a population analysis on survival. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2016;14(10):1247–57.
- Hill ADK, Brady MS, Coit DG. Intraoperative lymphatic mapping and sentinel lymph node biopsy for Merkel cell carcinoma. Br J Surg. 1999;86(4):518–21.
- 129. Gunaratne DA, Howle JR, Veness MJ. Sentinel lymph node biopsy in Merkel cell carcinoma: a 15-year institutional experience and statistical analysis of 721 reported cases. Br J Dermatol. 2016;174(2):273–81.
- 130. Karunaratne YG, Gunaratne DA, Veness MJ. Systematic review of sentinel lymph node biopsy in Merkel cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Head Neck. 2018;40(12):2704–13.
- 131. Servy A, Maubec E, Sugier PE, Grange F, Mansard S, Lesimple T, et al. Merkel cell carcinoma: value of sentinel lymph-node status and adjuvant radiation therapy. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(5):914–9.
- 132. Jouary T, Leyral C, Dreno B, Doussau A, Sassolas B, Beylot-barry M, et al. Adjuvant prophylactic regional radiotherapy versus observation in stage I Merkel cell carcinoma: a multicentric prospective randomized study. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(4):1074–80.

- 133. Strom T, Carr M, Zager JS, Naghavi A, Smith FO, Cruse CW, et al. Radiation therapy is associated with improved outcomes in Merkel cell carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(11):3572–8.
- 134. Chen MM, Roman SA, Sosa JA, Judson BL. The role of adjuvant therapy in the management of head and neck Merkel cell carcinoma: an analysis of 4815 patients. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2015;141(2):137–41.
- 135. Grotz TE, Joseph RW, Pockaj BA, Foote RL, Otley CC, Bagaria SP, et al. Negative sentinel lymph node biopsy in Merkel cell carcinoma is associated with a low risk of same-nodal-basin recurrences. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(12):4060–6.
- Mojica P, Smith D, Ellenhorn JDI. Adjuvant radiation therapy is associated with improved survival in Merkel cell carcinoma of the skin. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(9):1043–7.
- 137. Hasan S, Liu L, Triplet J, Li Z, Mansur D. The role of postoperative radiation and chemoradiation in Merkel cell carcinoma: a systematic review of the literature. Front Oncol. 2013;3:276.
- 138. Poulsen M, Rischin D, Walpole E, Harvey J, Mackintosh J, Ainslie J, et al. High-risk Merkel cell carcinoma of the skin treated with synchronous carboplatin/etoposide and radiation: a trans-tasman radiation oncology group study-TROG 96:07. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(23):4371–6.
- 139. Poulsen MG, Rischin D, Porter I, Walpole E, Harvey J, Hamilton C, et al. Does chemotherapy improve survival in high-risk stage I and II Merkel cell carcinoma of the skin? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;64(1):114–9.
- 140. D'Angelo SP, Russell J, Lebbé C, Chmielowski B, Gambichler T, Grob JJ, et al. Efficacy and safety of first-line avelumab treatment in patients with stage IV metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma a preplanned interim analysis of a clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4(9):e180077.
- 141. Kaufman HL, Russell J, Hamid O, Bhatia S, Terheyden P, D'Angelo SP, Shih KC, Lebbé C, Linette GP, Milella M, Brownell I, Lewis KD, Lorch JH, Chin K, Mahnke L, von Heydebreck A, Cuillerot JM, Nghiem P. Avelumab in patients with chemotherapy-refractory metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma: a multicentre, single-group, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(10):1374–85.
- 142. Cohen PR, Tomson BN, Elkin SK, Marchlik E, Carter JL, Kurzrock R. Genomic portfolio of Merkel cell carcinoma as determined by comprehensive genomic profiling: Implications for targeted therapeutics. Oncotarget. 2016;7(17):23454–67.
- 143. Tai PTH, Yu E, Winquist E, Hammond A, Stitt L, Tonita J, et al. Chemotherapy in neuroendocrine/Merkel cell carcinoma of the skin: case series and review of 204 cases. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18(12):2493–9.
- 144. Iyer JG, Blom A, Doumani R, Lewis C, Tarabadkar ES, Anderson A, et al. Response rates and durability of chemotherapy among 62 patients with

metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma. Cancer Med. 2016;5(9):2294–301.

- 145. Lipson EJ, Vincent JG, Loyo M, Kagohara LT, Luber BS, Wang H, Xu H, Nayar SK, Wang TS, Sidransky D, Anders RA, Topalian SL, Taube JM. PD-L1 expression in the Merkel cell carcinoma microenvironment: association with inflammation, Merkel cell polyomavirus and overall survival. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1(1):54–63.
- 146. Kaufman HL, Russell JS, Hamid O, Bhatia S, Terheyden P, D'Angelo SP, et al. Updated efficacy of avelumab in patients with previously treated metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma after ≥1 year of followup: JAVELIN Merkel 200, a phase 2 clinical trial. J Immunother Cancer. 2018;6(1):1–7.
- 147. Nghiem P, Bhatia S, Brohl AS, Hamid O, Mehnert JM, Terheyden P, Shih KC, Brownell I, Lebbé C, Lewis KD, Linette GP, Milella M, Hennessy M, Bajars M, SPD CH. Two-year efficacy and safety update from JAVELIN Merkel 200 part A: a registrational study of avelumab in metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma progressed on chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(15):9507.
- 148. D'angelo SP, Lebbè C, Mortier L, Brohl A, Fazio N, Grob JJ, et al. First-line avelumab treatment in patients with metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma: primary analysis after ≥15 months of follow-up from JAVELIN Merkel 200, a registrational phase 2 trial. J ImmunoTherapy of Cancer. 2019;7(Suppl 1):P362.
- 149. Walker JW, Lebbé C, Grignani G, Nathan P, Dirix L, Fenig E, et al. Efficacy and safety of avelumab treatment in patients with metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma: experience from a global expanded access program. J Immunother Cancer. 2020;8(1):4–9.
- 150. Nghiem PT, Bhatia S, Lipson EJ, Kudchadkar RR, Miller NJ, Annamalai L, Berry S, Chartash EK, Daud A, Fling SP, Friedlander PA, Kluger HM, Kohrt HE, Lundgren L, Margolin K, Mitchell A, Olencki T, Pardoll DM, Reddy SA, Shantha EM, Sharfman WH, Sharon E, She CM. PD-1 blockade with pembrolizumab in advanced Merkel-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(26):2542–52.
- 151. Nghiem P, Bhatia S, Lipson EJ, Sharfman WH, Kudchadkar RR, Brohl AS, et al. Durable tumor regression and overall survival in patients with advanced Merkel cell carcinoma receiving pembrolizumab as first-line therapy. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(9):693–702.
- 152. Topalian SL, Bhatia S, Hollebecque A, Awada A, De Boer JP, Kudchadkar RR, et al. Abstract CT074: non-comparative, open-label, multiple cohort, phase 1/2 study to evaluate nivolumab (NIVO) in patients with virus-associated tumors (CheckMate 358): efficacy and safety in Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC). Cancer Res. 2017;7:CT074.
- 153. Davids M, Charlton A, Ng SS, Chong ML, Laubscher K, Dar M, et al. Response to a novel multitargeted tyrosine kinase inhibitor pazopanib in metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(26):e97–100.

- 154. Samlowski WE, Moon J, Tuthill RJ, Heinrich MC, Balzer-Haas NS, Merl SA, et al. A phase II trial of imatinib mesylate in Merkel cell carcinoma (Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the skin): a Southwest oncology group study (S0331). Am J Clin Oncol Cancer Clin Trials. 2010;33(5): 495–9.
- 155. Brunner M, Thurnher D, Pammer J, Geleff S, Heiduschka G, Reinisch CM, et al. Expression of VEGF-A/C, VEGF-R2, PDGF-α/β, c-kit, EGFR, Her-2/Neu, Mcl-1 and Bmi-1 in Merkel cell carcinoma. Mod Pathol. 2008;21(7): 876–84.
- 156. Cassler NM, Merrill D, Bichakjian CK, Brownell I. Merkel cell carcinoma therapeutic update. Curr Treat Options Oncol. 2016;17(7):36. Available from: file:///C:/Users/Carla Carolina/Desktop/Artigos para

acrescentar na qualificação/The impact of birth weight on cardiovascular disease risk in the.pdf

- 157. Di Bartolomeo M, Bajetta E, Buzzoni R, Mariani L, Carnaghi C, Somma L, et al. Clinical efficacy of octreotide in the treatment of metastatic neuroendo-crine tumors: a study by the Italian Trials in Medical Oncology Group. Cancer. 1996;77(2):402–8.
- 158. Kau R, Arnold W. Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy and therapy of neuroendocrine (APUD) tumors of the head and neck. Acta Otolaryngol. 1996;116(2):345–9.
- 159. Meier G, Waldherr C, Herrmann R, Maecke H, Mueller-Brand J, Pless M. Successful targeted radiotherapy with 90Y-DOTATOC in a patient with Merkel cell carcinoma: a case report. Oncology. 2004;66(2):160–3.



20

Therapy in Poorly Differentiated Neuroendocrine Neoplasms (NEN G3)

Michela Squadroni, Rosalba Barile, and Giordano Beretta

20.1 Introduction and Histopathological Classification and Characteristics

WHO According to the classification. NeuroEndocrine Carcinomas (NEC) are defined as poorly differentiated NeuroEndocrineNeoplasms (NEN) with Ki-67 > 20% and hence G3. Although lately, increasing evidence suggests that G3 NEN are not a homogenous entity and can be further subclassified into biologically different subgroups, according to both morphological and pathological characteristics other than Ki-67 alone. In fact, not all the neoplasms with high Ki-67 levels have histological characteristics of poor differentiation [1].

A separation based on the proliferative index (Ki-67 > 55%) showed to have clinical prognostic and predictive implication: NEC with Ki-67 > 55% has high sensitivity and good response to platinum-based chemotherapy but a poorer prognosis than G3 NEN in the lower proliferative range (20–55%) [2].

Recent data show that morphological differentiation associated with Ki-67 is essential in defining prognostic and pathological subgroups

M. Squadroni $(\boxtimes) \cdot R$. Barile $\cdot G$. Beretta Medical Oncology Unit, Humanitas Gavazzeni, Bergamo, Italy

e-mail: michela.squadroni@gavazzeni.it

among G3 NEN, and therefore, a separation of well-differentiated G3 NeuroEndocrine Tumors (NET) from poorly differentiated G3 NEC is emerging [3].

The WHO 2017 classification for pancreatic NEN refers to these tumors as NET G3, whose median Ki-67 rate is 30% compared with 70-80% for GastroEnteroPancreatic (GEP) NEC. These neoplasms are different morphologic, molecular, clinical, and prognostic entities if compared to NEC. However, differentiation between the two and the pathological criteria for subdivision in G3 NEN and NEC are not entirely straightforward and are evolving to more precise criteria. Clinically, NET G3 and NEC differ substantially from NET G1-G2. The prognosis is worse: metastatic disease is usually present at diagnosis, and the treatment of metastatic disease is different. NET G3 can have high proliferative index but rarely exceed 50-60%, different response to chemotherapy (low benefit from platinum-etoposidebased chemotherapy, better with oxaliplatin and temozolomide), high expression of SRI, and Chromogranin A (100% vs. 70%) [3].

Based on an analysis by Milione et al., new insight in the GEP G3 NEN have been identified, with a median follow-up of 81 months, the median OS was 12.9 months. At multivariate analysis, morphological differentiation, Ki-67 index, MMRd, stage, and CD117 expression were independent prognostic markers in NECs. Three different prognostic categories of NECs

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_20

	Histomorphology	Molecular features	Ki-67, %
NET G3	Regular cells presenting round or oval nuclei with "salt and pepper" chromatin Minimal to moderate atypia, with organoid growth pattern with apposition of capillary vessels to tumor cells lacking geographic necrosis	Abnormalities of <i>MEN1</i> , <i>DAXX</i> , and <i>ATRX</i> genes Chromogranina A staining in 91–100% SSTR2A staining in more than 90%	20-60%
NEC	Highly proliferative atypical cells, solid growth pattern lacking organoid features, rosette formation and palisading, and apoptotic bodies and necrosis	Abnormal immunolabeling for p53, Rb1 loss, and KRAS mutation Chromogranina A staining in 60–80% SSTR2A staining in 20%	>50%

Table 20.1 Histological and molecular features of G3 NEN

were identified according to the degree of morphologic differentiation (well vs. poorly differentiated) and Ki-67 index (<55% vs. \geq 55%). On this basis, median OS was 43.6 months in well-differentiated neoplasms with a Ki-67 index 20–55% (named type A), 24.5 months in poorly differentiated neoplasms with a Ki-67 index 20–55% (type B), and 5.3 months (p < 0.0001) in poorly differentiated neoplasms with a Ki-67 index \geq 55% (type C) [3].

NET G3 is more frequent in younger patients, primary tumors mostly located in the pancreas (65%), and the disease appears metastatic since the diagnosis in 62–70%, sometimes appearing with functional syndrome (14%) compared to NEC (2%). For pancreatic primaries, the median Ki-67 has been reported in pancreatic NET G3 to be 29–47% (range, 21–80%), compared with pancreatic NEC with a median Ki-67 of 70–80% (range, 21–100%). Also the NET G3 prognosis is better than NEC. The median survival for metastatic patients was 41 months for GEP NET G3 versus 17 months for non–small cell GEP NEC. Several retrospective studies support the prognostic value of histological differentiation.

Till now, classification and diagnosis based on morphologic differentiation alone are challenging. The pathological and biological criteria for subdivision in G3 NEN have not been entirely established yet and are evolving to achieve a standardization.

The ENET Society recommends that a pathology report on GEP NEN G3 should include morphology concerning both differentiation (well-differentiated or poorly differentiated) and small cell versus large cell, as well as proliferation rate as an absolute Ki-67 value [4]. Moreover, it is important to establish histopathological criteria, marking the difference between NET G3 and NEC, because the Ki-67 value alone cannot distinguish between the subgroups. In fact, there is an overlapping of Ki-67 value among NET G3 and NEC, especially in the area of 30–50%, although a Ki-67 of greater than 60% is rare in NET G3 (Table 20.1).

20.2 Pulmonary Neuroendocrine Poorly Differentiated Neoplasms (LUNG NEN)

20.2.1 Histopathological Classification and Characteristics

The 2015 WHO classification has grouped the four histologic variants of lung NETs, namely typical carcinoid (TC), atypical carcinoid (AC), large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (LCNEC), and small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC), into a unique box of neuroendocrine (NE) cell proliferations to facilitate their taxonomy and improve diagnostic recognition. Behaviorally, TCs are low-grade tumors with good prognosis. ACs are intermediate-grade tumors with a more aggressive clinical course benefitting from multimodality therapy.

LCNEC and SCLC are high-grade carcinomas with dismal prognosis usually treated by chemoradiotherapy. A grading system independent of histology could prove useful in the setting of a metastatic disease, where morphology alone could not match adequately with the pathologic and clinical grade to support the best therapy choices.

The classification of lung NETs is a process based on cytological and histological features other than the evaluation of mitotic count and necrosis extent. Defining criteria of carcinoids include organoid growth patterns (rosettes, trabeculae, ribbons, festoons, lobular nests, palisading), absent to focal punctate necrosis (not just apoptotic bodies), up to 10 mitoses per mm².

On the contrary, SCLC and LCNEC are clustered into poorly differentiated tumors, showing trabecular to solid to diffuse growth patterns, extensive necrosis, mitotic count higher than 10 mitoses per mm² with no upper limits and uneven cell expression for pan-NE markers, especially. LCNEC is a tumor category defined upon pan-NE IHC markers to exclude histological mimics such as LCC-NEM and basaloid carcinoma, or identify non-NE components in combined variants. The diagnosis of SCLC relies primarily upon morphology in both the lung and elsewhere. Ki-67 antigen has been extensively evaluated in lung NET with several diagnostic, prognostic, and grading implications. Although Ki-67 level is not currently accredited in lung NET subtyping due to some overlap of cut-off thresholds among biologically adjacent tumors, its distribution between low- to intermediate-grade and high-grade tumors has made it a very important prognostic and predictive factor. A Ki-67 level up to 20-25% has the highest specificity and sensitivity for low- to intermediate-grade versus high-grade tumors, in the setting of metastatic disease. It is important to note that Ki-67 reflects tumor biology, such an advantage holds particularly true for AC and LCNEC. Not unexpectedly, Ki-67 is typically 5% or less in TC and usually 80% or more in SCLC [5–7].

On the basis of actual knowledge, we can identify four different subgroups of lung NETS:

 First two groups comprehend low and low-to intermediate tumors, with Ki-67 lower than 20–25% (TC with Ki-67 < 5%) and AC and LCNEC with Ki-67 up to 20–25%, with mainly indolent clinical behavior. The second group includes low-to-moderate malignant tumors showing Ki-67 level up to 20–25%, which correspond mostly to AC and even some LCNEC with a molecular profile similar to carcinoids.

- 2. The third group consists of moderate to higher malignant tumors with Ki-67 level ranging from 25% to 50–60%, biologically corresponding to more uncommon aggressive AC or LCNEC with a molecular profile similar to NSCLC. They can be treated with alkylating drugs or others chemotherapy (such as gemcitabine, paclitaxel, or vinorelbine), but they do not have good response to platinum/ etoposide-based chemotherapy.
- 3. The last group is composed of highly malignant tumors with Ki-67 ranging from 60% to 100%, biologically corresponding to aggressive SCLC and SCLC-like LCNEC on molecular grounds, which should be treated with platinum/etoposide-based chemotherapy and have a very poor prognosis.

20.2.2 Poorly Differentiated Lung Neuroendocrine Carcinomas NEC (SCLC and LCNEC) Treatment

Even though TNM staging classification has been approved for lung NEC, the old classification, dividing this category into limited stage (LS) and extended stage (ES) disease, remains a gold standard to define treatment strategy.

Lung NEC are characterized by a very aggressive behavior with fast clinical progression and metastatic spread and extremely low survival time in the absence of treatment, with most of the patients diagnosed with advanced disease at diagnosis.

20.2.2.1 Limited Stage Disease Treatment

Radiochemotherapy

Small- and large-cell neuroendocrine tumors of the lung which involve only thoracic organs (lung, nodes, and pleura) are considered limited stage (LS) disease and should undergo multimodal therapy, comprehending chemotherapy and radiotherapy, both sequentially or concomitant. In fact, chemotherapy alone results in poor intrathoracic disease control, with early failures occurring in 75–90% of patients. The addition of thoracic radiotherapy (TRT) to chemotherapy leads to a significantly lower rate of intrathoracic failure, to 30–60%.

In order to address this issue, two metaanalyses were performed [8, 9]. The results from both analyses confirmed that multimodal treatment can reduce risk of death and prolong progression free and overall survival (PFS and OS) over chemotherapy alone.

Platinum and etoposide doublets are the landmark chemotherapy for lung NEC, achieving high response rate (up to 70–80%) even though a rapid progressive disease often occurs after treatment discontinuation or during therapy. Adding radiotherapy (both sequentially and concomitantly) can improve and prolong response rate in limited disease with a reduction in death risk of 14% and prolonging OS and PFS and is considered the gold standard in LS disease.

Prophylactic Cranial Irradiation (PCI)

The incidence of central nervous system (CNS) metastases in lung NEC is very high, up to 50% even in limited disease with good response after radiochemotherapy, and is the main cause of disease progression and death. PCI demonstrated to reduce the risk of metastatic spread to the CNS and therefore to increase disease control rate and prolong survival time, with a reduction of relative risk for death of 16% [10].

PCI should be proposed in all patients achieving complete or major response after radiochemotherapy. Recent data support the use of prophylactic brain irradiation even in patients with extended disease, achieving major response after first-line chemotherapy. The factors associated with the recommendation for the use of PCI included the fitness of the patient, young age, and good response to chemotherapy. PCI was recommended by the majority of experts for non-elderly fit patients who had at least a partial response (PR) to chemotherapy [11].

20.2.2.2 Advanced Stage Disease Treatment

First-Line Chemotherapy

Small-cell lung cancer (SCLC) is highly sensitive to first-line chemotherapy, leading to rapid clinical and radiological improvement; unfortunately, this benefit is transient, and relapse is expected either during or shortly after completing chemotherapy. Upon relapse, SCLC is relatively refractory to second-line treatment, and survival with first-line platinum-based chemotherapy rarely exceeds 10 months. Despite this poor outcome, standard first-line therapy has been unchanged in the last three decades with platinum-etoposide combination being the most active treatment and should be considered even in elderly and patients in poor clinical conditions.

Platinum (cisplatin and/or carboplatin) and etoposide combination demonstrated to be very active and has been the standard of care for SCLC since 1990s. A randomized trial published in 1992 [12] confirmed the cisplatin and etoposide combination as the standard of care as first line in advanced SCLC, demonstrating better outcomes than CAV (cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, and vincristine) with a 8.6 median OS and a 61% partial response (PR) and 10% complete response (CR) rate. Subsequent meta-analyses suggested improved survival with the use of first-line platinum-based regimens compared with other alkylating agents [13].

The next major advance to first-line therapy was the substitution of cisplatin with carboplatin, always in association with etoposide (both iv and oral). This regimen offered a different toxicity profile (higher hematological but lower gastrointestinal, clinical, and neurological toxicity rate) but was not associated with any difference in efficacy. The COCIS meta-analysis compared outcomes with these two platinum agents confirming substantial equivalence between cisplatin and carboplatin in combination with etoposide [14].

With the aim of improving the outcome of first-line therapy, other combinations chemotherapy have been investigated during last decades, with inconclusive and controversial results. The most promising one was cisplatin and irinotecan, although initial promising results in a Japanese phase III trial in comparison with platinum and etoposide, demonstrated higher survival (median OS 12.8 months vs. 9.4 months, p = 0.002) and 1-year survival rate (58.4% vs. 37.3%) [15], further studies failed to confirm this benefit, showing no substantial differences among irinotecan and etoposide in combination with platinum [16]. Although dismal, cisplatin and irinotecan could be considered as an alternative (even if not a new standard of care) to platinum-etoposide combination in first-line treatment of SCLC. Finally, maintenance chemotherapy after completion of first-line treatment did not demonstrate to improve patients' outcome and should not be considered in advanced lung NEC.

Second-Line Chemotherapy

Even if a high response rate is expected from first-line treatment, this result is of short duration, and a rapid disease progression is observed both during and within few months from the end of treatment. Second-line treatment has a very small probability to be active in SCLC, and topotecan is the only approved drug, with CAV (cyclophospamide, doxorubicin, vincristine) being potentially considered as an alternative in case of patients in good clinical conditions. The phase III trial comparing topotecan and best supportive care demonstrated an advantage in term of PFS (25.9 vs. 13 weeks) with topotecan over BSC (best supportive care), with a 7% PR (partial response) and 44% SD (stable disease), and a higher probability of symptoms control [17]. In order to improve this dismal results and define potential alternative, other drugs have been investigating in (irinotecan, paclitaxel, docetaxel), but any of them demonstrated an advantage among topotecan. Other new drugs have been compared with topotecan, but with disappointing results, for example, amrubicin

and cabazitaxel did not show any advantage over topotecan in phase III trials. Prognostic and predictive factors for second-line topotecan activity are clinical conditions, LDH levels, and time to progression after first-line chemotherapy (when >90 days it was associated with better outcome). Finally in some cases, platinum/etoposide rechallenge could be considered in patients achieving good response to first-line chemotherapy and with a long time to relapse (3–6 months).

Immunotherapy

After a decade of failure in improving the results of first-line chemotherapy in SCLC, lately immunotherapy appeared to have partially changed the landscape of lung NEC. Given the founding of high rate of somatic mutations in SCLC immunotherapy was expected to be an effective treatment for SCLC. Phase I and II trials demonstrated promising results with anti-PD1 and PDL1 drugs in terms of survival rate in advanced stage disease in second- and third-line treatments (nivolumab and ipilimumab combination and pembrolizumab).

According to these promising results, concomitant immunotherapy and chemotherapy in first-line setting has been investigated. Despite the combination of cisplatin and etoposide with ipilimumab did not showed any improvement in patients outcome but increased treatment-related toxicity, other immunotherapies (atezolizumab and durvalumab) demonstrated to increase survival when administered with first-line chemotherapy.

The addiction of atezolizumab (anti-PDL1 antibody) to first-line chemotherapy (carboplatin and etoposide) was evaluated in the IMpower 133 [18], a phase I/III trial which included patients with advanced SCLC, who were randomized to receive chemotherapy with atezolizumab or placebo, followed by atezolizumab/placebo maintenance. Atezolizumab improved both PFS (HR 0.77; HR 0.77; 95% CI, 0.63–0.96) and OS, with an improvement from 10.3 months to 12.3 months and a HR of 0.70 (95% CI, 0.54–0.91). Atezolizumab improved the 1-year survival rate from 38.2 to 51.7%. There was no difference in

response rate, and no new safety signals were identified.

Other than atezolizumab, durvalumab (an anti-PDL1 antibody) demonstrated to improve results of first-line platinum and etoposide in a phase III trial (CASPIAN) [19] in which we randomly assigned 805 patients to receive chemotherapy alone or in combination with durvalumab or durvalumab and tremelimumab, followed by durvalumab maintenance. The addition of the anti-PDL1 antibody again improved survival, with a median OS of 13 months with durvalumab compared with 10.3 months with chemotherapy. The 1-year survival rate was higher with durvalumab (54% vs. 40%), even in this case, no significant difference in term of PFS and response rate was observed.

These results, even if practice changing, need to be confirmed and further investigated, above all in terms of definition of predictive biomarker of response to define the subgroup of patients who can really benefit from immunotherapy; in fact, until now, PDL1 expression did not serve a predictive role in both study.

20.3 Extrapulmonary G3 Neuroendocrine Neoplasms

Extrapulmonary G3 NEN are very rare, they mostly arise in gastrointestinal tract (35–55%) with pancreas and colon representing the most frequently primary site followed by stomach and esophagus. They can be both small-cell and large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma, mainly with high Ki-67% (above 60%) with the exception for primary pancreatic G3 NEN, which have a high Ki-67 level (>55%) in about 30% of cases. Other primary tumor sites are even more infrequent such as prostate, gynecological, and urothelial tract.

Unfortunately, due to the rarity of these tumors, prospective data regarding treatment strategy are lacking, and the consensus on treatment is mainly based upon retrospective data and mutuated from analogous lung NEC (despite potental differences both in terms of biology and treatment response).

On the basis of a retrospective analysis on 305 patients diagnosed with gastroenteropancreatic NEC (NORDIC NEC) [3], most extrapulmonary NEC are diagnosed in advanced and metastatic stage (60-65%) and have a poor prognosis. Ki-67% level, which is considered the main prognostic and predictive factor, appears higher than 55% mainly in esophageal and rectal tumor, while it was mainly lower in pancreatic neoplasia (only 33% with Ki-67 higher than 55%). Median OS is about 1–2 months in patients who not receive oncological treatment and do months 11 in patients who undergo chemotherapy.

20.3.1 Treatment of Extrapulmonary Neuroendocrine Carcinomas

20.3.1.1 First-Line Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy plays a prominent role in advanced extrapulmonary NEC, compared with their G1-2 counterpart. Median OS is about 11 months, and 1 month for patients receiving chemotherapy or not, respectively. Unfortunately, due to the small number of cases of extrapulmonary NEC, no prospective or randomized data are available in support of chemotherapy, so far the first-line treatment is mutuated from data regarding SCLC. Platinum and etoposide doublets remain the standard of care for extrapulmonary NEC; this is usually given for 4-6 cycles, with a RR (response rate) of 30%, with PFS of 4–5 months and OS of 11 months. As previously mentioned, there is no randomized trial investigating this regimen, but several retrospective studies confirm the efficacy and safety of this approach [20].

According to the NORDIC NEC study [3] response rate after first-line chemotherapy with platinum/etoposide combination was 31%, but it was different according to Ki-67 (higher in Ki-67 > 55% than 21-54%: 42% vs. 15% respectively) suggesting that high Ki-67 index may predict response rate. Patients with lower Ki-67

(<55%) had longer survival than those with higher Ki-67 levels (14 vs. 10 months). On the other side, ORR appears to be indipendent from tumor morphology or chromogranin A staining. Finally, colonic primary tumor had a worst prognosis (8 vs. 15 months) than other tumors.

More recently, retrospective data have been published, and platinum (both cisplatin and carboplatin) and etoposide combination chemotherapy has been confirmed as the standard of treatment, achieving a good response rate (from 40% to 65%), with 11.5 months OS and 6 months PFS. Tumor response was mainly unrelated to primary site, endocrine hyperfunction, or prior therapy experience (Table 20.2).

Another regimen which has been investigated is cisplatin/irinotecan, even in this case mutuated on results observed in phase III study in SCLC, a retrospective study for patients with advanced NECs included patients treated with both cisplatin/etoposide and cisplatin/irinotecan

(Table 20.2). The response rate and OS (13 vs. 7 months) was higher in cisplatin/irinotecan arm; however, the difference was not statistically significant due to the imbalance with respect of primary site. Similar results were observed in another study, enrolling both extrapulmonary NEC and NET G3. Cisplatin and irinotecan combination was effective in NEC with a RR of 51% and 8 months median OS, but did not show any activity in NET G3 (no partial response observed, with a median OS of 5.4 months) meaning that while the combination of cisplatin and irinotecan may have activity in patients with poorly differentiated neuroendocrine tumors, it has little or no activity in patients with well-differentiated histologies.

According to clinical results of NORDIC NEC study, patients with Ki-67 lower than 55% did not have good response to platinum/etoposide (EP) combination (even with a better prognosis), suggesting the use of alternative

	Histology (number of patients)	Regimen	Response rate	Overall survival (months)	Progression-free survival (months)
Moertel et al. [21]	Anaplastic neuroendocrine tumor (18)	Cisplatin/ etoposide	ORR 67%	19	8
Mitry et al. [22]	PDNEC (41)	Cisplatin/ etoposide	CR 9.8% PR 31.7% SD 34%	15	9.2
Frizziero et al. [23]	Extrapulmonary PD NEC (113)	Carboplatin/ etoposide (iv or oral)	CR 7% PR 40% SD 26%	11.5	6
Iwasa et al. [24]	Gastroenteropancreatic NEC (21)	Cisplatin/ etoposide	CR 0 PR 14% SD 48%	5.8	1.8
Sorbye et al. [2]	GEP NEN (252)	Cisplatin or carboplatin/ etoposide	PR 31%	11	6
Du et al. [25]	GEP NEC (11)	FOLFIRI	PR 63%	13	6.5
Li et al. [26]	Gastroenteropancreatic NEN G3 (40)	Cisplatin/ irinotecan	PR 51% (NEC) PR 0% (NETG3)		5.7 (NEC) 8.9 (NET G3)
Rogowsky et al. [27]	G3 NEN (32)	Capecitabine/ temozolomide	PR 70% (NETG3) PR 30% (NEC)	22 (NET G3) 4.6 (NEC)	15.3 (NETG3) 3.3 (NEC)
Bajetta et al. [28]	PD G3 NEN (40)	XELOX	PR 23% SD 7%	11	5

 Table 20.2
 First-line chemotherapy in NEC G3

chemotherapeutic regimen in this subgroup. On the basis of this further subclassification, retrospective data are available, and oxaliplatin-(FOLFOX or CAPOX) or temozolomide-based treatment can be considered as an alternative to EP in gastroenteropancreatic NEC with Ki-67 < 55% (Table 20.2).

20.3.1.2 Second-Line Chemotherapy

Evidence for second-line chemotherapy in patients with progressing disease after platinumetoposide is very limited, and no prospective data are available; therefore, thee is not consensus regarding optimal second-line chemotherapy [20]. Overall response rate (observed in NORDIC NEC study) is quite low (about 18%) even if small retrospective series have documented higher response rate (30–40%, in selected patients), with short benefit and an estimated PFS of 3–4 months and OS lower than 6 months [3].

Actual data regarding second-line chemotherapy mainly derive from retrospective analysis on small number, in fact a low percentage of patients is able to receive further treatment after failure of first-line chemotherapy due to rapid clinical worsening related to tumor aggressiveness.

The most active regimens investigated are FOLFIRI, oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy (FOLFOX and CAPOX) and temozolomide (both alone or in combination with capecitabine). No prospective or randomized data have been available until now, and clinical results are mainly difficult to compare due to the heterogenous population included in these analyses (mainly both G3 NET and NEC).

FOLFIRI showed quite interesting results in retrospective analysis (comprehending both G3 NET and NEC), with 31% response, 31% stable disease with a median PFS of 4 months and 8 months OS (Table 20.3).

Another potential alternative is oxaliplatinbased chemotherapy (FOLFOX or CAPOX) (Table 20.3) which is demonstrated to be effective as second-line chemotherapy with a documented response rate of 20–40% and a median OS up to 6 months.

Finally, temozolomide can have a role in the treatment of progressive disease, both alone and in combination with capecitabine, it has demonstrated encouraging results especially in tumors with Ki-67 lower than 55% (Table 20.3).

Finally, some data are available for biological treatment, with some activities observed for both everolimus and sunitinib in GEP G3 NEN (both NETG3 and NEC), supporting further analysis in order both to confirm these data and to better define the role of these drugs other than identify predictive factors of response (Table 20.3).

Second-line chemotherapy should be considered according to clinical characteristics of patients, performance status, and tumor features. In some cases, platinum/etoposide re-treatment can be considered, in case of prolonged response

0

D

				Overall	Progression-
	Histology (number of			survival	free survival
	patients)	Regimen	Response rate	(months)	(months)
Hentic et al. [29]	NEC (19)	FOLFIRI	PR 31%	18	4
Hadoux et al. [30]	NEC (20)	FOLFOX	PR 29%	9.9	
Welin et al. [31]	PD NEC (25)	Temozolomide/	CR 4%	22	6
		CAPTEM	PR 33%		
			SD 38%		
Pellat et al. [32]	PD G3 NEN (31)	Sunitinib	PR 66% (NETG3)	6	1.5
			PR 55% (NEC)		
Okuyama [33]	Pancreatic NEC (25)	Everolimus	PR 0%	7.5	1.2
			SD 39%		
Panzuto et al. [34]	Pancreatic NEC (15)	Everolimus	SD 73%	28	6

 Table 20.3
 Second-line chemotherapy in NEC G3

to first-line chemotherapy (at least 3–6 months relapse free survival).

20.4 Treatment of Extrapulmonary G3 Neuroendocrine Tumor (NET)

The optimal sequence of treatments for NET G3 remains unclear, as this category has been recently identified. NET G3 is considered a molecularly, radiologically, and prognostically distinct entity compared to NEC and NET G1/G2. Although NET G3 have been treated mainly with platinum-based chemotherapy, retrospective data showed that this treatment has limited effectiveness in this group of neoplasms.

Predictive factors for treatment benefit in NET G3 are scarce, and few prospective studies are available. Much more research is, therefore, needed to aid clinicians selecting the best personalized therapy. Until further data are available, NET G3 treatment choice has to consider several factors: tumor differentiation, tumor stage, primary tumor location, Ki-67 index, and clinical course as well as each patient's specific features. Again, most chemotherapy studies are a mixture of NET G3 and NEC and specific data on the NET G3 subgroup are few and based on a very small number of patients.

20.4.1 Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy has a central role in the treatment of advanced NET G3 and should be considered the standard of treatment in first-line setting. Several retrospective data and few prospective trial have been evaluating and investigating the role of chemotherapy and the potentially active drugs [35].

20.4.1.1 Temozolomide

The role of temozolomide, an alkylating agent, has been defined for advanced well-differentiated

G1 and 2 pancreatic NET in multiple studies. It demonstrated to be effective, both as a single agent and in combination with capecitabine in NET G3 (other than G2), the main part of the results being about pancreatic NEN, and some reports about lung NET. The activity of CAPTEM (Capecitabine and Temozolomide) was recently evaluated in NEN G3: NET G3 had a better response compared to NEC group in terms of DCR (70% vs. 30%), PFS (15.3 months vs. 3.3 months), and median OS (22 months vs 4.6 months).

A retrospective Australian study reported the activity of CAPTEM in patients with metastatic NET G2 (66%) and G3 (34%). ORR was 46.9% in the overall population with 15.6% of patients having stable disease. A retrospective multicenter study evaluated the activity of temozolomidebased therapy in patients with G3 NENs, showing a time to treatment failure (TTF) in patients well-differentiated with G3 NETs was 5.8 months, OS and ORR for the same group were 30.1 months and 52%, respectively. The phase II clinical trial (ECOG-ACRIN EA2142) will better help to assess the activity of CAPTEM compared to platinum and etoposide combination in patients with advanced GEP-NEN G3 excluding small-cell histology (Table 20.4).

A number of studies have shown that O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) can be a predictor of temozolomide efficacy in patients with advanced NENs. However, the mechanism behind the association between MGMT and temozolomide is unclear. A lack of MGMT deficiency in patients with NENs, as shown by immunohistochemistry, has been demonstrated in 24-51% of cases, whereas MGMT deficiency in cases of gastrointestinal NENs has not yet been reported. Further studies and clinical trials are required to demonstrate the relationship between MGMT and temozolomide.

Similar reports have been observed even in lung NEN, CAPTEM regimen is associated with a high response rate and a tolerable toxicity profile in lung NENs with 30% patients exhibited a partial response, 55% stable disease, and 10%

	Histology (number of patients)	Regimen	Response rate	Overall survival (months)	Progression-free survival (months)
Chan et al. [36]	Gastroenteropancreatic G3 NEN (118)	Temozolomide/CAPTEM	CR 1% PR 39% SD 22%	18	5
Sahu et al. [37]	G3 NET (32)	САРТЕМ	ORR (26.9%) SD 15%	24	15
Thomas et al. [38]	G3 NEN (116)	CAPTEM (second line)	DCR 73%	38	13
Spada et al. [39]	G3 NET	Oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy (GEMOX; CAPOX; FOLFOX)	PR 26% SD 54%	32	8
Pellat et al. [32]	PD G3 NEN (31)	Sunitinib	PR 66% (NETG3) PR 55% (NEC)	6	1.5
Okuyama [33]	Pancreatic NEC (25)	Everolimus	PR 0% SD 39%	7.5	1.2
Panzuto et al. [34]	Pancreatic NEC (15)	Everolimus	SD 73%	28	6

 Table 20.4
 Treatment of G3 NET

progressive disease, and promising results in term of PFS and OS (Table 20.4).

20.4.1.2 Platinum-Based Chemotherapy

In general, first-line treatment for G3 NEC is platinum-based chemotherapy, and multiple retrospective cohorts suggest a low response to platinum-based therapy in NET G3 patients ranging from 0% to 17%. The NORDIC NEC study included patients with GEP NEN G3 treated with platinum-based regimens, demonstrated that G3 NET (Ki-67 <55%) had lower probability of response (even if better survival) compared to NEC with Ki-67 >55%, ORR was 15% vs. 42%, respectively, when treated with platinum/ etoposide. According to these data, an alternative treatment should be considered in G3 NET and extrapulmonary NEC with Ki-67 lower than 55%. A retrospective analyses by Fazio et al. suggest that oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy can be active with a manageable safety profile in advanced NETs irrespectively of the primary sites and tumor grade [capecitabine/oxaliplatin (CAPOX), 6% gemcitabine/oxaliplatin (GEMOX), and 29% leucovorin/fluorouracil/ oxaliplatin (FOLFOX-6)] [39]. Similar results

have been observed in a study by Bajetta et al., which demonstrated activity of oxaliplatin and capecitabine combination in G3 NET with a 30% DCR (23% PR and 7% SD) in second-line treatment, this study demonstrated a lower activity profile in G1–2 NET and NEC (Table 20.4).

20.4.2 Biological Treatment

Both everolimus and sunitinib (both alone and in association with somatostatin analog (SSA) are the standard of care in progressive low to intermediate NET. While sunitinib demonstrated survival advantage only in pancreatic NET, everolimus is the standard of care in low to intermediate NET of pancreatic, lung, and nonfunctioning gastrointestinal origin. Some activity evidences have been shown for both drugs in G3 NET and NEC.

Everolimus: Actually, we only have some case reports, and a retrospective study about everolimus activity in NET G3. An Italian study included patients with advanced pancreatic NET G3 with a Ki-67 of 55% or less (median, 30%); everolimus was given mainly after first-line treatment. Median PFS was 6 months and OS was 28 months; 40% had disease stabilization for at least 12 months [33, 34].

Sunitinib seems to show activity also in NET G3. Mainly two studies have evaluated the activity of sunitinib in NEN G3 after progression to chemotherapy. In an open-label phase II, nonrandomized prospective trial, 31 patients with GEP-NEN G3 (six patients with NET G3 were included) mainly pretreated with chemotherapy, received sunitinib. Among 31 patients, DCR was 58% while ORR was detected in 12.9%. There was no correlation between tumor differentiation and response to therapy.

In a larger retrospective study, 60 patients with pancreatic NEN treated with sunitinib ORR (in the overall population) was 33.3% with 48.3% stable disease; while G3 NET patient ORR was 60% and 30% SD; PFS in NET G3 was similar to well-differentiated NET (but PFS data was not statistically significant). Otherwise, NEC G3 had a worse prognosis and no response to sunitinib [32] (Table 20.4).

20.5 Immunotherapy in GEP G3 NEN

Immunotherapy has demonstrated to be active and improved patients' survival in combination with first-line chemotherapy in SCLC. Evidence points to an important role of immune phenomena in the pathogenesis and treatment of NENS, and the presence of inflammatory infiltrated can be considered a poor prognostic factor. Even if still lacking, some evidences showed PDL1 expression in metastatic gastroenteropancreatic (GEP)-NENs, in particular in high-grade tumors, poorly differentiated NENs, and GEP-NECs. Furthermore, PD-1 and its ligands appear to be also expressed in well-differentiated intestinal and pancreatic NETs. This molecular and genetic profile could explain potential activity of immune check-point inhibitors in GEP G3 NEN [40].

Currently, there are only preliminary data on the effects of immune checkpoint inhibition from controlled trials in GEP NEN patients. Actual data regards mainly pembrolizumab which did not demonstrate high response rate, but a good percentage of disease control in G1-2 NET. Even the association of pembrolizumab with platinum containing chemotherapy in NEN G3 resulted in low response rate. Interesting and promising data derive from the DART trial [43]: the combination immunotherapy with ipilimumab of and nivolumab in the treatment of NEN G3 resulted in a 44% of ORR in NEN G3.

Although NEN G3 has high mutational burden, making them potential target for immune checkpoint inhibitors, the role of immunotherapy still remains unclear ant its role is a is currently evaluated in several phase II studies (Table 20.5).

20.6 Locoregional Therapy

Very little is known about the role of regional therapy such as surgery, radiation, ablative therapy, and embolotherapy in patients with G3 NEN. The treatment recommendation for patients with apparently localized disease is not based on prospective data, and supporting evidence from heterogenous studies is limited [3, 20]. Curative surgery is usually attempted in localized disease, although retrospective

	II' (1 (1			Overall	D : (
	Histology (number			survival	Progression-free
	of patients)	Regimen	Response rate	(months)	survival (months)
Mehnert et al. [41]	G1-2 NET	Pembrolizumab	12% (carcinoid)	-	Not reached in
	(carcinoid 170;		6.3% (pNET)		pNET
	pNET 106)				9.2 in carcinoid
Vijayvergia et al.	G3 NEN (29)	Pembrolizumab	PR 3.4%		
[42]			SD 20.7%		
Patel et al. [43]	G3 NEN (32)	Nivolumab/	ORR 44% (0% in	11	31%, 6 months
		ipilimumab	low-grade tumor)		PFS

Table 20.5 Immunotherapy in G3 NEN

series indicate that it is rarely curative as a sole therapeutic modality. There is expert consensus that surgery alone is rarely curative and that patients with limited disease should probably receive multimodality-based treatment. Surgery, as a part of the treatment, can be curative in patients with localized disease even with regional nodal metastasis; however, retrospective data often do not distinguish between NET G3 and NEC G3. The 5-year survival for localized disease depends of the primary tumor site: 40–50% for colorectal, gastric, and pancreatic neoplasms and 25% for anal and esophageal primaries. Surgery as a part of the treatment should be considered for all localized GEP NEC with the exception for esophageal cancer [20].

Until more data become available, the locoregional approach for G3 NET should follow the treatment paradigms for NET G2 and intended curative resection/ablation suggest a survival benefit, especially in tumors with a Ki-67 less than 55%. Retrospective analysis showed a trend toward a better survival in patients with colorectal and pancreatic NEC who underwent primary tumor resection, in a multimodal approach (comprehending chemotherapy and radiotherapy) [44, 45].

In pancreatic NET G3, resection of primary tumor seems to be associated with better survival than chemotherapy alone, although debulking surgery cannot be recommended in NEC because of the tumor aggressiveness and the absence of clear benefit from retrospective data. An Italian retrospective analysis suggests that surgery with radical intent could be discussed in pancreatic G3 NEN, even though a better survival was observed in patients with Ki-67 lower than 55% and G3 NET. Given the high relapse rate observed after radical surgery, most clinicians would advocate platinum-based adjuvant therapy in this setting, while some authors propose neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by definitive surgery, although data to support this approach are scarce [20].

In patients with important comorbidities or where the tumor's anatomical site makes surgical resection not advisable due to high morbidity (i.e., esophagus), a definitive course of radiotherapy and chemotherapy is a reasonable treatment strategy. Debulking and locoregional treatment for liver metastasis are not recommended and also discouraged in poorly differentiated NEC.

20.7 Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy (PRRT)

Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) delivers highly localized radiation by targeting specific somatostatin receptors on tumor cells. PRRT is comprised of three main components: a high activity radionuclide (177Lutetium or 90Yttrium), linked via a chelator (DTPA or DOTA) to a somatostatin receptor (SSR)-binding ligand which is typically a somatostatin analog (octreotide or octreotate). PRRT has been approved for somatostatin-positive GEP-NETs after failure of previous therapy, according to the results of NETTER 1 phase III trial, which did not include G3 NET [46].

Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) has previously not been recommended for GEP NEN G3 due to the assumption that these tumors lacked SSR expression, and the growth rate was rapid to expect any benefit from too PRRT. However, several retrospective studies have shown that high-grade tumors can display a high tumor SSR expression, and these patients seem to benefit from PRRT [29]. Last evidences demonstrate that NET G3 can have somatostatin receptor expression (87-92% positive on SRI), so PRRT could be a potential therapeutic option in these patients. SRI positivity has been reported for both NET G3 and NEC, and expression of somatostatin receptor 2A has been shown with immunohistochemistry.

According to these evidences, some studies evaluated PRRT in progressive G3 NEN [47, 48], demonstrating interesting activity profile, which need to be further confirmed. The larger one included 149 patients with progressive disease NEN G3. Results from these studies are mainly based on patients with pancreatic primary NET G3 or low NEC (Ki-67 <55%). However, the PFS and OS seem impressive as second- and thirdline therapies, especially for the NET G3 and low NEC group (40% PR and 38% SD, with median OS of 44 and 19 months in NEN G3 and low NEC, respectively). For NEN G3 with a Ki-67 <55% and specifically the low NEC subgroup, available data suggest a possible substantial benefit of PRRT. The outcomes of PRRT in GEP NEN G3 with a Ki-67 >55% are based on limited number of cases, and a possible benefit is therefore difficult to assess, additionally response rate was similar between NEC and G3 NET (40-50%), the duration of response was limited in NEC with frequent immediate progression. Another potential option is the combination of PRRT and chemotherapy in NEN G3, several studies have used concomitant chemotherapy including infusional 5FU, oral capecitabine or capecitabine and temozolomide with favorable responses and acceptable toxicity for patients with metastatic NEN.

Pending further research such as NETTER 2 (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT03972488) investigating the role of PRRT in high grade G2 and G3 NEN with Ki-67 <55% is warranted to define the effective role of PRRT in G3 NEN. Up to now PRRT for high-grade GEP NEN with a high uptake on SRI showed promising response rates, disease control rates, progression-free survival, and overall survival. Until further data are available, PRRT could be considered for all NET G3 cases and NEC cases with a Ki-67 21-55% with high uptake on SRI even if it cannot be considered a standard of care yet. The crucial clinical questions are to decide which NEN G3 patients should be offered PRRT and when it should be used. ENETS guidelines recommend that PRRT can be considered in SRIpositive NET G3 [20], with Ki-67 <55% and could be discussed in NEC with SRI, whereas the Comprehensive Cancer National Network (NCCN) recommend only the use of PRRT in GEP NEN when Ki-67 is $\leq 20\%$.

References

 Lloyd RVOR, et al. WHO classification of tumours of endocrine organs (World Health Organization classification of tumors). 4th ed. IARC Press; 2017.

- Sørbye H, Welin S, Langer SW, Vestermark LW, Holt N, Osterlund P, Dueland S, Hofsli E, Guren MG, Ohrling K, Birkemeyer E, Thiis-Evensen E, Biagini M, Gronbaek H, Soveru LM, Olsen IH, Federspiel B, Assmus J, Janson ET, Knigge U. Predictive and prognostic factors for treatment and survival in 305 patients with advanced gastrointestinal neuroendocrine carcinoma (WHO G3); the NORDIC NEC study. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(1):152–60.
- Milione M, Maisonneuve P, Spada F, Pellegrinelli A, SPaggiari P, Albarello L, Pisa E, Barberis M, Vanoli A, Buzzoni R, Pusceddu S, Concas L, Sessa F, Solcia E, Capella C, Fazio N, La Rosa S. The clinicopathologic heterogeneity of Grade 3 gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: morphological differentiation and proliferation identify different prognostic categories. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;104(1):85–93.
- Tang LH, Basturk O, Sue JJ, Klimstra DS. A practical approach to the classification of WHO Grade 3 (G3) well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumor (WD-NET) and poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma (PD-NEC) of the pancreas. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40(9):1192–202.
- Travis W, Brambilla E, Burke A, et al. WHO classification of tumours of the lung, pleura, thymus and heart (World Health Organization classification of tumours). 4th ed. IARC Press; 2015.
- Caplin ME, Baudin E, Ferolla P, Filosso P, Garcia-Yuste M, Oberg K, Pelosi G, Perren A, Rossi RE, Travis WD, ENETS consensus conferend partecipants. Pulmonary neuroendocrine (carcinoid) tumors: European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society expert consensus and recommendations for best practice for typical and atypical pulmonary carcinoids. Ann Oncol. 2015;26:1604–20.
- Rindi G, Klersy C, Inzani F, Fellegara G, Ampollini L, Ardissoni A, Campanini N, Carbognani N, De Pas TM, Galetta D, Granone PL, Righi L, Rusca M, Spaggiari L, TIseo M, Viale G, Volante M, Papotti M, Pelosi G. Grading the neuroendocrine tumors of the lung: an evidence-based proposal. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2013;21:1–16.
- Warde P, Payne D. Does thoracic irradiation improve survival and local control in limited-stage small-cell carcinoma of the lung? A meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol. 1992;10:890–5.
- Pignon JP, Arriagada R, Ihde DC, et al. A metaanalysis of thoracic radiotherapy for small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 1992;327:1618–24.
- Aupérin A, Arriagada R, Pignon JP, Le Péchoux C, Gregor A, Stephens RJ, Kristjansen PE, Johnson BE, Ueoka H, Wagner H, Aisner J. Prophylactic cranial irradiation for patients with small-cell lung cancer in complete remission. Prophylactic cranial irradiation overview collaborative group. N Engl J Med. 1999;341(7):476–84.
- Putora PM, Glatzer M, Belderbos J, Besse B, Blackhall F, Califano F, Cappuzzo F, De Marinis F, Dziadziuszko R, Felip E, Faivre Finn C, Früh M, Garrido P, Le Pechoux C, McDonald F, Nestle U, Novello S,

O'Brien M, Paz Ares L, Peeter S, Pöttgen C, Ramella S, Reck M, Slotman B, EGC T, Van Houtte P, Wrsteel V, Widder J, Mornex F, De Ruysscher D. Prophylactic cranial irradiation in stage IV small cell lung cancer: selection of patients amongst European IASLC and ESTRO experts. Radiother Oncol. 2019;133:163–6.

- 12. Roth BJ, Johnson DH, Einhorn LH, Schacter LP, Cherng NC, Cohen HJ, Crawford J, Randolph JA, Goolow JL, Broun GO, et al. Randomized study of cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, and vincristine versus etoposide and cisplatin versus alternation of these two regimens in extensive small-cell lung cancer: a phase III trial of the Southeastern Cancer Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 1992;10(2):282–91.
- Chute JP, Chen T, Feigal E, Simon R, Johnson BE. Twenty years of phase III trials for patients with extensive-stage small-cell lung cancer: perceptible progress. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17(6):1794–801.
- Rossi A, Di Maio M, Chiodini P, Rudd RM, Okamoto H, Skarlos DV, et al. Carboplatin- or cisplatin-based chemotherapy in first-line treatment of small-cell lung cancer: the COCIS meta-analysis of individual patient data. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(14):1692–8.
- Noda K, Nishiwaki Y, Kawahara M, Negoro S, Sugiura T, Yokoyama A, et al. Irinotecan plus cisplatin compared with etoposide plus cisplatin for extensive small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(2):85–91.
- 16. Hanna N, Bunn PA Jr, Langer C, Einhorn L, Guthrie T Jr, Beck T, Ansari R, Ellis P, Byrne M, Morrison M, Hariharan S, Wang S, Sandler A. Randomized phase III trial comparing irinotecan/cisplatin with etoposide/cisplatin in patients with previously untreated extensive stage disease small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(13):2038–43.
- 17. O'Brien ME, Ciuleanu TE, Tsekov H, Shpayk Y, Cucevià B, Huhasz G, Thatcher N, Ross GA, Dane GC, Crofts T. Phase III trial comparing supportive care alone with supportive care with oral topotecan in patients with relapsed small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:5441–7.
- Horn L, Mansfield AS, Szczesna A, Havel L, Krzakowski M, Hochmair MJ, Huemer F, Losonczy G, Jhonson ML, Nichio M, Reck M, Mok T, other for the IMpower133 Study Group. First-line atezolizumab plus chemotherapy in extensive-stage smallcell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;379:2220–9.
- 19. Paz-Ares L, DvorkinM CY, Reinmuth N, Hotta K, Trukhin D, Statsenko G, Hochmair MJ, Özgüroğlu M, Ji JH, Voitko O, Poltoratskiy A, Ponce S, Verderame F, Havel L, Bondarenko I, Kazarnowicz A, Losoncdy G, Conev NV, Armstron J, Byrne B, Shire N, Jiang H, Goldman H, CASPIAN investigators. Durvalumab plus platinum-etoposide versus platinum-etoposide in first line treatment of extensive-stage small cell lung cancer (CASPIAN): a randomized, controlled, openlabel phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2019;394:1929–39.
- Garcia-Carbonero R, Rinke A, Valle JW, Fazio N, Capli M, Gorbounova V, O'Connor J, Eriksson B, Sorbye H, Kulke M, Chen J, Falkerby J, Costa F,

de Herer W, Lombard-Bohas C, Pavel M, Anteibes Consensus Conference Participants. ENETS consensus guidelines for the standard of care in neuroendocrine neoplasms: systemic therapy-chemotherapy. Neuroendocrinology. 2017;105(3):281–94.

- Moertel CG, Kvols LK, O'Connell MJ, Rubin J. Treatment of neuroendocrine carcinomas with combined etoposide and cisplatin. Evidence of major therapeutic activity in the anaplastic variants of these neoplasms. Cancer. 1991;68(2):227–32.
- 22. Mitry E, Baudin E, Ducreux M, Sabourin JC, Rufié P, Aparico T, Lasser P, Elias D, Duvillard P, Schlumberger M, Rougier P. Treatment of poorly differentiated neuroendocrine tumours with etoposide and cisplatin. Br J Cancer. 1999;81:1351–5.
- Frizziero M, Spada F, Lamarca A, Kordatou Z, Barriuso J, Nuttall C, McNamara MG, Hubner RA, Mansoor W, Manoharan P, Fazio N, Valle JW. Carboplatin in combination with oral or intravenous etoposide for extrapulmonary, poorly-differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas. Neuroendocrinology. 2019;109:100–12.
- 24. Isawa S, Morizane C, Okusaka T, Ueno H, Ikeda M, Kondo S, Tanaka T, Nakachi K, Mitsunaga S, Kojima Y, Hagihara A, Hiroaka N. Cisplatin and etoposide as first-line chemotherapy for poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma of the hepatobiliary tract and pancreas. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2010;40(4):313–8.
- Du Z, Wang Y, Zhou Y, Wen F, Li Q. First-line irinotecan combined with 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin for high-grade metastatic gastrointestinal neuroendocrine carcinoma. Tumori. 2013;99(1):57–60.
- 26. Li J, Lu Z, Li Z, Liu Y, Yang L, Li J, Hang X, Zhou X, Wang X, Gong J, Gao J, Li Y, Shen L. Irinotecan plus cisplatin followed by octreotide long-acting release maintenance treatment in advanced gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma: IPO-NEC study. Oncotarget. 2017;8:25669–78.
- Rogowski W, Wachula E, Gorzelak A, Lebiedzinska A, Sulzyc-Bielicka V, Izycka-Swieszewska E, et al. Capecitabine and temozolomide combination for treatment of high-grade well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumour and poorly-differentiated neuroendocrine carcinoma. Retrospective analysis. Endokrynol Pol. 2019;70(4):313–7.
- 28. Bajetta E, Catena L, Procopio G, De Dosso S, Bichiaso E, Ferrari L, Martinetti A, Platania M, Verzoni E, Formisano B, Bajetta R. Are capecitabine and oxaliplatin (XELOX) suitable treatments for progressing low-grade and high-grade neuroendocrine tumours? Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2007;59:637–42.
- 29. Hentic O, Hammel P, Couvelard A, Rebours V, Zappa M, Palazzo M, Goujon G, Gillet A, Lévy P, Ruszniewski P. FOLFIRI regimen: an effective secondline chemotherapy after failure of etoposide-platinum combination in patients with neuroendocrine carcinomas grade 3. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2012;19:751–7.
- Hadoux J, Malka D, Planchard D, Scoazec JY, Caramella C, Guigav J, Boige V, Leboullex S, Burtin P, Berdelou A, Loriot Y, Duvillard Y, Chougnet CN, Déandréis D, Schlumberger M, Borget I, Ducreux

M, Baudin E. Post-first-line FOLFOX chemotherapy for grade 3 neuroendocrine carcinoma. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2015;22:289–98.

- Welin S, Sorbye H, Sebjornsen S, Knappskog S, Busch C, Oberg S. Clinical effect of temozolomide-based chemotherapy in poorly differentiated endocrine carcinoma after progression on first-line chemotherapy. Cancer. 2011;117:4617–22.
- 32. Pellat A, Dreyw C, Couffignal C, Walter T, Lombard-Bohas C, Niccoli P, Seits JF, Hentic O, Andre T, Coriat R, Fauvre S, Zappa M, Rusziewski P, Pote N, Couvelard A, Raymond E. Clinical and biomarker evaluations of sunitinib in patients with grade 3 digestive neuroendocrine neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology. 2018;107(1):24–31.
- 33. Okuyama H, Ikeda M, Okusaka T, Furukawa M, Hosokawa A, Kojima Y, Hara H, Murohisa G, Shioji K, Asagi A, Mizuno N, Kojima M, Yamanaka T, Furuse J. A phase II trial of everolimus in patients with advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma refractory or intolerant to platinum-containing chemotherapy (NECTOR trial). Neuroendocrinology. 2020;110(11–12):988–93.
- 34. Panzuto F, Rinzivillo M, Spada F, Antonuzzo L, Ibrahim T, Campana A, Fazio N, Delle Fave G. Everolimus in pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma G3. Pancreas. 2017;46(3):402–5.
- Chan D, Singh S. Current chemotherapy use in neuroendocrine tumors. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 2018;47:603–14.
- 36. Chan D, Bergsland EK, Chan JA, Gadgil R, Halfdanarson R, Horbaker K, Kelly V, Kunz PL, McGarrah PW, Raj NP, Reidy DL, Thawer A, Whitman LJ, Wu L, Singh S. Temozolomide in grade III neuroendocrine neoplasms (G3 NENs): a multicenter retrospective review. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(suppl):321.
- 37. Sahu A, Jeffors M, Lai-Kwon J, Thai A, Hicks RJ, Micheal M. CAPTEM in metastatic welldifferentiated intermediate to high grade neuroendocrine tumors: a single centre experience. J Oncol. 2019;2019:9032753.
- Thomas K, Voros BA, Meadows-Taylor M, Smeltzer MP, Gri R, Boudreaux JP, Thiagarajan R, Woltering EA, Ramirez RA. Outcomes of capecitabine and temozolomide (CAPTEM) in advanced neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs). Cancers. 2020; 12:206.
- 39. Spada F, Antonuzzo L, Marconcini R, Radice D, Antonuzzo A, Ricci S, Di Costanza D, Fontana A, Gelsomino F, Luppi G, Nobili E, Galdy S, Cella CA, Sonzogni A, Pisa E, Barberis M, Fazio N. Oxaliplatinbased chemotherapy in advanced neuroendocrine tumors: clinical outcomes and preliminary correlation with biological factors. Neuroendocrinology. 2016;103(6):806–14.

- Weber M, Fottner C. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in the treatment of patients with neuroendocrine neoplasia. Oncol Res Treat. 2018;41:306–12.
- 41. Mehnert JM, Rugo HS, O'Neil BH, Santoro A, Schellens JHM, Cohen RB, Doi T, Ott PA, Pishvaian MJ, Puzanov I, Aung KL, Hsu C, Le Tourneau C, Soria JC, Élez E, Tamura K, Gould M, Zaho G, Stein K, Piha-Paul SA. Pembrolizumab for patients with PD-L1-positive advanced carcinoids or pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: results from the KEYNOTE-028 study. J Clin Oncol. 2017;28(suppl 5):abstr 4270.
- 42. Vijayvergia N, et al. Pembrolizumab monotherapy in patients with previously treated metastatic highgrade neuroendocrine neoplasms: joint analysis of two prospective, non-randomised trials. Br J Cancer. 2020;122(9):1309–14.
- 43. Patel SP, Othus M, Chae YW, Giles FJ, Hansel DE, Singh PP, Fontaine A, Shah MH, Kasi A, Al Baghdadi T, Matrana M, Gatalica Z, Korn WM, Hayward J, McLeod C, Chen HX, Sharon E, Maerson E, Ryan CW, Plets M, Blanke CD, Zurzrock R. A phase II basket trial of dual anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 blockade in rare tumors (DART SWOG 1609) in patients with nonpancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2020;26(10):2290–6.
- 44. Galleberg RB, Knigge U, Tiensuu Janson E, Vestermark LW, Haugvik SP, Ladekarl M, Langer SW, Grønbæk H, Osterlund P, Hjortland GO, Assmus J, Tang J, Tang L, Perren A, Sorbye H. Results after surgical treatment of liver metastases in patients with highgrade gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43(9):1682–9.
- 45. Fields AC, Lu P, Vierra BM, Hu F, Irani J, Bleday R, Goldberg JE, Nash GM, Melnitchouk N. Survival in patients with high-grade colorectal neuroendocrine carcinomas: the role of surgery and chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2019;26:1127–33.
- 46. Strosberg J, El-Haddad G, Wolin E, Hendifar A, Yao J, Chasen B, Mittra E, Kunz PL, Kulke MH, Jacene H, Bushnell D, O'Doriso TM, et al., for the NETTER-1 Trial Investigators. Phase 3 trial of 177Lu-dotatate for midgut neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:125–35.
- Sorbye H, Kong G, Grozinsky-Glasberg S. PRRT in high-grade gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (WHO G3). Endocr Relat Cancer. 2020;27:R67–77.
- 48. Carlsen EA, Fazio N, Granberg D, Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Ahmadzadhfar H, Grana CM, Zandee WT, Cwikla J, Walter MA, Oturai PS, TInke A, Weaver A, Frilling A, Gritti S, Arveshoug AK, Meirovitz A, Knigge U, Sorbye H. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy in gastroenteropancreatic NEN G3: a multicenter cohort study. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2019;26(2):227–39.

Part VI

Conclusions



Conclusions: NEN Management Today and Looking at the Future

21

Giordano Beretta, Alfredo Berruti, Emilio Bombardieri, Nicola Fazio, and Orlando Goletti

Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs) are a very heterogeneous group of neoplasms with peculiar clinical and biological characteristics. NENs are largely heterogeneous, featuring different biological behavior, and malignant potential. NENs originate from the diffuse neuroendocrine system and, therefore, can arise in any part of the body. They are usually considered rare neoplasms when compared, in terms of incidence, with nonneuroendocrine neoplasms. The annual incidence rates varies from 1 to 5 per 100,000 worldwide and is increasing more across population and sites, stages, and grades although with different magnitude of change. Their relative rarity, com-

A. Berruti

N. Fazio

General Surgery Unit, Humanitas Gavazzeni, Bergamo, Italy

bined with their variability and body wide presentation, frequently determines a delay in diagnosis that has been reported in patients between the first symptoms and the correct diagnosis. However, the continuous improvement in the diagnostic tools, from laboratory to the instrumental procedures, leads to facilitate timely diagnosis and therefore disease management. This type of tumors is a fertile field of new scientific knowledge, and this brings many challenges in identifying new ways of classification, diagnosis, and treatment. Due to these peculiarities, NENs constitute today a good subject for an exciting scientific debate and, from the clinical point of view, a matter for a multidisciplinary approach.

Pathology provides relevant indicators of tumor aggressiveness. NENs are classified into different subgroups according to their morphological and biological features, tumor cell differentiation and proliferation index: G1 NeuroEndocrine Tumor (NET) (welldifferentiated morphology, <2 mitosis/10 HPF, and/or Ki-67 <3%); G2-NET (well-differentiated morphology, 2-20 mitosis/10 HPF, and/or Ki-67 3-20%); G3-NET (well-differentiated morphology, >20 mitosis/10 HPF and/or Ki-67 >20%—considerate; NEC (poorly differentiated morphology, >20 mitosis/10 HPF, and/or Ki-67 >20%). Besides, the main prognostic factors are: the site of the primary tumor (for example, pancreatic NENs show a worse prognosis than NENs in the rectum), the stage according to TNM and

G. Beretta (🖂)

Medical Oncology Unit, Humanitas Gavazzeni, Bergamo, Italy e-mail: giordano.beretta@gavazzeni.it

Medical Oncology Unit, Department of Medical and Surgical Specialties, Radiological Sciences, and Public Health, University of Brescia, Brescia, Italy

E. Bombardieri Scientific Direction, Nuclear Medicine, Humanitas Gavazzeni, Bergamo, Italy

Gastrointestinal Medical Oncology and Neuroendocrine Tumors Division, European Institute of Oncology, IEO, IRCCS, Milano, Italy

O. Goletti

G. Beretta et al. (eds.), *Neuroendocrine Neoplasia Management*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72830-4_21

the World Health Organization (WHO) histopathological classification, which expresses both the morphological aspect of the tumor cells and their proliferative activity in terms of the number of mitoses or proliferation index (Ki-67).

The advent of large-scale genomics and transcriptomics in the last 10 years has allowed to accumulate an impressive amount of new information on NENs, confirming both the common alterations and a large molecular heterogeneity even within morphologically compact subgroups. Recent studies confirmed the involvement of SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling genes in pancreatic (ATRX, DAXX) and pulmonary (PSIP1, ARID1A) NETs. These alterations seem to have prognostic value in pancreatic NETs, being associated to a poorer prognosis in tumors expressing an alpha cell-like phenotype. On the contrary, small intestinal NETs did not show a definite mutational pattern and seem to be rather driven by chromosomal alterations. Also several epigenetic changes have been investigated in these last years. Global methylation analysis of both small intestinal and pancreatic NETs showed different patterns in each tumor type. Small intestinal NETs evidenced several variation subtypes. Pancreatic NETs revealed some focal differences in a reduced number of genes. Differences and changes across NETs of different sites were related to a reduced number of core pathways, including cell cycle regulation DNA damage repair, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/mammalian target of rapamycin signaling, chromatin remodeling/histone methylation, and telomere alteration. The impressive contribution of these biological informations should be implemented and integrated with further research in order to provide a better stratification of patients and allow a better knowledge of the great heterogeneity of behaviors displayed by these tumors.

In the diagnostic process, the role of imaging has gained great importance during the last decades, not only to depict the presence of tumors, but also to select patients for the most appropriate therapies and to monitor the diseases during their course. No doubts that imaging is today essential for planning a correct patient management. Surgical and medical therapy, radiopharmaceutical therapy, interventional radiology, and radiation treatments cannot be carried out without the support of diagnostic imaging. The visualization of NETs can be obtained through the conventional morphologic imaging including, ultrasound (US), computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and the functional imaging through scintigraphy and PET-CT. Some typical features such as hyper-vascularization, specific growth patterns, and imaging appearance help physicians to discriminate NETs from other solid malignancies. These diseases hold several metabolic aspects based on the products of their neural cell precursors, such as the amine synthesis and secretion and the cellular expression of somatostatin receptors (SSTR). On these basis nuclear medicine offers either scintigraphic techniques or PET-CT studies to integrate morphology with biology. Two categories of radiopharmaceuticals are available: the first includes the meta-iodo-benzylguanidine (MIBG), a norepinephrine analog used for scintigraphy and the 18F-DOPA used for PET-CT imaging; the second one gamma and positron-emitting radiolabeled somatostatin analogs that bind somatostatin receptors used for both scintigraphy and PET-CT imaging. The study of glucose metabolism of NETs, using FDG PET-CT, can be usefull, in selected cases, to better investigate tumor aggressiveness. Due to the continuous technological advancement of the instrumentations and the related softwares, no single imaging technique represents the gold standard, and the sequence of exams needed for each tumor type may vary. It is important to remember that, even though we live in an era of standardization, personalization of treatment (within a consensus guideline frame-shift) is often required to maximize the outcome, particularly in NETs, thus implying the need to build up a "multidisciplinary culture" approach.

Considering the physiopathology of NENs and its impact on the daily clinic, we must not neglect the traditional old classification of NETs based on the capacity to secrete peptides and neuroamines. So well- and moderately differentiated NETs can be grouped into functioning and nonfunctioning forms. The functioning tumors
synthesize, store, and secrete in the bloodstream peptides and neuroamines that cause distinct clinical syndromes (carcinoid syndrome being the most common), while the non-functioning forms are clinically silent, being diagnosed in advanced stage because of their mass effects. Functioning NETs require symptoms control, which often assumes primary clinical relevance since it can affect survival, quality of life, surgical procedures, and peptide receptor-targeted radionuclide therapy outcome. Somatostatin analogs with their antiproliferative and antisecretive effects are the cornerstone for the treatment of many hormonal syndromes in functioning NETs. The use of multiple receptor somatostatin analog pasireotide is under investigation, and according to the various types of hormone secretion, other medical treatments are available alone or in combination with SA in patients with NET-related syndromes, and also to prepare patients eligible for procedures such as surgery, locoregional treatments, and PRRT.

Speaking about the current NENs therapy, we cannot avoid underlining some concepts that are emerging from recent acquisitions. First, this is an extremely dynamic field of research and debate which is ready to design new horizons for facing this disease. Alongside the traditional prognostic parameters, other novel biologic indicators have been investigated in light of genomic and proteomic studies, as we reported above. It is likely that the NENs classification should be revised, as new prognostic molecular indicators will be validated, potentially affecting both the development of new treatments and the strategies for their management. Furthermore, it appears increasingly clear how NENs that arise from different organs, even if belonging to the same histological type, do not show the same response to therapies. Clinical evidences demonstrated that gastrointestinal NENs should be managed in a different way than lung NENs. Pancreatic NENs display different clinical outcome and intrinsic characteristics than other neuroendocrine tumors, and they should be considered as a separate group. Besides, other groups of NENs have been defined on the basis of histologic characteristics, such as MiNEN, undifferentiated NECs, and Merkel cell carcinoma, and they require particular protocols. We are aware that we are living at the border of a revolution, and we are experiencing this progressive and continuous change.

Surgery represents today the main curative option of NEN management. Due to the high variability of presentation and variable disease aggressiveness of NEN, surgical treatment should be tailored according to the tumor characteristics and patient's features. A surveillance strategy has been even proposed for the management of incidentally discovered, asymptomatic, small lesions without radiological or endoscopic signs of malignancy. It goes without saying that formal resections associated or not with lymphadenectomy remain the gold standard for patients with localized tumors for whom a conservative strategy is not acceptable. In addition, surgery may play a role for selected patients with metastatic or high-grade well-differentiated neoplasms, who could benefit from this strategy. The application of robotic surgery can find place, in selected patients, for the treatment of both primary and metastatic tumors, in peculiar anatomic conditions and in centers with adequate expertise. Of course, surgery has to be always considered together with the options of medical, radiation, and radiopharmaceutical treatments, alone or in combination, a multidisciplinary adopting approach. In particular conditions, when the tumor is limited to a single organ or a defined anatomic district, some loco-regional surgical techniques combined with endoscopy, laserablation, or thermo-ablation can be proposed. These are the cases that could benefit also from alternative strategies including interventional radiology and radiation treatments. In patients with functioning tumors, whenever possible, surgery of the primary and/or metastasis should be considered in order to reduce tumor burden and consequently hormonal secretion.

The loco-regional therapies are another interesting option for the treatment of patients with NETs with liver metastases. The intra-arterial therapies, included in the area of interventional oncology, comprising intravascular (such as embolization, chemoembolization, and radioembolization) and ablative (percutaneous radiofrequency ablation and microwave ablation) procedures, are the most common choices. All intra-arterial therapies, that in principle were introduced for treating HCC in clinical practice, demonstrated to be successful in liver metastatic NENs, because of the outstanding results in symptoms control and prolonging survival, with no or very limited side effects. On the other hand, liver ablation, first introduced for percutaneous imaging-guided approach and more recently also applied in open and laparoscopic setting, can provide eradication of liver metastases with less invasiveness than traditional surgery. Moreover, due to the high rate of relapse after radical treatments, new liver metastases can be further eradicated with percutaneous ablation, with no cumulative toxicity such as with repeated resections.

Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT), recently proposed to be named as radioligand therapy (RLT), is another possible therapy for patients with unresectable or metastatic welland moderately differentiated NENs. Three types of radiation may be used in PRRT: β -particles (in particular ¹⁷⁷Lu and ⁹⁰Y), α-particles, and Auger electrons. 90Y/177Lu-DOTATOC and ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTATATE are the radiopharmaceuticals currently used, and they are systemically delivered in fractioned sequential cycles. In clinical practice, the indications should be limited to G1-G2 well-differentiated NETs with high expression of SSTR. The precise position in the treatment algorithm remains to be explored. PRRT is generally well tolerated by most of the patients. However, chronic and permanent damage on the kidneys and bone marrow are described. Combining PRRT with synergistic drugs may result in additive effects, through several mechanisms such as increased tumor perfusion, SSTR upregulation, and radiosensitization. In recent years, great interest has been shown in PRRT with alpha particle-emitting radionuclides (bismuth-213 or actinium-225) and in PRRT agents based on SSTR antagonists. The clinical experience with somatostatin-based targeted therapy in NET showed promising results even in refractory disease to β -emitters treatment.

Evidence-based medical treatment options available in clinical practice include: somatostatin analogs (SSAs), everolimus (m-TOR inhibitor), sunitinib (thyrosine kinase inhibitor), chemotherapy, PRRT, and locoregional therapies. New treatment options under investigation are new somatostatin analog (pasireotide) or new thyrosine kinase inhibitors (pazopanib, cabozantinib, lenvatinib, axitinib, surufatinib). Moreover, immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) have also been investigated in NETs. Several studies with ICIs as both monotherapy and combination have been published. No clear role of ICIs emerged; however, some encouraging results in lung NETs and NECs deserve further investigations. Epigenetic drugs were also investigated in NETs and NECs; some promising results derived from clinical trials investigating histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors, like panobinostat, and a lysine-specific demethylase (LSD)-1 inhibitor. Furthermore, CDK 4/6 inhibitors, such as ribociclib and palbociclib, were investigated in clinical trials of NETs.

In conclusion, the goal of this book was to provide a general update in prognosis, diagnosis, and therapy, covering the current knowledge on the whole family of neuroendocrine neoplasms. We adopted the definition of neuroendocrine neoplasia (NEN) with the aim to include all grades of malignancies. We included also MENrelated NEN, MiNEN, NEC, and Merkel cell carcinoma. We collected from various distinguished experts the most recent update on the management of neuroendocrine neoplasia and discussed what is going to change in this area on the basis of the results of the recent researches. The structure and the content of the text wanted to follow the philosophy that at present is becoming more and more evident of the concept that among the big family of tumors taking origin from neuroendocrine cells, the traditional paradigm that classifies neuroendocrine tumors as a single entity is not sufficient to explain the great differences often observed in the prognosis and tumor responsivity of the various groups of patients with different "neuroendocrine neoplasia."

Finally, we hope this approach will capture the reader's interest and generate a critical discussion. This book wants to help healthcare workers in their choices, in moving in this labyrinth, looking for the best strategy through a multidisciplinary approach. In case of a positive result, we have been successful in providing a valuable insight for all colleagues interested in the management of this particular neoplasms.

21.1 Dedication

The idea of proposing and writing this book was born several months ago.

In this period, the outbreak of COVID pandemic has changed many scenarios in the world view, but it must not change the continuous search for better and better treatments for our patients.

Unfortunately, in Bergamo, COVID took from us our colleague *Italo Nosari*, distinguished endocrinologist, an exquisite person, and a very valid professional who participated and gave his scientific support in all our multidisciplinary groups before his illness.

Our work is dedicated to him and to all those who have suffered in this period.